Vivek M. Rangnekar *Editor*

Tumor Suppressor Par-4 Role in Cancer and Other Diseases



Tumor Suppressor Par-4

Vivek M. Rangnekar Editor

Tumor Suppressor Par-4

Role in Cancer and Other Diseases



Editor Vivek M. Rangnekar Assoc Dir, Markey Cancer Center Univ of Kentucky Lexington, KY, USA

ISBN 978-3-030-80557-9 ISBN 978-3-030-80558-6 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021, Corrected Publication 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

Translational research on the tumor suppressor Par-4 has enabled fascinating insights into the multifaceted roles of Par-4 in diverse human diseases. This second volume of *Tumor Suppressor Par-4* builds on the background information on Par-4 presented in volume 1 to expound on the involvement of Par-4 in cancer, as well as neurodegenerative diseases, diabetes, renal and ocular diseases, and development of the salivary gland and the eye. Importantly, this volume describes the contribution of Par-4 to the downstream processes of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) critical for metastasis of tumor cells, inflammation that is causally linked to a broad range of cancers and other human disorders, and apoptosis, which is compromised in cancer but deregulated in neuronal diseases.

Most primary tumors, albeit not all, are efficiently treated by radiation, hormonal therapy, chemotherapy, or surgical resection. However, tumor recurrence is inevitable in most cases, and metastasis of the tumors at vital organs eventually impacts patient survival. Chapter 1 by Anindya Goswami and colleagues provides an overview of the pathways involved in the process of EMT and the integral role of Par-4 in regulating these pathways to modulate metastasis. This regulatory action of Par-4 is particularly intriguing as it occurs by downstream modulation of EMT-specific gene expression by a Par-4-dependent mechanism that is independent of its ability to induce apoptosis. As Par-4 is known to be a transcriptional regulator, this facet of Par-4 may be particularly effective in regulation of EMT and metastasis. This transcription regulatory function of Par-4 is also linked to suppression of inflammation. Chapter 2 by Nadia El-Guendy describes the induction of Par-4 by nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) to inhibit key molecules that are involved in the process of inflammation. This chapter illustrates the role of NSAIDs and Par-4 in overcoming chronic inflammation and tumor survival, growth, and progression.

Par-4 plays a functional role in diverse solid tumors, as well as hematopoietic tumors. Chapters 3 through 10 exemplify the role of Par-4 in diverse cancers, including gynecological cancers, gastrointestinal cancers, prostate cancer, pancreatic cancer, breast cancer, gliomas, and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). These chapters also provide background information on the pathophysiology and molecular underpinnings of each type of cancer. Chapter 3 by Eric Asselin and colleagues discusses the histology and molecular features of ovarian and endometrial tumors and demonstrates the significance of Par-4 in regulating the signaling networks involved in chemoresistance of these cancers. Endometrial tumors are particularly noteworthy as Par-4 knockout mice show spontaneous endometrial tumors that are exacerbated by estrogen treatment. Importantly, endometrial tumors in humans exhibit Par-4 mutation in its obligatory SAC domain that generates a STOP codon, thereby truncating the protein to render it non-functional. Endometrial tumors also show methylation-induced suppression of Par-4 expression. Interestingly, a significant proportion of the endometrial tumors, as well as ovarian tumors show intact Par-4 that may be inactivated by posttranslational events, and Asselin and colleagues demonstrate that Par-4 can be readily cleaved by chemotherapeutic agents via the caspase pathway to generate a carboxyl-terminal fragment that translocates into the nucleus to induce cancer cell apoptosis.

Chapter 4 by Rosalyn Irby and colleagues provides a comprehensive view of Par-4 in various gastrointestinal (GI) tumors. This chapter describes the factors that influence Par-4 function in GI cancer. Activated Par-4 can cause apoptosis in these cancer cells, and higher Par-4 activity indicates a better prognosis for GI cancer patients. Chapter 5 by Mansoor Ahmed and colleagues discusses the role of Par-4 as a radiosensitizer in cancer cells. They succinctly describe the role of Par-4 in suppressing cell survival pathways that are inadvertently activated by radiation and the function of Par-4 in supporting tumor cell death, most notably in prostate cancer. This chapter also presents evidence of Par-4 downregulation by oncogenic Ras in pancreatic tumors where KRAS is the key driver. In Chapter 6, Jeevan Ghosalkar and colleagues provide a comprehensive background on gliomas including their classification, etiology, epidemiology, and current approved treatment options for gliomas. They discuss the relevance of Par-4 in survival of glioma patients, emphasizing the differential effects of Par-4 in various brain tumors. They also illustrate the unmet need for the development of drugs, with insights on utilizing Par-4-based treatments for glioblastoma multiforme.

In Chap. 7, Maria Nagai and her team provide a comprehensive review of the critical role of Par-4 downregulation in breast cancer resistance to therapy, recurrence of local and metastatic tumors, and patient survival. They describe the role of transcription factors that regulate Par-4 expression and function in breast cancer, as well as the downstream targets of Par-4. In particular, they cite clinical studies and meta-analyses that justify Par-4 as a prognostic indicator in breast cancer.

Chapter 8 by Subbarao Bondada and his colleagues, and Chap. 9 by Natarajan Muthusamy and team provide valuable foundational information on hematological malignancies and discuss the role of Par-4 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). These two chapters are particularly noteworthy as they highlight the relationship between Par-4 expression in the tumor and its interplay with the microenvironment. Chapter 10 by Asfar Azmi, Ramzi Mohammad, and colleagues describe the functional significance of Par-4 in pancreatic tumors and outline strategies to restore and precisely utilize nuclear Par-4 for therapy of these tumors.

Unlike most tumor suppressors, Par-4 is secreted by normal cells, and this feature can be leveraged to target metastatic tumors. In Chap. 11, David Watt and colleagues take advantage of this attribute of Par-4, by generating small molecule secretagogues to induce robust secretion of the protein from normal cells. They describe the fascinating family of Arylquins that produce a two-pronged effect—these potent compounds induce the secretion of Par-4 from normal cells and also directly target cancer cells. Their observations imply that this dual targeting strategy should be effective against diverse primary and metastatic tumors as long as they express cell surface GRP78, the receptor for extracellular Par-4. These observations are corroborated by Chang-Guo Zhan and his team in Chap. 12. This group is implementing novel approaches to produce recombinant Par-4 derivatives in bacterial cultures. These derivatives tend to stabilize Par-4 in circulation in order to render it far more effective in inhibition of tumor metastasis.

On the one hand, restoration or induction of the apoptotic cell death program is an essential component of cancer therapy to overcome tumor growth and metastasis, and on the other hand, the undesirable association of cell death in neurons is noted in neurodegenerative diseases. Chapter 13 by Ahmed Elsherbini and Erhard Bieberich describes the involvement of Par-4 in ceramide-inducible effects in neurons. They discuss how Par-4 regulates neuronal apoptosis induced by intrinsic ceramide and further consider the paracrine effects of Par-4 in extracellular vesicles that impact ceramide neurotoxicity. Their observations are complemented by Qing Guo and colleagues in Chap. 14 with a description of how Par-4 sensitizes neurons to apoptosis or necroptosis in Alzheimer's and other neuronal diseases. Both cell culture and mouse models corroborate the association of Par-4 with neurodegeneration noted in these diseases. Chapter 14 illuminates the molecular link between Par-4 loss, impaired dopamine signaling, and depression.

In Chap. 15, Bing Chen and colleagues emphasize the involvement of endoplasmic reticulum stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in type 2 diabetes and discuss the mechanisms by which Par-4 sensitizes pancreatic islet of Langerhans β -cells to the action of apoptosis-inducing clues. It is particularly interesting that they speculate a link between single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) or mutations in Par-4 noted in schizophrenia and depression that interfere with Par-4 binding to the dopamine D2 receptor (DRD2) with diabetes, as dopamine/ DRD2 signaling regulates appetite, obesity, and diabetes.

Par-4 is a regulator of gene transcription and Chap. 16 by Moulinath Acharya, Michael Walter, and colleagues describes the mechanisms activated by Par-4 in ocular development and diseases. They discuss the close relationship between Par-4 and the regulatory network of the transcription factors pituitary homeobox 2 (PITX2), forkhead box C1 (FOXC1), and FOXC2 that play critical roles in vasculogenesis and basement membrane formation during eye development. The critical role of this interaction is evident in the fact that disruption of this regulatory network can promote anterior segment dysgenesis and glaucoma pathogenesis. Apoptosis or programmed cell death is a naturally occurring process during the development of glands and organs, as cells whose function is obsolete need to be eliminated. Chapter 17 by Cláudia Malheiros Coutinho-Camillo draws attention to the role of Par-4 in apoptosis during human salivary gland development and sheds light on the relevance of nuclear versus cytoplasmic localization of Par-4 in prognosis and the treatment of salivary gland tumors. In Chap. 18, Shaolin Shi and his colleague describe the anatomy and physiology of the kidney and hone in on the relevance of Par-4 interactions with molecules that are implicated in kidney pathophysiology. Par-4 knockout mice have been generated by several laboratories, and in Chap. 19 Araujo and colleagues discuss the invaluable lessons learned from these and other mouse studies on the role of Par-4 in spontaneous and inducible tumorigenesis, role of secreted versus intracellular Par-4 in controlling tumor growth, and the unexpected phenotype associated with loss of the Par-4 leucine zipper domain in the brain.

Par-4 research has advanced from the bench to the bedside and two clinical trials have been completed and a third trial is ongoing with the Par-4 secretagogue hydroxychloroquine (HCQ), which functions to regulate tumor growth by a Par-4-dependent mechanism. In Chap. 20, Hao and Wang assess the results of the first clinical trial that indicated the safety and efficacy of secreted Par-4 induced in response to HCQ, and that led to the subsequent clinical trials for the benefit of cancer patients. Finally, Chap. 21 by Vivek Rangnekar provides an outlook on Par-4 as a therapeutic target in cancer and other diseases. Collectively, volumes 1 and 2 provide a comprehensive review of Par-4 and offer critical perspectives for basic mechanism-oriented research and clinical translation, with ample scope for population-based studies.

Lexington, KY, USA

Vivek M. Rangnekar

Contents

Role of Par-4 in EMT 1 Mir Mohd Faheem, Archana Katoch, and Anindya Goswami 1
Prostate Apoptosis Response-4 in Inflammation
Par-4 in Chemoresistant Ovarian and Endometrial Cancers 41François Fabi, Pascal Adam, and Eric Asselin
Regulation and Role of Par-4 in Gastrointestinal Tumors59Rosalyn B. Irby, Christina Leah B. Kline, and Arun K. Sharma
Role of Par-4 in Radiation Sensitivity of Cancer
Prostate Apoptosis Response-4: a Therapeutic Target for Malignant Gliomas 77 Jeevan Ghosalkar, Vinay Sonawane, Mohsina Khan, Kalpana Joshi, and Padma Shastry
Involvement of Par-4 in Breast Cancer
Role of Par-4 in B-Cell Hematological Malignancies
The Par-4 Tumor Suppressor Protein in TCL1-Induced Leukemogenesis
Potential of PAR-4 as a Therapeutic Target for Pancreatic Cancer
Developing Quinoline-based Secretagogues for Prostate Apoptosis Response-4 Protein (Par-4) as Potential Antineoplastic Agents
Recombinant Production and Characterization of Par-4/SAC
Role of PAR-4 in Ceramide-Inducible Effects in Neurodegeneration
Par-4 in Neuronal Death and Survival in Alzheimer's Disease and OtherNeurogenerative DiseasesQing Guo, Jun Xie, and Chelsea J. Guo

Par-4-Dependent Apoptosis of Pancreatic Islet β Cells in Type 2 Diabetes 247 Qi Nan Wu, Ling Zhang, and Bing Chen
Role of PRKC Apoptosis WT1 Regulator in Ocular Development and Diseases 255 Tahseen Ahmed, Tuneer Ranjan Mallick, Michael A. Walter, and Moulinath Acharya
Par-4 in Apoptosis during Human Salivary Gland Development andTumorigenesis
Roles for Par-4 in Kidney Pathophysiology
Lessons from Mouse Models
Par-4 Secretagogues in Clinical Trials
Par-4 as a Therapeutic Target in Cancer and Other Diseases
Correction to: Involvement of Par-4 in Breast Cancer
Index

Check for updates

Role of Par-4 in EMT

Mir Mohd Faheem, Archana Katoch, and Anindya Goswami

Abstract

The importance of Par-4 in apoptosis has been deciphered in depth. Interestingly, a paradigm shift is emerging with respect to the non-canonical roles of Par-4. The intricacy between Par-4 and EMT is significantly gaining traction, which is the main focus of this chapter. The chapter commences as we first delineate EMT's transitory and dynamic nature as opposed to the conventional view that portrays EMT as unidirectional and irreversible. We have emphasized EMT's culpability in the genesis of the metastatic program and how EMT-associated transcription factors (EMT-TFs) manipulate the cancer cells to acquire a motile phenotype suitable for intravasation, migration, and secondary metastasis. We as well discuss the molecular signaling pathways regulating EMT and the challenges rendered by the acquisition of EMT in cancer therapeutics. In the later sections, we have diligently highlighted the emergence of Par-4 as a prospective EMT nullifying candidate and therapeutic opportunities thus evolving around it. Particular emphasis is attributed to novel burgeoning role of Par-4-mediated negative regulation of the following anti-metastatic cascades; for example, modulation of

M. M. Faheem

Cancer Pharmacology Division, CSIR-Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine, Canal Road, Jammu, Jammu and Kashmir, India

School of Biotechnology, University of Jammu, Jammu, Jammu and Kashmir, India

A. Katoch · A. Goswami (🖂)

Cancer Pharmacology Division, CSIR-Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine, Canal Road, Jammu, Jammu and Kashmir, India

Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research (AcSIR), Ghaziabad, India e-mail: agoswami@iiim.ac.in β -catenin pathway, cytoskeletal rearrangements, and extracellular (ECM) remodeling and of course the anti-metastatic microRNAs. Lastly, we put forth innovative insights that link Par-4- and TGF- β -mediated lethal EMT.

Keywords

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) \cdot Cancer stem cells (CSCs) \cdot Mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) \cdot Extracellular matrix (ECM) degradation \cdot Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) \cdot E-cadherins \cdot β -Catenin \cdot Cytoskeletal rearrangements \cdot Par-4 \cdot SAC domain \cdot Secretagogue \cdot miR-200c \cdot Vimentin \cdot EMTassociated transcription factors (EMT-TFs) \cdot Twist-1 \cdot Zeb-1 \cdot TGF- β \cdot Lethal EMT \cdot Chemoresistance

1 Introduction

1.1 Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition (EMT)

For the first time in 1908, Frank Rattray Lillie described the interconversion between epithelial cells and mesenchymal cells [1]. However, much later, in a seminal finding, Greenburg and Hay, on their studies in the primitive streak of chick embryos, unveiled that EMT is an evolutionarily conserved distinct cellular process involving epithelial to mesenchymal phenotype changes [2]. EMT is a distinct physiological roadmap illustrating a trans-differentiation process that allows an epithelial cell to attain a mesenchymal phenotype as illustrated by the following features: (1) massive transcriptional reprogramming (2) loss of cell adhesions and the apical-basal polarity (3) extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling (4) transitions in cellular morphology (from a cobblestone epithelial morphology to a spindle-shaped mesenchymal one) (5) alteration in the signaling pathways controlling cell shape as well as motility (6) reprogramming of the gene expression [3]. Owing to this chain of transforma-

Mir Mohd Faheem and Archana Katoch contributed equally to this work.

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), Tumor Suppressor Par-4, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_1

tion, EMT generates a mesenchymal cell with increased motility and invasiveness compared to its epithelial counterpart. Although this dynamic process was initially coined as epithelial to mesenchymal transformation, it is in this day and age precisely known as epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) to highlight its transient nature. Pertinently, the morphological changes that a cell endures all through the EMT phenomena are neither single-step/unidirectional alterations (from epithelial to mesenchymal) nor a fait accompli. Rather, cells undergoing EMT are distinguished by multiple quasi-mesenchymal states of intermediary nature (Fig. 1). The capability of cells to transition between the epithelial and mesenchymal states, partly or completely, demonstrates the inherent plasticity of epithelial cells. EMT is a reversible process, and mesenchymal cells can experience reverse transition by a process known as mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET), which is of utmost therapeutic significance.

The epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a biological phenomenon in the course of physiological processes, for example, embryonic development, induction of pluripotency, embryonic stem cell differentiation, tissue repair, and wound healing, respectively [4]. Surprisingly, unlike true epithelial features, the mesenchymal cells are truly aggressive in terms of their massive invasive as well as migratory properties exercise through the extracellular matrix (ECM). Therefore, the extremely rigorous differentiation potential of mesenchymal cells is considered as a vital cog for normal embryonic development in various organisms. As a result, EMT not only succeeds in orchestrate cellular rearrangements but, at the same time, it also facilitates the organization of highly specialized tissues and organ systems [5]. This could explain why the essential molecular pathways regulating EMT, including TGF-β, Twist, Slug/Snail, Cripto, Six1, and Wnt/β-catenin, are highly conserved among mammalian systems [5]. Contextually, the convergence of all these pathways has empowered EMT in several pathophysiological conditions such as tissue/organ fibrosis, tumorigenesis, and metastasis as well as influencing the cancer stem cell behavior [6]. While the role of EMT during embryonic developmental stages, wound healing, and tissue remodeling processes is cumulatively beneficial for normal physiological events, contrast, the activation of EMT in cancer rather predispose the malignant cells more aggressive with acquired abilities of invasion, migration, stemness, and drug resistance. Albeit, these new postulates have driven the researchers to define EMT more explicitly so that we can more accurately distinguish between the physiological and pathological EMT processes and rationally discriminate the relationship between the two.

Although there is a substantial advancement in our understanding of the involvement of EMT in the invasion, migration, and metastasis of the tumor over the past decade, there



Fig. 1 Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). EMT encompasses a series of molecular events that result in the transition of a polarized epithelial cell into a mesenchymal cell. This transition is accompanied

by a gradual loss of epithelial markers and a simultaneous gain of mesenchymal markers. The reverse process is known as mesenchymalepithelial transition (MET) are still large voids concerning the prognosis during the activated EMT state of cancer patients. Robert Weinberg and his colleagues have successfully defined "metastases" as one of the eight hallmarks of cancer. Metastasis truly empowers the terminally differentiated cancer cells to pierce surrounding matrix and distant sites, conferring the cascade as the most challenging aspect of cancer in regard to cancer therapeutics and clinical prognosis. Nonetheless, it is a well-established fact that EMT lies at the core of the metastatic cascade's genesis and, in this context, is of utmost therapeutic significance. As such, the successful treatment of many cancers may be considerably improved given our ability to prevent or even reverse the process of metastasis.

1.2 Regulators of EMT

In a devastating pathophysiology of cancer, a range of diverse players, including transcription factors, signaling intermediates, cytoskeleton proteins, are grossly involved in paving the smooth function of EMT cells. Indeed, activation of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is not only responsible for the integration of signaling crosstalk engaged in proliferative pathways, but it also triggers cancer cells survival in the unfavorable catastrophic milieu. A diverse range of signaling pathways have been implicated in the modulation of EMT; among them, the most intensely studied being the TGF- β , Notch, and Wnt signaling pathways. Since the loss of adheren junction proteins, e.g., E-cadherin and Claudins, is a landmark event during EMT, most EMTinducing signaling pathways are involved in the regulation of the repressors of E-cadherin and other adheren junction proteins. Of note, Zeb family, Snail family, and the Twist-1 are some of the critical EMT effectors which impede the E-cadherin expression [7-10]. Accordingly, in the following paragraphs, we recapitulate the handpick of vital effectors and regulators of EMT.

1.2.1 TGF-β **Signaling Pathway**

The overwhelming role of TGF- β signaling has been largely implicated in the context of dual purposes—physiological development as well as in promoting malignancy [3, 11, 12]. Not only it acts as a multifunctional and ubiquitously expressed cytokine, apart from EMT, TGF- β also regulates various cellular activities, including cell growth and tissue fibrosis [13, 14].. This multifaceted function of TGF- β primarily concedes its dual nature, i.e., a tumor-suppressive role in the early phases of tumor development but promoting metastasis in the later stages [15, 16]. Albeit, among all the TGF- β eta subtypes, TGF- β 1 strongly adheres to the induction of EMT in tumor cells [17]. TGF- β regulates EMT through canonical Smad-dependent and Smad-independent manner. In the Smad-dependent signaling, binding of TGF- β to the TGF- β type II (T β RII) receptor trans-phosphorylates the TGF- β type I (T β RI) receptor which, in turn, activates the Receptor-Smads (R-Smads), Smad2, and Smad3. Following receptor activation, the R-Smads can regulate the gene expression by binding to the Common Smad (Co-Smad) -Smad4 and translocating into the nucleus [18-22]. Eventually, Zeb-1, Slug, Snail1, and Twist-1 transcription factors are examples of vital downstream targets of activated Smads, which predominantly alter the TME by triggering EMT-cascade [23, 24]. For generating a proof of concept, in an elegant experimental setup, using various mutant R-Smad constructs, Valcourt et al. have shown that a dominantnegative mutant of either Smad2 or Smad3 significantly abrogates the EMT induction in response to TGF- β [25]. Even though Smad3 is considered fundamental for EMT induction, the consequences of Smad2 on EMT induction are distinctly proven controversial [26-28]. On the other hand, the Smad-independent signaling pathways are equally detrimental since they, too, elicit diverse cellular responses, including EMT induction [25, 29–31]. Intriguingly, TGF-β facilitates EMT, independent of Smads, by regulating the Ras, Rho-like GTPases, p38, Erk, and PI3K/Akt pathways and via extensive modulation of Notch, Wnt, and integrin signaling pathways [32].

1.2.2 Wnt Signaling

The canonical Wnt signaling pathway during embryonic development as well as tumorigenesis in the context of EMT induction has been well-documented in the literature [33-35]. β-catenin plays a significant role in the deregulated Wnt signaling pathway in a vast range of cancers. However, as far as its stability is concerned, β -catenin is phosphorylated by GSK-3β and degraded via the ubiquitin-dependent pathway in the absence of activated Wnt signaling, thereby maintaining lower cytoplasmic β-catenin levels. As soon as Wnt signaling pathway is activated, cytoplasmic β -catenin translocates to the nucleus, where it facilitates to the formation of a complex with TCF/LEF transcription factors and stimulates the expression of EMT-inducing target genes. Furthermore, β -catenin, together with TCF augments the expression of one of the central EMT-effector molecules, Slug [36] and prevents the degradation of Snail [37]. As mentioned above, Wnt signaling indirectly aids EMT by collaborating with the TGF-B and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways. In that context, one of the elegant examples is the stabilization of the β -catenin by PI3K/Akt signaling through Wnt ligands via the blockage of GSK-3ß activation leading to promote spontaneous tumor formation [38]. In another classical experimental set up with palate medial-edge epithelial cells, Nawshad et al. have demonstrated a consistent suppression of E-cadherin protein levels due to the formation of stable complex, engaging LEF, Smad2, and Smad4 proteins [39]. Apart from its prominent role to curtail the cytoplasmic

E-cadherin levels, LEF, on the other hand, in alliance with Smad4 drastically augments the mesenchymal markers Vimentin, and fibronectin and thus facilitates cellular motility [39].

1.2.3 Notch Signaling

Notch signaling is a vital signaling arm that controls cell fate through regulating essential cellular functions, including cell proliferation and apoptosis [40]. However, the enigma of Notch signaling in EMT has been extensively studied in relevance to cancer progression [41, 42]. The promising outcome of some classical researches unearths that constitutive activation of Notch signaling governs the binding of Notch ligands to the transmembrane receptors, Jagged or Delta Like Ligands (DLL) of adjacent cells (DLL) [40], leading to the activation of the Notch pathway and subsequent cleavage of Notch to release its intracellular domain. As a consequence, Notch intracellular domain translocates to the nucleus and sequesters CSL (CBF-1-Suppressor of Hairless/ Lag1), resulting in the transcription of Notch-target proteins, Hey1, Snail, Cyclin D, and c-Myc [43-45]. Apart from triggering EMT and therapeutic resistance, aberrant Notch signaling is widely prevalent in many cancers [46, 47]. However, crosstalk between the Notch and TGF-B signaling pathways are considered imperative for the TGF-β-induced EMT and migration [40, 44].

1.2.4 HIF-1α Signaling

A low oxygen level, also known as hypoxia, is a frequently observed phenomenon in primary tumors. What are the vital consequences when cancer cells undergo prolonged hypoxic stress? Hypoxic stress diligently fuels up in the accumulation of hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs), which are known to induce EMT via Twist and Snail [48-50]. While HIFs are the major effectors of hypoxia, ERK, PI3K/AKT/mTOR, and NF-kB are vital pathways found to be extensively regulated by hypoxia-induced EMT [48, 51-53]. Burgeoning pieces of evidence show that loss of E-cadherin and augmented expression of Vimentin, N-cadherin, CXCR4, and SMA are prominent hallmarks of hypoxia-induced EMT [54]. While considering a major basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factor Twist-1 in EMT activation, HIF-1a directly regulates Twist-1 by binding to the HRE elements in the Twist-1 promoter. Moreover, from a mechanism of action perspective, Twist-1 is found to be indispensable for HIF-1 α mediated EMT and metastasis [50, 55]. Despite its versatile role in the regulation of EMT, hypoxia indirectly potentiates the TGF-\beta-induced EMT via steadily augmenting Slug and Snail expression with concurrent inhibition E-cadherin [54]. Additionally, in pancreatic cancer cells, the Hedgehog signaling also regulates hypoxiainduced EMT and invasion [56].

1.2.5 Integrin Signaling

Integrins, a family of transmembrane receptors comprising α and β subunit, are extensively corroborated in the process of building an intracellular network through cell attachment between the neighboring cells or ECM. Notably, this meshwork is an essential component pertinent to cell proliferation, differentiation, adhesion, and migration [57, 58]. However, perturbed integrin signaling is deeply associated as a core mechanism in EMT / chemoresistance [57]. The mechanism which would explain the role of integrins in ECM destruction underscores the deliberate involvement of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) to amplify pro-survival signals via ERK and PI3K/AKT axis [59]. As a part of this comprehensive mechanism, integrin signaling, possibly via integrin αv , could augment the TGF- β 1- mediated downregulation of E-Cadherin, facilitating the EMT cascade [60]. Although cancer cells are adequately equipped with their own intrinsic survival and proliferation signals compared to non-cancer cells, specific integrins family members, even on top of that, further exaggerate the tumorigenesis. In contrast, some other integrins may either inhibit or confer negligible impetus on tumor promotion [58]. Nevertheless, the tumorpromoting integrins, $\alpha v\beta 3$ and $\alpha 6\beta 4$, seemingly work together with other RTKs for ECM degradation [61, 62]. Therefore, integrin signaling represents a potential target that may yield better clinical outcomes in anti-metastatic therapeutic development.

1.2.6 microRNAs

microRNAs (miRNAs) are small non-coding RNAs, approximately 20 to 22 nucleotides in length, overtly facilitate transcriptional and post-transcriptional gene regulation. miRNAs bind to the '3'untranslated region (UTR) of their target mRNA resulting in gene silencing via target degradation or translational repression. Interestingly, miRNAs are severely implicated in the pathogenesis of cancer, especially in the EMT process. While few miRNAs positively regulate EMT, others are yet to be explored. On the basis of their oncogenic activities, miRNAs are categorized into oncogenic miRNAs (oncomirs) or tumor-suppressor miRNAs. Table 1 lists some of the miRNAs that are altered during EMT and tumorigenesis.

miR-21 is a well-characterized oncomir known to target a major tumor-suppressor protein, PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog), to induce EMT [73]. However, miR-21 inhibition causes the restoration of the PTEN levels via inactivation of one of the indispensable arms of AKT/ERK1/2 signaling, which ultimately reverses EMT [74]. Alternatively, a more detailed study of molecular signatures of miR-21 also targets another tumor-suppressor, Leucine zipper transcription factor-like 1 (LZTFL1), for the restoration of EMT [75]. In a concerted effort to gear up advanced carcinogenesis, miR-10b, an oncogenic miRNA, is largely concerned

	Effect on invasion/		
miRNA	metastasis	Target	Reference
miR-1	Suppression	Twist	[63]
Let-7 family	Suppression	NANOG, BCL2L1, Twist-1, Twist-2, c-MYC	[63, 64]
miR- 10b	Promotion	HOXD10, Vimentin, KLF4, Apaf-1	[65]
miR-16	Suppression	Twist-2, CDK1, CDK2	[63, 66]
miR-22	Suppression	CDK6, SIRT1, SP1	[67]
miR- 23a	Suppression	Twist-2	[63]
miR- 30a/b	Suppression	Snail1	[68]
miR- 33b	Suppression	Twist-2, Zeb-2	[63]
miR- 34a	Suppression	Slug, Twist-1, Zeb-1, Snail1, and Notch	[69]
miR- 141	Suppression	Zeb-1/Zeb-2	[63]
miR- 200	Suppression	Zeb-1/Zeb-2	[70]
miR- 300	Suppression	Twist-2	[63]
miR- 337	Suppression	Twist-2	[71]
miR- 373	Promotion	CD44	[72]
miR- 506	Suppression	Snail2	[63]

 Table 1
 EMT-regulating microRNAs

because its regulation is controlled by Twist-1, and down the way, hyperactivated miR-10b targets the homeobox D10 (HOXD 10). On the other hand, recent research unveils that Twist-1 instigates the expression of miR-10b-mediated HOXD 10 suppression convincingly confers activation of pro-metastatic protein Ras homolog family member C (RHOC) [76]. In order to promote migration, another oncomir miR-9 directly targets CDH1 causing cell motility and invasion [77]. Downregulation of miR-9-mediated E-cadherin expression induces β -catenin signaling, contributing to the upregulation of VEGF tendering tumor angiogenesis. Clinically, miR-9 overexpression found in tumors is correlated with aggressive phenotypes and poor prognosis [78]. High levels of miR-103/107 are also associated with metastasis and poor outcome [79]. miR-103/107 functions to inhibit the expression of Dicer, causing global miRNA downregulation.

In contrast to the oncomirs, the tumor-suppressive miR-NAs are attributed to stall malignant transformation. The cumulative miR-200 family members (miR-200a, miR-200b, miR-200c, miR-141, and miR-429) as prospective candidates to halt tumorigenesis is vividly characterized and

known as an epithelial phenotype's guardians in breast cancer [80]. Predictably, loss of miRNA-200a is frequently observed in breast cancer, but this loss does not predict tumor recurrence or patient survival [81]. The miR-200 family activates the Sec23a-mediated tumor cell secretome, which leads to the secretion of metastasis-suppressive proteins [82]. miR-200 family members are encoded from two clusters and directly target the messenger RNAs of the E-cadherin transcriptional repressors Zeb-1 and Zeb-2. Notably, Burk et al. and other studies have shown that both promoter regions are repressed in mesenchymal cells by Zeb-1 and Zeb-2 through binding to the E-box elements [80, 83]. A doublenegative feedback loop controlling Zeb-1-Zeb-2 and miR-200 family expression is vital for regulating the plasticity of the cancer cells. Another miRNA, miR-375, targets short stature homeobox 2 (SHOX2) to suppress EMT [84]. A novel miRNA, miR-506, significantly suppresses the expression of mesenchymal markers in the MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cell line. In addition to restraining the transforming growth factor (TGF)-β-induced EMT, miR-506 also plays a vital role in the post-translational control of EMTrelated genes [85]. miR-203 represses endogenous Snail, forming a double-negative miR-203/Snail feedback loop [86]. Additionally, miR-203 also targets Slug while TGF-βinduced Slug promotes EMT by repressing the miR-203 promoter to inhibit its transcription [87].miR-34 is one of the most studied tumor-suppressor miRNAs. It is implicated in the inhibition of EMT mediated by p53. It has been reported that activation of p53 downregulates the EMT induced by the transcription factor Snail via induction of the miR-34 gene. Suppression of miR-34 attributes the upregulation of Snail and endorses cell migration/invasion. Moreover, miR-34a prevents TGF-\beta-induced EMT, and the repression of the miR-34 gene by Snail is known to be a part of the EMT program [88].

1.3 EMT Markers

A variety of markers, including proteins as well as miRNAs, have been explored in pre-clinical settings to assess the extent of EMT. These markers have been categorized as (i) epithelial markers that are concerned with the maintenance of the epithelial state and (ii) mesenchymal markers that sustain the mesenchymal phenotype. Since EMT is characterized by the transition of an epithelial cell to a mesenchymal state, the attenuation of epithelial markers with simultaneous acquisition of mesenchymal markers lies at EMT's core. Table 2 highlights some of the EMT markers that are studied to assess EMT. Here, we summarize some of these well-accepted EMT markers that are analyzed to assess the EMT phenomenon.

Category	Marker	Role in EMT/	Pafaranaa
Category Epithelial markers	E-cadherin	Functional and expressional loss of E-cadherin during EMT and cancer. Downregulation increases cellular motility	[89]
	Claudins	Integral membrane proteins localized at tight junctions and maintain the epithelial cell polarity. Repressed during EMT to promote cancer cells invasion and migration	[90]
	Zonula occludins	Component of tight junctions and adherens junctions; controls cell migration; downregulated during EMT	[91]
Mesenchymal markers	N-cadherin	E-cadherin to N-cadherin switching during EMT. High expression in mesenchymal cells. Promotes cancer cell survival, invasion, and migration. High levels depict poor prognosis	[92]
	Vimentin	Established mesenchymal marker. Regulates cell shape as well as cell motility	[93]
	Fibronectin	Component of the tumor matrisome. Regulates the integrin signaling to facilitate EMT, invasion, and metastasis	[94]
	Snail1/2	Key repressor of E-cadherin and highly expressed in cancers. Promotes EMT and metastasis; predicts poor prognosis	[95]
	Twist-1	E-cadherin repprossor, promotes EMT, metastasis, and formation of cancer stem cells	[96]
	Zeb-1/2	Strong repressor of E-cadherin and aids EMT	[97]
	EPCAM	Highly expressed in circulating tumor cells	[98]

 Table 2
 Markers of EMT and their role in tumorigenesis

1.3.1 Epithelial Markers

Intact adheren junctions are a hallmark of epithelial morphology, which keep the cells tethered to each other. For maintaining cellular integrity, E-cadherin, encoded by the *CDH1* gene, is an important component protein identified at the adheren junctions, known to regulate the epithelial phenotype [99]. However, during malignant transformation, switching of E-cadherin to N-cadherin is prevalent and regulated by diverse signaling pathways [92]. Notably, loss of E-cadherin and subsequent EMT activation imparts overwhelming migration capability leading to metastatic dissemination. By analyzing clinical data, we can clarify how functional loss of E-cadherin, via chromosomal deletions, mutations, epigenetic silencing, or proteolytic cleavage, has been implicated in the development of pancreatic, breast, gastric, and skin cancers [100, 101]. On the other hand, the CDH1(E-cadherin) gene promoter's hypermethylation is extensively observed in malignant cells associated with EMT initiation [102].

Apart from E-cadherin, few other epithelial markers, including claudin family members, are involved in maintaining cell polarity and permeability. Claudins serve as a vital component of the tight junctions (TJs) [103]. Claudins comprise a large family of tetraspan membrane proteins, which are expressed in a tissue-specific manner. Similar to E-cadherin expression, a wide range of clinical samples display an altered expression of claudins, with claudin-1, -3, -4, and -7 being the most recurrently affected among the claudin family [104]. Strikingly, loss of claudin-3 (CLDN3) and claudin-4 (CLDN4) not only triggers robust morphological changes but adequately enhances growth, migration, and invasion processes. A deficit of CLDN3 and CLDN4 significantly boosts the E-cadherin protein levels with simultaneous N-cadherin downregulation [103]. Notwithstanding their EMT modulatory functions, some members of the claudin family are consistently downregulated during tumorigenesis, which is fairly constant with their function as a tight junction protein; however, claudin overexpression has also been reported in some cancers [104].

1.3.2 Mesenchymal Markers

In cancer, the role of EMT has been grossly corroborated into the severity of the disease and thus providing a mechanism for cancer cells to dislodge from their primary site and colonize at distant secondary sites. Rationally, therefore, a successful accomplishment of EMT warrants the activation of mesenchymal markers. In that context, major extensively studied mesenchymal markers include N-cadherin, Vimentin, and Epithelial cellular adhesion molecule (EpCAM) [105]. During malignant transformation, the induction of N-cadherin protein levels is a well-studied event. This E-cadherin to N-cadherin switch, also known as the cadherin switch, is a hallmark of EMT and is a designated biomarker for the evaluation of circulating tumor cells (CTCs). Based on substantial evidence, it can be assumed that elevated N-cadherin levels are significantly associated with increased tumor invasion, metastatic dissemination, and poor patient prognosis [106]. Surprisingly, N-cadherin also modulates the Wnt signaling because forced N-cadherin expression leads

to the elevated localization of β -catenin at the plasma membrane [107]. In order to promote β -catenin translocation, studies unveil that N-cadherin modulates the TCF/LEFmediated gene transcription, which could be the causal root of excessive cell motility [108]. Additionally, the highly integrated cooperation between the FGFR-Akt with N-cadherin signaling in the perspective of EMT/ stemness induction has been extensively examined as well [109]. Sequentially, the next vital metastatic marker-Vimentin, which is a type III IF (intermediate filament) expressed during embryonic development as well as tumorigenesis. Out of the six major IFs, Vimentin is considered the most important facilitator for mesenchymal cellular stiffness. Vimentin is stimulated in epithelial cells as soon as EMT is activated; otherwise, these cells express keratin solely as a major IF. In order to analyze the coherent connection between Vimentin and Keratin, Polioudaki et al. [110] confirmed a significantly low Vimentin to Keratin ratio (Vim/K) in an epithelial phenotype, whereas a mesenchymal phenotype is associated with a high Vim/K ratio in CTCs in breast cancer patients. Although Vimentin overexpression is often ubiquitous in a diverse range of cancers, its aberrantly high expression is positively correlated with tumor progression, metastatic dissemination, invasiveness, and chemoresistance [111, 112].

Epithelial-cellular adhesion molecule (EpCAM), also known as CD326, is a transmembrane glycoprotein known to be associated as a vital cell adhesion protein in epithelial cells; however, its role in epithelial malignancies has been consistently emerging [113]. Contextually, a recent study unveils a high expression of EpCAM in triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) cells [114]. Moreover, the metastasis incidence in TNBC is also directly correlated with EpCAM expression [115]. Importantly, EpCAM possesses a critical role in maintaining the pluripotency of cancer stem cells (CSCs), conferring it as a classical CSC marker [116].

1.4 EMT Paves the Way for Tumor Metastasis

Metastasis is a scientific terminology referring to the spreading and colonization of the primary tumor cells to distant secondary organs. It is responsible for the majority of cancerrelated deaths. Although the lion's share of primary tumors can be treated with surgery and adjuvant therapy, the systemic nature of the metastatic disease renders it mostly incurable. Furthermore, the disseminated tumor cells are highly resistant to the existing anti-cancer therapeutic agents and often cause recurring disease [117]. The lethality due to metastasis is now well-recognized and remarkable efforts have been made to uncover the cellular and molecular basis of this systemic phenomenon. A series of cell-biological events, collectively termed as the invasion-metastasis cas-

cade, are executed on the onset of the successful establishment of secondary metastases at an anatomically distant organ site. The invasion-metastasis cascade involves (1) local invasion of the cancer cells into the basement membrane and the surrounding extracellular matrix (ECM) and stromal cell layers, (2) intravasation into the endothelial lamina of blood vessels and entry into the systemic circulation, (3) surviving through the rigors of systemic transport (4) arrest at distant organ sites and extravasation into the parenchyma of distant tissues, (5) enduring the foreign microenvironments to form micrometastases and re-initiate their proliferative programs at metastatic sites, thereby generating macroscopic, clinically detectable neoplastic growths [12]. We have illustrated the various steps involved in the metastatic cascade in Fig. 2. While the majority of these events are controlled by the molecular mechanisms (genetic and epigenetic) functioning within the cancer cells, the nonneoplastic stromal cells also exert overwhelming resistance influencing the invasion-metastasis cascade [118]. In the next sections, we will critically analyze the inherent modus operandi of tumor metastasis.

1.4.1 EMT and Malignant Transformation

Post-EMT malignant transformation of TME is an intricately synchronized process driven by intrinsic genetic changes, alterations in the local microenvironment, or environmental factors. The initial escape from the primary site is an essential prerequisite for tumor cells to adopt motile phenotype and thus degrade the underlying basement membrane/ECM to initiate an invasion, which can only be accomplished upon EMT induction. Although EMT is typically considered a delayed event during overall tumorigenesis, metastasis commences with EMT induction in a tumor cell subset. The crucial role that EMT- associated transcription factors dictate the initial malignant conversion cannot be undermined. From the repository of emerging recent literatures, aberrant Twist-1 mRNA levels have been detected in the early stages of primary tumor development [119, 120]. Such information supports the critical role of Twist-1-mediated E-cadherin suppression during malignant conversion. One of the other mechanisms by which Twist-1 aids malignant transformation is binding to the tumor-suppressor protein, p53 leading to its degradation. Twist-1-mediated p53 degradation nullifies the oncogene-induced senescence and apoptosis executed by p53 [121]. Of note, the Twist-1-mediated p53 degradation, on the other hand, contributes to the Her-2 and H-Ras-driven malignant transformation [122]. Similarly, Wnt, Notch, and other signaling pathways that regulate EMT are also implicated in malignant transformation of TME, primarily through the activation of EMT-TFs [123, 124].

Post-activation of EMT-TFs, degradation of the underlying basement membrane is indispensable for invasion and is executed through the upregulation of various matrix degrad-



Fig. 2 EMT and tumor metastasis. The figure depicts the various stages of tumor metastasis. The tumor cells undergo EMT at the primary tumor site, travel to distant locations, and finally undergo MET to establish successful secondary metastases

ing enzymes. Interestingly, EMT-TFs orchestrate the formation of invadopodia to degrade ECM [125]. Notably, invadopodia facilitates the ECM degradation by means of involving diverse proteases, including matrix metalloproteases (MMPs), membrane-tethered proteases (MT-MMPs), and ADAMs (a disintegrin and metalloproteases) to the cellmatrix contact points [126]. Remarkably, EMT TF Twist-1 promotes invadopodia formation through the activation of PDGFRa/Src signaling. On the other hand, TGF-β equally contributes towards invadopodia formation by augmenting the expression of Twist-1 and the focal adhesion protein Hic-5 [127]. In a robust integrative approach, Zeppo1, another metastatic promoter found to impede E-cadherin expression along with the stimulation of invadopodia-like structures [128]. In a similar manner, Snail1 is known to assist the expression of MT1-MMP, MT2-MMP, and MMP9 as well as promotes the basement membrane's degradation [129]. Furthermore, EMT-TF Snail2 as well regulates tumor metastasis through induction of MT4-MMP and MMP2 [3]. Hence, cumulatively, all the above evidences imply that post-EMT preparatory phase is indispensable for tumor cells to ensure dissociate from tight gap junctions, attain migratory phenotype, and as a consequence, degrade the ECM to initiate the metastatic cascade.

1.4.2 Intravasation

Intravasation, the second step of metastasis, ensures the tumor cells invade the endothelial lamina, infiltrating into the lymphatic or blood vessels, and shelter into the vasculature accordingly. Following entering into the circulation, tumor cells either migrate directionally in response to chemokine or growth factor gradients, else get carried away passively by the stream of blood flow. Nevertheless, growing evidences suggest that cells in transition desperately need various ligand-receptor molecules for stable adhesion. Besides, cytokines and growth factors that augment vascular permeability to allow transmigration through the vascular wall also adequately serve as an impediment [126]. Strikingly, during this initial phase of the journey, expression of N-cadherin spikes robustly; although present at the adherens junctions, N-cadherin is either negligibly expressed or absent in the epithelial cells. Notably, this newly synthesized pool of N-cadherin-mediated adhesion between the cancer cells and the endothelial cells governs the entire intravasation process. Eventually, following N-cadherin-mediated adhesion, downstream activation of Src kinase / β -catenin further potentiates the trans-endothelial migration [127].

What is the role of integrins in the intravasation cascade? Integrins are vividly implied in the metastatic intravasation process [128]. For example, melanoma cells expressing the integrin VLA-4 are known to stimulate adhesion and transendothelial migration via binding to VCA-1 localize on endothelial cells. Despite strong host-immunogenic resistance, aberrant expression of several selectins, viz. E-selectin (CD62E), P-selectin (CD62P), and L-selectin (CD62L) are known to facilitate binding and rolling of cancer cells on endothelium [129]. Contextually, EMT-transcription factors, for example, Zeb-1 and Snail1, also regulate the migration of the cancer cells through the endothelial barrier [130]. Of note, Snail1 overexpression specifically activates the membrane-bound MMPs (like MT1-MMP and MT2-MMP) but not secreted MMPs, suggesting physical contact of MMPs with the endothelium is a prerequisite for intravasation [131]. In the next phase, the EMT cells gradually degrade the surrounding matrix in order to pave the way for invasion and intravasation, while the non-EMT cells follow the course to infiltrate into the vasculature [132]. Paradoxically, non-EMT cells are believed to be more competent than the EMT cells in reestablishing colonies in the secondary sites due to their superior adhesive properties that allow them successful extravasation into the secondary site [133].

1.4.3 Systemic Transport

Once the tumor cells detach from each other and enter the vasculature, they must override immunological resistances, shear forces, and anoikis. Anoikis is a form of programmed cell death that is instigated when anchorage-dependent cells detach from the surrounding ECM [134]. Consequently, one such survival mechanism is initiated when the integrins on tumor cells interact with ECM, activating focal adhesion kinase (FAK), which phosphorylates its downstream effector molecules leading to Akt activation. Paradoxically, loss of contact between integrins and ECM impedes the survival signals and initiates cell death by triggering the expression of pro-apoptotic proteins [135]. EMT, on the contrary, supports the cancer cells to overcome anoikis by E-cadherin to

N-cadherin switching, which is a decisive factor in promoting invasion. The importance of EMT can be evaluated from the landmark studies underscoring the presence of EMT markers in CTCs [136]. A handful of these relevant studies have demonstrated that the mesenchymal phenotype is adequately prevalent among the CTCs and solely accompanied by Zeb-2 overexpression [137]. Furthermore, in the squamous cell carcinoma-mouse tumor model, Twist-1 induction triggers a dramatic boost in the mesenchymal CTCs as indicated by low E-cadherin and high Vimentin levels [136]. Notably, the CTCs trigger tumor cell-induced platelet aggregation (TCIPA), which tether to the surface of CTCs via GPIIb-IIIa-fibrinogen bridge [138]. Platelets also secrete TGF- β that aids CTCs in maintaining the EMT state [139]. Moreover, platelet-derived TGF- β efficiently reduces the expression of the immunoreceptor-NKG2D, thus inhibiting Natural Killer (NK) cell activity [140]. On the other hand, mushrooming evidences elicit that platelets may shield the CTCs against immune assault by NK cells [141]. Furthermore, the transfer of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) from activated platelets to CTCs favors the escaping of the immune surveillance [142]. The plateletderived VEGF, at the same time, provides synergic impetus to CTCs by stalling the maturation of primary antigenpresenting cells/dendritic cells [143]. Further down the course, CTCs also take part in the construction of micro tentacles, which are believed to be microtubule-based membrane protrusions, probably aiding in CTC aggregation and tethering [144]. In that direction, burgeoning evidence implies that major EMT TFs, Twist-1/Snail1 play a pivotal role in promoting micro-tentacle formation, suggesting that CTC survival via micro-tentacle-based attachment of CTCs to platelets and endothelium could be potentiated by EMT [145].

1.4.4 Tumor Cell Extravasation and EMT

Most of the tumor cells trespassing into the bloodstream hardly confront the rigors of the circulation, including the hemodynamic shear forces as well as attacks of the immune system and anoikis due to the loss of adhesion to the ECM. Only a few surviving cells may arrest in the vascular lumen and manage to extravasate through the capillary endothelium into the parenchyma of distant organs and thus orchestrate micrometastasis [146]. However, the evidence for the involvement of extravasation in various pathogenic processes is mounting. For example, a multifunctional nonkinase receptor for semaphorins family, neuropilin-2 (NRP-2), is identified on the surface of renal carcinoma and pancreatic cancer cells. This receptor aids vascular adhesion and extravasation by interacting with endothelial $\alpha 5$ integrin [147]. Notably, in prostate cancer metastasis to bones, adhesion of E-selectin ligands as well as $\beta 1$ and $\alpha V\beta 3$ integrins, are sequentially required for extravasation. Furthermore,

while validating the role of integrins in adhesion and extravasation, a handful of emerging evidences uncover that integrins $\alpha \nu \beta 3$, $\alpha \nu \beta 5$, $\alpha 5 \beta 1$, $\alpha 6 \beta 4$ expressed on tumor cells correlating with metastatic progression in melanoma, breast carcinoma, pancreatic, lung, and prostate cancer [61]. Consequently, extravasation is orchestrated via active collaboration with prometastatic genes, Twist-1, Integrin beta-1 (ITGB1), and VEGFA [148]. In order to continue steady migration in this phase of metastasis, cancer cells deliberately recruit versatile motile structures. For example, filopodium-like protrusions (FLPs) by the tumor cells containing integrin-\beta1 constitutively interact with the ECM of the distant tissue parenchyma to alter the TME [148]. Similarly, Snail1 can induce the formation of FLPs, and most strikingly, the mesenchymal states of some breast cancer cells are closely associated with their ability to generate FLPs. Together, the above studies underscore the EMT program confers a significant role in promoting extravasation and dissemination of tumor cells to distant organs.

1.4.5 Metastatic Colonization and MET

Of the total fraction of tumor cells that metastasize from the primary site, only a minuscule subset of cells proceed to establish micrometastases under the catastrophic resistances by the unmet stromal environment [12]. As discussed above, the metastatic cascade till the extravasation stage is majorly driven by the EMT, as is evident by the EMT signatures noted in the primary carcinomas and CTCs. However, it is surprising that the macrometastases are largely epithelial, in contrast to the proposed mesenchymal nature, suggesting that EMT involvement during metastasis is likely to be functionally dynamic. In that context, Bonnomet et al. noted a heterogeneous expression pattern of Vimentin in the primary MDA-MB-468 tumor xenografts and the resulting lung metastases, while high levels of Snail1, Snail2, and Vimentin prevail in CTCs. This finding implies that the Vimentinnegative macrometastases might originate following MET in the Vimentin-positive CTCs, highlighting the epithelialmesenchymal plasticity [149]. Similarly, another study rationally pointed out that EMT activation aids the metastasis's initial phases, including local invasion, intravasation, and extravasation. However, EMT inhibition is equally essential for tumor cell proliferation and macrometastasis formation at the distant site [136]. A novel EMT inducer, Prrx1, cooperates with Twist-1 to promote a more invasive phenotype in human breast cancer cells. On the basis of the evidence, downregulation of Prrx1 is an essential prerequisite to revert EMT and for lung metastasis colonization [150]. In an exactly similar fashion, EMT activation by Zeb-2/Snail1 leads to the inhibition of Cyclin D activity, thereby suppressing cell division [151]. All these studies together assert that EMT reversal could be essential to restart proliferation at the secondary site for metastasis colonization although these

highly coordinated mechanisms warrant detailed investigation.

Another new perspective in this context is the emerging players of miRNA families, such as the miR-200 family (including miR-200a, miR-200b, and miR-200c). These miRs maintain the cells' epithelial nature by negatively regulating the EMT inducer Zeb-1 and vice versa (as we have discussed earlier). Interestingly, the Sec23a-mediated secretion of metastasis-suppressive proteins are by and large prevented upon the re-expression of miR-200 family members, which ultimately trigger colonization, possibly by repressing Igfbp4 and Tinagl1 [152]. These studies indicate that both the loss of EMT-inducing signals and the induction of METpromoting cues may be required simultaneously to actively promote micrometastases. Given that micrometastasis outgrowth is a critical stage in the invasion-metastasis cascade, more studies on MET's molecular regulators could shed light on therapeutic approaches to inhibit tumor colonization.

1.5 EMT Acquisition by Mesenchymal Cells—A Real Challenge in the Development of Cancer Therapeutics

The association between major EMT-associated transcriptions factors and the development of novel therapeutic strategies on that basis is of great interest to the scientific community. The underlying molecular mechanisms involved in EMT acquisition are primarily governed by the EMTassociated transcription factors (EMT-TFs). EMT-TFs include transcription factors belonging to the basic helix loop helix family (Twist-1 and 2), zinc finger family proteins (Zeb-1/2, Snail, and Slug) and β -catenin. Acting in isolation or conjunction, EMT-TFs regulate certain EMT-associated marker proteins. Epithelial markers such as E-cadherin, Claudins, Occludins, and Cytokeratin are transcriptionally repressed by EMT-TFs with concomitant upregulation of like mesenchymal Vimentin, markers N-cadherin. Fibronectin, and matrix-metalloproteases (MMPs). Activation of EMT-TFs and subsequent EMT induction in cancer cells is invariably considered as the building blocks of acquired chemoresistance, leading to enhanced stemness/ plasticity of the malignant cells. Stemness refers to the core properties exhibited by stem cells, for example, self-renewal and production of differentiated progeny. These properties related to stemness are physiologically displayed by embryonic stem cells and adult stem cells during development and tissue homeostasis as well as regeneration. Extensive studies of the tumor tissue have pointed towards the presence of stem-like cells, termed as the cancer stem cells (CSCs), within tumors [153]. The CSCs behave in an equivalent malignant manner to normal stem cells in terms of stemness [154]. A mesenchymal phenotype is a commonality between the CSCs and the normal stem cells that allows them to retain the stemness as well as the migratory properties [155–157]. CSCs have been linked to EMT phenotypes by epigenetic programming in many types of cancer. The EMT process enables cancer cells to disseminate and to self-renew during tumor metastasis. For example, non-transformed immortalized human mammary epithelial cells undergo an EMT process upon Snail1, Twist-1 expression, or the presence of TGF-β1. The subpopulation of CD44_{high}/CD24_{low} immortalized human mammary epithelial cells that possess stem-like properties increases with concomitant induction of EMT phenotype [158]. Contrariwise, CSCs confer prodigious carcinogenic potential and plasticity in comparison to the non-CSCs subset of cancer cells. This finding indicates that an EMT process generates cells with similar properties commonly observed in self-renewing stem cells. In this regard, it appears that the EMT process that enables cancer cells to disseminate from a primary tumor (i.e., metastasis) also promotes cancer cell self-renewal.

The potential application of the identification of interplay between CSCs and EMT has just begun to unveil. For instance, loss of the tumor suppressor p53 in mammary epithelial cells has been shown to induce EMT and enrich CSCs through repression of miR200c, suggesting that the p53miR200c pathway can be activated to suppress EMTassociated CSCs to treat cancer [159]. Furthermore, EMT harboring CSCs are resistant to platinum-based conventional chemotherapies (oxaliplatin, cisplatin) (Fig. 3) due to the modulation of genes involved in cell survival or evasion of apoptosis. CSCs and EMT seem to be an axis of evil in cancer, a better understanding of which may contribute to establishing novel therapeutic platforms. Rationally, EMT acquisition in cancer cells puts forth a two-fold challenge, i.e., drug resistance and stemness, both of which are implicated in the progression of the metastatic cascade. Hence, the true challenges in anti-cancer therapy development must confront the EMT accretion of cancer cells.

2 Par-4 Emerges out as a Prospective EMT Modulatory Protein

Cellular fate between apoptosis or survival depends upon the balance between both survival (EMT) and pro-apoptotic cascades (Program cell death); this equilibrium stage is adequately explained in pre-clinical settings where therapeutic administration could modulate tumor suppressor's function to eradicate tumor burdens. Until recently, Par-4 as a tumor suppressor protein is well-established owing to its cancerspecific expression and apoptosis-inducing ability, but Par-4 research has attained a new height by illustrating EMT stalling properties of Par-4. Several research groups have indeed dissected the signaling mechanisms involved in Par-4 activation to augment apoptotic cascades [160–163]. However, new developments in Par-4 research have not only widened its therapeutic potential but dominantly proclaim its imperative role in modulating autophagy, senescence, and other therapeutically relevant avenues. One of such daunting task is the halt in EMT induction and prevention of metastasis by Par-4. In this section, we have extensively envisaged the prospective role of Par-4 with reference to EMT, the molecular signaling involved, and therapeutic implications. This section has also been summed up in Fig. 4.

2.1 Structural Aspects of Par-4(SAC Domain) that Link it with EMT

Par-4 is a leucine-zipper protein that has distinct nuclear localization and entry sequences. It comprises of two nuclear localization sequences (NLS1 and NLS2) at the N-terminal region, a nuclear export sequence (NES), a "selective for apoptosis of cancer cells" domain (SAC) unique to the Par-4 protein, and a leucine zipper domain (LZ) at the carboxyl-terminal region (Fig. 5) [164].

In an elegant study by Zhao et al., bone marrow from SAC transgenic mice transplanted into SAC-non-transgenic irradiated littermates serves as a pool for SAC-expressing cells that are resistant to tumor growth. In the tail vein mice metastatic model, recombinant Par-4 (TRX-Par-4) and SAC (TRX-SAC) proteins are competent in inhibiting the formation of metastatic lung nodules [165]. One of the principal mechanisms for Par-4 functionality is its inhibition of NF-kB. Par-4 that has a defective or lacking NLS2 (amino acid residues 137-153) domain is retained in the cytoplasm and is unable to block NF- κ B activity [166], downstream targets of which include major EMT-related genes, for example, Twist-1, Snail1, and β-catenin. Of note, the NLS2 domain is encompassed by the larger SAC domain in totality. Rationally, the relevance of the SAC domain to the anti-EMT potential of Par-4 is beyond question. The question that begs to be asked is whether or not additional structural domains in Par-4 are unequivocally responsible for its anti-EMT activity. The leucine zipper (LZ) motif of Par-4 is essential for its interaction with other proteins and binding to DNA sequences to carry out its co-transcriptional activity. The interactions mediated by the LZ motif can be perceived as an alternate mechanism by which Par-4 can either interact with EMT markers (Vimentin) or bind to regulatory DNA sequences of EMT-TFs (Twist-1, Snail1, Zeb-1). However, unlike the SAC domain-mediated inhibition of NF-kB, the LZ motif's role in the abrogation of EMT needs in-depth exploration as there is a substantial dearth of evidence.



Fig. 3 Cancer stem cells (CSCs) and chemoresistance. The figure depicts the outcomes of conventional cancer therapies versus stem cell-specific therapies. The CSCs constitute a small subset within the tumor

cells that drive chemoresistance as well as tumor recurrence following conventional chemotherapy

2.2 Regulation of NF-kB Activity by Par-4

EMT has been perceived as a deliberate ploy employed by cancer cells to evade cytotoxic threats and accomplish survival. Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells, NF- κ B, is a master transcription regulator that is essential for cell survival and is critically relied upon by cancer cells to ensure their survival. Notably, translocation of the NF-kB into the nucleus drives the expression of genes regulating diverse biological processes [167]. However, the majority of the cancer types are prone to altered levels of NF-kB that are positively correlated with tumor growth, invasion, metastasis, and chemoresistance. Interestingly, the NF-kB and Par-4 proteins are antagonistic to each other [168]. The NLS2 sequence found within Par-4 is essential for its nuclear translocation (as detailed earlier) and subsequent suppression of the NF-kB-dependent transcription activity, binding to Par-4 partner proteins WT1, ZIPK/ DAXX, and THAP; and thus induction of apoptosis [169]. Apart from the direct inhibition of the NF-κB activity, Par-4 may also indirectly stall NF-kB via stabilizing AKT. AKT is a serine/threonine-protein kinase that regulates a variety of cellular processes, including proliferation, survival, and protein translation. However, AKT overexpression is a cata-

strophic event reported in almost all cancers, rendering it a very important therapeutic target. Of note, AKT activation not only stimulates NF-kB activity to instigate survival of cancer cells but at the same time, AKT blocks the proapoptotic transcription factor, FOXO3a [170]. However, an elaborate study by Joshi et al. has demonstrated that Par-4 autonomously inhibits AKT via PKC² that phosphorylates AKT at Ser124 [171]. AKT phosphorylation at Ser124 impacts the phosphorylation status of the two most important residues, Ser473 and Thr308, that are critical for AKT activity [172]. Another detailed contextual study by Choudhry et al. reveals Par-4 to be one of the downstream targets of TGF-β signaling involved in the EMT induction. The TGFβ-mediated induction of Par-4 expression, as well as its nuclear localization, was revealed to be executed via the Smad4 and NF-KB pathways. Moreover, the study also reveals that the interaction of Par-4 with Smad4 results in the abrogation of the NF-KB and XIAP protein levels, culminating in an EMT halt [173]. Further, NF- κ B also hinders the apoptosis process by enhancing the transcription of the antiapoptotic protein, Bcl_{xl}, and X-linked IAPs (XIAP) [174]. Par-4 counteracts the pro-survival effects of NF-kB by initiating the assembly of the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) by augmenting the interaction of FAS receptor and



Fig. 4 Signaling involved in Par-4-mediated abrogation of EMT. The figure depicts various signaling pathways that initiate and/or facilitate EMT as well as the axes that are targeted by Par-4 to execute its anti-EMT and anti-metastatic function



Fig. 5 Structural aspects that link Par-4 and EMT. Functional domains of Par-4 include two nuclear localization signals (NLS1 and NLS2) at the N-terminal, an SAC (selective for apoptosis in cancer cells) domain in the middle, and a leucine zipper (LZ) domain at the C-terminal

FAS Ligand with FADD and inducing apoptosis in a hormone-independent manner [175]. MMPs, the active players in ECM components degradation, are well-accepted for their involvement in cancer progression and metastasis. Importantly, MMPs can also confer apoptosis resistance to the cancer cells by negatively regulating the Fas-FADDmediated death signaling [176]. However, the extracellular Par-4 can rescue the anti-apoptotic signaling associated with cancer cells by diminishing MMP-2 [177], activating downstream caspase-3 as well as nullifying the pro-metastatic effects of c-FLIP to exert an extrinsic apoptotic effect [178, 179]. Thus, the apoptotic induction, as well as abrogation of invasion, could be controlled independently by secretory Par-4 in diverse cellular background. Since Par-4 negatively regulates NF-kB protein which double-edged function is grossly equipped with the regulation of cancer cell survival through modulation of EMT-TFs. By and large, NF-kB induces the transcription of EMT-TF genes Twist-1, Slug, and SIP1 by directly binding to their promoter regions, ultimately attributing the EMT process to promote an aggressive phenotype [180]. Hence, all these above studies in this subsection authenticate the direct contribution of NF-KB in EMT promotion and as well provide compelling evidences that Par-4-mediated anti-EMT effects could majorly be attributed to the inhibition of NF-kB. Although Par-4 presents a foolproof theoretical approach to tackle the NF-KBmediated tumorigenesis and chemoresistance, the feasibility of NF- κ B-targeting therapies has to be carefully evaluated.

2.3 Regulation of EMT-Associated Transcription Factors by Par-4

In the horizon of Par-4 research, we have witnessed emerging evidences unleashing its novel functions. One of such fascinating functions emphasizes the anti-EMT role of Par-4. Multiple studies have recently revealed the anti-EMT role of Par-4 [177, 181]. Importantly, exogenous Par-4 is welldocumented to positively correlate with E-cadherin expression and down-modulation of various EMT-TFs, including Twist-1, Snail, Slug, Zeb-1, and Zeb-2. As a consequence of diminished EMT-TF transcriptional activity, mesenchymal markers, viz. Vimentin, N-cadherin, MMPs, and fibronectin are consistently found to be repressed. However, whether or not EMT-TFs are directly regulated by Par-4 remains to be thoroughly examined. Although evolutionarily, Twist-1 transcription factors are attributed to embryonic development, their expression is limited post-embryogenesis in most of the cell types [182]. Elevated expression of Twist-1 is often associated with tumor progression, metastasis, and poor patient prognosis [183]. Twist-1-mediated E-cadherin suppression is critical for the induction of EMT that ultimately converges into metastatic dissemination [184].

Moreover, Twist-1 also positively modulates the expression of the mesenchymal markers Vimentin, Fibronectin, and N-cadherin to promote cellular motility. Recent studies elegantly postulate the relevance of Par-4-mediated Twist-1 inhibition in cancer cells concomitant with E-cadherin upregulation although the exact mechanism remains obscure [181, 185, 186]. One of the plausible mechanisms by which Par-4 may impede Twist-1 could be via the regulation of AKT1. AKT1, on the contrary, phosphorylates Twist-1 at the Serine-42 residue resulting in incremental Twist-1 transcriptional activity to mediate E-cadherin suppression [187]. Besides, we have discussed in the above section, Par-4, via the recruitment of PKC² inhibits AKT activation to exert anti-tumorigenic effects [171]. These studies subtly point out the possibility of Twist-1 inhibition by Par-4, which requires more scientific validation.

Alternatively, Twist-1 is also an evolutionarily conserved target of NF-kB [188]. Since Par-4 is a well-known repressor of NF-kB, it may also possibly abrogate the NF-kB-Twist-1 upregulation. TNF- α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that is deeply corroborated into EMT activation, cancer stemness as well as angiogenesis [189]. Both IKK-b and NF- κ B p65 are required for TNF-α-induced expression of Twist-1, suggesting the involvement of canonical NF-kB signaling. Moreover, activation of NF-kB, as well as Twist-1, blocks programmed cell death (PCD). The protective activity of NF-KB is also crucial for oncogenesis as well as aids cancer chemoresistance. Together, these findings indirectly suggest that Par-4mediated NF-kB inhibition may contribute to the Twist-1 suppression observed upon the ectopic expression of Par-4 in cancer cells. Although these could be the proposed mechanism of Twist-1 inhibition via the Par-4, more studies are warranted to validate the Twist-1-suppressing effects of Par-4 as well as its consequences on tumor progression and metastasis.

2.4 Role of Par-4 in Regulation of Cytoskeletal and ECM Remodeling

Basal levels of Par-4 secreted by cancer cells are generally inadequate to cause substantial apoptosis; secretagogues that augment the release of Par-4 represent an alternate approach to repurpose our objectives in Par-4-dependent therapeutic Notwithstanding, development. the implications of apoptosis-instigating mechanisms in relation to radiation or chemotherapy may provide clues to better explain the selection of proper targets in cancer. In a classical approach, Burikhanov et al. have utilized a unique chemical-genetic entity to underscore the ability of secretagogue-Arylquin to enhance Par-4 function. This secretagogue-Arylquin -mediated functional enhancement of Par-4 was executed by facilitating Par-4 secretion via the classical secretory pathway as

well as by aborting the interaction of Par-4 with Vimentin [190]. While the sequestration of Par-4 by Vimentin in cancer cells not only attributes an important role in the induction of EMT and maintenance of mesenchymal state, but it may also corroborate to drug resistance mechanisms and EMT, particularly in the advanced stage of cancer. Notably, in order to achieve a robust anti-tumor efficacy, such disruption of the Par-4-Vimentin interaction leads to the release of Par-4 to execute its pro-apoptotic function. Therefore, Par-4 rescue may not only sensitize the cancer cell to apoptosis but may abrogate the induction of EMT. This axis of Vimentinmediated Par-4 regulation in cancer cells portraits a distinct post-translational therapeutic window to target Par-4, Vimentin, or both. Since our goal is to discover the novel function of Par-4, interestingly, our group has unfolded a potential MMP-2 inhibition by extracellular Par-4 [177]. Although secreted by a classical BFA-sensitive pathway, conditional media (CM) containing Par-4, in this research, found to abrogate ex vivo tumor growth in matrigel plug assay. Of note, MMP-2 is a highly proficient metalloproteinase that degrades the extracellular matrix and facilitates the invasion and migration capabilities of cancer cells. In this study, Rah et al. demonstrate that the MMP-2 expression and activity were simultaneously abolished by the secretory Par-4. These results were confirmed by the Par-4 knockdown studies where MMP-2 expression was restored along with a steady increase in invasion potential of cancer cells upon silencing of Par-4. Thus, the strategic use of small molecule inducers of Par-4 for the regulation of intracellular Par-4 could be an effective tool to control the cancer cell metastasis. These reports together put forward a novel paradigm of controlling deregulated malignant signaling by regulating Par-4 (Fig. 6), hence, revealing a new dimension of Par-4 extrapolation for advancement in metastatic cancer therapeutics.

2.5 Par-4 and Destabilization of β -Catenin Pathway

 β -catenin signaling pathway is considered one of the critical axes concerning cancer metastasis and drug resistance issues. Deregulation of this pathway by activating mutations in the upstream components converges upon the nuclear accumulation of β -catenin, thereby driving the expression of genes implicated in cancer cell survival, proliferation, and EMT-TFs [191]. While intact cadherin–catenin complex is a critical prerequisite for the maintenance of the cellular homeostasis, however, the lack of cadherins regulating cell adhesion (primarily the E-cadherin) and/or altered subcellular distribution of β -catenin disrupts the cadherin–catenin complex, leading to increased invasiveness, migration, and poor clinical outcome.

Notably, constitutive activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) signaling triggers the dephosphorylation of β-catenin and finally its accumulation and translocation into the nucleus that culminates in the inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase 3-beta (GSK-3^β) [192]. Contextually, in a breakthrough research, Amin et al. have elucidated that small-molecule inducer of Par-4 abrogates EMT and invasion by modulating β-catenin localization and its transcriptional activity in aggressive prostate and breast cancer cells [181]. This study revealed that 3-AWA (a withaferin-based potent Par-4 inducer) sequestered nuclear β-catenin and augmented its cytoplasmic pool as evidenced by diminished β-catenin transcriptional activity. Moreover, exogenous Par-4 attenuated AKT activity and rescue phospho-GSK-3ß to promote β-catenin destabilization. Furthermore, Par-4induced E-cadherin expression along with sharp downregulation of c-Myc and cyclin D1 proteins. The results from the Par-4 knockdown studies, as is performed using siRNA, validates that the 3-AWA-mediated inhibition of nuclear β-catenin is Par-4 dependent. Therefore, Par-4 and β-catenin proteins are mutually regulated and inversely correlated in normal as well as cancer contexts, and strategic modulation of intracellular Par-4 could be an effective tool to control and EMT and cancer cell metastasis.

3 New Insights Linking Par-4 and EMT

3.1 Lethal EMT: TGF-β Signaling and Par-4

Deregulation of transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) signaling is well-accepted to be one of the major deregulations observed in the pathophysiology of diverse cancer types. Through different stages of cancer initiation and progression, TGF-*β* plays a multifaceted and paradoxical role. TGF-B signaling can be pro-tumorigenic or tumorsuppressive. The particular cases where the duality of TGF- β role is observed are well-studied in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinomas (PDACs). TGF- β mediator-Smad4 is frequently found inactivated in PDACs, along with other gastrointestinal cancers. Typically, TGF-β-induced EMT program is considered to be a pro-tumorigenic phenomenon. But in TGF-β-sensitive PDAC cells, on the conversion of TGF-βinduced Sox4, from an enforcer of tumorigenesis into a promoter of apoptosis, the tumor-promoting EMT switches to lethal EMT [193].

Along with the already available therapeutic approaches to mitigate pro-survival/anti-apoptotic factors, the novel lethal EMT approach is a robust example of EMT-linked cellular transcription factor landscape remodeling, including the repression of Klf5, the gastrointestinal lineage master regulator. For the successful progression of cancer, vivid cooperation between Klf5 and Sox4 is crucial, and this asso-



Fig. 6 Secretory Par-4 and ECM degradation. During ER stress conditions, Par-4 and GRP78 bind to each other, and the paired proteins relocate to the plasma membrane. Par-4 is then released as secretory Par-4, leaving GRP78 at the plasma membrane. Secretagogues like Arylquins

disrupt the Par-4/Vimentin complex; as a result Par-4 is free to be secreted out. The secretory Par-4 then abrogates the ECM degradation, mainly through inhibition of MMP-2 activity

ciation impedes Sox4-induced apoptosis. Smad4 (also called DPC4) is a component of paramount importance in this axis. It is an established tumor repressor that is frequently lost/ mutated in pancreatic cancer. However, it is noteworthy to mention that tumor growth of colon carcinoma cells is obstructed by the presence of Smad4 protein, which constitutively reactivates E-cadherin and therefore abrogates neoangiogenesis. While Smad4 is indispensable for EMT, it is not an absolute prerequisite for Sox4 induction by TGF-β. On the one hand, TGF-β-induced Sox4 is spontaneously available to support progenitor identity. Simultaneously, an essential partner of Sox4 in oncogenesis is stripped away by Smad-dependent EMT. For achieving a viable therapeutic intervention, the Smad4-dependent EMT is grossly activated by induction of TGF- β in the PDAC cells. Intriguingly, the activation of Smad-dependent EMT successively acts as a whistleblower for apoptosis. However, to achieve the desired result, the pro-tumorigenic function of Sox4 needs to be switched to pro-apoptotic mode. This transition is obtained by Snail-mediated suppression of Klf5, a crucial master regulator of endodermal progenitors. These results, collectively, illustrate a paradigm shift in which TGF- β tumor-suppressive action revolves around an EMT-associated disruption of a pro-tumorigenic transcriptional network.

As mentioned above, a dual role is perceived by TGF- β in the successful accomplishment of tumor growth and invasion. The apoptosis promoting potential of TGF-β along with the termination of epithelial cell cycle progression leads to tumor suppression in the early stages of cancer. Contrariwise, in the later stages, it promotes tumor growth owing to interference with a chain of factors such as modulating genomic instability, cell motility, immune evasion, neo-angiogenesis, and metastasis. In recent studies, Par-4 has been emerging as a vital constituent to influence TGF-β-induced EMT. Most strikingly, the anti-metastatic function of Par-4 has been implicated as a crucial downstream target of the TGF-β signaling pathway [173]. Echoing this, Faheem et al. also demonstrate that Par-4 plays an essential role in regulating the TGF-β/Smad4 pathway in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) models [194]. In a breakthrough finding, authors

proclaim that overexpression/induction of Par-4 convincingly results in apoptosis in conjunction with TGF-B by positively regulating Smad4. Interestingly, Par-4^{+/+} cells show far more significant Smad4 induction in comparison to Par-4-/cells in the presence of TGF- β . Faheem et al. have diligently found that Smad4 expression is robustly spiked by ectopic Par-4 through the restoration of the TGF-B/Smad4 axis. Furthermore, Par-4 drags the PDAC cells to G1 arrest in the presence of TGF- β by boosting the p21 and p27 levels and attenuating Cyclin A and E to trigger lethal EMT via caspase 3 cleavage augmentation. Interestingly, in this report, the authors hypothesize that Par-4 dependent and TGF-βmediated lethal EMT is embarked in these cells following restoration of Smad4 in the Smad4 null BxPC3 cell line. However, mechanistically this research work underscores that disruption of Nm23H1-Strap interaction is the cornerstone of Par-4-mediated Smad4 activation. Nm23H1 is a nucleoside diphosphate (NDP) kinase and a putative metastatic suppressor. Nm23H1-Strap interaction is not only essential for simultaneous p53-mediated apoptotic functions as well as regulating TGF-\beta-mediated biological activity. In addition to this, this interaction controls intrinsic Nm23H1 activity [195, 196]. Nm23H1/Strap interaction obstructs the downstream signaling of TGF-B as an intact Nm23H1/Strap complex acts in tandem with the inhibitory Smads (Smad7 particularly), which results in a lowered capacity of receptor Smads (Smad2 and 3) to couple with Smad4 [197]. Given that Par-4 positively modulates the TGF-β/Smad4 pathway in PDAC cells and favors the tumor-suppressive role of TGF- β . Hence, Par-4 is a crucial element that helps to restore the apoptotic functions of the TGF-β pathway.

3.2 BMP and ALK Signaling

Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) are members of the TGF- β superfamily and constitute a diverse, evolutionarily conserved family of secreted signaling molecules critical for various developmental processes [198]. BMP7 is known to counteract TGF-\beta-induced EMT in developmental stages [199]. ALK2, on the other hand, also termed ACTRI, is an activin type I receptor that mediates responses for BMP7 [200]. ALk2 phosphorylates Smad1/5/8 and, as a result, triggers its association with Smad4 incurring MET phenotypes. Apart from its EMT alleviating role, Par-4 has been reported to induce MET in highly aggressive cancers [201]. Recently, Katoch et al. have conceived a dual mechanism of Par-4mediated inhibition of EMT and concomitant alleviation of MET in metastatic pancreatic cancer cells [186]. Authors demonstrate that induction of Par-4, either ectopically or by NGD16 (a small molecule derivative of diindolylmethane), strongly impede invasion, migration, and metastatic index of these cells. In the same experimental setup, authors have found a robust amplification of epithelial marker E-cadherin concomitant with downregulation of canonical mesenchymal marker Vimentin. However, siRNA-mediated silencing of either endogenous Par-4 or Smad4 resulted in the reversal of MET phenotypes with diminished E-cadherin levels underscoring the appearance of MET phenotypes were due to the augmentation of ALK2/ Smad4 signaling in a Par-4dependent manner. These findings are in concordance with the emerging role of BMP7 in MET induction, possibly by ALK2, phosphorylation of Smad 1, 5, and 8; and inhibition of EMT-TFs, viz. Slug, Twist-1, and Snail. Therefore, ALK2 induction can be perceived as a plausible mechanism of Par-4-mediated abrogation of EMT and induction of MET in PDAC cells.

3.3 Anti-Metastatic miRNAs and Par-4

microRNAs (miRNAs) are non-coding single-stranded RNAs that negatively control post-transcriptional gene expression to degrade multiple target mRNAs and execute translational suppression [202]. miRNA dysregulation has been implicated in the etiology, pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment of cancer [203]. In the myocardium, miR-17-3pmediated Par-4 abrogation was demonstrated to attenuate cardiac aging [204]. This event leads to the upregulation of downstream proteins, including CEBPB, FAK, its N-cadherin, Vimentin, Oct4, and Sca-1 (stem cell antigen-1), and downregulates E-cadherin. Thus, repression of Par-4 by miR-17-3p augments the transcription of CEBPB and FAK. This, in turn, results in EMT acquisition and selfrenewal, culminating in cellular senescence and apoptosis resistance. A growing number of studies have demonstrated altered levels of the miRNA-200 family members in the cells undergoing EMT [205, 206]. miR-200c is a positive regulator of E-cadherin and represses the expression of E-cadherin repressor, Zeb-1, to maintain the epithelial phenotype in the cells, thus attenuating EMT [207]. Consequently, extensive investigation has unveiled the role of miR-200c in cell proliferation, apoptosis, EMT, invasion, therapy-induced resistance, and metastasis in diverse cancer types [208]. However, miR-200c and Zeb-1 possess an inverse relationship in the context of the EMT phenomenon as well as their regulation vis a vis; miR-200c directly targets and impedes Zeb-1 and Zeb-2 expression. Albeit, the aberrant miR-200c loss with a simultaneous increase in Zeb-1 expression has been correlated to orchestrate EMT by downregulating E-cadherin [209]. From that standpoint, our group recently demonstrated that the consequences of Par-4 upregulation in the amelioration of Zeb-1-mediated EMT by enhancing the miR-200c levels [185]. Of note, the global proteome changes in Panc-1

cells upon ectopic restoration of miR-200c / Par-4 identify overlapping protein targets in the miR-200c and Par-4 axis. Intriguingly, reverse phase protein (RPPA) analysis for the whole proteome of miR-200c and GFP-Par-4-transfected Panc-1 cells identify 82 proteins which consistently overlap in both the sample sets. Cumulatively, these proteins include phospho-p44/42 MAPK; Bcl-xl; Bim; phospho-Rb (Ser807, (Ser473); Ser811); phospho-Akt phosphor-Smad1/5 (Ser463/Ser465); and Zyxin. The expressional changes in these distinct proteins might be exerted independently by different arms of the miR-200c and Par-4 signaling pathways. This work by Katoch et al. has unveiled a novel role of Par-4 as a positive regulator of miR-200c expression that results in halt in EMT progression.

4 Conclusion, Limitations, and Future Perspectives

Over the years, Par-4 research has been largely focused on unveiling its pro-apoptotic role. Mounting evidences, however, suggest towards the beneficial role of Par-4 in the abrogation of EMT and subsequent metastasis in various cancers. Therefore, exploration of Par-4 in EMT progression warrants detailed investigation. Small-molecule inducers of Par-4 or recombinant Par-4 are ideal for examining the effects of Par-4 on EMT associated markers (epithelial/mesenchymal) both in in vitro and in in vivo contexts. Since Par-4 modulates major metastasis-related proteins like Vimentin and MMPs, targeting bystander effects of Par-4 would be an attractive strategy to control EMT in aggressive cancers. Furthermore, induction of programmed cell death by Par-4 is independent of its novel β-catenin signaling modulatory role; however, future studies need to divulge into the mechanisms by which Par-4 deters Wnt/ β-catenin signaling. Whether the pro-apoptotic role of Par-4 is mutually exclusive to its anti-metastatic role or these roles are concomitantly intertwined with each other needs deciphering. In this context, the integration of the SAC domain with respect to the anti-metastatic potential of Par-4 is of significant relevance and yet to be comprehended. Pertinently, a dearth of evidence so far links the effects of Par-4 on EMTassociated markers (epithelial/mesenchymal) and vis-à-vis subsidiary signaling nodes like NF- κ B, β -catenin, etc. There is a shortfall of evidences underscoring the regulation of EMT-TFs by Par-4. The need of the hour is to decipher whether or not Par-4 directly interacts with any of the EMT-TFs. Albeit, with the identification of novel signaling intersections between Par-4 and EMT programs, the opportunity to examine this axis holds a promising field in future study. Further, identification, development, and exploration of novel Par-4 inducing small molecules that impede EMT cascades represent significant progress in the right direction.

All this relevant information should facilitate the development of Par-4 targeted novel anti-metastatic therapeutic regimens in the future.

References

- Thiery JP (2002) Epithelial–mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2:442–454
- Greenburg G, Hay ED (1988) Cytoskeleton and thyroglobulin expression change during transformation of thyroid epithelium to mesenchyme-like cells. Development 102:605–622
- Thiery JP, Acloque H, Huang RY, Nieto MA (2009) Epithelialmesenchymal transitions in development and disease. *Cell* 139:871–890
- Micalizzi DS, Farabaugh SM, Ford HL (2010) Epithelialmesenchymal transition in cancer: parallels between normal development and tumor progression. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 15:117–134
- Micalizzi DS, Ford HL (2009) Epithelial–mesenchymal transition in development and cancer. Future Oncol 5:1129–1143
- Yang J, Weinberg RA (2008) Epithelial-mesenchymal transition: at the crossroads of development and tumor metastasis. Dev Cell 14:818–829
- Batlle E et al (2000) The transcription factor snail is a repressor of E-cadherin gene expression in epithelial tumour cells. Nat Cell Biol 2:84–89
- Cano A et al (2000) The transcription factor snail controls epithelial–mesenchymal transitions by repressing E-cadherin expression. Nat Cell Biol 2:76–83
- Takkunen M et al (2006) Snail-dependent and-independent epithelial-mesenchymal transition in oral squamous carcinoma cells. J Histochem Cytochem 54:1263–1275
- 10. Yee DS et al (2010) The Wnt inhibitory factor 1 restoration in prostate cancer cells was associated with reduced tumor growth, decreased capacity of cell migration and invasion and a reversal of epithelial to mesenchymal transition. Mol Cancer 9:162
- Potts JD, Runyan RB (1989) Epithelial-mesenchymal cell transformation in the embryonic heart can be mediated, in part, by transforming growth factor β. Dev Biol 134:392–401
- Kalluri R, Weinberg RA (2009) The basics of epithelialmesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest 119:1420–1428
- Piek E, Moustakas A, Kurisaki A, Heldin C-H, ten Dijke P (1999) TGF-(beta) type I receptor/ALK-5 and Smad proteins mediate epithelial to mesenchymal transdifferentiation in NMuMG breast epithelial cells. J Cell Sci 112:4557–4568
- Moustakas A, Heldin CH (2007) Signaling networks guiding epithelial-mesenchymal transitions during embryogenesis and cancer progression. Cancer Sci 98:1512–1520
- 15. Massagué J (2008) TGFβ in cancer. Cell 134:215-230
- 16. Heldin C-H, Vanlandewijck M, Moustakas A (2012) Regulation of EMT by TGF β in cancer. FEBS Lett 586:1959–1970
- 17. Ellenrieder V et al (2001) Transforming growth factor β1 treatment leads to an epithelial-mesenchymal transdifferentiation of pancreatic cancer cells requiring extracellular signal-regulated kinase 2 activation. Cancer Res 61:4222–4228
- 18. Akiyoshi S et al (1999) C-ski acts as a transcriptional co-repressor in transforming growth factor- β signaling through interaction with Smads. J Biol Chem 274:35269–35277
- Heldin C-H, Miyazono K, Ten Dijke P (1997) TGF-β signalling from cell membrane to nucleus through SMAD proteins. Nature 390:465–471
- Nishihara A et al (1998) Role of p300, a transcriptional coactivator, in signalling of TGF-β. Genes Cells 3:613–623

- Massagué J, Chen Y-G (2000) Controlling TGF-β signaling. Genes Dev 14:627–644
- Feng X-H, Derynck R (2005) Specificity and versatility in TGF-β signaling through Smads. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 21:659–693
- Garg M (2013) Epithelial-mesenchymal transition-activating transcription factors-multifunctional regulators in cancer. World J Stem cells 5:188
- 24. Stemmler MP, Eccles RL, Brabletz S, Brabletz T (2019) Nonredundant functions of EMT transcription factors. Nat Cell Biol 21:102–112
- 25. Valcourt U, Kowanetz M, Niimi H, Heldin C-H, Moustakas A (2005) TGF-β and the Smad signaling pathway support transcriptomic reprogramming during epithelial-mesenchymal cell transition. Mol Biol Cell 16:1987–2002
- 26. Sato M, Muragaki Y, Saika S, Roberts AB, Ooshima A (2003) Targeted disruption of TGF-β1/Smad3 signaling protects against renal tubulointerstitial fibrosis induced by unilateral ureteral obstruction. J Clin Invest 112:1486–1494
- Saika S et al (2004) Smad3 signaling is required for epithelialmesenchymal transition of lens epithelium after injury. Am J Pathol 164:651–663
- Hoot KE et al (2008) Keratinocyte-specific Smad2 ablation results in increased epithelial-mesenchymal transition during skin cancer formation and progression. J Clin Invest 118:2722–2732
- Derynck R, Zhang YE (2003) Smad-dependent and Smadindependent pathways in TGF-β family signalling. Nature 425:577–584
- 30. Davies M et al (2005) Induction of an epithelial to mesenchymal transition in human immortal and malignant keratinocytes by TGF-β1 involves MAPK, Smad and AP-1 signalling pathways. J Cell Biochem 95:918–931
- Moustakas A, Heldin C-H (2005) Non-Smad TGF-β signals. J Cell Sci 118:3573–3584
- Derynck R, Muthusamy BP, Saeteurn KY (2014) Signaling pathway cooperation in TGF-β-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Curr Opin Cell Biol 31:56–66
- Huber MA, Kraut N, Beug H (2005) Molecular requirements for epithelial–mesenchymal transition during tumor progression. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17:548–558
- 34. Xu J, Lamouille S, Derynck R (2009) TGF-β-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition. Cell Res 19:156–172
- Larue L, Bellacosa A (2005) Epithelial–mesenchymal transition in development and cancer: role of phosphatidylinositol 3' kinase/ AKT pathways. Oncogene 24:7443–7454
- 36. Conacci-Sorrell M et al (2003) Autoregulation of E-cadherin expression by cadherin–cadherin interactions: the roles of β-catenin signaling, Slug, and MAPK. J Cell Biol 163:847–857
- Yook JI, Li X-Y, Ota I, Fearon ER, Weiss SJ (2005) Wntdependent regulation of the E-cadherin repressor snail. J Biol Chem 280:11740–11748
- Zhou BP et al (2004) Dual regulation of snail by GSK-3βmediated phosphorylation in control of epithelial–mesenchymal transition. Nat Cell Biol 6:931–940
- 39. Nawshad A, Medici D, Liu C-C, Hay ED (2007) TGFβ3 inhibits E-cadherin gene expression in palate medial-edge epithelial cells through a Smad2-Smad4-LEF1 transcription complex. J Cell Sci 120:1646–1653
- 40. Lucio M (2006) Notch signaling. Clin Cancer Res 12:1074-1079
- 41. Wang Z, Li Y, Kong D, Sarkar FH (2010) The role of Notch signaling pathway in epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) during development and tumor aggressiveness. Curr Drug Targets 11:745–751
- Bray SJ (2006) Notch signalling: a simple pathway becomes complex. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7:678–689

- Timmerman LA et al (2004) Notch promotes epithelialmesenchymal transition during cardiac development and oncogenic transformation. Genes Dev 18:99–115
- 44. Zavadil J, Cermak L, Soto-Nieves N, Böttinger EP (2004) Integration of TGF-β/Smad and Jagged1/notch signalling in epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. EMBO J 23:1155–1165
- 45. Espinoza I, Pochampally R, Xing F, Watabe K, Miele L (2013) Notch signaling: targeting cancer stem cells and epithelial-tomesenchymal transition. Onco Targets Ther 6:1249
- Hu Y-Y, Zheng M-H, Zhang R, Liang Y-M, Han H (2012) Notch signaling in embryology and cancer. Springer, pp 186–198
- Wang Z et al (2010) Targeting notch signaling pathway to overcome drug resistance for cancer therapy. Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA)—reviews on Cancer 1806:258–267
- Sanchez A et al (2012) p38 MAPK: a mediator of hypoxia-induced cerebrovascular inflammation. J Alzheimers Dis 32:587–597
- 49. Imai T et al (2003) Hypoxia attenuates the expression of E-cadherin via up-regulation of SNAIL in ovarian carcinoma cells. Am J Pathol 163:1437–1447
- 50. Yang M-H et al (2008) Direct regulation of TWIST by HIF-1α promotes metastasis. Nat Cell Biol 10:295–305
- Agani F, Jiang B-H (2013) Oxygen-independent regulation of HIF-1: novel involvement of PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway in cancer. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 13:245–251
- 52. Minet E et al (2000) ERK activation upon hypoxia: involvement in HIF-1 activation. FEBS Lett 468:53–58
- 53. Koong AC, Chen EY, Giaccia AJ (1994) Hypoxia causes the activation of nuclear factor κB through the phosphorylation of ΙκΒα on tyrosine residues. Cancer Res 54:1425–1430
- 54. Tam SY, Wu VW, Law HK (2020) Hypoxia-induced epithelialmesenchymal transition in cancers: HIF-1α and beyond. Front Oncol 10:486
- Lamouille S, Xu J, Derynck R (2014) Molecular mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15:178–196
- 56. Lei J et al (2013) Hedgehog signaling regulates hypoxia induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition and invasion in pancreatic cancer cells via a ligand-independent manner. Mol Cancer 12:1–11
- 57. Li X-L et al (2017) Integrin β 4 promotes cell invasion and epithelial-mesenchymal transition through the modulation of slug expression in hepatocellular carcinoma. Sci Rep 7:1–12
- Cooper J, Giancotti FG (2019) Integrin signaling in cancer: mechanotransduction, stemness, epithelial plasticity, and therapeutic resistance. Cancer Cell 35:347–367
- Soung YH, Clifford JL, Chung J (2010) Crosstalk between integrin and receptor tyrosine kinase signaling in breast carcinoma progression. BMB Rep 43:311–318
- 60. Feldkoren B, Hutchinson R, Rapoport Y, Mahajan A, Margulis V (2017) Integrin signaling potentiates transforming growth factor-beta 1 (TGF-β1) dependent down-regulation of E-cadherin expression–important implications for epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) in renal cell carcinoma. Exp Cell Res 355:57–66
- Desgrosellier JS, Cheresh DA (2010) Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Cancer 10:9–22
- 62. Trusolino L, Bertotti A, Comoglio PM (2001) A signaling adapter function for $\alpha 6\beta 4$ integrin in the control of HGF-dependent invasive growth. Cell 107:643–654
- Abba ML, Patil N, Leupold JH, Allgayer H (2016) MicroRNA regulation of epithelial to mesenchymal transition. J Clin Med 5:8
- Wagner S, Ngezahayo A, Murua Escobar H, Nolte I (2014) Role of miRNA let-7 and its major targets in prostate cancer. Biomed Res Int 2014:376326

- 65. Sheedy P, Medarova Z (2018) The fundamental role of miR-10b in metastatic cancer. Am J Cancer Res 8:1674
- 66. Zhang J, Ma L (2012) MicroRNA control of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metastasis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 31:653–662
- Xu D et al (2011) miR-22 represses cancer progression by inducing cellular senescence. J Cell Biol 193:409–424
- Xiao B, Shi X, Bai J (2019) miR-30a regulates the proliferation and invasion of breast cancer cells by targeting snail. Oncol Lett 17:406–413
- 69. Nie D, Fu J, Chen H, Cheng J, Fu J (2019) Roles of microRNA-34a in epithelial to mesenchymal transition, competing endogenous RNA sponging and its therapeutic potential. Int J Mol Sci 20:861
- Brabletz S, Brabletz T (2010) The ZEB/miR-200 feedback loop a motor of cellular plasticity in development and cancer? EMBO Rep 11:670–677
- Nairismägi M-L, Füchtbauer A, Labouriau R, Bramsen JB, Füchtbauer E-M (2013) The proto-oncogene TWIST1 is regulated by microRNAs. PLoS One 8:e66070
- Wei F, Cao C, Xu X, Wang J (2015) Diverse functions of miR-373 in cancer. J Transl Med 13:1–8
- Si M et al (2007) miR-21-mediated tumor growth. Oncogene 26:2799–2803
- 74. Han M et al (2012) Antagonism of miR-21 reverses epithelialmesenchymal transition and cancer stem cell phenotype through AKT/ERK1/2 inactivation by targeting PTEN. PLoS One 7:e39520
- Wang H et al (2019) microRNA-21 promotes breast cancer proliferation and metastasis by targeting LZTFL1. BMC cancer 19:738
- Wang Y, Li Z, Zhao X, Zuo X, Peng Z (2016) miR-10b promotes invasion by targeting HOXD10 in colorectal cancer. Oncol Lett 12:488–494
- 77. Ma L et al (2010) miR-9, a MYC/MYCN-activated microRNA, regulates E-cadherin and cancer metastasis. Nat Cell Biol 12:247–256
- 78. Gwak JM et al (2014) MicroRNA-9 is associated with epithelialmesenchymal transition, breast cancer stem cell phenotype, and tumor progression in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 147:39–49
- Martello G et al (2010) A MicroRNA targeting dicer for metastasis control. Cell 141:1195–1207
- Burk U et al (2008) A reciprocal repression between ZEB1 and members of the miR-200 family promotes EMT and invasion in cancer cells. EMBO Rep 9:582–589
- Jang K et al (2014) Loss of microRNA-200a expression correlates with tumor progression in breast cancer. Transl Res 163:242–251
- 82. Korpal M, Ell BJ, Buffa FM, Ibrahim T, Blanco MA, Celià-Terrassa T et al (2011) Direct targeting of Sec23a by miR-200s influences cancer cell secretome and promotes metastatic colonization. Nat Med 17:1101–1108
- Bae E et al (2014) Definition of smad3 phosphorylation events that affect malignant and metastatic behaviors in breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 74:6139–6149
- Hong S et al (2014) SHOX2 is a direct miR-375 target and a novel epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition inducer in breast cancer cells. *Neoplasia* 16:279–290. e275
- Arora H, Qureshi R, Park WY (2013) miR-506 Regulates Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition in Breast Cancer Cell Lines. PLoS One 8(5):e64273
- Moes M et al (2012) A novel network integrating a miRNA-203/ SNAI1 feedback loop which regulates epithelial to mesenchymal transition. PLoS One 7:e35440
- 87. Ding X, Park SI, McCauley LK, Wang CY (2013) Signaling between transforming growth factor β (TGF-β) and transcription factor SNAI2 represses expression of microRNA miR-203 to pro-

mote epithelialmesenchymal transition and tumor metastasis. J Biol Chem 288:10241–10253

- Siemens H, Jackstadt R, Hünten S, Kaller M, Menssen A, Gotz U, Hermeking H (2011) miR-34 and SNAIL form a double-negative feedback loop to regulate epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. Cell Cycle 10:4256–4271
- Jeanes A, Gottardi C, Yap A (2008) Cadherins and cancer: how does cadherin dysfunction promote tumor progression? Oncogene 27:6920–6929
- Kwon MJ (2013) Emerging roles of claudins in human cancer. Int J Mol Sci 14:18148–18180
- Salvador E, Burek M, Förster CY (2016) Tight junctions and the tumor microenvironment. Curr Pathobiol Rep 4:135–145
- 92. Loh C-Y et al (2019) The E-cadherin and N-cadherin switch in epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition: signaling, therapeutic implications, and challenges. Cell 8:1118
- Mendez MG, Kojima SI, Goldman RD (2010) Vimentin induces changes in cell shape, motility, and adhesion during the epithelial to mesenchymal transition. FASEB J 24:1838–1851
- 94. Scott LE, Weinberg SH, Lemmon CA (2019) Mechanochemical signaling of the extracellular matrix in epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Front Cell Dev Biol* 7:135
- Wang Y, Shi J, Chai K, Ying X, Zhou PB (2013) The role of snail in EMT and tumorigenesis. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 13:963–972
- Kang Y, Massagué J (2004) Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions: twist in development and metastasis. Cell 118:277–279
- Vandewalle C, Van Roy F, Berx G (2009) The role of the ZEB family of transcription factors in development and disease. Cell Mol Life Sci 66:773–787
- 98. Wu Q, Wang J, Liu Y, Gong X (2019) Epithelial cell adhesion molecule and epithelial-mesenchymal transition are associated with vasculogenic mimicry, poor prognosis, and metastasis of triple negative breast cancer. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 12:1678
- Knights AJ, Funnell AP, Crossley M, Pearson RC (2012) Holding tight: cell junctions and cancer spread. Trends Cancer Res 8:61
- 100. Berx G, Van Roy F (2009) Involvement of members of the cadherin superfamily in cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 1:a003129
- Winter JM et al (2008) Absence of E-cadherin expression distinguishes noncohesive from cohesive pancreatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res 14:412–418
- 102. Liu J et al (2016) CDH1 promoter methylation correlates with decreased gene expression and poor prognosis in patients with breast cancer. Oncol Lett 11:2635–2643
- 103. Lin X, Shang X, Manorek G, Howell SB (2013) Regulation of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition by claudin-3 and claudin-4. PLoS One 8:e67496
- Singh AB, Sharma A, Dhawan P (2010) Claudin family of proteins and cancer: an overview. J Oncol 2010:541957
- 105. Porta-De-La-Riva M et al (2011) TFCP2c/LSF/LBP-1c is required for Snail1-induced fibronectin gene expression. Biochem J 435:563–568
- 106. Mrozik KM, Blaschuk OW, Cheong CM, Zannettino ACW, Vandyke K (2018) N-cadherin in cancer metastasis, its emerging role in haematological malignancies and potential as a therapeutic target in cancer. BMC Cancer 18:939
- 107. Sadot E, Simcha I, Shtutman M, Ben-Ze'ev A, Geiger B (1998) Inhibition of β-catenin-mediated transactivation by cadherin derivatives. Proc Natl Acad Sci 95:15339–15344
- 108. Zhang B et al (2013) Microenvironmental protection of CML stem and progenitor cells from tyrosine kinase inhibitors through N-cadherin and Wnt-β-catenin signaling. Blood 121:1824–1838
- 109. Qian X et al (2014) N-cadherin/FGFR promotes metastasis through epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and stem/progenitor cell-like properties. Oncogene 33:3411–3421

- 110. Polioudaki H, Agelaki S, Chiotaki R, Politaki E, Mavroudis D, Matikas A, Georgoulias V, Theodoropoulos PA (2015) Variable expression levels of keratin and vimentin reveal differential EMT status of circulating tumor cells and correlation with clinical characteristics and outcome of patients with metastatic breast cancer. BMC Cancer 15:399. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-015-1386-7
- 111. Satelli A, Li S (2011) Vimentin in cancer and its potential as a molecular target for cancer therapy. Cell Mol Life Sci 68:3033–3046
- 112. Heerboth S et al (2015) EMT and tumor metastasis. Clin Transl Med 4:6
- 113. Ward K et al (2015) Epithelial cell adhesion molecule is expressed in a subset of sarcomas and correlates to the degree of cytological atypia in leiomyosarcomas. Mol Clin Oncol 3:31–36
- 114. Soysal SD et al (2013) EpCAM expression varies significantly and is differentially associated with prognosis in the luminal B HER2+, basal-like, and HER2 intrinsic subtypes of breast cancer. Br J Cancer 108:1480–1487
- 115. Abd El-Maqsoud NM, Abd El-Rehim DM (2014) Clinicopathologic implications of EpCAM and Sox2 expression in breast cancer. Clin Breast Cancer 14:e1–e9
- 116. González B, Denzel S, Mack B, Conrad M, Gires O (2009) EpCAM is involved in maintenance of the murine embryonic stem cell phenotype. Stem Cells 27:1782–1791
- Steeg PS (2006) Tumor metastasis: mechanistic insights and clinical challenges. Nat Med 12:895–904
- 118. Valastyan S, Weinberg RA (2011) Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms. Cell 147:275–292
- Sedgwick AE, D'Souza-Schorey C (2016) Wnt signaling in cell motility and invasion: drawing parallels between development and cancer. Cancers 8:80
- 120. Sahlgren C, Gustafsson MV, Jin S, Poellinger L, Lendahl U (2008) Notch signaling mediates hypoxia-induced tumor cell migration and invasion. Proc Natl Acad Sci 105:6392–6397
- 121. Eckert MA et al (2011) Twist1-induced invadopodia formation promotes tumor metastasis. Cancer Cell 19:372–386
- 122. Murphy DA et al (2011) A Src-Tks5 pathway is required for neural crest cell migration during embryonic development. PLoS One 6:e22499
- 123. Pignatelli J, Tumbarello DA, Schmidt RP, Turner CE (2012) Hic-5 promotes invadopodia formation and invasion during TGF-β-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Cell Biol 197:421–437
- 124. Slorach EM, Chou J, Werb Z (2011) Zeppo1 is a novel metastasis promoter that represses E-cadherin expression and regulates p120-catenin isoform expression and localization. Genes Dev 25:471–484
- 125. Peinado H, Olmeda D, Cano A (2007) Snail, Zeb and bHLH factors in tumour progression: an alliance against the epithelial phenotype? Nat Rev Cancer 7:415–428
- 126. Shenoy AK, Lu J (2016) Cancer cells remodel themselves and vasculature to overcome the endothelial barrier. Cancer Lett 380:534–544
- 127. Qi J, Wang J, Romanyuk O, Siu C-H (2006) Involvement of Src family kinases in N-cadherin phosphorylation and β-catenin dissociation during transendothelial migration of melanoma cells. Mol Biol Cell 17:1261–1272
- Hamidi H, Ivaska J (2018) Every step of the way: integrins in cancer progression and metastasis. Nat Rev Drug Discov 17:31–46
- 129. Barthel SR, Gavino JD, Descheny L, Dimitroff CJ (2007) Targeting selectins and selectin ligands in inflammation and cancer. Expert Opin Ther Targets 11:1473–1491
- 130. Drake JM, Strohbehn G, Bair TB, Moreland JG, Henry MD (2009) ZEB1 enhances transendothelial migration and represses the epithelial phenotype of prostate cancer cells. Mol Biol Cell 20:2207–2217

- 131. Gilles C, Newgreen DF, Sato H, Thompson EW (2005) *Rise and fall of epithelial phenotype*. Springer, pp 297–315
- 132. Tsuji T et al (2008) Epithelial-mesenchymal transition induced by growth suppressor p12CDK2-AP1 promotes tumor cell local invasion but suppresses distant colony growth. Cancer Res 68:10377–10386
- 133. Tsuji T, Ibaragi S, Hu G-F (2009) Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cell cooperativity in metastasis. Cancer Res 69:7135–7139
- 134. Kim Y-N, Koo KH, Sung JY, Yun U-J, Kim H (2012) Anoikis resistance: an essential prerequisite for tumor metastasis. Int J Cell Biol 2012:306879
- Vachon PH (2011) Integrin signaling, cell survival, and anoikis: distinctions, differences, and differentiation. J Signal Transduction 2011
- Tsai JH, Yang J (2013) Epithelial–mesenchymal plasticity in carcinoma metastasis. Genes Dev 27:2192–2206
- 137. Rhim AD et al (2012) EMT and dissemination precede pancreatic tumor formation. Cell 148:349–361
- Stegner D, Dütting S, Nieswandt B (2014) Mechanistic explanation for platelet contribution to cancer metastasis. Thromb Res 133:S149–S157
- Lou X-L et al (2015) Interaction between circulating cancer cells and platelets: clinical implication. Chin J Cancer Res 27:450
- 140. Kopp H-G, Placke T, Salih HR (2009) Platelet-derived transforming growth factor- β down-regulates NKG2D thereby inhibiting natural killer cell antitumor reactivity. Cancer Res 69:7775–7783
- 141. Vivier E, Ugolini S, Blaise D, Chabannon C, Brossay L (2012) Targeting natural killer cells and natural killer T cells in cancer. Nat Rev Immunol 12:239–252
- 142. Placke T et al (2012) Platelet-derived MHC class I confers a pseudonormal phenotype to cancer cells that subverts the antitumor reactivity of natural killer immune cells. Cancer Res 72:440–448
- 143. Palucka K, Banchereau J (2012) Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer 12:265–277
- 144. Whipple RA et al (2010) Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition promotes tubulin detyrosination and microtentacles that enhance endothelial engagement. Cancer Res 70:8127–8137
- 145. Matrone MA et al (2010) Metastatic breast tumors express increased tau, which promotes microtentacle formation and the reattachment of detached breast tumor cells. Oncogene 29:3217–3227
- 146. Fishbein L et al (2017) Comprehensive molecular characterization of pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma. Cancer Cell 31:181–193
- 147. Cao Y, Hoeppner LH, Bach S, E G, Guo Y, Wang E et al (2013) Neuropilin-2 promotes extravasation and metastasis by interacting with endothelial α 5 Integrin. Cancer Res 73(14):4579-4590
- Stoletov K et al (2010) Visualizing extravasation dynamics of metastatic tumor cells. J Cell Sci 123:2332–2341
- 149. Bonnomet A et al (2012) A dynamic in vivo model of epithelialto-mesenchymal transitions in circulating tumor cells and metastases of breast cancer. Oncogene 31:3741–3753
- 150. Ocaña OH et al (2012) Metastatic colonization requires the repression of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition inducer Prrx1. Cancer Cell 22:709–724
- 151. Mejlvang J et al (2007) Direct repression of cyclin D1 by SIP1 attenuates cell cycle progression in cells undergoing an epithelial mesenchymal transition. Mol Biol Cell 18:4615–4624
- 152. Korpal M et al (2011) Direct targeting of Sec23a by miR-200s influences cancer cell secretome and promotes metastatic colonization. Nat Med 17:1101
- 153. Gupta PB, Chaffer CL, Weinberg RA (2009) Cancer stem cells: mirage or reality? Nat Med 15:1010–1012

- 154. Aponte PM, Caicedo A (2017) Stemness in cancer: stem cells, cancer stem cells, and their microenvironment. Stem Cells Int 2017:5619472
- 155. Bao B, Ahmad A, Azmi AS, Ali S, Sarkar FH (2013) Overview of cancer stem cells (CSCs) and mechanisms of their regulation: implications for cancer therapy. *Curr Protoc Pharmacol* 61:14.25.11–14.25.14
- 156. Rosen JM, Jordan CT (2009) The increasing complexity of the cancer stem cell paradigm. *Science* 324:1670–1673
- 157. Najafi M, Farhood B, Mortezaee K (2019) Cancer stem cells (CSCs) in cancer progression and therapy. J Cell Physiol 234:8381–8395
- 158. Jaggupilli A, Elkord E (2012) Significance of CD44 and CD24 as cancer stem cell markers: an enduring ambiguity. Clin Dev Immunol 2012
- 159. Chang C-J et al (2011) p53 regulates epithelial-mesenchymal transition and stem cell properties through modulating miRNAs. Nat Cell Biol 13:317–323
- Burikhanov R et al (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138:377–388
- 161. Wang G et al (2012) Astrocytes secrete exosomes enriched with proapoptotic ceramide and prostate apoptosis response 4 (PAR-4) potential mechanism of apoptosis induction in Alzheimer disease (AD). J Biol Chem 287:21384–21395
- 162. Srinivasan S, Ranga RS, Burikhanov R, Han S-S, Chendil D (2007) Par-4-dependent apoptosis by the dietary compound withaferin A in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 67:246–253
- 163. Gurumurthy S, Goswami A, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase A is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25:1146–1161
- 164. Rasool RU et al (2016) A journey beyond apoptosis: new enigma of controlling metastasis by pro-apoptotic Par-4. Clin Exp Metastasis 33:757–764
- 165. Zhao Y et al (2007) Cancer resistance in transgenic mice expressing the SAC module of Par-4. Cancer Res 67:9276–9285
- 166. El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23:5516–5525
- 167. Park MH, Hong JT (2016) Roles of NF-κB in cancer and inflammatory diseases and their therapeutic approaches. Cell 5:15
- 168. Saegusa M, Hashimura M, Kuwata T, Okayasu I (2010) Transcriptional regulation of pro-apoptotic Par-4 by NF-κB/p65 and its function in controlling cell kinetics during early events in endometrial tumourigenesis. J Pathol 221:26–36
- 169. Zhao Y, Rangnekar VM (2008) Apoptosis and tumor resistance conferred by Par-4. Cancer Biol Ther 7:1867–1874
- 170. Zhang X, Tang N, Hadden TJ, Rishi AK (2011) Akt, FoxO and regulation of apoptosis. Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA)-Mol Cell Res 1813:1978–1986
- 171. Joshi J et al (2008) Par-4 inhibits Akt and suppresses Ras-induced lung tumorigenesis. EMBO J 27:2181–2193
- 172. Cantley LC (2002) The phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway. Science 296:1655–1657
- 173. Chaudhry P et al (2014) Prostate apoptosis response-4 mediates TGF-β-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Cell Death Dis 5:e1044–e1044
- 174. Lin A, Karin M Seminars in cancer biology. Elsevier, pp 107-114
- 175. Hebbar N, Wang C, Rangnekar VM (2012) Mechanisms of apoptosis by the tumor suppressor Par-4. J Cell Physiol 227:3715–3721
- 176. Nalla AK, Gorantla B, Gondi CS, Lakka SS, Rao JS (2010) Targeting MMP-9, uPAR, and cathepsin B inhibits invasion, migration and activates apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Gene Ther 17:599–613

- 177. Rah B et al (2012) A novel MMP-2 inhibitor 3-azidowithaferin A (3-azidoWA) abrogates cancer cell invasion and angiogenesis by modulating extracellular Par-4. PLoS One 7:e44039
- Chaudhry P, Singh M, Parent S, Asselin E (2012) Prostate apoptosis response 4 (Par-4), a novel substrate of caspase-3 during apoptosis activation. Mol Cell Biol 32:826–839
- 179. Ur Rasool R et al (2016) Dual modulation of Ras-Mnk and PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathways: a novel c-FLIP inhibitory mechanism of 3-AWA mediated translational attenuation through dephosphorylation of eIF4E. Sci Rep 6:18800
- 180. Pires BR et al (2017) NF-kappaB is involved in the regulation of EMT genes in breast cancer cells. PLoS One 12:e0169622
- 181. Amin H et al (2016) Par-4 dependent modulation of cellular β-catenin by medicinal plant natural product derivative 3-azido Withaferin A. Mol Carcinog 55:864–881
- 182. Qin Q, Xu Y, He T, Qin C, Xu J (2012) Normal and disease-related biological functions of Twist1 and underlying molecular mechanisms. Cell Res 22:90–106
- 183. Yang J, Mani SA, Weinberg RA (2006) Exploring a new twist on tumor metastasis. Cancer Res 66:4549–4552
- 184. Zhao Z, Rahman MA, Chen ZG, Shin DM (2017) Multiple biological functions of Twist1 in various cancers. Oncotarget 8:20380
- 185. Katoch A et al (2020) Overlapping targets exist between the Par-4 and miR-200c axis which regulate EMT and proliferation of pancreatic cancer cells. Transl Oncol 14:100879
- 186. Katoch A et al (2018) Dual role of Par-4 in abrogation of EMT and switching on mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) in metastatic pancreatic cancer cells. Mol Carcinog 57:1102–1115
- 187. Vichalkovski A, Gresko E, Hess D, Restuccia D, Hemmings B (2010) PKB/AKT phosphorylation of the transcription factor Twist-1 at Ser42 inhibits p53 activity in response to DNA damage. Oncogene 29:3554–3565
- 188. Pham CG et al (2007) Upregulation of Twist-1 by NF-κB blocks cytotoxicity induced by chemotherapeutic drugs. Mol Cell Biol 27:3920–3935
- 189. Li C-W et al (2012) Epithelial–mesenchymal transition induced by TNF-α requires NF-κB–mediated transcriptional upregulation of Twist1. Cancer Res 72:1290–1300
- 190. Burikhanov R et al (2014) Arylquins target vimentin to trigger Par-4 secretion for tumor cell apoptosis. Nat Chem Biol 10:924–926
- 191. Moon RT, Bowerman B, Boutros M, Perrimon N (2002) The promise and perils of Wnt signaling through β -catenin. Science 296:1644–1646
- 192. Beurel E, Grieco SF, Jope RS (2015) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3): regulation, actions, and diseases. Pharmacol Ther 148:114–131
- 193. David CJ et al (2016) TGF- β tumor suppression through a lethal EMT. Cell 164:1015–1030
- 194. Mohd Faheem M et al (2020) Par-4 mediated Smad4 induction in PDAC cells restores canonical TGF-β/Smad4 axis driving the cells towards lethal EMT. *Eur J Cell Biol* 99:151076
- 195. Marino N, Marshall J-C, Steeg PS (2011) Protein–protein interactions: a mechanism regulating the anti-metastatic properties of Nm23-H1. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol 384:351–362
- 196. Jung H, Seong H-A, Ha H (2007) NM23-H1 tumor suppressor and its interacting partner STRAP activate p53 function. J Biol Chem 282:35293–35307
- 197. Seong H-A, Jung H, Ha H (2007) NM23-H1 tumor suppressor physically interacts with serine-threonine kinase receptor-associated protein, a transforming growth factor-β (TGF-β) receptor-interacting protein, and negatively regulates TGF-β signaling. J Biol Chem 282:12075–12096
- 198. Rahman MS, Akhtar N, Jamil HM, Banik RS, Asaduzzaman SM (2015) TGF-β/BMP signaling and other molecular events: regulation of osteoblastogenesis and bone formation. Bone Res 3:15005

- 199. Buijs JT et al (2007) TGF-β and BMP7 interactions in tumour progression and bone metastasis. Clin Exp Metastasis 24:609–617
- 200. Macías-Silva M, Hoodless PA, Tang SJ, Buchwald M, Wrana JL (1998) Specific activation of Smad1 signaling pathways by the BMP7 type I receptor, ALK2. *J Biol Chem* **273**:25628–25636
- 201. Fukuda T et al (2009) Constitutively activated ALK2 and increased SMAD1/5 cooperatively induce bone morphogenetic protein signaling in fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. J Biol Chem 284:7149–7156
- 202. Vannini I, Fanini F, Fabbri M (2018) Emerging roles of microR-NAs in cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev 48:128–133
- Lou W et al (2017) MicroRNAs in cancer metastasis and angiogenesis. Oncotarget 8:115787
- 204. Lu D, Tang L, Zhuang Y, Zhao P (2018) miR-17-3P regulates the proliferation and survival of colon cancer cells by targeting Par4. Mol Med Rep 17:618–623
- 205. Paterson EL et al (2013) Down-regulation of the miRNA-200 family at the invasive front of colorectal cancers with degraded basement membrane indicates EMT is involved in cancer progression. Neoplasia 15:180–IN122

- 206. Korpal M, Kang Y (2008) The emerging role of miR-200 family of microRNAs in epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer metastasis. RNA Biol 5:115–119
- 207. Hur K et al (2013) MicroRNA-200c modulates epithelial-tomesenchymal transition (EMT) in human colorectal cancer metastasis. Gut 62:1315–1326
- 208. Bai WD et al (2014) MiR-200c suppresses TGF-β signaling and counteracts trastuzumab resistance and metastasis by targeting ZNF217 and ZEB1 in breast cancer. Int J Cancer 135:1356–1368
- 209. Mutlu M et al (2016) miR-200c: a versatile watchdog in cancer progression, EMT, and drug resistance. J Mol Med 94:629–644
- 210. Hüsemann Y et al (2008) Systemic spread is an early step in breast cancer. Cancer Cell 13:58–68
- 211. Ansieau S et al (2008) Induction of EMT by twist proteins as a collateral effect of tumor-promoting inactivation of premature senescence. Cancer Cell 14:79–89
- Valsesia-Wittmann S et al (2004) Oncogenic cooperation between H-Twist and N-Myc overrides failsafe programs in cancer cells. Cancer Cell 6:625–630



Prostate Apoptosis Response-4 in Inflammation

Nadia El-Guendy

Abstract

Chronic inflammation is the underlying cause of about a quarter of the world's cancer. Regular use of inhibitors of inflammation such as aspirin has a significant chemopreventive effect, protecting against the development of colorectal cancer and some other cancers.

The tumor suppressor Par-4 has been associated with the inhibition of tumorigenesis of different cancers. Recently, it has been shown that inflammatory signals downregulate Par-4 in breast cancer cell lines, suggesting a possible role for Par-4 in inhibiting cancer initiation in response to inflammatory signals. More importantly, inhibition of inflammation by a number of different NSAIDs results in upregulation of Par-4 and induction of apoptosis in different cancer cell lines. It is interesting to note that the mechanisms of apoptosis induction by Par-4 share remarkable similarities with those of different NSAIDs. Both Par-4 and NSAIDs affect Ras signaling, NF- κ B activation, and Bcl-2 levels. These similarities suggest that Par-4 may be mediating apoptosis induction by NSAIDs.

Characterization of the exact involvement of Par-4 downstream of NSAIDs is essential for understanding their mechanism of function and tailoring better drugs for chemoprevention and the development of better cancer treatment protocols.

In this chapter, we will discuss the role of inflammation in the initiation and progression of tumorigenesis, the mechanism of inflammation inhibition and apoptosis induction by NSAIDs, and finally the possible role of Par-4 as a mediator of NSAIDs effects on carcinogenesis.

N. El-Guendy (🖂)

Department of Cancer Biology, National Cancer Institute, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt e-mail: nadia.elguendy@nci.cu.edu.eg

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Par-4 \cdot Chronic \ inflammation \cdot Cancer \cdot NSAID \cdot \\ Macrophage \cdot TAM \cdot TME \cdot COX-2 \cdot Ras \cdot NF{\text -}\kappa B \cdot Bcl{\text -}2 \end{array}$

1 Introduction

Immunity is a complex system adapted to protect the body from a different array of invaders while able to differentiate between self and non-self. It can also identify host cells that are altered to form cancer. The immune system generates a wide variety of cells and molecules that perform different functions to achieve these goals.

The immune response is traditionally divided into two main arms: the innate immunity and the cellular or adaptive one. The innate immunity causes a wide range of reactivity while the cellular one requires antigen specificity and confers "memory immunity" (Fig. 1). Innate immunity essentially works through pattern recognition receptors (PRR) on the immune cells that recognize molecules (pathogenassociated molecular patterns or PAMP) shared by many pathogens but are not present in the host. This is followed by recruiting phagocytes and other leukocytes that destroy the invading microbes, in a process called inflammation.

Inflammation is one of the most important features of the innate immune system, and it is involved in the induction of adaptive immunity. In response to invaders or injury, the innate immune cells, which include macrophages, dendritic cells (DC), neutrophils, mast cells, and natural killer (NK) cells, initiate the inflammatory response. Activation of the immune cells results in the activation of several pathways and transcription factors such as NF- κ B (nuclear factor- κ B), activation protein 1, interferon response factors three and seven. These transcription factors induce the expression of genes encoding inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and adhesion molecules. Cytokines, through cell receptors, induce specific activity in different cells. The activated immune cells will also release matrix-remodeling proteases,

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), Tumor Suppressor Par-4, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_2



Fig. 1 Overview of adaptive and innate immunity: Pathogen invasion activates elements of the innate immunity through PAMP interaction with PRR on immune cells. This will induce the release of cytokines and chemokines recruiting more macrophages and other immune cells thus initiating inflammation. Antigen presentation by APCs (e.g., dendritic cells) together with the presence of cytokines, activate the cellular (adaptive) immune response (T cells and B cells). Later, some persist-

ing B and T cells will form immunity memory. After the infection resolution, failure to terminate the inflammation, as a result of the persistence of the pathogen or irritant, or because of a misfunction in the termination machinery, leads to chronic inflammation.

PAMP Pathogen-associated molecular patterns, *PRR* Pattern recognition receptor, *APC* antigen-presenting cell

and reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, leading to the recruitment of leukocytes and plasma proteins to the affected site resulting in the elimination of pathogens and repair of tissue damage.

Three of the most important pro-inflammatory cytokines of the innate immune system are TNF- α (Tumor necrosis factor α), IL-1, and IL-6 (Interleukin 1-6). The production of these cytokines results in the characteristic tissue changes that accompany inflammation namely redness, heat, pain, and swelling: rubor, calor, dolor, and tumor, respectively.

Even though the immune system is of utmost importance as it protects the body from pathogens and uncontrolled replication of cells causing cancers, sometimes it fails by under or over-reacting causing a wide array of diseases. Immunodeficiencies occur when one or more components of the immune system are defective, and it can be inherited or acquired. Allergy, asthma, and autoimmune diseases result from over-activation towards innocuous antigens. Recently, a form of over-reaction of the immune system has been wildly mentioned in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic; the "cytokine storm" which results from a sudden acute increase in circulating cytokines including IL-6, IL-1, TNF- α , and interferon leading in some cases to mortality [1–4].

2 Diseases Caused by Inflammation

Some inflammation is good. Too much inflammation is bad. When inflammation is mild and controlled, normal tissue architecture and function can be restored after the inflammation is resolved. Uncontrolled persistence of inflammation can be very harmful to the host resulting in lasting tissue damage, especially if the microbes resist being killed and continue to stimulate the innate immune responses. The proteolytic enzymes and reactive oxygen species produced by immune cells to kill microbes during acute inflammation can injure host cells and degrade the extracellular matrix. For this reason, there is an elaborate mechanism to control the immune response, and any failure in the precise control of immune components can lead to chronic inflammation [4, 5].

Chronic, persistent inflammation is behind a host of health problems that result in the death of 3 out of 5 people in the world. Diseases associated with chronic inflammation include cardiovascular disease, diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, arthritis and joint diseases, neurological diseases, psoriasis, allergies, bowel diseases and cancers [2, 4, 6] (Fig. 2).

Cardiovascular diseases (stroke, heart disorders): Inflammation is an important factor in the progression of atherosclerosis, which is the main underlying cause of cardiovascular diseases. Atherosclerosis starts with the adherence then migration of monocyte through the arterial walls. The monocytes then differentiate into macrophages that will secret inflammatory signals to recruit more immune cells into the forming plaque, leaving the artery narrowed and more susceptible to blockage. This block chokes off blood flow to regions of the heart causing a heart attack. Studies show that lowering levels of CRP (C-reactive proteins), which is an important marker of inflammation, is correlated with reduced rates of heart attacks [2, 7].

Diabetes: Involvement of inflammation in diabetes was first suspected over a hundred years ago when high doses of salicylates were shown to lower glucose levels in diabetic patients. Type 2 diabetes is caused by deficiency in insulin production by the pancreatic beta cells and by insulin resistance in other cells. Inflammatory factors are implicated in both beta cell failure and insulin resistance. All major risk factors for type 2 diabetes (such as over nutrition, sleep deprivation, and depression) have been found to induce lowgrade inflammation in susceptible individuals. Immune cells like macrophages infiltrate pancreatic tissues, releasing proinflammatory molecules participating the killing of beta cells. In addition, pro-inflammatory cytokine such as TNF- α and IL-6 produced by adipocyte and associated adipose tissue macrophages can directly interfere with insulin signaling thus inducing insulin resistance [8–10].

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) is an obstructive lung disease that develops as a chronic inflammatory response to inspired irritants (mainly through smoking) that results in progressive and irreversible airflow blockage [11].

Arthritis and Joint Diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, which is a systemic autoimmune disease that develops in genetically susceptible hosts. It is induced by several environmental factors such as smoking, infections, and other unknown factors that lead to infiltration of immune cells and release of cytokines causing local inflammatory response in joints and potentially other parts of the body [6, 12].

Neurological diseases such as Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases: In older adults, chronic low-level inflammation is linked to cognitive decline and dementia. Increasing evidence suggests that Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases strongly interact with immunological mechanisms in the brain. In Alzheimer's disease, misfolded and aggregated proteins bind to PRRs on micro- and astroglia and induce the release of inflammatory signals and recruitment of leukocytes, which contribute to disease progression and severity [13, 14].

Psoriasis is a systemic, immune-mediated disorder with a strong skin manifestation. Dermal infiltration by T cells and macrophages appear in early skin lesions before epidermal changes [15, 16].



Fig. 2 Diseases caused by chronic inflammation: Chronic inflammation has been implicated in the development of a myriad of diseases responsible for three

out of five deaths worldwide

Allergies are caused by inappropriate immune response and inflammation (hypersensitivity) to certain environmental substances (allergens) that do not usually affect most people. Allergy types include hay fever, food allergies, atopic dermatitis, allergic asthma, and anaphylaxis [17].

Bowel diseases such as Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, inflammatory bowel disease, and celiac disease: Inflammatory bowel disease is a group of chronic inflammatory disorders of the digestive tract. Ulcerative colitis causes ulcers and chronic inflammation in the lining of the large intestine and rectum, whereas Crohn's disease is characterized by a more spread inflammation of the lining of the digestive tract in the mouth, esophagus, stomach, and anus [6, 18].

3 Inflammation and Cancer

Although the first mention of a link between inflammation and cancer was back in 1863 by Rudolf Virchow, evidence of the involvement of inflammation in cancer did not become available for more than a century [19]. According to Colotta et al., cancer-related inflammation is now considered the seventh hallmark of cancer after self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to anti-growth signals, evading apoptosis, unlimited replication potential, sustained angiogenesis, tumor invasion, and metastasis [20, 21].

It is estimated that inflammation, caused by infection or chronic inflammation, is the underlying cause of about 25% of cancers [3]. For example, chronic inflammatory diseases, such as Crohn's disease are associated with colon cancer [22] and Barrett's esophagus with esophageal cancer [23]. Many infectious agents, characterized by the development of chronic inflammation are also associated with cancer. Some such examples are schistosomiasis causing bladder and liver cancers [24], *Helicobacter pylori* stomach infection and gastric cancer [25], human papillomavirus relation to cervical cancer [26] and others [27].

Inflammation contributes to both the initiation and the survival and proliferation of malignant cells which we will discuss in the following subsections.

3.1 Inflammation as an Initiation Factor

So how does inflammation lead to cancer? Here's the current thinking;

In response to pathogen invasion, internal or external injury, inflammatory cells are recruited to the injury site. Failure in the precise control of immune response, in a timely manner, leads to chronic inflammation which is predominated by macrophages. These cells, together with other leukocytes as well as epithelial cells in the site of inflammation, produce inflammatory mediators such as prostaglandins, pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-15, and chemokines IL-8 and growth-regulated oncogene 1 (GRO-1/CXCL1), in addition to inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS or NOS2) and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2). Transcription factors such as NF- κ B, signal transducers, and activators of transcription 3 (STAT3), nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), and nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) are also activated and create a positive feedback loop activating more inflammatory mediators. All of these are implicated in carcinogenesis as they are enhancers of proliferation and inducers of tumorigenesis [3, 28].

iNOS expression, which is regulated by transcriptional factors such as NF-kB and STAT3, is responsible for the production of high levels of reactive oxygen (ROS) and nitrogen species (RNS), which are usually involved in fighting infection. The continuous presence of ROS/RNS causes damage to various cellular components such as nucleic acids, proteins, and lipids [28]. In DNA, oxidative and nitrative damage caused by ROS/RNS, have been shown to induce G:C to T:A transversions. These mutations have been observed in several oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes such as k-ras and p53 in cancers like lung and liver [3]. ROS/RNS, proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and its downstream STAT3, have been shown to cause epigenetic changes in DNA in different cancer settings. They affect the DNA methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1) resulting in enhanced DNA methvlation of tumor suppressor genes and microRNAs [29]. ROS/RNS also induce global DNA hypomethylation, resulting in genomic instability. Changes in DNA methylation patterns, such as global hypomethylation of the genome and the hypermethylation of specific gene promoters have been associated with different human malignancy [30]. In addition to the damage caused to the DNA, inflammation-derived ROS/ RNS can induce protein carbonylation which is an irreversible and irreparable protein modification induced by oxidative stress [27] (Fig. 3).

From the above, we can see that chronic inflammation can lead to point mutations and changes in gene expression in both oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes, and to posttranslational modifications of proteins, which could lead to genetic and physiological instability and cancer [3].

3.2 Inflammation as a Factor in Cancer Progression and Metastasis

Not only can chronic inflammation lead to the initiation of cancer, but it is now well known that inflammation contributes to tumor progression and invasion. As a tumor grows and accumulates mutations, the cancer cells release chemical


Fig. 3 Chronic inflammation and initiation of tumorigenesis: Secretion of cytokines and chemokines by immune cells activates a number of signaling pathways which persistence could lead to cellular transformation. During inflammation, activation iNOS, NF- κ B, and COX-2 will induce the production of ROS and RNS and more cytokines, chemokines, and other elements that participate in the induction

of transformation. ROS/RNS can cause mutations and epigenetic changes in DNA, and permanent damages in proteins. Activation of transcription factors such as NF- κ B and STAT3 gives a survival advantage to cells with damaged DNA, increasing the chance of initiation of tumorigenesis.

ROS Reactive oxygen species, RNS Reactive nitrogen species

signals that recruit immune cells to infiltrate the tumor, forming the "Tumor microenvironment" (TME).

TME consists of tumor cells, tumor stromal cells including stromal fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and infiltrating immune cells (mainly macrophages), and the non-cellular components of the extracellular matrix such as collagen, fibronectin, hyaluronan, and laminin. TME is now considered a main component of almost all types of cancer. Tumor cells control the function of cellular and non-cellular components of the TME through complex signaling networks to support tumor growth and invasion by inducing angiogenesis, inflammation, and of course, immunosuppression.

In TME, the infiltrating immune cells such as macrophages, microglia, and lymphocytes release cytokines and chemokines that, in addition to their function to attract more cells to the TME, affect the tumor cell signaling and induce the expression of a large number of proteins. These proteins have been found to increase angiogenesis, replication, EMT (epithelial mesenchymal transition), thus metastasis, and other protein involved in transforming cancer cells into more aggressive invasive cells [31–33].

Macrophages are one of the main populations of inflammatory cells in the stroma of many tumors. In breast cancer TME, macrophages constitute about 50% of the cancer mass [34]. They are generally recruited from blood monocytes by CC chemokines such as CCL2 (MCP-1) [35, 36]. Normally, macrophages play a critical role in the emergence and resolution of inflammation. In addition to their ability to kill and clear pathogens, they also play a role in the coordination of other cells and tissues of the immune and other supporting systems mainly by secreting cytokines and complement proteins. Once recruited to the tumor site, they differentiate into tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs). The resulting TAMs secrete multiple cytokines and growth factors including



Fig. 4 Chronic inflammation and progression of tumorigenesis; Role of TAM in TME: Tumor-associated macrophage (TAM) is a main component of the tumor microenvironment (TME). TAM presence contributes to the growth, progression, and metastasis of tumors through multiple mechanisms: Inhibition of anti-tumor immunity through inhibition of T cytotoxic cells recruitment while enhancing recruitment of

TNF- α , IL-1 and IL-6, CSF-1, and activate COX-2, NF- κ B, and enzymes involved in tissue remodeling, which are all known factors that assist cell malignant behavior [37].

The association between the high macrophage content of tumors and poor patient prognosis supports the notion of the protumoral role of TAM. Moreover, the reduction of the risk of several cancers, which is provided by long-term use of anti-inflammatory drugs, has further supported this notion.

TAM plays multiple roles in cancer development and progression:

- One of the important functions of TAM in assisting tumor growth is their ability to dampen host immune responses against the tumor by preventing the accumulation of antitumor cells (T cytotoxic) and by help recruiting cells that inhibit immune response such as regulatory T cells (T_{reg}) cells. Thus, TAMs act as a double-edged knife in enhancing tumor growth [38].
- They produce factors that facilitate **angiogenesis** (blood vessel development) and **lymphangiogenesis** (lymphatic vessel development) [39].
- TAMs produce a variety of proteases and other factors to break down the basement membrane and mobilize tumor cells. Thus, enhancing tumor **metastasis**.

 T_{reg} cells; Supporting tumor growth through TNF- α and VEGF secretion; Enhancement of angiogenesis through VEGF secretion; and finally, enhancement of migration and metastasis through CSF-1 and MMPs production.

 T_{reg} regulatory T cells, VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor, CFS-1 colony-stimulating factor 1, MMPs Matrix metalloproteinases

The overall effect of TAM in TME is protection from the immune system, increased growth, and enhancement of angiogenesis and metastasis [40, 41] (Fig. 4).

In the following section, we will discuss the role of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in inhibiting the effects of inflammation in cancer initiation and progression.

4 Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are a class of drugs commonly used for the treatment of inflammation, pain, and fever. Their classical mode of action is attributed to the inhibition of cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 (COX-1 and -2). These enzymes are involved in the synthesis of the key biological mediators; eicosanoids (prostaglandins (PGs), prostacyclin, and thromboxane A_2) from arachidonic acid. PGs are responsible for inflammation, pain, and fever. Studies in experimental animals provided evidence that PGs participate in the transition to and maintenance of chronic inflammation by acting as a cytokine amplifier. PGs and cytokines synergistically activate NF- κ B to induce the expression of inflammation-related genes, including COX-2 thus maintaining a positive feedback loop amplifying chronic inflammation. PGs also contribute to angiogenesis and fibrosis [42]. The main mode of action of most NSAIDs is to inhibit COX-1 and -2, preventing them from the generation of eicosanoids thus reducing pain, fever, and inflammation. Eicosanoids are also critically important for the homeostatic maintenance of the gastrointestinal mucosa, blood clotting, regulation of blood flow, and kidney function which explains some of the side effects generated by their inhibition [43].

COX-1 is expressed constitutively in most tissues, including gastrointestinal (GI) mucosa, whereas COX-2 expression is usually transiently induced by cytokines, inflammatory stimuli, growth factors, mitogens, and is generally associated with pathological processes. Conventional NSAIDs act on both COX-1 and -2, but in addition to their anti-inflammatory, analgesic, and antipyretic action, they may cause serious gastrointestinal, cardiovascular, and renal adverse effects. The inhibition of COX-1-induced PG's production in GI is regarded as the cause of the most frequent and potentially most dangerous side effects of NSAIDs, namely gastric/duodenal ulceration and bleeding [44]. As COX-2 is the main mediator of inflammation, inhibitors with the highest effect on COX-2 and less effect on COX-1 should have potent antiinflammatory activity with fewer side effects. Unfortunately, COX-2 inhibition is associated with cardiovascular adverse effects, which resulted in the restricted use of this category of NSAIDS [45, 46].

Other non-COX mechanisms have also been suggested as a mode of action for NSAIDs. They have been shown to affect different transcription factors such as NF- κ B, which is as we mentioned before, an essential transcription factor for pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and adhesion molecules [47]. In addition, NSAIDs inhibit activator protein 1, membrane stabilizing, Ras, and ROS production. It is unclear how these other mechanisms contribute to the clinical benefits of NSAIDs [48–50].

For many years, NSAIDs have also been studied for their chemopreventive and anti-tumor effects. Their role as chemopreventive agents was first noticed in colorectal cancer. Population studies have shown a 40-50% decrease in the relative risk of developing colorectal cancer in persons who are continuous users of aspirin [51]. Other NSAIDs have also been found to protect against colon cancer. The NSAID sulindac has a unique ability to partially compensate for the loss of adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), the tumor suppressor affected in patients with familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP), and sporadic polyps in colon cancers [52]. The anti-tumorigenic activity of sulindac against colon cancer may involve both COX-dependent and independent inhibition activities. It was found that sulindac enhances the killing of tumor cells by oxidative stress, with no COX inhibition involved [53].

Although most epidemiologic studies have been conducted in colorectal cancer, the use of NSAIDs had similar anti-neoplastic effects with other tumors such as breast [54], ovary [55], lung [56], esophagus, rectum, and stomach [43, 57]. Sulindac has also been reported as a chemopreventive agent for mouse urinary bladder cancer [58].

Anti-tumor mechanisms of NSAIDs are not fully understood. Some evidence points to the involvement of COX-2 inhibition. COX-2 is upregulated from 2- to 50-fold in 85-90% of colorectal adenocarcinomas, which makes the COX-2 enzyme a possible target. On the other hand, different studies point to COX-independent mechanisms [59, 60]. The potential COX-2-independent anti-neoplastic mechanisms of NSAIDs may include downregulation of protooncogenes, such as *c-myc*, *ras*, and *bcl-2*, and transcriptional factors such as PPAR δ and NF- κ B and upregulation of apoptotic genes such as Par-4 as will be discussed in more details later [50].

Furthermore, different NSAIDs may have different anticancer mechanisms of action. Aspirin has a unique property of acetylating COX-2, which is not seen in other NSAIDs. Acetylated COX-2 has anti-inflammatory and antitumorigenic effects. This unique ability of aspirin may be the cause of its anticancer potential [50]. Aspirin and sodium salicylate can inhibit NF- κ B activity through inhibition of I κ B degradation in a different range of cell types and conditions which would contribute to the anticancer properties of these drugs [49]. Sulindac sulfide, but not other NSAIDs, was found to significantly increase NSAID-activated gene (*nag-1*), an anti-tumorigenic and pro-apoptotic gene, in COX-2-deficient gastric cancer cell lines, resulting in increasing apoptosis [61].

5 Par-4 and Cancer

Rat Par-4 was first discovered in a differential screening in androgen-independent prostate cancer cells forced to undergo apoptosis. Although it was later found to be ubiquitously expressed in all tissue (of both human, rat, and mouse), Par-4 was found to be inhibited or inactivated in several cancers.

Par-4 is lost or inactivated in over 70% of renal cancers [62]. In breast cancer, downregulation of Par-4 is associated with resistance to therapy and recurrence and progression of more aggressive breast cancers [63, 64]. Par-4 down-expression was observed in about 40% of endometrial carcinomas which was mainly due to promoter hypermethylation [65]. Similar observations have been made in neuroblastomas [66].

Moreover, the human *par-4* gene (*pawr*) is located on chromosomal 12q21, a region that is unstable in several can-

cers [67]. Pancreatic and gastric cancers and acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), frequently show a deletion or instability in chromosome 12q21. Duplication of this region has also been shown to occur in about 10% of Wilm's tumor cases [68–71].

In prostate cancer, Par-4 phosphorylation by AKT (PKB) prevents its nuclear translocation which is essential for inhibition of NF- κ B and induction of apoptosis by Par-4. Retaining Par-4 in the cytoplasm, by AKT, abrogates its ability to kill cancer cells [72].

In ovarian cancer cell lines, Par-4 is required for apoptosissensitizing to Taxol treatment. Furthermore, Par-4 colocalizes with GRP78 and enhances its translocation to the membrane in these cells [73].

In hematopoietic stem cells, Par-4 inhibits IL-3independent proliferation and transformation induced by p185BCR-ABL, the protein produced by BCR-ABL translocation [74].

Par-4 knockout mice are more susceptible to chemical- or hormone-induced lesions and to spontaneous tumor development in various tissues. The endometrium and the prostate gland appear to be relatively sensitive to Par-4 loss as Par4null mice were more prone to the development of proliferative lesions. This further confirms the role of Par-4 in the development of hormone-dependent tissues [75]. In mouse TCL1 leukemia system, overexpression of human Par-4 has an anti-leukemic effect through downregulation of NF- κ B signaling [76].

The tumor suppressor activity of Par-4 is achieved through several pathways that involve suppression of cell survival mechanisms and activation of the pro-apoptotic machinery. Par-4 inhibits oncogenic Ras, Bcl-2, atypical protein kinase C (aPKC), and NF- κ B and sequesters Topoisomerase I, thus stopping crucial survival pathways. On the other hand, it increases translocation of Fas and Fas ligand and activates TRAIL apoptosis induction through GPR78-dependent mechanism [77].

In addition to its confirmed intracellular tumor suppressor function, it was found that Par-4 is excreted from cells and extracellular Par-4 is as potent in inducing apoptosis in neighboring cells. The ability of extracellular Par-4 to induce apoptosis is dependent on its binding to the stress response protein, glucose-regulated protein-78 (GRP78), expressed at the surface of cancer cells. The interaction of extracellular Par-4 and cell surface GRP78 leads to apoptosis via ER stress and activation of the FADD/caspase-8/caspase-3 pathway through TRAIL receptor [78].

These and several other studies proved without a doubt the importance of Par-4 in preventing tumor initiation and progression. In the following section, we are going to explore different aspects of Par-4 involvement in tumor-associated inflammation and possible mechanisms of this involvement.

Par-4 and Inflammation

6

Par-4 role in cancer inflammation has been largely overlooked. Only a couple of studies have shown that Par-4 is involved in modulating cancer-associated inflammation. In both studies, the expression of Par-4 has been upregulated by anti-inflammatory drugs and mediated their induction of apoptosis in cancerous cells.

In the first study, Zhang and DuBois, have shown that Par-4 mediates apoptosis induction by different NSAIDs. They demonstrated that Par-4 expression levels are strongly increased in colon cancer cells, HCA-7, treated with high levels of several NSAIDs, namely NS-398, a selective COX-2 inhibitor, and sulindac sulfide, SC-58125 and, nimesulide which are COX-1 and-2 inhibitors [79].

A recent study by the Shouman group showed that breast cancer cell lines treated by inflammatory factors generated from activated macrophages will undergo apoptosis in response to the NSAIDs sulindac sulfide and piroxicam. In the study, induction of apoptosis by sulindac sulfide and piroxicam was associated with increased expression of Par-4.

This study went a step further as they showed that the conditioned media generated from activated macrophages, was able to reduce levels of Par-4 by 50% in breast cancer cell lines compared to control cells. The conditioned media also increased the expression of hallmarks of inflammation: cytokines IL-1 β and IL-6, Ras, and COX-2, confirming the effect of TAM on cancer cells [80].

These two studies suggested that Par-4 contributes to the apoptosis induction by NSAIDs whether they are selective COX-2 inhibitors or not. As we discussed before, different NSAIDs can have different mechanisms to achieve COX inhibition and to induce apoptosis. This suggests that Par-4 may be acting through different mechanisms with different COX inhibitors.

In the following section, we will discuss the possible mechanisms through which Par-4 may be involved in apoptosis induction by NSAIDs, mainly through presenting the molecules that are downstream of both Par-4 and different NSAIDs.

6.1 Role of Ras in Cancer and Inflammation

Ras is the most commonly mutated oncogene in cancer. Mutations in *k*-*ras* are the known drivers of three of the most lethal cancers: lung cancer, colorectal cancer, and pancreatic cancer. Mutations in *k*-*ras* reach 60% in pancreatic cancer [81]. In normal cells, the Ras family of GTPases are small membrane-associated proteins that play essential roles in development, survival, growth, and inflammation. They are activated at the membrane in response to growth factor receptors binding to their ligands. Ras is responsible for the activation of a constellation of pathways including the famous Raf-MEK-ERK, PI3K-Akt, and the MEKK-SEK-JNK pro-survival pathways [82].

The Ras family includes H-Ras, K-Ras, R-Ras, and N-Ras. Their activity is controlled by a regulated GDP/GTP cycle. Mutations in Ras render them insensitive to external signaling and they become constitutively active, activating downstream signaling pathways. In the oncogenic state, Ras activates diverse pathways that are known to promote tumorigenesis [83, 84].

The Ras family plays a vital role in the regulation of immunity and inflammation. In the oncogenic state, one consequence of Ras signaling in cancer cells is the upregulation of an array of cytokines and chemokines. These include CCL2 (MCL-1), CCL5, IL-8, IL-6, and GRO-1/CXCL1, which, among other chemokines, are known to recruit monocytes to tumors where they differentiate to TAMs. Oncogenic Ras has also been shown to upregulate and stabilize COX-2 expression [85].

In addition to the role of activated Ras in recruiting TAM, Thabet et al. study showed that Ras is upregulated in breast cancer cell lines in response to stimulation by macrophage conditioned medium suggesting the formation of a positive feedback loop in maintaining the inflammation in the TME [80]. Li and colleagues found a strong correlation between the presence of oncogenic Ras, infiltration of TAM, and formation of neovascularization. These studies and others suggest an essential role of Ras in the TME and cancer progression [41, 86, 87].

Oncogenic Ras has also been linked to the induction of tumor angiogenesis and metastasis by upregulating vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and by inducing matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) that degrade the extracellular matrix allowing metastasis [88] (see Fig. 5).

In the early years of Par-4 research, a strong relation between Par-4 and Ras was established. It was found that Par-4 induces apoptosis in a Ras-dependent matter. Cells overexpressing oncogenic Ras will undergo apoptosis when Par-4 is introduced. This apoptosis is dependent on the inhibition of NF-KB transcription activity. In addition, Rasinduced cellular transformation is abrogated when Par-4 levels are restored through MEK inhibition or overexpression of ectopic Par-4. This anti-transformation action of Par-4 appears to be distinct from its apoptotic function. On the other hand, expression of oncogenic Ras has been shown to strongly downregulate Par-4 in a variety of cells via the Raf-MEK-ERK pathway, and this inhibition is essential for cellular transformation by Ras. Par-4 inhibition by Ras is most probably achieved by inducing methylation of the Par-4 promoter through Raf-MEK-ERK-dependent and independent pathways [89-92].

In pancreatic cancer tissues and cell lines, Par-4 is significantly downregulated in the presence of *k-ras* point mutations. In addition, higher levels of Par-4 in pancreatic cancer tissue samples were correlated with prolonged survival. Moreover, transient overexpression of oncogenic Ras in a pancreatic cancer cell line with WT-k-ras, significantly downregulated endogenous Par-4 and conferred accelerated growth [93].

The translocation generating BCR-ABL fusion gene is found in about 25% of adult ALL. This gene encodes p185BCR-ABL oncoprotein which is able to transform immature hematopoietic cells. Par-4 was found to antagonize the transformation induced by p185BCR-ABL in hematopoietic stem cells by interfering with Ras activation and disrupting signaling downstream of p185BCR/ABL [74].

Targeting Ras as a therapeutic option for cancer treatment has been attempted repeatedly. Unfortunately, clinically, direct inhibition of Ras has been very difficult and associated with toxicity. On the other hand, inhibition of downstream signals, such as Raf, MEK, mTOR, and Ras-induced cytokines has shown better results [86]. Like Par-4, several NSAIDs have been shown to act on the Ras signaling pathway with favorable results suggesting the need for more studies to evaluate the possibility of using NSAIDs as Ras pathway inhibitors.

6.2 Role of NF-κB

NF- κ B transcription factors are involved in the control of a large number of processes, such as immunity and inflammatory responses, development, cellular growth, and apoptosis. They are dimers formed from a related group of proteins; RelA (p65), RelB, c-Rel, p50, and p52. The p50 and p52 proteins are unable to activate transcription independently since they lack transactivation domains. p50-RelA heterodimer represents the major and best studied NF- κ B dimer. NF- κ B transcription factors bind a DNA sequence motif, named κ B site, in its target genes that are mainly involved in immunity and inflammation, in addition to a number of antiapoptotic genes [94].

Under normal conditions, NF- κ B is kept inactive in the cytoplasm, bound to I κ B. Stimulation by pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF- α , IL-1), microbial and viral infections, stress factors and carcinogens, results in phosphorylation of the inhibitory I κ B by the IKK complex and the subsequent proteasomal-degradation of I κ B. Once I κ B is degraded, NF- κ B is free to translocate to the nucleus where it activates the transcription of its target genes. Normally, the activity of NF- κ B is highly controlled; however, during oncogenesis, it becomes constitutively activated mostly due to the continuous presence of external signals and not because of activating mutations [95–98].



Fig. 5 Ras and NF-κB, role in inflammation and tumorigenesis: Ras and NF-κB play an essential role in tumor survival, growth, and invasion by inducing protein such as Bcl-2, MMPs, and VEGF, and by increasing the expression of a number of cytokines and chemo-

kines which participate in maintaining the tumor-associated inflammation. *MMPs* Matrix metalloproteinases, *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor

NF-κB is one of the main regulators controlling inflammation in general and cancer-associated inflammation in particular. NF-KB controls the expression of many inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-23, and TNF- α . NF- κ B regulates the expression of MMPs which are crucial mediators of local inflammation and leukocyte chemotaxis, and the expression of adhesion molecules on leukocytes and endothelial cells, which allow the recruitment of leukocytes to the sites of infections [99, 100]. In addition, iNOS and COX-2 are both NF-kB target genes, thus NF-kB is involved in the production of prostaglandins and ROS. Like Ras, some of the targets of NF-kB participate in its activation, making it a crucial element in the propagation and elaboration of cytokine responses. It is important to note that NF-kB also encodes its negative regulators genes [101–103] (Fig. 5).

In addition to the essential role in immunity and inflammation, NF- κ B controls the transcription of genes that regulate cellular differentiation, survival, and proliferation. It activates genes encoding antiapoptotic proteins from the Bcl-2 family, e.g., Bcl-2 and Bcl- x_L , and other antiapoptotic genes like X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis (XIAP) which can protect the cell from TNF- α -induced apoptosis thus preventing apoptosis of epithelial and cancer cells [104]. To sum it up, NF- κ B targets genes that are involved in inflammation, cancer development, cell cycle progression, angiogenesis, and metastasis making it an essential contributor in tumorigenesis [32, 102].

Many studies showed that one of the main mechanisms of apoptosis induction by Par-4 is through inhibition of NF- κ B-mediated cell survival mechanisms [89, 105].

Par-4 was found to inhibit TNF- α -induced nuclear translocation of the RelA subunit of NF- κ B, by blocking the ability of aPKC to activate the IKK complex. Although Par-4 translocation to the nucleus is known to be required for apoptosis induction [106], in this study, Par-4 was found to bind and inhibit aPKC in the cytoplasm. Expression of oncogenic Ras restored TNF- α ability to translocate RelA to the nucleus, by decreasing levels of endogenous Par-4 [107].

In PC12 neuronal cells, overexpression of Par-4 causes suppression of NF- κ B activation and cause Bcl-2 levels reduction, which correlates with enhanced apoptosis [108].

In prostate cell lines overexpressing Par-4 (PC3/Par-4), radiation-induced NF- κ B activation was inhibited as Par-4 directly inhibits the phosphorylation and degradation of I κ B- α , causing repression of radiation-induced Bcl-2 protein [109].

In the mouse TCL1 leukemia system, overexpression of Par-4 has an anti-leukemic effect. It delayed the development of leukemia in these mice through downregulation of NF- κ B signaling which was mainly accomplished by reducing RelA translocation to the nucleus [76].

The activity of NF- κ B can be inhibited by the NSAIDs sodium salicylate and aspirin through inhibition of I κ B degradation in a different range of cell types and conditions. This results in inhibition of NF- κ B translocation to the nucleus which blocks IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α -induced NF- κ B activation [49, 110].

In summary, NF- κ B is an essential player in the initiation of inflammation and is required for sustaining the inflammation and providing a positive feedback loop for its own production (e.g., TNF- α). It induces the expression of a large number of genes with known involvement in sustaining inflammation and in the initiation of carcinogenesis. Par-4 has been shown to induce apoptosis through inhibition of NF- κ B activation and inhibition of nuclear translocation of p65 subunit of NF- κ B.

6.3 Role of Bcl-2

The Bcl-2 family contains both antiapoptotic (e.g., Bcl-2, Bcl-x_L, Bcl-w, Mcl-1,) and pro-apoptotic (e.g., Bax, Bak, Bad, Bid) members. The first group members protect cells from apoptotic stimuli by binding and inactivating their pro-apoptotic antagonists [111]. Bcl-2 helps oncogenesis through cell death resistance. High levels of Bcl-2 are found in many types of cancers. Overexpression of Bcl-2, following chromosomal translocation, is linked to the development of B cell lymphoma in humans. Drugs specifically targeting the pro-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family have shown promising results in treating several types of cancer such as relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) [112] confirming the importance of Bcl-2 in supporting the survival of tumors.

Bcl-2 essentially acts as an anti-oxidant thus protecting cells from the effects of inflammation, but it also protects the cells from undergoing apoptosis, which allows the accumulation of transforming mutations [113]. Bcl-2 levels are regulated by various cytokines, including IL-1 β and IL-6. In TAM, high levels of secreted IL-10 induce drug resistance through IL-10/STAT3/Bcl-2 signaling pathway [114].

Early on, it was found that overexpression of Par-4 in mouse fibroblast cells (NIH-3T3) or in human prostate cancer cell lines (PC-3) resulted in a reduction of endogenous Bcl-2 levels. In addition, androgen-independent CWR22R tumors derived from the CWR22 xenografts showed mutually exclusive expression patterns of Par-4 and Bcl-2 [115].

In lymphatic cell lines and in blast cells of acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) patients, there is an inverse pattern of expression between Par-4 and Bcl-2. In addition, overexpression of Par-4 in lymphocytic cell lines (Jurkat T cells) decreases levels of Bcl-2 with no effect on Bax. In these cells, overexpression of Par-4 was sufficient to cause PARP cleavage. The addition of a chemotherapeutic agent was required to activate caspase-3 and cause apoptosis in the cells overexpressing Par-4 [116, 117].

In PC12 neuronal cells and PC3 cells overexpressing Par-4 and suppression of NF- κ B activation was accompanied by reduction in Bcl-2 levels followed by apoptosis [108, 109].

In androgen-independent prostate cancer cell lines (LNCaP), Par-4 was found to downregulate Bcl-2 through a WT1-binding site on the *bcl-2* promoter, suggesting that Par-4 nuclear translocation is essential for the downregulation of Bcl-2 [118].

6.4 Role of Fas

CD95 (Fas) and CD95L (FasL) belong to the TNF receptor superfamily of death receptors. Trimerization of Fas after binding to its ligand recruits the adaptor protein Fasdependent death domain (FADD) which induces the formation of the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC), activating caspase-8 and thus inducing apoptosis [119, 120]. FasL is implicated in immune homeostasis and immune surveillance. It mediates lymphocyte-dependent cytotoxicity and clonal deletion of alloreactive T cells. The soluble form (sFasL) results from cleavage of membrane FasL by metalloproteinases and induces apoptosis in susceptible cells [121].

One of the mechanisms by which Par-4 induces apoptosis in androgen-independent prostate cancer cell lines is by increasing the translocation of Fas and Fas ligand (Fas/FasL) to the plasma membrane alongside the inhibition of NF- κ B activity [105].

Par-4 was also found to increase Fas-induced apoptosis by protecting FADD from PKC zeta phosphorylation in KG1a acute myeloid leukemia (AML) cell lines, thus overcoming drug resistance and increasing apoptosis in these cells [122].

Surprisingly, in addition to the apoptotic function of Fas/ FasL, it also has a non-apoptotic function as it was found that sFasL can promote cancer cell migration in some systems [123]. It is not yet clear what are the conditions that contribute to the pathway that Fas/FasL chooses, but it is evident that Par-4 is part of the apoptotic induction mechanism of Fas/FasL.

6.5 Inhibition of Par-4 in Response to Inflammatory Stimuli

In the study conducted by Thabet and colleagues, they showed that treating breast cancer cell lines (estrogendependent MCF-7 and estrogen-independent MDA-MB-231) with a conditioned medium of activated macrophages, increased inflammatory signals in the cells. These breast cell lines showed increased expression of IL-1 β , IL-6, COX-2, and PGE2 (Prostaglandin E2). Together with these inflammatory signals, Ras expression was increased in MCF-7. In MDA-MB-231, Ras expression was only slightly affected since it is already high in these cells. Interestingly, Par-4 expression was decreased in response to inflammatory stimulation by the conditioned medium. The decrease of Par-4 level was well pronounced in the hormone-dependent MCF7 cells while the hormone-independent cells showed a slight decrease consistent with the changes seen in Ras levels, suggesting Ras may be responsible for the change in Par-4 expression in these cells [80].

It would be interesting to know if other inflammatory signals are involved in the inhibition of Par-4 expression and whether this is restricted to tumor-associated inflammation or is a general inflammatory response.

6.6 Par-4 as a Mediator of Anti-Inflammatory Drug Action

Although the role of NSAIDs as chemopreventive and anticancer agents is quite well established, their mechanism of action is still not yet fully elucidated.

The effect of NSAIDs on Par-4 expression became known for the first time through the work of Zhang and Dubois in 2000. They found that several NSAIDs are able to upregulate Par-4 expression in human colon carcinoma cell lines. These NSAIDs were either COX-1 and -2 (sulindac sulfite) or COX-2 specific inhibitors (NS-398, nimesulide, and SC-58125). Both categories of NSAIDs caused an increase in Par-4 expression at the RNA and the protein levels [79]. Almost two decades later, a second study showed that the expression of Par-4 is increased in stimulated breast cancer cell lines after treatment with sulindac sulfite or piroxicam COX inhibitors. Par-4 increase in the breast cells was accompanied by an increase in caspase-3 expression and a decrease in Ras, Bcl-2, and other inflammatory signals; IL-1 β , IL-6, and COX-2 [80].

The mechanism of Par-4 increased expression by NSAIDs is unknown. The observation was made in different cell types, under different conditions. The breast cancer cells were stimulated with inflammatory signals, but not the colon cancer cells. The NSAIDs involved in Par-4 regulation are also known to have different mechanisms of action since some are selective COX-2 inhibitors and others act on both COX-1 and COX-2.

In both studies, the increase of Par-4 in response to NSAIDs treatment was associated with increased apoptosis in the cancer cell lines under investigation. Inhibition of the Ras pathway by Par-4 may be essential in this regard since Ras is increased in inflammation and it has been suggested to be a common target of several NSAID inhibitors. NS-398 and sulindac sulfide have been shown to inhibit ERK activity through attenuation of Ras/c-Ras interaction [124, 125]. Piroxicam downregulates Ras in colon tumors in rats [126]. Other studies have shown that COX-2-specific and nonspecific inhibitors inhibit NF- κ B and the Raf-MAPK (ERK2) pathway, which is very similar to the effect of Par-4 on these pathways [127]. This suggests that the effect of different NSAIDs on Ras levels and their apoptosis induction may be mediated by Par-4.

Of course, there is the possibility that Ras is inhibited by a different mechanism and this inhibition leads to an upregulation of Par-4, and subsequent induction of apoptosis since it has been previously shown that inhibition of RAS\RAF\ MAPK signaling restores Par-4 in cancer cells [92]. Par-4 would then be able to induce apoptosis through other mechanisms such as inhibition of Bcl-2 and NF- κ B and activation of Fas/FasL and TRAIL apoptotic pathways (Fig. 6).

7 Future Research Directions

Discovering that Par-4 is involved in tumor-associated inflammation raises so many new questions.

- Since Par-4 was found to be downregulated by inflammatory conditions, it is important to characterize the inflammatory mediators involved. Ras represents a good candidate for mediating downregulation of Par-4, but this has to be confirmed experimentally. The involvement of other factors has to be considered as well.
- Determination of the possible involvement of Par-4 in other types of inflammation is of great interest. Par-4 has been previously implicated in neurodegenerative disorders [128], and it is interesting to know if it has a role in the inflammation associated with the development of neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases.
- Par-4 knockout mice can be used for the elucidation of the role played by Par-4 in the apoptosis induction by NSAIDs. They can be used to identify the place of Ras compared to Par-4 in response to NSAIDs signaling.
- Is Par-4 required for apoptosis induction by NSAIDs? Downregulation of Par-4 using siRNA can be used in such a study.
- Characterization of the role Fas/FasL downstream of Par-4 in response to NSAIDs treatment should shed more light on the mechanism of action of Fas/FasL in inflammation and cancer.
- Although several NSAIDs were shown to upregulate Par-4, it is still interesting to know if other NSAIDs, with different mechanisms of action, have similar effects on Par-4 levels.



Fig. 6 Possible role of Par-4 downstream of NSAIDs: NSAIDs mechanism of chemoprevention and anti-tumor action is not yet fully elucidated. Inhibition of NF- κ B, and downregulation of Ras and Bcl-2 have been shown to be part of the mechanisms of apoptosis induction in cancer cells following treatment with NSAIDs. The recent findings, showing that several NSAIDs upregulate Par-4, suggest that Par-4 can act as a mediator of apoptosis induction by NSAIDs in cancer cells as

they share same mechanisms of apoptosis induction. Upregulation of Par-4 by NSAIDs could be responsible for Ras, Bcl-2, and NF- κ B inhibition leading to inhibition of COX-2, interruption of the positive feedback loop activating TAMs and induction of apoptosis.

TAM Tumor-associated macrophage, *NSAIDs* Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs

• So far, the relation between Par-4 and inflammation has been studied in cancer cell lines. It is essential to confirm this relation in vivo. Determination of Par-4 levels in different inflammatory diseases and TME should be very informative. Of equal importance is the determination of the effect of NSAIDs on Par-4 levels in patients.

8 Conclusions

The study of cancer-related inflammation has greatly evolved in recent years to provide new prophylactic and therapeutic strategies in the form of inhibitors of inflammation. A better characterization of the mechanism of action of these inhibitors and the identification of their downstream signaling molecules is essential to tailor more targeted therapies that would avoid the side effects of the currently used NSAIDs.

As we have seen presented in this chapter, accumulating evidence suggest that Par-4 could be an essential player in inhibiting inflammation associated with tumors. As we discussed above, Par-4 affects different components of the immune system such as Ras, NF- κ B, and Bcl-2. These interactions have been studied in the context of transformation inhibition and apoptosis induction but not in relation to the immune response and inflammation. We have seen similarities between the mechanism of apoptosis induction by Par-4 and by different NSAIDs such as the inhibition of the RafMEK-ERK pathway, NF- κ B activation, and Bcl-2 expression suggesting a mediatory role for Par-4 in NSAIDs function.

The identification of the role played by Par-4 in tumorassociated inflammation adds a new piece to the repertoire of actions of Par-4 as a tumor suppressor protein and sheds new light on a possible use in managing chronic inflammatory diseases and in cancer prevention.

References

- Ragab D, Salah Eldin H, Taeimah M, Khattab R, Salem R (2020) The COVID-19 cytokine storm; what we know so far. Front Immunol 11:1446
- 2. Punt J, Stranford SA, Jones PP, Owen JA (2019) Kuby Immunology, 8th ed. Macmillan International Higher Education.
- 3. Hussain SP, Harris CC (2007) Inflammation and cancer: an ancient link with novel potentials. Int J Cancer 121:2373–2380
- Abbas A, Lichtman AH, Pillai S (2017) Cellular and molecular immunology 9th Ed. cellular and molecular immunology. Elsevier Inc
- Murphy K, Weaver C (2018) Janeway's immunobiology, vol 93, 9th edn. The Quarterly Review of Biology
- Pahwa R & Jialal I (2019) Chronic Inflammation—StatPearls— NCBI Bookshelf. in *Stat Pearls* 1
- Clearfield M (2006) C-reactive protein levels and outcomes after statin therapy. Curr Atheroscler Rep 8:8–9
- Kolb H, Mandrup-Poulsen T (2005) An immune origin of type 2 diabetes? Diabetologia 48:1038–1050

- 9. Shoelson SE, Lee J, Goldfine AB (2006) Inflammation and insulin resistance. J Clin Investig 116:1793–1801
- Kolb H, Mandrup-Poulsen T (2010) The global diabetes epidemic as a consequence of lifestyle-induced low-grade inflammation. Diabetologia 53:10–20
- King PT (2015) Inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and its role in cardiovascular disease and lung cancer. Clin Transl Med 4:26
- Demoruelle MK, Deane KD, Holers VM (2014) When and where does inflammation begin in rheumatoid arthritis? Curr Opin Rheumatol 26:64–71
- Stojkovska I, Wagner BM, Morrison BE (2015) Parkinson's disease and enhanced inflammatory response. Exp Biol Med 240:1387–1395
- Heneka MT et al (2015) Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol 14:388–405
- 15. Lebwohl M (2003) Psoriasis. Lancet 361:1197-1204
- Reich K (2012) The concept of psoriasis as a systemic inflammation: implications for disease management. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 26:3–11
- 17. Paulson VA, Valasek MA (2020) Study Guide for The Nature of Disease.
- Baumgart DC, Carding SR (2007) Inflammatory bowel disease: cause and immunobiology. Lancet 369:1627–1640
- Balkwill F, Mantovani A (2001) Inflammation and cancer: Back to Virchow? Lancet 357:539–545
- Colotta F, Allavena P, Sica A, Garlanda C, Mantovani A (2009) Cancer-related inflammation, the seventh hallmark of cancer: links to genetic instability. Carcinogenesis 30:1073–1081
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2000) The hallmarks of cancer review evolve progressively from normalcy via a series of pre. Cell 100:57–70
- Freeman HJ (2008) Colorectal cancer risk in Crohn's disease. World J Gastroenterol 14:1810–1811
- Thanan R et al (2016) DNA damage in CD133-positive cells in Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma. Mediat Inflamm 2016
- Palumbo E (2007) Association between schistosomiasis and cancer: a review. Infect Dis Clin Pract 15:145–148
- 25. Ma N et al (2004) Accumulation of 8-nitroguanine in human gastric epithelium induced by Helicobacter pylori infection. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 319:506–510
- Hiraku Y et al (2007) Nitrative and oxidative DNA damage in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia associated with human papilloma virus infection. Cancer Sci 98:964–972
- Murata M (2018) Inflammation and cancer. Environ Health Prev Med 23:50
- Lu H, Ouyang W, Huang C (2006) Inflammation, a key event in cancer development. Mol Cancer Res 4:221–233
- Rokavec M, Öner MG, Hermeking H (2016) Inflammationinduced epigenetic switches in cancer. Cell Mol Life Sci 73:23–39
- Pfeifer GP (2018) Defining driver DNA methylation changes in human cancer. Int J Mol Sci 19:1166
- Dubois RN (2014) Role of inflammation and inflammatory mediators in colorectal cancer. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc 125:358– 372.; discussion 372-3
- 32. Dmitrieva OS, Shilovskiy IP, Khaitov MR, Grivennikov SI (2016) Interleukins 1 and 6 as main mediators of inflammation and cancer. Biochemist 81:166–178
- Baghban R et al (2020) Tumor microenvironment complexity and therapeutic implications at a glance. Cell Commun Signal 18:1–19
- 34. Allavena P, Sica A, Garlanda C, Mantovani A (2008) The Yin-Yang of tumor-associated macrophages in neoplastic progression and immune surveillance. Immunol Rev 222:155–161
- Olingy CE, Dinh HQ, Hedrick CC (2019) Monocyte heterogeneity and functions in cancer. J Leukoc Biol 106:309–322

- Mantovani A, Balkwill F (2006) RalB signaling: a bridge between inflammation and cancer. Cell 127:42–44
- Obeid E, Nanda R, Fu YX, Olopade OI (2013) The role of tumorassociated macrophages in breast cancer progression (review). Int J Oncol 43:5–12
- Lee GR (2017) Phenotypic and functional properties of tumorinfiltrating regulatory T cells. Mediat Inflamm 2017:5458178
- Coffelt SB, Hughes R, Lewis CE (2009) Tumor-associated macrophages: effectors of angiogenesis and tumor progression. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta—Reviews on Cancer 1796:11–18
- Balkwill F, Charles KA, Mantovani A (2005) Smoldering and polarized inflammation in the initiation and promotion of malignant disease. Cancer Cell 7:211–217
- 41. Li W et al (2015) The association between expressions of Ras and CD68 in the angiogenesis of breast cancers. Cancer Cell Int 15:17
- Yao C, Narumiya S (2019) Prostaglandin-cytokine crosstalk in chronic inflammation. Br J Pharmacol 176:337–354
- 43. Gurpinar E, Grizzle WE, Piazza GA (2014) NSAIDs inhibit tumorigenesis, but how? Clin Cancer Res 20:1104–1113
- 44. Cryer B (2001) Mucosal defense and repair: role of prostaglandins in the stomach and duodenum. Gastroenterol Clin N Am 30:877–894
- Williams CS, DuBois RN (1996) Prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase: why two isoforms? Am J Physiol 270:G393–G400
- 46. Tomić M, Micov A, Pecikoza U, Stepanović-Petrović R (2017) Clinical uses of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and potential benefits of NSAIDs modified-release preparations. In: Microsized and nanosized carriers for nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: formulation challenges and potential benefits. Elsevier Inc., pp 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-804017-1.00001-7
- Liggett JL, Zhang X, Eling TE, Baek SJ (2014) Anti-tumor activity of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: cyclooxygenaseindependent targets. Cancer Lett 346:217–224
- He TC, Chan TA, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW (1999) PPARδ is an APC-regulated target of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Cell 99:335–345
- Kopp E, Ghosh S (1994) Inhibition of NF-κB by sodium salicylate and aspirin. Science (80–) 265:956–959
- Osafo N, Agyare C, Obiri D & Opoku AA (2017) Mechanism of Action of Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory World 's largest Science, Technology & Medicine Open Access book publisher. *INTECH* Chapter 2, 5–16
- Kaiser J (2012) Will an aspirin a day keep cancer away? Science (80-) 337:1471–1473
- Gwyn K, Sinicrope FA (2002) Chemoprevention of colorectal cancer. Am J Gastroenterol 97:13–21
- Marchetti M et al (2009) Sulindac enhances the killing of cancer cells exposed to oxidative stress. PLoS One 4:e5804
- Khuder SA, Mutgi AB (2001) Breast cancer and NSAID use: a meta-analysis. Br J Cancer 84:1188–1192
- Cramer DW et al (1998) Over-the-counter analgesics and risk of ovarian cancer. Lancet 351:104–107
- Muscat JE et al (2003) Risk of lung carcinoma among users of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs. Cancer 97:1732–1736
- McGovern AL, Hoffman SC, Helzlsouer KJ, Alberg AJ (2005) Aspirin use and risk of lung cancer. Int J Cancer Prev 2:195–203
- Rao KVN et al (1996) Differential activity of aspirin, ketoprofen and sulindac as cancer chemopreventive agents in the mouse urinary bladder. Carcinogenesis 17:1435–1438
- Smalley WE, DuBois RN (1997) Colorectal cancer and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Adv Pharmacol 39:1–20
- 60. Dempke W, Rie C, Grothey A, Schmoll HJ (2001) Cyclooxygenase-2: a novel target for cancer chemotherapy? J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 127:411–417

- 61. Jang TJ, Kang HJ, Kim JR, Yang CH (2004) Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug activated gene (NAG-1) expression is closely related to death receptor-4 and -5 induction, which may explain sulindac sulfide induced gastric cancer cell apoptosis. Carcinogenesis 25:1853–1858
- Cook J et al (1999) Decreased expression of the pro-apoptotic protein Par-4 in renal cell carcinoma. Oncogene 18:1205–1208
- Nagai (2010) Down-regulation of the candidate tumor suppressor gene PAR-4 is associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer. Int J Oncol 37:41
- Alvarez JV et al (2013) Par-4 downregulation promotes breast cancer recurrence by preventing multinucleation following targeted therapy. Cancer Cell 24:30–44
- 65. Moreno-Bueno G et al (2007) Inactivation of the candidate tumor suppressor Par-4 in endometrial cancer. Cancer Res 67:1927–1934
- 66. Kögel D et al (2001) DIk/ZIP kinase-induced apoptosis in human medulloblastoma cells: requirement of the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway. Br J Cancer 85:1801–1808
- Johnstone RW, Tommerup N, Hansen C, Vissing H, Shi Y (1998) Mapping of the human PAWR (par-4) gene to chromosome 12q21. Genomics 53:241–243
- Schneider BG et al (2003) Regions of allelic imbalance in the distal portion of chromosome 12q in gastric cancer. J Clin Pathol Mol Pathol 56:141–149
- 69. Kimura M et al (1998) Identification of two common regions of allelic loss in chromosome arm 12q in human pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res 58:2456
- Terwilliger T, Abdul-Hay M (2017) Acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a comprehensive review and 2017 update. Blood Cancer J 7:e577
- Austruy E et al (1995) Characterization of regions of chromosomes 12 and 16 involved in nephroblastoma tumorigenesis. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 14:285–294
- Goswami A et al (2005) Binding and phosphorylation of Par-4 by Akt is essential for cancer cell survival. Mol Cell 20:33–44
- Meynier S et al (2015) Role of PAR-4 in ovarian cancer. Oncotarget 6:22641–22652
- 74. Kukoc-Zivojnov N et al (2004) Prostate apoptosis response gene-4 (par-4) abrogates the survival function of p185BCR-ABL in hematopoietic cells. Exp Hematol 32:649–656
- García-Cao I et al (2005) Tumour-suppression activity of the proapoptotic regulator Par4. EMBO Rep 6:577–583
- Greene JT et al (2019) Par-4 overexpression impedes leukemogenesis in the Em-TCL1 leukemia model through downregulation of NF-kB signaling. Blood Adv 3:1255–1266
- Hebbar N, Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Rangnekar VM (2014) Cancerselective apoptosis by tumor suppressor Par-4. Adv Exp Med Biol 818:155–166
- Burikhanov R et al (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138:377–388
- 79. Zhang Z, DuBois RN (2000) Par-4, a proapoptotic gene, is regulated by NSAIDs in human colon carcinoma cells. Gastroenterology 118:1012–1017
- Thabet NA, El-Guendy N, Mohamed MM, Shouman SA (2019) Suppression of macrophages- induced inflammation via targeting RAS and PAR-4 signaling in breast cancer cell lines. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 385:114773
- Prior IA, Lewis PD, Mattos C (2012) A comprehensive survey of ras mutations in cancer. Cancer Res 72:2457–2467
- Malumbres M, Barbacid M (2003) RAS oncogenes: the first 30 years. Nat Rev Cancer 3:459–465
- Vojtek AB, Der CJ (1998) Increasing complexity of the Ras signaling pathway. J Biol Chem 273:19925–19928
- Moore AR, Rosenberg SC, McCormick F, Malek S (2020) RAStargeted therapies: is the undruggable drugged? Nat Rev Drug Discov 19:533–552

- Backlund MG, Mann JR, Wang D, DuBois RN (2006) Ras upregulation of Cyclooxygenase-2. Methods Enzymol 407:401–410
- Ancrile BB, O'Hayer KM, Counter CM (2008) Oncogenic rasinduced expression of cytokines: a new target of anti-cancer therapeutics. Mol Interv 8:22–27
- Johnson DS, Chen YH (2012) Ras family of small GTPases in immunity and inflammation. Curr Opin Pharmacol 12:458–463
- Hernández-Alcoceba R, Del Peso L, Lacal JC (2000) The Ras family of GTPases in cancer cell invasion. Cell Mol Life Sci 57:65–76
- Nalca A, Qiu SG, El-Guendy N, Krishnan S, Rangnekar VM (1999) Oncogenic Ras sensitizes cells to apoptosis by Par-4. J Biol Chem 274:29976–29983
- Barradas M, Monjas A, Diaz-Meco MT, Serrano M, Moscat J (1999) The downregulation of the pro-apoptotic protein Par-4 is critical for Ras-induced survival and tumor progression. EMBO J 18:6362–6369
- Qiu SG, Krishnan S, el-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (1999) Negative regulation of Par-4 by oncogenic Ras is essential for cellular transformation. Oncogene 18:7115–7123
- 92. Pruitt K et al (2005) Ras-mediated loss of the pro-apoptotic response protein Par-4 is mediated by DNA hypermethylation through Raf-independent and Raf-dependent signaling cascades in epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 280:23363–23370
- Ahmed MM et al (2008) Downregulation of PAR-4, a proapoptotic gene, in pancreatic tumors harboring K-ras mutation. Int J Cancer 122:63–70
- Gilmore TD (2006) Introduction to NF-kappaB: players, pathways, perspectives. Oncogene 25:6680–6684
- 95. Karin M, Cao Y, Greten FR, Li ZW (2002) NF-κB in cancer: from innocent bystander to major culprit. Nat Rev Cancer 2:301–310
- 96. Van Waes C (2007) Nuclear factor-κB in development, prevention, and therapy of cancer. Clin Cancer Res 13:1076–1082
- Gilmore T (2007) NF-kB target genes NF-kB transcription factors. Boston University
- Gilmore TD, Wolenski FS (2012) NF-κB: where did it come from and why? Immunol Rev 246:14–35
- Vincenti MP, Brinckerhoff CE (2002) Transcriptional regulation of collagenase (MMP-1, MMP-13) genes in arthritis: integration of complex signaling pathways for the recruitment of genespecific transcription factors. Arthritis Res 4:157–164
- 100. Eck SL, Perkins ND, Carr DP, Nabel GJ (1993) Inhibition of phorbol ester-induced cellular adhesion by competitive binding of NF-kappa B in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 13:6530–6536
- 101. Catley MC et al (2003) IL-1β-dependent activation of NF-κB mediates PGE2 release via the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 and microsomal prostaglandin E synthase. FEBS Lett 547:75–79
- 102. Hayden MS, West AP, Ghosh S (2006) NF- κB and the immune response. Oncogene 25:6758–6780
- 103. Karin M, Greten FR (2005) NF-κB: linking inflammation and immunity to cancer development and progression. Nat Rev Immunol 5:749–759
- 104. Stehlik BC et al (1998) Nuclear factor (NF)-kappaB-regulated X-chromosome-linked iap gene expression protects endothelial cells from tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis. J Exp Med 188:211–216
- 105. Chakraborty M, Qiu SG, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2001) Par-4 drives trafficking and activation of Fas and FasL to induce prostate cancer cell apoptosis and tumor regression. Cancer Res 61:7255–7263
- 106. El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23:5516–5525
- 107. Diaz-Meco MT, Lallena MJ, Monjas A, Frutos S, Moscat J (1999) Inactivation of the inhibitory κB protein kinase/nuclear factor κB pathway by Par-4 expression potentiates tumor necrosis factor α-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 274:19606–19612

- 108. Camandola S, Mattson MP (2000) Pro-apoptotic action of Par-4 involves inhibition of NF- κ B activity and suppression of Bcl-2 expression. J Neurosci Res 61:134–139
- 109. Chendil D, Das A, Dey S, Mohiuddin M, Ahmed MM (2002) Par-4, a pro-apoptotic gene, inhibits radiation-induced NFκB activity and Bcl-2 expression leading to induction of radiosensitivity in human prostate cancer cells PC-3. Cancer Biol Ther 1:152–160
- 110. D'Acquisto F, May MJ, Ghosh S (2002) Inhibition of nuclear factor kappa B (NF-B): an emerging theme in anti-inflammatory therapies. Mol Interv 2:22–35
- 111. Czabotar PE, Lessene G, Strasser A, Adams JM (2014) Control of apoptosis by the BCL-2 protein family: implications for physiology and therapy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15:49–63
- Campbell KJ, Tait SWG (2018) Targeting BCL-2 regulated apoptosis in cancer. Open Biol 8:180002
- 113. Frommel TO, Zarling EJ (1999) Chronic inflammation and cancer: potential role of Bcl-2 gene family members as regulators of cellular antioxidant status. Med Hypotheses 52:27–30
- 114. Yang C et al (2015) Increased drug resistance in breast cancer by tumor-associated macrophages through IL-10/STAT3/bcl-2 signaling pathway. Med Oncol 32:1–8
- 115. Qiu G et al (1999) Mutually exclusive expression patterns of Bcl-2 and Par-4 in human prostate tumors consistent with downregulation of Bcl-2 by Par-4. Oncogene 18:623–631
- 116. Boehrer S et al (2001) Deregulated expression of prostate apoptosis response gene-4 in less differentiated lymphocytes and inverse expressional patterns of par-4 and bcl-2 in acute lymphocytic leukemia. Hematol J 2:103–107
- 117. Boehrer S et al (2002) In lymphatic cells par-4 sensitizes to apoptosis by down-regulating Bcl-2 and promoting disruption of mitochondrial membrane potential and caspase activation. Cancer Res 62:1768–1775

- 118. Cheema SK et al (2003) Par-4 transcriptionally regulates bcl-2 through a WT1-binding site on the bcl-2 promoter. J Biol Chem 278:19995–20005
- 119. Chinnaiyan AM, O'Rourke K, Tewari M, Dixit VM (1995) FADD, a novel death domain-containing protein, interacts with the death domain of fas and initiates apoptosis. Cell 81:505–512
- 120. Nagata S (1997) Apoptosis by death factor. Cell 88:355-365
- 121. Matute-Bello G et al (1999) Soluble Fas ligand induces epithelial cell apoptosis in humans with acute lung injury (ARDS). J Immunol 163:2217
- 122. De Thonel A, Bettaïeb A, Jean C, Laurent G, Quillet-Mary A (2001) Role of protein kinase C ζ isoform in Fas resistance of immature myeloid KG1a leukemic cells. Blood 98:3770–3777
- 123. Fouqué A, Debure L, Legembre P (2014) The CD95/CD95L signaling pathway: a role in carcinogenesis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1846:130–141
- 124. Pan MR, Chang HC, Hung WC (2008) Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs suppress the ERK signaling pathway via block of Ras/c-Raf interaction and activation of MAP kinase phosphatases. Cell Signal 20:1134–1141
- 125. Gala M, Sun R, Yang VW (2002) Inhibition of cell transformation by sulindac sulfide is confined to specific oncogenic pathways. Cancer Lett 175:89–94
- 126. Singh J, Kelloff G, Reddy BS (1993) Intermediate biomarkers of colon cancer: modulation of expression of ras oncogene by chemopreventive agents during azoxymethane induced colon carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 14:699–704
- 127. Husain SS et al (2001) MAPK (ERK2) kinase a key target for NSAIDs-induced inhibition of gastric cancer cell proliferation and growth. Life Sci 69:3045–3054. (Pergamon
- El-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (2003) Apoptosis by Par-4 in cancer and neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Cell Res 283:51–66

Par-4 in Chemoresistant Ovarian and Endometrial Cancers

François Fabi, Pascal Adam, and Eric Asselin

1

Abstract

Ovarian cancer is the most lethal gynecological cancer; on the other hand, endometrial cancer is the most prevalent, with exceedingly poor prognostic when found to be recurring. In both cases, robust resistance to chemotherapeutic compounds, may they be genotoxic in nature or specifically targeting dysregulated pathways, drastically reduce our ability to treat these diseases. In order to overcome the chemoresistant nature of these neoplastic entities, novel therapeutic avenues must be explored. In that context, Par-4, a pro-apoptotic protein that has been reported to selectively induce cell suicide in cancer cells, appears to be of particular interest. This review aims to objectively assemble the available evidence, which predominantly emanates from non-gynecological tissues, and underline the convergent findings of past investigations, highlight divergences, and help direct future research endeavors. Considering that both of these tumors are characterized by prevalent mutations in the PI3K/Akt/PTEN axis as well as alterations in p53, our work provides a sharp focus on the regulatory role of these molecular pathways on Par-4 function. We hope this chapter will allow the potent abilities of Par-4 to be fully leveraged in these tissular contexts and augment the available armamentarium, so that we may eventually improve the prognostic of women afflicted with these diseases.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Par-4 \cdot Chemoresistant \ tumors \cdot Ovarian \ cancer \cdot \\ Endometrial \ cancer \cdot \ Pathogenesis \cdot \ Molecular \ mechanisms \cdot \ Gynecological \ tissues \cdot \ PI3K/Akt/mTOR \ axis \cdot \\ NF-kappaB \cdot p53 \cdot \ Autophagy \end{array}$

Department of Medical Biology, Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières, Trois-Rivières, QC, Canada e-mail: francois.fabi@uqtr.ca; pascal.adam@uqtr.ca; eric.asselin@uqtr.ca

Introduction

1.1 Pathogenesis and Molecular Mechanisms of Chemoresistance

One of the main causes of treatment failure in the context of cancer therapeutics, and implicitly the main driver of mortality, is the ability of tumors to resist to the various pharmacological and biological tools we have at our disposal. The capacity of these transformed cells to withstand chemotherapeutic assaults is the main determinant of chemoresistance; however, the underlying mechanisms resulting in the emergence of such characteristics among a cell population are multifaceted and their plurality is one of the most potent hurdles in our ability to improve patient's prognostic, especially in gynecological cancers. Indeed, ovarian cancer (OC) and recurrent endometrial cancer (EC) present with exceedingly unfavorable outcomes mainly due to late-stage disease discovery, which is consistently associated with intratumoral heterogeneity and robust resistance to chemotherapeutic agents, both in the context of adjuvant or neoadjuvant to cytoreductive therapy.

Multiple aspects of intrinsic cellular homeostatic components can be disrupted by the oncogenic progression, which will impart a varied number of features enabling proliferation, dissemination, and resistance. Through mutation in key regulatory pathways, which we will explore in more details below, cells will acquire hallmarks of cancer, which will allow the neoplastic entity to become highly genetically unstable as well as disjoined itself from signaling constraints that should regulate its proliferative program. This gives rise to cells that can acquire a massive mutational burden through successive round of replication and selection. Such events will often result in an initial remission of tumors following cytoreductive therapy and adjuvant chemotherapy, which will be followed by a re-emergence of resistant, occult metastases, a process reminiscent of bacterial selection in the context of antibiotic use. Additionally, the genomic instability that is a hallmark of many of these tumors, and which



F. Fabi · P. Adam · E. Asselin (🖂)

induces the development of highly heterogeneous primary tumors, makes the selection of an effective chemotherapeutic regimen all the more challenging. Various cells will exhibit diverse levels of sensitivity, which will only increase the likelihood of resistant subpopulations' appearance. As previously stated, while eminently complex and varied, cancer can be primarily construed as a disease of dysregulated proliferation and survival that is frequently driven by failure of the genomic integrity-maintenance apparatus. Multiple pathways can lead to such outcomes, many of which are directly associated with cell death and proliferation. At the epicenter of those dysregulations is the apoptotic machinery, which is often compromised, either intrinsically or through inhibition of some of its crucial signaletic components. This deeply imbedded, cardinal cell suicide program, can be activated either through intrinsic mechanisms or provoked by the action of extrinsic effectors; as such, apoptosis is generally thought as the primary bulwark against neoplastic transformation, enabling cell death in response to genotoxic stressors, immunological inducers or simply cessation of pro-proliferative or survival signaling. Consequently, and considering Par-4 primarily suggested function as an intrinsic regulator of the apoptotic programming, a significant portion of this chapter will focus on the dynamic and integrative molecular control of this cellular process of central importance in chemosensitivity.

1.2 Par-4 in Gynecological Tissues

Par-4 has been proposed as a pivotal inducer of cell suicide, through a multiplicity of pathways that will be expounded on throughout this chapter. While Par-4 role in EC and OC hasn't been as well described as other tissular contexts, initial reports showing Par-4 ability to induce apoptotic cell death in hormone-independent models arouse interest regarding the protein's role in gynecological tissues. Mice supplemented with estrogen have been shown to display reduced Par-4 levels in the uterus, suggesting a negative regulatory loop enacted by steroid hormones in that tissue [1]. Estradiol has also been shown to negatively regulate Par-4 mRNA in breast cancer cell lines [2, 3]. We have also recently demonstrated, using ChIP-seq assay, that ERa directly binds to PAWR promoter, reducing Par-4 mRNA transcription [4]. The exact role of hormone receptors and their associated pathways in regard to Par-4 remain, however, ill-defined. Nevertheless, in a variety of models, low levels of Par-4 have been associated to poor prognostic, with tumors presenting decreased or absent Par-4 being generally more resistant to therapies as well as displaying increased aggressiveness [5-10]. More specifically, the first report underlining the role of Par-4 in the endometrium arose following the demonstration that 80% of Par-4 knockout mice developed endometrial

hyperplasia; even more interestingly, the same study reported that 36% of these mice would go on to present endometrial adenocarcinomas within their first year of life [1]. These intriguing data highlighted the role of Par-4 in endometrial tumorigenesis and correlated the loss of Par-4 with increased level of XIAP, a well-characterized driver of chemoresistance. Some reports have also highlighted a pro-apoptotic, chemosensitizing activity of Par-4 in OC [11]; however, very little data is available at the present time. Par-4 mRNA is widely expressed throughout gynecological tissues, is seldomly mutated in all cancer types, an observation that holds true in OC and EC (Fig. 1). As will be expounded further in this chapter, Par-4 appears to be functionally silenced rather than mutated, allowing us to think it could be effectively instrumentalized in these tumors.

Altogether, we are allowed to believe that Par-4 could act in these tissues in a similar fashion as other reported models, suggesting that Par-4 regulation could be instrumentalized in order to overcome chemoresistance through reinstatement of apoptotic programming. The present chapter will thus mainly focus on the regulatory pathways impeding, or stimulating, programmed cell death, and the intricate position Par-4 occupy within these networks. We will also make a brief forav into the role of autophagy in chemoresistance considering the emerging and dualistic role of this process in cancer, and the involvement of Par-4 in its regulation. However, it appears necessary to first describe these diseases more fully so that their clinical, histological, molecular, and therapeutic specificities can be used to contextualize the molecular mechanisms that will be expounded on later; we also hope this overview will also help direct future work aimed at instrumentalizing Par-4 to reverse chemoresistance in these neoplastic entities.

2 Ovarian Cancer

2.1 Statistics

Ovarian cancer (OC) is a complex disease that presents challenging problems mainly caused by late diagnosis, tumoral heterogeneity, and widespread chemoresistance. Annually, it was estimated in 2018 that 295,414 new cases of OC would be diagnosed worldwide with 184,799 related deaths [12]. In the USA alone, OC ranks 11th in new cases, fifth in related deaths for female cancer and was estimated to read 21,750 cases and 13,940 deaths in 2020 [13]. Despite a reduction of 29% in overall cancer deaths in the last 30 years, OC prognostic has nearly stayed the same, remaining the most fatal gynecologic cancer. Indeed, based on the NIH statistics, the 5-year relative survival rate is at an average of 48.6% but is highly variable depending on the cancer stage at diagnosis; however, almost 60% of the patients are initially diagnosed





Fig. 1 Salient information regarding Par-4 gene (PAWR) expression and mutations. (a) Data taken from https://www.proteinatlas.org/ ENSG00000177425-PAWR/tissue showing PAWR mRNA expression profiles across human tissues (b) Overall alteration profile of PAWR. Data extracted from TCGA using the curated set of nonredundant studies and excluding all cancer type presenting less than 0.5% alteration rate. Represents 45,142 patients in 47,571 samples, from 181 studies. (c) PAWR alteration profile in ovarian and endometrial cancers. Graphical representation of Par-4 alterations in endome-

trial and ovarian cancers. Data extracted from all available non-overlapping uterine cancer datasets (which include the following studies: MSK, 2018; TCGA PanCancer Atlas; John Hopkins, Nat Commun 2014; NIH, Cancer 2017; MSK, Clin Cancer Res 2020) and ovarian cancer datasets (which include the following studies: MSKCC, Nat Genetics 2014; TCGA, Nature 2011; TCGA PanCancer Atlas). Graphs **b** and **c** were produced using cBioPortal.org interface and use the same coloring legend, as found in **b**

with distant metastasis, with an associated survival of 30.2% [14]. The lack of symptoms at early stages of the disease combined with inadequate screening tools delays detection and explains the extensive dissemination often observed at diagnosis. Incidentally, metastatic and recurrent diseases are associated with widespread, robust resistance to classic chemotherapeutic compounds, owing to various molecular alterations, intratumoral heterogeneity and resistant subpopulations [15, 16].

2.2 Histological, Morphological Subtyping, and Pathogenesis

Morphologically, OC is classified into two broad categories: epithelial OC (surface epithelial-stromal) and non-epithelial OC, which comprise sex cord-stroma and germ cells. Surface epithelial-stromal type accounts for approximately 60% of all OC followed by germ cells (25%) and sex cord-stromal (10%). Each type can be further subdivided into different histotypes, then classified as benign, borderline, or malignant tumor. Surface epithelial-stromal constitutes 90% of malignant ovarian lesions [17] and can be further subdivided in five main different histologic subtypes: high-grade serous (HGSOC)(71%), which will be the focus of this chapter, low-grade serous (LGSOC)(4%), endometrioid (8%), clear-cell (10%), and mucinous (3%) [18, 19]. Table 1 highlights the cellular origin, as well as the salient molecular characteristics, of each OC subtypes.

In 2004, a new model based on morphological and molecular genetic was proposed where epithelial carcinomas were divided into two groups designated type I and type II tumors [20]. Type I tumors include LGSOC, endometrioid, clearcell, and mucinous which are associated with low proliferation, low-grade neoplasms, chromosomal stability and arise from a borderline tumor in a stepwise manner. Type II tumors include HGSOC, carcinosarcoma, and undifferentiated carcinoma. They are characterized by rapid evolution, early metastasis, high-grade neoplasms, chromosomal instability, and uncertain precursor lesions. However, the typical model somewhat lacks granularity have been challenged [21–23]. Indeed, the five major OC subtypes could be considered dis-

Histologic subtype	HGSOC	LGSOC	Endometrioid	Clear cell	Mucinous
Epithelial OC %	71%	4%	8%	10%	3%
Tissue origin	Fallopian tube	Fallopian tube	Atypical endometriosis	Atypical endometriosis	Unknown
Precursor lesion	STIC	Fallopian epithelial cells Borderline tumor	Borderline tumor	Borderline tumor	Cystadenoma Borderline tumor
Mutation profile	TP53	BRAF	PTEN	ARIDIA	KRAS
	BRCA1/2	KRAS	CTNNBI	PI3KCA	
	NFI	ERBB2	PI3KCA	PTEN	
	CDK12		ARIDIA	CTNNBI	
			PPP2RIA	PPP2RIA	
Characteristics	Chromosomal instability PI3K/Ras, Rb, Notch, FoxM1 alterations		MMR deficiency	ERBB2 amplification	ERBB2 amplification
Prognosis	Poor	Intermediate	Favorable	Intermediate	Favorable
Chemosensitivity	High low at recurrence	Intermediate	High	Low	Low
General information used to	the second se	: nercentages were obtained from F	Prat. 2012 review [182]. tissu	ilar origins were obtained fr	rom Kurman et al., 2010 review

	_
•	classification
,	molecular
	nistologic and
	Ovarian cancer l
:	Table 1

1 General information used to elaborate this table was extracted from [181]; percentages were obtained from Prat, 2012 review [182], tissular origins [183]. Finally, molecular profiles were identified using Jayson et al., 2014 review [184] and the TCGA genomic analyses effort of 2011 [35] tinct diseases since they are associated with vastly different pathogenesis, molecular abnormalities, response to chemo-therapy, and prognosis [24].

OC pathogenesis has been an actively debated topic in the scientific community. Initially, it was believed that OC arose from the ovarian surface epithelium, with the surface epithelium, ruptured following ovulation, would invaginate during the repair process and form cortical inclusion cysts [25, 26]. However, data suggested that women presenting genetic predisposition to OC had increased tubal dysplasia and an associated heightened tubal cancer risk [27]. Further investigations also demonstrated that 70% of sporadic HGSOC patients presented serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma (STIC) with similar molecular alterations [28]; compelling molecular evidence have since shown that invading cells from STIC lesion act as precursors to HGSOC [29, 30], with most surface epithelial-stromal carcinoma subtypes sharing this external origin [21]. Alternatively, molecular evidence have also shown that endometriosis and adjacent endometrioid OC share a common lineage, underlining the profound pathophysiological difference between serous and nonserous OC [31, 32]. Altogether, it appears clear that the pathogenesis of most surface epithelial-stromal OC originate from outside the ovary and where the ovary is involved secondarily. Unsurprisingly, the divergent tissular origins and the distinct pathogenesis of each subtype are associated with discrete molecular signatures, which will be discussed in the next section.

2.3 Molecular Subtyping

With the advancement of molecular genetic analysis (omics), characterization and better classification of different subtypes have improved our understanding of the molecular abnormalities found in epithelial OC. First and foremost, type I tumors present gene mutations in BRAF, KRAS, PTEN, and ARID1A while type II tumors are associated with TP53, BRCA1, and/or BRCA2 gene abnormalities [20]. HGSOC is prototypically characterized by mutations in TP53, present in 96% of cases [33], as well as BRCA1/2, found in 33% of cases [34, 35]. A molecular pathogenetic model, in which p53 loss is considered as the initiation event which is then followed by BRCA1/2 loss and subsequent chromosomal instability, has been suggested for HGSOC [36]. Interestingly, BRCA1 germline mutation was shown to lead to decreased PTEN mRNA levels whereas epigenetic silencing leads to an increased copy-number of PIK3CA [37]. Additionally, in 2011, The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) analyzed 489 HGSOC tumors to evaluate mRNA and miRNA expression, promoter methylation, and

DNA copy-number [35]. The study confirmed the importance of *TP53* and *BRCA1/2* genes and shed light on other involved pathways such as FOXM1(87%), Rb(67%), RAS/ PI3K(45%), and also NOTCH(22%). Finally, a recent large-scale study that aimed to use gene expression to predict response to platinum-based chemotherapy showed that alteration of the homologous repair system and promotion of EMT were central to OC ability to resist chemotherapy [38]. Table 1 summarizes the various molecular abnormalities that characterize each OC histological subtypes; these alterations are the bedrock upon which rest the tumoral cell's ability to resist therapies.

2.4 Current Therapeutic Strategies

Standard treatment strategy for OC has remained generally similar in the last 20 years, with recent improvements in the sphere of maintenance therapy. The archetypal protocol relies mainly on surgical debulking, also called cytoreductive surgery [39]. This is then followed by platinum-taxanebased chemotherapy in order to eliminate the remaining mass in cases of advanced OC [40]. After surgery, chemotherapy will begin using carboplatin (cisplatin replacement [41]) and paclitaxel doublet administered every 3 weeks although dosage, choice of platinum and/or taxane, schedule, and mode of administration have been the subject of debate [42]. This regiment presents a high response rate of 60 to 75%, but many women will experience disease recurrence displaying chemoresistant lesions, with advanced OC exhibiting 5-year relative survival rate of 30.2% [43]. Table 1 summarizes chemosensitivity profiles in the context of OC subtypes.

Different mechanisms can lead to OC chemoresistance including efflux pumps, altered DNA repair mechanisms such as homologous recombination, nucleotide excision and mismatch repair, and signaling pathways deregulations [4]. To interact with these alterations and overcome chemoresistance, targeted molecular therapies were developed and investigated. To date, two have been integrated to the treatment strategy as maintenance therapy; bevacizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody against vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors [44-47]. Other agents, targeting p53, PI3K/Akt, mTOR, and estrogen signaling, are being tested in clinical trials either as single agents or in the context of combination treatments [4]. Unfortunately, as of now, no targeted inhibitor that has undergone clinical trials displayed satisfying response rates against chemoresistant tumors when used as monotherapy or in combination with current therapeutic strategies.

3 Endometrial Cancer

3.1 Statistics

Endometrial cancer (EC) incidence varies among different regions of the world, with the highest incidence found in North America and Europe. Worldwide, EC is the sixth most common female malignant disorder with 382,069 cases estimated in 2018 and 89,929 related deaths [48]. In the USA, EC ranks fourth in female cancers incidence with 65,620 cases and 12,590 deaths making it the most common gynecologic malignancy [13]. This variation throughout regions is due to the fact that obesity and conditions associated with metabolic syndrome such as diabetes are risk factors for EC [49, 50]. As obesity is rising in the USA, the incidence of EC is increasing, as 57% of all cases were attributable to obesity in 2004 [51]. EC has a fairly good prognosis, 67% of tumors diagnosed at a localized stage, which is associated with a 5-year relative survival of 81.2%. Unfortunately, 9% of patients are diagnosed with metastasized cancer which has a poorer prognosis, with a 5-year survival rate of 17% [52]. Furthermore, 10-15% of patients will experience recurrence after initial surgery, an event associated with poor survival outcome [53, 54].

3.2 Histological, Morphological Subtyping, and Pathogenesis

Histologically, EC begins in the endometrium, mainly from the inner single layer of epithelial cells from the uterus (carcinoma). Cancer cells emanating from the stroma, known as sarcoma, are possible although rare. Depending on the degree of invasion and metastasis, tumors will be staged from I to IV based on the FIGO classification [55]. There are three distinct but overlapping ways to categorize EC based on their histomorphology, pathogenetic, or molecular profile. The World Health Organization (WHO) developed a classification in 2014 using the morphological characteristic of the tumors [56]. The four main histotypes are endometrioid carcinoma (85%), followed by serous carcinoma (3–10%), clear-cell carcinoma (2–3%), and carcinosarcoma (<2%) [57]. Other subtypes include mucinous, neuroendocrine, mixed, undifferentiated, and dedifferentiated carcinomas, but will not be discussed in this section of the present chapter. Table 2 summarizes the various histological and molecular characteristics of each subtype.

Another categorization used for EC was established around the pathogenesis of the disease and proposed by Bokhman in 1983 which separates endometrial carcinomas into two groups defined as type I (80–90%) and type II (10–20%) [58]. The prototypical type I tumor histotype is the

endometrioid carcinoma whereas type II is the serous carcinoma, but also includes clear-cell [57]. Type I tumors are linked to obesity, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes and is predominantly estrogen-driven, generally because of estrogenproducing tumors, endogenous estrogen from adipose tissue, or estrogen hormone replacement therapy [59]. Usually, at the moment of diagnosis, patients are peri- or postmenopausal, presenting carcinomas of low stage, with high expression of estrogen and progesterone receptors; this portrait ultimately coalesce into a favorable prognosis [59]. However, high-grade endometrioid carcinomas have a poor prognosis. On the other hand, type II tumors are not typically related to estrogens and are considered hormonally independent, with low expression of estrogen and progesterone receptors. Patients also present low serum estrogens level, which is reflected by an atrophic uterus and inactive endometrium [59]. This type of carcinoma, which is responsible for 47%of EC-associated death [52], is diagnosed in older, postmenopausal women with invasive, high-grade tumors, which leads to poor prognosis [60].

3.3 Molecular Subtyping

Briefly, endometrioid carcinomas are characterized by alterations in the PI3K/PTEN/Akt pathway, KRAS, CTNNB1, and ARID1A gene mutations [61], with molecular aberration in the PI3K/PTEN/Akt pathway occur in 80-95% of endometrioid carcinomas [62]. PTEN gene mutation, which occurs at a frequency of 67-90%, is considered as an early event in the pathogenesis of endometrioid carcinoma, and is found in endometrial hyperplasia [63, 64]. Furthermore, somatic mutations in PI3KCA and PIK3RI genes often co-occur with PTEN which emphasize the importance of the pathway as a tumorigenesis driver [62, 65]. Regarding serous endometrial carcinomas, studies have shown somatic mutations in TP53, PPP2R1A, FBXW7, and PI3KCA with amplification of ERBB2, MYC and CCNE1 [61, 66]. The most prominent mutation occurs in the TP53 gene with a 85% frequency [67], an event which is also considered pathogenetic for this subtype [68]. Interestingly, 50% of high-grade endometrioid carcinomas have TP53 mutation, a rare occurrence at low grade, and could potentially explain their poorer prognosis [**67**].

Although used clinically for decades, Bokhman's binary classification is now being challenged by high-throughput molecular data and large epidemiologic studies, which revealed the molecular diversity found within each histotypes [69]. In 2013, The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) analyzed 373 endometrioid and serous endometrial carcinomas leading to the description of four distinct molecular subgroups [70]: *POLE* ultra-mutated, micro-

		Grade 3		
Histologic subtype	Endometrioid	endometrioid	Serous carcinoma	Clear-cell
% of EC	85%	Unspecified	3-10%	2-3%
Bokhman's	Type I	Type II	Type II	Type II
classification				
Precursor lesion	Atypical endometrial hyperplasia (AEH)		Serous endometrial intraepithelial carcinoma (SEIC)	Unknown
	Endometrioid intraepithelial neoplasia (EIN)			
Mutation profile	PTEN	TP53	TP53	TP53
	PIK3CA/PIK3R1	PTEN	PPP2R1A	PIK3CA/PIK3R1
	KRAS	PIK3CA/PIK3R1	FBXW7	PPP2R1A
	CTNNB1	KRAS	РІЗКСА	KRAS
	ARID1A	CTNNB1	PTEN	ARID1A
	POLE	ARID1A	ERBB2 (amplification)	<i>CCNE1</i> (amplification)
		POLE	CCNE1 (amplification)	<i>ERBB2</i> (amplification)
Characteristics	Usually hormone sensitive		Usually hormone insensitive	Usually hormone
	MSI/MMR alterations			insensitive
Prognosis	Good	Poor	Poor	Intermediate
TCGA classification	CN-low (60%)	MSI (54.3%)	CN-high (100%)	Unknown
	MSI (28.6%)	CN-high (19.6%)		
	POLE (6.4%)	POLE (17.4%)		
	CN-high (5%)	CN-low (8.7%)		

 Table 2
 Endometrial cancer histologic and molecular classification

Data used to elaborate this table was extracted and interpreted from Daphne et al., 2019 review [185]

satellite instability (MSI) hypermutated, copy-number low, and copy-number high. Those subgroups were based on consideration of somatic mutation rates, microsatellite instability (MSI) status, and somatic copy-number alterations (SNCA). POLE ultra-mutated has a high mutation rate with somatic mutation in the exonuclease domain of POLE whereas MSI hypermutated has high mutation rate, MSI, and frequent MLH1 promoter hypermethylation. Copy-number low and high subgroups both present low mutation rate and copy-number alterations, with oncogenes MYC, ERBB2, and CCNE1 being often amplified. A summary of the histotype's distribution within the TCGA molecular classification can be found in Table 2. Interestingly, while almost all serous endometrial carcinomas are classified in the copy-number high subgroup, endometrioid carcinomas are present in all four subgroups. Low-grade endometrioid carcinomas are mostly in copy-number low (60%) while high-grade endometrioid carcinomas are in MSI (54.3%) [61]. Considering that endometrioid and serous histotypes does not share the same therapeutic strategy, this new molecular classification could have relevant clinical application in the future.

3.4 Current Therapeutic Strategies

Optimal treatment strategy for EC is still the subject of deliberation. Total hysterectomy with bilateral salpingooophorectomy is the preferred surgery for women with stage I endometrial carcinomas and low risk of recurrence, in which case surgery alone is often sufficient [60]. However, in cases harboring high risk for recurrence, combination with adjuvant radiotherapy or chemotherapy is necessary [71]. Radiation therapy has been found effective for local control but has been reported to offer no benefit to overall survival (OS) [72]. Regarding chemotherapy, the use of doxorubicin and cisplatin improves OS in advanced-stage disease but not in high risk, early-stage patients [73]. Trials have also suggested that the addition of chemotherapy to adjuvant radiotherapy did not benefit patients with low stage cancer and high risk of recurrence, but only those presenting with advanced EC [74-76]. In case of persistent recurrence, first- and second-line chemotherapy regimen, which are comprised of platinum and taxane, with limited effectiveness regardless of platinum-sensitivity [77]. Alternatively, considering the lack of effective treatment options for systemic recurrence and its associated poor prognosis, studies exploring the effectiveness of targeted therapeutic strategies are underway for various canonically altered pathways such as HER2, p53, PI3K/Akt, PTEN, and RAS [71].

While some monotherapies show encouraging but not satisfying response rate [78-80], other combination therapies seem promising such as everolimus and letrozole [81] or the combination of trastuzumab with paclitaxel-carboplatin in HER2+ serous endometrial carcinomas [82]. Recently, using the TCGA classification, personalized targeted therapies selected on the basis of tumor's molecular subgrouping were used to treat recurrent EC, an effort that was met with a clinical benefit rate of 62.5% [83]. The routine use of molecular fingerprinting and the integration of the TCGA molecular classification show great potential for the development of targeted therapies. In order to facilitate this, ProMisE, a pragmatic molecular classification tool, was developed to facilitate the categorization of tumors based on TCGA classification system [84]; this research methodology should be considered by investigators in order to better dissect the molecular mechanisms responsible for treatment failure in these tumors.

4 Molecular Pathways Responsible for Chemoresistance in Ovarian and Endometrial Cancers and the Place of Par-4 in those Signaling Networks

4.1 The PI3K/Akt/mTOR Axis

PI3K/Akt has been shown to be a potent inducer of multidrug resistance and is widely considered as one of the most eminent nexus of cell fate decisions [85, 86]. Mutations or overactivation of this pathway is almost sine qua non of chemoresistance development within neoplastic ovarian and endometrial tissues; it is also well accepted that cancer cells can respond to chemotherapeutic insults by increasing the PI3K/Akt activity [87-92]. Briefly, PI3K phosphorylates PIP2 to PIP3, which allows the docking of Akt and PDK1 to the plasma membrane. PDK1 will subsequently phosphorylate Akt on thr308 and complete activation of Akt will be achieved upon phosphorylation of its ser473 by mTORC2. Akt will then phosphorylate its multiple downstream targets, which are almost inescapably involved in the balance of proliferative and apoptotic stimuli and have been associated with chemoresistance, such as TSC1/2, NF- κ B, GSK3- β , BAD, and potentially Par-4 [85, 90, 93]. Akt, through TSC1/2 and PRAS40 phosphorylation, also regulates mTORC1 activity, which operate as the cellular linchpin of protein synthesis, growth signaling and metabolic decision-making. On the other hand, PTEN acts as the main antagonist to this signaling cascade through his phosphatase activity which dephosphorylates PIP3 to PIP2, abrogating PI3K stimulation of its downstream effectors. A more complete, in-depth review of these intricate and complex regulatory events can be found in Manning and Toker 2017 review [86]. It should also be noted that Akt presents three isoforms that display structural homology but also distinct cellular functions; while pivotal to Akt role, this will not be discussed in the chapter (see Reproduction 2014 for a review [94]).

In addition to cellular survival and proliferation, Akt is also involved in cell motility and systemic dissemination. While not directly responsible for resistance to chemotherapeutic compounds, metastatic relocalization is a fundamental driver of treatment failure and thus chemoresistance. Even though most patients diagnosed with disseminated OC will present metastasis in the peritoneal cavity, with a clear predilection for the omentum as the primary target for novel tumor foci, it has been suggested that OC is also capable of hematogenous spread [95]. Interestingly, a research team used a parabiosis model that unveiled the ability of OC cell to localize to the omentum and establish distant metastasis solely through systemic circulation [96]. The team also showed that ErbB3, an EGFR-family receptor which signals through PI3K, was hyperphosphorylated following NRG1 stimulation. This culminated in the overactivation of Akt, which was correlated to the expression of canonical EMT markers and accompanied by changes in cell polarity; these results suggest that, in that context, the PI3K/Akt axis could potentially act as the main inducer of cell motility, EMT phenotype instigator, and hematogenous dissemination vector. Strikingly, it has been shown that Par-4 is partly responsible for the ability of TGF- β to promote EMT in endometrial and cervical cancer cell lines [97]. Additionally, it has been shown that ErbB3 expression, widespread in OC, is a potent mediator of chemoresistance [98-100] and that inhibition of the ErbB3/PI3K/Akt axis sensitized OC cells to doxorubicinmediated induction of apoptosis [101]. Very interestingly, adipocytes, which are a dominant cell type in the microenvironment of the omentum, have been shown to be potent inducers of chemoresistance through the secretion of arachidonic acid, which results in the activation of Akt and resistance to cisplatin, doxorubicin, and taxol [102].

One of the most compelling and straightforward role of Akt in chemoresistance in regard to Par-4 dynamic is that of its ability to phosphorylate Par-4 on ser249 in the rat, which induces its interaction with 14-3-3 [93]. This posttranslational modification could, potentially, limit the ability of Par-4 to enter the nucleus, which would in turn hinders its apoptosis-inducing function; however, the presence and role of similar regulation mechanisms in human tissues remains to be fully investigated. Considering the overactivity of PI3K/Akt/PTEN axis in cancers, either through signaletic dysregulations or direct mutations of the pathway's components, it appears plausible that this signaling network could abrogate the ability of Par-4 to enter the nuclei; manipulation of these regulatory pathways would be an interesting direction for future investigations to take, in order to clarify the robustness of a PI3K/Akt/Par-4 axis of chemoresistance.

This posited axis is also reminiscent of the PKA/Par-4 proposed relationship, in which PKA, through its suggested enhanced activity in cancer cells, would phosphorylate Par-4 on threonine 163, which would enhance its pro-apoptotic effect once nuclear entry was completed [103]. However, the authors also underlined that Par-4 nuclear localization did not seem to depend on PKA-dependent phosphorylation of Par-4 but that the post-translational modification was necessary for successful apoptosis induction following nuclear localization. Interestingly, this effect was specific for the selected cancer cells used in the course of the experiments, an effect surmised to be dependent upon elevated levels of PKA activity. We believe that the regulated compartmentalization of Par-4 is central to its effect and the role of this dynamic nuclear translocalization will be further discussed in the following sections.

4.2 NF-kB

Nuclear factor kappa beta (NF- κ B) is a family of five DNAbinding proteins (p50(NF-kB1), p52(NF-kB2), p65(RelA), RelB, and c-Rel) acting as transcription factors that act as a central stress-response mechanism, capable of regulating a multiplicity of immunogenic pathways as well as prosurvival functions, anti-apoptotic mechanisms and enhancers of cell motility, among others [104]. Briefly, NF- κ B is normally sequestered in the cytoplasm by the inhibitor of NF-kB (IkB) in an inactive form, incapable of localizing to the nuclei in order to exert its expressional regulation. Phosphorylation of IkB by IkB kinase (IKK), a complex constituted of two catalytic subunits IKK- α , IKK- β , and a regulatory subunit IKK-γ, relieves NF-κB from this sequestered state and will reveal its nuclear localization signal (NLS) motif. IkB phosphorylation will induce its proteasomal degradation [105] and will allow the nuclear importation of either NF-kB hetero or homodimers, canonically RelA and p50 [106], followed by subsequent DNA binding and transcription of various target genes. Various stimuli have been described as activating IKK, with the canonical pathway being through the activation of Toll-like receptors (TLR) which culminates in the activation of immune-mediated host defense against a pathogen. It should be noted that the role of NF-kB in carcinogenesis and therapy resistance is, while uncontested [104, 107], still under intense scrutiny. Crosstalk with a variety of oncogenic pathways have been investigated [108], with evidence showing the involvement proteins such as EGFR [109], p53 [110, 111], and the PI3K/Akt/mTOR axis [112–114]; in the latter case, the possibility of a direct activation of the NF-kB pathway by PI3K/Akt has been underlined [115, 116]. Activation of the NF-kB pathway has been strongly associated with chemoresistance in a variety of cancer types [85, 117–120], especially in regard to resistance

One of the main manners by which Par-4 has been thought to act as a pro-apoptotic stimuli is by antagonizing the NFκB pathway, which in turn could potentially reduce Bcl-2 expression, either through WT1 or atypical PKC [8, 123, 124]. However, an alternative inhibitory mechanism involving direct binding of Par-4 to a WT1 consensus site on Bcl-2 promoter has been put forward in endometrial cell lines [125]. On the other hand, reports from other investigators suggested that NF-kB could potentially act as an inducer of Par-4 expression in endometrial adenocarcinomas [126] and HeLa cells [97], again underlining how complex is the regulatory network surrounding Par-4. It should be noted that this article also highlighted an inverse relationship between pAkt and Par-4 levels, a negative feedback loop that we will discuss in the following sections of the chapter. Overall, we believe that further investigations are required to fully dissect the relationship between Par-4 and NF-KB in order to determine their impact on the emergence of chemoresistance in OC and EC. Alternatively, pro-apoptotic roles of NF-KB have also been described [127], such as its capacity to induce the expression death receptor protein 4 and 5 (DR4/5) promoters [128]. The same article also showed the parallel ability to upregulate Bcl-xL expression, showcasing the dualistic nature of NF-kB effect on cells, which could be explained partially by the intricate interplay of its diverse subunits, their dimerization dynamic and the resultant induced gene expression. The interplay between Par-4 and this sophisticated functionality spectrum is still unknown.

4.3 p53

Classic chemotherapeutic compounds such as cisplatin and doxorubicin exert their cytocidal activity through DNA damage and genotoxic stress. p53 acts as the sensing organ of this type of damage and is the most comprehensively described tumor suppressor to date. Canonically, p53 acts as a central node of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway [129] and is considered to be one of the most profound determinant of chemoresistance [130, 131]. Its role, function, and regulation mechanisms will not be expounded on considering the vast amount of literature that have abundantly described p53 central place in cellular homeostasis.

Interestingly, the induction of secreted Par-4, in the context of chloroquine (CQ) use, appears to be dependent on p53 [132]. However, while normal cells retain wild type p53, numerous cancer cells will present with mutated or absent p53, especially in the case of OC and recurrent EC. This, in turn, would allow CO to act as a secretagogue of Par-4 in normal, non-neoplastic surrounding tissues; this extracellular Par-4 could potentially induce apoptosis in cancer cells through a suggested GRP78-dependent mechanism that is entirely independent of p53 [132]. Additionally, epithelial OC generally overexpress GRP78, which is a prognostic biomarker of poor survival [133]; EC has also been shown to display GRP78 enrichment [134]. This overexpression, which is an expected response to heightened levels of protein misfolding, allows the cells to more effectively manage the large amount of aberrantly folded proteins [135], actively enabling the cell to evade apoptotic stimuli that would normally be induced by the UPR; this process has also been linked to chemoresistance in various models, with membrane localization of GRP78 being associated with therapy resistance [136]. Therefore, it is possible that GRP78, through the use of Par-4 secretagogues, could be instrumentalized in order to induce apoptosis specifically in OC and EC, thus revectoring the overexpressed GRP78 pro-survival role, which support the chemoresistant nature of the tumors, to that of a Par-4-dependent inducer of apoptosis.

4.4 Autophagy in Chemoresistance

Autophagy is a physiological process that allows the degradation of dysfunctional or damaged organelles as well as the management of misfolded proteins. Considering that some of the most potent regulators of autophagy are mTORC1, as well as the PI3K pathway, and the importance of those pathways in malignancies, it appears necessary to delve slightly deeper into that axis of cell fate regulation [137]. This recycling process is thought to have mainly evolved as a response to starvation in order to extract necessary nutrients from damaged components of the cell; demonstrations using ATG7 deletion in mice models have shown that the autophagotic apparatus is indeed necessary for glucose homeostasis under fasting conditions [138]. However, autophagy is also involved in the homeostatic regulation of cell components, either through non-selective degradation of cytoplasmic portions, or the targeted autophagy of disposable cellular waste products.

As such, autophagy has been widely considered to be an effective regulator of tumor suppression, through its ability to dispose of defective proteins and respond to cellular stressors. As such, basal level of homeostatic autophagy is considered a growth-promoting, tumor-suppressing process, first underlined by the tumorigenic effects of beclin-1 haploid suppression [139]. However, more recently, and in stark contrast to this role as a tumor suppressor, autophagy has been posited as a powerful promoter of survival, particularly in the context of the central microenvironment within solid tumors, which is characterized by hypoxia as well as nutrient

and growth factors deprivation [138, 140, 141]. In that case, autophagy allows the cells to resist higher threshold of metabolic stress and the abrogation of autophagic pathways sensitize them to apoptotic insults [142]. Indeed, it has been suggested that autophagy profoundly increases the metabolic flexibility of tumors, providing whichever nutrients is necessary for tumor sustenance, especially when confronted with reduced vascular support and with increased ROS production [140]. In that sense, while the baseline level of autophagy might have fundamentally necessary homeostatic effects as well as tumor-suppressing activities, local activation of autophagic mechanisms are plausibly responsible for increased tumor plasticity, survival and enhanced resistance to chemotherapeutic compounds [143]. More specifically, some results suggest that inhibition of key autophagic pathway mediators could sensitize OC cells presenting stem-like characteristic to chemotherapeutic regimens, reducing the potential for later relapse and emergence of chemoresistant tumors [144]. Similar results were found in the context of EC, in which inhibition of autophagy promoted cisplatin sensitization [145] as well as taxane sensitivity [146]. Overall, autophagy is often construed as a driver of chemoresistance processes [147]. It should be noted that Par-4 has been linked with the induction of autophagy in glioma cell lines [148] and has been suggested to be a component of the p53-dependent induction of autophagy in various cancer cell lines [149]; alternatively, secreted Par-4 appears to induce apoptosis through a GRP78-dependent pathway [150], an effect that could potentially be autophagy-independent, or even dependent upon CQ ability to abrogate autophagy [132]. The exact role of Par-4 in the heterogenous functions of autophagy, and the translation of these functions to chemoresistance abrogation, remains to be elucidated.

5 Molecular Determinants of Par-4 Function

5.1 Role and Regulation of Nuclear Par-4

Par-4 is seldom mutated in human cancers; its function is generally considered to be inhibited by functional silencing, either through downregulation of its expression or various post-translational modifications that impedes its activity. In the context of EC, data obtained using tissue microarray (TMA) and cancer cell lines suggest that promoter hypermethylation could be responsible for Par-4 reduced expression [151]. Other studies, on the other hand, reported that hypermethylation was not responsible for Par-4 reduced expression in human EC, further confounding our understanding of the regulatory pathways at work in this tissue [126]. Observations in other tumor types, such as melanoma, failed to identify promoter hypermethylation, suggesting that this event might be tissue dependent [152]. Alternatively, OC cells do not seem to display reduced levels of Par-4 when compared to normal tissues, also highlighting the heterogeneity of Par-4 epigenetic and transcriptional regulation [11].

Multiple studies have already suggested the ability of Par-4 to potentiate the effectiveness of various chemotherapeutic compounds and overcome chemoresistance in a variety of cellular contexts [6, 7, 153, 154]. As mentioned throughout this chapter, nuclear localization of Par-4 appears to be of paramount importance for its apoptotic activity in a large number of studied models. Primarily, phosphorylation by Akt appears to act as the primary modulator of Par-4 nuclear translocalization, which could potentially abrogate Par-4 antitumoral capabilities [93, 155] and plausibly increase its Fbxo45-dependent degradation [156]; Akt also appears to impede Par-4 activity, regardless of nucleocytoplasmic shuttling [157, 158].

The nuclear dependency of Par-4 regulation has been underlined since 2003, when El-Guendy et al. first described the core domain of Par-4 capable of inducing cell death specifically in cancer cells [159]. At the time, the authors reported a strong correlation between cells presenting nuclear Par-4 and their androgen independence; this relationship was also even more interesting considering that only cells presenting endogenous levels of Par-4 in their nuclear compartment were sensitive to Par-4 overexpression-induced apoptosis. Moreover, transfection of the core domain with an intact NLS2 nuclear-import sequence (137–195 construct) induced apoptosis in all tested cell lines irrespective of their hormonal requirements, with the notable exception of immortalized and normal cells which did not respond to the 137–195 protein construct. This core domain, since named SAC (selective for apoptosis in cancer cells), is still under intense scrutiny as its exact nature and mechanism of action is still incompletely elucidated. This experiment underlined two important findings that should be explicit, which are that Par-4 core domain must be in the nuclei in order to induce apoptosis and that the leucine zipper domain is not necessary for that to occur. The same study even suggested that leucine zipper removal, through ablation of the C-terminal component of the protein, stimulated nuclear entry of the protein constructs. Other reports, in prostate models, have also highlighted the importance of the central portion of the protein, potentially the SAC domain, for Par-4 mediation of AR-transcriptional regulation [160].

Limited amount of direct data, however, is available in the context of gynecological malignancies; nonetheless, some evidence does shed some light on Par-4 role in these tissues. Par-4 overexpression sensitized SKOV-3 cells, an OC cell line, to taxol, an effect that was correlated to nuclear entry of Par-4 but did not depend on Par-4 secretion and Par-4 binding to GRP78 [11]. Alternatively, reports from experiments performed in EC samples showed that almost 40% of the

examined tumors were negative for Par-4, with more than 90% of the Par-4-positive tumors presenting a complete nuclear exclusion pattern of localization for the protein, underlining the potential importance of Par-4 expulsion from the nuclei in EC [151].

CRM1, also known as exportin-1 (XPO1), is a protein belonging to the RanGTP transporter superfamily. The primary function of this type of protein shuttle is to regulate RNA, proteins, and RNPs transit through the nuclear pore in order to extrude these molecules from the nuclear to the cytoplasmic compartment [161]. The presence of a nuclear export signal (NES) allows the interaction between CRM1 and its cargo; a Φ 1-X_{2.3}- Φ 2-[^W]₃- Φ 3-[^W]- Φ 4 motif has been identified as a strong predictor of protein-CRM1 interaction [162]. Such a sequence is found on Par-4 and has been validated experimentally and appears to be masked upon potential Par-4 homodimerization, which would impede NES recognition by CRM1 [163]. We suggest that unbalanced shuttling and nuclear export of Par-4, either through its inability to homodimerize in the nucleus or through upregulation of its potential nuclear exporter CRM1, could be a putative mechanism of resistance. Interestingly, data using small molecule inhibitor of nuclear export (SINE), which blockade CRM1 action, have been found to enrich pancreatic cancer cells nuclear compartment with Par-4 [164]; whether that translates to other models, however, remains unclear. Taken together, we believe that the literature supports the importance of Par-4 nuclear localization to exert its antitumoral effect; intervention capable of inducing nuclear localization of either full length or the 25 kDa C-terminal fragment generated by Par-4 cleavage, which will be discussed in the next section, should be investigated. However, it appears critical to first determine whether abnormally increased Par-4 nuclear export, failure to import, or a combination of both, operate as a resistance mechanism in OC and EC.

5.2 Post-Translational Regulation of Par-4

As mentioned earlier, the low incidence of mutation and deletion of the Par-4 gene makes it an attractive target for therapeutic intervention. Instrumentalizing the protein mechanism of action, either through manipulation of its nuclear localization or protein partners, is a potential avenue if Par-4 is to be leveraged in the context of chemoresistant gynecological cancers. Multiple mechanistic theories explain the capacity of Par-4 to induce apoptosis specifically in cancer cells, either through PKA-dependent potentiation of nuclear Par-4 functions, or through nuclear entry of the SAC domain, with reports also underlining the non-importance [159] as well as the concurrent importance [166]. Alternatively, Par-4

is suggested to function through extracellular pathways involving GRP78, acting both as a transporter complex, allowing plasma membrane localization of GRP78, and as a ligand, inducing caspase-8-mediated cell death [167]. As expounded on in previous sections, multiple post-translational events regulate Par-4 localization and activity. However, we believe that two regulatory pathways require further description as they potentially could define functional specificities of Par-4 in EC and OC and provide avenues of investigation in order to fully decipher Par-4 convoluted network of regulation.

First, evidence has suggested that Par-4 can be cleaved by caspase-3 at EEPD¹³¹ \downarrow G in the context of apoptosis [168]. This 25 kDa truncated form of Par-4, which we will refer to as cleaved Par-4/25, represents the protein's C-terminal component and can be observed in a multiplicity of cell lines following cisplatin treatment. Moreover, cleaved Par-4/25 localized to the nucleus and appeared to be capable of sensitizing cells to chemotherapeutic agents, and potentially induce apoptosis directly, an effect that was abrogated upon mutation of the caspase cleavage site (Asp to Ala, D131A). Cleaved Par-4/25 is also observable in the context of TRAILinduced apoptosis in a plethora of OC and EC cell lines [169], and the necessity of this cleavage event for the induction of Par-4-dependent apoptosis has since been evidenced in other cell lines [157, 170]. Nuclear importation of cleaved Par-4/25 has been suggested to be dependent on RASSF2 in prostatic cancers cells [171], an effect that has yet to be replicated in gynecological tissues. Interestingly, because of the location of the caspase cleavage site, cleaved Par-4/25 retains both of its crucial phosphorylation site, thr163 and ser249, respectively, targeted by PKA and Akt1, as seen in Fig. 2.

The role of Par-4 cleavage was also expounded on by the identification of an amino-terminal product of caspase-3dependent cleavage capable of inducing apoptosis in a paracrine fashion. Par-4 amino-terminal fragment, or PAF, is produced by sensitive cells undergoing apoptosis; the fragment, which contains the VASA domain and is targeted by Fbxo45 for subsequent proteasomal degradation [156, 172], also act as a natural decoy, protecting Par-4 from degradation and potentiating resistant cells entry into the apoptotic program. The presence and function of PAF in the context of chemoresistant OC and EC is, however, uncharacterized. Alternatively, the function of the VASA/SPRY domain in these tissular contexts is also yet to be clarified. Further investigations are required to determine whether PAF is capable of stabilizing full-length Par-4 through its activity as a secreted decoy protein. If that is the case, the ways by which PAF could be leveraged to overcome chemoresistance would be diverse; potentially, increased cleavage of Par-4 would yield more PAF, which would in turn stabilize Par-4 and potentiate its activity. Alternatively, identification of PAF secretagogues, as well as a better understanding of PAF uptake mechanisms by resistant cells, would be an attractive therapeutic avenue. The C-terminal cleaved Par-4/25 produced by caspase-3 cleavage could conceivably be protected from Fbxo45-induced degradation, partially explaining the fragment enhanced death-inducing capabilities. However, it is our opinion that in order to fully mobilize Par-4 antitumoral potential in the context of chemoresistant OC and EC,



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of the major functional domains and post-translational modifications of Par-4. Briefly: the SPRY domain, potentially acts as a protein–protein interaction domain and the target for Fbxo45-dependent ubiquitination; the second nuclear localization signal (NLS) domain allows nuclear entry of the protein; the specific for apoptosis in cancer cells domain (SAC), necessary for Par-4 pro-apoptotic function; thr163, phosphorylated by PKA, potentiate Par-4 apoptosis-inducing capabilities once nuclear entry has been achieved; s228, which is potentially phosphorylated by Akt, could blockade nuclear entry of Par-4 in a similar fashion to s249 in the rat, although

further experimental demonstrations are required; the putative nuclear export signal (NES), which could mediate nuclear export of Par-4 through CRM1-dependent shuttling; the leucine zipper, which could act as a mediator, regulator or inhibitor of Par-4 activity. Caspase-3 cleavage site at EEPD131↓G. The Par-4 amino-terminal fragment (PAF), which corresponds to a.a 1–131, which could act as a decoy to stabilize Par-4 accumulation and escape degradation; the cleaved Par-4/25 fragment, which corresponds to a.a 132–340, which could induce apoptosis following nuclear entry

another post-translational regulatory network must be considered.

As previously mentioned, PI3K/Akt is one of the most frequently altered signaling pathways in all cancers and is especially important in gynecological malignancies. If nuclear localization of Par-4 is necessary for the induction of apoptosis in these neoplastic entities, first and foremost, the inhibition of Akt-dependent cytoplasmic sequestration must be investigated. Akt has been shown to act as a potentiator of cleaved Par-4/25 destabilization, a negative regulation that appears to be dependent on proteasomal degradation. Additionally, cleaved Par-4/25 levels are stabilized by cisplatin, an effect that is robustly enhanced by the concomitant use of PI3K/Akt inhibitors [158]. We are allowed to think that stabilizing cleaved Par-4/25, which is inherently structurally immune to Fxbo45, through the modulation of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway represents an attractive therapeutic strategy for chemoresistant OC and EC. Finally, XIAP has been shown to negatively influence Par-4 cleavage [97]. Its functions are well characterized, acting as a potent inducer of chemoresistance in OC and EC [173, 174] which directly inhibits caspases through its BIR domains [175] but also as an E3-ligase for various targets, namely PTEN, through its RING domain [176]. XIAP role in the regulation of cleaved Par-4/25 stability, however, remains unclear. Ultimately, because of its ability to induce resistance to TRAIL, cisplatin, and doxorubicin [4, 173, 174, 177], and the multilayered relationship it appears to have with Par-4, we believe that XIAP plays a central role in a potential Par-4-dependent chemosensitization therapeutic strategy.

6 Conclusion

6.1 The Functional Pleiotropy of Par-4

Sells et al. first investigated the role of the leucine zipper found at the C-terminal of Par-4 in AT-3 and PC-3 cells, both androgen-independent cell lines from rat and human origin, respectively; A375-C6 cells were also used, which are a human melanoma cell line. The experiments suggested that Par-4 was dependent upon its leucine zipper in order to induce apoptotic sensitization to thapsigargin. Moreover, and very interestingly, the authors demonstrated that co-expression of both full-length Par-4 as well as the leucine zipper domain in PC-3 cells abrogated the ability of Par-4 to induce apoptotic cell death [166]. The authors interpreted this observation through two possible mechanism, either competitive binding of the overexpressed leucine zipper with potential Par-4 partners, namely WT1, or through homodimerization between the intact Par-4 protein and the separately overexpressed leucine zipper domain. Six years later, El-Guendy et al. would demonstrate that Par-4 did not require its leucine zipper domain to induce apoptosis and that the core SAC domain alone was sufficient for induction of apoptosis in cancer cells [159]. That effect, as mentioned previously, was mediated by nuclear translocation of Par-4 and inhibition of NF- κ B transcriptional activity. These observations, which are considered cornerstones of the Par-4 literature, allow us to think that Par-4 functional mechanisms still require investigations; this is especially true for models in which Par-4 regulation hasn't been as comprehensively studied as others, such as OC and EC cells.

Some avenues, however, are compelling if we are to decipher the seemingly conflicting conclusions that have emerged from the literature so far. Interestingly, reports have underlined the conformational heterogeneity and flexibility of the leucine zipper domain of Par-4 which could modulate its DNA-binding specificity as well as alter its intracellular binding partners; these findings suggest that some of the discordant findings regarding Par-4 function, as well as the effect of its localization and binding partners, could be dependent on cellular context and leucine zipper domain folding [178]. Binding of Par-4 with a potential isoform (Par-4/p33) has also been described as a negative regulator of nuclear import and apoptosis induction, highlighting the potential for Par-4 homodimerization and potential auto-regulation [179]. Direct demonstration of that homodimerization was also obtained in prostatic cell lines [160]; however, the role and effects of this multimerization remains unknown. Whether this isoform plays a role in the context of human pathologies is still unclear; the question regarding Par-4 homodimerization, and the subsequent effect of such an event on nuclear localization, remains also unanswered.

Influence of various pathways also seem to be tissuedependent. The discovery that Par-4 is upregulated by TGF- β and acts as a direct inducer of EMT in HeLa cells [97] emphasize that factors that are still improperly understood allows Par-4 to act as a driver of cell transformation in some cell types, rather than an inducer of cell death, a result that echoes findings reported by other authors underlining atypical regulation and function of Par-4 [126, 180]. XIAP, an inhibitor of both caspases 3 and 8 [175], has been suggested as a regulator of Par-4 role, a regulatory relationship in which XIAP activity inhibits Par-4 cleavage and supports its pro-EMT functions [97]. However, no causal relationship between Par-4 cleavage and EMT induction has been established so far and the exact mechanism by which XIAP regulates Par-4 function remains to be elucidated.

7 Future Perspective

7.1 Deciphering the Role of Par-4 in Chemoresistance of OC and EC Cells

Altogether, it appears clear that Par-4 multifaceted, intricate molecular regulatory events, may it be post-translational modification such as phosphorylation events, nuclear localization as well as DNA and protein binding, could all be conceivably construed as potential mechanisms of functional silencing. Reports are still contrasting, with stark discrepancies, as well as similitudes, emerging between models and tissue types. We believe that further investigations should be centered on the role of nuclear Par-4, the identity of Par-4 proteic partners in both the cytoplasmic and nuclear compartment, the regulation mechanisms and cellular roles of cleaved Par-4/25, and the involvement of the PI3K/Akt axis in those events, especially in regard of Par-4 intracellular localization and stabilization. The information extracted from such research endeavors are of paramount importance if Par-4 is to be instrumentalized in the treatment of chemoresistant gynecological cancers.

References

- García-Cao I et al (2005) Tumour-suppression activity of the proapoptotic regulator Par4. EMBO Rep 6(6):577–583
- Prenzel T et al (2011) Estrogen-dependent gene transcription in human breast cancer cells relies upon proteasomedependent monoubiquitination of histone H2B. Cancer Res 71(17):5739–5753
- Casolari DA et al (2011) Insulin-like growth factor-1 and 17β-estradiol down-regulate prostate apoptosis response-4 expression in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Int J Mol Med 28(3):337–342
- Brasseur K, Gévry N, Asselin E (2017) Chemoresistance and targeted therapies in ovarian and endometrial cancers. Oncotarget 8(3):4008–4042
- Zhao Y, Rangnekar VM (2008) Apoptosis and tumor resistance conferred by Par-4. Cancer Biol Ther 7(12):1867–1874
- Jagtap JC et al (2015) Secretory prostate apoptosis response (par)-4 sensitizes multicellular spheroids (MCS) of glioblastoma multiforme cells to tamoxifen-induced cell death. FEBS open bio 5:8–19
- Tan J et al (2014) Par-4 downregulation confers cisplatin resistance in pancreatic cancer cells via PI3K/Akt pathway-dependent EMT. Toxicol Lett 224(1):7–15
- Fernandez-Marcos PJ et al (2009) Simultaneous inactivation of Par-4 and PTEN in vivo leads to synergistic NF-κB activation and invasive prostate carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106(31):12962–12967
- Alvarez JV et al (2013) Par-4 downregulation promotes breast cancer recurrence by preventing multinucleation following targeted therapy. Cancer Cell 24(1):30–44
- Nagai MA et al (2010) Down-regulation of the candidate tumor suppressor gene PAR-4 is associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer. Int J Oncol 37(1):41–49
- Meynier S et al (2015) Role of PAR-4 in ovarian cancer. Oncotarget 6(26):22641

- Bray F et al (2018) Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 68(6):394–424
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A (2020) Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin 70(1):7–30
- 14. Institute, N.C. (2018) Cancer stat facts: ovarian cancer
- Li SS, Ma J, Wong AST (2018) Chemoresistance in ovarian cancer: exploiting cancer stem cell metabolism. J Gynecol Oncol 29(2):e32
- Kim S et al (2018) Tumor evolution and chemoresistance in ovarian cancer. NPJ Precis Oncol 2:20
- 17. Chen VW et al (2003) Pathology and classification of ovarian tumors. Cancer 97(10 Suppl):2631–2642
- Köbel M et al (2010) Differences in tumor type in low-stage versus high-stage ovarian carcinomas. Int J Gynecol Pathol 29(3):203–211
- Seidman JD et al (2004) The histologic type and stage distribution of ovarian carcinomas of surface epithelial origin. Int J Gynecol Pathol 23(1):41–44
- Shih Ie M, Kurman RJ (2004) Ovarian tumorigenesis: a proposed model based on morphological and molecular genetic analysis. Am J Pathol 164(5):1511–1518
- Prat J (2012) Ovarian carcinomas: five distinct diseases with different origins, genetic alterations, and clinicopathological features. Virchows Arch 460(3):237–249
- McCluggage WG (2011) Morphological subtypes of ovarian carcinoma: a review with emphasis on new developments and pathogenesis. Pathology 43(5):420–432
- Cho KR, Shih Ie M (2009) Ovarian cancer. Annu Rev Pathol 4:287–313
- Köbel M et al (2008) Ovarian carcinoma subtypes are different diseases: implications for biomarker studies. PLoS Med 5(12):e232
- Auersperg N et al (2001) Ovarian surface epithelium: biology, endocrinology, and pathology. Endocr Rev 22(2):255–288
- Bell DA (2005) Origins and molecular pathology of ovarian cancer. Mod Pathol 18(Suppl 2):S19–S32
- Piek JM et al (2001) Dysplastic changes in prophylactically removed fallopian tubes of women predisposed to developing ovarian cancer. J Pathol 195(4):451–456
- Kindelberger DW et al (2007) Intraepithelial carcinoma of the fimbria and pelvic serous carcinoma: evidence for a causal relationship. Am J Surg Pathol 31(2):161–169
- Labidi-Galy SI et al (2017) High grade serous ovarian carcinomas originate in the fallopian tube. Nat Commun 8(1):1093
- 30. Kim J et al (2018) Cell origins of high-grade serous ovarian cancer. Cancers (Basel) 10:11
- Jiang X et al (1998) Allelotyping of endometriosis with adjacent ovarian carcinoma reveals evidence of a common lineage. Cancer Res 58(8):1707–1712
- Prowse AH et al (2006) Molecular genetic evidence that endometriosis is a precursor of ovarian cancer. Int J Cancer 119(3):556–562
- Zhang Y et al (2016) TP53 mutations in epithelial ovarian cancer. Transl Cancer Res 5(6):650–663
- 34. Risch HA et al (2006) Population BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation frequencies and cancer penetrances: a kin-cohort study in Ontario, Canada. J Natl Cancer Inst 98(23):1694–1706
- Network CGAR (2011) Integrated genomic analyses of ovarian carcinoma. Nature 474(7353):609
- Bowtell DD (2010) The genesis and evolution of high-grade serous ovarian cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 10(11):803–808
- Press JZ et al (2008) Ovarian carcinomas with genetic and epigenetic BRCA1 loss have distinct molecular abnormalities. BMC Cancer 8:17
- Sun J et al (2019) Large-scale integrated analysis of ovarian cancer tumors and cell lines identifies an individualized gene expression

signature for predicting response to platinum-based chemotherapy. Cell Death Dis 10(9):661

- 39. du Bois A et al (2009) Role of surgical outcome as prognostic factor in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: a combined exploratory analysis of 3 prospectively randomized phase 3 multicenter trials: by the Arbeitsgemeinschaft Gynaekologische Onkologie Studiengruppe Ovarialkarzinom (AGO-OVAR) and the Groupe d'Investigateurs Nationaux Pour les Etudes des Cancers de l'Ovaire (GINECO). Cancer 115(6):1234–1244
- Lheureux S, Braunstein M, Oza AM (2019) Epithelial ovarian cancer: evolution of management in the era of precision medicine. CA Cancer J Clin 69(4):280–304
- 41. Ozols RF et al (2003) Phase III trial of carboplatin and paclitaxel compared with cisplatin and paclitaxel in patients with optimally resected stage III ovarian cancer: a Gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol 21(17):3194–3200
- 42. Karam A et al (2017) Fifth ovarian cancer consensus conference of the Gynecologic Cancer InterGroup: first-line interventions. Ann Oncol 28(4):711–717
- 43. Boere IA, van der Burg ME (2012) Review of dose-intense platinum and/or paclitaxel containing chemotherapy in advanced and recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Curr Pharm Des 18(25):3741–3753
- Burger RA et al (2011) Incorporation of bevacizumab in the primary treatment of ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med 365(26):2473–2483
- Perren TJ et al (2011) A phase 3 trial of bevacizumab in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med 365(26):2484–2496
- 46. Ledermann J et al (2012) Olaparib maintenance therapy in platinum-sensitive relapsed ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med 366(15):1382–1392
- 47. Pujade-Lauraine E et al (2017) Olaparib tablets as maintenance therapy in patients with platinum-sensitive, relapsed ovarian cancer and a BRCA1/2 mutation (SOLO2/ENGOT-Ov21): a doubleblind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 18(9):1274–1284
- Bray F et al (2018) Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 68(6):394–424
- Lauby-Secretan B et al (2016) Body fatness and cancer—viewpoint of the IARC Working Group. N Engl J Med 375(8):794–798
- Saed L et al (2019) The effect of diabetes on the risk of endometrial cancer: an updated a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Cancer 19(1):527
- Calle EE, Kaaks R (2004) Overweight, obesity and cancer: epidemiological evidence and proposed mechanisms. Nat Rev Cancer 4(8):579–591
- Hamilton CA et al (2006) Uterine papillary serous and clear cell carcinomas predict for poorer survival compared to grade 3 endometrioid corpus cancers. Br J Cancer 94(5):642–646
- Robbins JR et al (2012) Is time to recurrence after hysterectomy predictive of survival in patients with early stage endometrial carcinoma? Gynecol Oncol 127(1):38–42
- Creutzberg CL et al (2003) Survival after relapse in patients with endometrial cancer: results from a randomized trial. Gynecol Oncol 89(2):201–209
- Zaino RJ (2009) FIGO staging of endometrial adenocarcinoma: a critical review and proposal. Int J Gynecol Pathol 28(1):1–9
- Kurman RJ et al (2014) WHO classification of tumours of female reproductive organs. International Agency for Research on Cancer
- 57. Dedes KJ et al (2011) Emerging therapeutic targets in endometrial cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 8(5):261–271
- Bokhman JV (1983) Two pathogenetic types of endometrial carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 15(1):10–17
- Lax SF (2017) Pathology of endometrial carcinoma. Adv Exp Med Biol 943:75–96

- Sorosky JI (2012) Endometrial cancer. Obstet Gynecol 120(2 Pt 1):383–397
- Bell DW, Ellenson LH (2019) Molecular genetics of endometrial carcinoma. Annu Rev Pathol 14:339–367
- 62. Cheung LW et al (2011) High frequency of PIK3R1 and PIK3R2 mutations in endometrial cancer elucidates a novel mechanism for regulation of PTEN protein stability. Cancer Discov 1(2):170–185
- McConechy MK et al (2012) Use of mutation profiles to refine the classification of endometrial carcinomas. J Pathol 228(1):20–30
- 64. Levine RL et al (1998) PTEN mutations and microsatellite instability in complex atypical hyperplasia, a precursor lesion to uterine endometrioid carcinoma. Cancer Res 58(15):3254–3258
- 65. Rudd ML et al (2011) A unique spectrum of somatic PIK3CA (p110alpha) mutations within primary endometrial carcinomas. Clin Cancer Res 17(6):1331–1340
- 66. Kuhn E et al (2012) Identification of molecular pathway aberrations in uterine serous carcinoma by genome-wide analyses. J Natl Cancer Inst 104(19):1503–1513
- 67. Lax SF et al (2000) The frequency of p53, K-ras mutations, and microsatellite instability differs in uterine endometrioid and serous carcinoma: evidence of distinct molecular genetic pathways. Cancer 88(4):814–824
- Tashiro H et al (1997) p53 gene mutations are common in uterine serous carcinoma and occur early in their pathogenesis. Am J Pathol 150(1):177–185
- 69. Suarez AA, Felix AS, Cohn DE (2017) Bokhman redux: endometrial cancer "types" in the 21st century. Gynecol Oncol 144(2):243–249
- Kandoth C et al (2013) Integrated genomic characterization of endometrial carcinoma. Nature 497(7447):67–73
- Charo LM, Plaxe SC (2019) Recent advances in endometrial cancer: a review of key clinical trials from 2015 to 2019. F1000Res 8
- 72. Keys HM et al (2004) A phase III trial of surgery with or without adjunctive external pelvic radiation therapy in intermediate risk endometrial adenocarcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol 92(3):744–751
- 73. Randall ME et al (2006) Randomized phase III trial of wholeabdominal irradiation versus doxorubicin and cisplatin chemotherapy in advanced endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol 24(1):36–44
- 74. Randall ME et al (2019) Phase III trial: adjuvant pelvic radiation therapy versus vaginal brachytherapy plus paclitaxel/carboplatin in high-intermediate and high-risk early stage endometrial cancer. J Clin Oncol 37(21):1810–1818
- 75. Matei D et al (2017) A randomized phase III trial of cisplatin and tumor volume directed irradiation followed by carboplatin and paclitaxel vs. carboplatin and paclitaxel for optimally debulked, advanced endometrial carcinoma. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol
- 76. de Boer SM et al (2018) Adjuvant chemoradiotherapy versus radiotherapy alone for women with high-risk endometrial cancer (PORTEC-3): final results of an international, open-label, multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 19(3):295–309
- 77. Nagao S et al (2015) What is an appropriate second-line regimen for recurrent endometrial cancer? Ancillary analysis of the SGSG012/GOTIC004/Intergroup study. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 76(2):335–342
- Slomovitz BM et al (2010) A phase 2 study of the oral mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor, everolimus, in patients with recurrent endometrial carcinoma. Cancer 116(23):5415–5419
- 79. Oza AM et al (2011) Phase II study of temsirolimus in women with recurrent or metastatic endometrial cancer: a trial of the NCIC Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol 29(24):3278–3285
- Matulonis U et al (2015) Phase II study of the PI3K inhibitor pilaralisib (SAR245408; XL147) in patients with advanced or recurrent endometrial carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 136(2):246–253

- Slomovitz BM et al (2015) Phase II study of everolimus and letrozole in patients with recurrent endometrial carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 33(8):930–936
- 82. Fader AN et al (2018) Randomized phase II trial of carboplatinpaclitaxel versus carboplatin-paclitaxel-trastuzumab in uterine serous carcinomas that overexpress human epidermal growth factor receptor 2/neu. J Clin Oncol 36:2044
- Prendergast EN et al (2019) Comprehensive genomic profiling of recurrent endometrial cancer: implications for selection of systemic therapy. Gynecol Oncol 154(3):461–466
- Kommoss S et al (2018) Final validation of the ProMisE molecular classifier for endometrial carcinoma in a large populationbased case series. Ann Oncol 29(5):1180–1188
- Liu R et al (2020) PI3K/AKT pathway as a key link modulates the multidrug resistance of cancers. Cell Death Dis 11(9):1–12
- Manning BD, Toker A (2017) AKT/PKB signaling: navigating the network. Cell 169(3):381–405
- St-Germain M-E et al (2004) Akt regulates COX-2 mRNA and protein expression in mutated-PTEN human endometrial cancer cells. Int J Oncol 24(5):1311–1324
- Girouard J et al (2013) Involvement of Akt isoforms in chemoresistance of endometrial carcinoma cells. Gynecol Oncol 128(2):335–343
- Gagnon V et al (2004) AKT involvement in cisplatin chemoresistance of human uterine cancer cells. Gynecol Oncol 94(3):785–795
- Kim D et al (2005) AKT/PKB signaling mechanisms in cancer and chemoresistance. Front Biosci 10(14):975
- Huang W-C, Hung M-C (2009) Induction of Akt activity by chemotherapy confers acquired resistance. J Formos Med Assoc 108(3):180–194
- Terakawa N, Kanamori Y, Yoshida S (2003) Loss of PTEN expression followed by Akt phosphorylation is a poor prognostic factor for patients with endometrial cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 10(2):203–208
- Goswami A et al (2005) Binding and phosphorylation of par-4 by akt is essential for cancer cell survival. Mol Cell 20(1):33–44
- Fabi F, Asselin E (2014) Expression, activation, and role of AKT isoforms in the uterus. Reproduction 148(5):R85–R95
- 95. Coffman LG et al (2016) New models of hematogenous ovarian cancer metastasis demonstrate preferential spread to the ovary and a requirement for the ovary for abdominal dissemination. Transl Res 175:92–102. e2
- 96. Pradeep S et al (2014) Hematogenous metastasis of ovarian cancer: rethinking mode of spread. Cancer Cell 26(1):77–91
- 97. Chaudhry P et al (2014) Prostate apoptosis response-4 mediates TGF-β-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Cell Death Dis 5(2):e1044
- Sheng Q et al (2010) An activated ErbB3/NRG1 autocrine loop supports in vivo proliferation in ovarian cancer cells. Cancer Cell 17(3):298–310
- 99. Davies S et al (2014) High incidence of ErbB3, ErbB4 and MET expression in ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Pathol 33(4):402
- Mills GB, Yarden Y (2010) The rebirth of a phoenix: ovarian cancers are addicted to ErbB-3. Cancer Cell 17(3):217–218
- Bezler M, Hengstler JG, Ullrich A (2012) Inhibition of doxorubicin-induced HER3-PI3K-AKT signalling enhances apoptosis of ovarian cancer cells. Mol Oncol 6(5):516–529
- 102. Yang J et al (2019) Adipocytes promote ovarian cancer chemoresistance. Sci Rep 9(1):1–12
- 103. Gurumurthy S et al (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase A is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25(3):1146–1161
- 104. Taniguchi K, Karin M (2018) NF-κB, inflammation, immunity and cancer: coming of age. Nat Rev Immunol 18(5):309–324
- Napetschnig J, Wu H (2013) Molecular basis of NF-κB signaling. Annu Rev Biophys 42:443–468

- 106. Moynagh PN (2005) The NF-κB pathway. J Cell Sci 118(20):4589–4592
- 107. Chaturvedi M et al (2011) NF- κ B addiction and its role in cancer: 'one size does not fit all'. Oncogene 30(14):1615–1630
- 108. Hoesel B, Schmid JA (2013) The complexity of NF-κB signaling in inflammation and cancer. Mol Cancer 12(1):1–15
- 109. Alberti C et al (2012) Ligand-dependent EGFR activation induces the co-expression of IL-6 and PAI-1 via the NFkB pathway in advanced-stage epithelial ovarian cancer. Oncogene 31(37):4139–4149
- 110. Schneider G et al (2010) Cross talk between stimulated NF-κB and the tumor suppressor p53. Oncogene 29(19):2795–2806
- 111. Webster GA, Perkins ND (1999) Transcriptional cross talk between NF-κB and p53. Mol Cell Biol 19(5):3485–3495
- 112. Pianetti S et al (2001) Her-2/neu overexpression induces NF-κB via a PI3-kinase/Akt pathway involving calpain-mediated degradation of IκB-α that can be inhibited by the tumor suppressor PTEN. Oncogene 20(11):1287–1299
- 113. Koumakpayi I et al (2010) Hierarchical clustering of immunohistochemical analysis of the activated ErbB/PI3K/Akt/NF-κB signalling pathway and prognostic significance in prostate cancer. Br J Cancer 102(7):1163–1173
- Dan HC et al (2008) Akt-dependent regulation of NF-κB is controlled by mTOR and Raptor in association with IKK. Genes Dev 22(11):1490–1500
- 115. Bai D, Vogt P (2008) Akt induces NF- κ B activation by a phosphorylation cascade. AACR
- 116. Bai D, Ueno L, Vogt PK (2009) Akt-mediated regulation of NFκB and the essentialness of NFκB for the oncogenicity of PI3K and Akt. Int J Cancer 125(12):2863–2870
- 117. Jinawath N et al (2010) Oncoproteomic analysis reveals coupregulation of RELA and STAT5 in carboplatin resistant ovarian carcinoma. PLoS One 5(6):e11198
- 118. Hernandez L et al (2010) Activation of NF-κB signaling by inhibitor of NF-κB kinase β increases aggressiveness of ovarian cancer. Cancer Res 70(10):4005–4014
- Harrington BS, Annunziata CM (2019) NF-κB signaling in ovarian cancer. Cancers 11(8):1182
- 120. House CD et al (2017) NFκB promotes ovarian tumorigenesis via classical pathways that support proliferative cancer cells and alternative pathways that support ALDH+ cancer stem–like cells. Cancer Res 77(24):6927–6940
- 121. Godwin P et al (2013) Targeting nuclear factor-kappa B to overcome resistance to chemotherapy. Front Oncol 3:120
- Fulda S (2014) Molecular pathways: targeting inhibitor of apoptosis proteins in cancer—from molecular mechanism to therapeutic application. Clin Cancer Res 20(2):289–295
- 123. Garcia-Cao I et al (2003) Genetic inactivation of Par4 results in hyperactivation of NF- κ B and impairment of JNK and p38. EMBO Rep 4(3):307–312
- 124. Qiu SG et al (1999) Negative regulation of Par-4 by oncogenic Ras is essential for cellular transformation. Oncogene 18(50):7115–7123
- 125. Cheema SK et al (2003) Par-4 transcriptionally regulates Bcl-2 through a WT1-binding site on the bcl-2 promoter. J Biol Chem 278(22):19995–20005
- 126. Saegusa M et al (2010) Transcriptional regulation of pro-apoptotic Par-4 by NF-κB/p65 and its function in controlling cell kinetics during early events in endometrial tumourigenesis. J Pathol 221(1):26–36
- 127. Radhakrishnan SK, Kamalakaran S (2006) Pro-apoptotic role of NF-κB: implications for cancer therapy. Biochim Biophys Acta 1766(1):53–62
- 128. Ravi R et al (2001) Regulation of death receptor expression and TRAIL/Apo2L-induced apoptosis by NF-κB. Nat Cell Biol 3(4):409–416

- Zilfou JT, Lowe SW (2009) Tumor suppressive functions of p53. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 1(5):a001883
- 130. Buttitta F et al (1997) p53 alterations are predictive of chemoresistance and aggressiveness in ovarian carcinomas: a molecular and immunohistochemical study. Br J Cancer 75(2):230–235
- 131. Mantovani F, Collavin L, Del Sal G (2019) Mutant p53 as a guardian of the cancer cell. Cell Death Differentiation 26(2):199–212
- 132. Burikhanov R et al (2017) Chloroquine-inducible par-4 secretion is essential for tumor cell apoptosis and inhibition of metastasis. Cell Rep 18(2):508–519
- Samanta S et al (2020) Clinicopathological significance of endoplasmic reticulum stress proteins in ovarian carcinoma. Sci Rep 10(1):1–12
- Bifulco G et al (2012) Endoplasmic reticulum stress is activated in endometrial adenocarcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 125(1):220–225
- 135. Wang M et al (2009) Role of the unfolded protein response regulator GRP78/BiP in development, cancer, and neurological disorders. Antioxid Redox Signal 11(9):2307–2316
- 136. Roller C, Maddalo D (2013) The molecular chaperone GRP78/ BiP in the development of chemoresistance: mechanism and possible treatment. Front Pharmacol 4:10
- 137. Kim J, Guan K-L (2019) mTOR as a central hub of nutrient signalling and cell growth. Nat Cell Biol 21(1):63–71
- Karsli-Uzunbas G et al (2014) Autophagy is required for glucose homeostasis and lung tumor maintenance. Cancer Discov 4(8):914–927
- 139. Qu X et al (2003) Promotion of tumorigenesis by heterozygous disruption of the beclin 1 autophagy gene. J Clin Invest 112(12):1809–1820
- Kimmelman AC, White E (2017) Autophagy and tumor metabolism. Cell Metab 25(5):1037–1043
- 141. Endo S et al (2017) Autophagy is required for activation of pancreatic stellate cells, associated with pancreatic cancer progression and promotes growth of pancreatic tumors in mice. Gastroenterology 152(6):1492–1506. e24
- 142. White E, DiPaola RS (2009) The double-edged sword of autophagy modulation in cancer. Clin Cancer Res 15(17):5308–5316
- 143. Sui X et al (2013) Autophagy and chemotherapy resistance: a promising therapeutic target for cancer treatment. Cell Death Dis 4(10):e838–e838
- 144. Pagotto A et al (2017) Autophagy inhibition reduces chemoresistance and tumorigenic potential of human ovarian cancer stem cells. Cell Death Dis 8(7):e2943
- 145. Fukuda T et al (2015) The anti-malarial chloroquine suppresses proliferation and overcomes cisplatin resistance of endometrial cancer cells via autophagy inhibition. Gynecol Oncol 137(3):538–545
- 146. Liu S, Li X (2015) Autophagy inhibition enhances sensitivity of endometrial carcinoma cells to paclitaxel. Int J Oncol 46(6):2399–2408
- 147. Li X et al (2019) Autophagy: a novel mechanism of chemoresistance in cancers. Biomed Pharmacother 119:109415
- 148. Thayyullathil F et al (2014) ROS-dependent prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) up-regulation and ceramide generation are the prime signaling events associated with curcumin-induced autophagic cell death in human malignant glioma. FEBS Open bio 4:763–776
- 149. Thayyullathil F et al (2020) Par-4 regulates autophagic cell death in human cancer cells via upregulating p53 and BNIP3. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res 1867:118692
- 150. Burikhanov R et al (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138(2):377–388
- 151. Moreno-Bueno G et al (2007) Inactivation of the candidate tumor suppressor par-4 in endometrial cancer. Cancer Res 67(5):1927–1934

- 152. Liu S et al (2008) Identification of novel epigenetically modified genes in human melanoma via promoter methylation gene profiling. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 21(5):545–558
- 153. de Bessa Garcia SA et al (2017) Prostate apoptosis response 4 (PAR4) expression modulates WNT signaling pathways in MCF7 breast cancer cells: a possible mechanism underlying PAR4-mediated docetaxel chemosensitivity. Int J Mol Med 39(4):809–818
- 154. Kline CL et al (2009) Delivery of PAR-4 plasmid in vivo via nanoliposomes sensitizes colon tumor cells subcutaneously implanted into nude mice to 5-FU. Cancer Biol Ther 8(19):1831–1837
- 155. Jagtap JC et al (2014) Expression and regulation of prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) in human glioma stem cells in drug-induced apoptosis. PLoS One 9(2):e88505
- 156. Chen X et al (2014) Fbxo45-mediated degradation of the tumorsuppressor Par-4 regulates cancer cell survival. Cell Death Differ 21(10):1535–1545
- 157. Thayyullathil F et al (2013) Caspase-3 mediated release of SAC domain containing fragment from Par-4 is necessary for the sphingosine-induced apoptosis in Jurkat cells. J Mol Signal 8(1):1–13
- 158. Brasseur K et al (2016) Post-translational regulation of the cleaved fragment of Par-4 in ovarian and endometrial cancer cells. Oncotarget 7(24):36971
- 159. El-Guendy N et al (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23(16):5516–5525
- 160. Gao S et al (2006) Androgen receptor and prostate apoptosis response factor-4 target the c-FLIP gene to determine survival and apoptosis in the prostate gland. J Mol Endocrinol 36(3):463–483
- 161. Fischer U et al (1995) The HIV-1 rev activation domain is a nuclear export signal that accesses an export pathway used by specific cellular RNAs. Cell 82(3):475–483
- 162. Xu D et al (2012) Sequence and structural analyses of nuclear export signals in the NESdb database. Mol Biol Cell 23(18):3677–3693
- 163. Subhramanyam UKT et al (2017) Structural basis for the regulatory interactions of proapoptotic Par-4. Cell Death Differ 24(9):1540–1547
- 164. Wang AY, Liu H (2019) The past, present, and future of CRM1/ XPO1 inhibitors. Stem Cell Investig 6:6
- 165. Hebbar N, Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Rangnekar VM (2014) Cancerselective apoptosis by tumor suppressor par-4. In: Anticancer genes. Springer, pp 155–166
- 166. Sells SF et al (1997) Expression and function of the leucine zipper protein Par-4 in apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 17(7):3823–3832
- 167. Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Rangnekar VM (2010) Cancer-selective apoptotic effects of extracellular and intracellular Par-4. Oncogene 29(27):3873–3880
- 168. Chaudhry P et al (2012) Prostate apoptosis response 4 (Par-4), a novel substrate of caspase-3 during apoptosis activation. Mol Cell Biol 32(4):826–839
- 169. Fabi F et al (2018) Inhibition of CRM1 activity sensitizes endometrial and ovarian cell lines to TRAIL-induced cell death. Cell Commun Signal 16(1):39
- 170. Treude F et al (2014) Caspase-8-mediated PAR-4 cleavage is required for TNF α -induced apoptosis. Oncotarget 5(10):2988
- 171. Donninger H et al (2010) The Ras effector RASSF2 controls the PAR-4 tumor suppressor. Mol Cell Biol 30(11):2608–2620
- 172. Filippakopoulos P et al (2010) Structural basis for Par-4 recognition by the SPRY domain-and SOCS box-containing proteins SPSB1, SPSB2, and SPSB4. J Mol Biol 401(3):389–402
- 173. Gagnon V et al (2008) Akt and XIAP regulate the sensitivity of human uterine cancer cells to cisplatin, doxorubicin and taxol. Apoptosis 13(2):259–271
- 174. Asselin E, Mills GB, Tsang BK (2001) XIAP regulates Akt activity and caspase-3-dependent cleavage during cisplatin-induced

apoptosis in human ovarian epithelial cancer cells. Cancer Res $61(5){:}1862{-}1868$

- 175. Obexer P, Ausserlechner MJ (2014) X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein–a critical death resistance regulator and therapeutic target for personalized cancer therapy. Front Oncol 4:197
- 176. Van Themsche C et al (2009) X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein (XIAP) regulates PTEN ubiquitination, content, and compartmentalization. J Biol Chem 284(31):20462–20466
- 177. Carter BZ et al (2008) Triptolide sensitizes AML cells to TRAILinduced apoptosis via decrease of XIAP and p53-mediated increase of DR5. Blood 111(7):3742–3750
- 178. Schwalbe M et al (2010) Two-state conformational equilibrium in the Par-4 leucine zipper domain. Proteins 78(11):2433–2449
- 179. Wang G et al (2006) A novel isoform of prostate apoptosis response 4 (PAR-4) that co-distributes with F-actin and prevents apoptosis in neural stem cells. Apoptosis 11(3):315–325

- 180. McKenna MK et al (2018) Novel role of prostate apoptosis response-4 tumor suppressor in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 131(26):2943–2954
- 181. Mota A, Oltra SS, Moreno-Bueno G (2020) Insight updating of the molecular hallmarks in ovarian carcinoma. Eur J Cancer Suppl 15:16–26
- 182. Prat J (2012) Ovarian carcinomas: five distinct diseases with different origins, genetic alterations, and clinicopathological features. Virchows Arch 460(3):237–249
- 183. Kurman RJ, Shih I-M (2010) The origin and pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer-a proposed unifying theory. Am J Surg Pathol 34(3):433
- 184. Jayson GC et al (2014) Ovarian cancer. Lancet 384(9951):1376–1388
- Bell DW, Ellenson LH (2019) Molecular genetics of endometrial carcinoma. Annu Rev Pathol 14:339–367

Regulation and Role of Par-4 in Gastrointestinal Tumors

Rosalyn B. Irby, Christina Leah B. Kline, and Arun K. Sharma

Abstract

Cancers of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract are the second leading cause of cancer deaths worldwide for both sexes. These include esophageal cancers, gastric cancers, cholangiocarcinomas, cancers of the small bowel, and colorectal cancer. Of these, colorectal cancers account for almost half of the cancers of the GI tract. In a number of these cancers, Par-4 has been shown to play a negative role in the progression of cancer. Higher Par-4 activity has been shown to indicate a better prognosis, as, when activated, it causes apoptosis in the cancer cells, both locally and distally. However, many factors affect both the expression and the activity of Par-4 in GI cancer cells. This chapter details what is known about the role and regulation of Par-4 in tumors of the GI tract.

Keywords

Gastrointestinal cancer · Colorectal cancer · Oral cancer · Cholangiocarcinoma · Par-4 · Therapy

1 Background

Cancers of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract are the second leading cause of cancer deaths worldwide for both sexes. These include esophageal cancers, gastric cancers, cholangiocarcinomas, cancers of the small bowel, and colorectal cancer. Colorectal cancers account for almost half of the cancers diagnosed in this category (Table 1) [1].

While cancers of the individual organs of the GI tract have unique risk factors, treatments, and molecular signatures, they have a number of features in common. As with other cancers, GI cancers often arise as a result of inflamma-

example, HPV is often associated with oropharyngeal cancer
[69] and one of the risk factors of gastric cancer is *H. pylori*[70]. Colon cancers arising in the setting of inflammatory
bowel disease are thought to be a combination of genetics
and environmental factors.
GI cancers, as detailed below, often result from and/or are
exacerbated by inflammatory response to the pathogens. In
addition, there are a number of shared pathways involved in
tumorigenesis between individual cancers that occur within,

tumorigenesis between individual cancers that occur within, and outside of, the GI tract. These include, but are not limited to, MAPK, receptor tyrosine kinases, intracellular kinases, and the JAK/STAT pathway [2–6]. One of these pathways is the PI3K/Akt pathway. Prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4), the produce of the *PAWR* gene, has been shown to be regulated by Akt1 [7], TNF α and IFN γ [71], and Src [8], among others. These pathways are activated in many cancers, portending the importance of Par-4 in tumor development and progression.

tion and the cellular responses to it. The GI tract is closely connected with the outside environment and, as such, is at risk for the invasion of pathogens directly into the lumen.

Cancers of the GI tract have been noted often as being related

to specific pathogenic organisms from the environment. For

The presence of PAWR mutations in GI cancers has been investigated to help in the understanding of the role of the Par-4 protein in these cancers. In the COSMIC database [72], 8% of stomach cancers analyzed showed an overexpression of Par-4. Focusing on PAWR mutations, esophageal and colon (large intestine) cancers are two of the top 10 cancers which have the highest preponderance of point mutations (1.57% and 1.19% of samples analyzed had point mutations) in the PAWR gene. Out of 14 major cancer types, cancers of the colon (along with lung) have the highest percentage of non-synonymous mutations (21%) [9]. The mutations that have been identified in different GI cancers are listed in Table 2. Out of the PAWR mutations in the COSMIC database, the R243Q mutation is one of the most common mutations that has been identified, based on the number of samples that contained a particular mutation. Out of the four samples

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021



R. B. Irby $(\boxtimes) \cdot C$. L. B. Kline $\cdot A$. K. Sharma Penn State University, Hershey, PA, USA e-mail: rirby@pennstatehealth.psu.edu

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), Tumor Suppressor Par-4, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_4

Tumor site	Estimated cases	Estimated deaths	% GI Cancers	% Total cancers
Oral cavity and pharynx	53,260	10,750	16.17173741	2.948095583
Esophagus	18,440	16,170	5.599076942	1.020707521
Stomach	27,600	11,010	8.380397158	1.527740107
Small intestine	11,110	1700	3.373413494	0.614970746
Colon	104,610	52,200	31.76352705	5.790467123
Rectum and anus	51,930	1350	15.76789944	2.874476223
Liver, intrahepatic bile duct	42,810	30,160	12.99872472	2.369657753
Gallbladder and biliary	11,980	4090	3.637578187	0.663127771
Other digestive organs	7600	3060	2.307645594	0.420682058
Totals	329,340	130,490	100	18

 Table 1
 Specific Sites and Case Numbers of Gastrointestinal Tumors

 Table 2
 Mutations Found in Gastrointestinal Cancers

Mutation; Amino acid change	Cancer type	Mutation type	Par-4 protein domain affected
c.489C>T; p.T163T	Large intestine; colon	Substitution—coding silent	SAC
c.71A>G; p.K24R	Large intestine; colon		Substitution-missense
c.863G>A; p.R288K	Large intestine; rectum	Substitution—Missense	DD
c.809delA; p.K270fs*10	Large intestine; colon		Deletion-frameshift
c.937-2A>G; p.?;	Esophagus; lower third		Unknown
c.728G>A; p.R243Q	Large intestine; colon and rectum	Substitution—Missense	DD
c.909C>G; p.L303L	Esophagus; middle third	Substitution—coding silent	LZ
c.33C>T; p.G11G;	Large intestine		Substitution—coding silent
c.597T>A; p.I199I;	Large intestine; colon	Substitution—coding silent	SAC
c.403G>C; p.E135Q;	Esophagus; middle third		Substitution—Missense

where this mutation was identified, three were colorectal cancer samples. This mutation is predicted to be pathogenic using the FATHMM-MKL algorithm [73].

2 Colorectal Cancer

2.1 Background

Colorectal cancers are diagnosed primarily through direct viewing by colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy, DNA assessment in stool samples, and observance of blood, either occult or frank, in stools. Periodic screening often identifies the presence of sporadic cancers or of precancerous polyps (See Fig. 1). Cancers arising secondary to inflammatory bowel disease are more difficult to diagnose, as they arise from dysplasias rather than observable polyps and can be missed on colonoscopic surveillance. Often these cancers can be prevented by removal of the entire colon, i.e., a complete colectomy.

Cancers of the colon and rectum remain the second leading cause of cancer-related death worldwide [1] despite the expanding number of targets for therapy [10]. The 5-year survival rate for patients with colorectal cancer is 64% although for patients who present with distant metastases at diagnosis, the 5-year survival rate is only 14% [1]. Colorectal cancer is more prevalent in developed countries, and the incidence of this cancer will likely increase as the population ages [1]. However, death from colorectal cancer has been decreasing in developed countries, likely as a result of increased screening resulting in early detection and intervention and from more advanced treatments. Developing countries, on the other hand, show rising rates of incidence and death as more people adopt the lifestyle and eating habits of the Western world, and they are challenged by the limitations of their healthcare systems [11].

In the United States, a distinct disparity exists in the incidence of colorectal cancer. While cancer at any age is a larger problem in rural and poorer communities, it was recently reported that the development of colorectal cancer in younger people, those under the age of 50, is also rising, particularly in certain areas of the country [12]. The hotspots were once in the Northeast states, but not the hotspots in states in the south and the Midwest, likely as a result of an increase in rural populations and those living in poverty. The inhabitants of these areas have a higher incidence of obesity and smoking, and a lower incidence of physical activity, access to proper diets, lower education status, and have a limited access to physicians for both surveillance and treatments, all risk factors for the development of colorectal cancer. In addition, the population in this demographic with the highest mortality rate is non-Hispanic Blacks in comparison with



Fig. 1 Cancers of the colon. A. Right colon. B. Left colon. C. Rectal cancer with polyposis. Images are the kind gift of Dr. Walter Koltun

patients across all ethnic groups matched for age of onset and stage of cancer.

Typically, colorectal cancers develop from polyps, either adenomatous polyps which then progress to adenomas and carcinomas, or sessile polyps. While colorectal cancers can have a genetic component, only about 4-6% are hereditary and 30-40% are familial. The majority of these cancers, 50-60%, are sporadic.

2.2 Current Treatment of Colorectal Cancers

Once diagnosed, treatment is typically surgery with adjuvant drug and/or radiation therapy. Drug therapies, including chemotherapy, can be a single drug or a cocktail of drugs that treat cancer systemically and often have adverse effects on normal dividing cells. Common chemotherapeutic drugs used for colorectal cancer include 5-fluorouracil (and its oral prodrug form, capecitabine) irinotecan, and oxaliplatin. Although much research has been done in developing drugs against different colorectal cancer signaling pathways, the only FDA-approved targeted drugs primarily inhibit the epidermal growth factor receptor and the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor pathways [10]. Immunotherapy is an emerging therapeutic strategy where the body's immune system is mobilized to fight the cancer. Antibodies against the immune checkpoint protein programmed cell death-1 (PD-1) and its ligand (PDL-1), pembrolizumab and nivolumab, are FDA-approved for treatment of a subset of colorectal cancer patients, those with deficient mismatch repair. However, despite clinical benefits, the use of immune checkpoint blockade antibodies is associated with a unique spectrum of side effects termed immune-related adverse events (irAEs). IrAEs include dermatologic, gastrointestinal, hepatic, endocrine, and other inflammatory events [13]. Each of the therapies has drawbacks and failure rates, and new treatment strategies are constantly being explored.

The ability of colon cancer cells to resist apoptosis is correlated with chemoresistance to the chemotherapeutics 5-fluorouracil and oxaliplatin [14]. There is also evidence that as colon cancer cells metastasize, they acquire additional apoptosis resistance characteristics. In addition to a decrease in the Fas receptor of the extrinsic pathway [15–17], expression of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway protein Apaf-1 is also reduced. Moreover, expression of two members of the inhibitor of apoptosis family, survivin and XIAP is elevated [15, 17]. The downregulation of pro-apoptotic proteins and upregulation of anti-apoptotic proteins in colon cancer result in resistance to apoptosis.

Different strategies have been employed to induce apoptosis in colon cancer cells. One is to leverage pro-apoptotic proteins for therapy, an example of which is TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL/Apo2L). Because of its cancer-selectivity, much effort has been put forth to engage the TRAIL signaling pathway to induce cancer killing. Unfortunately, at this point, clinical benefits have not been realized using TRAIL or similar molecules called TRAIL receptor agonists [18].

Given the body of work that has shown that Par-4 is involved in apoptosis induction in different contexts, research efforts have pursued the long-term goal of developing treatment regimens for colon cancer that exploit the pro-apoptotic activity of Par-4. This chapter details what has been learned about how Par-4 functions in colorectal cancer and how this knowledge can be leveraged to modify the activity of Par-4 to treat this disease.

2.3 Regulation of Par-4 Expression in Colorectal Tumors

Par-4 expression was first reported in colon cancer, specifically, in HCA-7 colon carcinoma cells treated with cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors/nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents (NSAID's). Although the COX inhibitors induced apoptosis and Par-4 expression, the link between the observed cell death and Par-4 expression was not established [19]. Par-4 is expressed in normal colon [20] and by colon cancer cells [21, 22]. However, *PAWR* gene expression has been shown to be downregulated in colon cancer tissue [22]. Moreover, the levels of Par-4 expression in colon tumors clearly indicated a prognosis, as the Par-4 levels showed a relationship to survival. Our ongoing unpublished studies have shown that patients having tumors with significantly reduced to undetectable levels of Par-4 succumbed to the disease within 5 years, while those with Par-4 levels close to those of matched normal tissue were living 10 years later.

Par-4 gene expression can be downregulated through different mechanisms. Par-4 downregulation can occur as a result of promoter methylation, as has been observed in endometrial and lung cancers [23, 24]. Oncogenic Ras can increase the methylation of the *Par-4* promoter [25]. Another oncogenic protein, v-Src, has also been shown to increase the methylation of the *Par-4* promoter in fibroblasts. V-Src was shown to increase the expression of DNA methyltransferase 1, and consequently, *PAWR* promoter hypermethylation [8].

A second mechanism of Par-4 downregulation is through the E3 lyase, TRIM21. TRIM21 targets proteins for degradation, through the proteasome pathway. Although TRIM21 does not constitutively regulate Par-4 levels alone, cisplatin treatment induces TRIM21/Par-4 interaction through the SPRY domain of TRIM21, resulting in Par-4 degradation [26].

2.4 Regulation of Par-4 Activity in Colorectal Tumors

Par-4 is endogenously expressed in colon cancer [21], albeit at lower levels than normal tissue, with respect to mRNA expression [22]; however, it does not always cause apoptosis. This strongly suggests that it is endogenously inactivated in colon cancer. The activity of Par-4 is dependent on its cellular localization. Cells that have endogenous or ectopic Par-4 in the cytoplasm are not susceptible to Par-4-mediated apoptosis. Par-4 overexpression has to be combined with another apoptotic stimulus to increase cell death in these cells. On the other hand, other cell types have Par-4 in their nuclei. These undergo cell death when Par-4 is overexpressed [27].

Immunocytochemical and immunoprecipitation experiments show that Par-4 is detected in both the cytoplasm and nucleus of different colorectal cancer cells [21, 22, 28]. The phosphorylation of Par-4 by Akt at a serine 230 site (serine 249 in rat sequence) promotes an interaction of Par-4 with the scaffolding protein 14-3-3, and sequestration of Par-4 in the cytoplasm in other cancer types [7]. We confirmed that Par-4 interacts with Akt1 and 14-3-3 in colorectal cancer cells. In HT29 colon cancer cells, Par-4 endogenously associates with the sigma isoform of 14-3-3 [28]. This isoform is expressed in epithelial cells [29] and is mainly localized in the cytoplasm [30]. However, downregulation of the interaction of Par-4 with 14-3-3 σ [28], or of Akt1 levels has not been sufficient to induce mobilization of Par-4 into the nucleus [22]. Instead, Akt1 downregulation has been shown to result in the interaction of Par-4 with the p65 and p50 subunits of NF- κ B [22]. Figure 2 shows elements involved in the regulation of Par-4.

A significant relationship between Src and Par-4 may exist in colorectal cancer that expands beyond the promoter methylation activity. Src is upregulated early in colon cancer development, showing increased levels as early as the adenomatous polyp stage. Src levels increase progressively as carcinomas develop, and the activity of Src increases further with metastatic lesions [2, 31]. As mentioned above, Src activity can reduce Par-4 expression (Sung). However, Lee et al showed that Src increases translocation of the endoplasmic reticulum chaperone, GRP78, to the cell surface [32]. As this protein also moves Par-4 to the surface for export out of the cell and serves as a docking site for external Par-4, this has the potential to enhance the ability of Par-4 to bind the outer cell surface and initiate the TRAIL (Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-related apoptosis-inducing ligand) pathway of apoptosis, the extrinsic apoptotic pathway. This conundrum may be explained by the finding that CD109, which also interacts with GRP78, may provide interference with the ability of Par-4 to bind; yet, in the colon cancer cell line tested, HCT116, GRP78 was Src independent, and, thus, Src may not affect the activity of Par-4 through its interaction with GRP78 in all colon cancers.

TNF α and IFN- γ may play a role in the activation of the extrinsic apoptotic pathway by Par-4. First, SW620 colorectal cancer cells are resistant to TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. Even treatment using TNF α and IFN- γ separately does not induce apoptosis, but the two together sensitize these cells to TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. It was found that one mechanism for this effect was the downregulation of pro-survival proteins, surviving and Bcl-XL [33]. Next, it was shown that TNF α and IFN- γ together upregulate Par-4, causing apoptosis in human neuroblastoma cells [33]. Together these findings suggest that the effects of TNF α and IFN- γ in colorectal cancer cells induce the upregulation of Par-4, which also is involved in downregulation of pro-survival genes.

Although transient expression of the protein in colorectal cancer cell lines reduces proliferation [21, 34, 35], stable overexpression of Par-4 has not been sufficient to induce apoptosis, as assessed by PARP cleavage [21, 26]. Nevertheless, Par-4 overexpression sensitizes cells to apoptosis in response to 5-fluorouracil [21], and an Akt inhibitor ISC-4 [16, 36]. The presence of substantial Par-4 expression levels in colorectal tumors has been shown to indicate a posi-





Table 3 US FDA-approved drugs used in the treatment of colorectal cancer

Drug	Mechanism of action
5-fluorouracil	Inhibition of DNA synthesis, induction of
(5-FU) and its oral	DNA strand breakage, disruption of RNA
prodrug form,	metabolism, as a result of thymidylate
capecitabine	synthase (TS) inhibition
Leucovorin	Increases efficacy of 5-FU by stabilizing
	binding of 5-FU metabolite to TS
Oxaliplatin	Apoptosis resulting from DNA adduct
	formation
Irinotecan	Inhibition of DNA replication, and
	transcription, as a result of DNA
	topoisomerase I inhibition
Cetuximab and	Inhibition of the epidermal growth factor
panitumumab	receptor
Bevacizumab	Inhibition of the vascular endothelial
	growth factor
Ramucirumab	Inhibition of the vascular endothelial
	growth factor receptor (VEGFR) 2
Ziv-aflibercept	Sequestration of VEGF by functioning as a
	soluble decoy receptor
Regorafenib	Inhibition of VEGFRs 2 and 3, receptor
	tyrosine kinases RET, KIT, and PDGFR,
	and the serine/threonine-specific Raf
	kinase
Ipilimumab	Inhibition of the immune checkpoint
	protein CTLA-4
Pembrolizumab,	Inhibition of the immune checkpoint
nivolumab	protein PD-1

tive prognosis. Thus, the presence of Par-4 protein may well enhance the anti-tumor effects of commonly used FDA approved drugs used in the treatment of colorectal cancer. Data taken from the NCI website. (Table 3) [74].

2.5 Par-4 as a Target for Treatment of Colorectal Cancers

Par-4 has been shown to play a role in treatment response to chemotherapy [37] and radiation [38] suggesting that Par-4 may be an attractive target for treatment. One potential strategy involves the inhibition of proteins that downregulate the apoptotic activity of Par-4. Inhibition of Akt1 has shown promise as a therapeutic agent (Fig. 2) [22, 36]. Inhibition of Akt has resulted in slower tumor growth, tumor size regression, and complete resolution of tumors that overexpress Par-4 in a mouse model of colorectal cancer [22].

A second treatment modality involves increasing the expression of Par-4 in cancer cells. Increased expression of the protein in colorectal cancer cell lines has been shown to reduce proliferation [21, 34, 35]. Although stable expression of Par-4 has not been sufficient to induce apoptosis as assessed by PARP cleavage, [21, 26], Par-4 overexpression sensitizes cells to apoptosis in response to 5-fluorouracil [21], and an Akt inhibitor ISC-4 [36]. In the clinic, Par-4 overexpression can potentially be facilitated using gene therapy.

Although currently this therapy is not being performed in colorectal tumors, several methods of in vivo gene delivery exist, including viral vector gene delivery, electroporation of visualized tumors such as rectal tumors, and nanoparticle delivery of plasmid DNA carrying the Par-4 gene. Different strategies have been explored to take us closer to adopting Par-4-based therapy in the clinic to treat GI tumors. Given the lower levels of Par-4 in colorectal cancer cells, treatments that can increase expression of Par-4 may be effective. Par-4 cDNA can be encapsulated in nanoliposomes. These Par-4 containing nanoliposomes effectively reduce tumor cell growth in vito and can be delivered intratumorally and reduce tumor growth in vivo [21].

3 Par-4 in Cholangiocarcinoma

3.1 Background

Cholangiocarcinomas are a diverse group of epithelial diseases arising from cells lining the biliary tract, both intrahepatic and extrahepatic [39–41] (See Fig. 3). These are typically considered to be sporadic although a number of risk factors have been determined. Most of the risk factors involve inflammatory issues leading to cell proliferation and, ultimately, to genetic mutations in both proto-oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes [39].

3.2 Expression and Activity of Par-4 in Cholangiocarcinoma

It has been shown that Par-4 protein and mRNA are downregulated in cholangiocarcinoma. While Par-4 is expressed in both hepatocytes and cholangiocytes, this expression is R. B. Irby et al.

significantly decreased in cholangiocarcinoma cells and cell lines, down to as low as 5% of normal cholangiocyte expression [42]. The reduction in Par-4 expression is accompanied by a concomitant decrease in PTEN expression and an increase in the anti-apoptotic protein, BCL2, and in NF-κB expression. Furthermore, in vitro studies on cholangiocarcinoma cells showed that when apoptotic stimuli were applied to the cells, Par-4 increased, as has been shown in other cancers. Apoptosis induced by both mitochondrial and membrane pathways causes an increase in Par-4 expression, an increase in the pro-apoptotic protein Bax, and an increase in apoptosis. Conversely, a reduction in Par-4 expression results in an increase in proliferation and a concomitant decrease in caspase 3 and 8 activity. Finally, Par-4 is present in both the nucleus and the cytoplasm of normal cholangiocytes, so its regulation for maintaining a normal apoptotic/proliferative state occurs on multiple levels.

4 Par-4 in Stomach Cancer

4.1 Background

Gastric cancer, cancer of the stomach, is a significant cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide. First symptoms of gastric cancers are often weight loss and nausea, which may be ignored by patients, resulting in a late diagnosis of these tumors. While the incidence of gastric cancer is declining as a result of better surveillance and treatments, there remain areas of high incidence, including 25–39 year olds in the United States [43]. Inhabitants of Japan and Korea have approximately ten-fold higher rates of gastric cancer than the United States which cannot be explained fully by diet and genetics [44].

Fig. 3 Cholangiocarcinoma. Intrahepatic specimen from a trisectionectomy with extrahepatic removal of bile duct and resection of gall bladder en bloc. Image is a kind gift of Dr. Matthew Dixon


Gastric cancer rates have fallen since the discovery that *H. pylori* is a major cause of gastric ulcers which then develop into cancer. Antibiotics have resulted in a drop in *H. pylori* caused stomach cancer. In addition, improved diets that include more fruits and vegetables and fewer processed and high salt foods have lowered stomach cancer rates, as with other GI cancers [44].

Gastric cancers fall into three categories: gastroesophageal (GE) junction cancers, distal intestinal types, and diffuse, signet-ring cancers. Genetic studies have been conducted to further identify etiologies of gastric cancer. One of these was the Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network in 2014, from which gastric cancer was further divided into four molecular subtypes: Epstein-Barr virus-related tumors, microsatellite unstable tumors, genomically stable tumors, and tumors with chromosomal instability. The last subtype is often found in the aggressive tumors of the GE junction, but otherwise the four types do not closely correlate with the anatomical locations [45, 46]. Finally, Parry Guilford found a mutation in the E. cadherin, CDH1, gene, which was present in patients presenting with familial gastric cancers [47].

4.2 Putative Role of Par-4 in Gastric Cancer

While studies of Par-4 expression in gastric cancer have not been reported, other findings suggest that Par-4 can play a role in these cancers. The report that E. cadherin is involved in suppression of gastric cancer [47], coupled with the report that Par-4 upregulates E. cadherin is consistent with upregulation of Par-4 causing inhibition of gastric cancer through this pathway [34, 35, 48-50]. Furthermore, the expression of Akt and phospho-Akt are increased in gastric cancer as compared to normal adjacent tissue, and this high expression in gastric cancer is associated with a poor prognosis [51, 52]. Upon reduction of these proteins, cells become apoptotic [53]. The fact that Par-4 is downregulated by Akt, in particular phospho-Akt, is consistent with Par-4 becoming activated in this event and playing a role in apoptosis of gastric cancers.

Surgery remains a mainstay of gastric cancer treatment. Current chemotherapy treatments for gastric cancer are similar to many of the therapies used for colorectal cancer, including: Ramucirumab, docetaxel, doxorubicin, 5-FU with and without leucovorin, trastuzumab, pembrolizumab, and mitomycin [54]. Despite aggressive treatment, gastric cancer maintains a significant mortality rate, and new treatments are needed.

Par-4 in Oral Cancers

5.1 Background

5

Oral cancers, including those of the oral cavity and the pharynx, are one of the most commonly diagnosed cancers worldwide [1]. However, these cancers have a greater prevalence in east and southeast Asia [55]. The most common of these cancers is oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) [56, 57]. Because there are few symptoms, it is often diagnosed at a late stage which can result in a poor prognosis [58]. Risk factors for OSCC include genetics and environmental factors such as smoking, alcohol use, and exposure to toxins, carcinogens (particularly in the workplace), and viral agents such as Epstein–Barr virus (EBV) [59], and, increasingly, human papilloma virus (HPV) [60].

5.2 Role of Par-4 in Oral Cancer

Par-4 expression and location have been studied and have been suggested to have minor significance in oral cancer. Cytoplasmic expression of Par-4 may be associated with more advanced disease and metastasis, while disease-free survival is better in patients with nuclear localization of Par-4, suggesting that it is the location of the protein rather than simply expression levels that predict disease outcome [61]. While the digestion of food does begin in the oral cavity, this area is covered in the chapter on head and neck cancers and is not discussed further in this chapter.

6 Par-4 in Other Tumors of the Gastrointestinal Tract

Although there is no published direct evidence of a role for Par-4 in esophageal, small bowel, or appendiceal cancers, the nature of these cancers suggests that it could play a role. Esophageal cancers are frequently aggressive and have a poor prognosis. They often arise as a result of Barrett's esophagus, potentially resulting from inflammation in the distal area of the esophagus [62]. Current treatments include radiation, and both neoadjuvant and adjuvant chemotherapies, including carboplatin, oxaliplatin, 5-FU, cisplatin, irinotecan, paclitaxel, and capecitabine. However, Par-4 has not been shown to play a role in these cancers.

Small bowel cancers are relatively rare. They consist of adenocarcinomas, carcinoids, stromal tumors, and lymphomas [63, 64]. A role of Par-4 in small bowel cancer has not been reported. As with esophageal cancer, Par-4 has been shown to exhibit mutations in cancers of the small bowel, but

they are silent mutations, and the significance of these mutations is not clear. It is possible that such mutations may actually have significance; for example, silent mutations can interfere with exonic splicing enhancers (ESEs), resulting in changes in mRNA processing of the genetic information.

Appendiceal cancer is rare, occurring in approximately 1–2 per million people. Because these cancers appear in a variety of types, they have no known growth etiologies. Data from molecular profiling performed by next-generation sequencing has not suggested a role for Par-4 in these cancers, including the presence of alterations in Akt or PKA [65].

7 Summary

Par-4 has been shown to play a role in the balance between apoptosis and proliferation in human cells. The increased expression of Par-4 leads to apoptosis of cells through various pathways. However, not only is increased expression important, but increased activity is also important. Par-4 protein, mRNA, and activity levels are all regulated through multiple pathways in gastrointestinal cancers, some more than others. In colorectal cancer, Par-4 activity is downregulated through inhibition by Akt1 and 14-3-3. It is likely that Par-4 expression may also be regulated by epigenetic means, such as hypermethylation of the promoter and silencing through transcription factors, such as Twist, an EMT transcription factor that plays a role in breast cancer [66]. Par-4 activity can be upregulated pharmacologically by ISC-4 in colon cancer cells [36], and by withaferin A [67] and 3,3' diindolylmethane [68] in other cancer cells, as well as other drugs targeting Akt. Par-4 activity can be upregulated pharmacologically by the Akt inhibitor, ISC-4 in colon cancer cells. Given the need for new treatments for GI cancers, the potential of Par-4 activation as a therapeutic strategy, and the paucity of studies in many GI cancers, further research is warranted. Specifically, Par-4 has not been reported as a player in the progression of gastric cancer, despite the strong implication of a role for Par-4 in this disease. Par-4 participation in gastric cancer and esophageal cancer needs investigations particularly as both of these cancers can be aggressive and lead to a poor prognosis. Finally, Par-4, or lack thereof, needs to be explored in cancers of the small bowel. All of these efforts may lead to a safe, targeted treatment in coming months to decrease the negative health effects of gastrointestinal cancers worldwide.

References

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Goding Sauer A, Fedewa SA, Butterly LF, Anderson JC, Cercek A, Smith RA, Jemal A (2020) Colorectal cancer statistics, 2020. A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, CA

- Bolen JB, Veillette A, Schwartz AM, DeSeau V, Rosen N (1987) Activation of pp60c-src protein kinase activity in human colon carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84(8):2251–2255
- Burotto M, Chiou VL, Lee JM, Kohn EC (2014) The MAPK pathway across different malignancies: a new perspective. Cancer 120(22):3446–3456
- Lindsey S, Langhans SA (2015) Epidermal growth factor signaling in transformed cells. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 314:1–41
- Thomas SJ, Snowden JA, Zeidler MP, Danson SJ (2015) The role of JAK/STAT signalling in the pathogenesis, prognosis and treatment of solid tumours. Br J Cancer 113(3):365–371
- Zhang H, Berezov A, Wang Q, Zhang G, Drebin J, Murali R, Greene MI (2007) ErbB receptors: from oncogenes to targeted cancer therapies. J Clin Invest 117(8):2051–2058
- Goswami A, Burikhanov R, de Thonel A, Fujita N, Goswami M, Zhao Y, Eriksson JE, Tsuruo T, Rangnekar VM (2005) Binding and phosphorylation of par-4 by akt is essential for cancer cell survival. Mol Cell 20(1):33–44
- Sung J, Turner J, McCarthy S, Enkemann S, Li CG, Yan P, Huang T, Yeatman TJ (2005) Oncogene regulation of tumor suppressor genes in tumorigenesis. Carcinogenesis 26(2):487–494
- Zhao M, Kim P, Mitra R, Zhao J, Zhao Z (2016) TSGene 2.0: an updated literature-based knowledgebase for tumor suppressor genes. Nucleic Acids Res 44(D1):D1023–D1031
- Xie YH, Chen YX, Fang JY (2020) Comprehensive review of targeted therapy for colorectal cancer. Signal Transduct Target Ther 5:22
- Sharma V, Kerr SH, Kawar Z, Kerr DJ (2011b) Challenges of cancer control in developing countries: current status and future perspective. Future Oncol 7(10):1213–1222
- Rogers CR, Moore JX, Qeadan F, Gu LY, Huntington MS, Holowatyj AN (2020) Examining factors underlying geographic disparities in early-onset colorectal cancer survival among men in the United States. Am J Cancer Res 10(5):1592–1607
- Overman MJ, Ernstoff MS, Morse MA (2018) Where we stand with immunotherapy in colorectal cancer: deficient mismatch repair, proficient mismatch repair, and toxicity management. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book 2018(38):239–247
- 14. Zhang Y, Yuan J, Zhang HY, Simayi D, Li PD, Wang YH, Li F, Zhang WJ (2011) Natural resistance to apoptosis correlates with resistance to chemotherapy in colorectal cancer cells. Clin Exp Med 12:97
- Huerta S, Heinzerling JH, Anguiano-Hernandez YM, Huerta-Yepez S, Lin J, Chen D, Bonavida B, Livingston EH (2007) Modification of gene products involved in resistance to apoptosis in metastatic colon cancer cells: roles of Fas, Apaf-1, NFkappaB, IAPs, Smac/ DIABLO, and AIF. J Surg Res 142(1):184–194
- Ogawa S, Nagao M, Kanehiro H, Hisanaga M, Ko S, Ikeda N, Nakajima Y (2004) The breakdown of apoptotic mechanism in the development and progression of colorectal carcinoma. Anticancer Res 24(3a):1569–1579
- Yang L, Cao Z, Yan H, Wood WC (2003) Coexistence of high levels of apoptotic signaling and inhibitor of apoptosis proteins in human tumor cells: implication for cancer specific therapy. Cancer Res 63(20):6815–6824
- Kretz A-L, Trauzold A, Hillenbrand A, Knippschild U, Henne-Bruns D, von Karstsedt S, Lemke J (2019) TRAILblazing strategies for cancer treatment. Cancers (Basel) 11(4):456
- Zhang Z, DuBois RN (2000) Par-4, a proapoptotic gene, is regulated by NSAIDs in human colon carcinoma cells. Gastroenterology 118(6):1012–1017
- 20. Johnstone R, See R, Sells S, Wang J, Muthukkumar S, Englert C, Haber D, Licht J, Sugrue S, Roberts T, Rangnekar V, Shi Y (1996) A novel repressor, par-4, modulates transcription and growth suppression functions of the Wilms' Tumor suppressor WT1. Mol Cell Biol 16:6945–6956

- 21. Kline CL, Shanmugavelandy SS, Kester M, Irby RB (2009) Delivery of PAR-4 plasmid in vivo via nanoliposomes sensitizes colon tumor cells subcutaneously implanted into nude mice to 5-FU. Cancer Biol Ther 8(19):1831–1837
- 22. Wang BD, Kline CL, Pastor DM, Olson TL, Frank B, Luu T, Sharma AK, Robertson G, Weirauch MT, Patierno SR, Stuart JM, Irby RB, Lee NH (2010) Prostate apoptosis response protein 4 sensitizes human colon cancer cells to chemotherapeutic 5-FU through mediation of an NF kappaB and microRNA network. Mol Cancer 9:98
- 23. Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Abu-Baker S, Joshi J, Galvez A, Castilla EA, Canamero M, Collado M, Saez C, Moreno-Bueno G, Palacios J, Leitges M, Serrano M, Moscat J, Diaz-Meco MT (2009) Simultaneous inactivation of Par-4 and PTEN in vivo leads to synergistic NF-kappaB activation and invasive prostate carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(31):12962–12967
- Moreno-Bueno G, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Collado M, Tendero MJ, Rodriguez-Pinilla SM, Garcia-Cao I, Hardisson D, Diaz-Meco MT, Moscat J, Serrano M, Palacios J (2007) Inactivation of the candidate tumor suppressor par-4 in endometrial cancer. Cancer Res 67(5):1927–1934
- 25. Pruitt K, Ulku AS, Frantz K, Rojas RJ, Muniz-Medina VM, Rangnekar VM, Der CJ, Shields JM (2005) Ras-mediated loss of the pro-apoptotic response protein Par-4 is mediated by DNA hypermethylation through Raf-independent and Raf-dependent signaling cascades in epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 280(24):23363–23370
- Nguyen J, Irby RB (2017) TRIM21 is a novel regulator of Par-4 in colon and pancreatic cancer cells. Cancer Biol Ther 18(1):16–25
- El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar V (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of Par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23:5516–5525
- Kline CLB, Irby RB (2011) The pro-apoptotic protein prostate apoptosis response protein-4 (Par-4) can be activated in colon cancer cells by treatment with Src inhibitor and 5-FU. Apoptosis 16:1285–1294
- 29. Leffers H, Madsen P, Rasmussen HH, Honore B, Andersen AH, Walbum E, Vandekerckhove J, Celis JE (1993) Molecular cloning and expression of the transformation sensitive epithelial marker stratifin. A member of a protein family that has been involved in the protein kinase C signalling pathway. J Mol Biol 231(4):982–998
- van Hemert MJ, Niemantsverdriet M, Schmidt T, Backendorf C, Spaink HP (2004) Isoform-specific differences in rapid nucleocytoplasmic shuttling cause distinct subcellular distributions of 14-3-3 sigma and 14-3-3 zeta. J Cell Sci 117(Pt 8):1411–1420
- Cartwright CA, Meisler AI, Eckhart W (1990) Activation of the pp60c-src protein kinase is an early event in colonic carcinogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87(2):558–562
- 32. Tsai YL, Ha DP, Zhao H, Carlos AJ, Wei S, Pun TK, Wu K, Zandi E, Kelly K, Lee AS (2018) Endoplasmic reticulum stress activates SRC, relocating chaperones to the cell surface where GRP78/CD109 blocks TGF-beta signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115(18):E4245–E4254
- 33. Liu F, Hu X, Zimmerman M, Waller JL, Wu P, Hayes-Jordan A, Lev D, Liu K (2011) TNFalpha cooperates with IFN-gamma to repress Bcl-xL expression to sensitize metastatic colon carcinoma cells to TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. PLoS One 6(1):e16241
- 34. Nguyen J, Kline CLB, Caballero N, Irby RB (2015a) Overexpression of prostate apoptosis protein-4 in colon cancer cells can inhibit metastasis by upregulating E-cadherin expression. J Colon Rectal Cancer 1(1)
- 35. Nguyen J, Kline CLB, Caballero N, Irby RB (2015b) Overexpression of prostate apoptosis response Protein-4 in colon cancer cells can inhibit metastasis by upregulating E-cadherin expression. J Colon Rectal Cancer 1(1):20–34

- 36. Sharma AK, Kline CL, Berg A, Amin S, Irby RB (2011a) The Akt inhibitor ISC-4 activates prostate apoptosis response Protein-4 and reduces colon tumor growth in a nude mouse model. Clin Cancer Res 17(13):4474–4483
- Allen JE, Gallant JN, Dicker DT, Amin S, Irby RB, Sharma AK, El-Deiry WS (2013) The Akt inhibitor ISC-4 synergizes with cetuximab in 5-FU-resistant colon cancer. PLoS One 8(3):e59380
- Contract D, Mackley H, Irby RB (2011) Par-4 sensitizes human colon cancer cells to chemoradiotherapy. J Cancer Ther 2:542–547
- Labib PL, Goodchild G, Pereira SP (2019) Molecular pathogenesis of cholangiocarcinoma. BMC Cancer 19(1):185
- 40. Oliveira IS, Kilcoyne A, Everett JM, Mino-Kenudson M, Harisinghani MG, Ganesan K (2017) Cholangiocarcinoma: classification, diagnosis, staging, imaging features, and management. Abdom Radiol (NY) 42(6):1637–1649
- Razumilava N, Gores GJ (2014) Cholangiocarcinoma. Lancet 383(9935):2168–2179
- 42. Franchitto A, Torrice A, Semeraro R, Napoli C, Nuzzo G, Giuliante F, Alpini G, Carpino G, Berloco PB, Izzo L, Bolognese A, Onori P, Renzi A, Cantafora A, Gaudio E, Alvaro D (2010) Prostate apoptosis response-4 is expressed in normal cholangiocytes, is down-regulated in human cholangiocarcinoma, and promotes apoptosis of neoplastic cholangiocytes when induced pharmacologically. Am J Pathol 177(4):1779–1790
- Anderson WF, Camargo MC, Fraumeni JF Jr, Correa P, Rosenberg PS, Rabkin CS (2010) Age-specific trends in incidence of noncardia gastric cancer in US adults. JAMA 303(17):1723–1728
- 44. Strong VE (2018) Progress in gastric cancer. Updat Surg 70(2):157–159
- 45. Cancer Genome Atlas Research N (2014) Comprehensive molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma. Nature 513(7517):202–209
- 46. Shah MA, Khanin R, Tang L, Janjigian YY, Klimstra DS, Gerdes H, Kelsen DP (2011) Molecular classification of gastric cancer: a new paradigm. Clin Cancer Res 17(9):2693–2701
- 47. Guilford P, Hopkins J, Harraway J, McLeod M, McLeod N, Harawira P, Taite H, Scoular R, Miller A, Reeve AE (1998) E-cadherin germline mutations in familial gastric cancer. Nature 392(6674):402–405
- 48. Amin H, Nayak D, Ur Rasool R, Chakraborty S, Kumar A, Yousuf K, Sharma PR, Ahmed Z, Sharma N, Magotra A, Mukherjee D, Kumar LD, Goswami A (2016) Par-4 dependent modulation of cellular beta-catenin by medicinal plant natural product derivative 3-azido Withaferin a. Mol Carcinog 55(5):864–881
- 49. Katoch A, Suklabaidya S, Chakraborty S, Nayak D, Rasool RU, Sharma D, Mukherjee D, Faheem MM, Kumar A, Sharma PR, Senapati S, Kumar LD, Goswami A (2018) Dual role of Par-4 in abrogation of EMT and switching on mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) in metastatic pancreatic cancer cells. Mol Carcinog 57(9):1102–1115
- Rasool RU, Nayak D, Chakraborty S, Katoch A, Faheem MM, Amin H, Goswami A (2016) A journey beyond apoptosis: new enigma of controlling metastasis by pro-apoptotic Par-4. Clin Exp Metastasis 33(8):757–764
- Sasaki T, Kuniyasu H (2014) Significance of AKT in gastric cancer (review). Int J Oncol 45(6):2187–2192
- 52. Sasaki T, Kuniyasu H, Luo Y, Kitayoshi M, Tanabe E, Kato D, Shinya S, Fujii K, Ohmori H, Yamashita Y (2014) AKT activation and telomerase reverse transcriptase expression are concurrently associated with prognosis of gastric cancer. Pathobiology 81(1):36–41
- 53. Wang L, Ouyang F, Liu X, Wu S, Wu HM, Xu Y, Wang B, Zhu J, Xu X, Zhang L (2016) Overexpressed CISD2 has prognostic value in human gastric cancer and promotes gastric cancer cell proliferation and tumorigenesis via AKT signaling pathway. Oncotarget 7(4):3791–3805

- 54. NIH (2020) Drugs dpproved for stomach (gastric) cancer. National Cancer Institute
- Chen YP, Chan ATC, Le QT, Blanchard P, Sun Y, Ma J (2019) Nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Lancet 394(10192):64–80
- 56. Lee JW, Liu PF, Hsu LP, Chen PR, Chang CH, Shih WL (2009) EBV LMP-1 negatively regulates expression and pro-apoptotic activity of Par-4 in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. Cancer Lett 279(2):193–201
- 57. Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A (2012) Cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 62(1):10–29
- Lee JW, Hsiao WT, Lee KF, Sheu LF, Hsu HY, Hsu LP, Su B, Lee MS, Hsu YC, Chang CH (2010) Widespread expression of prostate apoptosis response-4 in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Head Neck 32(7):877–885
- 59. Kumar M, Nanavati R, Modi TG, Dobariya C (2016) Oral cancer: etiology and risk factors: a review. J Cancer Res Ther 12(2):458–463
- 60. Lohavanichbutr P, Houck J, Fan W, Yueh B, Mendez E, Futran N, Doody DR, Upton MP, Farwell DG, Schwartz SM, Zhao LP, Chen C (2009) Genomewide gene expression profiles of HPV-positive and HPV-negative oropharyngeal cancer: potential implications for treatment choices. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 135(2):180–188
- 61. Coutinho-Camillo CM, Lourenco SV, Nonogaki S, Vartanian JG, Nagai MA, Kowalski LP, Soares FA (2013) Expression of PAR-4 and PHLDA1 is prognostic for overall and disease-free survival in oral squamous cell carcinomas. Virchows Arch 463(1):31–39
- Domper Arnal MJ, Ferrandez Arenas A, Lanas Arbeloa A (2015) Esophageal cancer: risk factors, screening and endoscopic treatment in Western and eastern countries. World J Gastroenterol 21(26):7933–7943
- 63. Bilimoria KY, Bentrem DJ, Wayne JD, Ko CY, Bennett CL, Talamonti MS (2009) Small bowel cancer in the United States: changes in epidemiology, treatment, and survival over the last 20 years. Ann Surg 249(1):63–71
- Pedersen KS, Raghav K, Overman MJ (2019) Small bowel adenocarcinoma: etiology, presentation, and molecular alterations. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw 17(9):1135–1141

- 65. Tokunaga R, Xiu J, Johnston C, Goldberg RM, Philip PA, Seeber A, Naseem M, Lo JH, Arai H, Battaglin F, Puccini A, Berger MD, Soni S, Zhang W, Hwang JJ, Shields AF, Marshall JL, Baba H, Korn WM, Lenz HJ (2019) Molecular profiling of appendiceal adenocarcinoma and comparison with right-sided and left-sided colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res 25(10):3096–3103
- 66. Mabe NW, Fox DB, Lupo R, Decker AE, Phelps SN, Thompson JW, Alvarez JV (2018) Epigenetic silencing of tumor suppressor Par-4 promotes chemoresistance in recurrent breast cancer. J Clin Invest 128(10):4413–4428
- 67. Srinivasan S, Ranga RS, Burikhanov R, Han SS, Chendil D (2007) Par-4-dependent apoptosis by the dietary compound withaferin a in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 67(1):246–253
- 68. Azmi AS, Ahmad A, Banerjee S, Rangnekar VM, Mohammad RM, Sarkar FH (2008) Chemoprevention of pancreatic cancer: characterization of Par-4 and its modulation by 3,3' diindolylmethane (DIM). Pharm Res 25(9):2117–2124
- Sheedy TC, Heaton (2019) "HPV-associated oropharyngeal cancer." JAAPA 32(9): 26–31
- Strong VE, (2018) "Progress in gastric cancer." Updates Surg 70(2): 157–159
- 71. Shelke GV, Jagtap JC, Kim DK, Shah RD, Das G, Shivayogi M, Pujari R, Shastry P (2017) "TNF-alpha and IFN-gamma Together Up-Regulates Par-4 Expression and Induce Apoptosis in Human Neuroblastomas." Biomedicines 6(1):4
- 72. Tate JG, Bamford S, Jubb HC, Sondka Z, Beare DM, Bindal N, Boutselakis H, Cole CG, Creatore C, Dawson E, Fish P, Harsha B, Hathaway C, Jupe SC, Kok CY, Noble K, Ponting L, Ramshaw CC, Rye CE, Speedy HE, Stefancsik R, Thompson SL, Wang S, Ward S, Campbell PJ, Forbes SA (2019). "COSMIC: the Catalogue Of Somatic Mutations In Cancer." Nucleic Acids Res 47(D1): D941–D947.
- 73. Shihab HA, Gough J, Cooper DN, Day IN, Gaunt TR (2013). "Predicting the functional consequences of cancer-associated amino acid substitutions." Bioinformatics 29(12): 1504–1510
- 74. https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/drugs/colorectal



Role of Par-4 in Radiation Sensitivity of Cancer

Seema Gupta, Amogh Narendra, Satvik Lolla, Muskan Qureshi, Muhammad Hamza Qureshi, and Mansoor M. Ahmed

Abstract

Radiation dose and fraction play an important role in dictating the pro-survival and pro-apoptotic effects. Prosurvival pathways that affect radiation response include NF-kB, Bcl-2, oncogenic K-RAS, whereas cytokines such as TRAIL and TNF- α influence the pro-apoptotic effects of radiation. Prostate apoptosis response-4 (PAR-4) plays an important role in abrogating pro-survival effects of radiation and synergizes radiation-induced proapoptotic effects. This chapter analyzes and explores distinct and unique pathways of PAR-4 that block the survival effects of oncogenic NF-kB, K-RAS, and Bcl-2 and synergize the effects of radiation. On the other hand, PAR-4 partners with radiation-induced cytokines such as TNF-α and TRAIL to augment radiation-induced apoptosis of cancer cells. Hence, preclinical studies demonstrate that PAR-4 protein and agonist of PAR-4 can be radiation sensitizers. These studies warrant clinical trial concepts with radiation and PAR-4 therapy.

S. Gupta

A. Narendra University of Maryland, College Park, MD, USA

S. Lolla \cdot M. Qureshi \cdot M. H. Qureshi Montgomery County Public Schools, Rockville, MD, USA

M. M. Ahmed () Radiation Research Program, Division of Cancer Treatment and Diagnosis, National Cancer Institute/National Institutes of Health, Rockville, MD, USA

e-mail: ahmedmm@mail.nih.gov; mansoor.ahmed@nih.gov

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Par-4 \cdot Ionizing \ radiation \cdot Solid \ tumors \cdot Apoptosis \cdot \\ K-RAS \cdot Bcl-2 \cdot NF-\kappa B \cdot TRAIL \cdot TNF-\alpha \end{array}$

1 Introduction

Ionizing radiation (IR) is an essential component of many treatment regimens for cancer. Presently, radiation therapy is utilized in approximately 50% of cancer cases as either a palliative treatment to reduce pain or, in most cases, as a mechanism to cure cancer [1]. IR generates high energy particles or waves that deposit in tissues that can directly or indirectly cause single and double-strand breaks in DNA or can cause damage to the cell membrane. Low LET radiation such as gamma radiation and X-ray radiation causes 60% of DNA damage through indirect action mediated by the generation of free radicals and 40 percent of DNA damage through direct action [2]. The lesions in DNA result in multiple cellular responses, including the arrest of cell cycle progression at certain cell cycle checkpoints and DNA repair. The accumulation of residual unrepaired or mis-repaired DNA can cause the death of the progeny of cells following several mitotic cycles in a process otherwise known as a mitotic catastrophe. The accumulation of DNA damage can also result in the induction of apoptosis, resulting in cell death [3].

Apoptotic cell death is a form of genetically programmed cell death and is modulated by several signaling molecules. One of such molecules is PAR-4 (prostate apoptosis response-4). This transcription modulator translocates to the nucleus following extrinsic or intrinsic apoptotic pathway activation and modulates chromatin transcription to inhibit pro-survival pathways and initiate apoptosis [4]. PAR-4 regulates apoptosis through its interactions with cytokines, RAS, and NF- κ B pathway, including pro-survival proteins such as Bcl-2. Notably, while overexpression of PAR-4 or its ectopic expression can induce apoptosis as it remains sequestered

Disclaimer: Dr. Ahmed contributed to this article in his personal capacity from data obtained from his previous affiliations. The views expressed are his own and do not necessarily represent the views of the National Institutes of Health or National Cancer Institute, or the United States Government.

Lombardi Comprehensive Cancer Center, Georgetown University Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: sg1335@georgetown.edu

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), Tumor Suppressor Par-4, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_5

in the cytoplasm by 14-3-3 protein following binding and phosphorylation of PAR-4 by Akt1 [5]. However, endogenous PAR-4 is required for apoptosis induction by exogenous death signals such as IR. IR can induce several pro-survival pathways, such as NF- κ B [6], by promoting apoptosis PAR-4 abrogates innate mechanisms of radiation resistance within cancer cells. This chapter will discuss the interaction of PAR-4 protein with IR-induced signaling pathways, particularly involving NF- κ B, K-RAS, Bcl-2, TNF- α , and TRAIL pathways, leading to the radiation sensitivity of cancer cells.

2 Radiation-Induced Signaling Pathways

IR induces a complex network of cellular pathways leading to either cell survival or death [7]. IR results in the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that generate DNA damage, causing changes in chromatin structure, resulting in the autophosphorylation of ATM, which promotes the formation of repair complexes and the substrate phosphorylation of p53 [8]. The activation of p53 results in the transient expression of p21, causing G1 arrest to prevent progression of the cell cycle with DNA damage accumulation, thus allowing repair and the cell survival. However, the accumulation of irreparable DNA damage is sensed by the p53 damage sensor, resulting in the activation of Bax, a pro-apoptotic protein that induces cell death [8]. IR induces MAP3K, PI3K, and MAPK8 in the cytoplasm, modulating cells' proliferation and survival. The activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) by IR results in a cytoprotective response through the MAPK and MAPK8 pathways [9]. Furthermore, IR-induced phosphorylation of EGFR results in the activation of RAS that induces the activation of PI3K [10]. PI3K under normal conditions is meant to protect cells from cell death caused by deprivation of growth factors. PI3K induces the activation of NF-kB via the PI3K/Akt axis, which results in the translocation of NF- κ B to the nucleus promoting the transcription of pro-survival proteins such as Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL [11]. Furthermore, IR can also induce abscopal (distal) effects or bystander effects via the release of cytokines such as TNF- α and TRAIL. TNF- α binds to TNF receptors that either induce cell apoptosis via the activation of the caspase pathway or promote cell survival via the PI3K/Akt axis in bystander cells.

TRAIL binds to the DR4 or DR5 and can induce cell apoptosis via the caspase pathway in bystander cells [12]. Irrespective of intrinsic radiation sensitivity status, secretory and membrane-bound TRAIL induced after irradiation was found to mediate the translocation of PAR-4 to the nucleus, resulting in cell death by apoptosis [13]. These findings suggest that PAR-4 plays an essential role in defining cancer cells' radiation sensitivity by interacting with and regulating IR-induced signaling pathways, as discussed in the following sections.

2.1 NF-κB and PAR-4

NF-κB is a vital transcription factor complex that plays a critical role in regulating the expression of many genes, including pathways that control the immune response, inflammation, development, cellular growth, and apoptosis [14–16]. It is involved in cellular responses to stimuli such as stress, cytokines, free radicals, and radiation [17, 18]. When NF-κB is misregulated, it can lead to different disease states, including multiple cancer types [19]. In cancer, proteins that control NF-κB signaling are mutated or aberrantly expressed, leading to defective coordination between the malignant cells and the rest of the organism [17]. This is evident both in metastasis and the inefficient eradication of the tumor by the immune system.

The pro-survival functions of NF- κ B are well established. They are mediated by upregulation of anti-apoptotic genes such as TRAF1, TRAF2, Bcl-2, and Bcl-XL, ultimately abrogating the caspases' activities, central to most apoptotic processes [20]. Accordingly, defects in NF- κ B regulation and signaling results in increased susceptibility to apoptosis, leading to increased cell death. IR acts as a potent inducer of NF- κ B [6, 18] and upregulates Bcl-2 in cells that lack wildtype p53, leading to enhanced radiation resistance [21].

PAR-4 has a nuclear localization sequence, NLS2, and can be translocated to the nucleus, a process facilitated by PKA phosphorylation [22]. However, PAR-4 can inhibit NF-kB activity both in the cytoplasm and in the nucleus (reviewed in 4). PAR-4 inhibits PKC activity in the cytoplasm, and atypical PKC, by preventing the ZPKC-mediated phosphorylation of IkB. Since active IkB is vital for nuclear translocation and NF-κB activity, PAR-4 inhibits NF-κB function through **ZPKC** blockade. Similarly, in the nucleus, PAR-4 inhibits the transcriptional activity of NF-kB, although the precise mechanisms of their interaction are not known. However, it has been suggested that PAR-4 can inhibit NF-kB, for example, by its interaction with corepressors or direct DNA binding. Indeed, the overexpression of PAR-4 has been shown to decrease the DNA binding activity of NF-kB and its activation, leading to significantly reduced levels of Bcl-2 [23]. Together, these reports demonstrate that suppression of NF-kB activity plays a significant role in the pro-apoptotic functions of PAR-4 (Fig. 1).

Since PAR-4 is a pro-apoptotic gene that also abrogates oncogenic RAS or TNF- α -induced NF- κ B activity, ectopic expression of PAR-4 represses the radio-induction of NF- κ B and Bcl-2 proteins, leading to sensitization of the p53 null cancer cells to IR-induced apoptosis [17]. These findings



Fig. 1 PAR-4 inhibits NF- κ B activity. Tumors with high NF- κ B activity and Bcl-2 expression force downregulation of PAR-4 expression, providing a survival advantage (Left). Radiation activates NF- κ B and Bcl-2 expression through TNF- α and will have an impact on function of

showed that enforced expression of PAR-4 could control p53 null radio-resistant tumors by inhibiting NF- κ B activity and thereby inducing apoptosis in a p53-independent manner. Hence, PAR-4 gene therapy or PAR-4 agonist can play important translational roles in clinical settings.

3 Anti-Apoptotic Proteins and PAR-4

The relative levels of anti- and pro-apoptotic proteins regulate cell survival or death, respectively. One of the mechanisms through which anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members of proteins alter the cell death pathways is by blocking the function of pro-apoptotic proteins, such as Bax, Bid, Bad, and Bak. The Bcl-2 gene is responsible for preventing the Bax/Bak oligomerization, which would release pro-apoptotic molecules [24]. At the same time, Bax can also form a heterodimer with Bcl-2, accelerating apoptosis. Overexpression of Bcl-2 is documented in several cancers, more notably in prostate cancer. Previous studies showed that levels of Bcl-2

endogenous PAR-4 protein. Hence, ectopic expression of PAR-4 can abrogate radiation-induced NF- κ B and Bcl-2 expression and sensitize tumor cells to apoptosis (Right)

increase in androgen-independent prostate cancer, and there is a mutually exclusive interplay of levels between PAR-4 and BCL-2 in human prostate tumors [25]. Several studies had demonstrated that expression of Bcl-2 is regulated by several transcription factors, including p53, NF- κ B, Wilms' Tumor 1 (WT1), and PAR-4 [20, 26, 27]. There may be several mechanisms that exist in terms of regulatory interplay between Bcl-2 and PAR4.

3.1 Bcl-2 and PAR-4

In one such mechanism, there is the role of WT1 in regulating the expression of PAR-4 and Bcl-2. The regulatory region of the *bcl-2* gene has two promoter regions: P1 and P2. The P1 promoter is the primary transcriptional activator, whereas the P2 promoter only has primary functions in specific tissues and can transrepress P1 when p53 is present [24]. WT1 has been shown to bind to the -1460 and -1807 sites on the *bcl-2* P1 promoter to both transrepress and transactivate the

bcl-2 transcription [27]. Interestingly, PAR-4 regulates the expression of Bcl-2 both by binding to the specific regions of WT1 promoter as well as -1460 site of bcl-2 P1 promoter. Upon binding to the exon 5-encoded domain of WT1, endogenous PAR-4 acts as a co-activator of the WT1 gene, leading to increased Bcl-2 expression. On the other hand, increased PAR-4 in the nucleus (due to ectopic or over-expressed PAR-4) acts as a transcriptional repressor as it binds the zinc fingers of WT1, leading to reduced expression of Bcl-2. Furthermore, ectopic PAR-4 can bind to the -1460 site of bcl-2 P1 promoter in a complex with WT1, transcriptionally repressing the expression of Bcl-2 [27]. When such ectopic PAR-4 complex localizes to the nucleus, it can bind to WT1 and the bcl-2 P1 promoter. In this case, PAR-4/WT1 will limit the amount of Bcl-2 present in cancer cells by inhibiting the P1 promoter [27]. This will change the Bcl-2:Bax ratio, causing the cell to undergo apoptosis since, in the absence of low levels of Bcl-2, Bax binds to the cellular mitochondria and activates cytochrome C. This then causes apoptosis by activating APAF1 that cleaves caspase 9, releasing its activated form [28].

Interestingly, in prostate cancer cell lines, it has been shown that upon treatment with TNF- α , NF- κ B transcriptionally activates Bcl-2 through its binding site on the P2 promoter of *bcl-2*, leading to cell survival [29]. This signaling event is further supported by a report that ectopic PAR-4 abrogates radiation-induced NF-kB (radiation is a potent inducer of TNF- α) and Bcl-2 induction to sensitize the effects of radiation in prostate cancer cells [18]. Hence, the role of PAR-4 in regulating the transcriptional activity of NF- κ B needs to be explored. Nevertheless, it is established that PAR-4 is a unique pro-apoptotic gene that regulates the expression of anti-apoptotic molecule Bcl-2 and the activity of pro-survival transcription factor NF- κ B. Based on the above mechanism, ectopic PAR-4 protein can have a significant translational impact.

4 RAS Signaling and PAR-4

The family of RAS genes (H-, K-, and N-RAS) are oncogenes that control cell growth, cell maturation, and cell death. In particular, K-RAS mutations are common in multiple cancers such as lung, pancreatic and colorectal cancer, mainly, K-RAS G12C mutation is extremely prevalent in small cell lung and pancreatic cancers [30]. Hence, oncogenic RAS is known to inhibit cell death and growth-inhibitory genes and activate pro-survival genes. The pro-apoptotic gene PAR-4 is a target of the RAS pathway and is reportedly downregulated by oncogenic RAS. In pancreatic tumors, low expression levels of PAR-4 correlated with the K-RAS mutational status. In this study, PAR-4 mRNA and protein expression were associated with prolonged survival in patients instead of tumors with null or low expression. This clinical observation is supported by in vitro studies whereby transient overexpression of oncogenic RAS in wild-type K-RAS cells significantly downregulated the endogenous PAR-4 protein levels and conferred accelerated growth. Hence, downregulation or loss of PAR-4 function by oncogenic RAS could provide a selective survival advantage for solid tumors by inhibiting the pro-apoptotic pathway mediated by PAR-4. Based on the functional role of PAR-4 in cell death and since several solid tumors harbor a high incidence of RAS mutations, it is well-reasoned that the downregulation of PAR-4 due to mutations in K-RAS will result in the impairment or dysregulation of apoptotic mechanism and thus render selective survival advantage for solid tumors [31].

4.1 K-RAS and PAR-4

Oncogenic RAS pathway has been found to cause DNA methylation in RAS mutant cell lines; notably, there is an association of K-RAS mutation to DNA methylation [32]. Such an increase in DNA methylation leads to PAR-4 down-regulation rendering survival advantage (Fig. 2). Methylation of promoters is directly linked to DNA methyltransferase enzyme levels (DNMT).

Many reports have demonstrated elevated levels of DNMT expression and activity in tumors with oncogenic RAS mutations. Thus, the inactivation of pro-apoptotic and growth-inhibitory genes by oncogenic RAS may be directly linked to the elevated levels of DNMT that mediates the silencing of promoters through the epigenetic methylation process. Several agents can block DNA methylation and restore the expression of pro-apoptotic proteins. To establish the link with oncogenic RAS to elevated levels of DNMTs to PAR-4 downregulation, agents blocking oncogenic RAS function should influence the levels of PAR-4 protein. One such agent is the farnesyl-transferase inhibitor (FTI) that blocks the oncogenic K-RAS function. FTI was tested to restore TGF-B type RII expression as the RII promoter is methylated in pancreatic tumors [33]. It was found that FTI significantly downregulates the mRNA and protein levels of DNMT-1, and this led to re-expression of RII, suggesting that FTI-mediated inhibition of oncogenic RAS function will inhibit the DNA methylation process via downregulation of DNMT-1. Hence, in the context of PAR-4, the FTI can potentially restore PAR-4 protein and function via inhibition of DNMT-1 expression and further sensitize to the effects of IR (Fig. 2). Similarly, 5-Azacytidine can directly restore PAR-4 expression and cooperate with radiation effects to render apoptosis (Fig. 2) [30].



Fig. 2 Oncogenic RAS downregulates PAR-4. Oncogenic RAS inactivates pro-apoptotic proteins such as PAR-4 through DNMTs that are generally elevated in tumors with oncogenic RAS mutations, leading to survival (Left). Agents such as FTI can restore PAR-4 activity either by

blocking the oncogenic K-RAS function or potentially inhibiting DNMTs (that silence promoters through epigenetic methylation) that are also induced by IR, leading to enhanced apoptosis (Right)

5 Cytokines and PAR-4

IR induces the upregulation and secretion of a wide variety of inflammation-related cytokines including TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IFNs, G-CSF, VEGF, and EGFR within minutes to hours of irradiation through changes in gene transcription initiated by redox-sensitive transcription factors such as NF- κ B, early growth response 1 (Egr-1), and AP-1 and in response to changes in chromatin structure. Control of redoxsensitive transcription factors is initiated by an increase in ROS caused by free radical formation induced by IR [34]. Besides, IR can induce the upregulation of inflammatory cytokine receptors such as TRAIL-R1 and TRAIL-R2, also known as DR4 and DR5.

The transcription of TRAIL-R1 and TRAII-R2 is inducible via a p53-dependent DNA damage sensing pathway. The release of TRAIL is induced at high doses of IR [13]. Similarly, cytokine TNF- α can be induced at both low and high doses of IR and found to be regulated by NF- κ B. The positive feedback loop of NF- κ B \rightarrow TNF- α \rightarrow NF- κ B occurs within irradiated cells and bystander cells not exposed to IR by binding of TNF- α to TNFR2 [35]. Apart from the effects of radiation on these cytokines, there exist discrete modulation of PAR-4 in response to cytokines, which is partly mediated by secondary messenger cascades initiated from the binding of the cytokines, TNF- α and TRAIL to the extracellular TNF receptors and DR-4/5, respectively. TRAIL is secreted by cells in response to cellular damage and acts as a paracrine and autocrine signaling mechanism.

The binding of TRAIL to either DR4 or DR5 results in the heterodimerization of c-FLIP and Procaspase-8 through FADD recruitment, creating the active Caspase-8 dimer. The active Caspase-8 dimer activates Caspase-3 by proteolytic cleavage. Caspase-3 is proposed to cleave 14-3-3, which is complexed to phosphorylated PAR-4. The cleavage of 14-3-3 results in the dissociation of PAR-4 from the phosphate group and 14-3-3, resulting in the active form of PAR-4. PAR-4 can then translocate to the nucleus and modulate DNA transcription in the nucleus to promote intracellular apoptosis (Fig. 3) [13]. TNF- α is also secreted by cells in

response to cellular damage and acts as a paracrine and autocrine signaling mechanism. TNF- α binds to either a TNF receptor complexed with FADD or TRAF2. FADD recruitment following TNF- α binding results in the heterodimerization of c-FLIP and Procaspase-8, creating an active form of Caspase-8, leading to the induction of PAR-4- and Caspase3-mediated apoptosis. TRAF-2 induces inflammation or survival by the PI3K/Akt axis in response to TNF- α binding to the TNF receptor [36]. Akt is proposed to phosphorylate PAR-4 mediating the formation of the 14-3-3 phosphorylated PAR-4 complex, which inactivates PAR-4 minimizing the effect of PAR-4-mediated apoptosis (Fig. 3) [37]. The



Fig. 3 Role of IR-induced cytokines in activation of PAR-4. IR induces the release of TRAIL and TNF- α from cancerous cells, endothelial cells, or immune cells, which bind to cancer cells. The binding of TNF- α to TNFR1 and TRAIL to either DR4 or DR5 results in the initiation of apoptosis via the Caspase-3 pathway. Caspase-3 has been demonstrated to cleave the PAR-4 and 14-3-3 complex resulting in the translocation of PAR-4 to the nucleus where transcription modulation occurs to promote apoptosis. The binding of TNF- α to TNFR2 initiates the activation of the PI3K/Akt axis which is purported to phosphorylate the PAR-4 and 14-3-3 complex inactivating PAR-4. IR can also directly induce the secretion of PAR-4 by the ER and translocates its receptor to the cell membrane initiating a positive feedback loop that further activates the Caspase-3 pathway in bystander cells PI3K/Akt axis promotes the upregulation of NF-κB, enabling the transcription of pro-survival proteins. The duality of TNF-α as a cytokine is unique to the TNF family and has a dual indirect effect on the activity of PAR-4. In response to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, PAR-4 and glucoseregulated protein-78 (GRP78), known as BiP, is translocated from the ER to the membrane and acts as a positive feedback loop that induces further activation of PAR-4 [38].

5.1 Radiation-Induced Cytokines and PAR-4

Radiation is a potent inducer of cytokines, including TNF- α , TRAIL, and TGF- β . Radiation dose-fraction dictates the extent of secretion of these cytokines. It is reported that compared to 2 Gy radiation dose (clinically relevant dose), doses greater than 10 Gy robustly induce several cytokines that have dramatic effects within and outside the tumor microenvironment. One study demonstrated that 10 Gy induced the transactivation function of EGR-1 to elevate TNF- α levels leading to concomitant dual effects. Secreted TNF-α exerts extrinsic apoptosis and clonogenic death in irradiated and non-irradiated cells. Simultaneously, there is increased activation of NF-kB, leading to pro-survival events in irradiated and non-irradiated cells. The ratio between these two events dictates the fate of cells. TRAIL is another cytokine that plays an essential role in utilizing the PAR-4 function for radiation effects. High dose of IR caused enhanced secretion of TRAIL, particularly the soluble form. The TRAIL caused PAR-4 mobilization to the nucleus through the TRAIL R1 receptor because both TRAIL forms activate this receptor. TRAIL signaling leads to activation of initiator and effector caspases that mediate the apoptotic events. Such mobilization of PAR-4 by TRAIL leads to the cleavage of 14-3-3 proteins by caspases, which mobilizes PAR-4 to the nucleus, analogous to the association of BAD with Bcl-xL.

It has been shown that PAR-4 can be secreted by normal and cancer cells, and exposure to the ER stress-inducing agents such as TRAIL further increased its secretion [38]. The secreted extracellular PAR-4 induced apoptosis by binding to the stress response protein, GRP78 on the surface via ER stress, and activation of the FADD/caspase-8/caspase-3 pathway (Fig. 3). It has been shown that IR-induced levels of either secretory or membrane-bound TRAIL mediate translocation of PAR-4 to the nucleus leading to apoptosis [13], suggesting that IR may facilitate the release of PAR-4 from ER (Fig. 3).

Summary and Future Directions

Overexpression of Bcl-2, constitutive NF- κ B activation, and oncogenic K-RAS signaling are characteristics intrinsic hallmarks across several solid tumors. On the other hand, radiation dose-fraction is known to induce pro-survival pathways that utilize the functions of NF- κ B, Bcl-2, and K-RAS signaling. Maintaining the PAR-4 function in the above characteristic tumor microenvironment can help curtail survival advantage in tumor cells. Furthermore, ectopic PAR-4 therapy can abrogate radiation therapy-induced pro-survival protein function and synergize the effects of radiation. This strong preclinical evidence warrants designing new clinical trial concepts with radiation and ectopic PAR-4 therapy in solid tumors that usually demonstrate higher levels of Bcl-2, increased activation of NF- κ B and K-RAS oncogenic mutation.

References

6

- Jaffray DA & Gospodarowicz MK (2015) Radiation therapy for cancer. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK343621/
- Santivasi WL, Xia F (2014) Ionizing radiationinduced DNA damage, response, and repair. Antioxid Redox Signal 21(2):251–259. https://doi.org/10.1089/ ars.2013.5668. Epub 2014 Feb 3. PMID: 24180216.
- Ross GM (1999) Induction of cell death by radiotherapy. Endocr Relat Cancer 6(1):41–44. https://doi.org/10.1677/erc.0.0060041. PMID: 10732785.
- Hebbar N, Wang C, Rangnekar VM (2012) Mechanisms of apoptosis by the tumor suppressor Par-4. J Cell Physiol 227:3715–3721. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.24098
- Zhao Y, Rangnekar VM (2008) Apoptosis and tumor resistance conferred by Par-4. Cancer Biol Ther 7:1867–1874. https://doi. org/10.4161/cbt.7.12.6945
- Kim BY et al (2005) NF-kappaB inhibition radiosensitizes Ki-Rastransformed cells to ionizing radiation. Carcinogenesis 26:1395– 1403. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgi081
- Maier P, Hartmann L, Wenz F, Herskind C (2016) Cellular pathways in response to ionizing radiation and their targetability for tumor radiosensitization. Int J Mol Sci 17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms17010102
- Fei P, El-Deiry WS (2003) P53 and radiation responses. Oncogene 22:5774–5783. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1206677
- Dent P, Yacoub A, Fisher PB, Hagan MP, Grant S (2003) MAPK pathways in radiation responses. Oncogene 22:5885–5896. https:// doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1206701
- McKenna WG, Muschel RJ, Gupta AK, Hahn SM, Bernhard EJ (2003) The RAS signal transduction pathway and its role in radiation sensitivity. Oncogene 22:5866–5875. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.onc.1206699
- Hein AL et al (2020) Radiation-induced signaling pathways that promote cancer cell survival (review). Int J Oncol 45:1813–1819. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2014.2614

- Gupta S, Ahmed MM (2004) A global perspective of radiationinduced signal transduction pathways in cancer therapeutics. Indian J Exp Biol 42:1153
- Shareef MM et al (2007) Role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and TRAIL in high-dose radiation-induced bystander signaling in lung adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res 67:11811–11820. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0722
- Liu T, Zhang L, Joo D, Sun SC (2017) NF-kappaB signaling in inflammation. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2. https://doi. org/10.1038/sigtrans.2017.23
- Guttridge DC, Albanese C, Reuther JY, Pestell RG, Baldwin AS Jr (1999) NFkappaB controls cell growth and differentiation through transcriptional regulation of cyclin D1. Mol Cell Biol 19:5785– 5799. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.19.8.5785
- Oeckinghaus A, Ghosh S (2009) The NF-kappaB family of transcription factors and its regulation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 1:a000034. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a000034
- Vlahopoulos SA (2017) Aberrant control of NF-kappaB in cancer permits transcriptional and phenotypic plasticity, to curtail dependence on host tissue: molecular mode. Cancer Biol Med 14:254– 270. https://doi.org/10.20892/j.issn.2095-3941.2017.0029
- Chendil D, Das A, Dey S, Mohiuddin M, Ahmed MM (2002) Par-4, a pro-apoptotic gene, inhibits radiation-induced NF kappa B activity and Bcl-2 expression leading to induction of radiosensitivity in human prostate cancer cells PC-3. Cancer Biol Ther 1:152–160. https://doi.org/10.4161/cbt.61
- Xia Y, Shen S, Verma IM (2014) NF-kappaB, an active player in human cancers. Cancer Immunol Res 2:823–830. https://doi. org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0112
- Verzella D et al (2020) Life, death, and autophagy in cancer: NF-kappaB turns up everywhere. Cell Death Dis 11:210. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-2399-y
- Kariya S et al (1999) X-irradiation enhances the expression of Bcl-2 in HL-60 cells: the resulting effects on apoptosis and radiosensitivity. Int J Mol Med 3:145–152. https://doi.org/10.3892/ ijmm.3.2.145
- El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23:5516–5525. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.23.16.5516-5525.2003
- 23. Camandola S, Mattson MP (2000) Pro-apoptotic action of PAR-4 involves inhibition of NFkappaB activity and suppression of BCL-2 expression. J Neurosci Res 61:134–139. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4547(20000715)61:2<134::AID-JNR3>3.0.CO;2-P
- Xiong YX et al (2016) Blocking the binding of WT1 to bcl-2 promoter by G-quadruplex ligand SYUIQ-FM05. Biochem Biophys Rep 5:346–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrep.2015.12.014

- 25. Qiu G et al (1999) Mutually exclusive expression patterns of Bcl-2 and Par-4 in human prostate tumors consistent with downregulation of Bcl-2 by Par-4. Oncogene 18:623–631. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.onc.1202344
- Miyashita T, Harigai M, Hanada M, Reed JC (1994) Identification of a p53-dependent negative response element in the bcl-2 gene. Cancer Res 54:3131–3135
- Cheema SK et al (2003) Par-4 transcriptionally regulates Bcl-2 through a WT1-binding site on the bcl-2 promoter. J Biol Chem 278:19995–20005. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M205865200
- Westphal D, Dewson G, Czabotar PE, Kluck RM (2011) Molecular biology of Bax and Bak activation and action. Biochim Biophys Acta 1813:521–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2010.12.019
- Catz SD, Johnson JL (2001) Transcriptional regulation of bcl-2 by nuclear factor kappa B and its significance in prostate cancer. Oncogene 20:7342–7351. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1204926
- Pylayeva-Gupta Y, Grabocka E, Bar-Sagi D (2011) RAS oncogenes: weaving a tumorigenic web. Nat Rev Cancer 11:761–774. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3106
- Ahmed MM et al (2008) Downregulation of PAR-4, a pro-apoptotic gene, in pancreatic tumors harboring K-ras mutation. Int J Cancer 122:63–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.23019
- Tew BY et al (2020) Genome-wide DNA methylation analysis of KRAS mutant cell lines. Sci Rep 10:10149. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-020-66797-x
- 33. Alcock RA et al (2002) Farnesyltransferase inhibitor (L-744,832) restores TGF-beta type II receptor expression and enhances radiation sensitivity in K-ras mutant pancreatic cancer cell line MIA PaCa-2. Oncogene 21:7883–7890. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.onc.1205948
- Schaue D, Kachikwu EL, McBride WH (2012) Cytokines in radiobiological responses: a review. Radiat Res 178:505–523. https:// doi.org/10.1667/RR3031.1
- 35. Veeraraghavan J, Natarajan M, Aravindan S, Herman TS, Aravindan N (2011) Radiation-triggered tumor necrosis factor (TNF) alpha-NFkappaB cross-signaling favors survival advantage in human neuroblastoma cells. J Biol Chem 286:21588–21600. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M110.193755
- Sheng Y, Li F, Qin Z (2018) TNF receptor 2 makes tumor necrosis factor a friend of tumors. Front Immunol 9:1170. https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01170
- Goswami A, Ranganathan P, Rangnekar VM (2006) The phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt1/Par-4 axis: a cancer-selective therapeutic target. Cancer Res 66:2889–2892. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-4458
- Burikhanov R et al (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138:377–388. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.022



Prostate Apoptosis Response-4: a Therapeutic Target for Malignant Gliomas

Jeevan Ghosalkar, Vinay Sonawane, Mohsina Khan, Kalpana Joshi, and Padma Shastry

Abstract

Gliomas are the most common type of primary brain tumors and glioblastoma (GBM), the most lethal of gliomas accounts for more than 60% of all brain tumors in adults. Despite the advances in multimodal therapies over the last two decades, the prognosis is extremely poor. Various factors including glioma stem cells (GSC), genetic mutations, epigenetic modifications, and dysregulated pathways cumulatively render the GBM resistant to radiation and chemotherapies. While efforts are on to develop new drugs that can efficiently cross the bloodbrain barrier (BBB), it has become important to identify novel strategies and molecular targets that reduce the tumor size, increase overall survival, progression-free survival and improve the quality of life. Prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) is a unique tumor suppressor with the ability to selectively induce apoptosis in cancer cells but not kill the normal cells. The pro-apoptotic activity of Par-4 is exerted in an autocrine as well as paracrine manner. Furthermore, various inducers and secretagogues of Par-4 which have the ability to upregulate both intracellular and secretory Par-4 are being explored as strategies for cancer therapy. This chapter provides an overview of gliomas with a focus on GBM and the challenges in the development of drugs for the treatment of GBM. Also, we discuss the importance of microenvironment and the potential role of Par-4 in the highly interconnected signaling network thereby highlighting the importance of Par-4 as an exciting therapeutic target.

J. Ghosalkar · V. Sonawane · K. Joshi (🖂)

Cell Biology Division, Cipla Ltd., Vikhroli, Mumbai, Maharashtra, India

e-mail: kalpana.joshi@cipla.com

M. Khan · P. Shastry (🖂) National Centre for Cell Sciences (NCCS), Pune, Maharashtra, India

Keywords

 $Gliomas \cdot Glioblastoma (GBM) \cdot Microenvironment \cdot \\Dysregulation \cdot Tumor suppressors \cdot Prostate apoptosis \\response-4 (Par-4)$

Abbreviations

AG	Anaplastic glioma	
BBB	Blood-brain barrier	
CNS	Central nervous system	
CSC	Cancer stem cells	
ECM	Extracellular matrix	
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor	
GBM	Glioblastoma/glioblastoma multiforme	
GSC	Glioma stem cells	
HAT	Histone acetyltransferases	
HDAC	Histone deacetylases	
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor	
HGG	High-grade gliomas	
HIFs	Hypoxia-inducible factors	
HIFα	Hypoxia-inducible factor alpha	
IDH	Isocitrate dehydrogenase	
LGG	Low-grade gliomas	
MES	Mesenchymal	
MGMT	(O[6]-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase)	
NSC	Neural stem cells	
Par-4	Prostate apoptosis response-4	
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor	
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase	
PKB	Protein kinase B or Akt	
PN	Proneural	
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog	
QOL	Quality of Life	
RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase	
SHH	Sonic hedgehog	

TAM	Tamoxifen		
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β		
TIL	Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes		
TME	Tumor microenvironment		
TMZ	Temozolomide		
TTF	Tumor-treating field		
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor		

1 Introduction and Classification of Gliomas

Brain tumors are uncontrolled growth of heterogeneous cell types in the central nervous system (CNS). De novo accumulation of mutations majorly in genes regulating cell cycle gives rise to primary brain tumors (low grade) which can advance to higher grades with additional mutations [1]. The highest incidence of CNS tumors is reported from China, the USA, and India [2]. Majority (>90%) of primary CNS tumors occur in the brain [3] and according to the National Brain Tumor Society, USA, there are more than 120 different types of brain tumors. The most prevalent brain tumors are intracranial metastases from systemic cancers, meningiomas, and gliomas. Other tumors categorized as brain tumors are astrocytomas, meningiomas, pituitary tumors, craniopharyngiomas, medulloblastomas, primary CNS lymphomas, and schwannomas [4].

Gliomas are the most common and predominant type of brain tumors and account for about 80% of all malignant brain tumors [5]. Gliomas originate from glial cells and may arise from neuroglial stem cells, progenitor cells, or differentiated astrocytes; however, the specific cell origin of gliomas remains a debatable issue [6]. The World Health Organization (WHO) has classified brain tumors into four grades based on the histological features, phenotypes of astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, and degree of malignancy [7]. Grade I gliomas are slow growing tumors with favorable prognosis and include pilocytic astrocytoma. Grade II are slow growing but invasive with infiltration into brain parenchyma; diffuse astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma are classified into this group. Grade III gliomas are highly proliferative with anaplastic features and have a propensity for recurrence; anaplastic astrocytoma and anaplastic oligodendroglioma are included in this group. Grade II and III gliomas are the most common glioma tumors and occur in young adults. Grade IV gliomas referred to as Grade IV astrocytoma or glioblastoma/glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) are highly heterogeneous and the most aggressive and malignant of gliomas [7–9]. Tumors in grades I and II are categorized as low-grade gliomas (LGG) and progressive tumors in grades III and IV that are rapidly proliferating are referred to as high-grade gliomas (HGG). Grade IV astrocytomas or GBM are characterized by excessive vascularization, are highly invasive in the brain regions but rarely metastasize to other organs. GBM is the only solid tumor that is defined as a high-grade tumor in the absence of any metastatic component [10]. GBM accounts for 16% of all primary brain tumors and 54% of all gliomas [11]. Despite the advancement in standard therapies in the past decades, the prognosis of GBM remains poor with the average survival period of 12–18 months; and only 25% of GBM patients survive more than 1 year and only 5% of patients survive more than 5 years [12].

GBMs are categorized into primary and secondary tumors based on the clinical and pathological features [13]. GBMs that arise de novo are known as primary GBM and those developing from lower grade tumors (WHO grades II and III) are referred to as secondary GBM. Majority of the GBM tumors (about 80%) are primary tumors [14–17] and occur in patients over the age of 50 in contrast to secondary GBM which is seen in patients below the age of 45 years [13]. Tumors from both the categories present similar clinical features; but show distinct genetic alterations and molecular pathways, tumor behavior and response to treatment [13, 16]. While genetic alterations in EGFR, CDKNA-p16, and PTEN are common features of primary tumors, secondary GBM tumors are characterized by mutations in the isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (IDH 1) and TP53 [18].

The expanding applications of genomics, proteomics, bioinformatics, and epigenetics have provided valuable data for better understanding of different types of tumors. In-depth analysis using these technologies have aided in molecular profiling of tumors and identification of signaling pathways for revising classification of different tumors [19]. GBM has the distinction of being the first tumor to undergo comprehensive molecular characterization [20, 21]. Based on integration of large databases from TCGA, gene expression analysis, and transcriptome profiles, classification of GBM was restructured to include four subtypes, viz. proneural (PN), neural, classical, and mesenchymal (MES) [22, 23]. The MES and classical subtypes are highly aggressive GBM but patients in MES group have shorter overall survival (OS). The PN subtype is less aggressive with better prognosis. The GBM tumors of neural subtype display many genes related to neural development and function [21].

In the fifth edition series of the WHO classification (2016) of CNS tumors, the histological features of tumor as well as mutations were considered. Gliomas are categorized into two types based on their infiltrative behavior. Non-diffuse gliomas (non-infiltrating into the surrounding tissue including pilocytic and ependymoma) that include Grade I gliomas and can be almost completely treated by surgical resection. Diffused gliomas (capable of infiltrating in surrounding CNS tissues) represent highly infiltrative and malignant type of CNS tumors and are the most frequent types of gliomas, majorly occurring in adults. Histologically, astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma with diffusely infiltrative behavior and GBM are categorized under diffuse glioma. All the diffused astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma tumors are grouped together as they share similar growth pattern and genetic mutation in isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (IDH1) and isocitrate dehydrogenase 2 (IDH2) genes, which act as driver mutation for tumor incidence. Diffuse gliomas encompass Grade II, III (astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma), Grade IV GBM and diffuse glioma of childhood. Oligodendroglioma, under diagnostic procedure of oligodendroglioma and anaplastic oligodendroglioma with mutational status of IDH gene family and losses of whole arm of 1p and 19q (1p/19q codeletion) are also included in this category. Based on IDH mutations, GBM is divided into three subtypes: (1) GBM-IDH-wild type represents 90% of cases that correspond to primary or de novo GBM and occurs at or above the age of 55 years. (2) GBM-IDH-mutant constitutes 10% of cases that correspond to secondary GBM because of progression of lower grade of diffuse glioma and is more common in younger patients. (3) GBM, NOS (not otherwise specified) comprises the category of GBM where status of IDH1 could not be evaluated [22].

2 Etiology, Epidemiology, and Clinical Symptoms

2.1 Etiology

The etiology of GBM is not completely understood, and there is limited evidence of causal links that are associated with increased risk of the disease. Ionizing radiation and genetic predispositions are the most commonly established GBM risk factors. In less than 5% of all GBM cases, there is a familial link but the cause remains unknown most of the time [24]. Population-based studies consistently demonstrate that incidence of gliomas varies significantly by sex. Most gliomas occur with a 30–50% higher incidence in males, and the male predisposition of glial tumors increases with age in adult glioma [25].

2.2 Epidemiology

In 2017, there were ~120,000 diagnosed incident cases of brain cancer in the eight major markets (the USA, the UK, France, Italy, China, Japan, Spain. and Germany), and the number is expected to grow to 151,067 cases by 2027. Urban China is expected to see the highest rate of growth at an annual growth rate of 4%, with the number of diagnosed incident cases of brain cancer growing to 84,374 cases. In

2017, adults aged 60–69 years accounted for the highest proportion of the diagnosed incident cases of brain cancer in the 8 major markets, accounting for 20.11% of cases, while adults aged 70–79 years accounted for 19.17% of cases [24].

As per American Brain Tumor Association (ABTA) 2020Over 700,000 Americans are living with a brain tumor today.

- Nearly 80,000 people diagnosed with a primary brain tumor this year.
- About 28,000 kids in the USA are fighting brain tumors right now.
- In the year 2020, nearly 16,000 died as a result of a brain tumor.

Of the estimated 80,000 people diagnosed with a primary brain tumor in 2020, approximately one third had malignant tumors, with 17,000 deaths. The median age at diagnosis for all brain and CNS tumors is 59 years. Gliomas account for 24% of all primary brain and CNS tumors; these tumors vary greatly in histology from benign ependymoma tumors to the most aggressive and deadly Grade IV GBM. The annual incidence of malignant glioma in the USA is ~5/100,000 [26].

2.3 Clinical Symptoms

The symptoms of glioma vary by tumor type, size, location, and rate of growth. The first symptom of a brain tumor of any type can be a headache. The reason that patients get headaches is that these brain tumors cause increased pressure in the brain leading to cerebral edema or hemorrhage. The headache associated with a brain tumor is frequently worse in the morning and may be associated with nausea or vomiting. The ten most prevalent symptoms of gliomas are: seizures (37%), cognitive deficits (36%), drowsiness (35%), dysphagia (30%), headache (27%), confusion (27%), aphasia (24%), motor deficits (21%), fatigue (20%), and dyspnea (20%). IJzerman-Korevaar et al. have also reported the prevalence of symptoms in a phase wise manner. The five most prevalent symptoms in the diagnostic phase are cognitive deficits (36%), seizures (35%), headache (31%), dizziness (24%), and motor deficits (22%). In the treatment and follow-up phase, the most prevalent symptoms are seizures (37%), nausea/vomiting (23%), cognitive deficits (18%), fatigue (14%), visual deficits (13%), and anorexia (13%). In the end-of-life phase, drowsiness (81%), fatigue (50%), aphasia (48%), seizures (45%), cognitive deficits (44%), and motor deficits (44%) are most prevalent [26].

3 Survival Rate

Long-term survivors of GBM are rare. Several variables including tumor size and location determine a patient's survival chances. Age at diagnosis is yet another important factor that determines survival chances of patients; where young patients receive more aggressive and multimodal treatment. Functional status is yet another factor, which has negative correlation with age. Similarly, histologic and genetic factors also influence survival [27]. The median survival time with GBM is 15-16 months in patients who undergo surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation treatment [28]. Delayed diagnosis is the major reason behind poor patient outcomes and a major unmet need in the pharma market. To date, GBMs remain incurable and most of the time the available treatment is palliative. Despite all the advancement in diagnosis, new research in brain neoplasms and multidisciplinary treatment approach, the overall 5-year survival rate is still approximately 5% [29] which is one of the huge unmet needs. Average survival usually is less than 1 year; and if the tumor recurs, the survival rate decreases, with tumor progression and death in most GBM patients [24].

4 Current Approved Treatment Options for GBM

4.1 Surgery

Surgery remains to be the first choice for tumor de-bulking and accessing tissue samples for pathology. Surgical resection of GBMs after diagnosis is used to (a) relieve mass effect, (b) confirm the diagnosis pathologically, and (c) decide on the course of treatment. If neurological functions are not compromised, maximal tumor resection may be beneficial. However, a fine balance between the aggressive removal of malignant tissue and minimizing the risk of worsening or inducing new neurologic deficits that may negatively impact outcomes is also very important. Furthermore, residual microscopic disease invariably results in disease progression and recurrence within months. To develop such an optimal balance, the neurosurgeon must assess patient prognostic factors, including tumor location and size to determine the extent of resection (EOR) that provides maximal survival and functional benefit. To date, the best data available which helps to establish this fine balance comes from large institutional retrospective analyses. To develop surgical strategies, the relationship between EOR, tumor resectability, involvement of critical brain areas and risk must be carefully elucidated. Usually, the EOR threshold remains identical at 80% in most of the scenarios [30]. However, because of the highly infiltrative and heterogeneous nature of GBM, surgical resection alone leads to median survivals of only 3-6 months. With the development of radiotherapy,

postoperative survival has improved significantly to approximately 1 year. Currently, concomitant radiation and oral alkylating agent temozolomide (TMZ) extend the survival to 15–16 months [31].

4.2 Radiation Therapy

The post-surgery standard of care for patients 70 years or younger is partial-brain fractionated radiotherapy with concomitant administration of TMZ. For patients under 70 years, the optimal dose fractionation schedule for external beam radiation (EBRT) after surgery is 60 Gy in 2-Gy fractions administered over 6 weeks. For patients over 70 years, hypofractionated radiotherapy (HFRT) is recommended. Several recent studies suggest that the median OS of patients with HFRT increases to 20 months compared with conventional RT [31]. HFRT benefits patients in limiting tumor repopulation, increases cell kill and reduces the overall treatment time.

4.3 Chemotherapy

Due to the invasive nature of GBM, surgical resection rarely eliminates all tumor cells, and post-surgical treatment is usually necessary to prevent recurrence. Treatment varies depending on the age of the patient and stage of the disease. The most commonly prescribed GBM chemotherapy medications include (Fig. 1):

- TMZ, the current "gold standard" of care.
- Carmustine, another common medication for high-grade brain cancers.
- Bevacizumab, typically used as a second-line treatment for recurrent GBMs.
- Lomustine, which may help improve the efficacy of bevacizumab when both medications are administered at the same time.
- Cyclophosphamide.

4.3.1 Temozolomide (TMZ)

The standard-of-care TMZ is a DNA alkylating agent discovered in the 1970s and approved in 2005 by the FDA to treat newly diagnosed brain tumors. TMZ is an imidazotetrazine derivative. TMZ is not directly active but undergoes rapid non-enzymatic conversion at physiologic pH to its active metabolite 5-(3-methyltriazen-1-yl)-imidazole-4carboxamide (MTIC). The cytotoxicity of MTIC is thought to be primarily due to alkylation of DNA. Alkylation (methylation) occurs mainly at the O6 and N7 positions of guanine. TMZ responsive patients have O[6]-methyl-guanine methyl transferase (MGMT) genes with methylated promoters. These patients showed higher survival rate as compared



Fig. 1 Mode of action of alkylating agents approved for glioma. TMZ methylate DNA, at the N-7 or O-6 positions of guanine residues, damages the DNA and triggers the death of tumor cells. Carmustine and Lomustine alkylate DNA and inhibit several key enzymatic processes

by carbamoylation of amino acids in proteins. Activated form of cyclophosphamide, a phosphoramide mustard irreversibly cross-links with DNA both in between and within DNA strands at guanine N-7 positions and causes cell death

to those with hypomethylated MGMT genes. MGMT is a DNA repair enzyme that repairs the N7 and O6 positions of guanine alkylated by TMZ. Hence, MGMT gene methylation status remains an important biomarker for GBM prognosis [31]. However, TMZ presents unwanted toxicity and does not eliminate the disease. The approved dosage regimen for newly diagnosed GBM is 75 mg/m² for 42 days concomitant with focal radiotherapy followed by initial maintenance dose of 150 mg/m² once daily for days 1–5 of a 28-day cycle of TMZ for 6 cycles. The recommended dose for TMZ as an intravenous infusion over 90 min is the same as the dose for the oral capsule formulation.

4.3.2 Carmustine and Lomustine

Carmustine and Lomustine are nitrosoureas used in the treatment of certain neoplastic diseases. While Carmustine is a 1,3-bis (2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea, Lomustine is 1-(2-chloro-ethyl)-3-cyclohexyl-1-nitrosourea. Both Carmustine and Lomustine alkylates DNA and RNA. The drugs may also inhibit several key enzymatic processes by carbamoylation of amino acids in proteins. Due to their high lipophilicity and the relative lack of ionization at physiological pH, both drugs have high ability to cross the bloodbrain barrier quite effectively. Studies have revealed that their concentrations in the CSF are \geq 50% of those measured concurrently in plasma. The recommended dose of Carmustine as a single agent in previously untreated patients is 150–200 mg/m² intravenously every 6 weeks. This may be given as a single dose or divided into daily injections such as 75–100 mg/m² on two successive days. The recommended dose of Lomustine in adult and pediatric patients as a single agent in previously untreated patients is 130 mg/m² as a single oral dose every 6 weeks. In individuals with compromised bone marrow function, the dose should be reduced to 100 mg/m^2 every 6 weeks.

4.3.3 Bevacizumab

Bevacizumab, an anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) monoclonal antibody, was first approved by the FDA in 2004 to treat metastatic colorectal cancer. Since then, it has been approved for several different types of cancer, including GBM in 2009. VEGF is a broad mediator of tumor neovascularization, and VEGF expression is linked with GBM tumorigenicity. Hence, Bevacizumab is indicated for the treatment of GBM as a single agent for adult patients with progressive disease following prior therapy. However, a phase III "Avaglio" trial conducted on 921 patients and another phase III trial RTOG0825 conducted on 637 patients showed no change in OS. Therefore, bevacizumab treatment is an option reserved only for patients with recurrent GBM.

4.3.4 Cyclophosphamide

Cyclophosphamide is a synthetic antineoplastic drug and is chemically related to the nitrogen mustards. The mechanism of action is thought to involve cross-linking of tumor cell DNA. Cyclophosphamide is biotransformed in the liver to its active alkylating metabolites. These metabolites interfere with the growth of susceptible rapidly proliferating malignant cells. One recent study suggested that cyclophosphamide improves survival in orthotopic GL261 GBM in mice by metronomic administration (every 6 days) [31]. The usual intravenous dosage regimen consists of 40–50 mg/kg given intravenously in divided doses over a period of 2–5 days. While, the oral dose is usually in the range of 1 mg/kg per day to 5 mg/kg per day for both initial and maintenance dosing.

4.4 Tumor-Treating Field

Tumor-treating field (TTF) is a relatively new treatment option for newly diagnosed and recurrent GBM. Optune, or the NovoTTF-100A System, was approved by FDA to treat recurrent GBM in 2011 and for newly diagnosed GBM in October 2015 [31]. TTFs are generated via electrodes on the scalp with unique array placement based on individual's MRI results. The tumor-treating field devices use low-intensity, intermediate-frequency, alternating electric fields to disturb the dividing processes in GBM cells. The mechanism of TTF is: (a) disturbing the formation of mitotic spindle fibres and (b) rupturing the cell membrane at the cleavage furrow during late mitosis by accumulating polar molecules at this site [31]. The results from a randomized phase III trial (EF-11) comparing the efficacy of TTF regarding extending OS and PFS in recurrent GBM in comparison to chemotherapy indicated superior health related to quality of life (HRQoL), pertaining to cognitive and emotional functioning as well as treatmentrelated toxicity. Another randomized phase III clinical trial (NCT00916409) for newly diagnosed GBM indicated superiority of TTF to TMZ alone in both OS and PFS [32].

5 Challenges and Unmet Need

One of the main challenges of an effective therapy lies in the heterogeneous and anaplastic character of this cancer. Rapid growth of cancer and a high rate of recurrence further complicates the matter. Further, the response to anticancer drugs is frequently inhibited by resistance to therapeutic agents [29]. The blood-brain barrier (BBB) represents another major hurdle to the development of new therapeutics, preventing most macromolecules from reaching the tumor site, thereby affecting the efficacy of the drug adversely. Thus, GBM treatment is an area of high unmet need leading to poor OS of GBM patients, the overall failure of marketed products for this indication, and more so the disappointing failures in the late-stage pipeline.

There are several new drugs targeting different pathways in tumorigenesis and angiogenesis in malignant gliomas currently being tested in clinical trials. Further, molecular and genetic profiling will be necessary to determine patients that are most likely to benefit from the specific treatment options. Although the high level of unmet need in this market creates ample opportunities for players with effective therapies, drug development has been exceedingly challenging. Most of the drugs that have shown promise in early-phase, single-armed trials unfortunately fail in larger, randomized studies. Currently, there are seven drugs in the late stages of development. These include Opdivo, DCVax-L, and depatuxizumab mafodotin, which have shown promising efficacy in Phase I trials. The evaluation of tumor response criteria should also be improved to better examine whether new therapies are leading to a significant reduction in tumor size and improvement of quality of life (QOL). The GBM with the worst unmet need are those where tumors are large, centrally located, or have a "butterfly" shape. These GBM patients have the worst QOL and cannot be treated effectively. Even radiotherapy is difficult to administer and patients suffer from adverse neurological symptoms. Around 20% of patients fall within this category and never have any improvement in their QOL. Thus, agents that reduce the size of the tumor, rather than focus solely on extending PFS and OS, would be effective for these patients [24].

6 Cancer Stem Cells/Glioma Stem Cells

Cancer stem cells (CSC) were first identified in leukemia in 1997 and subsequently reported in tumors of breast, colon, lung, brain, and liver [32]. CSC-like cells in gliomas and other brain tumors are referred to as tumor-initiating cells, glioma stem cells (GSC) or glioma stem-like cells [33–36].

GSC constitute a small population of quiescent cells in tumors and play a key role in proliferation, progression, invasion and recurrence of tumors [37]. The ability of GSC to self-renew and differentiate into different lineages of tumor types in response to chemotherapeutic agents [38, 39] contributes to intratumor heterogeneity of GBM which is a striking feature of these deadly tumors.

GSC are proposed to arise from transformation of neural stem cells (NSC) or progenitor cells. When cultured under NSC conditions, GSC demonstrate a potential to form neurospheres and differentiate towards neuronal, astrocytic- and oligodendroglial-like cells. Gene expression studies in GBM have revealed similar profiles in CSC and NSC suggesting that CSC are malignant variants of NSC [40]. GSC derived from GBM are classified into PN and MES types [41-43]. While the PN type cells display characters of fetal NSC, MES are more like adult NSC [44, 45]. In comparison with PN-GSC that are present in Grade III and Grade IV (GBM) gliomas, MES type GSC reside in GBM and contribute to their highly aggressive nature of these tumors [44, 45]. A recent study by Guardia et al. reported that GSC cell lines of MES and PN subtypes depict differential expression patterns of genes regulating cell cycle, DNA repair, cilium assembly, and the splicing profiles correlated significantly with the survival of the patients. In GBM patients, high expression of multiple long noncoding RNAs in mesenchymal GSC is associated with poor survival [46].

CD133 (also known as AC133 and prominin-1) is a widely accepted biomarker for CSC and used for identification of tumor-initiating population in glioma tumors. There is no single marker or a single set of biomarkers that are specific for GSC [47–49]. GSC share many genes associated with stem cells (Nestin, GFAP, A2B5, NANOG, OCT4, CD44, and KLF4) [50]. High-grade gliomas exhibit embryonic stem cells markers-NANOG, KLF4, OCT4, and SOX2. NANOG, a transcription factor that is involved in self-renewal and maintenance of undifferentiated state of pluripotent cells is associated with low- and high-grade astrocytomas and is a predictive marker for clinical outcome in this group of patients [50].

Many factors contribute to the aggressive nature of GSC. These factors may be intrinsic like those induced by genetic, epigenetic, and metabolic alterations, or they may be extrinsic factors that include components of microenvironment and host immune system [51]. TMZ, a point-of-care treatment for GBM expands the GSC population in glioma cell lines [52]. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor 2 (VEGFR2) is expressed on the CD133+ve GSC and is important for viability, self-renewal, and tumorigenicity; the activity is mediated through VEGF-VEGFR2-Neuropilin-1 (NRP1) signaling axis [53]. GSC are responsible for resistance to radio- and chemotherapies and recurrence of tumors [54]. The mechanism(s) underlying drug resistance involves deregulation of signaling pathways through interaction between CSC and the protective niche of the tumor. Diverse signaling pathways are implicated in the growth and activity of GSC [55, 56]. Notch signaling is crucial for tumorigenesis, maintenance of GSC stemness, and resistance to radiotherapy [57]. The sonic hedgehog (SHH) signaling pathway plays a key role in cell survival and sustained growth of the tumor. In malignant gliomas, SHH controls stemness of GSC [58] and blocks tumor formation induced by intracranial injection of GSC. SHH pathway is also involved in tumorigenesis and TMZ chemoresistance in GBM [59]. Wnt signaling pathway is essential for a myriad of cellular functions such cell proliferation, embryonic development, cell polarity, and tissues homeostasis [60]. Wnt signaling is important for differentiation of GSC and deregulation of this pathway renders GSC resistant to chemo- and radiotherapy [61]. Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) signaling regulates proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis in NSC [61]. In GSC, this signaling pathway regulates differentiation of GSC towards astroglial lineage, inhibits its tumorigenic potential [62, 63], and sensitizes the cells to TMZ treatment through destabilization of HIF-1 α and MGMT expression [64]. Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), a family of cytokines is crucial for morphogenesis and cell lineage specification during brain development [65, 66]. TGF- β maintains the stemness in GSC through expression of transcription factor SOX2 that is essential for expression of stemness features [67].

The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt (protein kinase B, PKB) signaling is crucial for cell growth and survival. Dysregulation of this pathway promotes proliferation, survival, invasion, and progression of tumors in different

types of cancers [68]. Loss of PTEN increases the GSC population suggesting the involvement of PTEN-Akt signaling pathway in growth and survival of GSC [69]. In GSC, the PTEN/PI3K/Akt pathway is important in regulation of multidrug-resistant gene-ABCG2 [69].

Epigenetic modifications such as DNA methylation and histone modifications are crucial in programming of stem cells [70]; however, aberrant epigenetic alterations may lead to transformation of normal stem cells to cancer stem cells with the loss of differentiation [71, 72]. Histone modifications by phosphorylation, ubiquitination, acetylation, and methylation have an active role in initiation, growth, and progression of cancer [73, 74]. Aberrant histone modifications play a key role in GBM [75]. Global expression analysis of several histone modification markers in gliomas identified many distinct prognostic groups that were associated with significantly different survival time [76]. Recent studies have implicated cellular prion protein (PrPC) in progression of malignant phenotype of GSC, maintenance of multipotency, an increase in tumorigenesis and invasiveness of these cells [77].

7 Tumor Microenvironment (TME) in GBM

The highly heterogeneous nature of tumors confers resistance to radio- and chemotherapy in GBM. While epigenetic modifications, genetic aberrations and dysregulated signaling within the tumors are crucial in inducing heterogeneity in GBM tumors; recent studies have shed light on the importance of TME of these aggressive tumors. Accumulating data reinforce the involvement of TME components as key factors for tumor progression, invasion and therapeutic resistance, thus making them potential targets for therapy.

7.1 Tumor Vasculature

The TME of GBM is very rich in proangiogenic factors that promote poorly organized neovascularization in the tumor. The BBB formed by endothelial cells is a highly selective semipermeable border for exchange of ions and molecules from circulating blood to the nervous system. Proangiogenic factors also promote the dilation of the wall of endothelial cells and pericytes (tumor vasculature) and result in disruption of the BBB rendering it leaky [78]. In GBM, the leaky BBB increases intracranial pressure that leads to blockage of endothelial cells and disruption in availability of oxygen and nutrients to the tumor [79]. These conditions promote a hypoxic microenvironment which eventually makes the core of GBM to become necrotic [80]. Metabolic deprivation and reduced oxygen tension stimulate the release of HIFs in the necrotic core and promote neovascularization by upregulating tran-



Fig. 2 Cellular heterogeneity in the microenvironment of GBM. Niche heterogeneity in GBM is majorly contributed by specific cell populations to meet their metabolic needs, maintenance of glioma stem cells, regulate immunosuppression and invasion. Due to poor vascularization, the core of GBM tumor is rich in quiescent GSC and attracts immune cells (TAM and TIL). The differentiated tumor in the deepest core undergoes necrosis to give rise to hypoxic/necrotic core. The cellular mass residing exterior of the necrotic region, known as perivascu-

scription of VEGF [81, 82]. The HIFs in these poorly perfused areas of tumor attract immune cells (tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and tumor-associated macrophages) which release proangiogenic factors and facilitate immune-evasion for tumor progression [83, 84]. Also, the hypoxic niche promotes self-renewal of GSC which subsequently contributes to neovascularization by secretion of VEGF [85, 86].

The TME contains various types of cells localized in different regions of the niche with a variety of activities. Spatially, the microenvironment of GBM can be divided into

lar niche is highly vascularized and rich in TAM which are crucial for promotion of proliferation, survival and differentiation of GSC. Perivascular zone is also enriched with TIL, T-regulatory (Treg) cells and microglial cells that play a role in immune suppression. Invasive niche is rich in microglial cells, astrocytes, neuronal cells and GSC. The GSC in the invasive niche differentiate towards mesenchymal subtype and facilitate invasion of tumor into the normal brain tissue and neo-vascularization

three zones: necrotic core, perivascular zone, and invasive edge. Each zone consists of various cellular and non-cellular components. The cellular components contain tumor population, GSC, and non-tumor cells such as endothelial cells, immune cells and neural cells (Fig. 2). The non-cellular constituents of the GBM microenvironment are cytokines, growth factors, interstitial fluid, and extracellular matrix (ECM). The highly heterogeneous microenvironmental niche plays a role in GBM progression by promoting activation of a cascade of cellular events (Table 1).

		Non-cellular		
Niche	Cellular components	components	Functions	Ref
Necrotic	Necrotic tumor cells, quiescent GSC, TAMs, and TIL	Proangiogenic factors, HIFs	Metabolic adaptation to nutrient deprivation, (aerobic glycolysis and glutamine-mediated fatty acid production)	[87, 88]
Perivascular	Proliferating tumor cells, GSC, TAMs, TIL, astrocytes, and microglia	Proangiogenic factors, IL-10, TGFß	Self-renewal and growth of GSCs, vascularization, immunosuppression	[89–92]
Invasive	Invasive tumor cells, GSC, microglia, neural cells, and astrocytes	Proangiogenic factors, IL-6, MMPs, L1CAM ECM, Galectin-1	Invasion of tumor cells to normal tissue	[93, 94]

Table 1 Components of tumor microenvironment (TME) niches

7.2 Heterogeneity in the Microenvironment of GBM

7.2.1 Cellular Components

Glioma Stem Cells

Self-renewal and growth of GSC are mainly maintained by the perivascular niche. The endothelial cells promote the stemness phenotype of GSC through activation of NOTCH, sonic hedgehog, and nitric oxide-cyclic GMP signaling pathways [89–92]. Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) maintain the self-renewal capacity of GSC by secreting various cytokines in the perivascular niche. In the necrotic core of GBM, elevated HIF-2 activates stem cell signaling pathways to regulate expression of pluripotent markers, KLF-4, SOX2, and OCT4 [95, 96]. GSC of invasion edge exhibit higher invasion potential due to higher expression of L1CAM and ephrin-B2 [93, 94]. The NF-kB-STAT3 and TWIST signaling pathways regulating the epithelial to mesenchymal transition are also upregulated in GSC residing in the necrotic edge [93, 97, 98]. GSC migrating through the vasculature in the invading edge limit surgical resection of tumor and promote the recurrence of tumor following surgery.

Immune Cells

In GBM, about 30 or 40% of the tumor mass is composed of immune cells of which approximately 85% is contributed by infiltrating bone marrow-derived monocytes/macrophages, resident microglial cells, TIL, and nonmigratory dendritic cells account for 15% of the TME [99]. These different cell types create an immunosuppressive niche rendering the tumor cells resistant to immunotherapy. Additionally, the tumor cells also secrete immunosuppressive cytokines such as IL-6, IL-10, TGF- β , and prostaglandin-E that are responsible for inhibition of both innate and adaptive immune systems. These factors contribute to immune evasion by inducing T-cell apoptosis, suppressing T-cell activation and proliferation, downregulation of MHC expression, and suppression of NK cell activity. TAMs possess markers of M1 (immuno-permissive or proinflammatory) as well as M2

(immune-suppressive or anti-inflammatory) phenotypes. The TAM population is slightly skewed towards CD163 (hemoglobin scavenger receptor) and CD204 (macrophage scavenger receptor) expressing M2 phenotype which increases with the grade of tumor [100]. Macrophage polarization is dependent on the local microenvironment; while M1 macrophages are mostly present within normoxic tumor region, macrophages with M2 phenotype dominate the hypoxic region [101]. M2 type macrophages, devoid of expression of T-cell co-stimulatory molecules release immunosuppressive factors such as IL-10 to establish protumorigenic microenvironment within GBM tumors [100, 102]. Specific macrophage types are localized to specific regions, while monocyte-derived macrophages are concentrated in the tumor core, microglia-derived TAM are typically found at the tumor periphery [99]. Recent studies have reported the immunosuppressive role of distinct subpopulations within the immunoregulatory macrophage compartment of GBM tumors [103]. TAM attract Tregs to TME via CCL22. A small proportion of immune cells is contributed by TIL that are dispersed in GBM tumor and the brain parenchyma. Infiltration of TIL into the tumor is neutralized by an array of immune suppressive events such as downregulation of MHC to check antigen presentation, upregulation of programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1) on monocyte, and promotion of Tregs recruitment in GBM [104]. Immunosuppressive Treg cells facilitate immune evasion by secreting immunosuppressive molecules, IL-10 and TGF [105, 106].

7.2.2 Non-cellular Components

Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

The ECM is formed by non-cellular components and provides physical scaffolding to cellular residents of the tissue. The ECM triggers a cascade of biochemical events contributing to differentiation, migration, EMT transition, and homeostasis [107, 108]. Composition of mesh-like scaffold of brain ECM is unique in comparison with various peripheral tissues; the fibrous proteins of ECM in brain are synthesized by neuronal cells whereas in other peripheral organs they are synthesized and secreted by fibroblasts and mesenchymal cells. Mesh-like scaffold (perineuronal net) in ECM of adult brain is composed of glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), hyaluronic acid (HA), proteoglycans (e.g., lecticans), and glycoproteins (e.g., tenascins) [109-112] ECM of GBM is also highly enriched with tenascin-C and HA to provide rigid architecture to tumors [113, 114]. Stiffening of ECM provides advantage to sustain elevated fluid pressure due to edema and leaky BBB [115]. HA enhances stemness of the GSC by occupying the HA-specific cell surface receptors RHAMM128, CD44, and by activating the transcription of stemness modulators [116, 117]. HA also contributes to GSC stemness and maintenance by activating Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4-nuclear factor NF-κB signaling pathway. Tumor cells interact with components of ECM by secreting hyaluronidase or matrix metalloproteinases to facilitate migration and invasion of tumor. Galectins in ECM also hamper anti-tumor immune rejection by scavenging glycosylated cytokines such as IFN γ [118].

Interstitial Fluid

Interstitial fluid is a highly dynamic soluble compartment of TME. Interstitial fluid is secreted by stromal cells, tumor cells and intravascular components of tumor and contains metabolites like lactate, adenosine, galectin-1 (galactosidebinding lectin) and cytokines such as IL-10 [119-121]. Lactate and adenosine promote the development of a hypoxic environment which contributes to immune-suppression and tumorigenic progression [122-125]. These soluble factors are present abundantly in the TME and distributed throughout the tumor unequally causing a chemotactic gradient of interstitial fluid that promotes changes in cellular composition of the niche constantly. Galectin-1 is a key player in migration and invasion of GBM tumor cells; higher expression of galectin-1 is seen at the margin in comparison to core of GBM tumor. High expression of galectin-1 correlates with increased VEGF secretion and invasive behavior of GBM. Recent studies have identified the role of extracellular vesicles in invasion, angiogenesis, and drug resistance in GBM [126].

8 Epigenetic Alterations

Epigenetic alterations such as DNA methylation patterns, chromatin remodeling, and histone modifications induce changes in gene expression and contribute to tumorigenesis in GBM [127]. The changes are effected by silencing of tumor suppressor genes and/or the activation of oncogenic genes. MGMT is a potent DNA repair enzyme; it antagonizes the cytotoxic effect induced by alkylating agents such as carmustine or TMZ [128]. Epigenetic silencing by methylation of MGMT gene promoter is a strong prognostic

marker for GBM and is associated with longer survival in GBM patients receiving radiotherapy and chemotherapy with alkylating agents. Methylation of MGMT promoter is found in about 45% of malignant gliomas (grades III and IV) and in about 80% of Grade II gliomas [129, 130]. More recent comprehensive analysis of GBM cells using wild type IDH1 and single cell gene expression profiling identified three distinct types of GBM viz. proneural, classical, and mesenchymal [131].

IDH mutation affects global DNA methylation pattern. Genome-wide DNA methylation profiling has revealed that CpG island methylator phenotype (G-CIMP)-positive phenotype is linked to IDH1 mutations and is associated with better survival compared to (G-CIMP) glioma-negative patients [132]. Further studies by quantitative methylation categorized IDH mutant type into two subsets—IDH-mutant/G-CIMP+ (G-CIMP-high) and the IDH-mutant/G-CIMP+ (G-CIMP-low) and demonstrated the association of high methylation G-CIMP. The findings suggested classification of gliomas based on IDH1 mutant that is independent of histology and grade of tumors [133].

Histones are subject to different post-translational modifications such as acetylation, methylation, and phosphorylation [134]. Acetylation of histones are well studied for their role in cancer initiation and progression. The activities of enzymes, histone acetyltransferases (HAT), and histone deacetylases (HDAC) together maintain the balanced state of acetylation [135]. In GBM, HDAC class IIa enzymes (HDAC 4, 5, 7, 9) play an important role in tumor progression, invasion, and response to drug and radiotherapy, thus making HDAC an attractive target for therapy [136, 137]. Other studies suggested that alterations in DNA methylation, histone modifications can affect growth in GBM by regulation of cell metabolism, especially glycolysis [138].

9 Genetic Mutations and Dysregulated Signaling Pathways

9.1 Dysregulated Pathways, Targeted Therapy, and Clinical Results to Date

GBM is an invasive tumor with hallmarks of uncontrolled cell proliferation, neoangiogenesis, resistance to apoptosis and intratumor heterogeneity, contributing to the poor prognosis. Also, a variety of genetic and epigenetic alterations have been identified in GBM that have an impact on patient prognosis. Despite this heterogeneity, studies on genetic aberrations in GBM identified three main signaling pathways that are commonly dysregulated, are activation of the receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK)/Ras/phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway (88%), inhibition of p53 (87%), and retinoblastoma protein (Rb) signaling pathways (78%). Hence, till date, drugs targeting many of these commonly observed alterations have been widely investigated as potential targeted therapies for GBM [139].

In the past two decades, advances in technologies have made it possible to evaluate genetic and epigenetic tumor changes at the genome-wide level. This has led to continuous influx of data describing genomic alterations in gliomas and particularly in GBM. Collectively, these data have created a better understanding of the glioma landscape and elucidated common pathways disrupted in this disease. Furthermore, significant contributions are made by focused consortiumbased efforts and various individual laboratories. Leading among these is The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA), a US government-funded project with multiplatform data compilations for more than 520 GBM samples, including microRNA, messenger RNA, single-nucleotide polymorphism, DNA methylation aberrations, DNA copy numbers, coding and noncoding RNA expression, and exome sequencing data. Overall, these analyses established that deregulation of the core retinoblastoma (Rb)/p53, phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt/phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN)/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), and receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK)/RAS/RAF/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MEK)/mitogen-activated protein (MAP; extracellular signal-regulated kinase [ERK]) pathways is essential event in majority of GBM tumors. Specific genetic aberrations in RTKs involved in RAS/RAF and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways, mutations in epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR; 45%), platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR, 13%), and MET (4%). Moreover, disruption of the p53 pathway included mutations in p53, amplifications of murine double minute 2 (MDM2; 11%) and MDM4 (4%). Likewise, the most frequent event for RB pathway disruption was a deletion in the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (CDKN2A)/CDKN2B locus on chromosome 9p21 (55% and 53%, respectively) followed by amplification of the cyclindependent kinase 4 (CDK4) locus (14%). In parallel to these TCGA studies, in a high-throughput profiling study, Parsons et al. sequenced 20,661 protein-coding genes in 22 human tumor samples and concluded the similar alterations in genes alongside identified mutations in a metabolism-related gene, isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (IDH1) [20]. Subsequently, various groups have attempted to use large-scale profiling data and sequencing results to sub-classify GBMs into subtypes that reflect common mechanisms of diseases [140].

9.2 Molecularly Targeted Therapies

The most frequent genetic alterations in GBM target pathways are involved in signal transduction, angiogenesis, cellcycle control, tumor suppressors, invasion, and cell metabolism, indicating that these are potential targeted therapeutics towards pathology. Furthermore, despite the molecular heterogeneity of malignant gliomas, there exist common signal transduction pathways that are altered in many of these tumors. Homeostasis of pathways is maintained in a normal state through crosstalk between cytokines, growth factors, and hormones. However, in malignancies, mutation, deletions, or overexpression can occur in growth factor ligands and their receptors (e.g., EGF and EGFR), over and above in intracellular effector molecules (e.g., phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10 [PTEN] and phosphoinositide-3-kinase [PI3K]/Akt). Genomic amplifications provide prevailing pathological mechanisms for upregulating various oncogenes, e.g., EGFR on chromosome 7, whereas deletions can target tumor suppressors, viz. PTEN on chromosome 10. This leads to constitutive activation of these growth factors and their downstream effector molecules resulting in uncontrolled cell proliferation, survival, and invasion [140].

9.3 Inhibitors of Receptor Tyrosine Kinases (RTKs)

RTKs play an important role in a signal transduction events and dysregulation of RTK signaling leads to a variety of human diseases, most notably, cancers. Aberrant RTK activation in human cancers is enabled by four principal mechanisms: gain-of-function mutations, genomic amplification, chromosomal rearrangements, and/or autocrine activation. It frequently occurs during glioma initiation and progression, in turn associated activation cascades may cooperate through multiple signaling crosstalks leading to malignant transformation of cells, tumor growth and progression, treatment resistance, and disease relapse.

The Cancer Genome Atlas project (TCGA-2008) reported significant alterations in three core signaling pathways, viz. RTK/RAS/PI3K (88%), p53 (87%), and retinoblastoma protein (78%), from patients with primary GBM, which may represent most human GBM. About 60% of the primary GBM harbors RTK amplifications and/or mutations. EGFR amplification occurs in approximately 50% of primary GBM samples and is often associated with the expression of a constitutively active, ligand-independent mutant form of the receptor, viz. EGFRvIII. EGFR and EGFRvIII overexpression perhaps enhances GBM cell growth and contributes to GBM pathogenesis through several mechanisms, such as increased signaling through RAS/RAF/MEK/MAP and mTOR pathways while simultaneously downregulating cellcycle inhibitor proteins such as p27 leading to apoptotic resistance [141].



 $\ensuremath{\textit{Fig. 3}}$ Molecular targeted therapies for glioma and their therapeutic role

Diagramatic representation of key molecular pathways targeted for the development of therapies against glioma. RTKs are activated upon binding with respective ligands. Molecular treatments have been

9.4 Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) Inhibitors

EGFR (also referred to as ERBB1 or HER1) receptor homo or heterodimerization takes place after the binding of a ligand to the ligand binding site of the receptor. In turn producing a conformational change that activates the intracellular tyrosine kinase domain. This results in autophosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail and induction of a variety of downstream signaling pathways. EGFR amplifications and mutations are detected in 40-60% of GBM cases and are indicative of poor prognosis and correlated with decreased OS in GBM patients. The most common mutant form found in GBM is EGFRvIII, or de2-7EGFR, arising through an 801-base pair in-frame deletion from the extracellular domain. The overexpression or mutation of EGFR disturbs downstream signaling including mTOR/PI3K/Akt and RAS/MAPK. This primes to impairment of apoptosis, enhances proliferation, and angiogenesis contribute to GBM pathogenesis. Due to the high incidence of EGFR amplifications, a variety of EGFR inhibitors have been examined both preclinically and clinically (Fig. 3) [142].

designed to inhibit signaling pathways at different phases of cellular responses. Line with black arrow head represents activation of intracellular pathway components and a line with blunted end represents inhibition of cellular processes. Specific inhibitors in the rectangular boxes depicts targets against RTKs and downstream pathway components

9.4.1 Small-Molecule Inhibitors to EGFR

Small-molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors are the most widely studied EGFR inhibitors in GBM. The first-, second-, and the third-generation EGFR inhibitors are studied in preclinical and clinical settings as a single agent and combination with SOC for GBM. Erlotinib, a first-generation EGFR inhibitor in preclinical studies showed inhibition of anchorage-independent growth of GBM cells in an EGFR expression-dependent manner and induced greater levels of apoptosis in more malignant GBM phenotypes. Moreover, in vivo studies showed that treatment with erlotinib reduced the tumor burden in GBM patient-derived xenograft (PDX) models. However, further studies using additional GBM PDX models demonstrated that tumors overexpressing EGFR were only sensitive to erlotinib if they also expressed PTEN. As PTEN expression is downregulated in 34% of GBM patients, indicating that erlotinib may not be a suitable treatment for most GBM patients overexpressing EGFR. Indeed, clinical trials demonstrated that erlotinib was not effective as a monotherapy in recurrent GBM patients and was only marginally beneficial following radiotherapy for non-progressive GBM patients. Interestingly, improved survival (19.3 vs. 14.1 months) was observed when combined with SOC TMZ and radiotherapy, suggesting that erlotinib could be beneficial when combined with targeted drugs, instead of a monotherapy [142].

In contrast to erlotinib, gefitinib displays distinctive antitumor activity independent of the expression level of EGFR. Preclinical studies showed that in vitro gefitinib inhibits GBM cell migration, reduces proliferation of human glioma tumor-initiating cells, and in vivo enhances survival in an intracranial GBM mouse xenograft model. Thus, these preclinical studies indicate that gefitinib may be clinically beneficial. However, despite gefitinib reaching high concentrations in GBM tumor tissue (22-fold higher compared to plasma) alongside significant dephosphorylation of EGFR, limited clinical effects have been observed in Phase II trials. Several Phase I/II studies have demonstrated that even as the addition of gefitinib to radiotherapy is well-tolerated, it has no survival benefit. Lapatanib, another first-generation EGFR inhibitor, also showed modest anti-tumor activity in clinical trials either alone or in combination with TMZ [143].

Second-generation inhibitor afatinib and dacomitinib proved to have limited activity in a phase II clinical trial in recurrent GBM patients with EGFR amplification and had limited activity in combination with GBM.

The third-generation EGFR inhibitors, viz. AZD9291 and AEE788 are proved to have better activity and selectivity as demonstrated in preclinical models. AZD9291 overcomes primary resistance by continuously blocking ERK signaling in GBM, has a better capacity to inhibit proliferation and prolongs the survival of GBM cells. It is currently in phase I/II clinical trial. AEE 788, EGFR/Erb inhibitor also inhibits VEGFR. Phase I clinical trial results were disappointing due to the toxicity and modest efficacy. Neratinib is another inhibitor of EGFR investigated in clinical trials for GBM patients [143]. Overall, till date EGFR inhibitors had minimal activity in GBM patients and did not improve OS or PFS.

9.4.2 Monoclonal Antibodies to EGFR

While tumor immunotherapy has shown success for the treatment of cancers like melanoma and hematology, their relevance to GBM represents more of a challenge. Cetuximab (Erbitux) is a humanized monoclonal antibody that recognizes the extracellular domain of both EGFR and EGFRvIII. Preclinical studies have shown that treatment with cetuximab alone and in combination with radiotherapy improved survival in vivo and reduced tumors in EGFRamplified PDX models. However, phase II clinical trial of cetuximab in patients with recurrent high-grade glioma showed that it was well-tolerated, but exhibited limited activity. Panitumumab, previously known as ABX-EGF, is a totally human high affinity IgG2 monoclonal antibody against human EGFR. Blocking EGFRvIII signaling with panitumumab was found to cause a rapid reversion to the hepatocyte growth factor (HGF)/c-MET signaling pathway, and this event could be inhibited by cotreatment with an HGFneutralizing antibody like rilotumumab [143]. Conversely,

HGF was shown to be able to transcriptionally activate EGFR ligands, leading to downstream activation of EGFR. Thus, crosstalk between c-MET and EGFR/EGFRvIII signaling pathways offers tumor cells to reduce their dependence on either RTK for critical downstream signaling which leads to chemoresistance. GBM tumors are considerably heterogeneous, and this intratumoral diversity represents a probable cause of anti-EGFR therapeutic resistance. Therefore, although overexpression of EGFR and mutations of EGFR are one of the most characteristic features of GBM. EGFR-therapeutic approaches are so-far disappointing [143].

9.5 Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) Inhibitors

Vascular proliferation is a hallmark of tumor survival and growth. Glioma cells produce many different proangiogenic factors, including VEGF, which is highly expressed. Highly vascularized tumors are associated with the poor prognosis than patients with less neovascularization. GBM tumors are largely hypoxic wherein increased expression of HIF-1 leads to activation of VEGF. Hence, VEGF and VEGFR have been targeted for the potential treatment of gliomas. Different strategies for targeting include VEGFR TKIs, VEGF antibodies, and protein kinase C (PKC)-β inhibitors.

Several small-molecule VEGF inhibitors, viz. vatalanib, sorafenib, tivozanib, and pazopanib have been studied for the treatment of GBM. Vatalanib (PTK787), an inhibitor of VEGFR2, PDGFR, and c-kit showed modest effect on GBM patients alone or in combination with SOC. However, the drug appeared to enhance the antiangiogenic activity [143]. Also, sorafenib, inhibitor of VEGFR showed little effect when used in combination with temsirolimus. Moreover, in recurrent GBM patients tivozanib and pazopanib exhibited limited anti-tumor efficacy and did not prolong PFS in phase II clinical trials. These results were rather disappointing. However, bevacizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody to VEGF, interferes with ligand-receptor signaling and represents the most studied and successfully targeted agent for the treatment of GBM. In phase 2 trials of bevacizumab in recurrent GBM, radiographic responses were seen in 30-60% of patients, the median PFS was 4-6 months, and the median OS was 8-10 months. Based on these data, bevacizumab received accelerated approval by the FDA for use as monotherapy in progressive GBM in 2009. However, a metaanalysis of four clinical trials (607 patients) demonstrated that combination of bevacizumab with SOC either chemo- or radiation improved only PFS, with no improvement in OS. Furthermore, treatment-related adverse effects were increased, e.g., commonly observed decreased neurocognitive behavior. Bevacizumab impairs hippocampal synaptic plasticity and decreases dendritic spine number and length, raising the apprehensions about its utility for GBM [139].

9.6 Platelet-Derived Growth Factor (PDGF)

Platelet-Derived Growth Factor (PDGF) and its receptors play an important role in tumor growth and angiogenesis. PDGF and its cognate receptors are overexpressed in GBM and considered to be an attractive therapeutic target. Currently, many PDGF inhibitors are in preclinical development. Imatinib mesylate, a small-molecule inhibitor of PDGFR-a and β , c-kit, and the Bcr-Abl fusion protein is well studied in GBM. It showed some anti-tumor effects in preclinical studies, with minimal clinical benefit as monotherapy, and no significant changes in the tumor growth. The drug failed as a monotherapy as survival remained unchanged. However, imatinib mesylate in combination with hydroxyurea did show promising results. These initial results were supported in a phase II trial in patients with recurrent GBM, which reported a PFS-6 of 27% and a median PFS of 14 weeks, and 42% of patients had stable radiologic disease at a median follow-up of 58 weeks. The mechanism of action of this combination is still unknown, but it has been shown that imatinib decreases interstitial tumor pressure and may increase delivery of hydroxyurea, which gives a possible explanation for the initial success associated with this combination. Unfortunately, a combination phase III trial did not provide further evidence of efficacy compared to single treatment with hydroxyurea. Similarly, tandutinib, a PDGFRa inhibitor failed in the clinical trials of patients with recurrent GBM [139].

9.7 Other RTKs

RTKs, viz. IGF-1R and FGFR are also modulated in GBM and represent interesting targets. IGF-1R small-molecule inhibitors PQ401, OSI-906, and BMS-754807 showed good efficacy in preclinical in vitro and in vivo studies. Small-molecule inhibitors of FGFR are currently being studied [139].

Targeted therapy using RTK inhibitors represented a hope for GBM patients. However, multiple RTKs are coactivated in GBM tumors representing functional redundancy, which leads to minor results in clinical trials for monotherapy. Thus, the need for concomitant inhibition of multiple pathways with RTK-inhibitors together with radio-, chemo-, or immunotherapy could be a good solution.

9.8 Molecular Targeted Therapies for Glioma and Their Therapeutic Role

9.8.1 Targeting Downstream Intracellular Effector Molecules

Aberrant activation of the growth factor receptors in GBM leads to the recruitment of intracellular effector molecules to the cell membrane. The activation of second messenger protein PKC stimulates cell proliferation, invasion, and growth. Overlapping and crosstalk between the pathways that involve these messengers is the cause of great complexity of targeted therapies for malignant gliomas. Examples of crucial pathways in gliomas are Ras/MAPK, PI3K/AKT, and PKC.

9.8.2 PI3K/Akt/mTOR Pathway and Potential Clinical Inhibitors

The PI3K, a serine/threonine kinase signaling pathway, is activated in most GBM and plays a critical role in the regulation of signal transduction, and mediates a variety of cellular processes, including proliferation, survival, migration, and angiogenesis in GBM. This pathway is regulated by PTEN; loss of PTEN function results in constitutive activation of PI3K. Thus, genetic aberrations in GBM, viz. EGFR, PDGFR, PTEN, TP53, and PIK3CA, drive the dysfunction of signaling pathways, e.g., PI3K/Akt/mTOR, p53, and Rb1. Activation of pathway continues through a complex secondary messenger cascade that results in the activation of many downstream molecules including Akt, a serine/threonine kinase and is generally associated with negative prognosis in patients with GBM.

The PI3K/Akt pathway is typically initiated via the activation of RTKs or G protein-coupled receptors. This leads to conformational changes in the C-terminal kinase domain produced by autophosphorylation, thereby providing bindsites for the regulatory subunits of PI3K. ing It results into elevated lipid kinase activity of PI3K and activation of Akt. Despite the limited clinical efficacy of the previously described RTK inhibitors, as activation of each of these receptors leads to downstream activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway, it has therefore been suggested that PI3K pathway inhibitors may be beneficial in GBM. Several PI3K inhibitors have demonstrated preclinical efficacy in GBM and have entered clinical trials for GBM treatment. Buparlisib, a pan PI3K inhibitor, reduces GBM cell growth both in vitro and in vivo. Buparlisib is the most frequently used PI3K inhibitor in clinical trials for GBM treatment, as it is well-tolerated and BBB permeable. However, singleagent efficacy in Phase II trials in recurrent GBM has been minimal. The lack of clinical efficacy was explained by incomplete blockade of the PI3K pathway in the tumor tissue. Sonolisib is an irreversible wortmannin analog that demonstrates a more persistent inhibitor effect on PI3K than wortmannin. Sonolisib inhibits invasion and angiogenesis in GBM cell lines in vitro and extends survival benefit in orthotopic xenograft models in vivo. Despite these promising preclinical results, the response rate to sonolisib in a Phase II clinical trial in patients with recurrent GBM was low, and it failed to meet its primary endpoint. Due to many challenges, clinical studies do not favor PI3K inhibitors in GBM treatment, suggesting that targeting PI3K alone is not sufficient to treat GBM [144].

Akt regulates many central biological processes; however, it is extremely difficult to target directly, and hence the inhibition of upstream and downstream targets has been tried out. The main downstream target of Akt is the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR). mTOR, a protein kinase regulates processes such as transcription and protein synthesis as well as important cellular functions, including modulation of cell growth. Several mTOR inhibitors have been developed over the past few years and most studied are a synthetic analog of rapamycin and temsirolimus. Recent phase II trials of temsirolimus in patients with GBM have not shown much efficacy. Although a radiographic improvement was seen in 36% of patients, no real survival benefit was recorded, with a PFS-6 of just 7.8%. mTOR contains two distinct complexes named raptor/mTORC1 and raptor/mTORC2. Temsirolimus, however, only inhibits the mTORC1 complex, which increases the PI3K/Akt activity, thus negating the anti-tumor effect.

9.8.3 Ras/Raf/Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Pathway

The Ras superfamily of genes regulates many important cellular functions, including cell proliferation and differentiation, protein trafficking, and cytoskeletal organization. It is an important signal transduction effector of the EGFR and PDGFR. Ras mutations are nearly absent and a very small percentage of BRAF mutations are present in malignant gliomas. Therefore, the observed dysregulation of signaling pathway Ras-RAF-ERK is mainly attributed to its upstream positive regulators growth factor receptors, viz. EGFR and PDGFR, known to be highly active in many malignant gliomas. Overactivation of Ras is followed by the farnesylation of Ras, which catalyzes the recruitment of the Ras molecule to the plasma membrane. Then, downstream Ras and Raf molecules are activated, which triggers MAPKs, causing cytoskeletal organization, cell proliferation, and release of proangiogenic growth factors. To target Ras, farnesyltransferase inhibitors have been used.

The two most prominent farnesyltransferase inhibitors used to indirectly inhibit Ras are tipifarnib and lonafarnib. A phase II study of tipifarnib reported a PFS-6 of 12% in patients with GBM and 9% in patients with anaplastic glioma (AG) [145]. Also, a phase I study with lonafarnib and TMZ was performed in patients with recurrent GBM to overcome tumor resistance to TMZ. Using this therapy, 27% of patients who were previously resistant to TMZ treatment showed a partial response, and the PFS-6 was 33%. These data show promising possibilities, especially the potential improvement of patient treatment using TMZ in combination with lonafarnib [146].

Sorafenib is a multikinase inhibitor, it targets RAF-1, PDGFR, and VEGFR. It is probably the most promising and most extensively studied Ras-RAF inhibitor. In vitro studies showed that combination of sorafenib with rottlerin (PKC-δ

inhibitor) potently inhibits proliferation and migration of human malignant glioma cells [147]. Furthermore, sorafenib and bortezomib (protease inhibitor; MG132) synergistically induced GBM apoptosis. Based on the FDA clinical trial database (http://clinicaltrials.gov), at least eight phases I and II clinical trials are being conducted to evaluate the effects of sorafenib in patients with malignant gliomas. Recently, published clinical trial data indicates that sorafenib in combination with temsirolimus demonstrated limited benefit in GBM. The authors concluded that significant dose reductions that were required in this treatment combination compared with tolerated single-agent doses may have contributed to the lack of efficacy [148]. Sun et al. [149] demonstrated that inhibition of Nrf2 might enhance the therapeutic benefit of TMZ by modulation of antioxidant and anti-apoptotic genes. These effects might be mediated by inhibition of Ras/ Raf/MEK signaling pathway, leading to decreased cellular proliferation. Thus, inhibition of Nrf2 might be a new therapeutic approach for treatment of glioma [149].

9.8.4 Hepatocyte Growth Factor/c-MET Signaling and Potential Clinical Candidates

c-MET, a tyrosine kinase receptor binds to hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and exerts its effect on proliferation, survival, migration, invasion, angiogenesis, stem cell characteristics and therapeutic resistance leading to recurrence of GBM. HGF is overexpressed in 1.6-4% of GBM patients, and via activation of c-MET, enhances tumor growth, and angiogenesis. Upon HGF binding, c-MET activates several downstream signaling cascades to induce EMT, primarily through PI3K/AKT, RAS/MAPK and Wnt/β-catenin pathways. Aberrant c-MET activity, arising due to either gene mutation or amplification, leads to development and progression of multiple human cancers, including high-grade gliomas. Therefore, combined targeted therapy for this pathway and associated molecules could be a novel and attractive strategy for the treatment of GBM. Over the last few decades, many antibodies or small-molecule inhibitors targeting c-MET or HGF have been examined in numerous preclinical and clinical studies.

Preclinical studies indicated that, SGX-523 a smallmolecule inhibitor of HGFR/c-MET tyrosine kinase activity inhibits tumor cell growth, migration, and invasion in a panel of glioma cells in vitro and reduced tumor growth in a murine xenograft model of GBM. However, the two clinical trials registered for this agent for the treatment of solid tumors were terminated without available results (NCT00607399, NCT00606879). Furthermore, amuvatinib (MP470) a smallmolecule inhibitor that acts on multiple tyrosine kinases, including c-MET, has been shown to radiosensitize GBM cell lines in vitro and in vivo studies. Another small-molecule inhibitor of c-MET kinase activity, crizotinib, inhibits growth, sphere-forming capacity and expression of stem cell markers in a subcutaneous xenograft model of GBM using U87MG cell line. It effectively inhibits proliferation and survival of c-MET-positive GSCs, rather than c-MET-negative GSCs, and apparently prolongs the survival of mice bearing c-MET-positive GSCs [150]. However, in a subcutaneous xenograft model using Mayo39 and Mayo59 GBM cell lines, crizotinib was only effective in reducing tumor burden and vascular density when used in combination with the EGFR inhibitor erlotinib [151].

Several monoclonal antibodies against c-MET-HGF showed promising anti-tumor activity in preclinical studies but no evidence of clinical benefit. Rilotumumab (AMG102), a neutralizing antibody against HGF, has shown anti-tumor activity in U87MG tumor xenograft models in combination with bevacizumab. However, in clinical trial for recurrent malignant glioma, rilotumumab with bevacizumab did not significantly improve the objective response, as compared to that with bevacizumab alone. Moreover, adverse effects might impede the use of rilotumumab in combination with bevacizumab regimens [152].

Several targeted small-molecule inhibitors and monoclonal antibodies targeting receptor kinases (e.g., EGFR, PDGFRa and PI3K) have been evaluated as single agents or in combination with SOC for recurrent and newly diagnosed GBM. However, none of these trials have improved PFS or OS in GBM patients so far.

9.8.5 Immunotherapies

Immunotherapies have shown significant efficacy in many oncology indications and are attractive candidates also for GBM as they affect the TME rather than targeting the tumor. However, Opdivo, a programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) inhibitor, in a randomized Phase III trial for recurrent GBM patients failed and therefore the excitement of immune-checkpoint inhibitors as a monotherapy has faded for GBM patients. Instead, to improve the clinical outcome for GBM, currently immune-checkpoint inhibitors are being evaluated in combinations with other treatment modalities, such as chemotherapy, oncolytic viruses, and radiotherapy. Other immunotherapies in the GBM pipeline include autologous dendritic cell vaccines and oncolytic viruses. Vaccines have not shown promising efficacy in other oncology indications; however, many companies developing late-stage vaccine-based therapies have also identified various biomarkers which can be selective for most responsive patients, thereby increasing their chance of success. AbbVie's biomarker driven strategy involving the antibody drug conjugate, depatuxizumab mafodotin, targets EGFR amplification-positive patients, increasing the chance of a signal in GBM patients. Other targeted agents involve proteasome inhibitors and novel chemotherapy agents or radiosensitizing agents to improve the effect of chemoradiotherapy in GBM [24].

9.8.6 Other Dysregulated Pathways

GBM are associated with high rates of mortality due to their intrinsic resistance to conventional therapies. Experimental evidence suggests that cell invasion and proliferation in glioma cells are mutually exclusive events, with proliferating cells being less migratory while rapidly migrating cells divide more slowly. Highly migratory cells escape surgical resection and invade the surrounding brain tissue, giving rise to satellite lesions that lead to tumor recurrence. The intrinsic resistance to various treatments manifested in GBM has been attributed to the presence of a small subpopulation of cells-CSC. GSC harbor exclusive self-renewing and tumorinitiating potential, they are believed to be the tumor driving force in this fatal disease and play a significant role in tumor progression, maintenance, and recurrence after therapeutic intervention. Several studies have shown that these GSC display enhanced invasive behavior in in vitro and in vivo. Specifically, increased expression of Wnt5a and TGF-B2 has been found to enhance the invasion capacities of GSCs [153]. Moreover, human studies have demonstrated that TGF-\beta is overexpressed in malignant glioma tissues but undetectable in normal brain tissues, suggesting that TGF- β contributes to glioma development. Studies have been conducted to analvze the expression of TGF-B1 and TGF-B2 expression in 159 GBM tumor specimens and Kaplan-Meier and multivariate analyses were used to correlate expression with OS and PFS [234]. Higher expression of TGF-B1 significantly conferred a strikingly poorer OS and PFS in newly diagnosed patients, thus, it could serve as a prognostic biomarker and patient follow-up [153]. Several small-molecule TGF β RI kinase inhibitors, e.g., LY-2157299 are being evaluated in preclinical studies for GBM. Notably, the combination of TGF-β signaling inhibitors with US FDA-approved immunecheckpoint blockade agents, such as anti-PD1, anti-PD-L1, and anti-CTLA4 antibodies, most likely would improve clinical outcomes over targeting a single pathway, especially as these antibodies have recently been shown to have efficacy in murine models of glioma [154, 155]. Likewise, Wnt signaling pathway is important for differentiation of GSC. Aberrant Wnt signaling in GSCs renders them resistant to conventional chemo- and radiotherapy. It is suggested that a combinatorial approach which allows cellular targeting of Wnt signaling such as CAR-T mediated drug delivery may be considered to address the challenge [61].

Taken together, there has been a rapid increase in our knowledge of the molecular, genetic, and epigenetic pathogenesis of GBM. This has led to the development of different therapeutics against these aberrant multiple signal transduction pathways and also there are many innovative chemotherapeutic strategies developed for the treatment of GBM. However, the clinical outputs for the use of many of these agents are largely disappointing. Nevertheless, there are several potential reasons that the current molecular targeted therapies have been largely ineffective. It would be very difficult to find therapeutically efficient molecularly targeted drugs because of the promiscuous character of GBM cells [140, 156].

Thus here, we have described the major pathways that are highly mutated or deregulated in GBM as well as some newly developed therapies targeting those pathways. With the current knowledge of tumor biology, we believe that the combination of inhibitors of multiple pathways alongside targeting TME through modulation of tumor suppressors like p53/Rb/Par-4 could provide insight into potentially active drug combinations for future treatment.

10 Tumor Suppressors and Par-4

Mutations in oncogenes, tumor suppressor genes, and genes involved in DNA damage repair process promote cancer initiation in humans. Growth factor receptors, protein kinases, G-protein-signaling molecules, and transcription factors in selected signal transduction pathways are common targets for oncogene mutations. Tumor suppressor genes commonly contribute to maintain the fidelity of the cell-cycle replication process. They act as negative regulators for oncogenes, cell-cycle checkpoints, or gene products that supply the appropriate nutrients or components to complete a faithful cell-cycle division in the absence of stress. Deletions, nonsense mutations, frame-shift mutations, insertions, or missense mutations that inactivate functional activity of a protein are observed in tumor suppressor genes processes.

Most cancers are noted to contain a number of oncogene and tumor suppressor gene mutations. An inclusive definition of tumor suppressor gene as put forth by Haber and Harlow states that suppressor genes are genes that sustain loss-of-function mutations in the development of cancer, regardless of their presumed functional role processes.

The products of tumor suppressor genes have diverse functions. The following table classifies certain functions and their related tumor suppressor genes (Table 2).

The inheritance of a mutated form of these tumor suppressor genes can initiate the formation of a specific set of tumors, commonly at a much younger age than those arising from spontaneous somatic mutations.

10.1 Tumor Suppressor as a Therapeutic Target for GBM

Current research focuses on defining the biochemical factors that govern the interplay between cell growth and cell death in GBM. The concept of tumor suppressor genes is examined, with an emphasis on the functional studies of the role of the *p53*, *p16*, *Rb*, and *PTEN/MMACI* genes in gliomas. Moreover, recent advances linking tumor suppressor genes, apoptosis, and cell-cycle control pathways in brain tumors are reviewed. The ability to detect mutations in tumor suppressor genes plays an important role in cancer diagnosis and prognosis. Perhaps of greatest significance has been the realization that tumor suppressor genes may provide novel targets for the development of specific anticancer therapies for brain tumors.

10.2 p53/RB/CDKN2A

p53 is a well-known tumor suppressor and transcription factor that coordinates cell responses to a diverse array of cellular stresses by regulating genes that are involved in processes such as apoptosis, DNA repair, neovascularization, and metabolism. Disruption of this gene is common in a diverse array of human cancers. According to the TCGA 2008 publication, p53 was found to be mutated in 37.5% and 58% of untreated and treated GBM samples respectively. The p53 signaling pathway can also be misregulated by inactivation of CDKN2a. This gene encodes two distinct proteins (p16INK4a and p14ARF) that are tumor suppressors and act as negative regulators of the cell cycle. They are deleted in approximately 55% of GBMs. One of the encoded protein products, p14ARF, was found to promote the degradation of the p53 repressor (MDM2) and thus lead to the stabilization and accumulation of p53. Therefore, a loss of p14ARF (via CDKN2a deletion) results in suppression of p53 and provides a mechanism for tumorigenesis. CDKN2a also encodes p16INK4A, a protein that inhibits the association of CDK4/6 (cyclin-dependent kinase) with cyclin D. This association would otherwise form a complex that functions to promote the G1/S transition through activation of downstream mediators. Specifically, this complex phosphorylates a tumor suppressor protein, retinoblastoma protein (pRb), and this facilitates the release of bound E2F, a G1/S transcription factor. The loss of p16INK4a, therefore, allows CDK4/6 and cyclin D association and subsequently promotes the G1/S transition. Thus, p16INK4a acts as a tumor suppressor. According to TCGA data, 77% of samples harbored aberrations in the Rb pathway, with the most prevalent being a deletion at the CDKN2A/CDKN2B locus (55% and 53%, respectively). The relevance of this locus to disease progression is also underscored by studies using mice models that have shown that homozygous deletions of p16(INK4a) and p14(ARF) are tightly associated with progression to higher grade gliomas. A phase II trial (NCT01227434) currently recruiting participants will test a small-molecule inhibitor of CDK4/6 (Palbociclib isethionate [PD 0332991]) in patients with Rb-positive recurrent GBM [157].

Sr #	Tumor suppressor genes	Function of protein
1	p53	Transcription factor
2	Rb	Negative regulator of transcription factor
3	APC	Ubiquitin ligase activator
4	ARF	Ubiquitin ligase inhibitor
5	NF1, TSC1, TSC2	GTPases
6	BRCA1, BRCA2, ATM, MSH1, MLH1	DNA repair functions
7	LKB1	Protein kinases
8	PTEN	Protein kinase inhibitor
9	MEN2	Histone modifiers
10	E-cadherin, α-catenin, RASSF1, NF2	Cytoskeletal and adhesion compounds

Table 2 Tumor suppressor genes with protein functions

10.3 Par-4 as a Tumor Suppressor

The tumor suppressor protein, Par-4 is known to be ubiquitously expressed in different tissues across different species. Par-4 can selectively cause apoptosis in a wide variety of cancers leaving normal cells unaffected. Par-4 knockout mice develop spontaneous tumors in various tissues. The Par-4 gene is located on an unstable region 12q21 of the human chromosome that is often deleted in gastric and pancreatic cancer [158]. Par-4 is known to be downregulated in over 70% of renal cancers, neuroblastoma, acute, and chronic forms of leukemia [158].

10.3.1 Discovery

In order to identify the genes induced by effectors of apoptosis in androgen-dependent and -independent prostate cell types, Rangnekar et al. performed differential hybridization on a cDNA library prepared from an androgen-independent prostate cancer cell line, AT-3, exposed to ionomycin. Prostate tumors are hybrid and have a mixed population of androgendependent and -independent cells. While androgen-dependent prostate cancer show high intracellular Ca2+ levels upon androgen ablation, the androgen-independent prostate cancer does not exhibit such a behavior making the androgen-independent cells refractory to androgen-ablation therapy leading to relapse of aggressive prostate cancer [159]. Forced elevation of intracellular calcium, using the ionophore ionomycin, can cause apoptosis in androgen-independent cells [160]. Five distinct cDNAs representing ionomycin-inducible genes, designated prostate apoptosis response (Par)-1, -2, -3, -4, and -5, were identified. Of these Par-4 and Par-5 were novel. Further characterization of these genes revealed that induction of Par-4 is apoptosis specific and is not induced by effectors of growth stimulation, oxidative stress and necrosis, or growth arrest in prostate cells [159].

10.3.2 Par-4 Protein Structure

Par-4 is a 40 kDa multi-domain protein composed of 340 amino acids (Fig. 4 and Table 3). The key domains include a leucine zipper domain (LZ) at the carboxyl terminal region,

two nuclear localization sequences (NLS1, NLS2), nuclear export sequence (NES) and a Selective for Apoptosis of Cancer Cells (SAC) domain, which is unique to Par-4 [158]. Functions of certain other domains in Par-4 have yet to be elucidated. These include the casein kinase 2 (CK2) phosphorylation site, an ATP-GTP binding motif, protein kinase C (PKC) phosphorylation site, also sites for N-glycosylation and N-myristoylation [158].

Par-4 exhibits two nuclear localization sequences NLS1 and NLS2 at the N-terminal region.

The NLS1 (24–29) sequence is relatively shorter in length (six amino acids long), and its function is yet not known.

The NLS2 (147–163) domain is important for the translocation of Par-4 from the cytoplasm to the nucleus, which is essential to cause apoptosis. The function of NLS2 was confirmed by using a Par-4 deletion mutant lacking the NLS2 sequence that was unable to translocate to the nucleus, thereby losing its ability to block NF- κ B activity and induce apoptosis.

Par-4 contains five leucine repeats at its carboxyl terminus (300–340). The primary function of a leucine zipper domain is to allow protein–protein interactions. The leucine zipper domain contains about 40 amino acids found in the form of heptad repeats, where the fourth position of each repeat is occupied by a leucine. The ability of Par-4 to form homo- and hetero-dimers with almost all its binding partners is through its leucine zipper domain [158].

The SAC domain is unique and indispensable for the proapoptotic activity of Par-4. SAC is a core domain that is 59 (146–203) amino acids in length. The SAC domain includes the NLS2 domain and the Thr residue, which is the target for PKA phosphorylation. The SAC domain thus gives Par-4 the ability to selectively kill cancer cells, while leaving normal cells unaffected. This cancer selectivity of SAC and Par-4 is due to the higher endogenous PKA levels exhibited by cancer cells. The basal level of PKA in normal cells is insufficient to cause T163 phosphorylation, thereby making normal cells resistant to Par-4-mediated apoptosis. It is also seen that the endogenous level of Par-4 does not by itself cause apoptosis, unless accompanied by another stimulus [158].



Fig. 4 . The structure and key functional domains of human Par-4

 Table 3
 Par-4 functional domains with known functions

Amino acid	
sequence	Functions
24–29	No known regulatory function
68–72	Foxo45 binding for
	ubiquitination and proteasome
	degradation
D131	EEPD131G caspase cleavage
	site
147–163	Nuclear translocation
303–309	No known regulatory function
300-340	Binding site for proteins
Thr163	Activation and nuclear
	translocation of Par-4 for
	pro-apoptotic activity
Ser231	Activation and nuclear
	translocation of Par-4 for
	pro-apoptotic activity
Ser228	14-3-3 chaperone-mediated
	sequestration
	Amino acid sequence 24–29 68–72 D131 147–163 303–309 300–340 Thr163 Ser231 Ser228

10.4 Intrinsic, Cellular, and Secretory Par-4

Par-4 is known to cause apoptosis selectively in cancer cells. Depending on the nature of stimulus, apoptosis can occur via two different pathways, extrinsic and intrinsic (Fig. 5) [158].

10.4.1 Intrinsic Par-4

Various intracellular stimuli including oxidative stress, endoplasmic reticulum stress, hypoxia, DNA damage, and higher levels of protein kinase A leads to Par-4-mediated selective apoptosis in cancer cells [158]. Par-4 protein possesses several sites for phosphorylation by protein kinases A and C (PKA and PKC). These sites play an important role in regulation, localization, dimerization, and post-translational modification of Par-4 and thus are essential for Par-4 mediated activity. The intrinsic mechanism involves the PKA/ PKC-mediated phosphorylation of Par-4 in its SAC domain followed by its nuclear translocation. The nuclear translocation is followed by inhibition of NF-kB-mediated cell survival mechanisms including genes belonging to the Bcl-2 family [158]. Par-4 is known to modulate NF-kB function both in nucleus and cytoplasm. In the cytoplasm, Par-4 represses NF-kB-dependent gene transcription by inhibiting

the TNF α -induced nuclear translocation of the p65 (Rel A) subunit by blocking the atypical protein kinase C (aPKC), or I κ B kinase (IKK β)-mediated phosphorylation of the NF- κ B inhibitory protein I κ B [161]. The PKA-mediated phosphorylation of Par-4 at T163 is also essential for trafficking of Fas/FasL to the membrane. The Fas/FasL interacts with Fas-dependent death domain (FADD) thereby inducing the formation of the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) causing activation of the Fas/FasL-FADD-Caspase 8 apoptotic death pathway [162]. Par-4 is known to upregulate the tumor suppressor activity of Wilms' Tumor-1 (WT-1) and also sequester topoisomerase 1 (TOP1) causing attenuation of its ability to relax supercoiled DNA thereby preventing DNA unwinding making it unavailable for transcription [162].

10.4.2 Secretory Par-4

Normal and cancer cells spontaneously secrete Par-4. Agents which induce ER stress cause upregulation in Par-4 secretion via brefeldin-A pathway. Par-4 transgenic mice have elevated levels of secretory Par-4 and show high resistance to spontaneous tumor generation. Par-4 is reported to localize in the endoplasmic reticulum and plasma membrane and its secretion can be inhibited by brefeldin-A, indicating that secretion of Par-4 takes place via the conventional ER-Golgi secretory pathway [161]. ER stress leads to upregulation of an ER chaperone protein glucose-regulated protein-78 (GRP78) which is an important binding partner of Par-4 and an essential component required for exhibiting the paracrine activity of Par-4. Intracellularly, GRP78 promotes cell growth, survival, and is an anti-apoptotic factor. GRP78 is overexpressed in multiple cancers, and elevated levels are associated with tumor severity and chemoresistance. GRP78 expression is also detected on the surface of cancer cells. Hence, the paracrine effect of Par-4 is restricted to cancer cells while the normal cells are spared from this effect. This effect of Par-4 can be attributed to GRP78 which under normal conditions is an endoplasmic reticulum-resident protein which functions as a chaperone involved in protein folding and a regulator of ER stress signaling. Under conditions of ER stress, intracellular Par-4 binds to GRP78 and facilitates its translocation from the ER to the plasma membrane, where GRP78 acts as a receptor for Par-4 at the cell surface. Once it is extracellular, Par-4



Fig. 5 Intrinsic and extrinsic pathways of Par-4-mediated apoptosis. Under the influence of apoptosis signals, Par-4 undergoes nuclear translocation via its SAC domain followed by inhibition of NF- κ B facilitated cell survival. Within the nucleus, Par-4 also inhibits TOP1

enabled DNA unwinding. ER stress leads to translocation of Par-4 or GRP78-Par-4 complex to the plasma membrane leading to activation of Fas-FasL or TRAIL-mediated FADD/Caspase-8-dependent apoptosis

binds to GRP78 and uses FADD as the adaptor via tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) to recruit caspase-8 to the membrane. Activated caspase-8 then triggers the basic apoptotic machinery involving caspase-3 and other downstream effector proteins [163].

10.5 Expression of Par-4 in Normal Cells/ Tissues and in Cancers

Par-4 is ubiquitously expressed by normal cells and tissues and exhibits both intra- and extracellular pro-apoptotic functions. However, Par-4 is often downregulated in cancer. Previous studies have indicated that Par-4 downregulation in cancer occurs during cellular neoplastic transformation by the Ras oncogene through the Raf/mitogen-activated protein kinase-extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) kinase/ ERK pathway [161]. Moscat et al. have shown that Par-4 inhibits cell survival and tumorigenesis in vitro, and its genetic inactivation in mice leads to reduced lifespan, enhanced benign tumor development, and low frequency carcinogenesis. According to their studies, the loss of Par-4 dramatically enhances Ras-induced lung carcinoma formation in vivo. Par-4 is highly expressed in normal lung, but is reduced in a significant proportion of human non-small cell lung carcinomas, strongly suggesting that Par-4 is a relevant tumor suppressor in lung cancer [164]. The levels of Par-4 have been shown to be severely decreased in human renal cell carcinoma when compared to normal tubular cells [165]. Decreased Par-4 expression has also been demonstrated in other cancers, including neuroblastoma [166] pancreatic tumors [167], gastric cancer [168], breast [169], endometrial carcinomas [170], triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) [171], Wilms' tumor [172] and gliomas [173].

A couple of contrasting observations have come forth with respect to the expression of Par-4 in cancer and normal cells. Cohen et al. have shown that Par-4 mRNA level is not significantly different between healthy and cancer ovarian cells. Further, immunohistochemistry on ovarian tissue showed that ovarian cancer cells are positive for PAR-4 nuclear and cytoplasmic staining whereas ovarian healthy cells are negative for Par-4 nuclear staining. The Par-4 present in the ovarian cancer cells was shown to induce cell apoptosis and relocation of GRP-78 from endoplasmic reticulum to the cell surface of ovarian cancer cell line (SKOV-3 cells) [174]. In yet another contrasting study in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), Bondada et al. showed that cells from CLL patients and from Eµ-Tcl1 mice constitutively express Par-4 in greater amounts than normal B-1 or B-2 cells. Also knockdown of Par-4 in human CLL-derived

Mec-1 cells results in a robust increase in p21/WAF1 expression and decreased growth due to delayed G1-to-S cell-cycle transition. This Par-4 expression in CLL cells was dependent on constitutive expression of B-cell receptor (BCR) signaling. Inhibition of BCR signaling caused a decrease in Par-4 messenger RNA and protein, and an increase in apoptosis [175].

10.6 PAR-4 Modulation/Overexpression/ Knockdown/Knockout in Animal Models

The prominent role of Par-4 to selectively induce apoptosis in tumor cells without affecting normal cells has gained wider attention to expedite its potential as a therapeutic tool. In animal models, the modulatory effect of Par-4 is elaborately studied to discern its novel molecular mechanism. The pro-apoptotic activity of Par-4 is largely established in in vitro systems, and experimental animal models have clearly demonstrated anti-tumor activity of secretory Par-4. Particularly, the role of Par-4 as a negative regulator of NF- $\kappa\beta$ pathway has been deciphered in Par-4 knockout and knockdown mouse models [176]. Studies clearly indicate inverse relation of Par-4 and NF-kB in various tumor suppression models [176]. Transgenic mice models ubiquitously expressing Par-4/SAC domain are reported to show resistance to the growth of spontaneous and inducible tumors [177]. The secretory Par-4 induced pro-apoptotic activity in susceptible mice when Par-4 from cancer-resistant transgenic mice was transferred by bone marrow transplantation. Moreover, inoculation of recombinant Par-4 or SAC protein into mice inhibited metastasis of cancer cells. In addition, Par-4/SAC core domain-expressing adenovirus when intratumorally injected into xenografts in nude mice, caused rapid inhibition of tumor growth [178]. The secreted Par-4 in serum from transgenic mouse model affected apoptosis through extracellular surface stimuli upon binding to GRP78, thereby inhibiting the growth of tumor cells grown in vitro [179]. Burikhanov et al [180] reported that normal cells can be triggered to induce p53-dependent Par-4 secretion in systemic circulation. The secreted Par-4 remains functionally active in serum for an extended period and promotes ex vivo apoptosis in tumor cells sparing normal cells. Interestingly, PTEN heterozygous mice with Par-4 deletion led to the development of invasive prostate carcinoma [181]. Syngeneic mice (C57/ BL6) with higher systemic levels of Par-4 levels are reported to hinder the growth of LLC-1-derived metastatic lung cancer [182]. Furthermore, ectopically expressed Par-4 inhibited development of lung nodules in tail vein metastatic models and reversed EMT in BXPC-3/CDDP cells [176]. Withaferin

as Par-4 inducer is reported to upregulate E-cadherin and inhibit expression of mesenchymal marker β -catenin and vimentin in prostate cancer model [183].

10.7 PAR-4 Knockout (KO) Models

Knockout of Par-4 in the experimental model system has clearly demonstrated a tumor-prone phenotype exhibiting neoplastic transformation of multiple tissues types like lungs, liver, urinary bladder, endometrium, and prostate cancer. Among these, endometrium and prostate cancers are vulnerable to loss of Par-4, signifying a prominent role of Par-4 in hormone dependent tissues. Besides spontaneous tumor development, Par-4 KO models are prone to chemical or hormone-induced lesions [161]. The immunological profile of Par-4 null mice represented increased proliferative response of peripheral T cells that leads resistance to apoptosis with increased IL-2 levels, dysregulated NF-kB activity, and abrogation of JNK activity [184]. Embryo fibroblasts from Par-4 KO mice showed high levels of NF-κβ activation and reduced stimulation of JNK, in turn inhibiting cell survival [184, 185]. Par-4 deficient mice harbor higher levels of activated Akt in lung and prostate epithelial cells, and as is the case for NF- κ B, this activation is mediated by PKC ζ [186]. Par-4 null mice show decreased survival over wild type due to high incidence of tumor formation [187]. Interestingly, Par-4 null mice have shown symptoms of depression and adverse stress revealing possible role of Par-4 due to reduced expression [188]. PKCζ-deficient mice displayed impaired B-cell proliferation and Th2 differentiation [189]. Par-4 null mice revealed B-cell proliferation and overproduction of Th2 cytokine IL-4 by T cells in vitro and ex vivo [184]. These two KO mouse models have clearly unveiled opposite immunological phenotypes. Female C57BL6 mice with Par-4 null trait developed endometrial hyperplasia at 9 months of age from their development and interestingly none of the wild types showed similar alterations. Further, endometrial carcinomas were confirmed in 36% of moribund Par-4 null females after 12 months. Mechanistic studies in hyperplastic mice have revealed high levels of the anti-apoptotic protein XIAP. The basis of increased levels of XIAP was attributed to negative regulation of Par-4 with ζPKC–NF-κB pathway [187]. Moreover, similar findings were reported in Par-4 null male mice with incidence of prostate hyperplasia, prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN), and increased sensitivity towards testosterone-induced prostate hyperplasia. Chloroquine (CQ) induced Par-4 levels in Par-4 +/+ as against Par-4 -/mice and prevented distant migration of EO771 tumor cell in lungs, thus demonstrating anti-metastatic role of Par-4 [190].

10.8 Models with Overexpression of Par-4

Transgenic mice model overexpressing Par-4 are resistant to the growth of spontaneous or oncogene-inducible tumors. Par-4 overexpression sensitizes several cancer cell lines to apoptosis induced by endogenous tumor surveillance ligands, such as TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand, and chemotherapeutics. Role of Par-4 in inducing cell death and proliferation is widely known in multiple solid cancers; however, B-cell-specific leukemic mouse model of CLL also associated with increased Par-4 expression. TCL1 leukemic model has considerably shown delay in disease progression and conferred significant survival benefit. B-cell specific knockout mouse model with lack of Par-4 expression resulted in accelerated disease progression and abbreviated survival in the TCL1 model [191].

10.9 Signaling Pathways and regulation of Par-4

Par-4 expression and its interactions with multiple pathways components make it selective and multifaceted signaling crosstalk protein involved in cell survival signaling networks. Notably, these interactions occur at both sites, cytosol and nucleus mainly through protein-protein interactions, intracellular trafficking, and post-translational modifications (PTMs) with the help of two putative nuclear localization sequences (NSL 1 and 2) and nuclear transport sequence (NSE) [158]. A leucine zipper (LZ) domain at C-terminus end recognizes and binds with several Par-4 interacting proteins. Moreover, Par-4 phosphorylation by different kinases is regarded as an important regulatory mechanism depending on site and nature of kinase which can activate, inhibit, or substantiate pro-apoptotic activity. Structure-function analysis of Par-4 has distinctly identified SAC domain to selectively mediate apoptosis in cancer cells [192]. Thus far, altered expression of Par-4 is known to regulate varied anticancer mechanisms including metastasis, senescence, and autophagy. The translocation of Par-4 into the nucleus is a prerequisite for suppression of NF-kB-dependent transcription activity which is a significant mechanism involved in Par-4-mediated cellular toxicity (Fig. 6).

10.9.1 PTEN/Akt/mTOR

Par-4 has an integral co-operation with PTEN-mediated signaling pathways. The deficiency of Par-4 with PTEN haploinsufficiency in mice led to tumor progression in prostate cancer while concomitant deficiency of both tumor suppressors activated Akt and synergistically stimulated NF- κ B promoting cellular growth, survival, inflammation, and angiogenesis [193]. Akt phosphorylate Par-4 at Ser228 and result in 14-3-3 sequestration in cytoplasm and blocks apoptosis [176]. PKC ζ phosphorylates Akt as a direct substrate at Ser124 to regulate basal Akt activity and promotes sufficient phosphorylation of Akt at two other key residues Ser473 and Thr308, which are essential for full activation of Akt. Modulation of Par-4 is a common step in the regulation of the Akt and NF- κ B pathways. First, PI3K-Akt pathway leads to Par-4 dependent apoptosis. Thus, Par-4 is essential for PTEN inducible apoptosis, and inactivation of Par-4 by Akt promotes cancer cell survival, Secondly, Akt1 acts as a critical cell survival protein that binds, phosphorylates, and promotes sequestration of Par-4 in the cytoplasm. It is also demonstrated that Par-4 is transcriptionally upregulated following treatment with multiple drugs targeting the PI3K-Akt-mTOR signaling pathway.

10.9.2 RAS/Raf/MAPK/ERK

PAWR gene is downregulated by oncogenes such as Ras, Raf, or Src [194]. However, treatment with azadeoxycytadine restores Par-4 mRNA and protein levels indicating that downregulation of Par-4 is mediated through promoter methylation. Abrogation of RAS/MEK/ERK by an inhibitor of MAP kinase - PD98059, restores Par-4 levels.

10.9.3 FOXO Pathway

Forkhead Box O3a (Foxo3a) transcription factor acts as mediators of Par-4 upregulation where it directly binds to the Par-4 promoter and activates its transcription following inhibition of the PI3K-Akt pathway [183]. Constitutive expression of Foxo3a is known to induce Par-4 whereas overexpression of Akt or silencing of Foxo3a expression inhibits the process.

10.9.4 Tumor Suppressor p53

Uveal autoantigen with coiled-coil domains and ankyrin (UACA), a Par-4 binding protein negatively regulates Par-4 secretion and sequesters Par-4 in ER and prevents it from translocating GRP78 to the cell surface. p53 can directly bind to a consensus motif on UACA and inhibit UACA expression in NF- κ B independent manner and elevate Par-4 levels [180]. Similarly, study has also shown that p53 activation in normal cells induces Par-4 secretion, leading p53-dependent paracrine apoptosis in p53-deficient cells. Similarly, in response to chloroquine (CQ) treatment, p53 binds to promote region of *Rab8b* (GTPase Rab family member) to promote Par-4 secretion [190]. p53 adenovirus E1B 19 kDa interacting protein 3 (BNIP3) is downstream target of Par-4 during ceramidemediated autophagic cell death.

10.9.5 Casein Kinase 2 (CK2)

Par-4 is a novel substrate of the Caseins kinase CK2 and phosphorylation by CK2 impairs Par-4 pro-apoptotic functions. A serine/threonine kinase CK2 phosphorylates Par-4 at Ser231 and thus impede Par-4 mediated apoptotic activity [195].



Fig. 6 Role of Par-4 in response to several external and internal stimuli.

Nuclear translocation of cytosolic Par-4 is essential for inhibition of NF- κ B through p65 to regulate cellular toxicity. PKA mediated phosphorylation of human Par-4 at Th163 is essential for nuclear translocation. Akt-mediated phosphorylation of Par-4 at Ser228 sequesters Par-4 in cytoplasm and thus abrogates apoptosis. PTEN, as tumor suppressor gene regulates dephosphorylation of PIP3 to PIP2 to regulate Akt mediated dysregulation. CK2 impairs apoptotic properties of Par-4 by triggering the phosphorylation at residue S231. Vimentin sequesters Par-4 and prevents its extracellular function. Intracellular Par-4 induces GSK3 β activation leading to phosphorylation of β -catenin and attenu-

10.9.6 Protein Kinase a (PKA)

PKA-mediated phosphorylation at Par-4 at Thr163 is crucial for nuclear translocation of Par-4 which is missing in normal cells and this explains why normal cells are resistant to PKA-directed apoptosis by ectopic Par-4 [196].

10.9.7 Protein Kinase C (PKC)

Par-4 interacts with PKC ζ and thus inactivates kinase though conformational changes and thus blocks PKC ζ directed NF- κ B activity. Phosphorylation of I κ B through PKC ζ also blocks NF- κ B mediated pro-survival signaling [197]. ates its nuclear translocation. TGF- β activates Par-4 expression and translocates to the nucleus to bind with Smad4 which leads to activation of epithelial-to-mesenchymal (EMT) markers - Snail and vimentin. IGF1 is indirectly associated with reduced expression of Par-4. PKC ζ inactivation by Par-4 facilitates inhibition of NF- κ B and pro-apoptotic survival pathway. Par-4 interacts with PKC ζ and inactivates kinase through conformational changes and prevents phosphorylation of Ikb, a crucial step for translocation of NF- κ B proteins P50/P65. Par-4 interacts with transcription factor WT1 and inhibits activity of Bcl2 and topoisomerase TOP1. Mutant IDH1 enzymatic activity accumulates 2 hydroxyglutarate (2-HG) and negatively affects regulation of Par-4 by unidentified mechanism

10.9.8 Autophagy

Recent literature has revealed that Par-4 overexpression can induce autophagic cell death. Wang et al., observed simultaneous modulation of autophagy and apoptosis in hypopharyngeal cancer [198]. Similarly, curcumin induces ROS-dependent overexpression, inducing autophagic cellular toxicity in human malignant glioma [199]. Par-4 is involved in autophagy via a p53-BNIP3-dependent manner where p53-dependent Bcl-2/adenovirus E1B 19 kDa protein 3 (BNIP3) acts as a downstream target of Par-4-induced autophagy after ceramide treatment in human malignant glioma cells. Activation of Par-4-P53-BNIP3 axis was reported in autophagy inducers like ceramide and arsenic trioxide suggesting significant role of Par-4-mediated tumor suppression [200]. Curcumin induced autophagic cell death in human malignant glioma cells is associated with ROS-dependent Par-4 and ceramide generation [199].

10.9.9 Apoptotic Pathway

Par-4-induced extrinsic apoptosis occurs through a unique mechanism that involves cell death facilitated by various death ligands such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α), Fas ligand (FasL), and TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) to their cognate receptors of the pro-death FasL-Fas-FADD-caspase-8 pathway and inhibit NF-kB prosurvival pathway. Caspase-dependent post-translational regulation of Par-4 involves two fragments, a 15 KDa amino terminal fragment-PAF (Par-4 amino terminal fragment) and 25 kDa carboxy terminal fragment cleaved Par 4 (cl-Par-4). The cl- par-4 fragment translocates into the nucleus and initiates apoptosis. The intrinsic pathway is mediated through mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and depolarization leading to the release cytochrome c, AIF, Smac/DIABLO, etc. These factors promote caspase signaling cascade and bring about the cell death process. Apoptosis is tightly controlled through a balance of pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic proteins. The net result is balance between Bcl-2 family member of both pro-apoptotic such as Bad, Bid, Bax, Bak, Bcl-Xs, Bim and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, Mcl-1 that determines whether a cell will undergo apoptosis. Apoptosis of cancer cells by Par-4 is dependent on anti-apoptotic markers, such as Bcl-xL, or Bcl-2 and the status of p53 or PTEN.

10.9.10 Senescence

Par-4-dependent p53 induction has a key role in thymoquinone-induced senescence in glioma cells. Markedly, Par-4 overexpression increased senescence in glioma cells, wherein Par-4 inhibition through shRNA or siRNA, drastically reduced senescence [201]. Induction of Par-4 increased senescence markers p53, p21, and Rb, and decreased expression of lamin B1, cyclin E, and cyclindependent kinase-2 (CDK-2). Also, Par-4 promoted senescence in cardiac mouse fibroblast [202].

10.9.11 Metastasis

Par-4 has a crucial role in EMT as it significantly inhibited mesenchymal-epithelial (MET) marker—vimentin and twist-related protein (Twist-1) and restored levels of E-cadherin as EMT marker in metastatic pancreatic cell line [203]. It is hypothesized that Par-4-NF- κ B-mediated axis has negative impact on Snail and Twist 1 as these transcription factors promote vimentin and repress E-cadherin [204]. Secondly, Par-4 promotes ALK2/Smad4 signaling which is essential to maintain Par-4-mediated E-cadherin levels [205]. Vimentin is also known to target Par-4 through sequestration

in cytoplasm and inhibit Par-4 expression [206]. Par-4 expressed through external stimuli inhibits EMT markers like β -catenin and vimentin [183]. A negative modulation of Par-4 by microRNA (miR-17-3p) leads to increased levels of CEBPB (CCAAT enhancer binding protein beta), focal adhesion protein (FAK), N-cadherin, vimentin and reduced expression of E-cadherin. Du et al [202] has reported that Indolylkojyl methane analog (IKM5) potentially inhibits invasion of breast cancer cells via diminution of GRP78 expression. Interestingly, modulation of oncogenic β-catenin through GSK3ß activation is another important phenomenon by which Par-4 mediates cell migration and metastasis [207]. Besides, extracellular Par-4 secreted by brefeldin-A (BFA) pathway inhibits tumor invasion and angiogenesis via negative regulation of MMP2 thus targeting TME [208]. Contrary, Par-4 induced by TGF beta promotes metastasis due to Snail and vimentin expression through smad4-mediated NF-kB-XIAP axis [188].

10.9.12 Cytoskeleton Proteins

Par-4 interacts with cytoskeletal intermediate filament protein—vimentin which reduces its expression. However, arylquins (AQ) which belongs to the class of Par-4 secretagogues, binds with vimentin and enhances Par-4 secretion to efficiently induce paracrine apoptosis in tumor cells [206].

10.9.13 Metabolic Pathways

Activated PI3K/Akt/mTOR regulates activity of glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) via SREBP-c which is actively involved in cellular transformation. G6PD which is downstream of PI3K pathway supply pentose for the synthesis of nucleic acid to support tumor growth and stabilization of NADP/NADPH—equilibrium crucial for antioxidative defence. Different approaches were proposed for targeting of Par-4 which selectively inhibits apoptosis and G6PD, that provides nutrient supply to tumor cells [209].

10.10 Induction of Par-4 in Normal Cells and Cancer Cells

In cancer cells, the downregulation of Par-4 activity can either be due to a decrease in mRNA levels in the cell or due to the inhibition of its activity. This inhibition of Par-4 activity can be attributed to (1) preventing its phosphorylation, (2) sequestration of Par-4 in the cytoplasm by association with Akt1, or (3) reducing caspase-3 mediated Par-4 cleavage and preventing apoptosis [174]. However, it is also known that Par-4 sensitizes cancer cells for apoptosis. Studies have indicated that an intermediate filament protein, vimentin, and UACA are the intracellular binding partners of Par-4 which sequesters Par-4 within the cells. Further, inhibition of UACA by p53 activation and/or inhibition of NF- κ B activity
results in elevated secretion of Par-4. Secretion of Par-4 via this pathway is dependent on downregulation of UACA, a functional target of p53 [190]. Because the baseline levels of Par-4 secreted by normal cells are inadequate to cause massive apoptosis in cancer cell cultures, secretogogues (small molecules that upregulates secretions) that upregulate the release of Par-4 by displacing Par-4 from its intracellular binding partners, viz. vimentin or UACA therefore constitute an important therapeutic category. Several such secretogogues have been identified till date including chloroquine (Rangnekar et al.). Chloroquine has been shown to cause secretion of Par-4 from normal cells in mice and cancer patients as observed during clinical trials. Similarly, 3-arylquinoline derivative, Arylquin-1 has also been identified as a potent secretagogue able to induce Par-4 secretion in cell cultures and in mice [210]. Jagtap et al. examined the sensitivity of glioma-derived stem cell line (HNGC-2) and primary culture (G1) derived from glioma tumor samples that express neural stem cell markers to various drugs including lomustine, carmustine, UCN-01, oxaliplatin, TMZ, tamoxifen (TAM), and the co-relation of Par-4 with druginduced apoptosis. Of the various drugs studied, TAM significantly upregulated Par-4 and induced cell death. Further, Par-4 knockdown protected the cells from TAM-induced apoptosis [173].

11 Role of Par-4 in Gliomas

Par-4 is an endogenous tumor suppressor expressed in normal and cancer cells [211]. The significance of Par-4 in tumor cells is attributed to its pro-apoptotic function. In various types of cancers including gliomas, Par-4 is silenced or downregulated at protein or transcript level [161, 212]. Analysis with TCGA and REMBRANT databases revealed low levels of Par-4 and correlated with low survival period in GBM but not in astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas suggesting low PAWR expression as a predictive risk factor in GBM [173]. High level of Par-4 is associated with longer median survival time in high-grade gliomas patients with wild type-IDH1 phenotype while patient-derived gliomas with mutant-IDH1 display low Par-4 expression [213]. The downregulation was partly shown to be due to D-2-hydroxyglutarate (2-HG), the metabolic product of mutant IDH1 that suppresses Par-4 transcription in vitro via inhibition of promoter activity as well as enhanced mRNA degradation. Further studies by the same group demonstrated Par-4 as an effective sensitizer of gliomas to apoptosis regardless of IDH1 status and highlighted the significance of induction of Selective for Apoptosis induction in Cancer cells (SAC) domain of Par-4 against glioma cells and in patient-derived GSC from orthotopic xenografts [214].

Endogenous Par-4 is essential for sensitization of cells to diverse apoptotic stimuli and is important for inducing apoptosis in cancer cells [215–217]. Besides its intracellular localization, Par-4 also exists in extracellular form as a secretory protein and induces apoptosis by binding to GRP-78 on tumor cells [179]. Upregulation or induction of Par-4 by apoptotic stimuli such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α), TRAIL [218] and Fas [161] induce cytotoxicity in cancer cells. Overexpression of Par-4 enhances the activity of anticancer drugs [217, 219] and induces radio-sensitivity in human prostate cancer cells [220].

Recent studies reported chloroquine (CQ), an antimalarial drug as a strong inducer of secretory Par-4 in normal cells in mice and in cancer patients. CO-induced secretory Par-4 triggered apoptosis of cancer cells and inhibited metastasis in tumors. The Par-4 activity was dependent on p53 and involved Rab8b-a GTPase protein transport regulator for translocation of Par-4 to the plasma membrane prior to secretion [190]. Zhuang et al. established a link between cell-cycle phase, expression of PrPc, and response to TMZ in human glioma cell lines. The G1/S phase cells displayed lower expression of PrPc and were sensitive to TMZ induced apoptosis while cells in G2/M phase were resistant to apoptosis. The mechanism underlying resistance to TMZ induced apoptosis involved interaction of PrPc and SAC domain of Par-4 that resulted in inhibition of pro-apoptotic activity of Par-4 [221]. Chemotherapeutic drugs kill most of the proliferating cells while CSC survives and further expansion of this population results in enrichment of these GSC in tumors and contribute to drug resistance and recurrence in malignant gliomas [222, 223].

TAM is a well-established anti-estrogen drug widely used for the treatment of estrogen-dependent breast cancers [224]. Recent studies have demonstrated its anti-tumor activity in non-estrogen receptor tumors including gliomas [225-227]. TAM is reported to sensitize glioma cell lines to radiation therapy by inhibition of PKC-1 activity [227]. 4-hydroxytamoxifen(4-OHT), an active metabolite of TAM induces autophagy mediated death in glioma cell lines [228]. Jagtap et al unravelled the role of Par-4 in human GSC cell line-HNGC-2 (human Neuro-Glial cell line-2) [229] and in primary cultures (G1) derived from high-grade GBM tumor. The cell lines were resistant to a panel of drugs including TMZ, lomustine, carmustine, UCN-01, and oxaliplatin but were sensitive to TAM induced cytotoxicity and apoptosis. Exposure to TAM upregulated the intracellular Par-4 level, induced secretory Par-4, and enhanced GRP-78 expression in these cells. The study concluded that TAM induced apoptosis in GSC was dependent on the intracellular as well as secretory Par-4 and activation of Akt and ERK 42/44 pathways [173].

There have been continued efforts to improve strategies for better understanding of glioma biology with the goal towards developing new and effective drugs for improved survival of patients. Most in vitro studies in this direction are conducted using monolayer cultures which do not actually reflect the structure, architecture, or behavior of tumors [230, 231]. On the other hand, 3D-multicellular spheroids (MCS) overcome many of these limitations and mimic tumor conditions with acquisition of multidrug resistance, and therefore serve as ideal experimental model for drug development program [232, 233]. Studies by Jagtap et al demonstrated that MCS generated from HNGC-2 and G1 cell lines displayed high expression of chemoresistance genes compared to monolayer and were resistant to TAM-induced cytotoxicity [235]. Par-4 expression was lower in MCS suggesting an association between chemoresistance and Par-4 level. TAM effectively induced secretory Par-4 in conditioned medium (CM) of cells cultured as monolayer but not in the MCS. The 3-D cultures were rendered sensitive to TAM-induced cytotoxicity by exposure to conditioned medium (CM)-containing Par-4 (derived from TAM-treated monolayer cells). A combination of TAM and inhibitors to PI3K inhibitor (LY294002) or PKC_{\subst} triggered secretion of Par-4 and cell death in MCS. The study concluded that Par-4 is a potential indicator for screening and evaluating anti-tumor agents in CSC.

12 The Road Ahead: Future Perspectives

GBM remains an incurable disease with a depressing prognosis and few therapeutic options over the past two decades. Multiple genome-wide analysis has yielded a wealth of knowledge and uncovered dysregulation of key cellular signaling pathways that constitute attractive targets for therapy. Targeting single dysregulated pathway using either smallmolecule inhibitors and antibodies alone or in combination showed varying clinical response in GBM. However, none of these trials have improved PFS or OS in GBM patients so far. Moreover, it is important to understand that the tumor cells are highly heterogeneous and therefore, it may be more valuable to target multiple signaling pathways for the better prognosis of GBM.

Many therapies failed to show beneficial effects due to the BBB and the presence of active efflux pumps which prevent drug entry into the brain. This leads to sub-optimal concentration, which is below therapeutic concentration of the drug in the target cells which in turn adversely affect efficacy of the drug. An alternative reason for the failure of precision therapy could be that many of the dysregulated signaling pathways currently targeted are imperative for the initiation and/or initial growth of the tumor and are subsequently overridden by secondary pathways and mechanism of late tumor progression. Agents that can induce the secretion of Par-4 from the normal as well as cancer cells therefore would make for attractive drug candidate/s. With these many combinations, there is an immense potential for Par-4 in targeted therapies that remain to be explored in GBM. With the knowledge that we gained over the past two decades about molecular pathogenesis of GBM, we believe that the combination of inhibitors of multiple pathways alongside targeting tumor microenvironment through modulation of tumor suppressor like p53/Rb/Par-4 could provide insight into potentially active drug combinations for future treatment of GBM.

Acknowledgments We apologize if we have missed any research contributions to the field. We thank Director-National Centre for Cell Science (NCCS), Pune, India, and Cipla Ltd., Mumbai for the continuous support.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest. All co-authors have seen and approved the contents of the chapter.

References

- Fueyo J, Gomez-Manzano C, McDonnell TJ (2005) Regulation of cell-cycle and apoptosis in human brain tumors. In: Ali-Osman F (ed) Brain tumors. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp 249–264
- 2. Feigin VL, Nichols E, Alam T, Bannick MS, Beghi E, Blake N, Culpepper WJ, Dorsey ER, Elbaz A, Ellenbogen RG, Fisher JL, Fitzmaurice C, Giussani G, Glennie L, James SL, Johnson CO, Kassebaum NJ, Logroscino G, Marin B, Mountjoy-Venning WC, Nguyen M, Ofori-Asenso R, Patel AP, Piccininni M, Roth GA, Steiner TJ, Stovner LJ, Szoeke CEI, Theadom A, Vollset SE, Wallin MT, Wright C, Zunt JR, Abbasi N, Abd-Allah F, Abdelalim A, Abdollahpour I, Aboyans V, Abraha HN, Acharya D, Adamu AA, Adebayo OM, Adeoye AM, Adsuar JC, Afarideh M, Agrawal S, Ahmadi A, Ahmed MB, Aichour AN, Aichour I, Aichour MTE, Akinyemi RO, Akseer N, Al-Eyadhy A, Al-Shahi Salman R, Alahdab F, Alene KA, Aljunid SM, Altirkawi K, Alvis-Guzman N, Anber NH, Antonio CAT, Arabloo J, Aremu O, Ärnlöv J, Asayesh H, Asghar RJ, Atalay HT, Awasthi A, Ayala Quintanilla BP, Ayuk TB, Badawi A, Banach M, Banoub JAM, Barboza MA, Barker-Collo SL, Bärnighausen TW, Baune BT, Bedi N, Behzadifar M, Behzadifar M, Béjot Y, Bekele BB, Belachew AB, Bennett DA, Bensenor IM, Berhane A, Beuran M, Bhattacharyya K, Bhutta ZA, Biadgo B, Bijani A, Bililign N, Bin Sayeed MS, Blazes CK, Brayne C, Butt ZA, Campos-Nonato IR, Cantu-Brito C, Car M, Cárdenas R, Carrero JJ, Carvalho F, Castañeda-Orjuela CA, Castro F, Catalá-López F, Cerin E, Chaiah Y, Chang J-C, Chatziralli I, Chiang PP-C, Christensen H, Christopher DJ, Cooper C, Cortesi PA, Costa VM, Criqui MH, Crowe CS, Damasceno AAM, Daryani A, De la Cruz-Góngora V, De la Hoz FP, De Leo D, Demoz GT, Deribe K, Dharmaratne SD, Diaz D, Dinberu MT, Djalalinia S, Doku DT, Dubey M, Dubljanin E, Duken EE, Edvardsson D, El-Khatib Z, Endres M, Endries AY, Eskandarieh S, Esteghamati A, Esteghamati S, Farhadi F, Faro A, Farzadfar F, Farzaei MH, Fatima B, Fereshtehnejad S-M, Fernandes E, Feyissa GT, Filip I, Fischer F, Fukumoto T, Ganji M, Gankpe FG, Garcia-Gordillo MA, Gebre AK, Gebremichael TG, Gelaw BK, Geleijnse JM, Geremew D, Gezae KE, Ghasemi-Kasman M, Gidey MY, Gill PS, Gill TK, Girma ET, Gnedovskaya EV, Goulart AC, Grada A, Grosso G, Guo Y, Gupta R, Gupta R, Haagsma JA, Hagos TB, Haj-Mirzaian A, Haj-Mirzaian A, Hamadeh RR, Hamidi S, Hankey GJ, Hao Y, Haro JM, Hassankhani H, Hassen HY, Havmoeller R, Hay SI, Hegazy MI, Heidari B, Henok A, Heydarpour F, Hoang CL, Hole MK, Homaie Rad E, Hosseini SM, Hu G, Igumbor EU,

Ilesanmi OS, Irvani SSN, Islam SMS, Jakovljevic M, Javanbakht M, Jha RP, Jobanputra YB, Jonas JB, Jozwiak JJ, Jürisson M, Kahsay A, Kalani R, Kalkonde Y, Kamil TA, Kanchan T, Karami M, Karch A, Karimi N, Kasaeian A, Kassa TD, Kassa ZY, Kaul A, Kefale AT, Keiyoro PN, Khader YS, Khafaie MA, Khalil IA, Khan EA, Khang Y-H, Khazaie H, Kiadaliri AA, Kiirithio DN, Kim AS, Kim D, Kim Y-E, Kim YJ, Kisa A, Kokubo Y, Koyanagi A, Krishnamurthi RV, Kuate Defo B, Kucuk Bicer B, Kumar M, Lacey B, Lafranconi A, Lansingh VC, Latifi A, Leshargie CT, Li S, Liao Y, Linn S, Lo WD, Lopez JCF, Lorkowski S, Lotufo PA, Lucas RM, Lunevicius R, Mackay MT, Mahotra NB, Majdan M, Majdzadeh R, Majeed A, Malekzadeh R, Malta DC, Manafi N, Mansournia MA, Mantovani LG, März W, Mashamba-Thompson TP, Massenburg BB, Mate KKV, McAlinden C, McGrath JJ, Mehta V. Meier T. Meles HG. Melese A. Memiah PTN. Memish ZA, Mendoza W, Mengistu DT, Mengistu G, Meretoja A, Meretoja TJ, Mestrovic T, Miazgowski B, Miazgowski T, Miller TR, Mini GK, Mirrakhimov EM, Moazen B, Mohajer B, Mohammad Gholi Mezerji N, Mohammadi M, Mohammadi-Khanaposhtani M, Mohammadibakhsh R, Mohammadnia-Afrouzi M, Mohammed S, Mohebi F, Mokdad AH, Monasta L, Mondello S, Moodley Y, Moosazadeh M, Moradi G, Moradi-Lakeh M, Moradinazar M, Moraga P, Moreno Velásquez I, Morrison SD, Mousavi SM, Muhammed OS, Muruet W, Musa KI, Mustafa G, Naderi M, Nagel G, Naheed A, Naik G, Najafi F, Nangia V, Negoi I, Negoi RI, Newton CRJ, Ngunjiri JW, Nguyen CT, Nguyen LH, Ningrum DNA, Nirayo YL, Nixon MR, Norrving B, Noubiap JJ, Nourollahpour Shiadeh M, Nyasulu PS, Ogah OS, Oh I-H, Olagunju AT, Olagunju TO, Olivares PR, Onwujekwe OE, Oren E, Owolabi MO, PA M, Pakpour AH, Pan W-H, Panda-Jonas S, Pandian JD, Patel SK, Pereira DM, Petzold M, Pillay JD, Piradov MA, Polanczyk GV, Polinder S, Postma MJ, Poulton R, Poustchi H, Prakash S, Prakash V, Qorbani M, Radfar A, Rafay A, Rafiei A, Rahim F, Rahimi-Movaghar V, Rahman M, MHU R, Rahman MA, Rajati F, Ram U, Ranta A, Rawaf DL, Rawaf S, Reinig N, Reis C, AMN R, Resnikoff S, Rezaeian S, Rezai MS, Rios González CM, NLS R, Roever L, Ronfani L, Roro EM, Roshandel G, Rostami A, Sabbagh P, Sacco RL, Sachdev PS, Saddik B, Safari H, Safari-Faramani R, Safi S, Safiri S, Sagar R, Sahathevan R, Sahebkar A, Sahraian MA, Salamati P, Salehi Zahabi S, Salimi Y, Samy AM, Sanabria J, Santos IS, Santric Milicevic MM, Sarrafzadegan N, Sartorius B, Sarvi S, Sathian B, Satpathy M, Sawant AR, Sawhney M, IJC S, Schöttker B, Schwebel DC, Seedat S, Sepanlou SG, Shabaninejad H, Shafieesabet A, Shaikh MA, Shakir RA, Shams-Beyranvand M, Shamsizadeh M, Sharif M, Sharif-Alhoseini M, She J, Sheikh A, Sheth KN, Shigematsu M, Shiri R, Shirkoohi R, Shiue I, Siabani S, Siddiqi TJ, Sigfusdottir ID, Sigurvinsdottir R, Silberberg DH, Silva JP, DGA S, Singh JA, Sinha DN, Skiadaresi E, Smith M, Sobaih BH, Sobhani S, Soofi M, Soyiri IN, Sposato LA, Stein DJ, Stein MB, Stokes MA, Sufiyan MB, Sykes BL, Sylaja PN, Tabarés-Seisdedos R, Te Ao BJ, Tehrani-Banihashemi A, Temsah M-H, Temsah O, Thakur JS, Thrift AG, Topor-Madry R, Tortajada-Girbés M, Tovani-Palone MR, Tran BX, Tran KB, Truelsen TC, Tsadik AG, Tudor Car L, Ukwaja KN, Ullah I, Usman MS, Uthman OA, Valdez PR, Vasankari TJ, Vasanthan R, Veisani Y, Venketasubramanian N, Violante FS, Vlassov V, Vosoughi K, Vu GT, Vujcic IS, Wagnew FS, Waheed Y, Wang Y-P, Weiderpass E, Weiss J, Whiteford HA, Wijeratne T, Winkler AS, Wiysonge CS, CDA W, Xu G, Yadollahpour A, Yamada T, Yano Y, Yaseri M, Yatsuya H, Yimer EM, Yip P, Yisma E, Yonemoto N, Yousefifard M, Yu C, Zaidi Z, Bin ZS, Zamani M, Zandian H, Zare Z, Zhang Y, Zodpey S, Naghavi M, CJL M, Vos T (2019) Global, regional, and national burden of neurological disorders, 1990-2013;2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden

of Disease study 2016. Lancet Neurol 18:459–480. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30499-X

- Robson DK (2001) Pathology & genetics. Tumours of the nervous system. In: Kleihues P, Cavenee K (eds) World Health Organisation classification of tumours. IARC Press, Lyon, 2000. No. of pages: 314. ISBN: 92 832 2409 4. J Pathol 193:276–276. https://doi.org/10.1002/1096-9896(200102)193:2<276::aid-path765>3.0.co;2-q
- Wen PY, Huse JT (2017) 2016 World Health Organization classification of central nervous system tumors. Contin Lifelong Learn Neurol 23:1531–1547
- Goodenberger ML, Jenkins RB (2012) Genetics of adult glioma. Cancer Genet 205:613–621
- Llaguno SRA, Parada LF (2016) Cell of origin of glioma: biological and clinical implications. Br J Cancer 115:1445–1450
- Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK, Burger PC, Jouvet A, Scheithauer BW, Kleihues P (2007) The 2007 WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system. Acta Neuropathol 114:97–109
- Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJB, Belanger K, Brandes AA, Marosi C, Bogdahn U, Curschmann J, Janzer RC, Ludwin SK, Gorlia T, Allgeier A, Lacombe D, Cairncross JG, Eisenhauer E, Mirimanoff RO (2005) Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 352:987–996. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa043330
- Wen PY, Kesari S (2008) Malignant gliomas in adults. N Engl J Med 359:492–507. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmra0708126
- Cheray M, Bégaud G, Deluche E, Nivet A, Battu S, Lalloué F, VERDIER M, Bessette B (2017) Cancer stem-like cells in glioblastoma. In: Glioblastoma. Codon Publications, pp 59–71
- Ostrom QT, Gittleman H, Farah P, Ondracek A, Chen Y, Wolinsky Y, Stroup NE, Kruchko C, Barnholtz-Sloan JS (2013) CBTRUS statistical report: primary brain and central nervous system tumors diagnosed in the United States in 2006–2010. Neuro-Oncology:15. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/not151
- Tamimi AF, Juweid M (2017) Epidemiology and outcome of glioblastoma. In: Glioblastoma. Codon Publications, pp 143–153
- Ohgaki H, Kleihues P (2013) The definition of primary and secondary glioblastoma. Clin Cancer Res 19:764–772
- Agnihotri S, Burrell KE, Wolf A, Jalali S, Hawkins C, Rutka JT, Zadeh G (2013) Glioblastoma, a brief review of history, molecular genetics, animal models and novel therapeutic strategies. Arch Immunol Ther Exp 61:25–41
- Farina D, Merletti R, Enoka RM (2014) The extraction of neural strategies from the surface EMG: an update. J Appl Physiol 117:1215–1230. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00162.2014
- Ohgaki H, Kleihues P (2007) Genetic pathways to primary and secondary glioblastoma. Am J Pathol 170:1445–1453
- Schwartzbaum JA, Fisher JL, Aldape KD, Wrensch M (2006) Epidemiology and molecular pathology of glioma. Nat Clin Pract Neurol 2:494–503
- Lombardi MY, Assem M (2017) Glioblastoma genomics: a very complicated story. In: Glioblastoma. Codon Publications, pp 3–25
- Weller M, Wick W, Aldape K, Brada M, Berger M, Pfister SM, Nishikawa R, Rosenthal M, Wen PY, Stupp R, Reifenberger G (2015) Glioma. Nat Rev Dis Prim 1(1):1–18
- 20. Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JCH, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, Mankoo P, Carter H, Siu IM, Gallia GL, Olivi A, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, Keir S, Nikolskaya T, Nikolsky Y, Busam DA, Tekleab H, Diaz LA, Hartigan J, Smith DR, Strausberg RL, Marie SKN, Shinjo SMO, Yan H, Riggins GJ, Bigner DD, Karchin R, Papadopoulos N, Parmigiani G, Vogelstein B, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW (2008) An integrated genomic analysis of human

glioblastoma multiforme. Science 321:1807–1812. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1164382

- 21. Phillips HS, Kharbanda S, Chen R, Forrest WF, Soriano RH, Wu TD, Misra A, Nigro JM, Colman H, Soroceanu L, Williams PM, Modrusan Z, Feuerstein BG, Aldape K (2006) Molecular subclasses of high-grade glioma predict prognosis, delineate a pattern of disease progression, and resemble stages in neurogenesis. Cancer Cell 9:157–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2006.02.019
- 22. Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Kleihues P, Ellison DW (2016) The 2016 World Health Organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. Acta Neuropathol 131:803–820. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00401-016-1545-1
- 23. Verhaak RGW, Hoadley KA, Purdom E, Wang V, Qi Y, Wilkerson MD, Miller CR, Ding L, Golub T, Mesirov JP, Alexe G, Lawrence M, O'Kelly M, Tamayo P, Weir BA, Gabriel S, Winckler W, Gupta S, Jakkula L, Feiler HS, Hodgson JG, James CD, Sarkaria JN, Brennan C, Kahn A, Spellman PT, Wilson RK, Speed TP, Gray JW, Meyerson M, Getz G, Perou CM, Hayes DN (2010) Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. Cancer Cell 17:98–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2009.12.020
- 24. Glioblastoma Multiforme (GBM): Opportunity Analysis and Forecasts to 2027. https://store.globaldata.com/report/ gdhc090poa%2D%2Dglioblastoma-multiforme-gbmopportunity-analysis-and-forecasts-to-2027/. Accessed 23 Feb 2021b
- 25. Ostrom OT, Kinnerslev B, Wrensch MR, Eckel-Passow JE, Armstrong G, Rice T, Chen Y, Wiencke JK, LS MC, Hansen HM, Amos CI, Bernstein JL, Claus EB, Il'yasova D, Johansen C, Lachance DH, Lai RK, Merrell RT, Olson SH, Sadetzki S, Schildkraut JM, Shete S, Rubin JB, Lathia JD, Berens ME, Andersson U, Rajaraman P, Chanock SJ, Linet MS, Wang Z, Yeager M, Beane Freeman LE, Koutros S, Albanes D, Visvanathan K, Stevens VL, Henriksson R, Michaud DS, Feychting M, Ahlbom A, Giles GG, Milne R, McKean-Cowdin R, Le Marchand L, Stampfer M, Ruder AM, Carreon T, Hallmans G, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Gaziano JM, Sesso HD, Purdue MP, White E, Peters U, Buring J, Houlston RS, Jenkins RB, Melin B, Bondy ML, Barnholtz-Sloan JS (2018) Sex-specific glioma genome-wide association study identifies new risk locus at 3p21.31 in females, and finds sex-differences in risk at 8q24.21. Sci Rep 8:1-15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-24580-z
- 26. Ijzerman-Korevaar M, Snijders TJ, de Graeff A, Teunissen SCCM, de Vos FYF (2018) Prevalence of symptoms in glioma patients throughout the disease trajectory: a systematic review. J Neuro-Oncol 140:485–496. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-018-03015-9
- Walid M (2008) Prognostic factors for long-term survival after glioblastoma. Perm J 12. https://doi.org/10.7812/tpp/08-027
- Schnell O, Tonn J (2010) Unmet medical needs in glioblastoma management and optimal sequencing of the emerging treatment options. Eur J Clin Med Oncol 2(1):41–49
- Krętowski R, Drozdowska D, Kolesińska B, Kamiński Z, Frączyk J, Cechowska-Pasko M (2019) The cellular effects of novel triazine nitrogen mustards in glioblastoma LBC3, LN-18 and LN-229 cell lines. Investig New Drugs 37:984–993. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10637-018-0712-8
- Yong RL, Lonser RR (2011) Surgery for glioblastoma multiforme: striking a balance. World Neurosurg 76:528–530. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2011.06.053
- Zhang H, Wang R, Yu Y, Liu J, Luo T, Fan F (2019) Glioblastoma treatment modalities besides surgery. J Cancer 10:4793–4806
- Zhu JJ, Demireva P, Kanner AA, Pannullo S, Mehdorn M, Avgeropoulos N, Salmaggi A, Silvani A, Goldlust S, David C,

Benouaich-Amiel A (2017) Health-related quality of life, cognitive screening, and functional status in a randomized phase III trial (EF-14) of tumor treating fields with temozolomide compared to temozolomide alone in newly diagnosed glioblastoma. J Neuro-Oncol 135:545–552. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-017-2601-y

- 33. Galli R, Binda E, Orfanelli U, Cipelletti B, Gritti A, De Vitis S, Fiocco R, Foroni C, Dimeco F, Vescovi A (2004) Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma. Cancer Res 64:7011–7021. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1364
- 34. Hemmati HD, Nakano I, Lazareff JA, Masterman-Smith M, Geschwind DH, Bronner-Fraser M, Kornblum HI (2003) Cancerous stem cells can arise from pediatric brain tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci 100:15178 LP–15115183. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.2036535100
- Ignatova TN, Kukekov VG, Laywell ED, Suslov ON, Vrionis FD, Steindler DA (2002) Human cortical glial tumors contain neural stem-like cells expressing astroglial and neuronal markers in vitro. Glia 39:193–206. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.10094
- 36. Singh et al (2003) Asian-Aust J Anim Sci 16(12):1732–1737. | Feedipedia. https://www.feedipedia.org/node/15690. Accessed 23 Feb 2021a
- Lathia JD, Mack SC, Mulkearns-Hubert EE, Valentim CLL, Rich JN (2015) Cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. Genes Dev 29:1203–1217. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.261982.115
- Alison MR, Lim SML, Nicholson LJ (2011) Cancer stem cells: problems for therapy? J Pathol 223:148–162. https://doi. org/10.1002/path.2793
- Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ (2008) Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. Nat Rev Cancer 8:755–768. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2499
- Sundar SJ, Hsieh JK, Manjila S, Lathia JD, Sloan A (2014) The role of cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. Neurosurg Focus FOC 37:E6. https://doi.org/10.3171/2014.9.FOCUS14494
- 41. Bhat KPL, Balasubramaniyan V, Vaillant B, Ezhilarasan R, Hummelink K, Hollingsworth F, Wani K, Heathcock L, James JD, Goodman LD, Conroy S, Long L, Lelic N, Wang S, Gumin J, Raj D, Kodama Y, Raghunathan A, Olar A, Joshi K, Pelloski CE, Heimberger A, Kim SH, Cahill DP, Rao G, Den Dunnen WFA, Boddeke HWGM, Phillips HS, Nakano I, Lang FF, Colman H, Sulman EP, Aldape K (2013) Mesenchymal differentiation mediated by NF-κB promotes radiation resistance in glioblastoma. Cancer Cell 24:331–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccr.2013.08.001
- 42. Bradshaw A, Wickremsekera A, Tan ST, Peng L, Davis PF, Itinteang T (2016) Cancer stem cell hierarchy in glioblastoma multiforme. Front Surg 3:21
- 43. Mao P, Joshi K, Li J, Kim S-H, Li P, Santana-Santos L, Luthra S, Chandran UR, Benos PV, Smith L, Wang M, Hu B, Cheng S-Y, Sobol RW, Nakano I (2013) Mesenchymal glioma stem cells are maintained by activated glycolytic metabolism involving aldehyde dehydrogenase 1A3. Proc Natl Acad Sci 110:8644 LP–8648649. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1221478110
- 44. Morokoff A, Ng W, Gogos A, Kaye AH (2015) Molecular subtypes, stem cells and heterogeneity: implications for personalised therapy in glioma. J Clin Neurosci Off J Neurosurg Soc Australas 22:1219–1226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocn.2015.02.008
- 45. Ricci-Vitiani L, Pallini R, Larocca LM, Lombardi DG, Signore M, Pierconti F, Petrucci G, Montano N, Maira G, De Maria R (2008) Mesenchymal differentiation of glioblastoma stem cells. Cell Death Differ 15:1491–1498. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2008.72
- 46. Guardia GDA, Correa BR, Araujo PR, Qiao M, Burns S, Penalva LOF, Galante PAF (2020) Proneural and mesenchymal glioma stem cells display major differences in splicing and lncRNA profiles. Genomic Med 5:2. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41525-019-0108-5

- 47. Lee J, Kotliarova S, Kotliarov Y, Li A, Su Q, Donin NM, Pastorino S, Purow BW, Christopher N, Zhang W, Park JK, Fine HA (2006) Tumor stem cells derived from glioblastomas cultured in bFGF and EGF more closely mirror the phenotype and genotype of primary tumors than do serum-cultured cell lines. Cancer Cell 9:391–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccr.2006.03.030
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, Henkelman RM, Cusimano MD, Dirks PB (2004) Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 432:396–401. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature03128
- Son MJ, Woolard K, Nam D-H, Lee J, Fine HA (2009) SSEA-1 is an enrichment marker for tumor-initiating cells in human glioblastoma. Cell Stem Cell 4:440–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. stem.2009.03.003
- 50. Elsir T, Edqvist P-H, Carlson J, Ribom D, Bergqvist M, Ekman S, Popova SN, Alafuzoff I, Ponten F, Nistér M, Smits A (2014) A study of embryonic stem cell-related proteins in human astrocytomas: identification of Nanog as a predictor of survival. Int J Cancer 134:1123–1131. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28441
- 51. Wang Q, Hu B, Hu X, Kim H, Squatrito M, Scarpace L, deCarvalho AC, Lyu S, Li P, Li Y, Barthel F, Cho HJ, Lin Y-H, Satani N, Martinez-Ledesma E, Zheng S, Chang E, Sauvé C-EG, Olar A, Lan ZD, Finocchiaro G, Phillips JJ, Berger MS, Gabrusiewicz KR, Wang G, Eskilsson E, Hu J, Mikkelsen T, DePinho RA, Muller F, Heimberger AB, Sulman EP, Nam D-H, Verhaak RGW (2017b) Tumor evolution of glioma-intrinsic gene expression subtypes associates with immunological changes in the microenvironment. Cancer Cell 32:42–56. e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccell.2017.06.003
- 52. Auffinger B, Tobias AL, Han Y, Lee G, Guo D, Dey M, Lesniak MS, Ahmed AU (2014) Conversion of differentiated cancer cells into cancer stem-like cells in a glioblastoma model after primary chemotherapy. Cell Death Differ 21:1119–1131. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2014.31
- 53. Hamerlik P, Lathia JD, Rasmussen R, Wu Q, Bartkova J, Lee M, Moudry P, Bartek J Jr, Fischer W, Lukas J, Rich JN, Bartek J (2012) Autocrine VEGF–VEGFR2–Neuropilin-1 signaling promotes glioma stem-like cell viability and tumor growth. J Exp Med 209:507–520. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20111424
- Auffinger B, Spencer D, Pytel P, Ahmed AU, Lesniak MS (2015) The role of glioma stem cells in chemotherapy resistance and glioblastoma multiforme recurrence. Expert Rev Neurother 15:741– 752. https://doi.org/10.1586/14737175.2015.1051968
- Liebelt BD, Shingu T, Zhou X, Ren J, Shin SA, Hu J (2016) Glioma stem cells: signaling, microenvironment, and therapy. Stem Cells Int 2016:7849890. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7849890
- Safa AR (2016) Resistance to cell death and its modulation in cancer stem cells. Crit Rev Oncog 21:203–219. https://doi. org/10.1615/CritRevOncog.2016016976
- Bazzoni R, Bentivegna A (2019) Role of notch signaling pathway in glioblastoma pathogenesis. Cancers 11(3):292
- 58. Carballo GB, Honorato JR, de Lopes GPF, de Spohr TCLSE (2018) A highlight on sonic hedgehog pathway. Cell Commun Signal 16:11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12964-018-0220-7
- 59. Honorato JR, Hauser-Davis RA, Saggioro EM, Correia FV, Sales-Junior SF, Soares LOS, da Lima LR, Moura-Neto V, de Lopes GPF, de Spohr TCLS (2020) Role of sonic hedgehog signaling in cell cycle, oxidative stress, and autophagy of temozolomide resistant glioblastoma. J Cell Physiol 235:3798–3814. https://doi. org/10.1002/jcp.29274
- MacDonald BT, Tamai K, He X (2009) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. Dev Cell 17:9–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2009.06.016
- Guan R, Zhang X, Guo M (2020) Glioblastoma stem cells and Wnt signaling pathway: molecular mechanisms and therapeu-

tic targets. Chinese Neurosurg J 6:25. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s41016-020-00207-z

- 62. Kasai M, Satoh K, Akiyama T (2005) Wnt signaling regulates the sequential onset of neurogenesis and gliogenesis via induction of BMPs. Genes Cells 10:777–783. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2443.2005.00876.x
- Piccirillo SGM, Reynolds BA, Zanetti N, Lamorte G, Binda E, Broggi G, Brem H, Olivi A, Dimeco F, Vescovi AL (2006) Bone morphogenetic proteins inhibit the tumorigenic potential of human brain tumour-initiating cells. Nature 444:761–765. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature05349
- 64. Persano L, Pistollato F, Rampazzo E, Della Puppa A, Abbadi S, Frasson C, Volpin F, Indraccolo S, Scienza R, Basso G (2012) BMP2 sensitizes glioblastoma stem-like cells to temozolomide by affecting HIF-1α stability and MGMT expression. Cell Death Dis 3:e412–e412. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2012.153
- 65. Meyers EA, Kessler JA (2017) TGF-β family signaling in neural and neuronal differentiation, development, and function. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 9. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect. a022244
- 66. Yi JJ, Barnes AP, Hand R, Polleux F, Ehlers MD (2010) TGFbeta signaling specifies axons during brain development. Cell 142:144–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.06.010
- 67. Ikushima H, Todo T, Ino Y, Takahashi M, Miyazawa K, Miyazono K (2009) Autocrine TGF-β signaling maintains tumorigenicity of glioma-initiating cells through Sry-related HMG-box factors. Cell Stem Cell 5:504–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2009.08.018
- Hennessy BT, Smith DL, Ram PT, Lu Y, Mills GB (2005) Exploiting the PI3K/AKT pathway for cancer drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 4:988–1004. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1902
- 69. Bleau A-M, Hambardzumyan D, Ozawa T, Fomchenko EI, Huse JT, Brennan CW, Holland EC (2009) PTEN/PI3K/Akt pathway regulates the side population phenotype and ABCG2 activity in glioma tumor stem-like cells. Cell Stem Cell 4:226–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2009.01.007
- Wu H, Sun YE (2006) Epigenetic regulation of stem cell differentiation. Pediatr Res 59:21–25. https://doi.org/10.1203/01. pdr.0000203565.76028.2a
- Muñoz P, Iliou MS, Esteller M (2012) Epigenetic alterations involved in cancer stem cell reprogramming. Mol Oncol 6:620– 636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2012.10.006
- 72. Ouzounova M, Hernandez-Vargas H, Herceg Z (2011) Epigenetic identity in cancer stem cells BT—stem cells & regenerative medicine: from molecular embryology to tissue engineering. In: Appasani K, Appasani RK (eds) Stem cells & regenerative medicine. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp 127–139
- Audia JE, Campbell RM (2016) Histone modifications and cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 8:a019521. https://doi. org/10.1101/cshperspect.a019521
- Sawan C, Herceg Z (2010) 3-histone modifications and cancer. In: Herceg Z, Ushijima TBTAG (eds) Epigenetics and cancer, Part A. Academic Press, pp 57–85
- Kim YZ (2014) Altered histone modifications in gliomas. Brain tumor Res Treat 2:7–21. https://doi.org/10.14791/btrt.2014.2.1.7
- Liu B, Cheng J, Zhang X, Wang R, Zhang W, Lin H, Xiao X, Cai S, Chen X, Cheng H (2010) Global histone modification patterns as prognostic markers to classify glioma patients. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 19(11):2888–2896. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-10-0454
- 77. Thellung S, Corsaro A, Bosio AG, Zambito M, Barbieri F, Mazzanti M, Florio T (2019) Emerging role of cellular prion protein in the maintenance and expansion of glioma stem cells. Cell 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8111458
- Sarkaria JN, Hu LS, Parney IF, Pafundi DH, Brinkmann DH, Laack NN, Giannini C, Burns TC, Kizilbash SH, Laramy JK, Swanson KR, Kaufmann TJ, Brown PD, Agar NYR, Galanis

E, Buckner JC, Elmquist WF (2018) Is the blood-brain barrier really disrupted in all glioblastomas? A critical assessment of existing clinical data. Neuro-Oncology 20:184–191. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/nox175

- Luo H, Shusta EV (2020) Blood-brain barrier modulation to improve glioma drug delivery. Pharmaceutics 12. https://doi. org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12111085
- Brat DJ, Van Meir EG (2004) Vaso-occlusive and prothrombotic mechanisms associated with tumor hypoxia, necrosis, and accelerated growth in glioblastoma. Lab Investig 84:397–405. https://doi. org/10.1038/labinvest.3700070
- Kaur B, Khwaja FW, Severson EA, Matheny SL, Brat DJ, Van Meir EG (2005) Hypoxia and the hypoxia-inducible-factor pathway in glioma growth and angiogenesis. Neuro-Oncology 7:134– 153. https://doi.org/10.1215/S1152851704001115
- 82. Nicolas S, Abdellatef S, MAL H, Fakhoury I, El-Sibai M (2019) Hypoxia and EGF stimulation regulate VEGF expression in human glioblastoma Multiforme (GBM) cells by differential regulation of the PI3K/rho-GTPase and MAPK pathways. Cell 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8111397
- Harris AJ, Thompson AR, Whyte MK, Walmsley SR (2014) HIFmediated innate immune responses: cell signaling and therapeutic implications. Hypoxia (Auckland, NZ) 2:47–58. https://doi. org/10.2147/HP.S50269
- Petrova V, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, Melino G, Amelio I (2018) The hypoxic tumour microenvironment. Oncogenesis 7:10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41389-017-0011-9
- Heddleston JM, Li Z, McLendon RE, Hjelmeland AB, Rich JN (2009) The hypoxic microenvironment maintains glioblastoma stem cells and promotes reprogramming towards a cancer stem cell phenotype. Cell Cycle 8:3274–3284. https://doi.org/10.4161/ cc.8.20.9701
- 86. Qiang L, Wu T, Zhang H-W, Lu N, Hu R, Wang Y-J, Zhao L, Chen F-H, Wang X-T, You Q-D, Guo Q-L (2012) HIF-1α is critical for hypoxia-mediated maintenance of glioblastoma stem cells by activating notch signaling pathway. Cell Death Differ 19:284–294. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2011.95
- Forsythe JA, Jiang BH, Iyer NV, Agani F, Leung SW, Koos RD, Semenza GL (1996) Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Mol Cell Biol 16:4604–4613. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.16.9.4604
- Semenza GL (2013) HIF-1 mediates metabolic responses to intratumoral hypoxia and oncogenic mutations. J Clin Invest 123:3664–3671. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI67230
- 89. Becher OJ, Hambardzumyan D, Fomchenko EI, Momota H, Mainwaring L, Bleau A-M, Katz AM, Edgar M, Kenney AM, Cordon-Cardo C, Blasberg RG, Holland EC (2008) Gli activity correlates with tumor grade in platelet-derived growth factor-induced gliomas. Cancer Res 68:2241–2249. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6350
- Charles N, Ozawa T, Squatrito M, Bleau A-M, Brennan CW, Hambardzumyan D, Holland EC (2010) Perivascular nitric oxide activates notch signaling and promotes stem-like character in PDGF-induced glioma cells. Cell Stem Cell 6:141–152. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2010.01.001
- 91. Zhu TS, Costello MA, Talsma CE, Flack CG, Crowley JG, Hamm LL, He X, Hervey-Jumper SL, Heth JA, Muraszko KM, DiMeco F, Vescovi AL, Fan X (2011) Endothelial cells create a stem cell niche in glioblastoma by providing NOTCH ligands that nurture self-renewal of cancer stem-like cells. Cancer Res 71:6061–6072. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4269
- 92. Brooks MD, Sengupta R, Snyder SC, Rubin JB (2013) Hitting them where they live: targeting the glioblastoma perivascular stem cell niche. Curr Pathobiol Rep 1:101–110. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40139-013-0012-0
- Cheng L, Wu Q, Guryanova OA, Huang Z, Huang Q, Rich JN, Bao S (2011) Elevated invasive potential of glioblastoma stem

cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 406:643–648. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.02.123

- 94. Krusche B, Ottone C, Clements MP, Johnstone ER, Goetsch K, Lieven H, Mota SG, Singh P, Khadayate S, Ashraf A, Davies T, Pollard SM, De Paola V, Roncaroli F, Martinez-Torrecuadrada J, Bertone P, Parrinello S (2016) EphrinB2 drives perivascular invasion and proliferation of glioblastoma stem-like cells. elife 5. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.14845
- 95. Covello KL, Kehler J, Yu H, Gordan JD, Arsham AM, Hu C-J, Labosky PA, Simon MC, Keith B (2006) HIF-2alpha regulates Oct-4: effects of hypoxia on stem cell function, embryonic development, and tumor growth. Genes Dev 20:557–570. https://doi. org/10.1101/gad.1399906
- Hambardzumyan D, Bergers G (2015) Glioblastoma: defining tumor niches. Trends Cancer 1:252–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. trecan.2015.10.009
- 97. Carro MS, Lim WK, Alvarez MJ, Bollo RJ, Zhao X, Snyder EY, Sulman EP, Anne SL, Doetsch F, Colman H, Lasorella A, Aldape K, Califano A, Iavarone A (2010) The transcriptional network for mesenchymal transformation of brain tumours. Nature 463:318– 325. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08712
- 98. Sherry MM, Reeves A, Wu JK, Cochran BH (2009) STAT3 is required for proliferation and maintenance of multipotency in glioblastoma stem cells. Stem Cells 27:2383–2392. https://doi. org/10.1002/stem.185
- 99. Chen Z, Feng X, Herting CJ, Garcia VA, Nie K, Pong WW, Rasmussen R, Dwivedi B, Seby S, Wolf SA, Gutmann DH, Hambardzumyan D (2017) Cellular and molecular identity of tumor-associated macrophages in glioblastoma. Cancer Res 77:2266–2278. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2310
- 100. Komohara Y, Jinushi M, Takeya M (2014) Clinical significance of macrophage heterogeneity in human malignant tumors. Cancer Sci 105:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.12314
- 101. Geissmann F, Manz MG, Jung S, Sieweke MH, Merad M, Ley K (2010) Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. Science 327:656–661. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1178331
- 102. Zhou W, Ke SQ, Huang Z, Flavahan W, Fang X, Paul J, Wu L, Sloan AE, McLendon RE, Li X, Rich JN, Bao S (2015) Periostin secreted by glioblastoma stem cells recruits M2 tumour-associated macrophages and promotes malignant growth. Nat Cell Biol 17:170–182. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3090
- 103. Pombo Antunes AR, Scheyltjens I, Duerinck J, Neyns B, Movahedi K, Van Ginderachter JA (2020) Understanding the glioblastoma immune microenvironment as basis for the development of new immunotherapeutic strategies. elife 9:e52176. https://doi. org/10.7554/eLife.52176
- 104. Bloch O, Crane CA, Kaur R, Safaee M, Rutkowski MJ, Parsa AT (2013) Gliomas promote immunosuppression through induction of B7-H1 expression in tumor-associated macrophages. Clin Cancer Res 19:3165–3175. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-12-3314
- 105. Marshall LA, Marubayashi S, Jorapur A, Jacobson S, Zibinsky M, Robles O, Hu DX, Jackson JJ, Pookot D, Sanchez J, Brovarney M, Wadsworth A, Chian D, Wustrow D, Kassner PD, Cutler G, Wong B, Brockstedt DG, Talay O (2020) Tumors establish resistance to immunotherapy by regulating T(reg) recruitment via CCR4. J Immunother Cancer 8. https://doi. org/10.1136/jitc-2020-000764
- 106. Wang D, Yang L, Yue D, Cao L, Li L, Wang D, Ping Y, Shen Z, Zheng Y, Wang L, Zhang Y (2019) Macrophage-derived CCL22 promotes an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment via IL-8 in malignant pleural effusion. Cancer Lett 452:244–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2019.03.040
- 107. Charles NA, Holland EC, Gilbertson R, Glass R, Kettenmann H (2011) The brain tumor microenvironment. Glia 59:1169–1180. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.21136

- 108. Smith LR, Cho S, Discher DE (2018) Stem cell differentiation is regulated by extracellular matrix mechanics. Physiology (Bethesda) 33:16–25. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00026.2017
- 109. Barnes JM, Przybyla L, Weaver VM (2017) Tissue mechanics regulate brain development, homeostasis and disease. J Cell Sci 130:71 LP–71 82. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.191742
- 110. Mouw JK, Ou G, Weaver VM (2014) Extracellular matrix assembly: a multiscale deconstruction. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15:771– 785. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3902
- Ruoslahti E (1996) Brain extracellular matrix. Glycobiology 6:489–492. https://doi.org/10.1093/glycob/6.5.489
- 112. Zimmermann DR, Dours-Zimmermann MT (2008) Extracellular matrix of the central nervous system: from neglect to challenge. Histochem Cell Biol 130:635–653. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00418-008-0485-9
- 113. Carulli D, Rhodes KE, Brown DJ, Bonnert TP, Pollack SJ, Oliver K, Strata P, Fawcett JW (2006) Composition of perineuronal nets in the adult rat cerebellum and the cellular origin of their components. J Comp Neurol 494:559–577. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cne.20822
- 114. Spicer AP, Joo A, Bowling RAJ (2003) A hyaluronan binding link protein gene family whose members are physically linked adjacent to chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan core protein genes: the missing links. J Biol Chem 278:21083–21091. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M213100200
- 115. Pogoda K, Chin L, Georges PC, Byfield FJ, Bucki R, Kim R, Weaver M, Wells RG, Marcinkiewicz C, Janmey PA (2014) Compression stiffening of brain and its effect on mechanosensing by glioma cells. New J Phys 16:75002. https://doi. org/10.1088/1367-2630/16/7/075002
- 116. Kingsmore KM, Logsdon DK, Floyd DH, Peirce SM, Purow BW, Munson JM (2016) Interstitial flow differentially increases patient-derived glioblastoma stem cell invasion via CXCR4, CXCL12, and CD44-mediated mechanisms. Integr Biol (Camb) 8:1246–1260. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6ib00167j
- 117. Wolf KJ, Chen J, Coombes J, Aghi MK, Kumar S (2019) Dissecting and rebuilding the glioblastoma microenvironment with engineered materials. Nat Rev Mater 4:651–668. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41578-019-0135-y
- Rabinovich GA, Conejo-García JR (2016) Shaping the immune landscape in cancer by galectin-driven regulatory pathways. J Mol Biol 428:3266–3281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2016.03.021
- 119. Chou S-Y, Yen S-L, Huang C-C, Huang E-Y (2018) Galectin-1 is a poor prognostic factor in patients with glioblastoma multiforme after radiotherapy. BMC Cancer 18:105. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12885-018-4025-2
- Kahlon AS, Alexander M, Kahlon A, Wright J (2016) Lactate levels with glioblastoma multiforme. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent) 29:313–314
- 121. Yan A, Joachims ML, Thompson LF, Miller AD, Canoll PD, Bynoe MS (2019) CD73 promotes glioblastoma pathogenesis and enhances its chemoresistance via a(2B) adenosine receptor signaling. J Neurosci 39:4387–4402. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1118-18.2019
- 122. Colwell N, Larion M, Giles AJ, Seldomridge AN, Sizdahkhani S, Gilbert MR, Park DM (2017) Hypoxia in the glioblastoma microenvironment: shaping the phenotype of cancer stem-like cells. Neuro-Oncology 19:887–896. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/ now258
- 123. Liu T, Wang X, Bai Y, Liao H, Qiu S, Yang Y, Yan X-H, Chen J, Guo H, Zhang S (2014a) The HIF-2alpha dependent induction of PAP and adenosine synthesis regulates glioblastoma stem cell function through the A2B adenosine receptor. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 49:8–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2014.01.007
- 124. Romero-García S, Moreno-Altamirano MMB, Prado-García H, Sánchez-García FJ (2016) Lactate contribution to the tumor

microenvironment: mechanisms, effects on immune cells and therapeutic relevance. Front Immunol 7:52. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2016.00052

- 125. Woroniecka KI, Rhodin KE, Chongsathidkiet P, Keith KA, Fecci PE (2018) T-cell dysfunction in glioblastoma: applying a new framework. Clin Cancer Res 24:3792–3802. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0047
- 126. Sullivan R, Maresh G, Zhang X, Salomon C, Hooper J, Margolin D, Li L (2017) The emerging roles of extracellular vesicles as communication vehicles within the tumor microenvironment and beyond. Front Endocrinol 8:194
- Gusyatiner O, Hegi ME (2018) Glioma epigenetics: from subclassification to novel treatment options. Semin Cancer Biol 51:50– 58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.11.010
- 128. Esteller M, Garcia-Foncillas J, Andion E, Goodman SN, Hidalgo OF, Vanaclocha V, Baylin SB, Herman JG (2000) Inactivation of the DNA-repair gene MGMT and the clinical response of gliomas to alkylating agents. N Engl J Med 343:1350–1354. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJM200011093431901
- 129. Hegi ME, Diserens A-C, Gorlia T, Hamou M-F, de Tribolet N, Weller M, Kros JM, Hainfellner JA, Mason W, Mariani L, Bromberg JEC, Hau P, Mirimanoff RO, Cairncross JG, Janzer RC, Stupp R (2005) MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 352:997–1003. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa043331
- 130. Thon N, Eigenbrod S, Kreth S, Lutz J, Tonn J-C, Kretzschmar H, Peraud A, Kreth F-W (2012) IDH1 mutations in grade II astrocytomas are associated with unfavorable progression-free survival and prolonged postrecurrence survival. Cancer 118:452–460. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.26298
- Sidaway P (2017) Glioblastoma subtypes revisited. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 14:587. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2017.122
- 132. Shinawi T, Hill VK, Krex D, Schackert G, Gentle D, Morris MR, Wei W, Cruickshank G, Maher ER, Latif F (2013) DNA methylation profiles of long- and short-term glioblastoma survivors. Epigenetics 8:149–156. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.23398
- 133. Malta TM, de Souza CF, Sabedot TS, Silva TC, Mosella MS, Kalkanis SN, Snyder J, Castro AVB, Noushmehr H (2018) Glioma CpG island methylator phenotype (G-CIMP): biological and clinical implications. Neuro-Oncology 20:608–620. https://doi. org/10.1093/neuonc/nox183
- 134. Shah N, Lin B, Sibenaller Z, Ryken T, Lee H, Yoon J-G, Rostad S, Foltz G (2011) Comprehensive analysis of MGMT promoter methylation: correlation with MGMT expression and clinical response in GBM. PLoS One 6:e16146
- 135. Marks PA, Richon VM, Rifkind RA (2000) Histone deacetylase inhibitors: inducers of differentiation or apoptosis of transformed cells. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst 92:1210–1216. https://doi. org/10.1093/jnci/92.15.1210
- Li Y, Seto E (2016) HDACs and HDAC inhibitors in cancer development and therapy. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 6. https:// doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a026831
- 137. Chen R, Zhang M, Zhou Y, Guo W, Yi M, Zhang Z, Ding Y, Wang Y (2020) The application of histone deacetylases inhibitors in glioblastoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 39:138. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13046-020-01643-6
- Dong Z, Cui H (2019) Epigenetic modulation of metabolism in glioblastoma. Semin Cancer Biol 57:45–51. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.09.002
- Taylor OG, Brzozowski JS, Skelding KA (2019) Glioblastoma multiforme: an overview of emerging therapeutic targets. Front Oncol 9:963
- 140. Bastien JIL, McNeill KA, Fine HA (2015) Molecular characterizations of glioblastoma, targeted therapy, and clinical results to date. Cancer 121:502–516. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.28968

- 141. Nørøxe DS, Poulsen HS, Lassen U (2016) Hallmarks of glioblastoma: a systematic review. ESMO Open 1:e000144. https://doi. org/10.1136/esmoopen-2016-000144
- 142. Westphal M, Maire CL, Lamszus K (2017) EGFR as a target for glioblastoma treatment: an unfulfilled promise. CNS Drugs 31:723–735. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-017-0456-6
- 143. Mercer RW, Tyler MA, Ulasov IV, Lesniak MS (2009) Targeted therapies for malignant glioma: progress and potential. BioDrugs 23:25–35. https://doi.org/10.2165/00063030-200923010-00003
- 144. Zhao H-F, Wang J, Shao W, Wu C-P, Chen Z-P, To S-ST, Li W-P (2017) Recent advances in the use of PI3K inhibitors for glioblastoma multiforme: current preclinical and clinical development. Mol Cancer 16:100. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-017-0670-3
- 145. Kieran MW, Packer RJ, Onar A, Blaney SM, Phillips P, Pollack IF, Geyer JR, Gururangan S, Banerjee A, Goldman S, Turner CD, Belasco JB, Broniscer A, Zhu Y, Frank E, Kirschmeier P, Statkevich P, Yver A, Boyett JM, Kun LE (2007) Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of the oral farnesyltransferase inhibitor lonafarnib administered twice daily to pediatric patients with advanced central nervous system tumors using a modified continuous reassessment method: a pediatric brain tumor consortium study. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 25:3137–3143. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2006.09.4243
- 146. Lo H-W (2010) Targeting Ras-RAF-ERK and its interactive pathways as a novel therapy for malignant gliomas. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 10:840–848. https://doi. org/10.2174/156800910793357970
- 147. Jane EP, Premkumar DR, Pollack IF (2006) Coadministration of sorafenib with rottlerin potently inhibits cell proliferation and migration in human malignant glioma cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 319:1070–1080. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.106.108621
- 148. Schiff D, Jaeckle KA, Anderson SK, Galanis E, Giannini C, Buckner JC, Stella P, Flynn PJ, Erickson BJ, Schwerkoske JF, Kaluza V, Twohy E, Dancey J, Wright J, Sarkaria JN (2018) Phase 1/2 trial of temsirolimus and sorafenib in the treatment of patients with recurrent glioblastoma: north central cancer treatment group study/Alliance N0572. Cancer 124:1455–1463. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.31219
- 149. Sun W, Zhang W, Yu J, Lu Z, Yu J (2020) Inhibition of Nrf2 might enhance the anti-tumor effect of temozolomide in glioma cells via inhibition of Ras/Raf/MEK signaling pathway. Int J Neurosci:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207454.2020.1766458
- 150. Tasaki T, Fujita M, Okuda T, Yoneshige A, Nakata S, Yamashita K, Yoshioka H, Izumoto S, Kato A (2016) MET expressed in glioma stem cells is a potent therapeutic target for glioblastoma multiforme. Anticancer Res 36:3571–3577
- 151. Goodwin CR, Rath P, Oyinlade O, Lopez H, Mughal S, Xia S, Li Y, Kaur H, Zhou X, Ahmed AK, Ho S, Olivi A, Lal B (2018) Crizotinib and erlotinib inhibits growth of c-met+/EGFRvIII+ primary human glioblastoma xenografts. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 171:26–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clineuro.2018.02.041
- 152. Cheng F, Guo D (2019) MET in glioma: signaling pathways and targeted therapies. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 38:270. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13046-019-1269-x
- 153. Mehta S, Lo Cascio C (2018) Developmentally regulated signaling pathways in glioma invasion. Cell Mol Life Sci 75:385–402. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-017-2608-8
- 154. Vom Berg J, Vrohlings M, Haller S, Haimovici A, Kulig P, Sledzinska A, Weller M, Becher B (2013) Intratumoral IL-12 combined with CTLA-4 blockade elicits T cell-mediated glioma rejection. J Exp Med 210:2803–2811. https://doi.org/10.1084/ jem.20130678
- 155. Wainwright DA, Chang AL, Dey M, Balyasnikova IV, Kim CK, Tobias A, Cheng Y, Kim JW, Qiao J, Zhang L, Han Y, Lesniak MS (2014) Durable therapeutic efficacy utilizing combinatorial blockade against IDO, CTLA-4, and PD-L1 in mice with brain tumors.

Clin Cancer Res 20:5290-5301. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0514

- 156. Alexandru O, Horescu C, Sevastre A-S, Cioc CE, Baloi C, Oprita A, Dricu A (2020) Receptor tyrosine kinase targeting in glioblastoma: performance, limitations and future approaches. Contemp Oncol (Poznan, Poland) 24:55–66. https://doi.org/10.5114/ wo.2020.94726
- 157. Nørøxe DS, Poulsen HS, Lassen U (2017) Hallmarks of glioblastoma: a systematic review. ESMO open 1:e000144–e000144. https://doi.org/10.1136/esmoopen-2016-000144
- Hebbar N, Wang C, Rangnekar VM (2012) Mechanisms of apoptosis by the tumor suppressor Par-4. J Cell Physiol 227:3715– 3721. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.24098
- 159. Sells SF, Wood DPJ, Joshi-Barve SS, Muthukumar S, Jacob RJ, Crist SA, Humphreys S, Rangnekar VM (1994) Commonality of the gene programs induced by effectors of apoptosis in androgendependent and -independent prostate cells. Cell growth Differ Mol Biol J Am Assoc Cancer Res 5:457–466
- 160. Zhao Y, Rangnekar VM (2008) Apoptosis and tumor resistance conferred by Par-4. Cancer Biol Ther 7:1867–1874. https://doi. org/10.4161/cbt.7.12.6945
- 161. Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Rangnekar VM (2010) Cancer-selective apoptotic effects of extracellular and intracellular par-4. Oncogene 29:3873–3880. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2010.141
- 162. Goswami A, Qiu S, Dexheimer TS, Ranganathan P, Burikhanov R, Pommier Y, Rangnekar VM (2008) Par-4 binds to topoisomerase 1 and attenuates its DNA relaxation activity. Cancer Res 68:6190 LP–6196198. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0831
- 163. Hart LS, El-Deiry WS (2009) Cell death: a new Par-4 the tRAIL. Cell 138:220–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2009.07.007
- Diaz-Meco MT, Moscat J (2008) Akt regulation and lung cancer: a novel role and mechanism of action for the tumor suppressor Par-4. Cell Cycle 7:2817–2820. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.7.18.6735
- 165. Cook J, Krishnan S, Ananth S, Sells SF, Shi Y, Walther MM, Linehan WM, Sukhatme VP, Weinstein MH, Rangnekar VM (1999) Decreased expression of the pro-apoptotic protein Par-4 in renal cell carcinoma. Oncogene 18:1205–1208. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.onc.1202416
- 166. Kögel D, Reimertz C, Mech P, Poppe M, Frühwald MC, Engemann H, Scheidtmann KH, Prehn JHM (2001) Dlk/ZIP kinase-induced apoptosis in human medulloblastoma cells: requirement of the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway. Br J Cancer 85:1801–1808. https://doi.org/10.1054/bjoc.2001.2158
- 167. Kimura M, Furukawa T, Abe T, Yatsuoka T, Youssef EM, Yokoyama T, Ouyang H, Ohnishi Y, Sunamura M, Kobari M, Matsuno S, Horii A (1998) Identification of two common regions of allelic loss in chromosome arm 12q in human pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res 58:2456–2460
- 168. Schneider BG, Rha SY, Chung HC, Bravo JC, Mera R, Torres JC, Plaisance KT, Schlegel R, McBride CM, Reveles XT, Leach RJ (2003) Regions of allelic imbalance in the distal portion of chromosome 12q in gastric cancer. Mol Pathol 56:141 LP–141149. https://doi.org/10.1136/mp.56.3.141
- 169. Zapata-Benavides P, Méndez-Vázquez JL, González-Rocha TR, Zamora-Avila DE, Franco-Molina MA, Garza-Garza R, Rodriguez-Padilla C (2009) Expression of prostate apoptosis response (Par-4) is associated with progesterone receptor in breast cancer. Arch Med Res 40:595–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. arcmed.2009.08.007
- 170. Moreno-Bueno G, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Collado M, Tendero MJ, Rodriguez-Pinilla SM, Garcia-Cao I, Hardisson D, Diaz-Meco MT, Moscat J, Serrano M, Palacios J (2007) Inactivation of the candidate tumor suppressor par-4 in endometrial cancer. Cancer Res 67:1927 LP–1921934. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2687

- 171. Guo H, Treude F, Krämer OH, Lüscher B, Hartkamp J (2019) PAR-4 overcomes chemo-resistance in breast cancer cells by antagonizing cIAP1. Sci Rep 9:8755. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-019-45209-9
- 172. Wang J, Li Y, Ma F, Zhou H, Ding R, Lu B, Zou L, Li J, Lu R (2017a) Inhibitory effect of par-4 combined with cisplatin on human Wilms' tumor cells. Tumor Biol 39:1010428317716689. https://doi.org/10.1177/1010428317716689
- 173. Jagtap JC, Dawood P, Shah RD, Chandrika G, Natesh K, Shiras A, Hegde AS, Ranade D, Shastry P (2014) Expression and regulation of prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) in human glioma stem cells in drug-induced apoptosis. PLoS One 9:e88505
- 174. Meynier S, Kramer M, Ribaux P, Tille JC, Delie F, Petignat P, Cohen M (2015) Role of PAR-4 in ovarian cancer. Oncotarget 6(26):22641–22652
- 175. McKenna MK, Noothi SK, Alhakeem SS, Oben KZ, Greene JT, Mani R, Perry KL, Collard JP, Rivas JR, Hildebrandt GC, Fleischman RA, Durbin EB, Byrd JC, Wang C, Muthusamy N, Rangnekar VM, Bondada S (2018) Novel role of prostate apoptosis response-4 tumor suppressor in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 131:2943–2954. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-10-813931
- 176. Cheratta AR, Thayyullathil F, Pallichankandy S, Subburayan K, Alakkal A, Galadari S (2021) Prostate apoptosis response-4 and tumor suppression: it's not just about apoptosis anymore. Cell Death Dis 12:47. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-03292-1
- 177. Zhao Y, Burikhanov R, Qiu S, Lele SM, Jennings CD, Bondada S, Spear B, Rangnekar VM (2007) Cancer resistance in transgenic mice expressing the SAC module of par-4. Cancer Res 67:9276 LP–9279285. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-2124
- 178. Chakraborty M, Qiu SG, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2001) Par-4 drives trafficking and activation of Fas and Fasl to induce prostate cancer cell apoptosis and tumor regression. Cancer Res 61:7255–7263
- 179. Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR, Rangnekar VM (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138:377–388. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.022
- 180. Burikhanov R, Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Hebbar N, Qiu S, Zhao Y, Zambetti GP, Rangnekar VM (2014a) Paracrine apoptotic effect of p53 mediated by tumor suppressor Par-4. Cell Rep 6:271–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.12.020
- 181. Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Abu-Baker S, Joshi J, Galvez A, Castilla EA, Cañamero M, Collado M, Saez C, Moreno-Bueno G, Palacios J, Leitges M, Serrano M, Moscat J, Diaz-Meco MT (2009) Simultaneous inactivation of Par-4 and PTEN in vivo leads to synergistic NF-κB activation and invasive prostate carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:12962 LP–12912967. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0813055106
- 182. Zhao Y, Burikhanov R, Brandon J, Qiu S, Shelton BJ, Spear B, Bondada S, Bryson S, Rangnekar VM (2011) Systemic par-4 inhibits non-autochthonous tumor growth. Cancer Biol Ther 12:152–157. https://doi.org/10.4161/cbt.12.2.15734
- 183. Suman S, Das TP, Moselhy J, Pal D, Kolluru V, Alatassi H, Ankem MK, Damodaran C (2016) Oral administration of withaferin a inhibits carcinogenesis of prostate in TRAMP model. Oncotarget 7(33):53751
- 184. Garcia-Cao I, Lafuente MJ, Criado LM, Diaz-Meco MT, Serrano M, Moscat J (2003) Genetic inactivation of Par4 results in hyperactivation of NF-kappaB and impairment of JNK and p38. EMBO Rep 4:307–312. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor. embor769
- 185. Díaz-Meco MT, Municio MM, Frutos S, Sanchez P, Lozano J, Sanz L, Moscat J (1996) The product of par-4, a gene induced during apoptosis, interacts selectively with the atypical isoforms of protein kinase C. Cell 86:777–786. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0092-8674(00)80152-x

- 186. Joshi J, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Galvez A, Amanchy R, Linares JF, Duran A, Pathrose P, Leitges M, Cañamero M, Collado M, Salas C, Serrano M, Moscat J, Diaz-Meco MT (2008) Par-4 inhibits Akt and suppresses Ras-induced lung tumorigenesis. EMBO J 27:2181–2193. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2008.149
- 187. García-Cao I, Duran A, Collado M, Carrascosa MJ, Martín-Caballero J, Flores JM, Diaz-Meco MT, Moscat J, Serrano M (2005) Tumour-suppression activity of the proapoptotic regulator Par4. EMBO Rep 6:577–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400421
- Qinan W, Ling Z, Bing C (2014) PAR-4: a possible new target for age-related disease. Expert Opin Ther Targets 18:917–927. https:// doi.org/10.1517/14728222.2014.925882
- 189. Martin P, Duran A, Minguet S, Gaspar M-L, Diaz-Meco M-T, Rennert P, Leitges M, Moscat J (2002) Role of ζPKC in B-cell signaling and function. EMBO J 21:4049–4057. https://doi. org/10.1093/emboj/cdf407
- 190. Burikhanov R, Hebbar N, Noothi SK, Shukla N, Sledziona J, Araujo N, Kudrimoti M, Wang QJ, Watt DS, Welch DR, Maranchie J, Harada A, Rangnekar VM (2017) Chloroquine-inducible Par-4 secretion is essential for tumor cell apoptosis and inhibition of metastasis. Cell Rep 18:508–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2016.12.051
- 191. Greene JT, Mani R, Ramaswamy R, Frissora F, Yano M, Zapolnik K, Harrington B, Wasmuth R, Tran M, Mo X, McKenna M, Rangnekar VM, Byrd JC, Bondada S, Muthusamy N (2019) Par-4 overexpression impedes leukemogenesis in the Eµ-TCL1 leukemia model through downregulation of NF-κB signaling. Blood Adv 3:1255–1266. https://doi.org/10.1182/ bloodadvances.2018025973
- 192. El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of Par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23:5516 LP–5515525. https://doi.org/10.1128/ MCB.23.16.5516-5525.2003
- 193. Diaz-Meco MT, Abu-Baker S (2009) The Par-4/PTEN connection in tumor suppression. Cell Cycle 8:2518–2522. https://doi. org/10.4161/cc.8.16.9384
- 194. Pruitt K, Ulkü AS, Frantz K, Rojas RJ, Muniz-Medina VM, Rangnekar VM, Der CJ, Shields JM (2005) Ras-mediated loss of the pro-apoptotic response protein Par-4 is mediated by DNA hypermethylation through Raf-independent and Raf-dependent signaling cascades in epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 280:23363– 23370. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M503083200
- 195. de Thonel A, Hazoumé A, Kochin V, Isoniemi K, Jego G, Fourmaux E, Hammann A, Mjahed H, Filhol O, Micheau O, Rocchi P, Mezger V, Eriksson JE, Rangnekar VM, Garrido C (2014) Regulation of the proapoptotic functions of prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) by casein kinase 2 in prostate cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 5:e1016–e1016. https://doi.org/10.1038/ cddis.2013.532
- 196. Goswami A, Burikhanov R, de Thonel A, Fujita N, Goswami M, Zhao Y, Eriksson JE, Tsuruo T, Rangnekar VM (2005) Binding and phosphorylation of par-4 by akt is essential for cancer cell survival. Mol Cell 20:33–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molcel.2005.08.016
- 197. Chang S, Kim JH, Shin J (2002) p62 forms a ternary complex with PKCζ and PAR-4 and antagonizes PAR-4-induced PKCζ inhibition. FEBS Lett 510:57–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0014-5793(01)03224-0
- 198. Wang L-J, Chen P-R, Hsu L-P, Hsu W-L, Liu D-W, Chang C-H, Hsu Y-C, Lee J-W (2014) Concomitant induction of apoptosis and autophagy by prostate apoptosis response-4 in hypopharyngeal carcinoma cells. Am J Pathol 184:418–430. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.10.012
- 199. Thayyullathil F, Rahman A, Pallichankandy S, Patel M, Galadari S (2014) ROS-dependent prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4)

up-regulation and ceramide generation are the prime signaling events associated with curcumin-induced autophagic cell death in human malignant glioma. FEBS Open Bio 4:763–776. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.fob.2014.08.005

- 200. Thayyullathil F, Cheratta AR, Pallichankandy S, Subburayan K, Tariq S, Rangnekar VM, Galadari S (2020) Par-4 regulates autophagic cell death in human cancer cells via upregulating p53 and BNIP3. Biochim Biophys Acta, Mol Cell Res 1867:118692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2020.118692
- 201. Subburayan K, Thayyullathil F, Pallichankandy S, Rahman A, Galadari S (2018) Par-4-dependent p53 up-regulation plays a critical role in thymoquinone-induced cellular senescence in human malignant glioma cells. Cancer Lett 426:80–97. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2018.04.009
- 202. Du WW, Li X, Li T, Li H, Khorshidi A, Liu F, Yang BB (2015) The microRNA miR-17-3p inhibits mouse cardiac fibroblast senescence by targeting Par4. J Cell Sci 128:293 LP–293304. https:// doi.org/10.1242/jcs.158360
- 203. Katoch A, Suklabaidya S, Chakraborty S, Nayak D, Rasool RU, Sharma D, Mukherjee D, Faheem MM, Kumar A, Sharma PR, Senapati S, Kumar LD, Goswami A (2018) Dual role of Par-4 in abrogation of EMT and switching on mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) in metastatic pancreatic cancer cells. Mol Carcinog 57:1102–1115. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.22828
- 204. Cano A, Pérez-Moreno MA, Rodrigo I, Locascio A, Blanco MJ, del Barrio MG, Portillo F, Nieto MA (2000) The transcription factor snail controls epithelial–mesenchymal transitions by repressing E-cadherin expression. Nat Cell Biol 2:76–83. https://doi. org/10.1038/35000025
- 205. Ioannou M, Kouvaras E, Papamichali R, Samara M, Chiotoglou I, Koukoulis G (2018) Smad4 and epithelial–mesenchymal transition proteins in colorectal carcinoma: an immunohistochemical study. J Mol Histol 49:235–244. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10735-018-9763-6
- 206. Burikhanov R, Sviripa VM, Hebbar N, Zhang W, Layton WJ, Hamza A, Zhan C-G, Watt DS, Liu C, Rangnekar VM (2014b) Arylquins target vimentin to trigger Par-4 secretion for tumor cell apoptosis. Nat Chem Biol 10:924–926. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nchembio.1631
- 207. Amin H, Nayak D, ur Rasool R, Chakraborty S, Kumar A, Yousuf K, Sharma PR, Ahmed Z, Sharma N, Magotra A, Mukherjee D, Kumar LD, Goswami A (2016) Par-4 dependent modulation of cellular β-catenin by medicinal plant natural product derivative 3-azido Withaferin a. Mol Carcinog 55:864–881. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.22328
- 208. Rah B, Amin H, Yousuf K, Khan S, Jamwal G, Mukherjee D, Goswami A (2012) A novel MMP-2 inhibitor 3-azidowithaferin a (3-azidoWA) abrogates cancer cell invasion and angiogenesis by modulating extracellular par-4. PLoS One 7:e44039
- 209. Cernaj IE (2016) Simultaneous dual targeting of Par-4 and G6PD: a promising new approach in cancer therapy? Quintessence of a literature review on survival requirements of tumor cells. Cancer Cell Int 16:87. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-016-0363-9
- 210. Min K, Shahriyar SA, Kwon TK (2020) Arylquin 1, a potent Par-4 secretagogue, induces lysosomal membrane permeabilizationmediated non-apoptotic cell death in cancer cells. Toxicol Res 36:167–173. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43188-019-00025-1
- 211. Franchitto A, Torrice A, Semeraro R, Napoli C, Nuzzo G, Giuliante F, Alpini G, Carpino G, Berloco PB, Izzo L, Bolognese A, Onori P, Renzi A, Cantafora A, Gaudio E, Alvaro D (2010) Prostate apoptosis response-4 is expressed in normal cholangiocytes, is down-regulated in human cholangiocarcinoma, and promotes apoptosis of neoplastic cholangiocytes when induced pharmacologically. Am J Pathol 177:1779–1790. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2010.091171
- 212. Irby RB, Kline CLB (2013) Par-4 as a potential target for cancer therapy. Expert Opin Ther Targets 17:77–87. https://doi.org/10.15 17/14728222.2013.731047

- 213. Horbinski C, Liu Y, Gilbert MR, Kyprianou N (2014) Mutant Idh1 suppresses apoptosis regulator PAR-4 in gliomas. Neuro-Oncology 16:iii6–iii6. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/nou206.21
- 214. Liu Y, Gilbert MR, Kyprianou N, Rangnekar VM, Horbinski C (2014b) The tumor suppressor prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) is regulated by mutant IDH1 and kills glioma stem cells. Acta Neuropathol 128:723–732. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00401-014-1334-7
- 215. Diaz-Meco MT, Lallena M-J, Monjas A, Frutos S, Moscat J (1999) Inactivation of the inhibitory κB protein kinase/nuclear factor κB pathway by Par-4 expression potentiates tumor necrosis factor α-induced apoptosis*. J Biol Chem 274:19606–19612. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.28.19606
- 216. Kim S, Lee T-J, Park J-W, Kwon TK (2008) Overexpression of cFLIPs inhibits oxaliplatin-mediated apoptosis through enhanced XIAP stability and Akt activation in human renal cancer cells. J Cell Biochem 105:971–979. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.21905
- 217. Wang B-D, Kline CLB, Pastor DM, Olson TL, Frank B, Luu T, Sharma AK, Robertson G, Weirauch MT, Patierno SR, Stuart JM, Irby RB, Lee NH (2010) Prostate apoptosis response protein 4 sensitizes human colon cancer cells to chemotherapeutic 5-FU through mediation of an NFκB and microRNA network. Mol Cancer 9:98. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-9-98
- 218. Lu C, Shervington A (2008) Chemoresistance in gliomas. Mol Cell Biochem 312:71–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-008-9722-8
- 219. Kline CLB, Irby RB (2011) The pro-apoptotic protein prostate apoptosis response Protein-4 (Par-4) can be activated in colon cancer cells by treatment with Src inhibitor and 5-FU. Apoptosis 16:1285. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-011-0648-3
- 220. Chendil D, Das A, Dey S, Mohiuddin M, Ahmed MM (2002) Par-4, a pro-apoptotic gene, inhibits radiation-induced NFκB activity and Bcl-2 expression leading to induction of radiosensitivity in human prostate cancer cells PC-3. Cancer Biol Ther 1:152–160. https://doi.org/10.4161/cbt.61
- 221. Zhuang D, Liu Y, Mao Y, Gao L, Zhang H, Luan S, Huang F, Li Q (2012) TMZ-induced PrPc/par-4 interaction promotes the survival of human glioma cells. Int J Cancer 130:309–318. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ijc.25985
- 222. Ahmed AU, Auffinger B, Lesniak MS (2013) Understanding glioma stem cells: rationale, clinical relevance and therapeutic strategies. Expert Rev Neurother 13:545–555. https://doi.org/10.1586/ern.13.42
- 223. Huang Z, Cheng L, Guryanova OA, Wu Q, Bao S (2010) Cancer stem cells in glioblastoma—molecular signaling and therapeutic targeting. Protein Cell 1:638–655. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13238-010-0078-y
- 224. Criscitiello C, Fumagalli D, Saini KS, Loi S (2010) Tamoxifen in early-stage estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer: overview of clinical use and molecular biomarkers for patient selection. Onco Targets Ther 4:1–11. https://doi.org/10.2147/OTT.S10155
- 225. Pu YS, Hsieh TS, Tsai TC, Cheng AL, Hsieh CY, Su IJ, Lai MK (1995) Tamoxifen enhances the chemosensitivity of bladder carcinoma cells. J Urol 154:601–605. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005392-199508000-00078
- 226. Ribeiro MPC, Silva FSG, Paixão J, Santos AE, Custódio JBA (2013) The combination of the antiestrogen endoxifen with all-trans-retinoic acid has anti-proliferative and anti-migration effects on melanoma cells without inducing significant toxicity in non-neoplasic cells. Eur J Pharmacol 715:354–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.04.038
- 227. Yang L, Yuan X, Wang J, Gu C, Zhang H, Yu J, Liu F (2015) Radiosensitization of human glioma cells by tamoxifen is associated with the inhibition of PKC-1 activity in vitro. Oncol Lett 10:473–478. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2015.3195
- 228. Graham CD, Kaza N, Klocke BJ, Gillespie GY, Shevde LA, Carroll SL, Roth KA (2016) Tamoxifen induces cytotoxic autophagy in glioblastoma. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 75:946–954. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnen/nlw071

- 229. Shiras A, Chettiar S, Shepal V, Rajendran G, Prasad G, Shastry P (2007) Spontaneous transformation of human adult nontumorigenic stem cells to cancer stem cells is driven by genomic instability in a human model of glioblastoma. Stem Cells 25:1478–1489. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2006-0585
- Birgersdotter A, Sandberg R, Ernberg I (2005) Gene expression perturbation in vitro—a growing case for three-dimensional (3D) culture systems. Semin Cancer Biol 15:405–412. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2005.06.009
- 231. Breslin S, O'Driscoll L (2013) Three-dimensional cell culture: the missing link in drug discovery. Drug Discov Today 18:240–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2012.10.003
- 232. Justice BA, Badr NA, Felder RA (2009) 3D cell culture opens new dimensions in cell-based assays. Drug Discov Today 14:102–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2008.11.006
- 233. Zietarska M, Maugard CM, Filali-Mouhim A, Alam-Fahmy M, Tonin PN, Provencher DM, Mes-Masson A-M (2007) Molecular description of a 3D in vitro model for the study of epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC). Mol Carcinog 46:872–885. https://doi. org/10.1002/mc.20315
- 234. Roy A, Poirier MB and Fortin D (2018) Differential Expression and Clinical Significance of Transforming Growth Factor-Beta Isoforms in GBM Tumors. Int J Mol Sci, 19: 1113. https://doi. org/10.3390/ijms19041113
- 235. Jagtap JC, Parveen D, Shah RD, Desai A, Bhosale D, Chugh A, Ranade D, Karnik S, Khedkar B, Mathur A, Natesh K, Chandrika G, Shastry P (2014) Secretory prostate apoptosis response (Par)-4 sensitizes multicellular spheroids (MCS) of glioblastoma multiforme cells to tamoxifen-induced cell death. FEBS open bio 5: 8–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fob.2014.11.005

Check for updates

Involvement of Par-4 in Breast Cancer

Simone Aparecida de Bessa-Garcia and Maria Aparecida Nagai

Abstract

The normal mammary gland's development, maintenance, and function depend on a complex signal transduction system orchestrated by integrins, growth factors, and steroid hormones. Changes in these cell signal transduction pathways have been associated with breast cancer development and progression. Despite technological advances in diagnostic methods and molecular classification, breast cancer morbidity and mortality rates remain unchanged. A significant number of patients die due to the formation of metastases, resistance to treatment, and disease recurrence. Thus, one of the main objectives of research in breast cancer is the identification and characterization of new biomarkers, which can be used as prognostic and predictive factors of response or indicators of therapeutic resistance, preventing disease recurrence. Par-4 (Prostate Apoptosis Response 4; also known as PAWR, pro-apoptotic WT1 regulator) is a tumor suppressor gene that encodes a pro-apoptotic protein expressed ubiquitously among the various tissue types, and for which altered expression patterns are already described in many types of cancers, including breast cancer. In this chapter, we review the possible roles of Par-4 in breast cancer, providing insights into the potential role of this tumor suppressor gene as a novel prognostic and predictive biomarker of this complex and heterogeneous disease.

Laboratory of Molecular Genetics, Center for Translational Research in Oncology, Cancer Institute of Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil e-mail: nagai@usp.br

Keywords

1

Par-4 · Breast cancer · Prognosis · Biomarker · Apoptosis · Recurrence · Chemosensitivity

A Brief Overview of Mammary Gland Development, Function, and Maintenance

The mammary gland is an exclusive organ of mammals whose primary function is to produce and secret milk to provide food for the newborn. Like other mammalian species, the human mammary gland is a bilateral organ formed by epithelial and mesenchymal components, which undergoes constant structural changes and has a great capacity for remodeling and regeneration from development in intrauterine life to postmenopausal involution. This complex and important organ changes in size, shape, and function, including two main phases, development and differentiation, during growth, puberty, pregnancy, and lactation [1, 2].

The development of the human mammary gland begins in the fourth week of pregnancy, and its initiation depends on specialized mesenchymal cells called the mammary adipose pedicle, which emit signals to the epithelial cells, which migrate to the adipose pedicle and form the primary ducts with little branched [3]. After birth, the mammary gland remains in its rudimentary form until puberty. Changes in the hormonal environment, especially in the levels of steroid hormones, estrogen and progesterone, which act as stimulating the growth and development of the mammary gland, induce the elongation, proliferation, and extension of the terminal lobular ducts, namely lobes type 1 and 2 [3, 4]. In fact, the mammary gland is a unique organ, having the ability to involve and reorganize itself between the stages of pregnancy and lactation, which involves the action of steroid hormones, growth factors, and different cell signaling pathways (Fig. 1).

The original version of this chapter was revised. The correction to this chapter is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_22

S. A. de Bessa-Garcia

IBMC—Institute for Molecular and Cell Biology, I3S-Institute for Innovation and Health Research, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

M. A. Nagai (🖂)

Discipline of Oncology, Department of Radiology and Oncology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021, Corrected Publication 2022

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), *Tumor Suppressor Par-4*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_7



Fig. 1 Schematic illustration of mammary gland developmental stages from prepuberty to pregnancy, lactation, and involution

The stages of branching, lactation, and involution involve the complex cross-talk between different signal pathways and biological processes such as proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis [5, 6]. Estrogen has a mitogenic effect on epithelium resulting in duct proliferation the and development, and progesterone acts on cell differentiation resulting in the development of lobules. Type 1 and 2 lobular ducts are present in nulliparous adult women. During pregnancy, the mammary epithelium experiences the largest and fastest growth phase, and lobes 1 and 2 progress to lobules of type 3 and 4; this occurs in response to the hormones of the corpus luteum (estrogen and progesterone), placenta (estrogen, progesterone, and somatotrophin), pituitary (prolactin), and adrenal glands. During the third trimester of pregnancy and lactation, the lobular ducts go through extensive ramification, alveolar formation, and differentiation. After the breastfeeding period, the involution phase follows, with apoptosis of the secretory epithelium and lobes regression for types 2 and 3 and regression for lobe 1 in the postmenopause [7]. Nulliparous women have a large percentage of lobes types 1 (50-60%) and 2 (30-35%), while women with at least one full-term pregnancy have a predominance of type 3 lobe (80-100%). These data corroborate the epidemiological data that show that a history of pregnancy at a young age is a protective factor for breast cancer, as these women have a lower relative risk of breast cancer development when compared to nulliparous women, a factor attributed to the differentiation degree of the mammary epithelium [8].

The mammary gland's complex structure is essentially composed of two components, the glandular one that is involved in the production and transport of milk, and the stromal and connective tissue composed of fibroblasts, extracellular matrix (ECM), and fat cells. To maintain functionality, epithelial cells must adequately receive signals from the bloodstream (growth hormone, estrogen, progesterone, prolactin) and stroma (growth factors, such as FGF10, IGF1, and EGF), whose action and integration depend on cell–cell and cell-ECM interactions involving the action of multiple genes [4]. In vitro and in vivo studies have highlighted the potential role of cell death during the development and involution of the mammary gland. The balance between proliferation and cell death rates is critical for the development and maintenance of the mammary gland [9]. On the other hand, cells' ability to evade apoptosis or cell death is one of the essential changes in cell physiology, which impacts tumor progression and resistance to chemotherapy and radiation therapy [10, 11]. Maintaining the structure and function of the normal mammary gland depends on a complex signal transduction system. The signaling pathways orchestrated by integrins, growth factors, and steroid hormones are fundamental in maintaining growth homeostasis and differentiation of the mammary gland. Changes in these cell signal transduction pathways have been associated with breast cancer development [12, 13].

2 Breast Cancer

GLOBOCAN 2018 estimated a total of 18.1 million new cases and 9.6 million cancer deaths worldwide in 2018. Among the various types of cancer, those with the highest annual incidence in the world are lung (2.093 million cases), breast (2.088 million), colon (1.096 million), prostate (1.276 million), and stomach (1.033 thousand) [14]. Worldwide, breast cancer is the most common malignancy and the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the female population. In addition to the high incidence, the disease's social and economic impact is enormous and makes breast cancer an important public health problem.

Despite technological advances and improvement of diagnostic methods, such as mammography, which allows the early detection of a greater number of breast tumors, the mortality rates associated with breast cancer remain unchanged with a significant number of patients dying due to the formation of metastases, resistance to treatment and disease recurrence. Thus, one of the main objectives of research in the area of breast cancer is the identification and characterization of new biomarkers, which can be used as prognostic and predictive factors of response or indicators of therapeutic resistance, preventing disease recurrence. However, such research is hampered due to the high complexity and heterogeneity of this disease.

Data from epidemiological and experimental studies allowed to elaborate the proposal of a linear model for the natural history of breast cancer, which involves progression through clinical and pathological stages, starting with hyperplastic epithelial atypia, progressing to carcinomas in situ, invasive carcinoma, and finally the development of metastatic disease [3, 15, 16]. However, epithelial atypia (AS), atypical ductal hyperplasia (ADH), and carcinoma in situ (DCIS) are not considered mandatory precursor lesions for the development of invasive and metastatic ductal carcinoma (ICD), which represents 80% of tumors diagnosed [17, 18].

Breast cancer has a complex etiology, and both genetic and environmental factors play an important role in the disease development, and the penetrance of genetic factors can be influenced by a variety of genetic and non-genetic risk factors [19, 20]. Several factors are associated with an increased risk of developing breast cancer. Each factor confers a different degree of risk. The main risk factors for breast cancer include family history, age, geographic variation, age at menarche and menopause, age at first pregnancy, number of deliveries, obesity, sedentary lifestyle, diet, hormone replacement therapy, use of oral contraceptives, and alcohol consumption [21-24]. Lifestyle impacts breast cancer development and some of these risk factors can be modified, and not every woman with one or more associated risk factors will develop the disease. Identifying modifiable risk factors can contribute to primary and secondary prevention leading to a reduction in the incidence of the disease [25].

Early menarche and nulliparity influence the time of steroid hormone exposure, especially estrogen and progesterone, which is considered one of the dominant factors in breast cancer's etiology and development [22, 26, 27]. As already described, estrogens play a critical role in the development, maintenance, and function of the mammary gland and are also associated with breast cancer development and progression [19]. Most of the complex biological functions regulated by estrogens are mediated by estrogen receptors, ER α and ER β , through transcription of ER target genes and non-genomic mechanisms [28, 29]. Estrogen actions can be partially blocked by selective estrogen receptor action modulators (SERMs), such as tamoxifen and raloxifene, or by selective estrogen receptor reducers (SERDs), such as fulvestrant ("faslodex", ICI 182,780), which is a pure antagonist, which binds to the ER leading to its destabilization and degradation [30–32]. In addition, third-generation agents or aromatase inhibitors (AIS), anastrozole and letrozole, which

inhibit estrogen production, can be combined with fulvestrant to overcome resistance and improve patients' response to hormone therapy [33, 34]. The presence or absence of ER α determines whether a patient's breast cancer can be classified as a positive or negative estrogen receptor, respectively. About two-thirds of breast tumors express ER and are considered hormone-dependent. In fact, ER is considered a good biomarker for breast cancer, not only because it is associated with the disease development and progression but also because its presence can predict breast cancer patients' response to anti-estrogen treatment. However, a subgroup of patients with ER-positive breast tumors does not respond to hormone therapy or become resistant to it [32, 34]. Several molecular techniques that allow for large-scale expression analysis have been used to identify the gene expression signature associated with hormone resistance therapy that can improve our understanding of ER-positive breast cancers and select the most appropriate therapies for each patient [35, 36].

The most important risk factor for breast cancer, however, is a family history, that is, the presence of breast cancer in first-degree relatives. Approximately 5–10% of breast and/or ovarian cancer cases are identified in families as a result of high penetration mutations inherited in an autosomal dominant manner [37, 38]. Breast cancer is defined as familial when the disease manifests in at least two first-degree relatives. Epidemiological data show that first-degree relatives of affected individuals have a significant increase in the relative risk of developing breast cancer, being this risk increased by young age at diagnosis, the development of bilateral tumors, and the number of affected family members by the disease [39–42].

Genetic linkage studies in families with breast and familial ovarian cancer led to the identification of the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes [43–45]. A significant number of mutations in these genes have already been identified, with the majority of these mutations, around 70%, of the "frameshift" or "nonsense" type resulting in the formation of a non-functional truncated protein product [46, 47]. Germline mutations in the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes are highly penetrating, giving an estimated risk of more than 80% for the development of breast cancer, being responsible for 15-20% of breast tumors in the hereditary form [48, 49]. Mutations in other genes associated with other inherited cancer syndromes, such as TP53, PTEN, STK11, and RAD51 also confer high breast cancer risk, others such as ATM, CHEK2, BRIP1, PALB2 confer moderate risk, and others such as FGFR2, TNRC9, 2q35, 8q24 confer low risk for the development of familial breast cancer [49–51].

About 90–95% of breast cancer cases do not show a pattern of familial association and are considered sporadic. The development of breast cancer occurs within the ducts and lobules of the mammary gland and, as well as other types of tumors, raise from genetic and epigenetic changes. The accumulation of genetic and epigenetic changes, which occurs during the development and progression of cancer, leads to the acquisition of new hallmarks typical of malignant transformation, such as unlimited replicative potential, selfsufficiency of growth factors, insensitivity to antiproliferative factors, evasion to apoptosis, induction, and maintenance of angiogenesis, invasion and metastasis formation [10, 52]. Genetic and epigenetic changes associated with the process of tumorigenesis result in differential gene expression profile between normal tissue and the tumor and among tumors from different patients. Identifying and characterizing genes differentially expressed in cancer can lead to the discovery of new markers for diagnosis, prognosis, and new strategies for treatment of the disease.

Historically, the classification of breast cancer was based solely on clinical and pathological characteristics, such as tumor stage and lymph node involvement, as well as morphological characteristics, such as histological type, proliferative status, and histological and nuclear grade [53, 54]. However, breast cancer is a complex and heterogeneous disease in relation to genetics, histopathology, and clinical course of the disease, and its histological classification alone is not sufficient to predict disease behavior and the adequate clinical management of patients [55–57].

Large-scale analysis of gene expression allowed the classification of breast cancer according to intrinsic molecular subtypes [58, 59]. The existence of four distinct intrinsic molecular subtypes for breast cancer is widely accepted: luminal A, luminal B, ERBB2-enriched, basal or triple-negative (Fig. 2).

Tumors of luminal subtype A, which have the best prognosis, are ER-positive, ERBB2 negative, and show expression of genes regulated by estrogen in luminal epithelial cells (such as cytokeratins 7, 8, 18, 19, GATA 3, GREB1, XBP1). Tumors classified as luminal subtype B, which present a worse prognosis relative to luminal A, are ER and ERBB2 positive and have a low or moderate expression of genes expressed in luminal cells. Tumors classified as belonging to the ERBB2 overexpression subtype are ER-negative and ERBB2-positive, which is an important prognostic and predictive biomarker of response in breast carcinoma. The basal or triple-negative subtype's tumors are ER, PR, and ERBB2negative and have the expression of genes expressed by the progenitor cells or basal/myoepithelial cells. This subtype presents an aggressive phenotype with a worse prognosis and has no known therapeutic targets being treated by platinum-based chemotherapy with platinum and PARP inhibitors [60]. The data generated by the studies by Perou et al. [58] showed the potential of large-scale expression analysis techniques in revealing the molecular basis of the biological heterogeneity and clinical behavior of breast

tumors and has generated a series of new studies for the validation and expansion of these data [56, 61, 62].

Different prognostic multigenic tests, such as MamaPrint, Oncotype, Mammostrat, and Prosigna have been developed and are commercially available. Despite their limitations, there is a growing consensus that multigenic signatures provide standardized and complementary information to histopathological variables, including tumor size, lymph node status, and histological grade [62-64]. The high cost of analyzing the gene expression profile has limited its incorporation in most clinical trials. On the other hand, several groups have developed the immunophenotypic evaluation, that is, the analysis of markers by immunohistochemistry as a valid method to determine the molecular subtypes. It has been suggested that ER, PR, Ki67, HER2, AURKA, basal cytokeratins (CK 5/6, CK14), and EGFR determined by immunohistochemistry can be used in the clinic for the classification of different breast cancer subtypes defined by the gene expression profile [65-68]. Estrogen and growth factor receptors with tyrosine kinase activity (such as HER2) are recognized as important mediators of cell signaling pathways associated with breast cancer development and progression [57]. The expression analysis of estrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR) by immunohistochemistry (IHC), and of HER2, both by IHC and fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH), are used to determine the status of these receptors and are prognostic and predictive biomarkers to identify patients likely to benefit from endocrine or anti-HER2 therapies [69–72].

The development and application of high-throughput sequencing techniques have allowed a substantial improvement in our understanding of genomic, epigenomic, transcriptomic, and proteomic changes associated with breast cancer [73]. A series of detailed studies using the integration of different genomics and transcriptome platforms allowed the identification of the profile of somatic changes associated with high heterogeneity of breast cancer [73-75]. From 2012, with the publication of the sequencing data from The Cancer Genome Atlas Network [73], concerning a large number of samples of different types of tumors, including breast cancer, it was possible to unveil the extensive set of genomic changes underlying the pathogenesis of breast cancer [74-76]. In addition to confirming the role of several previously identified mutations, such as PIK3CA, PTEN, AKT1, P53, CDH1, GATA3, RB1, MAP3K1, MLL3, and CDKN1B, many other genes and CVNs (copy number change) have been cataloged [74, 76, 77]. It is estimated that more than 30 genes associated with different signaling pathways and biological processes are associated with the development and progression of breast cancer. However, only a few are altered in a significant portion of breast tumors, such as PIK3CA, TP53, MYC, CCND1, and HER2 [78]. Also, the real clinicopathological significance of these alterations alone or in



Fig. 2 The distribution of the four major molecular subtypes of breast carcinomas. The surrogate intrinsic subtypes clinically used are based on the immunohistochemistry expression of: estrogen receptor (ER),

progesterone receptor (PR), human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), and the proliferation marker (Ki67)

combination is not fully defined, and several of these alterations or combinations of alterations have different frequency and clinical relevance depending on the molecular or histological subtype [52, 78, 79].

Despite advances in the molecular classification of breast cancer subtypes, the disease's high heterogeneity is still the most significant obstacle in clinical oncology, which has an impact on the diagnosis, accurate prognosis, and treatment of patients [55]. In this context, several studies using a large number of samples aiming to determine the landscape of genomic and transcriptomic changes of different breast cancer subtypes are being developed aiming at the identification of biomarkers for diagnosis, prognosis, drug targets, and predictors of therapeutic response [36, 80–82].

Intratumoral heterogeneity is the main obstacle to the effective treatment of breast cancer and personalized medicine. The spectrum of genetic and epigenetic alterations associated with the disease's intratumoral heterogeneity has been revealed, and several technologies have been developed for its characterization. However, very few predictive molecular biomarkers have been identified for making treatment decisions in patients with metastatic breast cancer. The main biomarkers of prognosis and predictors of therapeutic response in breast cancer remain the receptors for steroid hormones (ER and PR) and the HER2 oncoprotein. The functional and clinical characterization of new biomarkers and the definition of mutational processes that act during the different stages of disease development and progression, which allow the identification of clinically relevant prognostic and predictive factors for therapeutic response, are among

the areas that still need to be addressed in breast cancer. In addition, understanding more about the molecular pathophysiology and the functional role of potential biomarkers in the biology of breast epithelial cells and breast cancer is extremely important for a better understanding of the changes associated with the process of breast tumorigenesis, identification and characterization of biomarkers, development of targeted therapies and to improve the prediction of response and/or resistance to conventional hormonal and chemotherapy treatments.

3 Role of Par-4 as a Biomarker in Breast Cancer

As described above, despite the great utility and impact of the molecular classification on our understanding of the physiopathology and natural history of breast cancer, a major challenge remains, that of breaking the heterogeneity found in tumors, bringing an adequate distinction of breast cancer intrinsic subtypes. Identifying putative biomarkers of clinical outcomes in breast cancer is crucial for selecting patients who are the most likely to benefit from a specific therapeutic approach. For this reason, a wide range of new possible biomarkers has been described in the literature. Par-4 (Prostate Apoptosis Response 4; also known as PAWR, pro-apoptotic WT1 regulator) is a tumor suppressor gene that encodes a pro-apoptotic protein expressed ubiquitously among the various tissue types. Altered expression of Par-4 is observed in many types of cancers, including breast cancer [83–85].

The study by Zapata-Benavides et al. evaluated the expression of Par-4 in 59 breast tumors showing negative immunostaining for Par-4 in 64.4% of the samples pointing out its role as a tumor suppressor in breast cancer [85]. Nagai et al. evaluated the expression of Par-4 on tissue microarrays containing 1161 samples of primary breast tumors [84]. In that study, low expression of Par-4 was found in 57% of the samples, and this low expression was associated with the worst prognosis (short disease-free survival and overall survival) of breast cancer patients, especially patients in the luminal subtype A group. In the same year, a study carried out in Mexico also associated the negative expression of Par-4 with the unfavorable prognosis in 67 primary breast tumors, further confirming the prognostic value of Par-4 in breast cancer [83]. Interestingly, in our study, it was also possible to observe the relationship between Par-4 expression and other markers already well established in breast cancer literature. Patients with tumors positive for EGFR and HER-2 receptors and positive for pAkt kinase, when associated with decreased expression of the Par-4 protein, represented a group with a worse prognosis [84]. Together, these results showed for the first time the Par-4 role as a tumor suppressor gene in breast cancer. Supporting the tumor suppressor role of Par-4 in breast cancer, Satherley et al. demonstrated that both Par-4 mRNA and protein downregulation are associated with poorer overall survival rates. Moreover, they provided further information that Par-4 overexpression reduces cancer cell adhesion, invasion, and growth in breast cancer cells [86].

Alvarez et al. [87], using transgenic mouse models and data from breast cancer patients, confirmed the results from previous studies [83, 84] and identified down-regulation of Par-4 as an important mechanism for tumor cell survival and local or distant recurrence after chemotherapy and targeted therapy. These authors also showed that low Par-4 expression was an independent predictor of poor recurrence-free survival in breast cancer patients. They also found low Par-4 expression in the highly aggressive, estrogen receptor negative (ER–), basal-like, and high-grade (grade 3) breast tumors. This study provides important insights into the value of Par-4 as a potential biomarker to predict recurrence and therapy response for breast cancer patients.

So far, few works on the relationship between the expression of Par-4 and prognosis of breast cancer has been done. However, a growing number of studies, in vitro and in vivo, provide important evidence of the role of Par-4 in proliferation, apoptosis, and chemosensitivity in breast cancer. In the next sections, we describe a series of experimental data providing evidence that Par-4 shows potential to be a biomarker of great value in the prognosis and prediction of breast cancer patients' therapy response.

Role of Par-4 in Breast Cancer Proliferation and Apoptosis

4

Par-4 (Prostate Apoptosis Response 4) is a tumor suppressor gene that encodes a pro-apoptotic protein expressed ubiquitously among the various tissue types [88–90]. The majority of its actions are related to the apoptotic pathways' activation with the direct or indirect inhibition of proliferative cascades. However, it is sometimes difficult to determine if the final direct outcome of Par-4 action is related to cell death or cell growth mechanisms since some intermediate molecules are redundant, that is, they participate in both processes. Moreover, evidence raise that Par-4 is able to bind more than one partner at a time and thus could function as a hub linking the functions of several proteins [91].

Some studies suggest that Par-4 expression increase is related to apoptosis while its decreased levels are related to cell growth arrest as a consequence of the no activation of Par-4-mediated apoptosis pathways [87, 92]. Nevertheless, the data about the direct interference of Par-4 on cell proliferation are controversial to some extent. For example, it was demonstrated that in BT474 breast cancer cells, both Par-4 knockout and cell with Par-4 ectopic expression grew at equal rates. However, after treatment with PI3K-Akt-mTOR pathway inhibitors (MK-2206, BKM120, BEZ235, and Torin1), the Par-4 knockout cells did not show any differences in their viability at early time-points (three days). In turn, the long-term (31 days) treatment with Lapatinib or MK2206 led to a dramatic selection for Par-4 knockout cells, which were able to resume proliferation after drug removal [92]. These findings in cell models are consistent with the results obtained in mouse primary tumors in which Par-4 knockdown does not affect the growth and survival of untreated cells [87]. Despite that, it was demonstrated that the Par-4 knockdown in MCF7 breast cancer cells led to increased proliferation ratios [93].

Par-4 activation is triggered by a myriad of apoptotic stimuli such as the withdrawal of growth factors and estrogens, tumor necrosis factor, intracellular calcium elevation, ionizing radiation, chemotherapeutic drugs, or those involved in neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, Huntington's, and stroke [94, 95]. In the MCF7 breast cancer cell line that has a hormone-responsive phenotype (ER+/PR+), the estrogen withdrawal has an inhibitory effect on cell proliferation along with the activation of apoptotic pathways [96]. These effects could be related to the Par-4 expression increase observed in these cells when cultured under estrogen-free conditions [94].

Interestingly, Par-4 expression level increase *per se* is sufficient to induce apoptosis in hormone-independent breast and prostate tumor cell lines, while in normal and hormone-dependent cells, the first apoptotic stimulus increases the

cells' sensitivity to apoptosis, and the Par-4-induced cell death is carried out by the occurrence of a second apoptotic signal (Fig. 3) [89, 97].

To better understand the Par-4 action in cell survival, it is important to have in mind the basic structure of Par-4 protein. *Par-4* gene (12q21) encodes a 332-amino acid (aa) protein composed of two putative nuclear localization sequences (NLS) corresponding to the aa residues 20–25 (NLS1) and 137–153 (NLS2), a leucine zipper (LZ) domain spanning aa 292–332 and a nuclear export sequence in the carboxiterminal region [95]. The minor aa sequence, unique and sufficient to induce apoptosis specifically in cancer cells, comprises the residues 137–195 and is named SAC (Selective for Apoptosis in Cancer cells) domain. The SAC domain encompasses the NLS2 and is followed by a linker domain that connects it to the carboxi-terminal coiled-coil (CC, aa254–332) motif that includes a nuclear export sequence



Fig. 3 Par-4 apoptotic action timing in hormone-responsive (HR), hormone-independent (HI) and normal breast cancer cells. Upon an apoptotic stimulus, the increase in Par-4 expression level is sufficient to induce apoptosis in HI breast tumor cell lines (e.g., MDAMB-231 cells) while in normal (e.g., MCF10A cells) and hormone-dependent cells (e.g., MCF7 cells), the first apoptotic stimulus increases the cells sensitivity to apoptosis and a second apoptotic signal is necessary to accom-

plish Par-4-induced cell death. 1st, first; 2nd, second; , cell death, ↑, increase

(NES, aa 295–301) [98, 99]. Noteworthy, Threonine 155 (T155) and Serine 249 (S249) are the residues more frequently described as phosphorylated by important molecules such as PKA and AKT, respectively (Fig. 4) [91].

The CC and LZ motifs are described as the mediators of the majority of protein interactions involving Par-4 already identified, including its homodimerization [99, 100]. Three exceptions for this rule can be made in relation to Twist [101] and Foxo3a [92] interactions that take place in the Par-4 promoter region, and GRP78 binding that occurs in the SAC domain [88]. Interestingly, the NES seems to be masked upon Par-4 homodimerization and heterodimerization with its partners, indicating a potential mechanism for Par-4 nuclear localization maintenance [99]. In this context, it is interesting to mention that Par-4 is accepted as an intrinsically disordered protein (IDP) because of its interaction with a great number of proteins. In general lines, IDPs are proteins with great medical potential characterized by multiple interactions due the lack of a stable three-dimensional structure and the presence of a CC motif in ordered regions [100].

Par-4 aa sequence contains potential non-typical Caspase cleavage sites, raising the possibility that following an apoptotic stimulus, Par-4 could be cleaved by caspases [98, 102]. According to this model, during apoptosis induction, the full-length cytoplasmic Par-4 is cleaved by Caspase-3 at D1311G, generating a 24 kDa "activated" fragment that includes, at its amino-terminus, the SAC domain and the NLS2 (Fig. 4). These Par-4 fragments display increased apoptotic activity and can translocate to the nucleus or be accumulated in the cytoplasm [98]. In the cytosolic compartment, the Par-4 fragment is able to inhibit $I\kappa B\alpha$ (an NF- κB inhibitor) phosphorylation with the consequent blockage of NF-KB nuclear translocation and reduction of the cellular levels of some NF-kB-targets, such as the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and FLIP [98]. Moreover, the occurrence of Par-4 cleavage is dependent on Caspase-3 expression and can be related to specific stimuli and cell types. For example, in MCF7 cells that are Caspase-3-deficient, the Par-4 cleavage is not observed, being that the induction of Caspase-3 ectopic expression is sufficient to produce a decrease in the full-length Par-4 levels, due to the appearance of the cleaved fragments [98]. The Par-4 cleavage mediated by Caspase-3 was also observed in HeLa cervical tumor cells and A2780 ovarian tumor cells following treatment with cisplatin [98]. Additionally, knockdown of Par-4 in HeLa cells reduces Caspase-3 activation and apoptosis induction while the overexpression of wild-type Par-4, but not the Par-4 D131A mutant, sensitizes them to cisplatin-induced apoptosis [98].

Guo et al. demonstrated that Caspase-8-induced Par-4 cleavage results in the nuclear accumulation of the C-terminal fragment. The transient expression of Par-4 and the C-terminal Par-4 fragment leads to a reduced expression of cIAP1 in TNBC cells (BT-20 and MDA-MB-468). They also



Fig. 4 Par-4 protein structure and the Caspase-3-dependent mechanism of cleavage. Par-4 is composed of two nuclear localization signals (NLS1 and NLS2), a leucine zipper sequence (LZ), and a nuclear export signal (NES). Functionally, the minor portion sufficient to induce apoptosis in cancer cells is named SAC (Selective for Apoptosis in Cancer cells) domain encompassing the NLS2 that and followed by the coilcoiled (CC) domain that, in turn, encloses the LZ and NES domains. The CC domain, together with LZ domain, is the site where the majority of Par-4 protein interactions take place. T (Threonine) 155 and S (Serine) 249 are the most studied sites for Par-4 phosphorylation. The presence of one non-typical Caspase-3 cleavage site (D \downarrow G), N (amino)-

found that cIAP1 overexpression can protect BT-20 cells from apoptosis and Caspase-8 activation, and loss of Par-4 in TNBC cells completely prevents cIAP1 depletion induced by genotoxic stress and results in drug resistance [103]. Moreover, these authors found that down-regulation of cIAP1 with RNAi or Smac (second mitochondrial-derived activator of caspases) mimetics developed to target IAPs overcomes chemo-resistance induced by loss of Par-4 and restores Caspase-8 activation [103]. To add complexity to this novel mechanism, it was showed that the apoptotic action of the generated fragments seems to be dependent on their tetramerization in specific conditions of ionic strength and pH (Fig. 4) [104].

As mentioned, Pereira et al. demonstrated the impact of Par-4 on cell proliferation in MCF7 breast cancer cells [93]. In this study, the cell proliferation ratios, measured by MTT assay, were significantly inhibited in cells overexpressing

terminal to SAC domain, allows the generation of Par-4 fragments (Par-4-f) with a Caspase-3-dependent apoptosis role. These fragments act in both, nucleus and cytoplasm. It is believed that it is necessary to form Par-4-f tetramers in special pH and ionic strength conditions for their efficient function. One described pro-apoptotic action of the Par-4 fragments tetramers is the inhibition of IkK α phosphorylation that in turn keeps the NF-kB/IkK α interaction with the consequent sequester of NF-kB in cytoplasm and reduction of the transcription of NF-kBdependent targets, like Bcl-2 and FLIP. \checkmark , SAC to CC linker; **X**, blockage; COOH, carboxi-terminal protein end; Par-4-f, Par-4 fragment; NH2, amino-terminal protein end; p, phosphorylation

Par-4 compared with the control transfectants being that this proliferative restraint seems to involve the inhibition of the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway since MCF7 cells with increased Par-4 expression exhibited a significant reduction in ERK phosphorylation. Additionally, it was also demonstrated that MCF7 cells overexpressing Par-4 display a greater proportion of cells in the sub-G1 population compared with control cells what is indicative of increased apoptosis. Nevertheless, the question remains: is the Par-4 effect on proliferation direct or the result of Par-4 action on key pro-apoptotic molecules that interfere in proliferative pathways?

In in vivo studies, the overlap of apoptotic and proliferative events have also been observed. For example, Par-4 and SAC-transgenic mice are resistant to the growth of spontaneous tumors, whereas GFP-transgenic mice and littermate control mice develop spontaneous tumors in the endometrium, prostate [105], liver/spleen [106], and lungs [107]. In a mouse model of Ras-induced lung tumorigenesis, Par-4 knockout was accompanied by increased Ki67 staining in both, normal alveolar or tumor tissues, and enhanced NF- κ B activation resulting in higher cell survival during the oncogenic transformation process [107]. Additionally, in a mouse HER2/neu-induced mammary tumor formation model, it was showed that primary tumors expressing ectopic Par-4 grow at rates similar to control tumors but have an increased latency period for tumor recurrence. This suggests that Par-4 expression does not alter primary tumor growth but could have an important role in the survival of the residual cells responsible for tumor recurrence [87].

Given the complexity of Par-4 pro-apoptotic action, it is possible to infer that the mechanisms triggered upon its activation are dependent on the cell type and the apoptotic stimulus that originate the response [98, 104]. Moreover, the Par-4-mediated effects on cell survival involve not only Par-4 intracellular levels variations but also the Par-4 molecules that are secreted to the extracellular microenvironment under some conditions. The next session will describe the Par-4 intracellular and secretory mechanisms in more detail.

5 Par-4 Intra and Extracellular Possible Mechanisms of Action in Breast Cancer

Par-4 is a very interesting pro-apoptotic molecule for a number of reasons: (1) Tumor cells seem to be more sensitive to its action than normal ones, (2) it is involved in key pathways related to the development of the majority of tumor types, namely NF- κ B, PI3K-AKT, Ras, and GRP78, and (3) it can act not only in the cells that received the apoptotic stimuli (intracellular effects) but it can also sensitize neighboring cells through its secretion (extracellular effects).

The first studies describing Par-4 functions were focused on Par-4 intracellular roles and showed its interference in the NF- κ B pathway. According to this model, Par-4 is activated by an apoptotic stimulus that is received by different cellular receptors such as growth factor receptors, estrogen receptors, namely in case of hormone depletion, GPCR (G-protein coupled receptor), and ionic channels. These stimuli lead to Par-4 upregulation that in turn promotes the NF- κ B inhibition and the co-parallel trafficking of Fas/FasL to membrane activating the Fas-associated death domain—Caspase-8 prodeath pathway. Interestingly, this mechanism seems to be independent on the levels of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL anti-apoptotic protein and activity of p53 and PTEN [108].

Additionally, the PI3K pathway's central molecule, the AKT, was showed to physically interact with and phosphorylate Par-4 inhibiting its apoptotic function [109]. In this context, PTEN, an important negative regulator of PI3K/AKT activation, can induce apoptosis by a Par-4-dependent mechanism. Since cancer cells generally express activated AKT as a result of PTEN loss, oncogenes upregulation, and increased growth factor signaling, the Par-4 apoptotic action linked to PTEN is lost, leading to NF- κ B activation. However, in cells that have an active PTEN, the AKT phosphorylation is inhibited, allowing the Par-4-mediated apoptosis [109].

Par-4 upregulation in response to PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway inhibition was observed in Her2-amplified breast cancer cells (BT474 and SKBR3) and breast cancers with activating PI3K mutations, which together constitute nearly half of breast cancer cases. In this context, AKT seems to be crucial for Par-4 apoptotic actions in a way that AKT inhibition is essential for Par-4 upregulation following Her2 inhibition [92]. One of the Par-4 effects observed upon PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway inhibition was the restriction of the residual cells survival [92], positioning Par-4 as an important target to circumvent the post-treatment survival of residual cells responsible for tumor recurrence and metastasis.

Another molecule described as a Par-4 regulator is PKA. The PKA activity is dependent on AMPc levels, and its expression is increased in various transformed and cancer cells compared to corresponding nontransformed normal or immortalized cells [110]. According to this model, cells with elevated PKA activity can have high levels of Par-4 phosphorylation at T155. The T155 phosphorylated Par-4 translocates to the nucleus where inhibits NF-kB activity and induces apoptosis. The high PKA activity in transformed cells can explain, in part, the higher sensibility of these cells to Par-4 mediated apoptosis in comparison to normal ones. However, it is curious to mention that in cells with the concomitant high PKA and high AKT activities, if Par-4 is also phosphorylated by AKT, the 14-3-3 protein binds to Par-4 blocking its nuclear translocation. This is one more evidence of AKT importance to Par-4 action fate [109, 111].

The Ras oncogenic pathway, another important oncogenic driver, is also involved in Par-4 regulation. When activated, this pathway is related to Par-4 down-regulation through two main mechanisms: (1) AKT phosphorylation in S473 and (2) ERK2 activation [107, 112]. Interestingly, in this context, Par-4 is also a negative regulator of AKT by promoting the ERK1/2 and PKC ζ down-regulation being the PKC ζ regulation made through a direct binding [107, 112]. PKC ζ is an AKT kinase (S473) also required for the nuclear translocation of NF- κ B [107]. Therefore, the Par-4-mediated apoptosis, beyond dependent on stimuli origin and cell type, could be more or less effective concerning the activated pathways in a determined cell context [113].

Additionally, to AKT and PKCζ interactions, other molecules that showed to have direct interactions with Par-4 in different cellular models were Twist, Dlk/ZIP kinase, WT1, Bcl-2, TOP1, and THAP1. Twist is an important transcription factor related to Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) and was described to induce histone modifications to repress Par-4 transcription in recurrent tumors [101]. The coexpression of Dlk/ZIP kinase and Par-4 in rat embryo fibroblasts is related to the relocation of Dlk from the nucleus to the actin filaments in the cytoplasm leading to cytoskeleton reorganization with morphological signals of apoptosis [114]. The Par-4 interaction with WT1, in the HEK293 human embryonic kidney cell line, is related to the inhibition of the transcriptional activation with the enhancement of the transcriptional repression activity of WT1 rescuing, even partially, the growth suppression mechanism induced by WT1 [115]. It was also shown, in prostate cancer cell lines, that Par-4 and WT1 proteins binding to Bcl-2 promoter decreasing its transcription [116]. The Par-4 direct binding to TOP1 in normal and tumor prostate cells leads to the suppression of DNA relaxation abrogating cell cycle progression and transformation [117]. Finally, the Par-4/THAP1 interaction, however little explored, could have important effects on the activation of the apoptotic pathways coordinated by the promyelocytic leukemia protein (PLP) as shown in human endothelial and cervical cancer cells [118].

The Par-4 apoptotic mechanisms aforementioned refer to its intracellular (cytoplasmic/nuclear) levels (Fig. 5). However, in last years, the Par-4 secretion by normal and tumor cells has emerged as an important mechanism by which Par-4 *per se* becomes an apoptotic stimulus. The first work describing the secretory Par-4 pathway was published in 2009 [88] and showed that Par-4 protein is spontaneously secreted by normal and tumor cells and that Par-4 transgenic mice have this protein in the serum. The Par-4 secretion occurs by the classical pathway involving the ER (endoplasmic reticulum) to Golgi network in a BFA-sensitive way. The Par-4 secretion and reception by adjacent cells are mediated by the stress response protein GRP78 followed by FADD/ Caspase-8/Caspase-3 apoptotic pathway activation as will be described ahead.

At first glance, the GRP78 involvement in apoptosis could be sound contradictory since GRP78 exists primarily as an endoplasmic reticulum (ER) protein with intracellular chaperone functions, that is upregulated in response to ER stress in order to diminish inhibitory growth signals and promote cell survival [119]. Nevertheless, according to the proposed mechanism, the ER stress induced by extracellular insults promotes the Par-4/GRP78 binding and translocation from the ER to the plasma membrane. Interestingly, unlike most of the previously described protein–protein interactions of Par-4 that are mediated by its coiled-coil domain, including the leucine zipper domain, the binding of Par-4 to GRP78 is mediated by the SAC domain [88].

The accumulation of Par-4/GRP78 complexes in the membrane leads to Par-4 secretion. The Par-4, now in the extracellular microenvironment, binds to cell surface GRP78,

from the same cell or the neighboring cells, inducing more ER stress and activating the loop for translocation of GRP78/ Par-4 to the plasma membrane. Moreover, ER stress also involves upregulation of the ER components, such as PERK, and activation of Caspase-8 in an FADD-dependent manner. Collectively, the secretory Par-4 reception and other molecules activate under ER stress, turn on the events that lead to activation of Caspase-3 and apoptosis (Fig. 6) [88]. This mechanism was originally described in prostate cancer cells and recapitulated in cervical and lung cancer cells [88, 120, 121].

As we can conclude from what has been exposed so far, the induction of Par-4-dependent apoptosis is complex and involves a myriad of up/downstream molecules, through direct/indirect regulation, that is related to different pathways that converge in some crucial points. It is also important to have in mind that the Par-4 action is consonant with the stimulus received by the cell, the cell type, the cell genetic background, and all of these aspects are associated with the cell compartment in which Par-4 is located. This bicompartmental function of Par-4 constitutes a challenge in the interpretation of the mechanisms of Par-4 action and increases the therapeutic significance of this cancer cellselective apoptotic molecule. In this context, some studies correlate the Par-4 expression and activity, especially in the intracellular environment, with the breast cancer cells response to chemotherapy, as will be reported hereafter.

6 Par-4 in Breast Cancer Chemosensitivity

The vast majority of cancer-related mortality in solid tumors is associated with the capacity of cancer cells to invade and colonize nearby or distant vital organs forming metastasis [122]. A line of investigation suggests that tumor recurrence and metastization is due to a population of residual cells that survive the surgery, radiation, and adjuvant therapy and serve as a reservoir for cancer recurrence [87, 92]. These residual cells are capable of leaving their primary location, disperse into the bloodstream, endure pressure in blood vessels, escape immune response, and acclimate to new cellular environments in secondary sites [123]. Consistent with this, as reviewed by Bednarz-Knoll et al. [124], up to 40% of breast cancer patients presented disseminated tumor cells in the bone marrow at diagnosis, and their presence and number following adjuvant therapy is a strong independent predictor of recurrence risk. Recurrent breast cancer, in turn, affects nearly 25% of patients, and is frequently resistant to the drugs used to treat the primary tumor.

The development of new therapies that can eliminate residual tumor cells or prevent their emergence is conditioned by the scarce understanding of the mechanisms under-



Fig. 5 Par-4 intracellular mechanisms. Upon an apoptotic stimulus, Par-4 is upregulated and can act in many different ways, consonant cell type and genetic background. The Par-4 upregulation can activate the Caspase-8 death pathway by inducing Fas/FasL translocation to the cytoplasmic membrane and/or interfering in proliferative cascades such as ERK pathway, reducing its activation. PKA activity is related to Par-4 phosphorylation and apoptotic activity. On the contrary, oncogenic molecules, like AKT, can physically bind to Par-4, impeding its nuclear translocation and apoptotic signalization. The AKT activity is enhanced when PTEN function is lost. However, in normal conditions, PTEN can regulate the AKT phosphorylation and induce the Par-4dependent apoptosis. The effects of Par-4 direct interaction with some nuclear molecules are shown. The DLK/ZIP, WT1, Bcl-2, TOP1, and

THAP1 interactions are related to tumor suppression acting in actin filaments organization, growth suppression, and apoptosis inclusive with the coordinate action with PLP (Promyelocytic Leukemia Protein) in human endothelial and cervical cancer cells, while Twist binding is related to oncogenic behavior due the negative effect in Par-4 transcription. Par-4 knockout cells present elevated ki67 activation that could be

related to an increased proliferation index. , actin filaments; , apop-

totic stimulus; A, binding; A, cell death; X, blockage; Act, activation; GPCR, G-protein coupled receptor; Prolif., proliferation; RTK, Receptor Tyrosine Kinase; Rep., repression; Supp., suppression; Transcrip., transcription

lying the long-term survival of these cells following treatment [92]. Interestingly, it was observed that in breast cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NAC), low Par-4 expression in primary tumors is associated with increased residual cancer burden [87]. Moreover, it was also showed that during breast tumor progression, Par-4 down-regulation seems to be a crucial mechanism for recurrence

and resistance to chemotherapy [87, 92]. These statements identify Par-4 as a potent-negative regulator of residual cell survival following therapy and suggest that approaches to enforce Par-4 expression in breast cancer cells may prevent residual cell survival, recurrence, and chemo-resistance.

Human cancers undergoing targeted therapies and models of oncogene-induced mammary tumors in mice follow the



Fig. 6 Par-4 extracellular mechanisms. Extracellular insults can cause the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, promoting the Par-4/GRP78 binding and translocation from ER to cytoplasmic membrane. However, this process could be inhibited by Brefeldin A (BFA) treatment that blocks the protein transportation from ER to Golgi. The accumulation of the complexes in the plasma membrane leads to Par-4 secretion. The secreted Par-4 could bind to the GRP78 from neighboring cells, including those ones that not receive any stimulus so far (upper right). In cells already stimulated, the secretory Par-4 induces more ER stress and activates the loop for translocation of GRP78/Par-4 to the plasma mem-

oncogene addiction phenomenon that predicts the regression of the majority of tumors to a non-palpable state upon oncogene down-regulation. However, preexisting cells with low Par-4 expression preferentially survive during tumor regression, and following a variable latency period recur activating alternative growth and survival pathways.

An interesting work by Damrauer et al. [92] in mice models showed that the inhibition of the PI3K-Akt-mTOR pathway, but not the Ras-MAPK pathway, is sufficient to induce Par-4 upregulation in Her2-amplified breast cancer, including tumors with PIK3CA mutation. According to this model, inhibition of Akt (by MK2206) is required for Par-4 upregulation following Lapatinib treatment and suggests that mTORC1/2 inhibition (by Torin 1) functions downstream of Akt to induce Par-4 upregulation. This upregulation is medi-

brane. The Par-4 received from the extracellular microenvironment activates the FADD/Caspase-8/Caspase-3 apoptotic pathway. Interestingly, the ER stress also leads to the upregulation and phosphorylation of some ER components, such as PERK, that could boost the activation of the FADD-Caspase-8 pathway. However, the mechanisms involved in these collective events for Caspase-3 and apoptosis should



ated by Foxo3a direct binding to the Par-4 promoter region and acts to limit the long-term survival of residual cells. The Par-4 upregulation following Lapatinib treatment was also observed in the breast cancer cell lines BT474 (Luminal B) and SKBR3 (HER2+) [92]. Another elegant study by Alvarez et al. [87] showed that Par-4 is down-regulated during tumor recurrence in mice and is a key event for this process in a way that elevated Par-4 expression in recurrent tumor cells might be incompatible with cell survival.

In the same line of thought, Par-4 down-regulation was observed in mice breast tumors that recur following chemotherapy (adriamycin plus cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel) and in human breast cancer cells that survive chemotherapy. In women with breast cancer, low Par-4 predicts an increased risk of recurrence and a decreased response to chemotherapy. Therefore, Par-4 levels assessment prior therapy could be an important marker of response and restoring its expression in recurrent tumor cells could result in growth arrest and apoptosis [87].

The Par-4 ectopic expression in human and mouse breast cancer cells that recur and were treated with targeted agents (e.g., Lapatinib) or chemotherapeutic agents (e.g., adriamycin) results in the multinucleation of cells that undergo p53 activation and show a ZIPK-dependent increase in MLC2 phosphorylation. The MLC2 phosphorylation increase disrupts the precise temporal and spatial control of MLC2 action that is required for the successful completion of cytokinesis leading to growth arrest and apoptosis [87]. In MCF7 breast cancer cells was demonstrated that Par-4 overexpression modulates the expression of genes involved in the Wnt pathway after Docetaxel (Taxotere) exposure [125]. The already described roles of Wnt and its downstream effectors in breast development [126-128] combined with the possibility of Par-4 interference in this pathway could be an important factor in the modulation of the cellular response to docetaxel treatment [125].

Moreover, it was described that upon re-expression, using an epigenome editing approach, Par-4 bind to the protein phosphatase PP1, leading to widespread changes in phosphorylation of cytoskeletal proteins, and cooperated with microtubule-targeting drugs (adriamycin/cyclophosphamide plus paclitaxel, docetaxel, and vincristine) to induce mitotic defects [101].

Par-4 has also been described as involved in response to inflammatory signals from the tumor microenvironment. The inflammation emerged as the seventh hallmark of cancer, presenting a new target for chemotherapeutic agents. In breast cancer, the tumor-associated macrophages constitute about 50% of the tumor mass and play an essential role in cancer progression and therapeutic response by secreting multiple inflammatory cytokines and growth factors that assist tumor cell malignant behavior in many ways [129]. In this context, piroxicam and sulindac sulfide are non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID) that decrease the incidence and progression of several types of cancer. In MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 cells, the conditioned media (CM) from human monocytes caused a significant increase in cell survival through a significant increase in Ras expression, which resulted in upregulation of inflammatory mediators, oncogenic expression, angiogenic and metastatic markers and down-regulation of Par-4. Treatment with NSAIDs produced a time- and concentration-dependent growth inhibition of CM-stimulated cells by inhibiting Ras, Bcl-2, VEGF-A, MMP2, and MMP9 expression, and activating the apoptotic machinery through upregulation of Par-4 and Caspase-3 [130].

Drugs, that are mainly used to treat other diseases, as 1,1-dimethylbiguanide hydrochloride (biguanide metfor-

min), also affect Par-4 expression. Metformin is a hypoglycemic agent that is widely used in Type 2 diabetes treatment and was found to be associated with a lower risk of cancer. It was suggested that metformin has an anticancer and antiproliferative effect and affects apoptosis by activating the AMPK and inhibiting the mTOR. In the MCF7 breast cancer cells, the exposure to metformin led to a dose-dependent increase in the Par-4 mRNA expression levels in comparison to the control group [131].

The Par-4 response has also been analyzed in the context of ayurvedic medicine, an ancient Indian medical system based on past writings that rely on a "natural" and holistic approach to physical and mental health [132]. The Withaferin A, which is a naturally derived steroidal lactone from Withania somnifera, has been found to prevent angiogenesis and metastasis in diverse tumor models [133]. The 3-azido Withaferin A (3-AWA), a semisynthetic analog of Withaferin A has emerged as a compound with anticancer potential [134]. It was shown that in cervical (HeLa), prostate cells (PC3), and breast cells (MCF7), the exposure to 3-azidoWA induces the Par-4 secretion in conditioned media, by classical BFA-sensitive pathway, resulting in cellular effects related to CTNNB1 [132] and MMP2 [121] roles. Relative to effects on CTNNB1, the 3-AWA treatment of MCF7 and DU145 cells consistently sequestered nuclear CTNNB1 and increased its cytoplasmic pool reducing its transcriptional activity. Moreover, 3-AWA treatment triggered robust induction of intracellular Par-4, decreased AKT activity, and rescued pGSK3b expression promoting CTNNB1 destabilization [132]. Concerning MMP-2, Par-4 secretion induced by 3-AWA treatment in HeLa and PC3 cells abolished the secretory MMP-2 expression and activity, decreasing the pERK and pAKT expression in a dose-dependent manner, and substantially inhibited the angiogenesis process in a mouse model [121]. The Par-4 interference in pathways involved with breast cancer chemosensitivity is illustrated in Fig. 7.

Conclusions and Future Perspectives

7

As can be concluded from the aforementioned studies, the Par-4 upregulation in cancer cells has important effects on tumor progression inhibition in response to chemotherapy. In line with these observations, Kim et al. [135] have engineered the Par-4 protein giving raise to the Par-4Ex protein entity, produced using the *Escherichia coli* expression system suitable for large-scale production. The Par-4Ex fully retains the pro-apoptotic activity of Par-4 protein with a substantial improvement in the biological half-life. Moreover, in vivo assays confirmed that Par-4Ex protein is more potent in suppressing metastatic tumor growth.



Fig. 7 Par-4 interference in pathways involved with breast cancer chemosensitivity. The Par-4 expression before the beginning of breast cancer treatment is inversely related to response and recurrence ratios. Upon AC + T (adriamycin plus cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel) therapy regimen, if Par-4 is upregulated, the treatment tends to be more effective while Par-4 down-regulation can be correlated with survival of residual cells and recurrence. However, the induction of ectopic Par-4 expression in recurrent cells is able to improve treatment through different mechanisms concerning the cellular genetic background and the therapeutic target. Some targets of Par-4 ectopic expression are p53, cytokinesis events, and PP1. Drugs related to other diseases, like metformin and the non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID, namely Piroxican and Sulindac), are related to Par-4 activation with consequent anti-tumoral effects. A natural and ayurvedic compound, 3-AWA (3-azido Withaferin A), also shows anti-tumoral effects interfering in

Summarily, Par-4 up- or down-regulation in different cell types interfere in key pathways as NF- κ B, Ras, PI3K, Bcl-2, GRP78, thus showing a certain consistency on the mechanisms involved in its outcomes. However, the Par-4 actions are not only related to fluctuations in its expression levels but also to the direct/indirect interaction with cell partners, whose availability is dependent on the cell type and genetic background, and to the cell compartment where the scene takes place. In this context, the Par-4 function as a potent death sensitizer in tumor cells associated with cell-specific variables dictates the type and extension of Par-4 actions. In terms of genetic therapy, these particularities could be used

ERK activation and Par-4 intracellular levels and secretion. The Par-4 secretion stimulated by 3-AWA supplementation occurs via the classical ER/Golgi/GRP78 pathway and is related to CTNNB1 retention in the cytoplasm, reducing its transcriptional activity in the nucleus and MMP2 secretion abrogation. The therapy targeted to HER2+ tumors with the use of Lapatinib in combination with inhibitors of AKT (MK2206) and mTOR (Torin 1) leads to an increase in nuclear Par-4 upregulation, mediated by the binding of the transcription factor Foxo3a, and culminating with apoptosis. Additionally, it is speculated that Par-4 modulates the Wnt pathway interfering in the breast cancer



to drive Par-4 expression in a cell type and tumor stagespecific manner.

Therefore, despite the complexity of Par-4 roles, a better understanding of its mechanisms of action in different cancer types is a central question. The Par-4 selective action in cancer cells is of great benefit for disease management since the side effects in normal cells can be considerably reduced. Moreover, the use of Par-4 as a therapeutic approach can bring immeasurable benefits related to chemoresistance circumvention in diverse cancer types. The way to reach this is not easy, but Par-4 may be the joker molecule for cancer prevention, prognosis, treatment, and maintenance of remission.

References

- Inman JL, Robertson C, Mott JD, Bissell MJ (2015) Mammary gland development: cell fate specification, stem cells and the microenvironment. Development 142(6):1028–1042. https://doi. org/10.1242/dev.087643
- Macias H, Hinck L (2012) Mammary gland development. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol 1(4):533–557. https://doi.org/10.1002/ wdev.35
- 3. Polyak K (2001) On the birth of breast cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1552(1):1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0304-419x(01)00029-4
- Brisken C, O'Malley B (2010) Hormone action in the mammary gland. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2(12):a003178. https://doi. org/10.1101/cshperspect.a003178
- Ghajar CM, Bissell MJ (2008) Extracellular matrix control of mammary gland morphogenesis and tumorigenesis: insights from imaging. Histochem Cell Biol 130(6):1105–1118. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00418-008-0537-1
- Jena MK, Jaswal S, Kumar S, Mohanty AK (2019) Molecular mechanism of mammary gland involution: An update. Dev Biol 445(2):145–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2018.11.002
- Russo J, Russo IH (2004) Development of the human breast. Maturitas 49(1):2–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. maturitas.2004.04.011
- Coughlin SS (2019) Epidemiology of breast cancer in women. Adv Exp Med Biol 1152:9–29. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-20301-6_2
- Parton M, Dowsett M, Smith I (2001) Studies of apoptosis in breast cancer. BMJ (Clin Res Ed) 322(7301):1528–1532. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bmj.322.7301.1528
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144(5):646–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2011.02.013
- Makin G, Hickman JA (2000) Apoptosis and cancer chemotherapy. Cell Tissue Res 301(1):143–152. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s004419900160
- Hansen RK, Bissell MJ (2000) Tissue architecture and breast cancer: the role of extracellular matrix and steroid hormones. Endocr Relat Cancer 7(2):95–113. https://doi.org/10.1677/erc.0.0070095
- Katz E, Streuli CH (2007) The extracellular matrix as an adhesion checkpoint for mammary epithelial function. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39(4):715–726. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2006.11.004
- Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Mathers C, Parkin DM, Pineros M, Znaor A, Bray F (2019) Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. Int J Cancer 144(8):1941–1953. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ijc.31937
- Rivenbark AG, Coleman WB (2012) Field cancerization in mammary carcinogenesis—implications for prevention and treatment of breast cancer. Exp Mol Pathol 93(3):391–398. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yexmp.2012.10.018
- Vargo-Gogola T, Rosen JM (2007) Modelling breast cancer: one size does not fit all. Nat Rev Cancer 7(9):659–672. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrc2193
- Bombonati A, Sgroi DC (2011) The molecular pathology of breast cancer progression. J Pathol 223(2):307–317. https://doi. org/10.1002/path.2808
- McSherry EA, Donatello S, Hopkins AM, McDonnell S (2007) Molecular basis of invasion in breast cancer. Cell Mol Life Sci 64(24):3201–3218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-007-7388-0

- Medina D (2005) Mammary developmental fate and breast cancer risk. Endocr Relat Cancer 12(3):483–495. https://doi.org/10.1677/ erc.1.00804
- Mucci LA, Hjelmborg JB, Harris JR, Czene K, Havelick DJ, Scheike T, Graff RE, Holst K, Moller S, Unger RH, McIntosh C, Nuttall E, Brandt I, Penney KL, Hartman M, Kraft P, Parmigiani G, Christensen K, Koskenvuo M, Holm NV, Heikkila K, Pukkala E, Skytthe A, Adami HO, Kaprio J (2016) Familial risk and heritability of cancer among twins in Nordic countries. JAMA 315(1):68–76. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.17703
- Colditz GA, Bohlke K (2015) Preventing breast cancer now by acting on what we already know. NPJ Breast Cancer 1:15009. https://doi.org/10.1038/npjbcancer.2015.9
- Knower KC, To SQ, Leung YK, Ho SM, Clyne CD (2014) Endocrine disruption of the epigenome: a breast cancer link. Endocr Relat Cancer 21(2):T33–T55. https://doi.org/10.1530/ erc-13-0513
- Nelson HD, Zakher B, Cantor A, Fu R, Griffin J, O'Meara ES, Buist DS, Kerlikowske K, van Ravesteyn NT, Trentham-Dietz A, Mandelblatt JS, Miglioretti DL (2012) Risk factors for breast cancer for women aged 40–49 years: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 156(9):635–648. https://doi. org/10.7326/0003-4819-156-9-201205010-00006
- Song M, Lee KM, Kang D (2011) Breast cancer prevention based on gene-environment interaction. Mol Carcinog 50(4):280–290. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.20639
- Kolak A, Kamińska M, Sygit K, Budny A, Surdyka D, Kukiełka-Budny B, Burdan F (2017) Primary and secondary prevention of breast cancer. Ann Agric Environ Med 24(4):549–553. https://doi. org/10.26444/aaem/75943
- Dall GV, Britt KL (2017) Estrogen effects on the mammary gland in early and late life and breast cancer risk. Front Oncol 7:110. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2017.00110
- 27. Russo J, Russo IH (2006) The role of estrogen in the initiation of breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 102(1–5):89–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2006.09.004
- Arnal JF, Lenfant F, Metivier R, Flouriot G, Henrion D, Adlanmerini M, Fontaine C, Gourdy P, Chambon P, Katzenellenbogen B, Katzenellenbogen J (2017) Membrane and nuclear estrogen receptor alpha actions: from tissue specificity to medical implications. Physiol Rev 97(3):1045–1087. https://doi.org/10.1152/ physrev.00024.2016
- Nagai MA, Brentani MM (2008) Gene expression profiles in breast cancer to identify estrogen receptor target genes. Mini Rev Med Chem 8(5):448–454. https://doi. org/10.2174/138955708784223503
- Ahmad N, Kumar R (2011) Steroid hormone receptors in cancer development: a target for cancer therapeutics. Cancer Lett 300(1):1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2010.09.008
- Lewis JS, Jordan VC (2005) Selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs): mechanisms of anticarcinogenesis and drug resistance. Mutat Res 591(1–2):247–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mrfmmm.2005.02.028
- Nathan MR, Schmid P (2017) A review of fulvestrant in breast cancer. Oncol Ther 5(1):17–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40487-017-0046-2
- 33. Adamo V, Iorfida M, Montalto E, Festa V, Garipoli C, Scimone A, Zanghi M, Caristi N (2007) Overview and new strategies in metastatic breast cancer (MBC) for treatment of tamoxifen-resistant patients. Ann Oncol 18(Suppl 6):vi53–vi57. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdm225
- 34. Hanamura T, Hayashi SI (2018) Overcoming aromatase inhibitor resistance in breast cancer: possible mechanisms and clinical applications. Breast Cancer (Tokyo, Japan) 25(4):379–391. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12282-017-0772-1
- 35. Lei JT, Anurag M, Haricharan S, Gou X, Ellis MJ (2019) Endocrine therapy resistance: new insights. Breast (Edinburgh,

- 36. Razavi P, Chang MT, Xu G, Bandlamudi C, Ross DS, Vasan N, Cai Y, Bielski CM, Donoghue MTA, Jonsson P, Penson A, Shen R, Pareja F, Kundra R, Middha S, Cheng ML, Zehir A, Kandoth C, Patel R, Huberman K, Smyth LM, Jhaveri K, Modi S, Traina TA, Dang C, Zhang W, Weigelt B, Li BT, Ladanyi M, Hyman DM, Schultz N, Robson ME, Hudis C, Brogi E, Viale A, Norton L, Dickler MN, Berger MF, Iacobuzio-Donahue CA, Chandarlapaty S, Scaltriti M, Reis-Filho JS, Solit DB, Taylor BS, Baselga J (2018) The genomic landscape of endocrine-resistant advanced breast cancers. Cancer Cell 34(3):427–438.e426. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ccell.2018.08.008
- Apostolou P, Fostira F (2013) Hereditary breast cancer: the era of new susceptibility genes. Biomed Res Int 2013:747318. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2013/747318
- Ghoussaini M, Pharoah PDP, Easton DF (2013) Inherited genetic susceptibility to breast cancer: the beginning of the end or the end of the beginning? Am J Pathol 183(4):1038–1051. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.07.003
- Anderson DE, Badzioch MD (1993) Familial effects of prostate and other cancers on lifetime breast cancer risk. Breast Cancer Res Treat 28(2):107–113. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00666423
- Lynch HT, Krush AJ, Lemon HM, Kaplan AR, Condit PT, Bottomley RH (1972) Tumor variation in families with breast cancer. JAMA 222(13):1631–1635
- 41. Peto J, Easton DF, Matthews FE, Ford D, Swerdlow AJ (1996) Cancer mortality in relatives of women with breast cancer: the OPCS Study. Office of Population Censuses and Surveys. Int J Cancer 65(3):275–283. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (sici)1097-0215(19960126)65:3<275::Aid-ijc1>3.0.Co;2-x
- 42. Smith EC (2012) An overview of hereditary breast and ovarian cancer syndrome. J Midwifery Womens Health 57(6):577–584. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1542-2011.2012.00199.x
- Easton DF, Bishop DT, Ford D, Crockford GP (1993) Genetic linkage analysis in familial breast and ovarian cancer: results from 214 families. The Breast Cancer Linkage Consortium. Am J Hum Genet 52(4):678–701
- 44. Miki Y, Swensen J, Shattuck-Eidens D, Futreal PA, Harshman K, Tavtigian S, Liu Q, Cochran C, Bennett LM, Ding W et al (1994) A strong candidate for the breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1. Science (New York, NY) 266(5182):66–71. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.7545954
- 45. Wooster R, Neuhausen SL, Mangion J, Quirk Y, Ford D, Collins N, Nguyen K, Seal S, Tran T, Averill D et al (1994) Localization of a breast cancer susceptibility gene, BRCA2, to chromosome 13q12-13. Science (New York, NY) 265(5181):2088–2090. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.8091231
- 46. Gorodetska I, Kozeretska I, Dubrovska A (2019) BRCA genes: the role in genome stability, cancer stemness and therapy resistance. J Cancer 10(9):2109–2127. https://doi.org/10.7150/jca.30410
- 47. Palma M, Ristori E, Ricevuto E, Giannini G, Gulino A (2006) BRCA1 and BRCA2: the genetic testing and the current management options for mutation carriers. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 57(1):1–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2005.05.003
- van der Groep P, van der Wall E, van Diest PJ (2011) Pathology of hereditary breast cancer. Cell Oncol (Dordr) 34(2):71–88. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s13402-011-0010-3
- Walsh MF, Nathanson KL, Couch FJ, Offit K (2016) Genomic biomarkers for breast cancer risk. Adv Exp Med Biol 882:1–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-22909-6_1
- Melchor L, Benitez J (2013) The complex genetic landscape of familial breast cancer. Hum Genet 132(8):845–863. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00439-013-1299-y
- Rudolph A, Chang-Claude J, Schmidt MK (2016) Geneenvironment interaction and risk of breast cancer. Br J Cancer 114(2):125–133. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2015.439

- 52. Dai X, Xiang L, Li T, Bai Z (2016) Cancer hallmarks, biomarkers and breast cancer molecular subtypes. J Cancer 7(10):1281–1294. https://doi.org/10.7150/jca.13141
- 53. Aleskandarany MA, Green AR, Benhasouna AA, Barros FF, Neal K, Reis-Filho JS, Ellis IO, Rakha EA (2012) Prognostic value of proliferation assay in the luminal, HER2-positive, and triple-negative biologic classes of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 14(1):R3. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr3084
- 54. Rakha EA, Reis-Filho JS, Baehner F, Dabbs DJ, Decker T, Eusebi V, Fox SB, Ichihara S, Jacquemier J, Lakhani SR, Palacios J, Richardson AL, Schnitt SJ, Schmitt FC, Tan PH, Tse GM, Badve S, Ellis IO (2010) Breast cancer prognostic classification in the molecular era: the role of histological grade. Breast Cancer Res 12(4):207. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr2607
- 55. Feng Y, Spezia M, Huang S, Yuan C, Zeng Z, Zhang L, Ji X, Liu W, Huang B, Luo W, Liu B, Lei Y, Du S, Vuppalapati A, Luu HH, Haydon RC, He TC, Ren G (2018) Breast cancer development and progression: risk factors, cancer stem cells, signaling pathways, genomics, and molecular pathogenesis. Genes Dis 5(2):77–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2018.05.001
- Fragomeni SM, Sciallis A, Jeruss JS (2018) Molecular subtypes and local-regional control of breast cancer. Surg Oncol Clin N Am 27(1):95–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soc.2017.08.005
- 57. Harbeck N, Penault-Llorca F, Cortes J, Gnant M, Houssami N, Poortmans P, Ruddy K, Tsang J, Cardoso F (2019) Breast cancer. Nat Rev Dis Primers 5(1):66. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41572-019-0111-2
- Perou CM, Sorlie T, Eisen MB, van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Rees CA, Pollack JR, Ross DT, Johnsen H, Akslen LA, Fluge O, Pergamenschikov A, Williams C, Zhu SX, Lonning PE, Borresen-Dale AL, Brown PO, Botstein D (2000) Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature 406(6797):747–752. https://doi. org/10.1038/35021093
- 59. Sorlie T, Perou CM, Tibshirani R, Aas T, Geisler S, Johnsen H, Hastie T, Eisen MB, van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Thorsen T, Quist H, Matese JC, Brown PO, Botstein D, Lonning PE, Borresen-Dale AL (2001) Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(19):10869–10874. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.191367098
- Ahn SG, Kim SJ, Kim C, Jeong J (2016) Molecular classification of triple-negative breast cancer. J Breast Cancer 19(3):223–230. https://doi.org/10.4048/jbc.2016.19.3.223
- Bernhardt SM, Dasari P, Walsh D, Townsend AR, Price TJ, Ingman WV (2016) Hormonal modulation of breast cancer gene expression: implications for intrinsic subtyping in premenopausal women. Front Oncol 6:241. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fonc.2016.00241
- Kwa M, Makris A, Esteva FJ (2017) Clinical utility of geneexpression signatures in early stage breast cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 14(10):595–610. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2017.74
- Goncalves R, Bose R (2013) Using multigene tests to select treatment for early-stage breast cancer. J Natl Comp Cancer Netw 11(2):174–182.; quiz 182. https://doi.org/10.6004/ jnccn.2013.0025
- 64. Vieira AF, Schmitt F (2018) An update on breast cancer multigene prognostic tests-emergent clinical biomarkers. Front Med 5:248. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2018.00248
- 65. Cheang MC, Chia SK, Voduc D, Gao D, Leung S, Snider J, Watson M, Davies S, Bernard PS, Parker JS, Perou CM, Ellis MJ, Nielsen TO (2009) Ki67 index, HER2 status, and prognosis of patients with luminal B breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 101(10):736–750. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djp082
- 66. de Azambuja E, Cardoso F, de Castro G, Jr, Colozza M, Mano MS, Durbecq V, Sotiriou C, Larsimont D, Piccart-Gebhart MJ, Paesmans M (2007) Ki-67 as prognostic marker in early breast cancer: a meta-analysis of published studies involving

12,155 patients. Br J Cancer 96 (10):1504–1513. doi:https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603756

- Haibe-Kains B, Desmedt C, Loi S, Culhane AC, Bontempi G, Quackenbush J, Sotiriou C (2012) A three-gene model to robustly identify breast cancer molecular subtypes. J Natl Cancer Inst 104(4):311–325. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djr545
- Kunheri B, Raj RV, Vijaykumar DK, Pavithran K (2020) Impact of St. Gallen surrogate classification for intrinsic breast cancer subtypes on disease features, recurrence, and survival in South Indian patients. Indian J Cancer 57(1):49–54. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijc. IJC_437_18
- 69. Burstein HJ, Temin S, Anderson H, Buchholz TA, Davidson NE, Gelmon KE, Giordano SH, Hudis CA, Rowden D, Solky AJ, Stearns V, Winer EP, Griggs JJ (2014) Adjuvant endocrine therapy for women with hormone receptor-positive breast cancer: American society of clinical oncology clinical practice guide-line focused update. J Clin Oncol 32(21):2255–2269. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2013.54.2258
- Chamberlin MD, Bernhardt EB, Miller TW (2016) Clinical implementation of novel targeted therapeutics in advanced breast cancer. J Cell Biochem 117(11):2454–2463. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.25590
- Fornier M, Esteva FJ, Seidman AD (2000) Trastuzumab in combination with chemotherapy for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer. Semin Oncol 27(6 Suppl 11):38–45. discussion 92-100
- 72. Wolff AC, Hammond ME, Hicks DG, Dowsett M, McShane LM, Allison KH, Allred DC, Bartlett JM, Bilous M, Fitzgibbons P, Hanna W, Jenkins RB, Mangu PB, Paik S, Perez EA, Press MF, Spears PA, Vance GH, Viale G, Hayes DF (2013) Recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists clinical practice guideline update. J Clin Oncol 31(31):3997–4013. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2013.50.9984
- Weinstein JN, Collisson EA, Mills GB, Shaw KR, Ozenberger BA, Ellrott K, Shmulevich I, Sander C, Stuart JM (2013) The Cancer Genome Atlas Pan-Cancer analysis project. Nat Genet 45(10):1113–1120. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2764
- 74. Banerji S, Cibulskis K, Rangel-Escareno C, Brown KK, Carter SL, Frederick AM, Lawrence MS, Sivachenko AY, Sougnez C, Zou L, Cortes ML, Fernandez-Lopez JC, Peng S, Ardlie KG, Auclair D, Bautista-Pina V, Duke F, Francis J, Jung J, Maffuz-Aziz A, Onofrio RC, Parkin M, Pho NH, Quintanar-Jurado V, Ramos AH, Rebollar-Vega R, Rodriguez-Cuevas S, Romero-Cordoba SL, Schumacher SE, Stransky N, Thompson KM, Uribe-Figueroa L, Baselga J, Beroukhim R, Polyak K, Sgroi DC, Richardson AL, Jimenez-Sanchez G, Lander ES, Gabriel SB, Garraway LA, Golub TR, Melendez-Zajgla J, Toker A, Getz G, Hidalgo-Miranda A, Meyerson M (2012) Sequence analysis of mutations and translocations across breast cancer subtypes. Nature 486(7403):405–409. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11154
- 75. Stephens PJ, Tarpey PS, Davies H, Van Loo P, Greenman C, Wedge DC, Nik-Zainal S, Martin S, Varela I, Bignell GR, Yates LR, Papaemmanuil E, Beare D, Butler A, Cheverton A, Gamble J, Hinton J, Jia M, Jayakumar A, Jones D, Latimer C, Lau KW, McLaren S, McBride DJ, Menzies A, Mudie L, Raine K, Rad R, Chapman MS, Teague J, Easton D, Langerod A, Lee MT, Shen CY, Tee BT, Huimin BW, Broeks A, Vargas AC, Turashvili G, Martens J, Fatima A, Miron P, Chin SF, Thomas G, Boyault S, Mariani O, Lakhani SR, van de Vijver M, van't Veer L, Foekens J, Desmedt C, Sotiriou C, Tutt A, Caldas C, Reis-Filho JS, Aparicio SA, Salomon AV, Borresen-Dale AL, Richardson AL, Campbell PJ, Futreal PA, Stratton MR (2012) The landscape of cancer genes and mutational processes in breast cancer. Nature 486(7403):400– 404. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11017

- 76. Curtis C, Shah SP, Chin SF, Turashvili G, Rueda OM, Dunning MJ, Speed D, Lynch AG, Samarajiwa S, Yuan Y, Graf S, Ha G, Haffari G, Bashashati A, Russell R, McKinney S, Langerod A, Green A, Provenzano E, Wishart G, Pinder S, Watson P, Markowetz F, Murphy L, Ellis I, Purushotham A, Borresen-Dale AL, Brenton JD, Tavare S, Caldas C, Aparicio S (2012) The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups. Nature 486(7403):346–352. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature10983
- 77. Nik-Zainal S, Alexandrov LB, Wedge DC, Van Loo P, Greenman CD, Raine K, Jones D, Hinton J, Marshall J, Stebbings LA, Menzies A, Martin S, Leung K, Chen L, Leroy C, Ramakrishna M, Rance R, Lau KW, Mudie LJ, Varela I, McBride DJ, Bignell GR, Cooke SL, Shlien A, Gamble J, Whitmore I, Maddison M, Tarpey PS, Davies HR, Papaemmanuil E, Stephens PJ, McLaren S, Butler AP, Teague JW, Jonsson G, Garber JE, Silver D, Miron P, Fatima A, Boyault S, Langerod A, Tutt A, Martens JW, Aparicio SA, Borg A, Salomon AV, Thomas G, Borresen-Dale AL, Richardson AL, Neuberger MS, Futreal PA, Campbell PJ, Stratton MR (2012) Mutational processes molding the genomes of 21 breast cancers. Cell 149(5):979–993. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.04.024
- Desmedt C, Yates L, Kulka J (2016) Catalog of genetic progression of human cancers: breast cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev 35(1):49–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-016-9609-1
- 79. Stover DG, Wagle N (2015) Precision medicine in breast cancer: genes, genomes, and the future of genomically driven treatments. Curr Oncol Rep 17(4):15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11912-015-0438-0
- 80. Angus L, Smid M, Wilting SM, van Riet J, Van Hoeck A, Nguyen L, Nik-Zainal S, Steenbruggen TG, Tjan-Heijnen VCG, Labots M, van Riel J, Bloemendal HJ, Steeghs N, Lolkema MP, Voest EE, van de Werken HJG, Jager A, Cuppen E, Sleijfer S, Martens JWM (2019) The genomic landscape of metastatic breast cancer highlights changes in mutation and signature frequencies. Nat Genet 51(10):1450–1458. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-019-0507-7
- 81. Jiang YZ, Ma D, Suo C, Shi J, Xue M, Hu X, Xiao Y, Yu KD, Liu YR, Yu Y, Zheng Y, Li X, Zhang C, Hu P, Zhang J, Hua Q, Zhang J, Hou W, Ren L, Bao D, Li B, Yang J, Yao L, Zuo WJ, Zhao S, Gong Y, Ren YX, Zhao YX, Yang YS, Niu Z, Cao ZG, Stover DG, Verschraegen C, Kaklamani V, Daemen A, Benson JR, Takabe K, Bai F, Li DQ, Wang P, Shi L, Huang W, Shao ZM (2019) Genomic and transcriptomic landscape of triple-negative breast cancers: subtypes and treatment strategies. Cancer Cell 35(3):428–440. e425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2019.02.001
- 82. Liu H, Murphy CJ, Karreth FA, Emdal KB, White FM, Elemento O, Toker A, Wulf GM, Cantley LC (2018) Identifying and targeting sporadic oncogenic genetic aberrations in mouse models of triple-negative breast cancer. Cancer Discov 8(3):354–369. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.Cd-17-0679
- 83. Mendez-Lopez LF, Zapata-Benavides P, Zavala-Pompa A, Aguado-Barrera ME, Pacheco-Calleros J, Rodriguez-Padilla C, Cerda-Flores RM, Cortes-Gutierrez EI, Davila-Rodriguez MI (2010) Immunohistochemical analysis of prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) in Mexican women with breast cancer: a preliminary study. Arch Med Res 41(4):261–268. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2010.05.005
- 84. Nagai MA, Gerhard R, Salaorni S, Fregnani JH, Nonogaki S, Netto MM, Soares FA (2010) Down-regulation of the candidate tumor suppressor gene PAR-4 is associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer. Int J Oncol 37(1):41–49. https://doi.org/10.3892/ ijo_00000651
- 85. Zapata-Benavides P, Mendez-Vazquez JL, Gonzalez-Rocha TR, Zamora-Avila DE, Franco-Molina MA, Garza-Garza R, Rodriguez-Padilla C (2009) Expression of prostate apoptosis response (Par-4) is associated with progesterone receptor in breast

cancer. Arch Med Res 40(7):595-599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. arcmed.2009.08.007

- 86. Satherley LK, Sun PH, Ji KE, Mason M, Hargest R, Jiang WG, Ye L (2016) Prostate Apoptosis Response-4 (PAR4) suppresses growth and invasion of breast cancer cells and is positively associated with patient survival. Anticancer Res 36(3):1227–1235
- Alvarez JV, Pan TC, Ruth J, Feng Y, Zhou A, Pant D, Grimley JS, Wandless TJ, Demichele A, Chodosh LA (2013) Par-4 down-regulation promotes breast cancer recurrence by preventing multinucleation following targeted therapy. Cancer Cell 24(1):30–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2013.05.007
- Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR, Rangnekar VM (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138(2):377–388. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.022
- El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23(16):5516–5525. https://doi.org/10.1128/ mcb.23.16.5516-5525.2003
- 90. Sells SF, Han SS, Muthukkumar S, Maddiwar N, Johnstone R, Boghaert E, Gillis D, Liu G, Nair P, Monnig S, Collini P, Mattson MP, Sukhatme VP, Zimmer SG, Wood DP Jr, McRoberts JW, Shi Y, Rangnekar VM (1997) Expression and function of the leucine zipper protein Par-4 in apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 17(7):3823–3832. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.17.7.3823
- 91. Libich DS, Schwalbe M, Kate S, Venugopal H, Claridge JK, Edwards PJB, Dutta K, Pascal SM (2009) Intrinsic disorder and coiled-coil formation in prostate apoptosis response factor 4. FEBS J 276(14):3710–3728. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07087.x
- 92. Damrauer JS, Phelps SN, Amuchastegui K, Lupo R, Mabe NW, Walens A, Kroger BR, Alvarez JV (2018) Foxo-dependent Par-4 upregulation prevents long-term survival of residual cells following PI3K-Akt inhibition. Mol Cancer Res 16(4):599–609. https:// doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.Mcr-17-0492
- Pereira MC, de Bessa-Garcia SA, Burikhanov R, Pavanelli AC, Antunes L, Rangnekar VM, Nagai MA (2013) Prostate apoptosis response-4 is involved in the apoptosis response to docetaxel in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Int J Oncol 43(2):531–538. https://doi. org/10.3892/ijo.2013.1983
- 94. Casolari DA, Pereira MC, de Bessa Garcia SA, Nagai MA (2011) Insulin-like growth factor-1 and 17β-estradiol down-regulate prostate apoptosis response-4 expression in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Int J Mol Med 28(3):337–342. https://doi.org/10.3892/ ijmm.2011.691
- El-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (2003) Apoptosis by Par-4 in cancer and neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Cell Res 283(1):51–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0014-4827(02)00016-2
- 96. Kyprianou N, English HF, Davidson NE, Isaacs JT (1991) Programmed cell death during regression of the MCF-7 human breast cancer following estrogen ablation. Cancer Res 51(1):162–166
- Gurumurthy S, Rangnekar VM (2004) Par-4 inducible apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. J Cell Biochem 91(3):504–512. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jcb.20000
- Chaudhry P, Singh M, Parent S, Asselin E (2012) Prostate apoptosis response 4 (Par-4), a novel substrate of caspase-3 during apoptosis activation. Mol Cell Biol 32(4):826–839. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.06321-11
- 99. Tiruttani Subhramanyam UK, Kubicek J, Eidhoff UB, Labahn J (2017) Structural basis for the regulatory interactions of proapoptotic Par-4. Cell Death Differ 24(9):1540–1547. https://doi. org/10.1038/cdd.2017.76
- 100. Clark AM, Ponniah K, Warden MS, Raitt EM, Yawn AC, Pascal SM (2018) pH-Induced folding of the caspase-cleaved Par-4

tumor suppressor: evidence of structure outside of the coiled coil domain. Biomol Ther 8(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/biom8040162

- 101. Mabe NW, Fox DB, Lupo R, Decker AE, Phelps SN, Thompson JW, Alvarez JV (2018) Epigenetic silencing of tumor suppressor Par-4 promotes chemoresistance in recurrent breast cancer. J Clin Invest 128(10):4413–4428. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci99481
- 102. Moreno-Bueno G, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Collado M, Tendero MJ, Rodriguez-Pinilla SM, Garcia-Cao I, Hardisson D, Diaz-Meco MT, Moscat J, Serrano M, Palacios J (2007) Inactivation of the candidate tumor suppressor par-4 in endometrial cancer. Cancer Res 67(5):1927–1934. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. Can-06-2687
- 103. Guo H, Treude F, Kramer OH, Luscher B, Hartkamp J (2019) PAR-4 overcomes chemoresistance in breast cancer cells by antagonizing cIAP1. Sci Rep 9(1):8755. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-019-45209-9
- 104. Clark AM, Ponniah K, Warden MS, Raitt EM, Smith BG, Pascal SM (2019) Tetramer formation by the caspase-activated fragment of the Par-4 tumor suppressor. FEBS J 286(20):4060–4073. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.14955
- 105. Garcia-Cao I, Duran A, Collado M, Carrascosa MJ, Martin-Caballero J, Flores JM, Diaz-Meco MT, Moscat J, Serrano M (2005) Tumour-suppression activity of the proapoptotic regulator Par4. EMBO Rep 6(6):577–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.embor.7400421
- 106. Zhao Y, Burikhanov R, Qiu S, Lele SM, Jennings CD, Bondada S, Spear B, Rangnekar VM (2007) Cancer resistance in transgenic mice expressing the SAC module of Par-4. Cancer Res 67(19):9276–9285. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. Can-07-2124
- 107. Joshi J, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Galvez A, Amanchy R, Linares JF, Duran A, Pathrose P, Leitges M, Canamero M, Collado M, Salas C, Serrano M, Moscat J, Diaz-Meco MT (2008) Par4 inhibits Akt and suppresses Ras-induced lung tumorigenesis. EMBO J 27(16):2181–2193. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2008.149
- 108. Chakraborty M, Qiu SG, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2001) Par-4 drives trafficking and activation of Fas and Fasl to induce prostate cancer cell apoptosis and tumor regression. Cancer Res 61(19):7255–7263
- 109. Goswami A, Burikhanov R, de Thonel A, Fujita N, Goswami M, Zhao Y, Eriksson JE, Tsuruo T, Rangnekar VM (2005) Binding and phosphorylation of par-4 by akt is essential for cancer cell survival. Mol Cell 20(1):33–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molcel.2005.08.016
- 110. Gurumurthy S, Goswami A, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase A is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25(3):1146–1161. https://doi. org/10.1128/mcb.25.3.1146-1161.2005
- 111. Goswami A, Ranganathan P, Rangnekar VM (2006) The phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt1/Par-4 axis: a cancer-selective therapeutic target. Cancer Res 66(6):2889–2892. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-05-4458
- 112. Qiu SG, Krishnan S, el-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (1999) Negative regulation of Par-4 by oncogenic Ras is essential for cellular transformation. Oncogene 18(50):7115–7123. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.onc.1203199
- 113. Affar B, Luke MP, Gay F, Calvo D, Sui G, Weiss RS, Li E, Shi Y (2006) Targeted ablation of Par-4 reveals a cell type-specific susceptibility to apoptosis-inducing agents. Cancer Res 66(7):3456– 3462. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-05-0964
- 114. Page G, Kogel D, Rangnekar V, Scheidtmann KH (1999) Interaction partners of Dlk/ZIP kinase: co-expression of Dlk/ ZIP kinase and Par-4 results in cytoplasmic retention and apoptosis. Oncogene 18(51):7265–7273. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.onc.1203170

- 115. Johnstone RW, See RH, Sells SF, Wang J, Muthukkumar S, Englert C, Haber DA, Licht JD, Sugrue SP, Roberts T, Rangnekar VM, Shi Y (1996) A novel repressor, par-4, modulates transcription and growth suppression functions of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Mol Cell Biol 16(12):6945–6956. https://doi.org/10.1128/ mcb.16.12.6945
- 116. Cheema SK, Mishra SK, Rangnekar VM, Tari AM, Kumar R, Lopez-Berestein G (2003) Par-4 transcriptionally regulates Bcl-2 through a WT1-binding site on the bcl-2 promoter. J Biol Chem 278(22):19995–20005. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M205865200
- 117. Goswami A, Qiu S, Dexheimer TS, Ranganathan P, Burikhanov R, Pommier Y, Rangnekar VM (2008) Par-4 binds to topoisomerase 1 and attenuates its DNA relaxation activity. Cancer Res 68(15):6190–6198. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. Can-08-0831
- 118. Roussigne M, Cayrol C, Clouaire T, Amalric F, Girard J-P (2003) THAP1 is a nuclear proapoptotic factor that links prostateapoptosis-response-4 (Par-4) to PML nuclear bodies. Oncogene 22(16):2432–2442. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1206271
- Gopal U, Pizzo SV (2020) Cell surface GRP78 signaling: An emerging role as a transcriptional modulator in cancer. J Cell Physiol. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.30030
- 120. Park MA, Zhang G, Martin AP, Hamed H, Mitchell C, Hylemon PB, Graf M, Rahmani M, Ryan K, Liu X, Spiegel S, Norris J, Fisher PB, Grant S, Dent P (2008) Vorinostat and sorafenib increase ER stress, autophagy and apoptosis via ceramide-dependent CD95 and PERK activation. Cancer Biol Ther 7(10):1648–1662. https://doi.org/10.4161/cbt.7.10.6623
- 121. Rah B, Amin H, Yousuf K, Khan S, Jamwal G, Mukherjee D, Goswami A (2012) A novel MMP-2 inhibitor 3-azidowithaferin A (3-azidoWA) abrogates cancer cell invasion and angiogenesis by modulating extracellular Par-4. PLoS One 7(9):e44039. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044039
- 122. Dillekas H, Rogers MS, Straume O (2019) Are 90% of deaths from cancer caused by metastases? Cancer Med 8(12):5574–5576. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.2474
- Massague J, Obenauf AC (2016) Metastatic colonization by circulating tumour cells. Nature 529(7586):298–306. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature17038
- 124. Bednarz-Knoll N, Alix-Panabieres C, Pantel K (2011) Clinical relevance and biology of circulating tumor cells. Breast Cancer Res 13(6):228. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr2940
- 125. de Bessa Garcia SA, Pavanelli AC, Cruz EMN, Nagai MA (2017) Prostate apoptosis response 4 (PAR4) expression modulates WNT signaling pathways in MCF7 breast cancer cells: A possible mechanism underlying PAR4-mediated docetaxel chemosensitivity. Int J Mol Med 39(4):809–818. https://doi.org/10.3892/ ijmm.2017.2900

- 126. Mukherjee N, Bhattacharya N, Alam N, Roy A, Roychoudhury S, Panda CK (2012) Subtypespecific alterations of the Wnt signaling pathway in breast cancer: clinical and prognostic significance. Cancer Sci 103(2):210–220. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2011.02131.x
- 127. Xiang T, Li L, Yin X, Zhong L, Peng W, Qiu Z, Ren G, Tao Q (2013) Epigenetic silencing of the WNT antagonist Dickkopf 3 disrupts normal Wnt/β-catenin signalling and apoptosis regulation in breast cancer cells. J Cell Mol Med 17(10):1236–1246. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.12099
- 128. Zhao Z, Lu P, Zhang H, Xu H, Gao N, Li M, Liu C (2014) Nestin positively regulates the Wnt/β-catenin pathway and the proliferation, survival and invasiveness of breast cancer stem cells. Breast Cancer Res 16(4):408. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13058-014-0408-8
- De Palma M, Lewis CE (2013) Macrophage regulation of tumor responses to anticancer therapies. Cancer Cell 23(3):277–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2013.02.013
- 130. Thabet NA, El-Guendy N, Mohamed MM, Shouman SA (2019) Suppression of macrophages-induced inflammation via targeting RAS and PAR-4 signaling in breast cancer cell lines. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 385:114773. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. taap.2019.114773
- 131. Salis O, Bedir A, Ozdemir T, Okuyucu A, Alacam H (2014) The relationship between anticancer effect of metformin and the transcriptional regulation of certain genes (CHOP, CAV-1, HO-1, SGK-1 and Par-4) on MCF-7 cell line. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 18(11):1602–1609
- 132. Amin H, Nayak D, Ur Rasool R, Chakraborty S, Kumar A, Yousuf K, Sharma PR, Ahmed Z, Sharma N, Magotra A, Mukherjee D, Kumar LD, Goswami A (2016) Par-4 dependent modulation of cellular β-catenin by medicinal plant natural product derivative 3-azido Withaferin A. Mol Carcinog 55(5):864–881. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.22328
- 133. Sudhir S, Budhiraja RD, Miglani GP, Arora B, Gupta LC, Garg KN (1986) Pharmacological studies on leaves of Withania somnifera. Planta Med 1:61–63. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-969072
- 134. Yousuf SK, Majeed R, Ahmad M, Sangwan P, Purnima B, Saxsena AK, Suri KA, Mukherjee D, Taneja SC (2011) Ring A structural modified derivatives of withaferin A and the evaluation of their cytotoxic potential. Steroids 76(10–11):1213–1222. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.steroids.2011.05.012
- 135. Kim K, Araujo P, Hebbar N, Zhou Z, Zheng X, Zheng F, Rangnekar VM, Zhan CG (2019) Development of a novel prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) protein entity with an extended duration of action for therapeutic treatment of cancer. Protein Eng Des Select 32(3):159–166. https://doi.org/10.1093/protein/gzz034



Role of Par-4 in B-Cell Hematological Malignancies

Sunil K. Noothi, Mary K. McKenna, Sara S. Alhakeem, James P. Collard, J. T. Greene, Natarajan Muthusamy, Vivek M. Rangnekar, and Subbarao Bondada

Abstract

Prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) was identified as a tumor suppressor protein that is silenced by promoter methylation in various cancers and has been shown to induce apoptosis selectively in cancer cells but not in normal cells. Par-4 interacts with a variety of partners in cells to mediate various cellular responses and appears to have a pro-apoptotic role in non-hematological tumors. Here, we summarize the literature on the role of Par-4 in hematological cells that is in contrast to its classic pro-apoptotic role. Par-4 is expressed basally in various hematopoietic cells and malignancies at the mRNA and protein level, but is predominant in the early stages of B-cell maturation and specifically in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). CLL B cells express higher levels of Par-4 than normal B-cell subsets and constitutively active B-cell receptor signaling (BCR) maintains high Par-4 levels in these cells, suggesting a novel regulation of Par-4 through BCR signaling. CLL cell growth is dependent on BCR signaling-mediated Par-4 expression, which is in part due to downregulation of p21 by Par-4. Bcl2 and NF-kB path-

Sunil K. Noothi and Mary K. McKenna contributed equally to this work.

S. K. Noothi

Department of Translational Research, Western University of Health Sciences, Pomona, CA, USA

Department of Microbiology, Immunology & Molecular Genetics, Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

M. K. McKenna

Department of Microbiology, Immunology, and Molecular Genetics, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Center for Cell and Gene Therapy, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, USA

S. S. Alhakeem

Department of Microbiology, Immunology & Molecular Genetics, Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

BioAgilytix, Durham, NC, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), Tumor Suppressor Par-4, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_8

ways cause differential regulation of apoptotic genes in contrast to non-hematological cancers, and Par-4 may also play a significant role in tumor microenvironment. Thus, Par-4 appears to have unique roles in hematological malignancies.

Keywords

Par-4 · B cells · B-cell receptor · Lymphoma · Chronic lymphocytic leukemia · Microenvironment · Tcl1 · Splenectomy · Stromal cells · p21

1 Introduction

One of the original hallmarks of cancer is to evade apoptosis and many cancers master this skill by down-regulating tumor suppressors and pro-apoptotic factors [1]. Prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) is a tumor suppressor that is found to be downregulated in many cancers including renal cell carcinoma [2], breast cancer [3], neuroblastoma [4], and also in about 40% of all endometrial cancers, where about 32% of

Department of Microbiology, Immunology & Molecular Genetics, Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA e-mail: bondada@uky.edu

J. T. Greene

Department of Pharmacology, Center for Immunology, Masonic Cancer Center, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, USA

N. Muthusamy Division of Hematology, James Cancer Centre, Ohio State University, OH, USA

V. M. Rangnekar Department of Radiation Medicine and Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

J. P. Collard . S. Bondada

Division of Hematology, James Cancer Centre, Ohio State University, Ohio, OH, USA

those cases were due to Par-4 promoter hypermethylation and occasionally due to silencing mutations [5, 6]. Early studies in lymphoid cells established that Par-4 expression is deregulated with decreased frequency of expression in immature or less differentiated populations and that an inverse expressional pattern exists between Par-4 and Bcl-2 in leukemic cell lines and acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) [6, 7]. Par-4 was originally identified by Sells and colleagues by its upregulation during ionomycin-induced apoptosis of androgen-independent and -dependent rat prostate cancer cells in 1994 [8]. Shortly after, using a yeast two-hybrid assay and HEK-293 mammalian cells, Johnstone et al. discovered that Par-4 interacts with the Wilm's Tumor-1 protein, a transcriptional suppressor [9]. Additional early studies found that Par-4 also interacts physically with atypical protein kinase c (aPKC) and overexpression of Par-4 in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts led to an apoptotic morphological change [10]. These initial studies defined Par-4 as a pro-apoptotic factor and tumor suppressor primarily in non-hematopoietic cells and suggested a similar role in hematopoietic cells. In fact, the first study to identify Par-4 as a pro-apoptotic protein in lymphatic cells showed that overexpression of Par-4 per se in the Jurkat leukemia cells is not sufficient to induce apoptosis but markedly increased their sensitivity to apoptosis with different chemotherapeutic agents [11].

The human Par-4 gene is located on chromosome 12q21 and contains 7 exons, encoding a 340 amino acid, 43-47 kDa protein [12, 13]. Par-4 is ubiquitously expressed in tissues of different species and Johnstone et al. found that mouse Par-4 shows 83% and 91% identity to human and rat Par-4, respectively [12]. Interestingly, the leucine zipper domain, carboxy terminal region, and nuclear localization sequences (NLS) exhibit 100% conservation across species [14]. The leucine zipper domain allows Par-4 to interact with other proteins as either a homo- or a heterodimer. The nuclear localization sequences suggest that Par-4's function is dependent on nuclear translocation; however, in normal tissues, Par-4 is localized mostly to the cytoplasm [15]. The NLS2 sequence is very interesting in Par-4 as it is sufficient to allow nuclear translocation alone, but it is also part of a domain that is necessary for the apoptosis-inducing properties of Par-4, termed selective for apoptosis of cancer cell (SAC) domain [16]. SAC is a core domain of 59 amino acids in length and includes a threonine residue that is the site of phosphorylation via Protein Kinase A [17]. Activation of Par-4 through phosphorylation indicates that its function is tightly regulated by post-translational modification. PKA, a broad spectrum serine/threonine kinase regulated by cAMP signaling, is associated with cell proliferation, and is frequently overexpressed in cancer cells [17]. Par-4 is able to utilize PKA upregulation in cancer cells to specifically induce apoptosis of cancer but not normal cells [17]. This selective ability of Par-4 makes it an attractive therapeutic target. Additionally,

Par-4 is negatively regulated by AKT activity through phosphorylation at serine 249, which is located between the SAC domain and leucine zipper region [13]. Phosphorylation of Par-4 via Akt is required for cancer cell survival, as phosphorylation of Par-4 by Akt leads to binding of the chaperone 14-3-3, retaining[18] Par-4 in the cytoplasm [19]. Many studies have linked the pro-apoptotic activity of Par-4 to its ability to inhibit NF- κ B transcriptional activity. Activated Par-4 prevents PKC- ζ from phosphorylating I κ B, which is necessary for RelA translocation to the nucleus [10, 18, 20]. Another mechanism of NF- κ B inhibition is due to a direct repressive effect of Par-4 in the nucleus but the exact mechanism still needs to be elucidated.

Seminal studies investigating Par-4 function led to the discovery that Par-4 is secreted from most cell types and can induce apoptosis of neighboring cells [21]. PC-3 (prostate cancer) cells transfected with GFP-labeled Par-4 or SAC domain-GFP undergo apoptosis, but GFP-negative cells were also dying as measured through caspase-3 activation [21]. Par-4 secretion is independent of apoptosis. Par-4 secretion occurs through the classical ER-Golgi pathway as inhibition of the network with brefeldin A (BFA) blocked secretion [13, 21]. Par-4 secretion is associated with the ER stress response and was also found to associate with GRP78. a member of the heat shock protein family 70 (HSP70) that works to facilitate proper protein folding, prevent intermediate aggregates, target misfolded proteins for degradation, bind calcium, and serve as an ER stress signal regulator [22]. Burikhanov et al. showed that Par-4 and the SAC domain bind to GRP78 at the plasma membrane in response to TRAIL (tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand). TRAIL is a known ER stress-inducing factor and treatment of PC-3 cells with TRAIL led to increased GRP78/ Par-4 at the cell surface and induced apoptosis [23]. Initiation of extracellular Par-4-mediated apoptosis results in a feedback loop that promotes more translocation of Par-4 and GRP78 to the surface of the cell. More recently, Hebbar et al. have reported that an N-terminal 15 kDa fragment of Par-4 generated by caspase-3 cleavage is pro-apoptotic to cancer cells and released by cancer cells treated with chemotherapy agents [24]. With respect to hematopoietic cells at least two studies reported in 2004, before the discovery of the role of secreted Par-4, have demonstrated that expression of Par-4 in Jurkat cells promotes a complex interplay between the intrinsic and extrinsic pathway of apoptosis through molecules such as Apaf-1 and survivin [25]. Par-4 was also shown to sensitize neoplastic lymphocytes to ligation of a death receptor CD95 in the extrinsic pathway, thereby activating initiator caspases 8 and 10 which are able to directly activate executioner caspases 6, 7, and 3 [26]. We describe the unique role of Par-4 in normal and cancerous hematological cells in the following sections.



Fig. 1 *PAWR* expression in normal hematopoietic cells according to BloodSpot Database, Normal Human Hematopoiesis (Hemaexplorer). Log2 expression of the *PAWR gene* in subsets of immature and mature immune cells. Significance was determined by student *t*-test (**p < 0.001; ***p < 0.0001) (HSC_BM:Hematopoietic stem cells from bone marrow; early HPC_BM: Early hematopoietic progenitor cells from bone marrow;

2 Par-4 Expression and Function in Immune Cells

There are now a number of gene expression data sets available from various sequencing studies utilizing normal and malignant hematopoietic cells for data curation of individual genes. We investigated the expression of PAWR (Par-4) gene in normal hematopoietic cells (Bloodspot.eu: Hemaexplorer) [27] and found that it was highly expressed in immature and progenitor stem cells compared to mature counterparts with the exception of B cells (Fig. 1). PAWR expression was significantly higher in B cells compared to other mature lymphoid cells including CD4 and CD8 T cells as well as HSCs (**p < 0.01; ***p < 0.0.001). Consistently, PAWR was found to be most highly expressed in B cells within the hematopoietic hierarchical differentiation tree (Fig. 2). The elevated expression of Par-4 in B cells suggests it may play a unique role in B-cell neoplasms that we will discuss further in detail in Sects. 2, 3 and 4.

Similar to its role in non-hematological malignancies, Par-4 in hematological cells is involved in several protein– protein interactions including but not limited to protein kinase A (PKA) [17], atypical protein kinase C [28], Wilm's tumor 1 (WT-1) [9], death-associated protein (DAXX), DAP-like kinase/ZIP kinase (DLK/ZIPK) [29, 30] and THAP-domain protein 1 (THAP1) [31]. Par-4 interactions

CMP: Common myeloid progenitor cell; GMP: Granulocyte monocyte progenitors; MEP: Megakaryocyte-erythroid progenitor cell; PM_BM: Promyelocyte from bone marrow; MY_BM: Myelocyte from bone marrow; PMN_BM: Polymorphonuclear cells from bone marrow; PMN_PB: Polymorphonuclear cells from peripheral blood; mDC: CD11c+ myeloid dendritic cells; pDC: CD123+ plasmacytoid dendritic cells)[27]

with PKA, PKC, and WT-1 are similar to those in nonhematological cells and have been described in above cited references. Analysis of 62 untreated CLL patient peripheral blood and bone marrow samples showed a positive correlation between Par-4 and both DAXX and ZIPK proteins [29]. Phosphorylation of Par-4 and DAXX by ZIPK is involved in the nuclear pathway of apoptosis in promyelocytic leukemia (PML) oncogenic domains (PODs, nuclear domains that exist in all nucleated mammalian cells) through caspase activation. Simultaneous overexpression of DAXX, Par-4, and ZIPK proteins leads to more than a six-fold increase in apoptosis [32]. It has also been shown that a nuclear pro-apoptotic factor THAP-1 co-localizes with Par-4 in PML nuclear bodies (NBs) and that Par-4 is a component of PML NBs in blood vessels, which is a major site of PML expression in vivo [33]. PML nuclear bodies (PML NBs) are discrete membraneless subnuclear domains organized by the promyelocytic leukemia protein, PML, a tumor suppressor, with other client proteins. PML NBs function in promoting apoptosis by recruiting various pro-apoptotic proteins such as DAXX [34, 35] and p53 [36]. PML NBs were discovered through their disorganization in acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) and arsenic therapy-induced reorganization has been directly implicated in its eradication [37]. PML NBs like nucleoli and Cajal bodies are a type of liquid-like droplets of biomolecules, which self-assemble within another liq**Fig. 2** PAWR expression as in Fig. 1 but depicted in hematopoietic hierarchical differentiation tree [27]. See Fig. 1 legend for abbreviations



uid-the cytoplasm or nucleoplasm-and arise from a physicochemical process known as liquid-liquid phase separation, sometimes also called coacervation [38]. At the molecular level, weak, transient interactions between different proteins/RNA molecules with multivalent domains or intrinsically disordered regions are a driving force for this phase seperation [38]. Par4 is well known to interact weakly and transiently with a variety of proteins including various pro-apoptotic proteins including DAXX and p53 [39] which home into PML NBs. The structure of Par-4 has shown that it is basically an intrinsically disordered protein [40-42]. All these divergent properties of Par-4 should suggest an emerging theme of molecular interactions in organelles that do not have an enclosing membrane such as PML NBs to remain coherent structures that can compartmentalize and concentrate specific sets of molecules to orchestrate their function.

Par-4 and THAP1 have also been shown recently to form a protein complex by the interaction of their carboxyl termini and this complex competitively with Notch modulated alternative pre-mRNA splicing of cell cycle and apoptosis regulator 1 (CCAR1) inducing cellular apoptosis in Jurkat cells, a human T-ALL cell line [31]. Genome-scale sequencing has revealed that more than 70% of the genome is transcribed into RNAs that do not produce protein. These RNAs are called noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs). Within the last decade, by integrating transcriptome profiles with chromatin state maps, many previously unreported T-ALL-specific lncRNA genes were identified. Notch-regulated LUNAR1 [43] and ARIEL (ARID5B-inducing enhancer-associated) long noncoding RNAs [44] are a few that have garnered interest in T-ALL recently. A novel lncRNA, T-ALL-R-LncR1, discovered with whole-transcriptome deep sequencing from the Jurkat leukemic T-cell line was shown to be markedly expressed in neoplastic T lymphocytes of children with T-ALL. Further studies revealed that knockdown of this T-ALL-R-LncR1 facilitated the formation of a Par-4/THAP1 protein complex, resulting in apoptosis [45]. This suggests a novel role of Par-4 in lncRNA-mediated escape of apoptosis in T-ALL.

To investigate the physiological role of Par-4, Garcia-Cao et al. generated a whole body Par-4 knockout mouse. The average lifespan of Par-4 null mice is 18mo compared to 25mo for Par-4 WT animals with a 87% propensity to develop tumors [18]. These mice also exhibited normal Band T-cell development but do have a slight increase in total number of lymphocytes leading to an increase in spleen size [46]. The proportions of B and T cells were not changed in young mice lacking Par-4, nor were the memory subsets in each lymphocyte population suggesting that Par-4 does not play a role in B- or T-cell differentiation. Interestingly, the proliferative responses to BCR and TCR cross-linking were increased in Par4-/- compared to WT animals with increased B-cell proliferation associated with an increase in PKC-C activity. The lack of Par-4 in these mice led to hyperactivation of atypical protein kinases, blocking JNK signaling in CD4 + T cells that resulted in increased IL-4 production and skewed the null mice towards a Th2 response [46]. Of note, Par-4 deficiency in both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells resulted in increased IL-2 secretion post-TCR stimulation without changes in CD25 expression suggesting Par-4^{-/-} T cells have enhanced functional activity. These observations by Lafuente and colleagues suggest that Par-4 plays a role in regulating B and T lymphocyte function. Par-4 is abundantly expressed in various leukemic/lymphoma cell lines and THP1, a human



Fig. 3 Expression of Par-4 protein in various hematological cells; Mec1(human CLL); Ly3 and Ly10 (Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma); SUDHL6 (Diffuse Histiocytic Lymphoma); Raji and Ramos (Burkitt's lymphoma); CLL (Eµ-Tcl1 mouse); Thp1 (human monocytic leuke-

mia); Raw264.7 (murine macrophage cell line). Thp1 monocytes were differentiated into macrophages by treating with PMA which was accompanied by a decrease in Par-4 (Western blot on the right side)

monocytic leukemia cell line (Fig. 3, left part). However, expression of Par-4 is dramatically decreased with differentiation into macrophages by phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA) treatment (Fig. 3, right). When Par-4 is overexpressed in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb strain: H37Ra) infected macrophages, intracellular survival of Mtb H37Ra was significantly reduced, in part due to increased apoptosis [47].

3 Par-4 in B-cell Malignancies

B-cell malignancies encompass both lymphomas and leukemias. According to the 2016 SEER database, leukemia is the ninth most common cancer in the USA contributing to 3.8% of all reported cancer deaths [48]. As a cancer of the blood, abnormal leukemic cells accumulate and do not die, suppress the function of normal immune cells, and eventually outpopulate other hematopoietic cell types resulting in anemia. Leukemia may be classified as chronic (slow progression of mature cells) or acute (rapid growth of primarily immature cells) and can affect both the myeloid and lymphoid white blood cells. Patients that are diagnosed with acute leukemia will normally start treatment as soon as possible while patients with chronic leukemia may be placed under a "wait and watch" status until symptoms progress. Subtypes of leukemia include: acute lymphoblastic leukemia, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, acute myelogenous leukemia, and chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML). Specifically, CLL is the most common adult leukemia in the Western world and like all leukemias, patients are grouped into fast or slow progressing disease based on prognostic indicators. Many patients with CLL may live a relatively normal life without symptoms, while others may only survive months to years after diagnosis or treatment initiation. Patients with CLL do have an 82% 5-year survival rate but experts in the field classify CLL as incurable [49].

CLL is a highly heterogeneous disease in terms of clinical course as some patients may live decades past initial diagnosis and likely die from other complications such as infections, while others may progress more rapidly. This heterogeneity can be attributed in part to mutations found within the variable gene segments of the BCR [50]. CLL can be classified into mutated (M-CLL) and unmutated (U-CLL) forms, the latter resulting in increased BCR signaling, more aggressive disease, and worse prognosis. This BCR signaling pathway is a desirable target as it is required for the survival of malignant B cells and is constitutively activated in many CLL cases and B-lymphomas [51, 52]. Additionally, the microenvironment has been found to play a key role in promoting the growth of B-cell malignancies, including CLL, by providing proliferative signals and promoting drug resistance [53, 54]. BCR signaling and microenvironment make CLL a very complex disease to study and treat but also allows for new targets to be explored for therapeutic potential.

Primarily, Par-4 has been characterized in the context of a diseased state rather than healthy tissues but a few studies have investigated its expression in lymphoid cells. Boehrer et al. reported the expression pattern of Par-4 mRNA and protein levels in healthy donor peripheral mononuclear cells compared to patients with ALL and CLL. Par-4 protein expression was detected in 100% of the healthy mononuclear cells and CLL samples [7]. Conversely, Par-4 protein levels were detected in 50% and 70% of pro-lymphocytic leukemia (PLL) and ALL samples, respectively, suggesting that Par-4 protein is downregulated in less differentiated cells comprising PLL and ALL compared to more mature cell populations of peripheral mononuclear cells and CLL [55]. In the same study, the authors also reported that sorted B and T cells expressed the Par-4 protein consistent with the Par-4 mRNA expression patterns from gene expression databases summarized above. Analysis provided by Bloodspot database using the leukemia MILE study shows PAWR to be highly expressed



Fig. 4 PAWR log2 expression in various hematological diseases with indicated mutations. Figure is adapted from Bloodspot.eu analysis of leukemia MILE study [27]. (ALL: Acute Lymphocytic leukemia (ALL); AML: Acute Myeloid Leukemia; CLL: Chronic Lymphocytic leukemia; CML: Chronic Myeloid Leukemia; MDS: Myelodysplastic syndrome; T-ALL: T cell ALL; B-ALL: B cell ALL; t: translocation; inv: inversion; c:common; pre:precursor)

in CLL samples compared to other types of leukemias as well as normal bone marrow (Fig. 4).

Several studies have examined Par-4 levels in CLL leading to prognostic predictions. Initially, Boehrer et al. examined the levels of Par-4 in normal and neoplastic lymphocytes and found that all patients with CLL (n = 30) expressed Par-4 protein, but only 63% were positive for Par-4 mRNA expression suggesting that there may be a difference in Par-4 regulation in different types of leukemias [7]. Bcl-2 is a well-characterized protooncogene initially identified at the chromosomal breakpoint of t(14;18) bearing B-cell lymphomas. Overexpression of Bcl-2 is to be considered a crucial event in leukemogenesis/lymphomagenesis and is aberrantly overexpressed in CLL, follicular lymphoma (FL), mantle cell lymphoma (MCL), Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM), and one-third of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) [56]. Bcl-2 is unique among protooncogenes in that it is localized to mitochondria as a key regulator of the intrinsic, mitochondrial apoptotic pathway for specifically blocking apoptosis rather than promoting proliferation [57]. Bcl2 family of proteins are

also important in inducing drug resistance by many of the chemotherapeutic agents including the most recently approved Bcl2 inhibitor drug Venetoclax [56]. Bcl-2 is directly antagonistic to the actions of Par-4. It is evident that in non-hematopoietic cancer cells Par-4 is consistently downregulated and as such the effects of Par-4 on Bcl2 might be straightforward with respect to the intrinsic mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis. However, in hematopoietic cancer cells with a robust Bcl2 activity, the levels of Par-4 required to counteract it need to be different and this shifts the rheostat of pro- and antiapoptotic mechanisms intracellularly. Hence, these cancer cells expressing high Bcl2 might express more Par-4, but this amount of Par-4 is not amenable to apoptosis without additional stimuli. It is not surprising that synergistic and antagonistic drug combinations within a single lymphoma model led to uncorrelated levels of Bcl2 and Par-4 [58]. Previous studies had indicated that Par-4 and Bcl-2 are inversely correlated [59], but there was no relationship found between the expression of Par-4 and Bcl-2 protein expression in CLL patients. Next, Chow and colleagues found that CLL patients that lacked the




Fig. 5 Cartoon depicting the differences in the role of Par-4 in non-hematological vs hematological malignancies (Created with BioRender.com)

Imatinib targets BCR-ABL, C-Kit and PDGFR were still sensitive to Imatinib treatment and that, the response correlated with Par-4 expression [30]. Additionally, this study confirmed Boehrer et al. findings that there was no relationship between Par-4 expression and Bcl-2 in patients that did or did not respond to Imatinib treatment. Par-4 was also downregulated in the course of the treatment with Imatinib when cells underwent apoptosis after caspase-8 and -3 activation [30]. Lastly, Bojarska-Junak and colleagues assessed the expression of Par-4 in CLL B cells and found a positive correlation of Par-4 with Bcl-2, which is opposite of what is observed in non-hematopoietic cells (Fig. 5).

Par-4 was also positively correlated with DAXX (deathassociated protein), and ZIPK (zipper-interacting protein kinase) expression in CLL patients [29]. Additionally, Par-4 was found to positively correlate with LDH (lactate dehydrogenase) serum concentrations and was more highly expressed in CD38+ CLL patients who have a more aggressive form of CLL disease [50, 60]. These initial studies suggested that Par-4 in CLL may be regulated differently. Importantly, rather than being downregulated as shown in other cancers, Par-4 was found to be expressed in 30/30 human CLL patient samples [7]. These results were also confirmed in another study showing increased Par-4 expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of human CLL patients, compared to healthy donor PBMCs [61]. These surprising discoveries suggested that aberrant Par-4 expression in CLL is unique and is further discussed below.

4 Intrinsic Role of Par-4 in CLL

4.1 Par-4 Expression in CLL

B-cell receptor (BCR)

Even with the incredible discoveries made in the field of chronic lymphocytic leukemia over the last few decades, the cellular origin of the disease is still debated today [62, 63]. CLL cells distinctively express CD19, CD5, CD23, as well as surface Ig molecules [60]. CD19 is a surface antigen that is expressed on both normal and neoplastic B cells and is critical for intrinsic B-cell signaling through BCR interactions as well as BCR-independent signaling [64]. CD5 is also a cell surface molecule that is expressed on thymocytes, mature T cells, and B1 cells but not on conventional B2 population [65]. Previous studies have also indicated that CD5 is found on some activated human B cells that are autoreactive [66]. CD5 is thought to be a negative regulator to mitigate signaling in order to prevent over activation of signaling downstream of the TCR or BCR [67].

The co-expression of low IgM and IgD levels on the surface of CLL cells originally suggested that these cells arise from naïve antigen-inexperienced B cells [68]. Further studies classified CLL into two subgroups, M-CLL and U-CLL defined by mutations in the variable gene segments of the BCR indicating that 50–60% of CLL cells had undergone somatic hypermutation (M-CLL), leading to hypotheses that suggest CLL cells are derived from two cellular origins [69, 70]. Seifert and colleagues suggest that U-CLL cells are derived from unmutated mature CD5+ B cells as their IgV sequence is less than 2% different from germline, whereas M-CLL cells are derived from a distinct CD5 + CD27+ postgerminal center B cell [62]. An additional study investigating phenotypic markers found that CLL cells express more of an activated state (CD69 + CD25 + CD71+) independent of their Ig mutational status when compared to normal CD5+ B cells in humans, suggesting that CLL cells are mature antigen-experienced cells [68]. Antigen-experienced cells can be derived from cells that undergo somatic hypermutation within a germinal center or from extrafollicular responses, but may also develop in a T cell-independent manner which may account for CLL cells that have unmutated Ig variable regions [70, 71]. Further support for antigenexperienced B cells to be CLL precursors comes from studies that have examined the BCR repertoire in multiple CLL samples. It is well accepted that CLL cells have constitutive BCR signaling, but CLL cells also respond to antigen [72, 73]. Recent studies have found that 30% of BCR immunoglobulins within the CLL patient population are quasiidentical resulting in a stereotypy of BCRs [72, 74, 75]. This indicates that the malignant B cells from unrelated patients recognize similar antigens suggesting that there are a few common epitopes which activate CLL cells. Not many antigens have been identified to stimulate CLL cells, but one potential candidate is non-muscle myosin heavy chain IIA which is an intracellular protein that interacts with actin to provide cellular movement and therefore is considered a self-antigen [76]. This is interesting as B1 cells are thought to be self-reactive and respond to autoantigens supporting the idea that CLL cells are derived from B1 cells [70]. Cell autonomous signaling was identified in some CLL patients that express specific immunoglobulin variable regions which also associate with greater severity of the CLL disease. This is thought to be due to homotypic interactions of B-cell receptors with specific V region mutations [77, 78].

B1 cells are primarily found within the peritoneal cavity of mice but are also present in the spleen, albeit at a lower level [79]. As mentioned before, B1 cells express selfreactive BCRs but respond poorly to BCR cross-linking to prevent against self-activation that is suggested to be mediated through CD5 [67, 75, 79, 80]. B1 cells also express restricted BCRs with a predominance of V_H12 promoting B1 phenotype [81] and are known to produce antibody quickly in response to infection, primarily IgM, independent of T-cell help (similar to U-CLL) [82]. Additionally, B1 cells are divided into B1a (CD5+) and B1b (CD5-) subsets where B1a cells are the primary source of natural IgM production and B1b cells respond to antigens in mice [63, 79, 83]. It has been suggested that B1a cells serve as the normal counterpart for CLL cells [61]. Elegant studies by Rajewsky and colleagues, where conditional ablation of BCR signaling was combined with conditional activation of candidate downstream signaling pathways of the same cell in vivo, led to the

novel revelation that mature B-cell subsets may differ in their dependence on specific signaling pathways. Specifically genetic ablation of canonical NF- κ B signaling in mature B cells in mice severely impaired development of marginal zone B cells, but had only mild effects on follicular B cells [84]. Thus, Nf- κ B is a critical transcription factor for both B1 cells and CLL cells.

Adoptive transfer studies of young/early B1a populations into immunocompromised recipient mice led to the development of CLL-like disease [85]. CLL development in this study was independent of oncogene expression but a followup study was able to confirm that early B1a cells expressing the oncogene, T-cell leukemia 1 (Tcl1), also led to the development of CLL in recipient mice [86]. These authors did note that not all B1a cells result in CLL development, but were restricted to specific BCRs that were later identified to promote CLL growth [85, 86]. Additional studies favoring the B1a population serving as CLL normal counterpart provide evidence that both B1a cells and CLL cells secrete significant amounts of the cytokine Interleukin-10 that works to suppress the immune response [80].

Controversy regarding the normal counterpart of CLL has been focused on the inability to identify a human B1 population that is similar to mouse B1 cells [87]. Recently, reverse engineering has allowed researchers to identify a human B1 cell population within the umbilical cord blood and adult peripheral blood [88]. Rothstein et al. summarized evidence showing that mouse and human B1 cells share similar phenotypes and also express autoreactive antibodies that protect against infections. Seifert and colleagues compared normal CD5+ B cells from healthy human donors with both populations of CLL cells, M-CLL and U-CLL, and confirmed that CD5+ B cells are the normal B-cell subset that are most similar to CLL [62]. Additionally, a recent review also summarizes evidence that identifies B1 cells as the origin of CLL [89].

Interestingly, a case report involving a 65y male with stage IV CLL identified a "Side Population" of CLL cells identified through flow cytometry that were proposed to be precursors to leukemic development [90]. Ablation of these cells through vaccination after CD40L stimulation diminished the bulk of the disease 12 months after treatment. The "side population" of cells were CD5 and CD19 positive and thought to be similar to the cancer stem cell population characterized in other types of tumor models [91]. True identification of this "side population" would be of great benefit to determine if the likely B1 cells give rise to the malignant counterpart.

Intriguingly, one study investigated if CLL cells could be generated from self-renewing adults HSCs [92]. HSCs from CLL patients developed monoclonal or oligoclonal B cells that frequently expressed CD5. According to the Bloodspot database in Figs. 1 and 2, HSCs, B cells and CLL cells express high levels of Par-4 and it would be of interest to further investigate the role of Par-4 in B-cell development.

Because of these studies, McKenna and colleagues compared Par-4 expression in CLL cells to normal B1 and B2 subsets. Utilizing the Eµ-Tcl1 mouse which is considered to be the most representative model of human CLL [93–97], they measured Par-4 protein and mRNA levels in mouse CLL cells compared to wildtype (WT) mouse B cells. WT B1a cells expressed more Par-4 compared to the other B-cell populations in WT mice but only ~33% of the levels observed in CLL. Par-4 mRNA expression was also elevated in CLL cells compared to B-cell subsets, mirroring the levels of Par-4 protein expression. We further analyzed the B-cell subsets in the Eu-Tcl1 mouse to confirm that Par-4 expression was not dependent on the overexpression of the Tcl1 oncogene. We isolated different B cell subsets from 2mo old Eµ-Tcl1 mice that had no detectable levels of CLL in the peripheral blood and measured Par-4 levels compared to WT B cell subsets (Suppl. Figure 1C in ref. 61). B1a Eµ-Tcl1 cells expressed higher Par-4 protein levels compared to B1b and conventional B2 Eµ-Tcl1 cells. This finding was similar to what was observed in WT B cell subsets which continues to suggest B1a cells exhibit characteristics similar to CLL cells. Importantly, elevated levels of Par-4 were also detected in human CLL samples compared to normal B cells which are consistent with studies presented by Boehrer and colleagues in that most CLL samples have detectable Par-4 protein levels [7].

Furthermore, CLL is known to be more common in elderly with an average age of CLL patients being 71. Interestingly, we found that B cells from aged mice express more Par-4 than those from young mice (unpublished). This was unique to B cells since there was no such age-related increase in other tissues such as liver and heart but also consistent with other reports that B cells express more Par-4 than other cell types (Fig. 1).

4.2 BCR-Mediated Par-4 Regulation in CLL

High expression levels of Par-4 in CLL led to the investigation of its regulation. In spite of original observation about the increase in Par-4 upon ionomycin treatment, there are very few studies that examine signaling pathways that induce Par-4 expression. Since CLL cells have been shown to have elevated tonic BCR signaling [98, 99], McKenna and colleagues tested the hypothesis that Par-4 expression may be regulated by BCR signaling. The BCR pathway is required for the survival of both normal and malignant B cells despite their oncogenic activation, making it a therapeutic target in B-cell malignancies [51, 98, 100]. Kinase inhibitors targeting Src family kinases (SFK) [101], Syk [102], BTK [103], and PI3K [104] have all been proven effective in the treatment of CLL as each inhibit the required downstream sur-

vival signals. Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies such as rituximab have also been proven efficient with combination of other chemotherapies [105]. We therefore utilized FDAapproved therapies to target BCR signaling and examined their effects on Par-4 expression. Treatment with dasatinib (SFK inhibitor), fostamatinib (SYK inhibitor), and ibrutinib (BTK inhibitor) all led to a decrease in Eµ-Tcl1 CLL cell survival accompanied by a reduction in Par-4 expression [61]. Par-4 mRNA levels decreased after SFK and BTK inhibition, suggesting regulation at the transcript level. Additionally, Par-4 protein downregulation was replicated in primary human CLL samples after treatment with dasatinib and fostamatinib indicating that this is not unique to mouse CLL cells. shRNA knockdown of Lyn, the most prevalent SFK in B cells, also led to a decrease in Par-4 expression. The most compelling evidence that Par-4 is regulated by BCR signaling is by targeting Iga or CD79a which confirmed that Par-4 is downstream of BCR activation and regulated through this signaling pathway. Additional studies investigating the levels of Par-4 after ERK inhibition in CLL cells showed that Par-4 is further downstream of the BCR signaling cascade. These results provide evidence that a well-defined survival signaling pathway is regulating the expression of Par-4 specifically in B cells since downregulation of Par-4 was not observed after ERK inhibition in PC-3 cells as shown by McKenna and colleagues [61].

4.3 Role of Par-4 in the Regulation of CLL Growth Kinetics

The aberrant expression of Par-4 in CLL and regulation through BCR signaling leads to the question of the true role of Par-4 in CLL. Par-4 knockdown studies in two CLL cell lines (Mec-1 and OSUCLL) resulted in a reduced growth rate in vitro and in xenograft in vivo studies [61]. Par-4 knockdown in these cells lead to increased Akt phosphorylation and reduced Bcl2 levels concordant with previous literature [7, 106] and to promote prosurvival signaling and anti-apoptotic pathways. Studies investigating the reduced growth rate in Par-4 knockdown cells revealed fewer cells entering S phase but more cells in G1 phase suggesting a halt in the G1 to S transition and a unique increase in p21 expression. p21 is involved in different phases of the cell cycle, but primarily works to control the transition from G1 to S [107].

The reduced CLL growth with the loss of Par-4 was also confirmed by crossing the Eµ-Tcl1 mouse with a Par-4^{-/-} mouse. CLL development was significantly delayed in Par-4^{-/-}EµTcl1 mice compared to Par-4^{+/+}EµTcl1 mice leading to an overall improved survival [61]. Indeed, Par-4^{-/-}EµTcl1 spleen cells expressed higher p21 protein levels compared to Par-4^{+/+}EµTcl1 spleen cells providing in vivo confirmation of p21 upregulation observed in vitro using Par-4 knockdown

cell lines. In order for p21 to execute its function to block the cell cycle from G1 to S phase, p21 must be found in the nucleus of the cell [108]. Nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions of Par-4+/+EµTcl1 and Par-4-/-EµTcl1 spleen cells were examined and was found that Par-4-/-EuTcl1 cells had greater nuclear p21 levels compared to Par-4+/+EµTcl1 cells, further confirming that Par-4 knockout led to increased levels of functional p21 [61]. This novel finding in CLL is clinically relevant as a study investigating the expression of p21 in CLL cases and patients with Richter's syndrome found that 80% of CLL cases did not express detectable levels of p21 [109]. Forty-three percent of patients with Richter's syndrome did express detectable levels of p21. Cobo et al. analyzed the sequence of p21 in three CLL patients and 6 Richter's syndrome patients to find a germline configuration in all of them indicating that it was not mutated. Sequencing of the p21 gene in the Par-4 knockdown and knockout cells to confirm the mutation was not done, but an increase in nuclear p21 levels in Par4-/-Eµ-Tcl1 CLL cells was observed suggesting that p21 is still able to translocate to the nucleus and function in the regulation of the cell cycle that occurs in the nucleus [61].

Greene and colleagues investigated the effect of overexpression of Par-4 in CLL leukemogenesis in the Eµ-Tcl1 mouse [110]. They generated a B cell-specific human Par-4 overexpressing mouse and crossed it to the Eµ-Tcl1 mouse resulting in reduced accumulation of CD5 + CD19+ CLL cells. They went on to determine that Par-4 overexpression impedes Tcl1-driven NF- κ B signaling with reduced nuclear translocation of p65. This finding aligns well with the role of Par-4 and its known interactions with NF- κ B [111] and emphasizes the distinct roles of physiological versus increased intracellular levels of Par-4. It also provides further evidence of the pleiotropic roles that Par-4 may play in the development of B cell-specific CLL as well as in its surrounding microenvironment.

5 Par-4 in the Tumor Microenvironment

The original hallmarks of cancer proposed by Hannahan and Weinberg have been expanded to include the tumor microenvironment that promotes growth of cancer cells by avoiding apoptosis and evading immune suppression [112]. However, the dependence of cancer cells on a protective niche is a very old concept dating as far back as 1889 with Stephen Paget's "seed and soil hypothesis" [113]. Both solid and hematologic tumors are very heterogeneous and comprise of multiple different cell types such as stromal cells, endothelial cells, tumor infiltrating macrophages, and lymphocytes accounting for more than half of the total tumor cell mass. These accessory cells produce vascular growth factors and various cytokines and chemokines that support cancer cell growth [114]. Compelling evidence exists that recognizes the importance of the BCR signaling pathway, Chemokine (C–X–C motif) Receptor 4 (CXCR4) and Chemokine (C–X–C motif) Ligand 12 (CXCL12) axis, which are key pathways of CLL microenvironment cross talk [115]. The role of tumor microenvironment in the form of bone marrow or secondary lymphoid organs that can provide a unique niche for CLL proliferation is based on the following:

- (a) Primary CLL cells do not proliferate or survive in longterm in vitro cultures, but undergo spontaneous apoptosis even when conditions that support the growth of other B-cell lines are provided [116].
- (b) CLL cells proliferate primarily in secondary lymphatic tissues, where they form characteristic "proliferation centers," sometimes also referred to as "pseudofollicles" [117].
- (c) Deuterium (²H) labeling in patients with CLL demonstrated that lymph nodes are the principle site of proliferation compared to bone marrow or blood [118].
- (d) The unique gene expression profile along with Ki67 staining of CLL cells isolated from lymph nodes compared to blood and bone marrow-derived CLL cells [119].
- (e) BCR signaling targeted therapies as a drug class effect, induce "redistribution lymphocytosis" causing a rapid shrinkage of primarily lymph nodes with a transient increase in blood leukemic cell counts [120, 121].

The actual site of proliferation and the CLL microenvironment is still debated in the field. This could be because CLL cells are found within the peripheral blood, bone marrow, and other secondary lymphoid organs in which the malignant cell comes into contact with a variety of accessory cells depending on their location. Although studies in human samples find that the lymph node is the site of CLL proliferation; questions are still raised based on the dramatic splenomegaly observed in mouse models [118, 122]. Splenomegaly is indeed observed in human CLL patients at later stages of the disease but role of spleen as a secondary lymphoid organ during earlier stages of human CLL is not known, as it is not amenable to surgical interventions.

The CLL tumor microenvironment provides a physical location supporting the cross talk between malignant cells and accessory cells that inhibit apoptosis and also provide resistance to drug treatment [123]. CLL is a slow progressing disease and was originally thought to simply be an accumulation of cells with defective apoptosis, but recent studies using deuterium labeling have determined that CLL cells proliferate at a rate of 0.1–1% per day suggesting that CLL is a dynamic disease involving cell proliferation [124]. Pseudofollicular proliferation centers that are found throughout infiltrated tissues are the source of newly generated CLL

cells [125]. Within this area, CLL cells depend on stimulation through a functioning BCR as discussed above. It is well appreciated that some CLL cells may be activated through antigen-dependent manner and the microenvironment may be the source of antigen/stimulus [126]. Theses antigens are not specifically defined, but may include microbial antigens, natural antibodies, and autoantigens expressed by dying cells. As noted above cell autonomous signaling due to homotypic interactions of BCR may be involved in a subset of CLL patients.

The CLL microenvironment promotes cell-to-cell interactions with a variety of different cell types. Direct interaction between B-CLL cells and T cells via CD40 on B cells and CD40L on T cells provides a proliferative stimulus [127]. CD40 signaling in B cells induces expression of antiapoptotic molecules and proliferative signaling through AKT, ERK, TRAF, and NF- κ B. T cells also secrete cytokines such as IL-4, TNF α , and IL-2 that support CLL proliferation. Alternatively, the CLL microenvironment also supports immune evasion allowing CLL cells to dampen the immune function of cytotoxic T cells by secreting immunosuppressive cytokines like TGF β and IL-10 [127, 128].

Stromal cells derived from bone marrow or other secondary lymphoid tissues support the survival and proliferation of CLL cells [129]. This interaction provides a bi-directional cross talk that promotes the growth of both CLL and stromal cells. In cell culture, CLL cells actually migrate beneath bone marrow mesenchymal cells, a process known as pseudoemperipolesis, suggesting that this interaction is dependent on cell contact in order for CLL cells to survive. Cells known as nurse-like cells (NLC) can be found in the peripheral blood of patients that are derived from monocytes and become adherent in culture systems [130]. These cells express stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) that binds to CXCR4 on CLL cells to prevent spontaneous apoptosis and promotes resistance of CLL cells to chemotherapies. CXCL12 is also secreted by NLCs as well as mesenchymalderived stromal cells that attract CLL cells via CXCR4 towards proliferation centers within the secondary lymphoid compartments [131]. The phenomenon of "redistribution lymphocytosis" with BCR signaling inhibitors in CLL where mobilized CLL cells, devoid of their nourishing microenvironment in lymph nodes, die gradually has led researchers to propose a novel mechanism of action called "death by neglect" [121]. Similar to CLL cells dying in vitro, CLL cells detached from their supportive tissue microenvironment leads to anoikis, a form of programmed cell death [132]. It is interesting to note that BCR signaling inhibitor, specifically the Bruton tyrosine kinase (Btk) inhibitor, ibrutinib inhibits not only the BCR signaling in the CLL cells but also signaling of other cell surface receptors including chemokine receptors and adhesion molecules [133, 134]. This has been proposed to be the mechanism of redistribution

lymphocytosis which is also seen in the other classes of BCR signaling inhibitors such as phosphoinositol 3 kinase (PI3K) inhibitor, idelalisib, and inhibitors of SYK and PI3Kδ which are involved in signal transduction pathways of chemokine receptors and adhesion molecules [135, 136]. Redistribution lymphocytosis does not cause any adverse symptoms and resolves over time. Ibrutinib is also known to cause redistribution lymphocytosis in mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) [137], Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM) [138] and DLBCL. However, activated B-cell-like (ABC) subtype of DLBCL cells are exquisitely sensitive to ibrutinib but not GCB-DLBCL. This is interesting because ABC-DLBCL are known to have chronic active BCR signaling [139] and use an amplified prosurvival NF-κB signaling [140].

There are very few studies looking at the role of Par-4 in tumor microenvironment of hematological malignancies. In solid tumors, the role of secreted Par-4 is gaining increased attention since it was discovered to be secreted extracellularly and to act exclusively on cancer cells in a paracrine manner and preventing metastasis [141–144]. Cancerassociated fibroblasts (CAFs) in contrast to normal fibroblasts were modified through an miRNA-dependent (mir-7) pathway to dramatically reduce the secretion of Par-4. Inhibition of mir-7 expression in CAFs induced them to convert back to normal fibroblasts [145].

Chronic active BCR signaling results in constitutive activation of NF- κ B and PI3K pathways, both of which are regulated by Par-4 as discussed initially [61, 110]. Antigen-independent tonic BCR signaling supports survival of malignant B cells primarily through the PI3K–AKT–mTOR pathway which is also closely linked to Par-4. These pathways are again involved in regulating homing of malignant cells and retention of proliferating cells in a supportive niche as evidenced by novel BCR inhibitors causing "redistribution lymphocytosis." Hence, it is not over-arching to hypothesize that aberrant levels of Par-4 in hematological malignancies like CLL alter the balance required to inhibit tumorogenic signals.

As summarized above, CLL cells overexpress Par-4 compared to its levels in normal B-cell subsets [61]. Additionally, CLL cells secrete Par-4 that can induce apoptosis of other cancer cell lines. This led us to question if Par-4 from CLL cells is able to manipulate the microenvironment's ability to promote or delay CLL growth. Studies in our laboratory have confirmed that the spleen is the primary site of CLL tumor growth in the primary Eµ-Tcl1 mouse model of CLL as well as in adoptive transfer recipients as splenectomy dramatically delayed the development of CLL (manuscript in preparation). We have previously described the difference in CLL development between the Par-4^{-/-}EµTcl1 and Par-4^{+/+}EµTcl1 mice [61]. Par-4^{-/-}EµTcl1 mice exhibited an improved lifespan compared to Par-4^{+/+}EµTcl1 suggesting that the lack of Par-4 intrinsically and/or extracellularly reduced the aggressiveness of the disease. And since elimination of the primary site of CLL growth with splenectomy results in delayed CLL development, we splenectomized Par-4^{-/-} mice to see if the lack of spleen and Par-4 may contribute to changes in CLL growth. Interestingly, we find that absence of the spleen in the Par-4 null background allows for faster growth of CLL cells elsewhere (unpublished), suggesting that Par-4 plays a significant inhibitory role extracellularly in the tumor microenvironment.

6 Summary and Future Outlook

In this chapter, we summarized the expression pattern of Par-4 in normal and malignant immune cells. Unlike its wellestablished tumor suppressor role in solid cancers, the role of Par-4 in hematological malignancies is complex. In CLL, we have shown that constitutive BCR signaling leads to high levels of Par-4 and a cell intrinsic prosurvival role for Par-4 in CLL cells. This is consistent with a variety of BCR signaling inhibitors that have been shown to be effective in control of CLL disease in patients. Our studies showing an inverse relation between Par-4 and p21 expression suggested that drugs affecting cell cycle could affect CLL despite their low proliferation index. Indeed, Dinaciclib, a CDK inhibitor, has been found to have beneficiary effects in refractory and relapsed CLL patients [146]. This approach may be important for CLL patients with Chr17 deletion (del (17p)) who have a more aggressive form of CLL disease, with a poor prognosis. This deletion leads to the absence of p53, which is known to upregulate p21. Currently, there are no therapies that specifically target this pathway [147]. We have highlighted here the absence of the inverse relation between Par-4 and Bcl2 as well as differential regulation of NF-kB in leukemias, which is in contrast to that seen in non-hematological malignancies (Fig. 5).

Like most cell types, CLL cells secrete Par-4 but are resistant to cytotoxic effects of secreted Par-4. On the other hand, we have discovered that Par-4 has a profound effect on CLL microenvironment. Our studies have shown a unique role for splenic microenvironment for CLL growth. Absence of Par-4 in the microenvironment of splenectomized mice enables better CLL growth. Presently, it is known that chemokines like CxCL12 play a critical role in the interaction between CLL cells and the microenvironment. However, effects of Par-4 expression on these critical chemokines required for CLL homing and survival in secondary lymphoid organs is at present unknown. Interestingly, Par-4 has been linked to the Wnt signaling pathway [148] in breast cancer cells and its overexpression led to downregulation of Frizzled, a Wnt ligand linked to cell proliferation. Expression of Wnt family members is elevated in CLL [149] and frizzled-6 has been shown to be required for CLL growth [150].

Future studies regarding Par-4-mediated gene expression in the CLL microenvironment may enable better Par-4-based treatment strategies for CLL.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute (CA 165469) (N.M., V.M.R., and S.B.). M.K.M. was supported by National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute T32 grant CA165990. We also acknowledge the support from the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (UL1TR001998 and UL1TR000117), the University of Kentucky Markey Cancer Center and Markey Cancer Center's Flow Cytometry and Immune Monitoring Shared Resource Facility (P30CA177558).

References

- 1. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2000) The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100:57–70
- Cook J, Krishnan S, Ananth S, Sells SF, Shi Y, Walther MM et al (1999) Decreased expression of the pro-apoptotic protein Par-4 in renal cell carcinoma. Oncogene 18:1205–1208
- Zapata-Benavides P, Mendez-Vazquez JL, Gonzalez-Rocha TR, Zamora-Avila DE, Franco-Molina MA, Garza-Garza R et al (2009) Expression of prostate apoptosis response (Par-4) is associated with progesterone receptor in breast cancer. Arch Med Res 40:595–599
- Kogel D, Reimertz C, Mech P, Poppe M, Fruhwald MC, Engemann H et al (2001) Dlk/ZIP kinase-induced apoptosis in human medulloblastoma cells: requirement of the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway. Br J Cancer 85:1801–1808
- Moreno-Bueno G, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Collado M, Tendero MJ, Rodriguez-Pinilla SM, Garcia-Cao I et al (2007) Inactivation of the candidate tumor suppressor par-4 in endometrial cancer. Cancer Res 67:1927–1934
- Pruitt K, Ulku AS, Frantz K, Rojas RJ, Muniz-Medina VM, Rangnekar VM et al (2005) Ras-mediated loss of the pro-apoptotic response protein Par-4 is mediated by DNA hypermethylation through Raf-independent and Raf-dependent signaling cascades in epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 280:23363–23370
- Boehrer S, Chow KU, Puccetti E, Ruthardt M, Godzisard S, Krapohl A et al (2001) Deregulated expression of prostate apoptosis response gene-4 in less differentiated lymphocytes and inverse expressional patterns of par-4 and bcl-2 in acute lymphocytic leukemia. Hematol J 2:103–107
- Sells SF, Wood DP Jr, Joshi-Barve SS, Muthukumar S, Jacob RJ, Crist SA et al (1994) Commonality of the gene programs induced by effectors of apoptosis in androgen-dependent and -independent prostate cells. Cell Growth Differ 5:457–466
- Johnstone RW, See RH, Sells SF, Wang J, Muthukkumar S, Englert C et al (1996) A novel repressor, par-4, modulates transcription and growth suppression functions of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Mol Cell Biol 16:6945–6956
- Diaz-Meco MT, Municio MM, Frutos S, Sanchez P, Lozano J, Sanz L et al (1996) The product of par-4, a gene induced during apoptosis, interacts selectively with the atypical isoforms of protein kinase C. Cell 86:777–786
- Boehrer S, Chow KU, Beske F, Kukoc-Zivojnov N, Puccetti E, Ruthardt M et al (2002) In lymphatic cells par-4 sensitizes to apoptosis by down-regulating bcl-2 and promoting disruption of mitochondrial membrane potential and caspase activation. Cancer Res 62:1768–1775

- Johnstone RW, Tommerup N, Hansen C, Vissing H, Shi Y (1998) Mapping of the human PAWR (par-4) gene to chromosome 12q21. Genomics 53:241–243
- Hebbar N, Wang C, Rangnekar VM (2012) Mechanisms of apoptosis by the tumor suppressor Par-4. J Cell Physiol 227:3715–3721
- El-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (2003) Apoptosis by Par-4 in cancer and neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Cell Res 283:51–66
- Boghaert ER, Sells SF, Walid AJ, Malone P, Williams NM, Weinstein MH et al (1997) Immunohistochemical analysis of the proapoptotic protein Par-4 in normal rat tissues. Cell Growth Differ 8:881–890
- El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23:5516–5525
- Gurumurthy S, Goswami A, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase A is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25:1146–1161
- Garcia-Cao I, Duran A, Collado M, Carrascosa MJ, Martin-Caballero J, Flores JM et al (2005) Tumour-suppression activity of the proapoptotic regulator Par4. EMBO Rep 6:577–583
- Goswami A, Burikhanov R, de Thonel A, Fujita N, Goswami M, Zhao Y et al (2005) Binding and phosphorylation of par-4 by akt is essential for cancer cell survival. Mol Cell 20:33–44
- 20. Diaz-Meco MT, Lallena MJ, Monjas A, Frutos S, Moscat J (1999) Inactivation of the inhibitory kappaB protein kinase/nuclear factor kappaB pathway by Par-4 expression potentiates tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 274:19606–19612
- Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR, Rangnekar VM (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138:377–388
- Lee AS (2007) GRP78 induction in cancer: therapeutic and prognostic implications. Cancer Res 67:3496–3499
- Lee AS (2009) The Par-4-GRP78 TRAIL, more twists and turns. Cancer Biol Ther 8:2103–2105
- 24. Hebbar N, Burikhanov R, Shukla N, Qiu S, Zhao Y, Elenitoba-Johnson KSJ et al (2017) A naturally generated decoy of the prostate apoptosis response-4 protein overcomes therapy resistance in tumors. Cancer Res 77(15):4039–4050
- 25. Boehrer S, Kukoc-Zivojnov N, Nowak D, Bergmann M, Baum C, Puccetti E et al (2004) Upon drug-induced apoptosis expression of prostate-apoptosis-response-gene-4 promotes cleavage of caspase-8, bid and mitochondrial release of cytochrome c. Hematology 9:425–431
- Bergmann M, Kukoc-Zivojnov N, Chow KU, Trepohl B, Hoelzer D, Weidmann E et al (2004) Prostate apoptosis response gene-4 sensitizes neoplastic lymphocytes to CD95-induced apoptosis. Ann Hematol 83:646–653
- 27. Bagger FO, Sasivarevic D, Sohi SH, Laursen LG, Pundhir S, Sonderby CK et al (2016) BloodSpot: a database of gene expression profiles and transcriptional programs for healthy and malignant haematopoiesis. Nucleic Acids Res 44:D917–D924
- Moscat J, Diaz-Meco MT, Wooten MW (2009) Of the atypical PKCs, Par-4 and p62: recent understandings of the biology and pathology of a PB1-dominated complex. Cell Death Differ 16:1426–1437
- 29. Bojarska-Junak A, Sieklucka M, Hus I, Wasik-Szczepanek E, Kusz ML, Surdacka A et al (2011) Assessment of the pathway of apoptosis involving PAR-4, DAXX and ZIPK proteins in CLL patients and its relationship with the principal prognostic factors. Folia Histochem Cytobiol 49:98–103
- Chow KU, Nowak D, Hofmann W, Schneider B, Hofmann WK (2005) Imatinib induces apoptosis in CLL lymphocytes with high expression of Par-4. Leukemia 19:1103–1105. author reply 1105-1106; discussion 1106-1107
- Lu C, Li JY, Ge Z, Zhang L, Zhou GP (2013) Par-4/THAP1 complex and Notch3 competitively regulated pre-mRNA splicing of

CCAR1 and affected inversely the survival of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. Oncogene 32:5602–5613

- Kawai T, Akira S, Reed JC (2003) ZIP kinase triggers apoptosis from nuclear PML oncogenic domains. Mol Cell Biol 23:6174–6186
- Roussigne M, Cayrol C, Clouaire T, Amalric F, Girard JP (2003) THAP1 is a nuclear proapoptotic factor that links prostateapoptosis-response-4 (Par-4) to PML nuclear bodies. Oncogene 22:2432–2442
- 34. Ishov AM, Sotnikov AG, Negorev D, Vladimirova OV, Neff N, Kamitani T et al (1999) PML is critical for ND10 formation and recruits the PML-interacting protein daxx to this nuclear structure when modified by SUMO-1. J Cell Biol 147:221–234
- Lindsay CR, Morozov VM, Ishov AM (2008) PML NBs (ND10) and Daxx: from nuclear structure to protein function. Front Biosci 13:7132–7142
- Matt S, Hofmann TG (2018) Crosstalk between p53 modifiers at PML bodies. Mol Cell Oncol 5:e1074335
- 37. Ablain J, Rice K, Soilihi H, de Reynies A, Minucci S, de The H (2014) Activation of a promyelocytic leukemia-tumor protein 53 axis underlies acute promyelocytic leukemia cure. Nat Med 20:167–174
- Shin Y, Brangwynne CP (2017) Liquid phase condensation in cell physiology and disease. Science 357(6357):eaaf4382
- Burikhanov R, Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Hebbar N, Qiu S, Zhao Y, Zambetti GP et al (2014) Paracrine apoptotic effect of p53 mediated by tumor suppressor Par-4. Cell Rep 6:271–277
- Libich DS, Schwalbe M, Kate S, Venugopal H, Claridge JK, Edwards PJ et al (2009) Intrinsic disorder and coiled-coil formation in prostate apoptosis response factor 4. FEBS J 276:3710–3728
- 41. Tiruttani Subhramanyam UK, Kubicek J, Eidhoff UB, Labahn J (2014) Cloning, expression, purification, crystallization and preliminary crystallographic analysis of the C-terminal domain of Par-4 (PAWR). Acta Crystallogr F Struct Biol Commun 70:1224–1227
- 42. Clark AM, Ponniah K, Warden MS, Raitt EM, Yawn AC, Pascal SM (2018) pH-Induced folding of the caspase-cleaved Par-4 tumor suppressor: evidence of structure outside of the coiled coil domain. Biomol Ther 8(4):162
- 43. Trimarchi T, Bilal E, Ntziachristos P, Fabbri G, Dalla-Favera R, Tsirigos A et al (2014) Genome-wide mapping and characterization of Notch-regulated long noncoding RNAs in acute leukemia. Cell 158:593–606
- 44. Tan SH, Leong WZ, Ngoc PCT, Tan TK, Bertulfo FC, Lim MC et al (2019) The enhancer RNA ARIEL activates the oncogenic transcriptional program in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood 134:239–251
- 45. Zhang L, Xu HG, Lu C (2014) A novel long non-coding RNA T-ALL-R-LncR1 knockdown and Par-4 cooperate to induce cellular apoptosis in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. Leuk Lymphoma 55:1373–1382
- 46. Lafuente MJ, Martin P, Garcia-Cao I, Diaz-Meco MT, Serrano M, Moscat J (2003) Regulation of mature T lymphocyte proliferation and differentiation by Par-4. EMBO J 22:4689–4698
- 47. Han JY, Lim YJ, Choi JA, Lee JH, Jo SH, Oh SM et al (2016) The role of prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infected macrophages. Sci Rep 6:32079
- Howlader NA, Krapcho M, Miller D, Bishop K, Kosary CL, Yu M, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, Mariotto A, Lewis DR, Chen HS, Feuer EJ, Cronin KA (2016). SEER Cancer statistics review, 1975–2014. In: Institute, NC (ed). Bethesda, MD
- PDQ Adult Treatment Editorial Board (2002) Chronic lymphocytic leukemia treatment (PDQ(R)): Health professional version. PDQ cancer information summaries. National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD
- Chiorazzi N, Rai KR, Ferrarini M (2005) Chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med 352:804–815

- Gururajan M, Jennings CD, Bondada S (2006) Cutting edge: constitutive B cell receptor signaling is critical for basal growth of B lymphoma. J Immunol 176:5715–5719
- Burger JA, Chiorazzi N (2013) B cell receptor signaling in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Trends Immunol 34:592–601
- Burger JA, Ghia P, Rosenwald A, Caligaris-Cappio F (2009) The microenvironment in mature B-cell malignancies: a target for new treatment strategies. Blood 114:3367–3375
- 54. Burger JA, Gribben JG (2014) The microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and other B cell malignancies: insight into disease biology and new targeted therapies. Semin Cancer Biol 24:71–81
- 55. Boehrer S, Chow KU, Ruthardt M, Hoelzer D, Mitrou PS, Weidmann E (2002) Expression and function of prostateapoptosis-response-gene-4 in lymphatic cells. Leuk Lymphoma 43:1737–1741
- Zhu H, Almasan A (2017) Development of venetoclax for therapy of lymphoid malignancies. Drug Des Devel Ther 11:685–694
- Korsmeyer SJ (1992) Bcl-2: an antidote to programmed cell death. Cancer Surv 15:105–118
- 58. Chow KU, Nowak D, Boehrer S, Ruthardt M, Knau A, Hoelzer D et al (2003) Synergistic effects of chemotherapeutic drugs in lymphoma cells are associated with down-regulation of inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs), prostate-apoptosis-response-gene 4 (Par-4), death-associated protein (Daxx) and with enforced caspase activation. Biochem Pharmacol 66:711–724
- 59. Qiu G, Ahmed M, Sells SF, Mohiuddin M, Weinstein MH, Rangnekar VM (1999) Mutually exclusive expression patterns of Bcl-2 and Par-4 in human prostate tumors consistent with downregulation of Bcl-2 by Par-4. Oncogene 18:623–631
- Hulkkonen J, Vilpo L, Hurme M, Vilpo J (2002) Surface antigen expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: clustering analysis, interrelationships and effects of chromosomal abnormalities. Leukemia 16:178–185
- McKenna MK, Noothi SK, Alhakeem SS, Oben KZ, Greene JT, Mani R et al (2018) Novel role of prostate apoptosis response-4 tumor suppressor in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 131:2943–2954
- Seifert M, Sellmann L, Bloehdorn J, Wein F, Stilgenbauer S, Durig J et al (2012) Cellular origin and pathophysiology of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Exp Med 209:2183–2198
- Haas KM, Poe JC, Steeber DA, Tedder TF (2005) B-1a and B-1b cells exhibit distinct developmental requirements and have unique functional roles in innate and adaptive immunity to *S. pneumoniae*. Immunity 23:7–18
- 64. Wang K, Wei G, Liu D (2012) CD19: a biomarker for B cell development, lymphoma diagnosis and therapy. Exp Hematol Oncol 1:36
- 65. Azzam HS, Grinberg A, Lui K, Shen H, Shores EW, Love PE (1998) CD5 expression is developmentally regulated by T cell receptor (TCR) signals and TCR avidity. J Exp Med 188:2301–2311
- 66. Werner-Favre C, Vischer TL, Wohlwend D, Zubler RH (1989) Cell surface antigen CD5 is a marker for activated human B cells. Eur J Immunol 19:1209–1213
- 67. Bikah G, Carey J, Ciallella JR, Tarakhovsky A, Bondada S (1996) CD5-mediated negative regulation of antigen receptor-induced growth signals in B-1 B cells. Science 274:1906–1909
- 68. Damle RN, Ghiotto F, Valetto A, Albesiano E, Fais F, Yan XJ et al (2002) B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells express a surface membrane phenotype of activated, antigen-experienced B lymphocytes. Blood 99:4087–4093
- Hamblin TJ, Davis Z, Gardiner A, Oscier DG, Stevenson FK (1999) Unmutated Ig V(H) genes are associated with a more aggressive form of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 94:1848–1854
- Gaidano G, Foa R, Dalla-Favera R (2012) Molecular pathogenesis of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Invest 122:3432–3438

- Carsetti R, Rosado MM, Wardmann H (2004) Peripheral development of B cells in mouse and man. Immunol Rev 197:179–191
- Rossi D, Gaidano G (2010) Biological and clinical significance of stereotyped B-cell receptors in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Haematologica 95:1992–1995
- 73. Slupsky JR (2014) Does B cell receptor signaling in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells differ from that in other B cell types? Scientifica (Cairo) 2014:208928
- 74. Agathangelidis A, Vardi A, Baliakas P, Stamatopoulos K (2014) Stereotyped B-cell receptors in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma 55:2252–2261
- 75. Baliakas P, Hadzidimitriou A, Sutton LA, Minga E, Agathangelidis A, Nichelatti M et al (2014) Clinical effect of stereotyped B-cell receptor immunoglobulins in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: a retrospective multicentre study. Lancet Haematol 1:e74–e84
- 76. Chu CC, Catera R, Hatzi K, Yan XJ, Zhang L, Wang XB et al (2008) Chronic lymphocytic leukemia antibodies with a common stereotypic rearrangement recognize nonmuscle myosin heavy chain IIA. Blood 112:5122–5129
- 77. Maity PC, Bilal M, Koning MT, Young M, van Bergen CAM, Renna V et al (2020) IGLV3-21*01 is an inherited risk factor for CLL through the acquisition of a single-point mutation enabling autonomous BCR signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117:4320–4327
- Duhren-von Minden M, Ubelhart R, Schneider D, Wossning T, Bach MP, Buchner M et al (2012) Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia is driven by antigen-independent cell-autonomous signalling. Nature 489:309–312
- Sindhava VJ, Bondada S (2012) Multiple regulatory mechanisms control B-1 B cell activation. Front Immunol 3:372
- Alhakeem SS, Sindhava VJ, McKenna MK, Gachuki BW, Byrd JC, Muthusamy N et al (2015) Role of B cell receptor signaling in IL-10 production by normal and malignant B-1 cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1362:239–249
- Lam KP, Rajewsky K (1999) B cell antigen receptor specificity and surface density together determine B-1 versus B-2 cell development. J Exp Med 190:471–477
- 82. Baumgarth N, Herman OC, Jager GC, Brown LE, Herzenberg LA, Chen J (2000) B-1 and B-2 cell-derived immunoglobulin M antibodies are nonredundant components of the protective response to influenza virus infection. J Exp Med 192:271–280
- Alugupalli KR, Gerstein RM (2005) Divide and conquer: division of labor by B-1 B cells. Immunity 23:1–2
- 84. Derudder E, Herzog S, Labi V, Yasuda T, Kochert K, Janz M et al (2016) Canonical NF-kappaB signaling is uniquely required for the long-term persistence of functional mature B cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113:5065–5070
- 85. Hayakawa K, Formica AM, Colombo MJ, Ichikawa D, Shinton SA, Brill-Dashoff J et al (2015) B cells generated by B-1 development can progress to chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1362:250–255
- 86. Hayakawa K, Formica AM, Brill-Dashoff J, Shinton SA, Ichikawa D, Zhou Y et al (2016) Early generated B1 B cells with restricted BCRs become chronic lymphocytic leukemia with continued c-Myc and low Bmf expression. J Exp Med 213:3007–3024
- Chiorazzi N, Ferrarini M (2011) Cellular origin(s) of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: cautionary notes and additional considerations and possibilities. Blood 117:1781–1791
- Rothstein TL, Griffin DO, Holodick NE, Quach TD, Kaku H (2013) Human B-1 cells take the stage. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1285:97–114
- Kikushige Y (2020) Pathophysiology of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and human B1 cell development. Int J Hematol 111:634–641
- 90. Foster AE, Okur FV, Biagi E, Lu A, Dotti G, Yvon E et al (2009) Selective depletion of a minor subpopulation of B-chronic lym-

phocytic leukemia cells is followed by a delayed but progressive loss of bulk tumor cells and disease regression. Mol Cancer 8:106

- Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, Weissman IL (2001) Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature 414:105–111
 Kilmething N, Jehilten E, Minner T, Shing T, Hutte S
- 92. Kikushige Y, Ishikawa F, Miyamoto T, Shima T, Urata S, Yoshimoto G et al (2011) Self-renewing hematopoietic stem cell is the primary target in pathogenesis of human chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Cancer Cell 20:246–259
- Pekarsky Y, Zanesi N, Aqeilan RI, Croce CM (2007) Animal models for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Cell Biochem 100:1109–1118
- 94. Pekarsky Y, Drusco A, Kumchala P, Croce CM, Zanesi N (2015) The long journey of TCL1 transgenic mice: lessons learned in the last 15 years. Gene Expr 16:129–135
- Hamblin TJ (2010) The TCL1 mouse as a model for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Res 34:135–136
- Simonetti G, Bertilaccio MT, Ghia P, Klein U (2014) Mouse models in the study of chronic lymphocytic leukemia pathogenesis and therapy. Blood 124:1010–1019
- 97. Bresin A, D'Abundo L, Narducci MG, Fiorenza MT, Croce CM, Negrini M et al (2016) TCL1 transgenic mouse model as a tool for the study of therapeutic targets and microenvironment in human B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Cell Death Dis 7:e2071
- Davids MS, Brown JR (2012) Targeting the B cell receptor pathway in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma 53:2362–2370
- 99. Yan XJ, Albesiano E, Zanesi N, Yancopoulos S, Sawyer A, Romano E et al (2006) B cell receptors in TCL1 transgenic mice resemble those of aggressive, treatment-resistant human chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:11713–11718
- 100. Bojarczuk K, Bobrowicz M, Dwojak M, Miazek N, Zapala P, Bunes A et al (2015) B-cell receptor signaling in the pathogenesis of lymphoid malignancies. Blood Cells Mol Dis 55:255–265
- 101. Song Z, Lu P, Furman RR, Leonard JP, Martin P, Tyrell L et al (2010) Activities of SYK and PLCgamma2 predict apoptotic response of CLL cells to SRC tyrosine kinase inhibitor dasatinib. Clin Cancer Res 16:587–599
- 102. Buchner M, Baer C, Prinz G, Dierks C, Burger M, Zenz T et al (2010) Spleen tyrosine kinase inhibition prevents chemokine- and integrin-mediated stromal protective effects in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 115:4497–4506
- 103. Woyach JA, Bojnik E, Ruppert AS, Stefanovski MR, Goettl VM, Smucker KA et al (2014) Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) function is important to the development and expansion of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). Blood 123:1207–1213
- 104. Jamroziak K, Pula B, Walewski J (2017) Current treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Curr Treat Opt Oncol 18:5
- 105. Vitale C, Burger JA (2016) Chronic lymphocytic leukemia therapy: new targeted therapies on the way. Expert Opin Pharmacother 17:1077–1089
- 106. Joshi J, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Galvez A, Amanchy R, Linares JF, Duran A et al (2008) Par-4 inhibits Akt and suppresses Rasinduced lung tumorigenesis. EMBO J 27:2181–2193
- 107. Deng C, Zhang P, Harper JW, Elledge SJ, Leder P (1995) Mice lacking p21CIP1/WAF1 undergo normal development, but are defective in G1 checkpoint control. Cell 82:675–684
- Cmielova J, Rezacova M (2011) p21Cip1/Waf1 protein and its function based on a subcellular localization [corrected]. J Cell Biochem 112:3502–3506
- 109. Cobo F, Martinez A, Pinyol M, Hernandez L, Gomez M, Bea S et al (2002) Multiple cell cycle regulator alterations in Richter's transformation of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia 16:1028–1034
- 110. Greene JT, Mani R, Ramaswamy R, Frissora F, Yano M, Zapolnik K et al (2019) Par-4 overexpression impedes leukemogenesis in the Emicro-TCL1 leukemia model through downregulation of NF-kappaB signaling. Blood Adv 3:1255–1266

- 111. Chendil D, Das A, Dey S, Mohiuddin M, Ahmed MM (2002) Par-4, a pro-apoptotic gene, inhibits radiation-induced NF kappa B activity and Bcl-2 expression leading to induction of radiosensitivity in human prostate cancer cells PC-3. Cancer Biol Ther 1:152–160
- 112. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144:646–674
- Langley RR, Fidler IJ (2011) The seed and soil hypothesis revisited--the role of tumor-stroma interactions in metastasis to different organs. Int J Cancer 128:2527–2535
- 114. Ansell SM, Vonderheide RH (2013) Cellular composition of the tumor microenvironment. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book. https:// doi.org/10.1200/EdBook_AM.2013.33.e91
- 115. ten Hacken E, Burger JA (2014) Microenvironment dependency in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: the basis for new targeted therapies. Pharmacol Ther 144:338–348
- 116. Collins RJ, Verschuer LA, Harmon BV, Prentice RL, Pope JH, Kerr JF (1989) Spontaneous programmed death (apoptosis) of B-chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells following their culture in vitro. Br J Haematol 71:343–350
- 117. Stein H, Bonk A, Tolksdorf G, Lennert K, Rodt H, Gerdes J (1980) Immunohistologic analysis of the organization of normal lymphoid tissue and non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. J Histochem Cytochem 28:746–760
- 118. Herndon TM, Chen SS, Saba NS, Valdez J, Emson C, Gatmaitan M et al (2017) Direct in vivo evidence for increased proliferation of CLL cells in lymph nodes compared to bone marrow and peripheral blood. Leukemia 31:1340–1347
- 119. Herishanu Y, Perez-Galan P, Liu D, Biancotto A, Pittaluga S, Vire B et al (2011) The lymph node microenvironment promotes B-cell receptor signaling, NF-kappaB activation, and tumor proliferation in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 117:563–574
- 120. Herman SE, Niemann CU, Farooqui M, Jones J, Mustafa RZ, Lipsky A et al (2014) Ibrutinib-induced lymphocytosis in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia: correlative analyses from a phase II study. Leukemia 28:2188–2196
- 121. Burger JA, Montserrat E (2013) Coming full circle: 70 years of chronic lymphocytic leukemia cell redistribution, from glucocorticoids to inhibitors of B-cell receptor signaling. Blood 121:1501–1509
- 122. Bichi R, Shinton SA, Martin ES, Koval A, Calin GA, Cesari R et al (2002) Human chronic lymphocytic leukemia modeled in mouse by targeted TCL1 expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:6955–6960
- Munk Pedersen I, Reed J (2004) Microenvironmental interactions and survival of CLL B-cells. Leuk Lymphoma 45:2365–2372
- 124. Messmer BT, Messmer D, Allen SL, Kolitz JE, Kudalkar P, Cesar D et al (2005) In vivo measurements document the dynamic cellular kinetics of chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. J Clin Invest 115:755–764
- 125. Herreros B, Rodriguez-Pinilla SM, Pajares R, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Ramos R, Munoz I et al (2010) Proliferation centers in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: the niche where NF-kappaB activation takes place. Leukemia 24:872–876
- 126. Caligaris-Cappio F, Bertilaccio MT, Scielzo C (2014) How the microenvironment wires the natural history of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Semin Cancer Biol 24:43–48
- 127. Herishanu Y, Katz BZ, Lipsky A, Wiestner A (2013) Biology of chronic lymphocytic leukemia in different microenvironments: clinical and therapeutic implications. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 27:173–206
- 128. Alhakeem SS, McKenna MK, Oben KZ, Noothi SK, Rivas JR, Hildebrandt GC et al (2018) Chronic lymphocytic leukemiaderived IL-10 suppresses antitumor immunity. J Immunol 200:4180–4189

- Burger JA (2011) Nurture versus nature: the microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2011:96–103
- 130. Burger JA, Tsukada N, Burger M, Zvaifler NJ, Dell'Aquila M, Kipps TJ (2000) Blood-derived nurse-like cells protect chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells from spontaneous apoptosis through stromal cell-derived factor-1. Blood 96:2655–2663
- 131. Kipps TJ, Stevenson FK, Wu CJ, Croce CM, Packham G, Wierda WG et al (2017) Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Nat Rev Dis Primers 3:17008
- Frisch SM, Screaton RA (2001) Anoikis mechanisms. Curr Opin Cell Biol 13:555–562
- 133. Ponader S, Chen SS, Buggy JJ, Balakrishnan K, Gandhi V, Wierda WG et al (2012) The Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor PCI-32765 thwarts chronic lymphocytic leukemia cell survival and tissue homing in vitro and in vivo. Blood 119:1182–1189
- 134. de Rooij MF, Kuil A, Geest CR, Eldering E, Chang BY, Buggy JJ et al (2012) The clinically active BTK inhibitor PCI-32765 targets B-cell receptor- and chemokine-controlled adhesion and migration in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 119:2590–2594
- 135. Spaargaren M, Beuling EA, Rurup ML, Meijer HP, Klok MD, Middendorp S et al (2003) The B cell antigen receptor controls integrin activity through Btk and PLCgamma2. J Exp Med 198:1539–1550
- 136. de Gorter DJ, Beuling EA, Kersseboom R, Middendorp S, van Gils JM, Hendriks RW et al (2007) Bruton's tyrosine kinase and phospholipase Cgamma2 mediate chemokine-controlled B cell migration and homing. Immunity 26:93–104
- 137. Chang BY, Francesco M, De Rooij MF, Magadala P, Steggerda SM, Huang MM et al (2013) Egress of CD19(+)CD5(+) cells into peripheral blood following treatment with the Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor ibrutinib in mantle cell lymphoma patients. Blood 122:2412–2424
- 138. de Rooij MF, Kuil A, Kraan W, Kersten MJ, Treon SP, Pals ST et al (2016) Ibrutinib and idelalisib target B cell receptor- but not CXCL12/CXCR4-controlled integrin-mediated adhesion in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Haematologica 101:e111–e115
- 139. Davis RE, Ngo VN, Lenz G, Tolar P, Young RM, Romesser PB et al (2010) Chronic active B-cell-receptor signalling in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Nature 463:88–92

- 140. Yang Y, Shaffer AL 3rd, Emre NC, Ceribelli M, Zhang M, Wright G et al (2012) Exploiting synthetic lethality for the therapy of ABC diffuse large B cell lymphoma. Cancer Cell 21:723–737
- 141. Solvason N, Wu WW, Parry D, Mahony D, Lam EW, Glassford J et al (2000) Cyclin D2 is essential for BCR-mediated proliferation and CD5 B cell development. Int Immunol 12:631–638
- 142. Burikhanov R, Hebbar N, Noothi SK, Shukla N, Sledziona J, Araujo N et al (2017) Chloroquine-inducible Par-4 secretion is essential for tumor cell apoptosis and inhibition of metastasis. Cell Rep 18:508–519
- 143. Wang P, Burikhanov R, Jayswal R, Weiss HL, Arnold SM, Villano JL et al (2018) Neoadjuvant administration of hydroxychloroquine in a phase 1 clinical trial induced plasma Par-4 levels and apoptosis in diverse tumors. Genes Cancer 9:190–197
- 144. Rasool RU, Nayak D, Chakraborty S, Katoch A, Faheem MM, Amin H et al (2016) A journey beyond apoptosis: new enigma of controlling metastasis by pro-apoptotic Par-4. Clin Exp Metastasis 33:757–764
- 145. Shen Z, Qin X, Yan M, Li R, Chen G, Zhang J et al (2017) Cancer-associated fibroblasts promote cancer cell growth through a miR-7-RASSF2-PAR-4 axis in the tumor microenvironment. Oncotarget 8:1290–1303
- 146. Flynn J, Jones J, Johnson AJ, Andritsos L, Maddocks K, Jaglowski S et al (2015) Dinaciclib is a novel cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor with significant clinical activity in relapsed and refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia 29:1524–1529
- 147. Aitken MJL, Lee HJ, Post SM (2019) Emerging treatment options for patients with p53-pathway-deficient CLL. Ther Adv Hematol 10:2040620719891356
- 148. de Bessa Garcia SA, Pavanelli AC, Cruz EMN, Nagai MA (2017) Prostate apoptosis response 4 (PAR4) expression modulates WNT signaling pathways in MCF7 breast cancer cells: a possible mechanism underlying PAR4-mediated docetaxel chemosensitivity. Int J Mol Med 39:809–818
- 149. Lu D, Zhao Y, Tawatao R, Cottam HB, Sen M, Leoni LM et al (2004) Activation of the Wnt signaling pathway in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:3118–3123
- 150. Wu QL, Zierold C, Ranheim EA (2009) Dysregulation of Frizzled 6 is a critical component of B-cell leukemogenesis in a mouse model of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 113:3031–3039



The Par-4 Tumor Suppressor Protein in TCL1-Induced Leukemogenesis

Joseph T. Greene, Mary K. McKenna, Subbarao Bondada, and Natarajan Muthusamy

Abstract

Prostate apoptosis response 4 (Par-4) is a pleiotropic tumor suppressor protein that is downregulated in numerous solid tumors to evade its pro-apoptotic and cytostatic effects. Par-4 is thought to respond to dysregulation of various signaling pathways during oncogenic transformation by promoting expression of pro-apoptotic proteins and inhibiting transcriptions factors vital to proliferation. It has been shown to be a faithful indicator of response to chemotherapy in breast cancer and is being explored in other cancers as a factor in response to multiple classes of therapeutics. Despite this, its role in hematological malignancies has been little described. Studies in leukemia have shown that Par-4 expression levels correlate with known prognostic indicators and may factor into treat-

Division of Hematology, Department of Internal Medicine, and Comprehensive Cancer Center, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, USA

Department of Pharmacology, Center for Immunology, and Masonic Cancer Center, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, USA

M. K. McKenna

Department of Microbiology, Immunology, and Molecular Genetics, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Center for Cell and Gene Therapy, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, USA

S. Bondada

Department of Microbiology, Immunology, and Molecular Genetics, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

N. Muthusamy (\boxtimes)

Division of Hematology, Department of Internal Medicine, and Comprehensive Cancer Center, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, USA e-mail: raj.muthusamy@osumc.edu

ment response and disease progression. These reports also indicate that dysregulation of the pathway differs between different forms of leukemia, and the significance of Par-4 activity may vary between chronic, acute, lymphoid, and myeloid forms of the disease. Par-4 expression levels are also variable within different forms of leukemia and correlate with incidence of other genetic lesions that impact prognosis and treatment outcomes. Follow-up, in vitro studies have provided some mechanistic insight into how Par-4 functions in different forms of leukemia and suggest relevance to the apoptotic response of leukemia cells to therapeutics. Additionally, animal models of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) have revealed that extrinsic and intrinsic Par-4-mediated effects may both play a role in leukemogenesis, adding more complexity to the collective understanding of this protein's role in hematologic disease. Given the relevance of Par-4 activity in treatment of solid tumors, further exploration of this pathway in heme malignancies may be clinically relevant. This chapter contains an analysis of literature regarding Par-4 in leukemia, recently published data suggesting a role for leukemogenesis in CLL, and future prospects for utilizing Par-4 to therapeutic benefit in patients.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Par-4 \cdot Leukemia \cdot Apoptosis \cdot Lymphoid \cdot Myeloid \cdot \\ Tumor \ suppressor \cdot Oncogene \cdot Heme \ malignancy \cdot \\ NF{\text{-}}\kappa B \cdot TCL1 \cdot PKC \cdot Chemotherapy \end{array}$

1 Introduction

1.1 Leukemia

Leukemia is blood cancer that arises from production of abnormal white blood cell populations in the bone marrow, leading to accumulation of malignant cells in the peripheral blood and invasion of tissues in later stages of disease. They

J. T. Greene

can be categorized as lymphocytic or myeloid based on whether the malignant cells exhibit morphology and biological characteristics of lymphocytes or myeloid blasts. Both forms are further classified as acute or chronic determined by molecular features that contribute to unique pathologies. Together they make up 3.4% of new cancer cases annually [1].

Lymphocytic leukemia results from production of abnormal B or T cells that proliferate in the lymphoid organs due to abnormal signaling events that result in defective apoptosis and proliferative responses. Acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) accounts for 80% of leukemia diagnoses in children, whereas the median age of onset for chronic lymphocytic leukemia is 72 [2, 3]. Around 80% of ALL cases are caused by abnormal B cell production (B-ALL), which results from chromosomal translocations that cause aberrant transcription factor activation, survival signaling, or epigenetic changes [4]. In the 20% of ALL cases that result from abnormal T cell development (T-ALL), over 50% contain mutations in the NOTCH1 and CDKN2 genes, which contribute to uncontrolled proliferation [5, 6]. Both types of ALL can be caused by mutations in several other genes at lower frequencies, which factor into prognosis. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is caused by abnormal B cell production. Chromosomal abnormalities are a hallmark of CLL, as is chronic B cell receptor signaling which promotes survival of CLL cells [7]. Reliance of CLL on B cell receptor signaling has heavily influenced treatment strategies, which target this pathway through inhibition of lynchpin signaling complexes essential to CLL survival (Fig. 1) [3]. Treatment for lymphocytic leukemias depletes the body of malignant lymphocytes and involves treatment with a combination of chemotherapy, small molecule inhibitors, and immunotherapy (Table 1). Depletion of these cells followed by bone marrow transplant is the only curative treatment.

Myeloid leukemia is characterized by expansion of malignant myeloblastic cells in patient bone marrow, which accumulate in the peripheral blood [8]. Myeloid leukemia can develop from a more benign form of the disease called myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), in which immature blood cells in the bone marrow fail to mature into populations of healthy blood cells [9]. Myeloid leukemia occurs when immature myeloid blasts begin to proliferate out of control and rapidly accumulate in the bone marrow. Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) is caused by a chromosomal translocation that causes the ABL1 gene on chromosome 9 to become fused with the breakpoint cluster region (BCR) on chromosome 22, resulting in production of an oncogenic fusion protein [10]. Inhibition of this pro-

Fig. 1 Signaling downstream of B cell receptor activation in CLL and therapeutic interventions that target it. The signaling cascade is initiated by kinases Lyn and Syk at the membrane. This induces formation of a signaling complex that includes signal transducers PI3K and Btk. The cascade results in activation of Ras, PLC γ 2, and Akt signaling pathways. Activation of transcription factors Erk, JNK, p38, NFAT, and NF-KB, in addition to Bcl-2 activity, contribute to the survival of CLL cells. Therapeutics targeting these pathways and the membrane-associated protein CD20 are shown in red



	•		
Leukemia type	Current treatments		
Acute lymphocytic	4-Phase regimen including intrathecal chemotherapy:		
leukemia (ALL)	Induction, consolidation, intensification, maintenance		
	Gluccocorticoid (all phases)		
	Vincristine (induction, intensification, maintenance)		
	Asparaginase (induction, consolidation, intensification)		
	Nucleotide analogs (consolidation, maintenance)		
	Anthracyclines (induction, intensification)		
	Methorrexate (consolidation, maintenance)		
	Allogeneic bone marrow transplant in high-risk patients		
	Anti-CD22 and anti-CD19 antibodies (dependent on expression)		
	Anti-CD19 CAR T cell therapy (dependent on expression)		
Chronic	Front line therapies:		
lymphocytic	Fludarabine-cyclophosphamide-rituximab (anti-CD20 antibody) FCR therapy		
leukemia (CLL)	Bendamustine + ritusimab		
	Chlorambicil + Obinutuzumab (anti-CD20 antibody)		
	Ibrutinib (BTK inhibitor)		
	Acalabrutinib (BTK inhibitor)		
	Acalabrutinib + Obinutuzumab		
	Venetoclax (Bcl-2 inhibitor) + Obinutuzumab		
	Relapsed disease/salvage therapy		
	Ibrutinib		
	Acalabrutinib		
	Venetoclax		
	Venetoclax + rituximab		
	Allogeneic bone marrow transplant		
Acute myeloid	2.Phase chemotherapy regimen.		
leukemia (AML)	Induction consolidation		
iculterinu (Filil)	Nucleotide analogs (induction consolidation)		
	Anthracyclines (induction)		
	Midostaurine (FLT3 mutated (Induciton consolidation)		
	Bone marrow transplant in relayed or unresponsive patients		
	High-rick patients are commonly enrolled in clinical trials		
	Based on response to therapy and senetic features of the disease		
	Examples of experimental compounds:		
	Venetoclax (Bcl-2 inhibitor) for unresponsive and NPM1 mutated patients		
	Anti-CD200 antibody for RUNX1 mutated patients		
	Anti-CD33 antibody for WT1 mutated patients		
	Syk inhibitors for TP53, NPM1 and MLL mutated patients		
	FLT3 inhibitors for FLT3 mutated patients		
	IDH1/2 inhibitors for IDH mutated patients		
Chronic myeloid	Front line therapies:		
leukemia (CML)	Imatinib (BCR-ABL and tyrosine kinase inhibitor)		
	Nilotinib (BCR-ABL and tyrosine kinase inhibitor)		
	Dasatinib (Src family kinase, BCR-ABL, and tyrosine kinase inhibitor)		
	If disease is accelerated, chemotherapy consistent with induction for AML		
	Bone marrow transplant in unresponsive patients		
	Unresponsive patients or relapsed disease/salvage therapy:		
	Dose-escalation of inhibitor therapy		
	Switching to another inhibitor		
	Chemotherapy as with front line for accelerated disease		

Table 1Current therapies for leukemia

Treatment differs by leukemia type, disease severity, whether disease is treatment naïve. Individual mutations in patients are also taken into account. Radiotherapy has been omitted from this table, as it is rarely used and on a case-by-case basis

tein with BCR-ABL inhibitors, such as imatinib, is the primary route of therapeutic intervention for CML [11]. Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is caused by a number of recurrent genetic lesions and chromosomal translocations, with RAS, FLT3, and NPM1 being some of the most common [8]. However, the genetic landscape of AML is diverse, making it difficult to treat. Induction treatment typically beings with chemotherapy, but the regimen varies based on the molecular phenotype of the cancer in individual patients. Remissions are shorter in AML than other types of leukemia and attempts to lengthen them often include bone marrow transplant.

1.2 Par-4

Par-4 has been the subject of in-depth study in solid tumors due to its unique ability to induce apoptosis in a cancerselective fashion. Its ability to sensitize malignant cells to apoptosis while not contributing to cell death in the tissue from which the cancer originates has peaked interested in its utility for the purposes of targeted cancer therapy [12–14]. Cancer selectivity results from regulatory phosphorylation sites targeted by kinases that are commonly upregulated in cancer, such as PKA (T163) and CK2 (S231) [15, 16]. The selective for apoptosis in cancer domain (SAC), which has been shown necessary and in certain cases sufficient to induce apoptosis, also appears to specifically target cancer cells even though it does not contain any of the aforementioned phosphorylation sites [14]. Expression and activity of the protein are regulated by signaling events that are, again, commonly dysregulated in cancer cells. These include Ras signaling, endoplasmic reticulum stress, upregulation of PKA through cAMP production, PKC activation through various mechanisms, and others [15, 17-21].

Overexpression of Par-4 sensitizes cell lines established from several different solid tumors to apoptotic insult, including apoptosis inducing compounds used for chemotherapy, and has been shown to impact response of pancreatic cancer to treatment with small molecule inhibitors [15, 22]. Some of these compounds directly activate the Par-4 pathway, indicating that Par-4 can influence drug sensitivity intrinsically [23-25]. In fact, a significant correlation is documented between low Par-4 expression and relapse after chemotherapy in breast cancer patients [26]. This is interesting because Par-4, which is typically thought of as a tumor suppressor, can apparently act as an oncogene in some cases. Studies on Par-4 in hematological malignancies has produced data linking Par-4 to prognosis and disease have progression. Studies performed using patient-derived cells have indicated that the Par-4 pathway is prone to dysregulation through various mechanisms that are unique to the disease and patient group. Mechanistic work interrogating the potential for targetability of the pathway are ongoing. This chapter discusses those studies examining Par-4 in myeloid and lymphoid leukemogenesis and the clinical significance of their conclusions, with an emphasis on known pathway constituents and in vivo studies demonstrating the influence of Par-4 on leukemia progression.

2 Initial Observations in Lymphoid and Myeloid Leukemias

The pro-apoptotic WT1 regulator (PAWR) gene, which produces the protein prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4), has been shown to be downregulated in several tumor types,

regardless of tissue of origin [27-30]. It was initially established as a tumor suppressor in mouse model experiments where knockout was shown to increase incidence of a cancer across various tissue types, and was verified in human tumors through gene expression analysis [26, 30-32]. This trend prompted study into its regulation in leukemias using cells from patient blood. Expression of Par-4 was found to be downregulated in some forms of the disease and upregulated in others, with expression varying between patient groups within each cancer. This suggests that different cancers develop unique adaptations that result in Par-4 dysregulation through various mechanisms. These results have created a picture of Par-4 as a highly specialized, pleiotropic tumor suppressor that imposes anti-neoplastic regulation through several mechanisms, imposing selective pressure on cancers to develop various adaptations to evade its activity.

B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) was one of the first leukemias in which the Par-4 pathway was examined for any therapeutic benefit. Contrary to what was observed in the majority of solid tumors examined, expression of Par-4 appeared to be upregulated in CLL cells relative to healthy donor B cells [29, 33]. Cells from patients with the acute form of the disease, acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL), showed downregulation of the Par-4 protein, indicating that the mechanism by which the pathway is circumvented differs between cell types of origin and modes of malignant transformation [34]. The mechanism of downregulation in B cell ALL (B-ALL) was later shown to be methylation of the PAWR promoter, which is observed in multiple solid tumors [35]. Downregulation of Bcl-2 by Par-4 is documented in several solid tumors and thought to be one of the principal mechanisms by which Par-4 induces apoptosis. It does so by binding to the transcription factor Wilm's tumor protein (WT1), thereby modulating its activity [36]. This relationship is demonstrated in cells from ALL patients, but not in those from CLL patients, likely due to the absence of WT1 expression in CLL. This further suggests that the pathway is compromised through different mechanisms in these two forms of lymphocytic leukemia [34].

Further study of Par-4 in CLL revealed that protein levels correlate with response to apoptosis inducing compounds, expression of apoptosis regulators, and prognostic indicators. The response of primary CLL B cells to the tyrosine kinase inhibitor Imatinib was shown to be influenced by Par-4 protein levels, with higher levels contributing to more robust induction of apoptosis [23]. Interestingly, Par-4 levels were also shown to correlate with response of primary B-ALL cells to treatment with prednisolone, a synthetic glucocorticoid [37]. The effect in CLL was further shown not to depend on Bcl-2 levels, in concurrence with previously generated data suggesting that Par-4 does not downregulate Bcl-2 in CLL. In fact, Par-4 expression in CLL cells shows a positive correlation with Bcl-2 expression [33]. Statistically significant, posi-

tive correlations have also been demonstrated with apoptosis regulators DAXX and ZIPK, as well as serum levels of the prognostic marker lactate dehydrogenase. Additionally, CD38-positive and ZAP70-positive CLL B cells, which are known to be more aggressive, were shown to express Par-4 at higher levels than negative cells. This is contrary to what is observed in solid tumors and other hematopoietic malignancies, but does indicate that Par-4 expression may be determinant of disease progression in CLL. Together these data qualify the Par-4 pathway as a potential prognostic indicator and possibly a druggable target that could be leveraged in therapy for lymphocytic leukemias.

Par-4 has also been associated with disease etiology in acute myeloid leukemia (AML). In AML cells, Par-4 expression is downregulated relative to normal CD34+ cells, but the level of Par-4 expression correlates with mutation of the prognostic marker isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) [38–40]. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations result in epigenetic changes and are associated with poor prognosis and reduced relapse-free survival in AML [41]. Par-4 levels are higher in IDH mutated

Table 2Summary of observations made on the Par-4 pathway made inprimary leukemia cells from CLL, B-ALL, and AML patients

Par-4	B-Cell chronic lympohcytic leukemia (CLL)	B-Cell acute lympohcytic leukemia (B-ALL)	Acute myelogenous leukemia (AML)
expression		¥	V Overall, with IDH Mutation and EVI1 Rearrangement
Bcl-2 expression	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow
Reciprocal expression of Par-4 and Bcl-2	No	Yes	Unknown
Par-4 expression correlated with prognostic factors	Positive Correlationswith LDH, CD38, Zap70	Unknown	Positive correlations with IDH mutation, EVI1 rearrangement, and serum LDH
Par-4 expression results in drug sensitivity	Imatinib	Prednisolone	Unknown

Average Par-4 expression is known to be increased in CLL patients and AML patients with IDH and EVI1 rearrangements relative to healthy donors, while expression is decreased in B-ALL and non-mutated AML patients. Bcl-2 expression is increased in all three forms of leukemia, but a relationship between Bcl-2 and Par-4 expression has only been demonstrated in B-ALL cells. However, Par-4 expression is correlated with prognostic marker expression in both CLL and AML. Elevated Par-4 levels result in increased sensitivity to Imatinib in CLL and Prednisolone in B-ALL cells relative to unmutated. Another recurrent genetic lesion in AML is rearrangement of the EVI1 gene [42, 43]. This lesion is also associated with higher Par-4 expression and poor prognosis [40]. Finally, elevated Par-4 protein levels have been found in a patient who progressed from myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) to AML [44]. Together, these data indicate that Par-4 upregulation contributes to aggressive disease progression and poor patient outcomes in AML, providing further evidence that Par-4 may play an oncogenic role in some malignancies. Exploration into the specific mechanisms is still ongoing (Table 2).

3 Mechanistic Studies

The activity of Par-4 is regulated by activating and inhibitory phosphorylation sites that influence the protein's ability to associate with its binding partners. The pathway is roughly divided into extrinsic and intrinsic components that have unique mechanisms triggered by different stimuli, but both result in apoptosis. The extrinsic pathway is triggered by ER stress and induces Fas trafficking at the plasma membrane. Par-4 is shuttled from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to the cell membrane through interaction with GRP78 [18]. The intrinsic pathway is triggered by activation of Par-4 through phosphorylation of the T163 residue (T155 in the murine isoform) by protein kinase A (PKA) or DAP-like kinase (DLK) [15, 45]. Nuclear localization and association with various binding partners then occur; resulting in compromised mitochondrial membrane potential, and inhibition of NF-kB signaling contributing to pro-apoptotic gene expression changes [14, 34, 46]. Ectopic expression of Par-4 protein encourages these interactions in various cancer cell lines to a sufficient degree that apoptosis is induced. The ability of Par-4 to induce apoptosis in multiple cancers has prompted rigorous interrogation of its activity and the mechanisms by which it facilitates apoptosis induction in response to different apoptotic stimuli.

Current work in hematological malignancies is attempting to parse out the pieces of this complex and malleable pathway that are misregulated. Early studies in Jurkat cells, an acute T cell leukemia (T-ALL) cell line, provided evidence that Par-4 effects apoptosis in response to treatment with cytarabine and doxorubicin. Increased expression of Par-4 results in enhanced caspase cleavage after exposure, conferring increased sensitivity of the cells to treatment with these chemotherapeutics [34]. The mechanism was determined to involve downregulation of anti-apoptotic proteins cIAP1, XIAP, and Bcl-2. These proteins prevent loss of mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) and assembly of the apoptosome. Their downregulation through Par-4 overexpression results in compromised MMP and activation of caspases 3, 6, 7, and 9 after treatment with cytarabine and doxorubicin. Treatment of Par-4 overexpressing ALL cells with (TNF)-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) produced similar results.

TRAIL-induced apoptosis was found to rely on inhibition of cIAP1, cIAP2, and XIAP and activation of caspases 6, 7, and 9. Bcl-2 levels were not reduced and MMP was not compromised in the case of TRAIL-induced apoptosis after Par-4 overexpression, suggesting that TRAIL and the chemotherapeutics cytarabine and doxorubicin induce apoptosis through separate pathways that each include Par-4 (Fig. 2).

Continued study revealed that Par-4 regulates the expression of several other genes that influence apoptosis in ALL cells. It regulates transcript levels of the pro-apoptotic gene CCAR1 by occupying its promoter in a complex with THAP1. This displaces NOTCH3, a transcriptional inhibitor of CCAR1, and increases CCAR1 transcript levels [47]. Expression of CCAR1 promotes sequestration of antiapoptotic 14-3-3 proteins, resulting in apoptosis induction. The Par-4/THAP1 complex was also found to inhibit the

T-Cell Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia



Fig. 2 The composition of the Par-4 pathway as it has been determined in T-ALL cell lines. Par-4 overexpression in T-ALL cell lines results in differential sensitivity to apoptosis inducing compounds. Cells become sensitive to cytarabine and doxorubicin upon overexpression of Par-4, which inhibits Bcl-2, XIAP, and cIAP1 to induce apoptosis through loss of mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) and caspase activation. Par-4 overexpression also results in sensitivity to TRAIL through inhibition of XIAP, cIAP1, and CIAP2 and downstream caspase activation. Par-4 induced caspase activation also occurs when T-ALL-R-LncR1 and Notch3 expression increase in T-ALL cell lines, in addition to activation of Smac and CCAR1

association of splicing factors with CCAR1 pre-mRNA to influence production of alternative splice forms. SRp40 and SRp55 associate with CCAR1 pre-mRNA in the presence of Notch3 to promote exon skipping, producing a truncated form of CCAR1, with a missing DNA binding domain, which does not promote apoptosis as effectively in ALL cells. Additionally, the Par-4/THAP1 complex was found to form upon knockdown of the long non-coding RNA (LncR) T-ALL-R-LncR1 in T-ALL cells [48]. This precipitated upregulation of pro-apoptotic Smac protein and activation of Caspase-3. It is not clear whether upregulation of Smac and Caspase-3 activation are reliant on the activity of CCAR1. The opposing influences of Par-4 expression and modulation of pro-apoptotic gene expression by Notch3 and T-ALL-R-LncR1 could be of clinical significance in the treatment of T-ALL (Fig. 3).

The Par-4 pathway in myelogenous cells seems to bear little resemblance to that of lymphoid cells. Critical gene expression changes in response to Par-4 activity differ, along with potential for clinical utility. In the erythroleukemic cell lines K562 and HEL, DAXX and Bcl-2 expression are both upregulated by Par-4 overexpression, as well as pro-caspases 8, 9, and 10 [46, 49]. Despite the increase in pro-caspase expression, neither cell line exhibits an increase in basal apoptosis rates or sensitivity to chemotherapeutics, TRAIL or FAS; suggesting that these cell types are resistant to Par-4-mediated apoptosis [46]. In K562 cells however, Par-4 overexpression did sensitize cells to the effect of the BCR-ABL inhibitor imatinib and histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors [49]. This is likely due to the presence of BCR-Abl protein and its anti-apoptotic effect in K562 cells [50]. Studies performed in murine, IL-3-dependent cell lines made factor independent by BCR-Abl expression found that Par-4 exerts an influence on BCR-Abl-mediated signaling. Interestingly, Par-4 overexpression resulted in downregulation of Bcl-2, c-myc, Akt, and STAT5 in 32D myeloid cells, but protein levels were not modulated in Ba/F3 lymphoid cell lines [51]. However, p38, a mitogen-activated protein kinase with pro-apoptotic functions, was activated at higher levels via phosphorylation in Ba/F3 cells. The factorindependent proliferation and colony forming capacity of the Ba/F3 and 32D cell lines were completely compromised by Par-4 overexpression due to inhibition of RAS, an effect which is also seen in rat prostate cancer cells [17].

These studies and the previous retrospective descriptions of Par-4 in patient cells suggest that the Par-4 pathway behaves differently not just in lymphoid and myeloid malignancies, but in acute and chronic forms of leukemia. Par-4 appears to exhibit an anti-neoplastic effect in ALL cells and myeloid leukemia cell lines that express BCR-Abl. While mechanistic data in AML and CLL is lacking, it does appear Par-4 expression may be a negative prognostic indicator in AML. Given the influence of Par-4 protein levels on imatinib **Fig. 3** The composition of the Par-4 pathway as it has been determined in CML cell lines. Par-4 overexpression in CML cell lines results in increased sensitivity to BCR-Abl and HDAC inhibitors, likely due to inactivation of RAS by Par-4. Par-4 also reduces expression of cMyc, Bcl-2, and Akt in CML cell lines to induce apoptosis

Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia



response in CLL, which does not express the BCR-Abl fusion protein, it is likely that Par-4 influences signaling pathways that are affected by c-Abl inhibition or the off-target effects of imatinib treatment. These pathways may therefore be targetable themselves with selective inhibitors, and Par-4 would likely influence response. These conclusions would suggest that further study of Par-4 in heme malignancies could lead to novel therapeutic approaches.

4 Par-4 in the TCL1 Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Model

Recent work in the T cell leukemia 1 (TCL1) leukemia model has suggested a pleiotropic role of Par-4 with respect to its effect on the development of CLL. These animals overexpress the TCL1 transgene under control of the Eµ-enhancer region, which regulates expression of immunoglobulin heavy chain, restricting expression to mature B cells [52]. These mice develop a CLL-like disease that manifests as lymphocytosis of a clonal population of CD5+ B cells in the primary lymphoid compartments and peripheral blood. Interestingly, it has been discovered that Par-4 protein levels increase in these cells as the disease progresses and CD5+ B cells become more abundant, mirroring what is seen in patient CLL cells [53]. Studies examining the role of Par-4 in leukemogenesis that utilized this model have revealed that the protein, while capable of inhibiting proliferation and resulting in less aggressive disease in a B cell-specific overexpression model, also contributes to proliferation and whole-organism knockout also results in a less aggressive disease. This suggests that Par-4 may contribute to leukemogenesis through both intrinsic and extrinsic mechanisms.

McKenna et al. showed that complete Par-4 knockout in the TCL1 model results in reduced accumulation of leukemic B cells and improved survival time. Par-4-deficient leukemia cells in these animals were found to upregulate the cell cycle regulator p21, causing reduced proliferation and slowing the rate of leukemogenesis. p21 is a cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitor that controls progression of the cell cycle into the G2/M phase by inhibiting CDKs 2,4, and 6. Its expression is controlled by p53, which is located in a region of chromosome 17 that is commonly deleted in CLL patients, preventing p21-mediated cell cycle arrest [54]. In vitro experiments using the human, EBV-transformed cell lines OSUCLL and Mec1 showed that impairment of cell cycle progression by p21 also occurs in human CLL cells. Knockout of Par-4 reduced proliferation of cells in vitro and after engraftment in immunocompromised mice and was shown to be accompanied by a decrease in p21. McKenna et al. then showed that Par-4 knockout causes accumulation of cells in the G1 phase of the cell cycle. This indicates that p21 upregulation as a result of Par-4 knockout prevents cells from cycling past the restriction point in the G1 phase. This



Fig. 4 Extrinsic and intrinsic effects mediated by Par-4 in the TCL1 murine leukemia model. Whole-organism knockout of Par-4 followed by transplant of TCL1 CLL-like cells results in less proliferative disease. This is due to hyperactivation of p21, which is inhibited by micro-environmental Par-4. When Par-4 is overexpressed in the B cells of TCL1 mice, the disease is also less proliferative due to an intrinsic mechanism that includes inhibition of p65

effect is also demonstrated in human CLL cells treated with the cereblon inhibitor lenalidomide. In a study by Fecteau et al., it was shown that treatment of CLL cells with lenalidomide can impede proliferation that is induced by CD154 through upregulation of p21 and G1 arrest [55]. The effectiveness of lenalidomide in maintaining progression-free survival in CLL and the mechanistic similarities it shares with Par-4 knockout lead to consideration of Par-4 inhibition as a potential therapeutic avenue (Fig. 4).

Par-4 is also known to be a potent tumor suppressor protein, which led our group to explore the effect of overexpression on leukemogenesis in the TCL1 model. We found that B cell-specific overexpression of the protein stifles disease progression, with Par-4xTCL1 mice exhibiting slower accumulation of leukemic CD5 + CD19+ B cells in the peripheral blood and a survival advantage relative to TCL1 littermates. Interestingly, human Par-4 overexpression on its own did not appear to affect B cell development or function and was shown not to influence p21 expression. Normal proportions of developing B cell subsets were observed in the spleen, bone marrow, and peritoneal cavity, and response to antigen was found to be normal in terms of proliferation and immunoglobulin secretion. However, in the leukemic B cells, it was found that Par-4 overexpression inhibits TCL1-driven NF-kB signaling as determined by nuclear translocation of the transcription factor p65. This phenomenon has been demonstrated in cell lines that overexpress Par-4. Investigation into the regulatory signaling events immediately upstream of p65 translocation revealed that Par-4 overexpression does not alter phosphorylation of IkB α or p65 itself. This indicates that the mechanism through which Par-4 inhibits p65 translocation is novel and as of yet, undescribed. Considering the effectiveness of CLL therapies, such as Ibrutinib, that inhibit NF-kB signaling and the consistency with which CLL patients on these therapies are relapsing with clones that carry mutations for drug resistance, it would seem prudent to study the mechanism of Par-4-mediated NF-kB inhibition more thoroughly in primary cells to shed light on its potential therapeutic use [56, 57].

5 Future Work and Prospects for Therapy

Much of the work published on Par-4 in leukemias is observational, but in ALL the pathway has been mechanistically described and has shown promising potential. In these cells, Par-4 has been shown to be an effective inducer of apoptosis and mediator of drug sensitivity. A study published in 2017 by the Rangnekar group at the University of Kentucky capitalized on these same characteristics in the treatment of solid tumor cell line transplants through use of a molecular decoy that prevents degradation of Par-4 through the action of Fbxo45, resulting in upregulation of Par-4 protein and sensitivity to chemothotherapy [58]. Such a strategy may be of use in ALL, which has been shown sensitive to the effects of Par-4 activity. It may also be of use in CLL, where increased Par-4 expression has been shown to inhibit NF-kB activity to reduce proliferation. Upregulation of Par-4 in patient cells may provide an opportunity for utilizing its activity in treatment. Further study in primary cells would yield information on the effectiveness and feasibility of this therapeutic strategy in leukemia.

Study of Par-4 in lymphoid and myeloid leukemias has mostly been through retrospective gene expression analysis of patient data that correlates Par-4 expression with prognostic markers, with only a few studies performed in cell lines and animal models [34, 38, 39, 44, 53]. A partial explanation is that patient cells from these diseases are very difficult to culture and there are few cell lines established from patient cells that can be used to model these diseases in vitro. Progress has been made recently towards overcoming these obstacles, providing more tools for researchers studying these diseases [52, 59, 60]. The potential targetability of Par-4 demonstrated by studies with primary ALL cells and in the TCL1 CLL model indicates that further investigation could lead to therapeutic advancements that utilize the proapoptotic activity of Par-4 to benefit patients.

The relationship between Par-4 and Bcl-2 expression is a central component to the apoptosis induction mechanism, and a potential avenue of translation in leukemia. Bcl-2 targeting therapies are already in development for CLL and

other cancers, with the goal of effecting apoptosis in a cancer-specific fashion [61–63]. This targeted approach shows an obvious benefit over traditional chemotherapy regimens prescribed for leukemia, which by comparison are relatively destructive to the body. Given the characteristic cancer-selective activity of the Par-4 pathway, its targeting is perhaps a strategy by which Bcl-2 levels could be modulated in cancer with minimal collateral damage to normal cells within the same tissue. The same is true of therapies that target Akt and the PI3K pathway. There is a plethora of drugs aiming to inhibit the pro-survival signals created by hyperactive Akt and PI3K [64–67]. Par-4 has been shown to inhibit Akt in cancer cells and induction of this interaction could provide another means of disrupting pro-survival signals created by Akt/PI3K with minimal off-target effects [68].

The Par-4 pathway includes several other proteins that have been shown relevant to survival and proliferation in leukemia cells. Complex formation with WT1 promotes Par-4mediated downregulation of Bcl-2, the primary mechanism of apoptosis induction in this pathway, and could have other effects on gene expression [12]. WT1 is not expressed at appreciable levels in CLL but is overexpressed in AML and displays several prognosis-relevant mutations [69–71]. Despite the role of WT1 in leukemia development, its interaction with Par-4 in these cells has not been studied. PKC is another interacting protein that may be therapeutically beneficial. This atypical protein kinase C transduces signals from several immune cell receptors, such as Toll-like receptors (TLR) and B cell receptors, making it critical to the function of healthy B cells and contributing to pro-survival signaling in leukemia cells [72–75]. These features of PKCζ suggest a significant role in disease and its study as part of the Par-4 pathway in leukemia could lead to therapeutic strategies that target survival signaling.

Many of the proteins within the Par-4 pathway have been studied in hematological malignancies and found to be clinically relevant, but there have been very few studies examining the direct influence of Par-4 itself. Bcl-2 and WT1 are examples of survival regulators that have been linked to leukemogenesis and disease progression which are central to the function of Par-4 as an apoptosis inducer. AKT and PKCC transduce signals that activate NF-kB in a pathway that is known to contribute to leukemogenesis and survival of malignant cells, but the involvement of Par-4 has been little described in leukemia despite known interactions within this pathway. Par-4 has already been shown to influence responses to therapy in solid tumor models and further study in leukemia could yield similar advancements. Some of these proteins have already been targeted with novel therapeutics and Par-4 may be influencing patient responses through unknown mechanisms that require further mechanistic description. Cancer-selective apoptosis induction is the desired outcome of all cancer therapies and is the defining feature of the Par-4

tumor suppressor pathway. Considering that the few studies of Par-4 in leukemia have shown involvement in survival and proliferation mechanisms, further exploration into this pathway in hematological malignancies would likely reveal novel strategies to enhance response to therapies and lead to significant advancements in cancer treatment.

References

- National Cancer Institute D, Surveillance Research Program, Data Modeling Branch. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program Prevalence database: US Estimated 39-Year L-D Prevalence Counts on 1/1/2014, 2017
- 2. John E, Niederhuber JOA, Doroshow JH, Kastan MB, Tepper JE (2020) Abeloff's clinical oncology, 6th edn. Elsevier
- Burger JA (2020) Treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med 383:460–473
- Terwilliger T, Abdul-Hay M (2017) Acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a comprehensive review and 2017 update. Blood Cancer J 7:e577
- Weng AP, Ferrando AA, Lee W et al (2004) Activating mutations of NOTCH1 in human T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Science 306:269–271
- Sulong S, Moorman AV, Irving JA et al (2009) A comprehensive analysis of the CDKN2A gene in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia reveals genomic deletion, copy number neutral loss of heterozygosity, and association with specific cytogenetic subgroups. Blood 113:100–107
- Burger JA, Chiorazzi N (2013) B cell receptor signaling in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Trends Immunol 34:592–601
- Short NJ, Konopleva M, Kadia TM et al (2020) Advances in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia: new drugs and new challenges. Cancer Discov 10:506–525
- Cazzola M (2020) Myelodysplastic syndromes. N Engl J Med 383:1358–1374
- Thompson PA, Kantarjian HM, Cortes JE (2015) Diagnosis and treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia in 2015. Mayo Clin Proc 90:1440–1454
- Jabbour E, Kantarjian H (2020) Chronic myeloid leukemia: 2020 update on diagnosis, therapy and monitoring. Am J Hematol 95:691–709
- Johnstone RW, See RH, Sells SF et al (1996) A novel repressor, par-4, modulates transcription and growth suppression functions of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Mol Cell Biol 16:6945–6956
- Boghaert ER, Sells SF, Walid AJ et al (1997) Immunohistochemical analysis of the proapoptotic protein Par-4 in normal rat tissues. Cell Growth Differ 8:881–890
- El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23:5516–5525
- Gurumurthy S, Goswami A, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase a is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25:1146–1161
- 16. de Thonel A, Hazoume A, Kochin V et al (2014) Regulation of the proapoptotic functions of prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) by casein kinase 2 in prostate cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 5:e1016
- Nalca A, Qiu SG, El-Guendy N, Krishnan S, Rangnekar VM (1999) Oncogenic Ras sensitizes cells to apoptosis by Par-4. J Biol Chem 274:29976–29983
- Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR, Rangnekar VM (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138:377–388

- Diaz-Meco MT, Lallena MJ, Monjas A, Frutos S, Moscat J (1999) Inactivation of the inhibitory kappaB protein kinase/nuclear factor kappaB pathway by Par-4 expression potentiates tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 274:19606–19612
- Chang S, Kim JH, Shin J (2002) p62 forms a ternary complex with PKCzeta and PAR-4 and antagonizes PAR-4-induced PKCzeta inhibition. FEBS Lett 510:57–61
- Diaz-Meco MT, Municio MM, Frutos S et al (1996) The product of par-4, a gene induced during apoptosis, interacts selectively with the atypical isoforms of protein kinase C. Cell 86:777–786
- Chaudhry P, Singh M, Parent S, Asselin E (2012) Prostate apoptosis response 4 (Par-4), a novel substrate of caspase-3 during apoptosis activation. Mol Cell Biol 32:826–839
- Chow KU, Nowak D, Hofmann W, Schneider B, Hofmann WK (2005) Imatinib induces apoptosis in CLL lymphocytes with high expression of Par-4. Leukemia 19:1103–1105. author reply 1105-1106; discussion 1106–1107
- 24. Jagtap JC, Dawood P, Shah RD et al (2014) Expression and regulation of prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) in human glioma stem cells in drug-induced apoptosis. PLoS One 9:e88505
- 25. Jagtap JC, Parveen D, Shah RD et al (2015) Secretory prostate apoptosis response (par)-4 sensitizes multicellular spheroids (MCS) of glioblastoma multiforme cells to tamoxifen-induced cell death. FEBS Open Bio 5:8–19
- Alvarez JV, Pan TC, Ruth J et al (2013) Par-4 downregulation promotes breast cancer recurrence by preventing multinucleation following targeted therapy. Cancer Cell 24:30–44
- Moreno-Bueno G, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Collado M et al (2007) Inactivation of the candidate tumor suppressor par-4 in endometrial cancer. Cancer Res 67:1927–1934
- 28. Pruitt K, Ulku AS, Frantz K et al (2005) Ras-mediated loss of the pro-apoptotic response protein Par-4 is mediated by DNA hypermethylation through Raf-independent and Raf-dependent signaling cascades in epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 280:23363–23370
- 29. Boehrer S, Chow KU, Puccetti E et al (2001) Deregulated expression of prostate apoptosis response gene-4 in less differentiated lymphocytes and inverse expressional patterns of par-4 and bcl-2 in acute lymphocytic leukemia. Hematol J 2:103–107
- Cook J, Krishnan S, Ananth S et al (1999) Decreased expression of the pro-apoptotic protein Par-4 in renal cell carcinoma. Oncogene 18:1205–1208
- Garcia-Cao I, Lafuente MJ, Criado LM, Diaz-Meco MT, Serrano M, Moscat J (2003) Genetic inactivation of Par4 results in hyperactivation of NF-kappaB and impairment of JNK and p38. EMBO Rep 4:307–312
- Garcia-Cao I, Duran A, Collado M et al (2005) Tumour-suppression activity of the proapoptotic regulator Par4. EMBO Rep 6:577–583
- 33. Bojarska-Junak A, Sieklucka M, Hus I et al (2011) Assessment of the pathway of apoptosis involving PAR-4, DAXX and ZIPK proteins in CLL patients and its relationship with the principal prognostic factors. Folia Histochem Cytobiol 49:98–103
- 34. Boehrer S, Chow KU, Beske F et al (2002) In lymphatic cells par-4 sensitizes to apoptosis by down-regulating bcl-2 and promoting disruption of mitochondrial membrane potential and caspase activation. Cancer Res 62:1768–1775
- 35. Almamun M, Levinson BT, van Swaay AC et al (2015) Integrated methylome and transcriptome analysis reveals novel regulatory elements in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Epigenetics 10:882–890
- 36. Cheema SK, Mishra SK, Rangnekar VM, Tari AM, Kumar R, Lopez-Berestein G (2003) Par-4 transcriptionally regulates Bcl-2 through a WT1-binding site on the bcl-2 promoter. J Biol Chem 278:19995–20005
- 37. Wong NC, Bhadri VA, Maksimovic J et al (2014) Stability of gene expression and epigenetic profiles highlights the utility of patientderived paediatric acute lymphoblastic leukaemia xenografts for

investigating molecular mechanisms of drug resistance. BMC Genomics 15:416

- Marcucci G, Maharry K, Wu YZ et al (2010) IDH1 and IDH2 gene mutations identify novel molecular subsets within de novo cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia: a cancer and leukemia group B study. J Clin Oncol 28:2348–2355
- Damm F, Thol F, Hollink I et al (2011) Prevalence and prognostic value of IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in childhood AML: a study of the AML-BFM and DCOG study groups. Leukemia 25:1704–1710
- Lavallee VP, Gendron P, Lemieux S, D'Angelo G, Hebert J, Sauvageau G (2015) EVI1-rearranged acute myeloid leukemias are characterized by distinct molecular alterations. Blood 125:140–143
- 41. Paschka P, Schlenk RF, Gaidzik VI et al (2010) IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are frequent genetic alterations in acute myeloid leukemia and confer adverse prognosis in cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia with NPM1 mutation without FLT3 internal tandem duplication. J Clin Oncol 28:3636–3643
- 42. Groschel S, Schlenk RF, Engelmann J et al (2013) Deregulated expression of EVI1 defines a poor prognostic subset of MLLrearranged acute myeloid leukemias: a study of the German-Austrian acute myeloid leukemia study group and the Dutch-Belgian-Swiss HOVON/SAKK cooperative group. J Clin Oncol 31:95–103
- 43. Barjesteh van Waalwijk van Doorn-Khosrovani S, Erpelinck C, van Putten WL et al (2003) High EVI1 expression predicts poor survival in acute myeloid leukemia: a study of 319 de novo AML patients. Blood 101:837–845
- 44. Mahadevan D, DiMento J, Croce KD et al (2006) Transcriptosome and serum cytokine profiling of an atypical case of myelodysplastic syndrome with progression to acute myelogenous leukemia. Am J Hematol 81:779–786
- 45. Boosen M, Vetterkind S, Kubicek J, Scheidtmann KH, Illenberger S, Preuss U (2009) Par-4 is an essential downstream target of DAPlike kinase (Dlk) in Dlk/Par-4-mediated apoptosis. Mol Biol Cell 20:4010–4020
- 46. Boehrer S, Brieger A, Schaaf S et al (2004) In the erythroleukemic cell line HEL prostate-apoptosis-response-gene-4 (par-4) fails to down-regulate Bcl-2 and to promote apoptosis. Leuk Lymphoma 45:1445–1451
- 47. Lu C, Li JY, Ge Z, Zhang L, Zhou GP (2013) Par-4/THAP1 complex and Notch3 competitively regulated pre-mRNA splicing of CCAR1 and affected inversely the survival of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. Oncogene 32:5602–5613
- Zhang L, Xu HG, Lu C (2014) A novel long non-coding RNA T-ALL-R-LncR1 knockdown and Par-4 cooperate to induce cellular apoptosis in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. Leuk Lymphoma 55:1373–1382
- 49. Brieger A, Boehrer S, Schaaf S et al (2004) In bcr-abl-positive myeloid cells resistant to conventional chemotherapeutic agents, expression of Par-4 increases sensitivity to imatinib (STI571) and histone deacetylase-inhibitors. Biochem Pharmacol 68:85–93
- McGahon A, Bissonnette R, Schmitt M, Cotter KM, Green DR, Cotter TG (1994) BCR-ABL maintains resistance of chronic myelogenous leukemia cells to apoptotic cell death. Blood 83:1179–1187
- Kukoc-Zivojnov N, Puccetti E, Chow KU et al (2004) Prostate apoptosis response gene-4 (par-4) abrogates the survival function of p185(BCR-ABL) in hematopoietic cells. Exp Hematol 32:649–656
- Bichi R, Shinton SA, Martin ES et al (2002) Human chronic lymphocytic leukemia modeled in mouse by targeted TCL1 expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:6955–6960
- McKenna MK, Noothi SK, Alhakeem SS et al (2018) Novel role of prostate apoptosis response-4 tumor suppressor in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 131:2943–2954
- 54. Pettitt AR, Sherrington PD, Stewart G, Cawley JC, Taylor AM, Stankovic T (2001) p53 dysfunction in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: inactivation of ATM as an alternative to TP53 mutation. Blood 98:814–822

- 55. Fecteau JF, Corral LG, Ghia EM et al (2014) Lenalidomide inhibits the proliferation of CLL cells via a cereblon/p21(WAF1/ Cip1)-dependent mechanism independent of functional p53. Blood 124:1637–1644
- 56. Cheng S, Guo A, Lu P, Ma J, Coleman M, Wang YL (2015) Functional characterization of BTK(C481S) mutation that confers ibrutinib resistance: exploration of alternative kinase inhibitors. Leukemia 29:895–900
- Woyach JA, Ruppert AS, Guinn D et al (2017) BTK(C481S)mediated resistance to ibrutinib in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Oncol 35:1437–1443
- Hebbar N, Burikhanov R, Shukla N et al (2017) A naturally generated decoy of the prostate apoptosis response-4 protein overcomes therapy resistance in tumors. Cancer Res 77:4039–4050
- 59. Hertlein E, Beckwith KA, Lozanski G et al (2013) Characterization of a new chronic lymphocytic leukemia cell line for mechanistic in vitro and in vivo studies relevant to disease. PLoS One 8:e76607
- Kellner J, Wierda W, Shpall E, Keating M, McNiece I (2016) Isolation of a novel chronic lymphocytic leukemic (CLL) cell line and development of an in vivo mouse model of CLL. Leuk Res 40:54–59
- Oltersdorf T, Elmore SW, Shoemaker AR et al (2005) An inhibitor of Bcl-2 family proteins induces regression of solid tumours. Nature 435:677–681
- Baev DV, Krawczyk J, Szegezdi E (2014) The BH3-mimetic ABT-737 effectively kills acute myeloid leukemia initiating cells. Leuk Res Rep 3:79–82
- Roberts AW, Davids MS, Pagel JM et al (2016) Targeting BCL2 with venetoclax in relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med 374:311–322
- 64. Papa V, Tazzari PL, Chiarini F et al (2008) Proapoptotic activity and chemosensitizing effect of the novel Akt inhibitor perifosine in acute myelogenous leukemia cells. Leukemia 22:147–160
- Herman SE, Gordon AL, Wagner AJ et al (2010) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-delta inhibitor CAL-101 shows promising preclinical

activity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia by antagonizing intrinsic and extrinsic cellular survival signals. Blood 116:2078–2088

- 66. Balakrishnan K, Fu M, Onida F, Wierda WG, Keating MJ, Gandhi V (2016) Reactivation of Smac-mediated apoptosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells: mechanistic studies of Smac mimetic. Oncotarget 7:39458–39472
- 67. Balakrishnan K, Peluso M, Fu M et al (2015) The phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K)-delta and gamma inhibitor, IPI-145 (Duvelisib), overcomes signals from the PI3K/AKT/S6 pathway and promotes apoptosis in CLL. Leukemia 29:1811–1822
- Joshi J, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Galvez A et al (2008) Par-4 inhibits Akt and suppresses Ras-induced lung tumorigenesis. EMBO J 27:2181–2193
- 69. Inoue K, Ogawa H, Sonoda Y et al (1997) Aberrant overexpression of the Wilms tumor gene (WT1) in human leukemia. Blood 89:1405–1412
- Weisser M, Kern W, Rauhut S et al (2005) Prognostic impact of RT-PCR-based quantification of WT1 gene expression during MRD monitoring of acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia 19:1416–1423
- 71. Menssen HD, Bertelmann E, Bartelt S et al (2000) Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) expression in lung cancer, colon cancer and glioblastoma cell lines compared to freshly isolated tumor specimens. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 126:226–232
- Martin P, Duran A, Minguet S et al (2002) Role of zeta PKC in B-cell signaling and function. EMBO J 21:4049–4057
- Leseux L, Laurent G, Laurent C et al (2008) PKC zeta mTOR pathway: a new target for rituximab therapy in follicular lymphoma. Blood 111:285–291
- 74. Huang X, Chen LY, Doerner AM et al (2009) An atypical protein kinase C (PKC zeta) plays a critical role in lipopolysaccharideactivated NF-kappa B in human peripheral blood monocytes and macrophages. J Immunol 182:5810–5815
- Leitges M, Sanz L, Martin P et al (2001) Targeted disruption of the zetaPKC gene results in the impairment of the NF-kappaB pathway. Mol Cell 8:771–780

Check for updates

Potential of PAR-4 as a Therapeutic Target for Pancreatic Cancer

Md. Hafiz Uddin, Asfar S. Azmi, and Ramzi M. Mohammad

Abstract

Pancreatic cancer is a lethal malignancy with an increased incidence. The disease lacks biomarkers and actionable molecular targets. KRAS, P53, SMAD, and CDKN2A are known prevalent mutations in this disease. Prostate apoptosis response-4 (PAR-4) is involved with these signaling and all of them negatively regulate PAR-4. So far, targeting NF-KB and BCL-2 with chemopreventive agents and small molecule inhibitors has shown to induce apoptosis in pancreatic cancer via the upregulation of PAR-4. Unfortunately, the role of PAR-4 gene in the biology of pancreatic cancer is largely ignored despite being adequately described in various cancer types. Pancreatic cancer is believed to be largely driven by KRAS mutation which is inversely correlated with PAR-4 expression. A relationship exists between PAR-4, drug resistance, survival signaling molecules including NF-KB and BCL-2. In this chapter, we highlight the role of PAR-4 and its significance as a molecular target in pancreatic cancer treatment.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} PAR-4 \cdot Pancreatic \ cancer \cdot KRAS \cdot P53 \cdot NF{\mbox{\sc KB}} \cdot \\ BCL-2 \cdot Chemo \ preventive \ agents \cdot Small \ molecule \\ inhibitors \cdot Nuclear \ export \cdot \ KPT{\sc HS} \cdot Export in \ 1 \\ (XPO1) \cdot Chromosomal \ region \ maintenance \ 1 \ (CRM1) \end{array}$

1 Introduction

Pancreatic cancer is one of the most lethal malignancies and the third leading cause of cancer related deaths in the United States [1]. Attempt at curative resection after diagnosis is

M. H. Uddin · A. S. Azmi · R. M. Mohammad (🖂)

Department of Oncology, Wayne State University School of Medicine, Karmanos Cancer Institute, Detroit, MI, USA e-mail: mohammad@karmanos.org

possible in less than 20% of patients. Of those patients who are eligible for surgery, only 20% survive for more than 5 years despite improvements in adjuvant chemotherapy. Treatment of advanced disease is palliative with a limited number of options. Single agent gemcitabine produces a response rate (RR) of 5-10% with median overall survival (OS) of 6 months [2]. A combination of gemcitabine and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-targeted agent erlotinib showed a marginal 2-week improvement in median OS [3]. In the phase III MPACT trial, gemcitabine in combination with nab-paclitaxel showed some benefits, an increase of OS for 1.8 months compared to gemcitabine monotherapy [4]. Though a combination of fluorouracil, leucovorin, irinotecan, and oxaliplatin (FOLFIRINOX) provided survival advantage (median OS 11.1 months vs 6.8 months) over gemcitabine, but it was associated with significant grade 3 or 4 toxicities [5, 6]. Lately other targeted agents such as poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitor olaparib [7] and neurotrophic tyrosine receptor kinase (NTRK) inhibitor larotrectinib and entrectinib have been introduced [8]. Aberrant regulations of many signaling pathways contribute to pancreatic cancer progression. Approximately 90% of pancreatic cancers harbor Kirsten rat sarcoma (KRAS) mutation with dysregulated KRAS signaling [9]. The rare KRASg12c mutation can be targeted using covalent inhibitors [10, 11] and clinical trials with MRTX849 are ongoing (NCT03785249; NCT04330664). Frequent deregulations also occur in NOTCH, Sonic Hedgehog (sHH), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), EGFR, and nuclear factor kappa B (NF-κB) signaling [12, 13]. The invasive potential of pancreatic cancer is largely influenced by upregulated NOTCH signaling and its cross-talks with EGFR and NF-KB signaling [13]. Therapeutic targeted agent OMP-54F28 that binds to the WNT ligands is in phase I clinical trial (NCT02050178). Overexpression of sHH pathway molecule smoothened protein (SMO) in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) results in cancer metastasis [12, 14]. Although it seems promising, sHH SMO inhibitor vismodegib in combination with gemcitabine showed unsatisfactory results in phase II clinical trial (NCT01064622) [15]. Because of small incremental advantages of different targeted agents, there is an urgent necessity for better and less toxic options.

PRKC, apoptosis, WT1, regulator or PAWR also known as prostate apoptosis response-4 (PAR-4) is a tumorsuppressor protein that induces apoptotic cell death in cancer cells, but not in normal cells [16, 17]. It was identified first in the apoptotic cells of rat prostate cancer [18]. The importance of PAR-4 has been demonstrated in prostate and other cancer types; however, its significance in pancreatic cancer has not been fully evaluated [19]. Tumor progression and acquired chemoresistance of pancreatic cancer is influenced by oncogenic KRAS, BCL-2, TGF-β, and NF-κB signaling [20–23]. PAR-4 is involved with these signaling molecules, and all of them negatively regulate PAR-4. So far, targeting NF-KB and BCL-2 with chemopreventive agents and small molecule inhibitors has shown to induce apoptosis in pancreatic cancer via the upregulation of PAR-4. Moreover, ectopic expression of PAR-4 sensitized pancreatic cancer cells to cytotoxic agents with subsequent apoptotic cell death. Based on current evidence, PAR-4 is a promising candidate for targeting in this deadly disease [24].

2 PAR-4 and Its Significance in Pancreatic Cancer

The chromosomal location of *PAR-4* gene is 12q21 that is frequently deleted in pancreatic cancer [25] and associated with poor prognosis [26]. Kimura et al. observed deletion of a region between D12S81 and D12S1719 at 12q21 location at a frequency of 67.5% by microsatellite analysis of 40 pancreatic tumors and 19 pancreatic cancer cells lines [25]. PAR-4 is under the regulation of several genes including *KRAS*. The occurrence of somatic mutations of *KRAS* in pancreatic cancer is most frequent among different cancer [27]. The mechanism of oncogenic KRAS regulation of PAR-4 [24] is an interesting topic and will be discussed in the following section.

PAR-4 shows differential subcellular localization in normal cells and most cancers [28–31]. In normal cells, PAR-4 is typically found in the cytoplasm whereas in cancer cells it is present both in cytoplasm and in nucleus based on cancer cell lines and clinical specimens [32]. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF), TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL), cytotoxic agents, or ionizing radiation-induced apoptosis may be prevented by the inhibition of PAR-4 with a variety of approaches including application of antisense oligonucleotides, a dominant negative leucine zipper domain, or RNA interference, suggesting an important role of PAR-4 in diverse apoptotic cell death pathways [33]. Furthermore, the spontaneous tumor development in liver, lung, endometrium, and prostatic epithelium in PAR-4 knockout mice indicates its crucial role in apoptosis [34]. Very recently, it has been demonstrated that Caspase 3 cleaves PAR-4 at D131 position generating a C-terminal activated fragment of 24 kDa. This fragment translocates to the nucleus, inhibits pro-survival genes, and promotes pro-apoptotic processes in cancer cells [35].

Overexpression of PAR-4 can induce apoptosis selectively in cancer cells, but not in normal cells [36] and has important implication in therapy. Cancer cells generally express elevated level of protein kinase A (PKA) [37] which phosphorylates the T155 residue of PAR-4, a critical step to initiate apoptosis [33]. Normal cells are resistant to PAR-4mediated apoptosis; however, forced expression of PKA using cAMP-doxorubicin or vincristine induces apoptosis suggesting an important role of PKA in cancer cells [33]. Besides, PAR-4 activates FAS death receptor signaling pathway along with the inhibition of NF-KB leading to the caspase cascade [38]. Importantly, apoptotic cell death caused by ectopic PAR-4 is independent of P53 or phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) [39]. It has been shown in diabetic mice, islet beta cells undergo apoptosis if PAR-4 is overexpressed. Elevated PAR-4 binds to telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) and inhibits its activity. The binding of PAR-4 to TERT occurs via nuclear localization signal (NLS) and leucine zipper domains which recently demonstrated by biological film interference experiments. Such binding allows the complex to be inside the nucleus and exert its apoptotic functions [40]. Preclinically, in subcutaneous or orthotopic tumor model systems overexpressed PAR-4 was able to induce apoptosis. The inhibition of tumor growth indicates PAR-4 as a potential therapeutic target. Inside the cancer cells, endogenous PAR-4 remains in the cytoplasm in its inactivated state its nuclear translocation is necessary for the induction of apoptosis [39, 41]. Cancer cells avoid apoptosis by keeping PAR-4 in the cytoplasm through binding with AKT1 as well as 14-3-3-mediated cytoplasmic localization [41]. Overall role of PAR-4 has been illustrated in the Fig. 1. How frequently mutated KRAS affect PAR-4 is being discussed in the next section.

3 Oncogenic Mutations and PAR-4

Among oncogenic mutations, *KRAS* is the most important one that regulates PAR-4. KRAS is a GTPase and an upstream player of several signaling pathways [42]. A single substitution mutation causes constant activation of KRAS which results in various malignancies including pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma [43–47]. Oncogenic KRAS promote tumorigenesis partially by suppressing pro-apoptotic genes including PAR-4 [48, 49]. It has been shown that transfection of mutated KRAS (V12) downregulates PAR-4 expression in rat epithelial cells. The study further showed that such a



Fig. 1 Schematic diagram illustrating the role of PAR-4 in pancreatic cancer. Oncogenic KRAS and 12q21 deletion frequently suppresses PAR-4 in pancreatic cancer. The PI3K/AKT signaling interferes with the translocation of PAR-4 to the nucleus via 14-3-3 protein. Expression of PAR-4 either by PKA, pharmacological inducer (B-DIM, NGD16, TW-37, and ApoG2) or ectopic overexpression affects multiple signaling pathways in pancreatic cancer cells including translocation of PAR-4 in the nucleus. Elevated PAR-4 induces apoptosis via direct induction of FAS death receptor, SMAD4 signaling or disrupting SMAD4-negative regulators NM23H1 and STRAP's interaction. BMP7 can activate SMAD4 signaling via ALK2. Upon nuclear translocation SMAD4 activates transcription of MET-associated genes. In the nucleus, PAR-4 can inhibit TWIST-1 transcription (directly or via induction of miR-200c), MDM-2-mediated P53 degradation and NF-KB resulting disruption of EMT and anti-apoptotic activity by ZEB-1, BCL-2, and other molecules. Blocking nuclear exporter XPO1 by KPT-185 can enhance nuclear accumulation of PAR-4. In the cytoplasm, activated Caspase 3 can cleave PAR-4 generating a 24 kDa fragment which can inhibit pro-survival gene transcription in the nucleus. The

arrows indicate positive regulation, a blunt line indicates inhibition and dotted arrow indicates possible induction. Abbreviations: ALK-2, activin receptor-like kinase-2; ApoG2, apogossypolone; BCL-2, B-cell leukemia and lymphoma 2; B-DIM, bioavailable 3,3'-diindolylmethane; BMP7, bone morphogenetic protein 7; EMT, epithelialmesenchymal transition; KRAS, Kirsten rat sarcoma; MDM-2, murine double minute-2; MET, mesenchymal-epithelial transition; miR, microRNA; MMP-2, matrix metalloproteinase-2; NF-KB, nuclear factor kappa NGD16, 1,1'-β-D-glucopyranosyl-3,3'-bis(5-B: bromoindolyl)-octyl methane; NM23H1, NME/NM23 nucleoside diphosphate kinase 1; PAR-4, prostate apoptosis response-4; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; PKA, protein kinase A; PTEN, phosphatase and tensin homolog; SINE, selective inhibitor of nuclear export; SMAD-4, mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 4; STRAP, serinethreonine kinase receptor-associated protein; TGF-B, transforming growth factor beta; TIMP1, TIMP metallopeptidase inhibitor 1; TWIST-1, twist family bHLH transcription factor 1; XPO1, exportin 1; ZEB-1, Zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 1

decrease of PAR-4 is associated with promoter hypermethylation of PAR-4 in a mitogen-activated protein kinase (MEK)dependent manner [50]. Barradas et al. studied mutated KRAS in NIH3T3 mouse fibroblast cells and speculated the involvement of oncogenic RAS products in PAR-4 downregulation through modulation of RAF/PKC-MEK pathway without P53 and P16/19 dependency [51]. From these two studies, it can be assumed that PAR-4 downregulation by mutated KRAS might be dependent on cell types and/or mutational status.

Ahmed et al. analyzed PAR-4 expression and KRAS mutational status in a retrospective study utilizing 4 pancreatic cancer cell lines, 10 normal pancreatic cells, 44 frozen and 25 paraffin-embedded tumor tissue samples by quantitative PCR, western blotting, immunohistochemistry, and allele-specific oligonucleotide hybridization [52]. They observed a correlation between KRAS mutation and PAR-4 expression. The study demonstrated a lower expression of PAR-4 when oncogenic KRAS transiently transfected in BxPC-3 pancreatic cancer cells which harbor wild-type KRAS. About 70% of the frozen tissue and paraffinembedded tissue samples showed significant downregulation of PAR-4 and a correlation with KRAS mutational status [52]. Our study on the baseline expression of PAR-4 in a panel of pancreatic cancer cell lines is in agreement with Ahmed et al. findings where higher expression of PAR-4 BxPC-3 cells was detected [19, 53].

4 Regulation and Interaction of PAR-4 with Other Proteins

The B-cell leukemia and lymphoma 2 (BCL-2) oncogene promotes the survival of cancer cells mainly through is antiapoptotic function [54]. In normal prostate basal epithelia, it has been shown that PAR-4 is co-expressed along with BCL-2 [55]. However, in mice prostate cancer xenograft and in acute lymphocytic leukemia PAR-4 and BCL-2 have an inverse correlation [32, 56]. In vitro data from NIH3T3 mouse fibroblasts and PC3 prostate cancer cells demonstrated that ectopically expressed PAR-4 downregulates BCL-2 expression [56]. In pancreatic cancer, BCL-2 overexpressed and considered as a promising target [57, 58]. In pancreatic cancer mice model, the BCL-2 family member BCL-XL was shown to regulated by EGFR signal via the activated transcription factors NF-KB and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) [59]. It has been demonstrated that BCL-2 can activate NF-KB via inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa B kinase subunit beta (ΙΚΚβ) involving RAF/MEK signaling in pancreatic cancer [60]. The inverse relationship between BCL-2 and PAR-4 indicates a beneficial role of BCL-2 inhibition in PAR-4-induced apoptotic cell death. These studies suggest that BCL-2 plays multiple roles in pancreatic cancer in suppressing PAR-4 beyond its classical anti-apoptotic function.

Recently, co-immunoprecipitation and subsequent massspectrometry identified tripartite motif containing protein 21 (TRIM21) as a novel regulator of PAR-4 in colon and pancreatic cancer cells. TRIM21 has been demonstrated as predictive and prognostic marker for pancreatic cancer [61]. Further analysis showed that endogenous interaction between PAR-4 and TRIM21 occurs through the PRYSPRY domain. TRIM21 shown to exert platinum resistance might be through the suppression of PAR-4 expression upon cisplatin treatment in colon and BxPC-3, MIA PaCa-2, AsPc-1 pancreatic cancer cells. Forced expression of PAR-4 has been shown to sensitize pancreatic cancer cells to cisplatin [61].

PAR-4 binds to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress inducer glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78) via SAC domain independently of its carboxyterminal leucine zipper domain [36] and plays an important role in the alteration of indolylkojyl methane analog 5 (IKM5)-induced modulation of GRP78-TIMP metallopeptidase inhibitor 1 (TIMP1) complex. Therefore, it is likely that GRP78 inhibition can free intracellular PAR-4 which may assist its nuclear import to exert apoptotic function or blockade of NF-KB activity [62-64]. In cancer cells, downregulated NF-κB could suppress both twist family bHLH transcription factor 1 (TWIST-1) and TWIST-2 immediately that directly prevents apoptosis [65]. This is very important as TWIST-1 can repress E-cadherin transcriptionally by binding to the E-boxes 2/3 in the promoter region [66]. Such tumor suppressive role of PAR-4 suggests its therapeutic potential. In fact, in metastatic pancreatic cancer cells, pharmacological overexpression of PAR-4 shown to enhance activin receptor-like kinase-2/mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 4 (ALK-2/SMAD-4) signaling resulted in downregulation of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) markers along with the upregulation of mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET) [67]. These findings strongly suggest a crucial role of PAR-4 in pancreatic cancer cell proliferation, invasion, and progression of disease (Fig. 1).

5 Role of PAR-4 in Pancreatic Cancer Drug Resistance

Platinum resistance is an impediment to successful treatment in pancreatic and other cancers. However, the mechanism(s) involved in the process remains largely unknown [68]. A study showed that cisplatin-resistant BxPC-3/CDDP cells have low levels of PAR-4 both at transcriptomic and proteomic levels. Overexpression and knockdown of PAR-4 confirms its association with cisplatin resistance both in vitro and in vivo BxPC-3 xenograft model system [69]. Mechanistically, downregulated PAR-4 allows significant activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT signaling and cisplatin resistance. This finding was validated using PI3K/AKT inhibitor LY294002 in PAR-4 siRNA-transfected cisplatin-resistant BxPC-3/CDDP tumor model system [69]. Above findings warrant further investigation to determine the role of PAR-4 in the resistance of cisplatin and other cytotoxic drugs [69]. Similar mechanism of cisplatin resistance also observed in colon and pancreatic cancer cells as

described above possibly involving TRIM21 for the downregulation of PAR-4 expression [61]. Therefore, targeting PAR-4 to reverse cisplatin resistance may be of major clinical importance.

Gemcitabine, a deoxycytidine analog that inhibits DNA replication is used since 1997 as first-line of chemotherapy for advanced pancreatic cancer [70, 71]. Unfortunately, the progression-free survival (PFS) is very short largely because of de novo and acquired resistance [72]. Role of extra cellular matrix (ECM) remodeling were recognized by some studies through interference with uptake of gemcitabine by tumor cells [73, 74]. Moreover, EMT-induced chemoresistance in pancreatic cancer has been suggested in recent years [75] which adds further complexity to acquired drug resistance. The human homolog of murine double minute-2 (MDM-2) overexpression is associated with EMT phenotypes of the cancer cells which is under the regulation of PAR-4 [67]. Role of MDM-2 in EMT in relation to PAR-4 will be discussed in the later part of this chapter. Though MDM-2 protein is not a direct target of gemcitabine-based chemotherapy, it induces the expression of MDM-2 in advanced PDAC [76-79] possibly through the off-target effects. A study demonstrated in vitro and preclinical mouse model system that gemcitabine resistance in PDAC was associated with MDM-2 overexpression and induction of PAR-4 and that the use of NGD16 reduced such resistance [80].

6 Role of PAR-4 in Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT)

TGF-β plays a differential role in the process of oncogenesis and tumor progression [81, 82]. In the early phase of pancreatic cancer development, TGF- β promotes apoptosis and inhibits cell cycle progression. However, in later phase it promotes tumor growth and metastasis though the regulation of genomic instability, neo-angiogenesis, immune evasion, and cell motility [83]. In the presence of TGF- β , Panc-1 cells with PAR-4 homozygous deletion fail to induce SMAD4 significantly compared to wild-type. Inversely, ectopic expression of PAR-4 restored SMAD4 activity and stabilizes TGF- β /SMAD4 axis in the same cell line by the abrogation of NME/NM23 nucleoside diphosphate kinase 1 (NM23H1) and serine-threonine kinase receptor-associated protein (STRAP) interaction [83]. The PAR-4 associated EMT was also observed in BXPC-3 pancreatic cancer cells [69]. In BxPC-3 cells, downregulated PAR-4-mediated EMT has been shown to be dependent on PI3K/AKT pathway. Study revealed that one of the mechanistic possibilities is the inability of reduced PAR-4 to inhibit PI3K/AKT signaling. In lung cancer, elevated PAR-4 inhibits AKT via the regulation of protein kinase C, zeta (PKCζ) [84, 85]. Another pos-

sibility is the negative regulation PI3K/AKT through PTEN as both PAR-4 and PTEN are mutually induced in the cancer cells [86]. The downregulated PAR-4-mediated EMT though observed in pancreatic cells, opposite results were observed in A549 lung cancer cells [87] and no effect observed in breast cancer cells [88]. These findings suggest that PAR-4mediated EMT may be cancer cell type specific. With the reduced basal levels of PAR-4 seen in different pancreatic and other cancer cell lines, it is worthy to explore the EMT phenotype in such cells. Ahmed et al. (2020) observed reduced expression of PAR-4 and enhanced EMT processes in Panc-1 cells resistant to gemcitabine. They demonstrated that ectopic overexpression of PAR-4 or induction of PAR-4 by pharmacological modulator NGD16 reversed EMT by attenuating MDM-2. Higher level of PAR-4 results in the downregulation of EMT markers TWIST-1, and Zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 1 (ZEB-1) along with the elevation of E-cadherin, P53, and TIMP1. They also observed inverse effect when PAR-4 was silenced by RNAi technique. Moreover, through immunoprecipitation experiment, this study confirmed the role of PAR-4 in the disruption of P53-MDM-2 interaction, further supporting its importance in

EMT [80]. Involvement of bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) in the downregulation of TGF-β1-induced EMT in developmental stages is well recognized [89-91]. One of the BMPs member, BMP7 was demonstrated to induce MET by stabilizing positive expression ratio of E-cadherin and Vimentin [92, 93]. BMP7 also reported to upregulate ALK2 during the induction of MET [94]. Interestingly, pharmacological inducer of PAR-4 has shown to increase the expression of ALK2 both in Panc-1 and MIA PaCa-2 cells. Elevated PAR-4 also modulates several EMT and MET-associated proteins including vimentin, TWIST-1 and SMAD4 in these cells [90, 92, 93]. BMP7 also has been shown to play an antagonistic role on zinc finger protein SNAI1 (SNAIL) and enhance E-cadherin expression [95]. In a nutshell, induction of PAR-4 in cancer cells with SMAD4+/+ background poses potential prospect in development of anti-metastatic therapy.

Recently, role of microRNA (miR) has been discovered involving PAR-4 in the EMT process in pancreatic cancer cell lines. Katoch et al. (2020) showed that miR-200c not only regulates cellular proliferation but also EMT in Panc-1 cells and in vivo syngeneic mouse pancreatic cancer model system [96]. miR-200 family promotes metastasis by deregulating EMT possibly through the negative interaction with ZEB-1 protein in several cancers [97, 98]. Suppression of tumor promotion and invasion by miR-200c is evident in pancreatic cancer from earlier studies [99]. A study observed concomitant augmentation of miR-200c in PAR-4 transfected cells which delays the expression of crucial mesenchymal markers including TGF-β1, TGF-β2, ZEB-1, and TWIST-1 and enhance the expression of E-cadherin. The pharmacological induction of PAR-4 with NGD16 also increases miR-200c and downregulates ZEB-1. Silencing of PAR-4 reverses the effect on EMT markers as well as miR-200c [96]. This finding indicates intricate relationship of PAR-4 and miR in the EMT process in pancreatic cancer and this area requires further exploration (Fig. 1).

7 Chemopreventive Agents as an Inducer of PAR-4

7.1 3,3'-Diindolylmethane

Chemoprevention is the use of natural, synthetic, or biological agents to suppress, reverse, or prevent the cancer progression. A study has demonstrated that chemopreventive agent 3,3'-diindolylmethane (DIM) or its bioavailable formulation, B-DIM upregulates PAR-4 in L3.6pl and Colo-357 pancreatic cancer cells even in very low concentration (20 μ mol/L). DIM was effective in inducing apoptotic cell death, growth inhibition might be through the induction of PAR-4. In addition, DIM was able to sensitize cancer cells to standard chemotherapeutic drug gemcitabine via overexpression of PAR-4 [53].

7.2 NGD16

It has been reported that $1,1'-\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-3,3'-bis(5bromoindolyl)-octyl methane (NGD16), an N-glycosylated derivative of DIM induce PAR-4 and abrogates EMT. This study further demonstrated that NGD16 treatment differentially affect the expression of epithelial and mesenchymal markers such as E-cadherin, Vimentin, and TWIST-1 via induction of PAR-4 both in vitro and in vivo models. Moreover, in pancreatic cancer cells MET was triggered by NGD16 in a PAR-4-dependent manner through augmentation of ALK2/SMAD4 signaling [67]. Involvement of PAR-4 in the MET process has been confirmed by endogenous PAR-4 silencing approach. The study observed a diminished E-cadherin expression in PAR-4 silenced cells. An intact SMAD4 is necessary for PAR-4-mediated regulation of E-cadherin. The regulation of E-cadherin by PAR-4 was further modulated by TWIST-1 promoter activity in the pancreatic cancer cells [67].

Anti-malarial drug chloroquine (CQ) and its derivatives hydroxychloroquine (HCQ)-induced PAR-4 in preclinical and clinical setting [100, 101] in lung and prostate cancer. Mechanistically, CQ induces PAR-4 via the activation of P53- RAS-related protein Rab-8B (RAB8B) pathway both in mice and cancer patient's normal cell. The studies have indicated that secretion of CQ or HCQ-induced PAR-4 by normal cells can cause paracrine apoptosis to tumor cells and can inhibit lung metastasis in vivo [100, 101]. Though it is likely CQ and HCQ possibly will induce PAR-4 in pancreatic cancer but has not been tested yet.

8 Small Molecule Inhibitors and PAR-4

8.1 BCL-2 Inhibitors

It has been demonstrated that non-peptidic small molecule inhibitors of BCL-2 family proteins apogossypolone (ApoG2) and TW-37 induce growth inhibition and apoptosis PAR-4 dependently. A good correlation (r = 0.92 and $R^2 = 0.95$) exists between apoptotic sensitivity and PAR-4 expression which is supported by siRNA-mediated silencing approach [19]. Nuclear localization PAR-4 is considered a requirement for cellular apoptosis. Treatment of Colo-357 and L3.6pl cells with ApoG2 cause nuclear retention of PAR-4 which was confirmed by 4',6-diamidino-2phenylindole staining. These BCL-2 inhibitors sensitized cancer cells to gemcitabine via induction of apoptosis [19].

8.2 Selective Inhibitor of Nuclear Export (SINE)

SINE compounds including KPT-185, KPT-127, KPT-205, and KPT-227 enhance growth inhibition and apoptosis in pancreatic and other cancer cells [102, 103], but not in normal human pancreatic ductal epithelial cells [103]. This differential effect may be associated with a number of tumor suppressors including PAR-4, forkhead box protein O (FOXO), P73 and P27. Our earlier study reported nuclear accumulation of PAR-4 upon KPT-185 treatment which inhibits the binding of exportin 1 (XPO1) or chromosomal region maintenance 1 (CRM1) with PAR-4 that prevent nuclear export. We have confirmed the consistent nuclear accumulation of PAR-4 along with cytoplasmic reduction by western blotting, immunofluorescence, and immunoprecipitation techniques. Moreover, we have shown mechanistically that mutated XPO1 at Cys-528 or transient RNAi-mediated knockdown of PAR-4 abolish the activity of KPT-185 suggesting their crucial role in apoptotic cell death. SINE compound KPT-330 was able to disrupt the XPO1 and PAR-4 interaction in both mice subcutaneous and orthotopic xenograft tumor model [103].

9 Targeting PAR-4 in Pancreatic Cancer in Clinical Settings

HCO a robust inducer of PAR-4 in plasma that correlates with apoptosis in cancer cells [101]. HCO is usually given at 200 mg twice daily dose for 2 weeks and shown to be safe in clinical settings. A clinical trial with HCO in prostate cancer (NCT03015324) is ongoing to determine the impact of HCO on plasma level of PAR-4 and efficacy in preventing tumor relapse [101]. The initial encouraging findings led to expansion to phase 2 clinical trial with long-term use of HCQ for the prevention of tumor recurrence [101]. Currently, directly targeting PAR-4 agent is not in clinical trials in pancreatic cancer patients. However, clinical study with pancreatic cancer patients treated with selinexor and other chemotherapeutic agents is currently assessing PAR-4 as an apoptotic marker (NCT02178436). Targeting PAR-4 in pancreatic cancer patients is an underexplored area and requires prospective investigation.

10 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

PAR-4 is a tumor suppressor with predominant pro-apoptotic function that inhibits malignant progression. Induction of apoptosis by PAR-4 in cancer cell-specific manner is remarkable. Currently, targeting regulator of PAR-4 in combination with conventional chemotherapy is a rational approach. Research on direct targeting of PAR-4 to treat cancer patients is still in its infancy. Recombinant PAR-4 peptide as a therapeutic option for pancreatic cancer is feasible; however, early experiments with in vivo model demonstrated limited serum persistence of PAR-4 protein [104]. The modified extended PAR-4 peptide PAR-4Ex showed approximately a seven-fold improved biological half-life and significant proapoptotic activity [104]. Improvement of PAR-4 recombinant protein warrants further investigation in clinical setting.

Intra tumor heterogeneity in part gives rise to intrinsic or acquired resistance to therapy. It has been shown that PAR-4 amino-terminal fragment (PAF) is released by various therapy-sensitive cancer cells following therapy which causes apoptosis and checked tumor growth [105]. Both PAF and PAR-4 contain VASA segment which binds with ubiquitin ligase F-box protein 45 (FBXO45) resulting degradation. Excessive production of PAF competitively binds with FBXO45 and protects PAR-4 from degradation [105]. Introduction of PAF in the tumor microenvironment may act as a preventive strategy to overcome therapy resistance. A study demonstrated apoptosis of normal pancreatic islet beta cells in type 2 diabetes which is mediated by elevated PAR-4. The study revealed the interaction of PAR-4 and TERT via nuclear localization signal and leucine zipper domains [40]. These findings indicate the importance of optimum endogenous level of PAR-4 in the cells which may help in optimizing future research on targeted therapy.

References

- 1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A (2017) Cancer statistics, 2017. CA Cancer J Clin 67:7–30
- Burris HA 3rd, Moore MJ, Andersen J, Green MR, Rothenberg ML et al (1997) Improvements in survival and clinical benefit with gemcitabine as first-line therapy for patients with advanced pancreas cancer: a randomized trial. J Clin Oncol 15:2403–2413
- Moore MJ, Goldstein D, Hamm J, Figer A, Hecht JR et al (2007) Erlotinib plus gemcitabine compared with gemcitabine alone in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: a phase III trial of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol 25:1960–1966
- Von Hoff DD, Ervin T, Arena FP, Chiorean EG, Infante J et al (2013) Increased survival in pancreatic cancer with nab-paclitaxel plus gemcitabine. N Engl J Med 369:1691–1703
- Conroy T, Desseigne F, Ychou M, Bouche O, Guimbaud R et al (2011) FOLFIRINOX versus gemcitabine for metastatic pancreatic cancer. N Engl J Med 364:1817–1825
- Mehta A, Hwang WL, Weekes C (2020) The present and future of systemic and microenvironment-targeted therapy for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Ann Pancreat Cancer 3:3
- Parsels LA, Engelke CG, Parsels J, Flanagan SA, Zhang Q et al (2020) Combinatorial efficacy of olaparib with radiation and ATR inhibitor requires PARP1 protein in homologous recombination proficient pancreatic cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 20(2):263–273
- Nevala-Plagemann C, Hidalgo M, Garrido-Laguna I (2020) From state-of-the-art treatments to novel therapies for advanced-stage pancreatic cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 17:108–123
- Collins MA, Bednar F, Zhang Y, Brisset JC, Galban S et al (2012) Oncogenic Kras is required for both the initiation and maintenance of pancreatic cancer in mice. J Clin Invest 122:639–653
- Zeng M, Lu J, Li L, Feru F, Quan C et al (2017) Potent and selective covalent quinazoline inhibitors of KRAS G12C. Cell Chem Biol 24(1005–1016):e1003
- Ostrem JM, Peters U, Sos ML, Wells JA, Shokat KM (2013) K-Ras(G12C) inhibitors allosterically control GTP affinity and effector interactions. Nature 503:548–551
- Olive KP, Jacobetz MA, Davidson CJ, Gopinathan A, McIntyre D et al (2009) Inhibition of Hedgehog signaling enhances delivery of chemotherapy in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer. Science 324:1457–1461
- McCleary-Wheeler AL, McWilliams R, Fernandez-Zapico ME (2012) Aberrant signaling pathways in pancreatic cancer: a two compartment view. Mol Carcinog 51:25–39
- Honselmann KC, Pross M, Jung CM, Wellner UF, Deichmann S et al (2015) Regulation mechanisms of the hedgehog pathway in pancreatic cancer: a review. JOP 16:25–32
- 15. Kim EJ, Sahai V, Abel EV, Griffith KA, Greenson JK et al (2014) Pilot clinical trial of hedgehog pathway inhibitor GDC-0449 (vismodegib) in combination with gemcitabine in patients with metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 20:5937–5945
- Sells SF, Han SS, Muthukkumar S, Maddiwar N, Johnstone R et al (1997) Expression and function of the leucine zipper protein Par-4 in apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 17:3823–3832
- 17. Johnstone RW, See RH, Sells SF, Wang J, Muthukkumar S et al (1996) A novel repressor, par-4, modulates transcription and

growth suppression functions of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Mol Cell Biol 16:6945–6956

- Sells SF, Wood DP Jr, Joshi-Barve SS, Muthukumar S, Jacob RJ et al (1994) Commonality of the gene programs induced by effectors of apoptosis in androgen-dependent and -independent prostate cells. Cell Growth Differ 5:457–466
- Azmi AS, Wang Z, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM, Wang G et al (2008) Critical role of prostate apoptosis response-4 in determining the sensitivity of pancreatic cancer cells to small-molecule inhibitor-induced apoptosis. Mol Cancer Ther 7:2884–2893
- 20. Yang K, Li Y, Lian G, Lin H, Shang C et al (2018) KRAS promotes tumor metastasis and chemoresistance by repressing RKIP via the MAPK-ERK pathway in pancreatic cancer. Int J Cancer 142:2323–2334
- 21. Bai J, Sui J, Demirjian A, Vollmer CM Jr, Marasco W et al (2005) Predominant Bcl-XL knockdown disables antiapoptotic mechanisms: tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-based triple chemotherapy overcomes chemoresistance in pancreatic cancer cells in vitro. Cancer Res 65:2344–2352
- Li Q, Yang G, Feng M, Zheng S, Cao Z et al (2018) NF-kappaB in pancreatic cancer: Its key role in chemoresistance. Cancer Lett 421:127–134
- Li J, Wu H, Li W, Yin L, Guo S et al (2016) Downregulated miR-506 expression facilitates pancreatic cancer progression and chemoresistance via SPHK1/Akt/NF-kappaB signaling. Oncogene 35:5501–5514
- 24. Azmi AS, Philip PA, Zafar SF, Sarkar FH, Mohammad RM (2010) PAR-4 as a possible new target for pancreatic cancer therapy. Expert Opin Ther Targets 14:611–620
- 25. Kimura M, Furukawa T, Abe T, Yatsuoka T, Youssef EM et al (1998) Identification of two common regions of allelic loss in chromosome arm 12q in human pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res 58:2456–2460
- 26. Youssef EM, Kaneko K, Yatsuoka T, Hayashi Y, Hoshi M et al (2001) Human BAC contig covering the deleted region in pancreatic cancer at 12q21. DNA Seq 11:541–546
- Moreno-Bueno G, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Collado M, Tendero MJ, Rodriguez-Pinilla SM et al (2007) Inactivation of the candidate tumor suppressor par-4 in endometrial cancer. Cancer Res 67:1927–1934
- Lee JW, Hsiao WT, Lee KF, Sheu LF, Hsu HY et al (2010) Widespread expression of prostate apoptosis response-4 in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Head Neck 32:877–885
- Gonzalez IH, Santana P, Gonzalez-Robayna I, Ferrer M, Morales V et al (2007) Regulation of the expression of prostate apoptosis response protein 4 (Par-4) in rat granulosa cells. Apoptosis 12:769–779
- Xie J, Guo Q (2007) Par-4 is a novel mediator of renal tubule cell death in models of ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 292:F107–F115
- Gurumurthy S, Rangnekar VM (2004) Par-4 inducible apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. J Cell Biochem 91:504–512
- 32. Boghaert ER, Sells SF, Walid AJ, Malone P, Williams NM et al (1997) Immunohistochemical analysis of the proapoptotic protein Par-4 in normal rat tissues. Cell Growth Differ 8:881–890
- Gurumurthy S, Goswami A, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase A is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25:1146–1161
- Garcia-Cao I, Duran A, Collado M, Carrascosa MJ, Martin-Caballero J et al (2005) Tumour-suppression activity of the proapoptotic regulator Par4. EMBO Rep 6:577–583
- Clark AM, Ponniah K, Warden MS, Raitt EM, Smith BG et al (2019) Tetramer formation by the caspase-activated fragment of the Par-4 tumor suppressor. FEBS J 286:4060–4073

- Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR et al (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138:377–388
- 37. Cho YS, Park YG, Lee YN, Kim MK, Bates S et al (2000) Extracellular protein kinase A as a cancer biomarker: its expression by tumor cells and reversal by a myristate-lacking Calpha and RIIbeta subunit overexpression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:835–840
- Chakraborty M, Qiu SG, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2001) Par-4 drives trafficking and activation of Fas and Fasl to induce prostate cancer cell apoptosis and tumor regression. Cancer Res 61:7255–7263
- El-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (2003) Apoptosis by Par-4 in cancer and neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Cell Res 283:51–66
- 40. Liu C, QiNan W, XiaoTian L, MengLiu Y, XiaGuang G et al (2018) TERT and Akt are involved in the Par-4-dependent apoptosis of islet beta cells in Type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Res 2018:7653904
- 41. Goswami A, Burikhanov R, de Thonel A, Fujita N, Goswami M et al (2005) Binding and phosphorylation of par-4 by akt is essential for cancer cell survival. Mol Cell 20:33–44
- 42. Kranenburg O (2005) The KRAS oncogene: past, present, and future. Biochim Biophys Acta 1756:81–82
- Riely GJ, Ladanyi M (2008) KRAS mutations: an old oncogene becomes a new predictive biomarker. J Mol Diagn 10:493–495
- 44. Mao C, Qiu LX, Liao RY, Du FB, Ding H et al (2010) KRAS mutations and resistance to EGFR-TKIs treatment in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis of 22 studies. Lung Cancer 69:272–278
- 45. Cejas P, Lopez-Gomez M, Aguayo C, Madero R, de Castro CJ et al (2009) KRAS mutations in primary colorectal cancer tumors and related metastases: a potential role in prediction of lung metastasis. PLoS One 4:e8199
- 46. Dobrzycka B, Terlikowski SJ, Kowalczuk O, Niklinska W, Chyczewski L et al (2009) Mutations in the KRAS gene in ovarian tumors. Folia Histochem Cytobiol 47:221–224
- 47. Jang TW, Oak CH, Chang HK, Suo SJ, Jung MH (2009) EGFR and KRAS mutations in patients with adenocarcinoma of the lung. Korean J Intern Med 24:48–54
- Grunicke HH, Maly K (1993) Role of GTPases and GTPase regulatory proteins in oncogenesis. Crit Rev Oncog 4:389–402
- Vasudevan KM, Ranganathan P, Rangnekar VM (2006) Regulation of Par-4 by oncogenic Ras. Methods Enzymol 407:422–442
- 50. Pruitt K, Ulku AS, Frantz K, Rojas RJ, Muniz-Medina VM et al (2005) Ras-mediated loss of the pro-apoptotic response protein Par-4 is mediated by DNA hypermethylation through Rafindependent and Raf-dependent signaling cascades in epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 280:23363–23370
- Barradas M, Monjas A, Diaz-Meco MT, Serrano M, Moscat J (1999) The downregulation of the pro-apoptotic protein Par-4 is critical for Ras-induced survival and tumor progression. EMBO J 18:6362–6369
- 52. Ahmed MM, Sheldon D, Fruitwala MA, Venkatasubbarao K, Lee EY et al (2008) Downregulation of PAR-4, a pro-apoptotic gene, in pancreatic tumors harboring K-ras mutation. Int J Cancer 122:63–70
- 53. Azmi AS, Ahmad A, Banerjee S, Rangnekar VM, Mohammad RM et al (2008) Chemoprevention of pancreatic cancer: characterization of Par-4 and its modulation by 3,3' diindolylmethane (DIM). Pharm Res 25:2117–2124
- Lessene G, Czabotar PE, Colman PM (2008) BCL-2 family antagonists for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7:989–1000
- 55. Cheema SK, Mishra SK, Rangnekar VM, Tari AM, Kumar R et al (2003) Par-4 transcriptionally regulates Bcl-2 through a WT1binding site on the bcl-2 promoter. J Biol Chem 278:19995–20005
- 56. Qiu G, Ahmed M, Sells SF, Mohiuddin M, Weinstein MH et al (1999) Mutually exclusive expression patterns of Bcl-2 and

Par-4 in human prostate tumors consistent with down-regulation of Bcl-2 by Par-4. Oncogene 18:623–631

- Hamacher R, Schmid RM, Saur D, Schneider G (2008) Apoptotic pathways in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Mol Cancer 7:64
- Schneider G, Hamacher R, Eser S, Friess H, Schmid RM et al (2008) Molecular biology of pancreatic cancer—new aspects and targets. Anticancer Res 28:1541–1550
- Greten FR, Weber CK, Greten TF, Schneider G, Wagner M et al (2002) Stat3 and NF-kappaB activation prevents apoptosis in pancreatic carcinogenesis. Gastroenterology 123:2052–2063
- Regula KM, Baetz D, Kirshenbaum LA (2004) Nuclear factorkappaB represses hypoxia-induced mitochondrial defects and cell death of ventricular myocytes. Circulation 110:3795–3802
- Nguyen JQ, Irby RB (2017) TRIM21 is a novel regulator of Par-4 in colon and pancreatic cancer cells. Cancer Biol Ther 18:16–25
- 62. Amin H, Nayak D, Ur Rasool R, Chakraborty S, Kumar A et al (2016) Par-4 dependent modulation of cellular beta-catenin by medicinal plant natural product derivative 3-azido Withaferin A. Mol Carcinog 55:864–881
- 63. Rah B, ur Rasool R, Nayak D, Yousuf SK, Mukherjee D, et al. (2015) PAWR-mediated suppression of BCL2 promotes switching of 3-azido withaferin A (3-AWA)-induced autophagy to apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. Autophagy 11:314–331
- 64. Tsai YL, Zhang Y, Tseng CC, Stanciauskas R, Pinaud F et al (2015) Characterization and mechanism of stress-induced translocation of 78-kilodalton glucose-regulated protein (GRP78) to the cell surface. J Biol Chem 290:8049–8064
- Qin Q, Xu Y, He T, Qin C, Xu J (2012) Normal and disease-related biological functions of Twist1 and underlying molecular mechanisms. Cell Res 22:90–106
- Vesuna F, van Diest P, Chen JH, Raman V (2008) Twist is a transcriptional repressor of E-cadherin gene expression in breast cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 367:235–241
- 67. Katoch A, Suklabaidya S, Chakraborty S, Nayak D, Rasool RU et al (2018) Dual role of Par-4 in abrogation of EMT and switching on Mesenchymal to Epithelial Transition (MET) in metastatic pancreatic cancer cells. Mol Carcinog 57:1102–1115
- Mezencev R, Matyunina LV, Wagner GT, McDonald JF (2016) Acquired resistance of pancreatic cancer cells to cisplatin is multifactorial with cell context-dependent involvement of resistance genes. Cancer Gene Ther 23:446–453
- 69. Tan J, You Y, Xu T, Yu P, Wu D et al (2014) Par-4 downregulation confers cisplatin resistance in pancreatic cancer cells via PI3K/ Akt pathway-dependent EMT. Toxicol Lett 224:7–15
- Salmon H, Donnadieu E (2012) Within tumors, interactions between T cells and tumor cells are impeded by the extracellular matrix. Onco Targets Ther 1:992–994
- Xie Z, Zhang Y, Jin C, Fu D (2018) Gemcitabine-based chemotherapy as a viable option for treatment of advanced breast cancer patients: a meta-analysis and literature review. Oncotarget 9:7148–7161
- 72. Wang Z, Li Y, Kong D, Banerjee S, Ahmad A et al (2009) Acquisition of epithelial-mesenchymal transition phenotype of gemcitabine-resistant pancreatic cancer cells is linked with activation of the notch signaling pathway. Cancer Res 69:2400–2407
- 73. Liang C, Shi S, Meng Q, Liang D, Ji S et al (2017) Complex roles of the stroma in the intrinsic resistance to gemcitabine in pancreatic cancer: where we are and where we are going. Exp Mol Med 49:e406
- 74. Schober M, Jesenofsky R, Faissner R, Weidenauer C, Hagmann W et al (2014) Desmoplasia and chemoresistance in pancreatic cancer. Cancers (Basel) 6:2137–2154
- Kitai H, Ebi H (2017) Key roles of EMT for adaptive resistance to MEK inhibitor in KRAS mutant lung cancer. Small GTPases 8:172–176

- 76. Yang SH, Lee JC, Guo JC, Kuo SH, Tien YW et al (2017) Association of MDM2 expression with shorter progression-free survival and overall survival in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer treated with gemcitabine-based chemotherapy. PLoS One 12:e0180628
- Rayburn ER, Ezell SJ, Zhang R (2009) Recent advances in validating MDM2 as a cancer target. Anti Cancer Agents Med Chem 9:882–903
- Gu L, Zhang H, Liu T, Zhou S, Du Y et al (2016) Discovery of Dual inhibitors of MDM2 and XIAP for cancer treatment. Cancer Cell 30:623–636
- 79. Bian Z, Yan J, Wang S, Li Y, Guo Y et al (2018) Awakening p53 in vivo by D-peptides-functionalized ultra-small nanoparticles: Overcoming biological barriers to D-peptide drug delivery. Theranostics 8:5320–5335
- Ahmad SM, Nayak D, Mir KB, Faheem MM, Nawaz S et al (2020) Par-4 activation restrains EMT-induced chemoresistance in PDAC by attenuating MDM-2. Pancreatology 20:1698–1710
- Padua D, Massague J (2009) Roles of TGFbeta in metastasis. Cell Res 19:89–102
- Xie F, Ling L, van Dam H, Zhou F, Zhang L (2018) TGF-beta signaling in cancer metastasis. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin Shanghai 50:121–132
- 83. Mohd Faheem M, Rasool RU, Ahmad SM, Jamwal VL, Chakraborty S et al (2020) Par-4 mediated Smad4 induction in PDAC cells restores canonical TGF-beta/Smad4 axis driving the cells towards lethal EMT. Eur J Cell Biol 99:151076
- Diaz-Meco MT, Moscat J (2008) Akt regulation and lung cancer: a novel role and mechanism of action for the tumor suppressor Par-4. Cell Cycle 7:2817–2820
- Joshi J, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Galvez A, Amanchy R, Linares JF et al (2008) Par-4 inhibits Akt and suppresses Ras-induced lung tumorigenesis. EMBO J 27:2181–2193
- Diaz-Meco MT, Abu-Baker S (2009) The Par-4/PTEN connection in tumor suppression. Cell Cycle 8:2518–2522
- Ando S, Otani H, Yagi Y, Kawai K, Araki H et al (2007) Proteaseactivated receptor 4-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling in mouse lung alveolar epithelial cells. Life Sci 81:794–802
- Alvarez JV, Pan TC, Ruth J, Feng Y, Zhou A et al (2013) Par-4 downregulation promotes breast cancer recurrence by preventing multinucleation following targeted therapy. Cancer Cell 24:30–44
- Kang MH, Kang HN, Kim JL, Kim JS, Oh SC et al (2009) Inhibition of PI3 kinase/Akt pathway is required for BMP2induced EMT and invasion. Oncol Rep 22:525–534
- Zeisberg M, Hanai J, Sugimoto H, Mammoto T, Charytan D et al (2003) BMP-7 counteracts TGF-beta1-induced epithelialto-mesenchymal transition and reverses chronic renal injury. Nat Med 9:964–968
- Zeisberg M, Kalluri R (2004) The role of epithelial-tomesenchymal transition in renal fibrosis. J Mol Med (Berl) 82:175–181
- 92. Buijs JT, Henriquez NV, van Overveld PG, van der Horst G, Que I et al (2007) Bone morphogenetic protein 7 in the development and treatment of bone metastases from breast cancer. Cancer Res 67:8742–8751
- 93. Buijs JT, Rentsch CA, van der Horst G, van Overveld PG, Wetterwald A et al (2007) BMP7, a putative regulator of epithelial homeostasis in the human prostate, is a potent inhibitor of prostate cancer bone metastasis in vivo. Am J Pathol 171:1047–1057
- 94. Na YR, Seok SH, Kim DJ, Han JH, Kim TH et al (2009) Bone morphogenetic protein 7 induces mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition in melanoma cells, leading to inhibition of metastasis. Cancer Sci 100:2218–2225
- 95. Bi WR, Jin CX, Xu GT, Yang CQ (2012) Bone morphogenetic protein-7 regulates Snail signaling in carbon tetrachloride-induced fibrosis in the rat liver. Exp Ther Med 4:1022–1026

- 96. Katoch A, Jamwal VL, Faheem MM, Kumar S, Senapati S et al (2020) Overlapping targets exist between the Par-4 and miR-200c axis which regulate EMT and proliferation of pancreatic cancer cells. Transl Oncol 14:100879
- 97. Gregory PA, Bert AG, Paterson EL, Barry SC, Tsykin A et al (2008) The miR-200 family and miR-205 regulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition by targeting ZEB1 and SIP1. Nat Cell Biol 10:593–601
- Korpal M, Lee ES, Hu G, Kang Y (2008) The miR-200 family inhibits epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer cell migration by direct targeting of E-cadherin transcriptional repressors ZEB1 and ZEB2. J Biol Chem 283:14910–14914
- 99. Yu J, Ohuchida K, Mizumoto K, Sato N, Kayashima T et al (2010) MicroRNA, hsa-miR-200c, is an independent prognostic factor in pancreatic cancer and its upregulation inhibits pancreatic cancer invasion but increases cell proliferation. Mol Cancer 9:169
- 100. Burikhanov R, Hebbar N, Noothi SK, Shukla N, Sledziona J et al (2017) Chloroquine-inducible par-4 secretion is essential for tumor cell apoptosis and inhibition of metastasis. Cell Rep 18:508–519

- 101. Wang P, Burikhanov R, Jayswal R, Weiss HL, Arnold SM et al (2018) Neoadjuvant administration of hydroxychloroquine in a phase 1 clinical trial induced plasma Par-4 levels and apoptosis in diverse tumors. Genes Cancer 9:190–197
- 102. Kazim S, Malafa MP, Coppola D, Husain K, Zibadi S et al (2015) Selective nuclear export inhibitor KPT-330 enhances the antitumor activity of gemcitabine in human pancreatic cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 14:1570–1581
- 103. Azmi AS, Aboukameel A, Bao B, Sarkar FH, Philip PA et al (2013) Selective inhibitors of nuclear export block pancreatic cancer cell proliferation and reduce tumor growth in mice. Gastroenterology 144:447–456
- 104. Kim K, Araujo P, Hebbar N, Zhou Z, Zheng X et al (2019) Development of a novel prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) protein entity with an extended duration of action for therapeutic treatment of cancer. Protein Eng Des Sel 32:159–166
- 105. Hebbar N, Burikhanov R, Shukla N, Qiu S, Zhao Y et al (2017) A naturally generated decoy of the prostate apoptosis response-4 protein overcomes therapy resistance in tumors. Cancer Res 77:4039–4050



Developing Quinoline-based Secretagogues for Prostate Apoptosis Response-4 Protein (Par-4) as Potential Antineoplastic Agents

Vitaliy M. Sviripa, Ravshan Burikhanov, Chunming Liu, and David S. Watt

Abstract

Secretagogues bearing a 3-arylquinoline scaffold-induced secretory events in normal cells that released the tumor suppressor protein, prostate apoptosis response-4 protein (Par-4) sequestered by the intermediary filament protein, vimentin. The secretion of the Par-4 protein and its binding to a selective, cell-surface receptor GRP78 subsequently triggered paracrine apoptosis in cancer cells. These findings provided a rationale for the study of Par-4 secretagogues as potential agents for the inhibition of tumor growth. Developing secretagogues with these scaffolds, determining vimentin as the biomolecular target, using molecular dynamics to model arylquin binding to vimentin, and understanding the secretion of Par-4 and its apoptotic effects held promise as a new approach for small-molecule interventions as potential treatments for cancer.

Keywords	EMT
	ERES
Apoptosis · 3-Arylquinolines · Intermediate filament proteins · Molecular dynamics · Prostate Apoptosis	ERGI
Vitaliy M. Sviripa and Ravshan Burikhanov shared equally in the development of this work.	ER Et ₃ N FIDAS
V. M. Sviripa Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA R. Burikhanov Department of Radiation Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA e-mail: rburi2@email.uky.edu	
Lexington, KY, USA e-mail: chunming.liu@uky.edu; dwatt@uky.edu	NSAI

Response-4 protein (Par-4) \cdot Secretagogues \cdot Tumor suppressor protein \cdot Vimentin

Abbreviations

Aq-1 or Arylquin-1	3 - (2 - Fluorophenyl)
	$-N^7$, N^7 - dimethylquinoline
	-2,7-diamine
BFA	brefeldin A
CM	cell-culture conditioned medium
CQ	chloroquine
СҮР	cytochrome P450 monooxygenases
DMF	Dimethylformamide
EDC	1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)
	carbodiimide hydrochloride
EMT	Epithelial to Mesenchymal transition
ERES	Exit-site-from-the-
	endoplasmic-reticulum
ERGIC	Endoplasmic Reticulum-to-Golgi
	Intermediate Compartment
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
Et ₃ N	Triethylamine
FIDAS agents	(E)-4-(2,6-Difluorostyryl)
	-N,N-dimethylanilines
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
GRP78	Glucose-regulated protein-78
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
HOBt	1-Hydroxybenzotriazole hydrate
LMP	lysosomal membrane
	permeabilization
MAT-2	methionine S-adenosyltransferase-2
MDM2	minute-double-minute-2 protein, an
	E3 ligase
NSAID	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug

Nutlin-3a	4-[(4 <i>S</i> ,5 <i>R</i>)-4,5-Bis(4-chlorophenyl)-	
	2-(2-isopropoxy-4-methoxy-phenyl)-	
	4,5-dihydro-imidazole-1-carbonyl]-	
	piperazin-2-one	
Par-4	Prostate Apoptosis Response-4	
	Protein	
PEG	polyethylene glycol spacer	
	$(CH_2CH_2O)_n$	
SAC	Selective-for-Apoptosis-Inductio	
	Cancer domain [104, 105]	
SAR	Structure-activity relationships	

1 Protein Secretion

Protein secretion drives mechanisms that maintain the extracellular matrix and that provide signaling to other cells. The traditional, conventional secretory pathway involves protein synthesis in the rough endoplasmic reticulum (ER), exit sites from the ER, translocation through an ER-to-Golgi intermediate compartment to the Golgi complex, and post-Golgi vesicles to convey these proteins to their final destination [1–4]. The organization of the participating organelles and compartments of this pathway accommodate the complexity of the process and provide an environment that ensures production of the properly folded and post-translationally modified proteins destined for secretion. Beyond the syllogism of ER-to-Golgi-to-plasma membrane that defines conventional, protein secretion [5, 6] lie the unconventional secretory mechanisms [7-10] that are reliant on the so-called leaderless proteins without an established, secretory-signal sequence and non-vesicular proteins that bypass the Golgi apparatus. In addition to these distinctions based on utilization or circumvention of the Golgi, newly synthesized proteins may undergo either constitutive secretion involving rapid, direct export to the extracellular matrix or regulated secretion involving the capture and sequestration of these proteins, typically in vesicles [11] but occasionally by sequestering, decoy biomolecules, until such time as needed. The distinction here is a temporal one in which the time frame for a response is limited, favoring regulated secretion that requires the capture of secreted proteins, or lengthy, favoring constitutive secretion that requires the synthesis and intracellular transport of secreted proteins. The intended roles for the secreted proteins drive the sorting mechanisms that govern either constitutive or regulated secretion in response to an appropriate stimulus [1].

The original identification of prostate apoptosis response-4 protein (Par-4) in prostate cancer cells undergoing apoptosis [12] led later to its classification as a tumor suppressor protein [13–15]. Consistent with this classification, Par-4 null mice developed spontaneous tumors in the

prostate, liver or lungs or uterus or developed carcinogeninduced tumors in the bladder and uterus [16]. The Par-4 protein experiences post-translational modification in the Golgi but lacks a conventional, N-terminal signal sequence [17] that normally drives trafficking events leading to secretion via the conventional pathway [18, 19]. The absence of a conventional, signal sequence might suggest that Par-4 follows an unconventional pathway for secretion, but brefeldin A [20] (BFA) that blocks secretion via the conventional pathway, inhibits Par-4 secretion. Specifically, BFA inhibits a guanine nucleotide GDP-GTP exchange reaction that catalyzes the activation of a small GTPase, Arf1p [21–23], and that, in turn, recruits vesicular coat proteins necessary for anterograde ER-Golgi trafficking. Furthermore, deletion of the N-terminal, 25 amino acids [24] in Par-4 from rats prevents Par-4 secretion and suggests that the N-terminus may possess an atypical, secretory sequence that nevertheless drives conventional secretion. On the other hand, an unconventional pathway often emerges as a consequence of a disease process that induces cellular stresses at either the cellular or organismal level. A tumor suppressor may utilize a conventional secretory pathway for export to the extracellular matrix, but in stressed circumstances requiring immediate secretion, a tumor suppressor may follow an unconventional pathway, just as in the case of leaderless cytokines secreted in response to inflammation [25]. In summary, despite the presence of an atypical, N-terminal sequence, the influence of brefeldin A favors secretion by a regulated pathway involving an initial cellular "waystation" prior to its conventional secretion. The development of agents that release Par-4 from its waystation and thereby promote secretion is the focus of this particular chapter.

2 Small-Molecule Secretagogues

Man-made secretagogues function as compensatory agents that provide a corrective means to promote the otherwise disabled secretion of biomolecular signaling agents. Secretagogues, for example, that promote the secretion of either growth hormone [26, 27] or insulin [28, 29] possess a rich history as molecular tools that have important applications in medicine. These secretory agents typically function by elevating deficient levels of a protein with a specific signaling function. Still other antisecretory agents serve to depress protein secretion, as for example, in the case of brefeldin A [22, 23]. Inventive methodology [30] designed to screen smallmolecules, including natural products (i.e., secondary metabolites) and drugs, promises to identify additional inhibitors [31] of protein secretion. The interest in identifying inhibitors of protein secretion arises, quite understandably, out of an interest in understanding fundamental aspects of signaling and

finding agents that control the signaling mechanisms driving cell proliferation in cancerous tissues.

The converse of this process, also driven by an interest in antineoplastic drug development, focuses on augmented production and secretion of tumor suppressors [32, 33]. Under normal circumstances, these tumor suppressors inhibit cell division, induce apoptosis, affect DNA-damage repair, and/or inhibit metastasis. The sophistication of these activities requires an equally sophisticated series of events between gene expression and the aforementioned cellular events, including the sequestration of tumor suppressors that is one focus of this chapter. Failure to produce these tumor suppressors through defects in gene expression [34], abnormal ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation, or failure to secrete tumor suppressors from normal cells underlies a principal cause for cancer development that is beyond the scope of this chapter. Under normal circumstances, non-cancerous cells generate tumor suppressors and sequester them until an external signal reverses their sequestration and promotes their secretion. The work described in this chapter on the retro-sequestration of Par-4 and its subsequent secretion follows in the footsteps of a rich history of other small molecules that promote protein secretion for which the archetypical example is the secretion of insulin by sulfonylurea secretagogues [35]. In this chapter, we will restrict our discussion to those secretagogues that augment the secretion of Par-4 and that are best characterized as man-made small-molecules with molecular masses less than 1 kDa.

3 Protein Sequestration by Filament Proteins

The selective and efficient sequestration of specific proteins require interactions either with other monomeric or aggregated proteins or with non-protein biomolecules. Among the potential partners in sequestration events are the filament proteins, including the microfilaments, intermediate filaments, and microtubules. Intermediate filaments that possess a length intermediate between the microfilaments, such as actin, and the microtubules, such as tubulin, provide structural integrity. Unlike the microfilaments and microtubules that are polymers of single types of proteins, the intermediate filaments are heteropolymers with a range of proteins in different cell types and with sequences defining their classification into six groups (i.e., type I-VI). Like the microfilaments and microtubules, the intermediate filament proteins interact with a host of other proteins as part of their primary role in maintaining cellular, structural integrity.

Among the type III intermediate filament proteins are desmin that is found in sarcomeres of muscle cells,

peripherin that is found in peripheral neurons, glial fibrillary acidic protein that is found in astrocytes and glia; and vimentin that is found in fibroblasts, macrophages, neutrophils, leukocytes, endothelial cells lining blood vessels, and renal tubular cells. Vimentin plays either a direct or indirect role in many facets of the metastatic cascade. The role of vimentin evolved from the maintenance of the cytoskeleton of cells and tissue integrity [36] to its interaction with a large number of proteins and participation in various cellular functions including other processes such as the formation of signaling complexes with cell signaling molecules and other adaptor proteins [37].

Vimentin is now recognized as an essential player in many aspects of cancer, including initiation and progression, tumorigenesis, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, and the metastatic cell migration and invasion. Because vimentin is constitutively expressed in mesenchymal cells, it serves as a marker of cells undergoing EMT, a process that is activated during cancer progression and contributes to the metastatic spread of cancer. Although the role of vimentin in tumorigenic events associated with EMT and in cancer progression is not fully understood, its overexpression in cancer correlates well with accelerated tumor growth, invasion, and poor prognosis. Increased vimentin expression in tumor cell lines and tissues includes prostate cancer [38–42], breast cancer [43–45], lung cancer [46], tumors of the central nervous system [47–49], malignant melanomas [50, 51], and gastrointestinal tract tumors [52] that include pancreatic [53–56], colorectal [57–60], and hepatic cancers [61, 62].

Targeting filament-forming proteins with compounds that either inhibit filament growth or hyperstabilize filaments represents a successful strategy for the development of chemical probes and potential therapeutics. Among the prominent examples of such compounds are swinholide that inhibits actin filament growth [63]; taxol that stabilizes tubulin filaments [64]; vinblastine that inhibits tubulin filament growth [65–66], and withaferin A that covalently modifies Cys328 in the 2B subdomain of vimentin rod domain and causes aggregation [67]. Both actin and tubulin are globular proteins as monomers, composed of both β sheets and α helices, and both possess cavities that are suitable for binding small molecules. On the other hand, a vimentin monomer is structurally distinct from actin and tubulin because of its linear rather than globular structure. The Nand C- terminal regions of vimentin lack secondary structure, but its core, rod domain consists of α-helices connected by flexible linker regions [68]. In contrast to actin and tubulin monomers, a vimentin monomer has a fairly dynamic structure and consequently, is not a classical, druggable target.

4 Tumor Suppressors

Tumor suppressors represent one evolutionary mechanism for handling aberrant cellular behavior. The activation of an oncogene forces normal cells and their descendants through unrelenting mitotic cycles, and tumor suppressors provide an equally elaborate array of growth-constraining elements [69]. The balance between these hyperactive, growthpromoting genes (i.e., oncogenes) and normally inactive versions of the growth-constraining genes (tumor suppressors) dictates cellular fates. Tumor suppressor genes, often delineated as "caretaker genes" that stabilize the genome, "gatekeeper genes" that generate protective proteins that prevent the growth, and "landscaper genes" that encode proteins that provide a conducive environment for cell proliferation when mutated. The functions of tumor-suppressor proteins include a suppressive role for genes that regulate cell cycle progression and an integrative role that couples cell cycle progression and DNA damage and absent successful DNA repair that initiates apoptosis. The hypothesis that drove our investigations asked if the protective mechanism afforded by a specific tumor suppressor, namely Par-4, could be amplified through augmented secretion and marshaled to effect cancer cell apoptosis in situations where this normal, protective mechanism alone (i.e., without amplification) would be temporally insufficient to rescue cancer cell proliferation.

Articles enumerating the challenges in drug development [70, 71] often ignore a factor that governs any human activity: serendipity. No single factor dominates the circumstances that play a role in drug discovery in an academic setting more than proximity. Where industry may segregate functions in different locales, academia's limited space forces proximity among faculty with quite different interests. This accidental proximity leads to communication across interdisciplinary lines that, when coupled with intellectual curiosity and shared interests in hypothesis-driven research, often leads to unexpected outcomes. This chapter describes such tale led an exploration of substituted one 3-arylquinolines, soi-disant "arylquins," as a solution to the problem of promoting the secretion of Par-4 as a possible treatment for prostate cancer.

5 Secretagogues for Par-4

5.1 Introduction

Cellular homeostasis [72] requires vigilance and requires timely mechanisms for responding to internal dysfunction and external environmental threats. Among the mechanisms for responding to unrestrained growth, the release of sequestered, tumor suppressors represent an immediate means for

responding to this problem and offers a more rapid response than the time-dependent process of transcription and translation. Although naturally occurring, biological ligands in signaling cascades may trigger the release of tumor suppressors, the development of unnatural, small-molecule ligands represents an attractive approach for inducing the release and secretion of tumor suppressors from a sequestered environment in normal cells (Fig. 1). Cancer cells, as might be expected, may inhibit the biosynthesis of tumor suppressors and their cell-surface receptors, bring about their rigorous sequestration, or effect inactivating post-translational modifications or proteolysis in addition to activating the prosurvival, unfolded protein response [73]. Suppression in normal cells would be expected to tilt in favor of sequestration, and prior to the initiation of our efforts, secretagogues such as nutlin-3a [74, 75] (Fig. 2a) were available to promote the secretion of the tumor suppressor, Par-4 [17, 76, 77]. Nutlin-3a promoted Par-4 secretion at concentrations of 10 µM in cell culture and at 10 mg/kg in mice, and as we will discuss shortly, these relatively high concentrations left open the possible development of other secretagogues for Par-4 that were active at concentrations below those for nutlin-3a.

Nutlin-3a emerged as an effective agent that prevented the proteosomal degradation of another, tumor suppressor protein, cellular tumor antigen p53 that normally protected against carcinogenesis involving DNA damage by inducing cell cycle arrest and activating the DNA repair mechanism. DNA damage promoted the phosphorylation of p53 and minute-double-minute-2 (MDM2) protein. These phosphorylation events prevented p53-MDM2 interactions and thereby stabilized the otherwise short-lived p53 [78]. If subsequent events failed to achieve DNA repair and thereby released the cell cycle arrest, p53-induced apoptosis. Countervailing this protective mechanism provided by p53, MDM2 acted in the absence of DNA damage as a p53specific, E3 ubiquitin ligase that led to continuous degradation of the non-phosphorylated p53 protein. Inhibition of the p53-MDM2 interaction rescued this degradation of p53 and provided augmented levels of the tumor suppressor protein p53, and this inhibition emerged as a principal target for cancer therapy.

Nutlins [74, 75] were among the early MDM2 antagonists [79–81] designed to inhibit p53 degradation, but unfortunately, nutlin-3a [75, 82–84] and subsequent, related antagonists [85–89] also led to drug-resistant, p53-mutated cancer cell lines. Lung cancer cells with p53 mutations or deletions often develop resistance to chemotherapy and radiation therapy [90–92]. These p53-deficient, cancer cells lacked the p53-driven apoptotic pathway but proved susceptible to apoptosis by the pro-apoptotic tumor suppressor, Par-4, that induced apoptosis in diverse cancer cells but not in normal cells. As a consequence, cancer cells rigorously controlled

Fig. 1 Schematic representation of secretagogues promoting Par-4 secretion from normal cells. (1) ER biosynthesis of Par-4 and translocation to vimentin; (2) Secretagogues promote release of Par-4 from vimentin; (3) Vesicular capture of Par-4 and translocation to Golgi in conventional secretory pathway onward to the plasma membrane; (4) Translocation of Par-4 across membrane and uptake into circulatory system with delivery to GRP78 on the surface of cancer cells



the levels of Par-4 by various mechanism including inactivation through sequestration, transcriptional down-regulation, or mutation in some cancer cells [77, 93, 94]. In contrast, normal cells expressed Par-4 ubiquitously and typically sequestered Par-4 as a preventative measure.

Both intracellular Par-4 in cancer cells and secreted Par-4 from normal cells played a role in the selective induction of apoptosis in cancer cells by a caspase-dependent [95] mechanism. In the latter case, extracellular Par-4 that appeared during the in vitro secretion into the cell-culture conditioned medium (CM) or during in vivo systemic secretion in mice led to apoptosis. The extracellular Par-4 bound to a multifunctional receptor, a 78 kDa, glucose-regulated protein [96] (GRP78) on the cancer cell-surface and induced apoptosis. For example, Par-4-induced apoptosis in therapy-resistant, prostate cancer cells, such as CWR-R1, 22Rv1, LNCaPderivative C4-2B, PC-3 and its aggressive analog, PC-3 MM2 [17, 97]. In contrast, normal cells that expressed low to undetectable levels of cell-surface GRP78 resisted apoptosis by extracellular Par-4 [17, 76, 77]. In summary, normal cells produced, sequestered and subsequently exported endogenous Par-4 but only at low levels. Similarly, cancer cells

either degraded or sequestered endogenous Par-4 as well as its cell-surface receptor GRP78. If a means were available to augment circulating Par-4 levels from normal cells, evade mechanisms such as its phosphorylation by survival factors including nuclear factor kappa B [98, 99] (NF- κ B), protein kinase C- ζ [100] (PKC ζ), protein kinase B [101] (Akt) kinase, and casein kinase-2 [102] (CK2) and simultaneously promote translocation of the GRP78 receptor to the cell surface, then the combination of Par-4 selectivity for GRP78 and its capacity of this Par-4-GRP78 binding event to trigger apoptosis would offer a potential application in cancer therapy.

5.2 Synthesis and Evaluation of Potential Secretagogues

The administration of exogenous, recombinant Par-4 [17, 77, 102, 103] or its core, Selective-for-Apoptosis-Induction-Cancer (SAC) domain [104, 105] (*i.e.*, amino acids 137–195) that binds to GRP78 [17], provides a potentially useful alternative to an endogenous source, but Par-4 from mammalian
cells is at least 20 times more potent in inducing cancer cell apoptosis than recombinant Par-4 produced in *E. coli*. The details underlying this difference between exogenous and endogenous Par-4 are unclear but may involve an undetermined, post-translational event. Still other alternatives such as the production of Par-4 analogs with selected mutations that might enhance the wild-type Par-4 activity have not, as yet, come to fruition. Consequently, we focused attention on finding "small-molecule" secretagogues that would disrupt sequestration and promote endogenous Par-4 secretion from normal cells.

Although nutlin-3a (1) (Fig. 2a) was originally developed as an MDM2 inhibitor [75], nutlin-3a also stimulated the *in vitro* secretion of Par-4 [97] from mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cells treated with nutlin-3a at a 10 μ M concentration. In evaluating the molecular substructure of nutlin-3a and its analogs, such as MI-219 [106] (2) (Fig. 2a), we noted the presence of two halogenated, phenyl rings separated by a two-carbon spacer and the presence of a fused, nitrogencontaining heterocycle (*i.e.*, either the *cis*-imidazoline in

nutlin-3a or the 4'-phenylspiro[indoline-3,3'-pyrrolidin]-2one in MI-219), and these features served as a departure point for our efforts to develop new scaffolds that embraced these features. We considered two general scaffolds, designated as α and β (Fig. 2b), that differed in the connectivity of the aromatic rings and the two-carbon bridge between them. Scaffold α incorporated the arrangement of phenyl groups, a two-carbon spacer, and a fused heterocycle as seen in nutlin-3a and its analogs. Scaffold β incorporated, in part, the arrangement seen in MI-219 [106]. We opted to explore scaffold β in which we simplified some of the connectivity seen in MI-219 by inserting a heterocyclic substructure that spanned one of the carbons in the two-carbon spacer and an ortho-position in one of the phenyl rings. This approach offered relatively unexplored, yet easily accessible, frameworks for investigation as secretagogues for Par-4. It was unclear, of course, whether these modifications would retain or remove the Par-4 secretory activity seen with nutlin-3a.

Our prior work on an unrelated project identified fluorinated stilbenes [107, 108] bearing *N*,*N*-dialkylamino sub-



Fig. 2 Nutlins and substructures. Panel A: Nutlin-3a (1) and MI-219 (2); Panel B: Scaffolds α and β for the development of potential secretagogues



Fig. 3 Exemplars of scaffold β . Legend: Ar = halogenated phenyl group

stituents as potent, antineoplastic agents with activity against primary hepatocellular carcinomas and colorectal cancers in both in vitro cell proliferation studies and in vivo xenograft models. Among these fluorinated stilbenes, (E)-4-(2,6difluorostyryl)-N,N-dimethylaniline, for which we coined the acronym "FIDAS," emerged as an initial, leading candidate that inhibited exclusively the catalytic subunit of methionine S-adenosyltransferase-2 (MAT2A) [109]. These analogs possessed several of the features found in nutlin-3a: two phenyl groups, one of which was halogenated phenyl group; and a two-carbon bridge between the two phenyl groups, albeit an unsaturated carbon-carbon double bond. Reduction of the double bond in these FIDAS agents brought them more in line with the substructure of nutlin-3a, but eliminated their activity as MAT2A inhibitors. FIDAS agents possessing the carbon-carbon double bond showed little Par-4 secretory activity (unpublished data).

The potential thermal or photochemical *cis/trans*isomerization [110] of the carbon-carbon double bond in the FIDAS agents could complicate pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies in pre-clinical studies and could limit shelf-life stability if these FIDAS agents ever reached Investigational New Drug status. This concern prompted synthetic efforts either to replace the double bond with a triple bond [111] or to introduce an additional, fused heterocyclic ring bridging one of the carbons in the double bond and an *ortho*-position in one of the phenyl rings as a means of precluding *cis/trans*-isomerization. In the former case, the 1,2-diarylacetylenes [111] also selectively inhibited the catalytic subunit of methionine S-adenosyltransferase-2 (MAT2A) [109], possessed nanomolar *in vitro* potency, suppressed *in vivo* human tumor growth in xenograft and patientderived xenograft (PDX) studies in mice, possessed promising physical properties for pharmaceutical candidates including biologically active, equipotent metabolites, good bioavailability and half-life and minimal toxicity, and induced, as desired, no activation of the human ether-à-gogo-related potassium channels (hERG).

In the latter case, the introduction of an additional, fused heterocyclic ring, as in the β scaffold (Fig. 2b), provided another approach for avoiding cis/trans-isomerization that was possible in the stilbenes [107, 108] and as an additional advantage, a nitrogen-containing heterocyclic ring could increase hydrophilicity. Specifically, we synthesized a library of compounds that included 2-arylbenzofurans (3), 2-arylbenzothiophenes (4), 2-arylindoles (5), 3-arylisoquinolines (6), 3-arylquinolines (7), 3-arylcinnolines (8), 3-arylquinolones (9), 3-arylthioquinolones (10), and 5-phenylimidazo[5,1-a] isoquinolines (11) (Fig. 3) for evaluation as MAT2A inhibitors. The synthetic routes to these compounds made use of standard, published techniques that proceeded without event from commercial compounds in three or four steps in good yields. In summary, a project geared to provide compounds for testing against colorectal cancers and hepatocellular carcinomas as MAT2A inhibitors led from stilbenes to diarvlacetylenes and finally to a collection of heterocyclic compounds (Fig. 3). Concomitant with the synthesis of these compounds, we analyzed their potential activity in cell proliferation assays with various cancer and normal cell lines.

Cell proliferation assays of these heterocyclic compounds (Fig. 3) using colorectal cancer (LS174T), hepatocellular carcinoma (HepG2), and prostate cancer (PC-3) cancer cell lines provided a filter that reduced the number of analogs to a handful of agents with at least 50% inhibitory activity at $\leq 10 \mu$ M concentration. Those with promising activities in these assays, without any foreknowledge as to their biological targets, underwent evaluation as Par-4 secretagogues using normal mouse fibroblasts (MEFs) under conditions that were not toxic to the cells. With a few exceptions, 3-arylquinolines (Fig. 4a) with a fluorinated aryl ring and with additional amino groups at C-2 and/or C-7 proved to be the most active as Par-4 secretagogues (Fig. 4b) among the heterocyclic systems (Fig. 3) that were synthesized.

One particular 3-arylquinoline, that we described as "arylquin-1" (12) (Fig. 4a), emerged early in this screening process and produced a six-fold increase in Par-4 in the CM when administered at 500 nM concentration relative to Par-4 secretion induced by vehicle alone. Arylquin-1 became the standard against which later analogs were measured. Other analogs lacking the *ortho*-fluoro substituent (13) or possessing the fluoro substituent in the *meta*- or *para*-positions were less active than arylquin-1. Analogs lacking either the C-7 *N*,*N*-dimethylamino group (14) or the C-2 amino group (15) retained Par-4 secretory activity and suggested an ave-



Fig. 4 Initial structure–activity studies leading to the identification of arylquin-1 as a potent Par-4 secretagogue. Panel A: Structures of 3-arylquinolines. Panel B: Mouse embryonic fibroblasts were treated with vehicle (V) or 500 nM of the indicated arylquins and Par-4 secreted

in the CM or intracellular Par-4 in whole-cell lysate was quantified by Western blot analysis. Albumin in the serum from CM, collagen 1A1 secreted by the cells into the CM, or intracellular β -actin in the lysate served as a loading control

nue for the development of a biotinylated version of arylquin-1 that ultimately led to target identification (*vide infra*).

The synthesis of arylquin-1 (12) made use of the Friedländer condensation [112, 113] of 4 - (N.N dimethylamino)-2-aminobenzaldehyde (16a) with orthofluorophenylacetonitrile (Fig. 5). The synthesis of related arylquins lacking either the C-7 N,N-dimethylamino group as in (14) or the C-2 amino group as in (15) utilized similar approaches with either 4-(N,N-dimethylamino)-2aminobenzaldehyde (16a) and ortho-fluorophenylacetyl chloride or 2-aminobenzaldehyde (16b) and orthofluorophenylacetonitrile, respectively (Fig. 5). These reactions proceeded efficiently to provide various 3-arylquinolines, including arylquin-1 (12) that was available as a non-hygroscopic, hydrochloride salt.

5.3 Identification of Target

Although we originally anticipated that the arylquins might function as MDM2 inhibitors like nutlin-3a, initial studies demonstrated that arylquin-1 (**12**) (Fig. 4a) differed dramatically from nutlin-3a in terms of biological response. Arylquin-1 was not merely an MDM2 surrogate, and unlike nutlin-3a, arylquin-1 did not stabilize p53. Treating either mouse embryonic fibroblast MEF cells or human embryonic lung (HEL) fibroblasts with nutlin-3a at a concentration of 10 μ M for 24 or 48 h showed a clear stabilization of p53 (Fig. 6). Unlike nutlin-3a, the administration of arylquin-1 at a concentration of 500 nM that was sufficient to induce significant Par-4 secretion over baseline levels had no effect on p53 for these same time periods (Fig. 6). These findings reflected that the structural dissimilarities between the arylquin scaffold and nutlin-3a outweighed the similarities that led to their initial selection for screening. In addition, arylquin-1 produced a dose-dependent secretion of Par-4 in mouse embryonic fibroblast MEF cells (Fig. 7a) and as expected, triggered paracrine apoptosis in prostate cancer PC-3, human non-small cell lung carcinoma H1299 and ade-nocarcinoma HOP92 cells but not in human embryonic lung (HEL) fibroblasts (Fig. 7b–d).

We synthesized several biotinylated versions of arylquin-1 as a means of identifying a biomolecular target responsible for the observed Par-4 secretory activity [114] (Fig. 8). Among the most obvious positions on arylquin-1 (12) (Fig. 4a) on which to station a D(+)-biotin tag, we initially selected the C-2 amino group. The acylation of this position with a biotin derivative possessing a polyethylene (PEG) spacer between a propionic acid at one terminus and a biotin group at the other led to the biotinylated arylquin (19) (Fig. 8). Although this derivative possessed a suitable distance (*i.e.*, 19 Å) between the C-2 carbon in the arylquin and the C-1 carboxy group of biotin, it was inactive as a Par-4 secretagogue (data not shown). It is unclear if the diminished activity reflected either an electronic distortion within the quinoline ring produced by replacing the C-2 amino group in the arylquin with a C-2 amido group or a diminished aqueous solubility of the biotinylated arylquin relative to arylquin-1 despite the presence of the PEG spacer.

Taking a somewhat different tact that would retain the hydrophobic PEG and the distance between the arylquins and the biotin termini, we opted to synthesize a 3-arylthioquinolone analog of the arylquins, namely 7-(dimethylamino)-3-(2-fluorophenyl)quinoline-2(1H)-thione, using a two-step procedure involving a Knoevenagel condensation [115] of the adduct between 4-(N,N-dimethylamino)-2-aminobenzaldehyde (**16a**) and 2-fluorophenylacetyl chloride



Fig. 6 Contrasting nutlin-3a with arylquin-1. Panels A and B: Arylquin-1 did not stabilize p53. Mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) and human embryonic lung (HEL) fibroblasts, respectively, were

to acquire a 3-arylquinolone and then treatment with Lawesson's reagent [116] to convert the 3-arylquinolone to a 3-arylthioquinolone. We utilized an S-alkylation of the 3-arylthioquinolone with an α-iodoacetamide derivative of a PEGmodified biotin to acquire the biotinylated arylquin (20) (Fig. 8). This biotinylated derivative (20) possessed the necessary Par-4 secretory activity (Fig. 9a), albeit at a reduced level from that seen with arylquin-1 itself. Although the distance between the C-2 carbon in the arylquin and the C-1 carboxy group of biotin was somewhat shorter (*i.e.*, 13.6 Å) than in the biotinylated arylquin (19), it was sufficient for a successful pull-down experiments using streptavidin-linked, sepharose beads and using either mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) or human embryonic lung (HEL) fibroblasts. We identified vimentin [117], a cytoskeletal intermediate filament protein, as its principal target (Fig. 9b) using mass spectrometry (Fig. 10). Appropriate controls excluded the adventitious binding of vimentin to the sepharose beads or binding of the PEG spacer to the sepharose beads. The absence of other, significant bands on gels of the pull-down experiment using the biotinylated derivative (20) excluded the possible association of arylquins with a secondary protein that in turn bound vimentin.

treated with vehicle (V), nutlin-3a (N, 10 μ M), or arylquin-1 (Aq-1, 0.5 μ M) for 24 h or 48 h, and whole-cell extracts were subjected to Western blot analysis for p53 or β -actin

To confirm experimentally that the binding of arylquin led to Par-4 secretion, we performed co-immunoprecipitation experiments in which a Par-4 antibody coimmunoprecipitated endogenous vimentin, and a vimentin co-immunoprecipitated antibody endogenous Par-4 (Fig. 10). Immunocytochemical analysis confirmed that Par-4 co-localized with vimentin (Fig. 10). On the other hand, cells treated with arylquin-1 showed neither Par-4 co-immunoprecipitation nor co-localization (Fig. 10) with vimentin, indicating that arylquin-1 displaced Par-4 sequestered on vimentin. This action of arylquin-1 was not associated with inhibition of vimentin expression [114] but instead suggested that arylquin-1 either caused conformational changes in vimentin that inhibited its ability to bind and sequester Par-4 or arylquin-1 competed for a hydrophobic binding region on vimentin that was crucial for Par-4 binding. In summary, confocal microscopy established the co-localization of Par-4 and vimentin and the release of Par-4 induced by arylquin-1 treatment. In addition, because the expression levels of vimentin were not altered by arylquins, we excluded the possible inhibition of a transcription factor that could reduce vimentin expression and thereby release Par-4 for secretion. We could not,



Fig. 7 Arylquin-1 effects on Par-4 secretion and Apoptosis. Panel A: Arylquin-1 induced a dose-dependent secretion of Par-4. MEF cells were treated with the indicated concentrations of arylquin-1 or vehicle (V), and Par-4 in the CM or whole-cell lysate was quantified by Western blot analysis. Albumin or collagen 1A1 in the CM, or intracellular β -actin in the lysate served as a loading control. Panel B: Arylquin-1 induced a dose-dependent apoptosis of cancer cells. Cancer cells were co-cultured with MEFs and treated with arylquin-1 (500 nM) or vehicle (V) and tested for apoptosis. Panel C: Arylquin-1-induced systemic

Par-4 pro-apoptotic activity. Serum from mice injected with arylquin-1 (Aq) or corn-oil vehicle (V), was examined by Western blot analysis. **Panel D**: Aliquots of serum from these mice were either directly added to the growth medium of cells in culture, or incubated with the indicated antibody, and then added to the growth medium of PC-3 MM2 cells to test for apoptosis. Panels B-D. Apoptotic cells were scored after 24 h and data shown represent mean values from three independent experiments \pm s.d. Asterisks (**) or (*) indicate statistical significance (*P* < 0.0001) or (*P* < 0.001), respectively, by the Student *t* test

at this stage in our studies, determine if arylquins promoted the release of Par-4 though a competitive interaction with the vimentin-Par-4 binding site(s) or through an allosteric effect in which a conformation change promoted the dissociation.

Because of the complexity and oligomeric nature of vimentin, it is not surprising that "small-molecules" other than just arylquins function as Par-4 secretagogues. Several groups noted that ketorolac, a non-steroidal antiinflammatory agent (NSAID) used for pain management, contributed to increased survival for patients with ovarian [118] and breast cancers [119, 120]. Investigators at Cipla Limited subsequently connected these improved outcomes for ketorolac treatment of renal cell carcinomas [121] with Par-4. Ketorolac, either as a monotherapy or in conjunction with other antineoplastic agents and/or ionizing radiation, led to Par-4 secretion and tumor volume reduction [122], although a direct association of ketorolac with vimentin has not, as yet, been established. The differences in the structures of the arylquins and ketorolac, assuming for the moment that ketorolac interacts directly with vimentin, suggest that other possible small-mole-



Fig. 8 Synthesis of biotinylated arylquins. Reagents: *a*, 2-(2'-fluorophenyl) acetonitrile, *tert*-BuOK, DMF, 90 °C, 3–4 h; b, 18-oxo-22-((3aS,4S,6aR)-2-oxohexahydro-1*H*-thieno[3,4-*d*]imidazol-4-yl)-4,7,10,13-tetraoxa-17-azadocosanoic acid, EDC, HOBt, DMF; *c*, 2-(2'-fluorophenyl)acetyl

chloride, Et₃N, reflux 2 h and then K₂CO₃, DMF, 90 °C, 4 h; *d*, 2,4-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)-2,4-dithioxo-1,3,2,4-dithiadiphosphetane (Lawesson's reagent), 1,4-dioxane, reflux 5 h; *e*, (+)-biotinyl-iodoacetamidyl-3,6-dioxaoctanediamine, K₂CO₃, DMF, 12 h



Fig. 9 Validation and application of biotinylated arylquin (**20**) in target identification. Panel A: Biotinylated arylquin (**20**) retains Par-4 secretory potency. HEL cells were treated with either arylquin-1 (Aq, 500 nM), biotinylated arylquin (**20**) (Bt-Aq, 500 nM) or vehicle. Par-4 in the CM or whole-cell lysate was quantified by Western blot analysis. Albumin, collagen 1A1, or actin served as a loading control.

Panel B: Biotinylated arylquin (20) bound to vimentin. Whole-cell lysates of MEF or HEL cells were subjected to pull-down with biotinylated arylquin (20) (Bt-Aq) or with no compound (control, Con), and bound proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and stained with Coomassie blue. The indicated band (arrow) was identified as vimentin by mass spectrometry. Asterisk (*) indicates non-specific bands

cules may hold potential value as Par-4 secretagogues that target vimentin.

5.4 Computational Modeling of Secretagogue Binding to Vimentin

Computational modeling using molecular dynamics simulations led to a minimum-energy structure in which arylquin-1 (12) (Fig. 4a) bound to tetrameric vimentin in a hydrophobic pocket located between a pair of head-to-tail α -helical dimers (Fig. 11). The spatial arrangement of functional groups within arylquin-1 was ideally suited to stabilize binding to vimentin. Additional modeling revealed that arylquin-1 (12) and its analogs 13, 14, and 15 (Fig. 4a) bound to vimentin in the same orientation but with binding energies [114] that favored arylquin-1. The relative values of these calculated binding energies were qualitatively consistent with experimental trends for Par-4 secretory activity. These calculations also found that the *ortho*-fluorine group in arylquin-1 was



Fig. 10 Arylquin-1 displacement of sequestered Par-4 on vimentin. Top Panel: Arylquin-1 inhibited Par-4 co-immunoprecipitation with vimentin. HEL cells were left untreated (UT) or treated with arylquin-1 (500 nM) for 24 h and were subjected to immunoprecipitation (IP) with the indicated antibody (Ab). The immunoprecipitated complexes and input samples (5%) were subjected to Western blot (WB) analysis. Bottom Panel: Par-4 co-localized with vimentin and was displaced from vimentin by arylquin-1 treatment of cells. HEL cells, treated with

indispensable, and the removal of the fluorine was accompanied by reduced calculated binding energy and was also consistent with the loss of Par-4 secretory activity in analog **13** (Fig. 4a).

5.5 Secretagogue Induction of Apoptosis

Par-4-induced apoptosis in diverse cancer cells but not in normal cells [77]. The ubiquitous expression of Par-4 in normal cells and tissues stood in contrast to its inactivation, down-regulation or mutation in cancers [77, 93, 94]. Both intracellular and secreted Par-4 played a role in apoptosis induction by caspase-dependent mechanisms [77]. Par-4 underwent secretion into the CM or systemically in mice from normal cells, and extracellular Par-4 bound to a specific receptor GRP78 on the cancer cell-surface and induced apoptosis [17, 76]. Normal cells, on the other hand, expressed

vehicle or arylquin-1 (500 nM) for 24 h, were subjected to ICC for Par-4 (red fluorescence) and vimentin (green fluorescence). Cells were stained with DAPI to reveal their nuclei (cyan fluorescence). Co-localization of Par-4 and vimentin in the overlay images shown in vehicle panel is indicated by arrowheads (yellow fluorescence), and dissociation of Par-4 and vimentin (loss of yellow fluorescence, but retention of red and green fluorescence) is indicated by arrows in the arylquin-1 panel

low to undetectable levels of basal or inducible cell-surface GRP78 and thus resisted apoptosis by extracellular Par-4 [17, 76].

Testing the direct connection between Par-4 secretion and apoptosis, as described in the preceding paragraph, involved studies of truncated Par-4 constructs [14]. As noted earlier in this chapter, deletion of the first 25, N-terminal amino acids (*i.e.*, Δ^{1-25} Par-4) impaired secretion but led to a construct that exhibited two-fold, augmented levels of apoptosis. The processes of secretion and apoptosis are, of course, multistep events, and the unexpected, outcome of augmented apoptosis may simply reflect enhanced binding to GRP78 by the shorter construct than full-length Par-4. Still another feature of the complexity of relationships between secretion and apoptosis emerged in another construct lacking both the N-terminal sequence as well as the nuclear localization signal-2 sequence (*i.e.*, $\Delta^{1-25, 137-153}$ Par-4). This double mutant underwent secretion but failed to induce apoptosis. The latter



Fig. 11 Computational modeling of arylquin-1 bound to vimentin. Panel A: Binding of arylquin-1 to hydrophobic binding pocket of vimentin. Key stabilizing hydrogen-bonding or charge–charge interactions between 2'-fluorophenyl group and Cys105; C-2 amino group and Asp107; and nitrogen atom in quinoline ring and Thr 15 are shown with dashed lines. Panel B: Interaction of arylquin-1 with vimentin. Van der Waals interactions are depicted between C-7 *N*,*N*-dimethylamino group

of arylquin-1 (in orange) and Leu58 and Val18 (in blue). The fluoro group in the C-3 phenyl group formed a stable, hydrogen bond to a Cys105 residue; the C-7 *N*,*N*-dimethylamino group interacted with a collection of hydrophobic residues (Leu58, Val18); the nitrogen within the quinoline formed a hydrogen bond to Thr15; and the C-2 amino group interacted with a proximal, acidic residue (Asp107)

outcome may result from the absence of part of the SAC domain (residues 137–195) that is the putative binding element for GRP78, but the restoration of secretion remains as a puzzling outcome.

We tested normal cells and diverse cancer cells for apoptosis driven by the administration of arylquin-1 at a concentration of 500 nM. Arylquin-1 induced a dose-dependent secretion of Par-4 from normal cells (Fig. 7a) with an approximate IC₅₀ of 100 nM, and arylquin-1 induced the dose-dependent apoptosis in cancer cells but not in normal cells (Fig. 7b) at concentrations of 500 nM. This concentration of arylquin-1 triggered secretion of Par-4 from normal cells but not lung cancer cells but did not itself directly induce apoptosis in normal or cancer cells. In contrast, 500 nM concentrations of arylquin-1-induced apoptosis of prostate cancer (PC-3) cells and the derived PC-3MM2 cells were sensitive to apoptosis by Par-4. As expected, arylquin-1 had no effect on LNCaP or DU145 cells that were resistant to apoptosis by Par-4 [17, 76].

We tested co-cultures of normal cells with cancer cells for the apoptotic effect of arylquin-1 at a concentration of 500 nM because this concentration induced the secretion of Par-4 from normal cells but did not induce apoptosis in either normal or cancer cells. Arylquin-1 treatment of the cocultures containing Par-4^{+/+} MEFs and cancer cells resulted in apoptosis of the cancer cells relative to treatment with vehicle alone (Fig. 7c). Only the cancer cells, but not the normal human embryonic lung (HEL) fibroblasts, underwent

apoptosis in these co-culture experiments. Again by way of contrast, arylquin-1 treatment of the co-cultures containing Par-4 deficient (i.e., Par-4-/-) MEFs and cancer cells did not induce apoptosis (Fig. 7d). Paracrine apoptosis in the cancer cells induced by Par-4 in response to arylquin-1 treatment appeared in Par-4^{+/+} MEFs, but not Par-4^{-/-} MEFs. Vimentindeficient cells [123, 124] showed robust increase in secretion of pro-apoptotic Par-4 activity in the CM relative to their counterpart wild-type cells, and arylquin-1 did not further induce Par-4 secretion in these cells. In summary, vimentin sequestered Par-4 and prevented its secretion, and arylquin-1 bound to vimentin and thereby altered the vimentin-Par-4 association to facilitate Par-4 secretion. Vimentin represents a particularly important therapeutic target because of its elevation in diverse tumors and its causal role in EMT and metastasis [117]. Arylquin-1 may have additional targets other than vimentin that was identified in pull-down studies. A recent report describes the effects of arylquin-1 on lysosomal membrane permeabilization (LMP) and suggests a non-apoptotic pathway to cancer cell death involving the induction of LMP [125].

Finally, advancing small-molecule secretagogues like arylquin-1 would require more than just potency in promoting Par-4 secretion. In a brief but interesting examination of other, important pharmaceutical parameters, we compared the solubility, the intrinsic clearance by mouse and human microsomes and the inhibition of key cytochrome P450 monooxygenases (CYP) for arylquin-1 and two analogs in

which the C-2 amino group was replaced by either a C-2 chloro [126] (21) or thiomethoxy group [126] (22) (Fig. 4). The selection of these two analogs was based on our observations that they exhibited no inhibition of the hERG channel (IC₅₀ ca. 100 μ M) as compared to arylquin-1 with an IC₅₀ for hERG inhibition of $3.74 \pm 1.17 \mu$ M. However, only arylquin-1 exhibited modest solubility (3.1 µM) in comparison with either 21 or 22 that were insoluble, and only arylquin-1 possessed intrinsic clearances in mouse and human liver microsomes (205 and 312 µL/min/mg protein, respectively) that compared well with verapamil (282 and 155 µL/min/mg protein, respectively). Among the CYP enzymes that were examined, arylquin-1 at 10 µM concentration inhibited CYP2D6 (85%) but not CYP3A4 and CYP2C9. In summary, arylquin-1 held some promise as a leading candidate but additional SAR work will be required to improve further the pharmaceutical properties found in a clinical candidate.

5.6 Future Perspectives

Among the future directions for our interests in secretagogues lie three lines of investigation. First, we would like to define the precise binding site(s) of arylquins on vimentin as not only a fundamental issue but also as a means of guided SAR development of new arylquins. Secondly, we would like to evaluate structure–activity relationships in arylquins that were not, as yet, explored as a means of promoting Par-4 secretion to levels above that produced by arylquin-1. Thirdly, we seek to define the role of arylquin binding to vimentin on the EMT process and potentially develop agents that impede metastasis.

5.6.1 Arylquins and Vimentin Structural Studies

Monomers of vimentin associate into coiled-coil, dimeric structures that are more rigid than the flexible monomeric counterparts. The dimers form antiparallel tetramers and, eventually, higher order thick, elongated filament assemblies that are 16 dimers thick [127]. Although the exact structure of a fully assembled vimentin filament remains unknown, this assembly possesses a well-featured surface topography. Its overexpression in various cancers, such as prostate cancer, makes it an attractive, albeit difficult, target for drug development [117]. Initial studies suggested that arylquin-1 promoted the release of Par-4 sequestered on vimentin. We subsequently reported structure–activity studies of arylquins and related compounds to identify more potent arylquins than arylquin-1 for these binding studies, and we reported binding experiments between arylquins and a purified, rod

domain of vimentin (residues 99–411) that probed the issue of one-site *versus* multiple-binding sites.

Computational modeling suggested that arylquin-1 bound to a single, putative site on a fragment of the vimentin rod domain (residues 328-406) that was competitive with the binding site of withaferin A and presumably with a recently reported 3-azidowithaferin derivative [67, 128, 129]. The "one-site model" suggested that the binding of arylquin 1a involved three non-covalent interactions: a van der Waals interactions between the C-7 N,N-dimethylamino in arylquin-1 and Leu326 and Val330; a hydrogen-bonding interaction between the C-2 amino group in arylquin-1 and Asp331; and another hydrogen-bonding interaction between the *ortho*-fluorophenyl group in arylquin-1 and Cys328. We probed these computational predictions by evaluating the influence of structural modifications on new arylquins. The relative ratio of Par-4 secretion by arylquin-1 at 500 nM to vehicle was 3.5, and the newly synthesized arylquins were compared to this value. In general, modifications of the ortho-fluorophenyl group with other halogens at the orthoposition, with various halogens at the meta- or parapositions, and with multiple halogens including analogs with at least one fluoro group at the ortho-position results in arylquins with poorer secretory activity than the original arylquin-1 [126]. Secretion is, however, only one factor governing drug development, and replacement of the C-2 amino group in arylquin-1 with a chloro group (i.e., 2-chloro-3-(2fluorophenyl)-N,N-dimethylquinolin-7-amine) led to a secretagogue with potency equal to arylquin-1 but with a significantly increase, as desired, IC₅₀ for activation of the hERG channel.

Suspecting that the one-site model for arylquin binding was inaccurate, we turned our attention to measuring directly the stoichiometry of arylquin binding to vimentin. Vimentin is a 53 kDa polypeptide comprised of 466 amino acids, with a highly conserved α -helical "rod" domain flanked by non- α -helical N-terminal head (77 residues) and C-terminal tail (61 residues) regions [130]. Together, vimentin monomers associate in parallel and in-register to form a coiled-coil that forms the basic structural building block for the entire intermediate filament family of proteins [131]. We tested whether arylquins bound the purified rod domain of vimentin (residues 99-411), which is a much larger portion of vimentin than the segment used for the computational modeling. The rod domain consists of helices interrupted by short loops, and it has been demonstrated to form a parallel, coiled-coil dimer splayed at both termini. This dimer is a basic building block of an intermediate filament formed by the full-length vimentin [68]. We titrated arylquin analogs at constant concentrations with the vimentin rod domain and monitored the intrinsic fluorescence of the arylquins. Binding of the vimentin rod

domain to arylquins was typically characterized by 2– three-fold enhancement in arylquin fluorescence. The intrinsic Trp fluorescence contribution to this fluorescence increase was insignificant. For example, arylquin-1 displayed activity in the Par-4 secretion assay bound to the vimentin rod domain with a $K_d < 500$ nM, but another arylquin, 7-chloro-3-(2-fluorophenyl)quinolin-2-amine, that did not induce Par-4 secretion did not bind the vimentin rod domain to a measurable extent. Beyond computational studies, the challenge before us is to find co-crystallization conditions to confirm some of these understandings and provide the level of structure-guided drug design that we require.

5.6.2 Arylquin SAR Development

Initial studies [114] identified the most active arylquins as those that possessed amino groups at C-2 and/or at C-7 and that possessed an ortho-fluorophenyl group at C-3. The synthesis of additional analogs [126] of arylquin-1 made use of either the Friedländer condensation [112, 113] of substituted ortho-aminobenzaldehydes and arylacetonitriles to acquire 3-arylquinolines or the Knoevenagel condensation [115] of adduct between ortho-aminobenzaldehydes the and α -arylacetyl chlorides to acquire the 3-arylquinolones. Similar condensations of 4-(N,N-dimethylamino)-2aminobenzaldehyde (16a) with 2-arylacetonitriles in which the aryl ring possessed either an ortho-cyano- or an orthocarboxylate-substituent led to the little-known, tetracyclic dibenzo[b,f][1,8]naphthyridine or dibenzo[b,f][1,8]naphthyridin-5(6H)-one, respectively. The arylquinolones provided also access to the thioquinolones, 2-thiomethoxyquinolines, 2-chloroquinolines, 2-(N-methylpiperazinyl)quinolines, and the 2-(morpholinyl)quinolines in a straightforward series of reactions. Additional SAR studies will explore modifications of other positions within the 3-aryquinolines and will examine the potential for replacing the ortho-fluorophenyl group with heterocyclic rings. Apart from testing their potency as Par-4 secretagogues, these efforts will also require pull-down experiments to confirm that vimentin remains as the exclusive target of these agents.

5.6.3 Arylquins and Metastasis

Our studies identified a novel secretagogue, arylquin-1 (12) (Fig. 4), that produced a dose-dependent secretion of Par-4 at nanomolar concentrations from normal lung fibroblasts and epithelial cells. We detected vimentin as a single primary target of arylquin-1 in pull-down experiments. Vimentin' importance rests with its elevated levels in tumors and its causal role in EMT and metastasis (Fig. 1). At low concentrations, arylquin-1 by itself does not kill either normal cells or most cancer cells, but

arylquin-1 causes robust secretion of Par-4 from normal cells and produced apoptosis in cancer cells only when they were used in co-culture experiments with normal cells. These findings that implicate Par-4 secreted from normal cells in the apoptotic death of cancer cells were corroborated by the observation that arylquin-1-treatment of cancer cell co-cultures with Par-4-null normal cells failed to induce apoptosis of the cancer cells. Thus, arylquin-1 induces paracrine apoptosis in cancer cells *via* Par-4 secreted by normal cells. Because Par-4 produces apoptosis in diverse tumors and because there are no previously reported compounds that act at nanomolar concentrations to produce the levels of Par-4 secretion discovered in this study, our findings potentially have broad translational significance.

The in vitro or in vivo administration of 3-arylquinolines at nanomolar concentrations promoted high levels of Par-4 secretion by inhibiting the sequestering agent, the intermediary filament protein, vimentin (Fig. 1). This finding stimulated our interest in the synthesis and evaluation of additional Par-4 secretagogues because of vimentin's role in EMT during which cancer cells lose their cell-cell adhesion and metastasize. Within three years of either surgerv or hormone treatment, a significant number of prostate cancer patients, for example, exhibit castration-resistant tumors that ultimately metastasize to bone, lung, liver, pleura, or adrenal glands, resist further chemotherapeutic treatment leading ultimately to fatal outcomes. Future efforts will further develop the 3-arylquinoline scaffold, will exploit FDA-approved quinolines, such as chloroquine [132] (CQ), and will explore other naturally occurring quinolines as potential Par-4 secretagogues. We will also study other mechanisms that effect Par-4 secretion. The antimalarial drug CQ, for example, induced Par-4 secretion in a p53- and Rab8b-dependent manner [132], and arylquin-1 and nutlin-3a were also dependent on p53 to induce Par-4 secretion. It would be of interest to identify other secretagogues might utilize a vimentin-independent mechanism for Par-4 secretion.

Acknowledgments CL and DSW were supported by NIH R01 CA172379 from the National Institutes of Health, the Lucille Parker Markey Cancer Center at the University of Kentucky, and by NIH UL1 TR000117 from the National Institutes of Health to the University of Kentucky's Center for Clinical and Translational Science. DSW was also supported in part by the Office of the Dean of the College of Medicine, the Center for Pharmaceutical Research and Innovation in the College of Pharmacy, NIH P30 RR020171 from the National Institute of General Medical Sciences to L. Hersh; and NIH R01 CA60872 from the National Cancer Institute to Vivek M. Rangnekar. We thank Ms. Elise Wright in the Markey Cancer Center for her artistry in constructing Fig. 1.

References

- Farhan H, Rabouille C (2011) Signalling to and from the secretory pathway. J Cell Sci 124(Pt 2):171–180
- Mellman I, Warren G (2000) The road taken: past and future foundations of membrane traffic. Cell 100(1):99–112
- Lee MC, Miller EA, Goldberg J, Orci L, Schekman R (2004) Bi-directional protein transport between the ER and Golgi. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 20:87–123
- Ferro-Novick S, Brose N (2013) Nobel 2013 physiology or medicine: traffic control system within cells. Nature 504(7478):98
- Viotti C (2016) ER to Golgi-dependent protein secretion: the conventional pathway. Methods Mol Biol 1459:3–29
- Boncompain G, Perez F (2013) The many routes of Golgidependent trafficking. Histochem Cell Biol 140(3):251–260
- Rabouille C (2017) Pathways of unconventional protein secretion. Trends Cell Biol 27(3):230–240
- Kim J, Gee HY, Lee MG (2018) Unconventional protein secretion—new insights into the pathogenesis and therapeutic targets of human diseases. J Cell Sci 131(12):jcs213686
- Gee HY, Kim J, Lee MG (2018) Unconventional secretion of transmembrane proteins. Semin Cell Dev Biol 83:59–66
- Rabouille C, Malhotra V, Nickel W (2012) Diversity in unconventional protein secretion. J Cell Sci 125(Pt 22):5251–5255
- Kelly RB (1985) Pathways of protein secretion in eukaryotes. Science 230(4721):25–32
- Sells SF, Wood DP Jr, Joshi-Barve SS, Muthukumar S, Jacob RJ, Crist SA, Humphreys S, Rangnekar VM (1994) Commonality of the gene programs induced by effectors of apoptosis in androgendependent and -independent prostate cells. Cell Growth Differ 5(4):457–466
- Chakraborty M, Qiu SG, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2001) Par-4 drives trafficking and activation of Fas and Fasl to induce prostate cancer cell apoptosis and tumor regression. Cancer Res 61(19):7255–7263
- El-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (2003) Apoptosis by Par-4 in cancer and neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Cell Res 283(1):51-66
- Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Rangnekar VM (2010) Cancer-selective apoptotic effects of extracellular and intracellular Par-4. Oncogene 29(27):3873–3880
- Garcia-Cao I, Duran A, Collado M, Carrascosa MJ, Martin-Caballero J, Flores JM, Diaz-Meco MT, Moscat J, Serrano M (2005) Tumour-suppression activity of the proapoptotic regulator Par4. EMBO Rep 6(6):577–583
- Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR, Rangnekar VM (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138(2):377–388
- Owji H, Nezafat N, Negahdaripour M, Hajiebrahimi A, Ghasemi Y (2018) A comprehensive review of signal peptides: structure, roles, and applications. Eur J Cell Biol 97(6):422–441

- Kapp K, Schrempf S, Lemberg MK, Dobberstein B (2009) Posttargeting functions of signal peptides. Landes Bioscience, Austin, TX
- McCloud TG, Burns MP, Majadly FD, Muschik GM, Miller DA, Poole KK, Roach JM, Ross JT, Lebherz WB 3rd (1995) Production of brefeldin-A. J Ind Microbiol 15(1):5–9
- Jackson CL, Casanova JE (2000) Turning on ARF: the Sec7 family of guanine-nucleotide-exchange factors. Trends Cell Biol 10(2):60–67
- Niu TK, Pfeifer AC, Lippincott-Schwartz J, Jackson CL (2005) Dynamics of GBF1, a Brefeldin A-sensitive Arf1 exchange factor at the Golgi. Mol Biol Cell 16(3):1213–1222
- Helms JB, Rothman JE (1992) Inhibition by brefeldin A of a Golgi membrane enzyme that catalyses exchange of guanine nucleotide bound to ARF. Nature 360(6402):352–354
- El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23(16):5516–5525
- 25. Carta S, Lavieri R, Rubartelli A (2013) Different members of the IL-1 family come out in different ways: DAMPs vs. cytokines? Front Immunol 4:123
- Sigalos JT, Pastuszak AW (2018) The safety and efficacy of growth hormone secretagogues. Sex Med Rev 6(1):45–53
- Smith RG (2005) Development of growth hormone secretagogues. Endocr Rev 26(3):346–360
- 28. Chaudhury A, Duvoor C, Reddy Dendi VS, Kraleti S, Chada A, Ravilla R, Marco A, Shekhawat NS, Montales MT, Kuriakose K, Sasapu A, Beebe A, Patil N, Musham CK, Lohani GP, Mirza W (2017) Clinical review of antidiabetic drugs: implications for type 2 diabetes mellitus management. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 8:6
- 29. Tsang MW (2012) The management of type 2 diabetic patients with hypoglycaemic agents. ISRN Endocrinol 2012:478120
- Zhao L, Liu P, Boncompain G, Loos F, Lachkar S, Bezu L, Chen G, Zhou H, Perez F, Kepp O, Kroemer G (2018) Identification of pharmacological inhibitors of conventional protein secretion. Sci Rep 8(1):14966
- Van Puyenbroeck V, Vermeire K (2018) Inhibitors of protein translocation across membranes of the secretory pathway: novel antimicrobial and anticancer agents. Cell Mol Life Sci 75(9):1541–1558
- Sun W, Yang J (2010) Functional mechanisms for human tumor suppressors. J Cancer 1:136–140
- Sherr CJ (2004) Principles of tumor suppression. Cell 116(2):235–246
- Wang LH, Wu CF, Rajasekaran N, Shin YK (2018) Loss of tumor suppressor gene function in human cancer: an overview. Cell Physiol Biochem 51(6):2647–2693
- 35. Davies MJ (2002) Insulin secretagogues. Curr Med Res Opin 18(Suppl. 1):s22–s30
- Franke WW, Grund C, Kuhn C, Jackson BW, Illmensee K (1982) Formation of cytoskeletal elements during mouse embryogenesis. III. Primary mesenchymal cells and the first appearance of vimentin filaments. Differentiation 23(1):43–59
- 37. Eriksson JE, Dechat T, Grin B, Helfand B, Mendez M, Pallari HM, Goldman RD (2009) Introducing intermediate filaments: from discovery to disease. J Clin Invest 119(7):1763–1771
- Zhao Y, Yan Q, Long X, Chen X, Wang Y (2008) Vimentin affects the mobility and invasiveness of prostate cancer cells. Cell Biochem Funct 26(5):571–577
- 39. Lang SH, Hyde C, Reid IN, Hitchcock IS, Hart CA, Bryden AA, Villette JM, Stower MJ, Maitland NJ (2002) Enhanced expression of vimentin in motile prostate cell lines and in poorly differentiated and metastatic prostate carcinoma. Prostate 52(4):253–263
- 40. Singh S, Sadacharan S, Su S, Belldegrun A, Persad S, Singh G (2003) Overexpression of vimentin: role in the invasive phenotype

in an androgen-independent model of prostate cancer. Cancer Res 63(9):2306-2311

- 41. Wu M, Bai X, Xu G, Wei J, Zhu T, Zhang Y, Li Q, Liu P, Song A, Zhao L, Gang C, Han Z, Wang S, Zhou J, Lu Y, Ma D (2007) Proteome analysis of human androgen-independent prostate cancer cell lines: variable metastatic potentials correlated with vimentin expression. Proteomics 7(12):1973–1983
- Sethi S, Macoska J, Chen W, Sarkar FH (2010) Molecular signature of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) in human prostate cancer bone metastasis. Am J Transl Res 3(1):90–99
- Gilles C, Polette M, Zahm JM, Tournier JM, Volders L, Foidart JM, Birembaut P (1999) Vimentin contributes to human mammary epithelial cell migration. J Cell Sci 112(Pt 24):4615–4625
- 44. Korsching E, Packeisen J, Liedtke C, Hungermann D, Wulfing P, van Diest PJ, Brandt B, Boecker W, Buerger H (2005) The origin of vimentin expression in invasive breast cancer: epithelial-mesenchymal transition, myoepithelial histogenesis or histogenesis from progenitor cells with bilinear differentiation potential? J Pathol 206(4):451–457
- 45. Kokkinos MI, Wafai R, Wong MK, Newgreen DF, Thompson EW, Waltham M (2007) Vimentin and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in human breast cancer--observations in vitro and in vivo. Cells Tissues Organs 185(1–3):191–203
- 46. Kidd ME, Shumaker DK, Ridge KM (2014) The role of vimentin intermediate filaments in the progression of lung cancer. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 50(1):1–6
- 47. Trog D, Yeghiazaryan K, Schild HH, Golubnitschaja O (2008) Up-regulation of vimentin expression in low-density malignant glioma cells as immediate and late effects under irradiation and temozolomide treatment. Amino Acids 34(4):539–545
- 48. Fortin S, Le Mercier M, Camby I, Spiegl-Kreinecker S, Berger W, Lefranc F, Kiss R (2010) Galectin-1 is implicated in the protein kinase C epsilon/vimentin-controlled trafficking of integrinbeta1 in glioblastoma cells. Brain Pathol 20(1):39–49
- 49. Bouamrani A, Ramus C, Gay E, Pelletier L, Cubizolles M, Brugiere S, Wion D, Berger F, Issartel JP (2010) Increased phosphorylation of vimentin in noninfiltrative meningiomas. PLoS One 5(2):e9238
- 50. Li M, Zhang B, Sun B, Wang X, Ban X, Sun T, Liu Z, Zhao X (2010) A novel function for vimentin: the potential biomarker for predicting melanoma hematogenous metastasis. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 29:109
- 51. Chu YW, Seftor EA, Romer LH, Hendrix MJ (1996) Experimental coexpression of vimentin and keratin intermediate filaments in human melanoma cells augments motility. Am J Pathol 148(1):63–69
- Takemura K, Hirayama R, Hirokawa K, Inagaki M, Tsujimura K, Esaki Y, Mishima Y (1994) Expression of vimentin in gastric cancer: a possible indicator for prognosis. Pathobiology 62(3):149–154
- 53. Hong SH, Misek DE, Wang H, Puravs E, Hinderer R, Giordano TJ, Greenson JK, Brenner DE, Simeone DM, Logsdon CD, Hanash SM (2006) Identification of a specific vimentin isoform that induces an antibody response in pancreatic cancer. Biomark Insights 1:175–183
- 54. Liu C, Chen Y, Yu X, Jin C, Xu J, Long J, Ni Q, Fu D, Jin H, Bai C (2008) Proteomic analysis of differential proteins in pancreatic carcinomas: effects of MBD1 knock-down by stable RNA interference. BMC Cancer 8:121
- 55. Yin T, Wang C, Liu T, Zhao G, Zhou F (2006) Implication of EMT induced by TGF-beta1 in pancreatic cancer. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci 26(6):700–702
- 56. Walsh N, O'Donovan N, Kennedy S, Henry M, Meleady P, Clynes M, Dowling P (2009) Identification of pancreatic cancer invasion-related proteins by proteomic analysis. Proteome Sci 7:3

- 57. Ngan CY, Yamamoto H, Seshimo I, Tsujino T, Man-i M, Ikeda JI, Konishi K, Takemasa I, Ikeda M, Sekimoto M, Matsuura N, Monden M (2007) Quantitative evaluation of vimentin expression in tumour stroma of colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 96(6):986–992
- McInroy L, Maatta A (2007) Down-regulation of vimentin expression inhibits carcinoma cell migration and adhesion. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 360(1):109–114
- Alfonso P, Nunez A, Madoz-Gurpide J, Lombardia L, Sanchez L, Casal JI (2005) Proteomic expression analysis of colorectal cancer by two-dimensional differential gel electrophoresis. Proteomics 5(10):2602–2611
- 60. Du L, Li J, Lei L, He H, Chen E, Dong J, Yang J (2018) High vimentin expression predicts a poor prognosis and progression in colorectal cancer: a study with meta-analysis and TCGA database. Biomed Res Int 2018:6387810
- 61. Hu N, Wang C, Han XY, He LJ, Tang ZZ, Giffen C, Emmert-Buck MR, Goldstein AM, Taylor PR (2004) Evaluation of BRCA2 in the genetic susceptibility of familial esophageal cancer. Oncogene 23(3):852–858
- 62. Li ZM, Wen YJ, Yang HB, Qin G, Tian L, Deng HX, Wen B (2008) Enhanced expression of human vimentin intermediate filaments in hepatocellular carcinoma cells decreases their proliferative and invasive abilities in vitro. Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi 30(6):408–412
- 63. Bubb MR, Spector I, Bershadsky AD, Korn ED (1995) Swinholide A is a microfilament disrupting marine toxin that stabilizes actin dimers and severs actin filaments. J Biol Chem 270(8):3463–3466
- Schiff PB, Fant J, Horwitz SB (1979) Promotion of microtubule assembly in vitro by taxol. Nature 277(5698):665–667
- 65. Bensch KG, Malawista SE (1968) Microtubule crystals: a new biophysical phenomenon induced by Vinca alkaloids. Nature 218(5147):1176–1177
- 66. Bensch KG, Marantz R, Wisniewski H, Shelanski M (1969) Induction in vitro of microtubular crystals by vinca alkaloids. Science 165(3892):495–496
- 67. Bargagna-Mohan P, Hamza A, Kim YE, Khuan Abby Ho Y, Mor-Vaknin N, Wendschlag N, Liu J, Evans RM, Markovitz DM, Zhan CG, Kim KB, Mohan R (2007) The tumor inhibitor and antiangiogenic agent withaferin A targets the intermediate filament protein vimentin. Chem Biol 14(6):623–634
- Chernyatina AA, Nicolet S, Aebi U, Herrmann H, Strelkov SV (2012) Atomic structure of the vimentin central alpha-helical domain and its implications for intermediate filament assembly. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(34):13620–13625
- 69. Weinberg R (1993) Tumor suppressor genes. Neuron 11(2):191–196
- Matthews H, Hanison J, Nirmalan N (2016) "Omics"-informed drug and biomarker discovery: opportunities, challenges and future perspectives. Proteomes 4(3):28
- Dugger SA, Platt A, Goldstein DB (2018) Drug development in the era of precision medicine. Nat Rev Drug Discov 17(3):183–196
- Keener, J.; Sneyd, J., Cellular homeostasis. vol. 8(1) Springer, New York, NY, 2009
- 73. Madden E, Logue SE, Healy SJ, Manie S, Samali A (2019) The role of the unfolded protein response in cancer progression: from oncogenesis to chemoresistance. Biol Cell 111(1):1–17
- 74. Shangary S, Wang S (2009) Small-molecule inhibitors of the MDM2-p53 protein-protein interaction to reactivate p53 function: a novel approach for cancer therapy. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 49:223–241
- Vassilev LT, Vu BT, Graves B, Carvajal D, Podlaski F, Filipovic Z, Kong N, Kammlott U, Lukacs C, Klein C, Fotouhi N, Liu EA (2004) In vivo activation of the p53 pathway by small-molecule antagonists of MDM2. Science 303(5659):844–848
- Burikhanov R, Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Qiu S, Shukla N, Hebbar N, Lele SM, Horbinski C, Rangnekar VM (2013) Novel mechanism

of apoptosis resistance in cancer mediated by extracellular PAR-4. Cancer Res 73(2):1011–1019

- 77. Hebbar N, Wang C, Rangnekar VM (2012) Mechanisms of apoptosis by the tumor suppressor par-4. J Cell Physiol 227(12):3715–3721
- Moll UM, Petrenko O (2003) The MDM2-p53 interaction. Mol Cancer Res 1(14):1001–1008
- Wade M, Li YC, Wahl GM (2013) MDM2, MDMX and p53 in oncogenesis and cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 13(2):83–96
- Toledo F, Wahl GM (2007) MDM2 and MDM4: p53 regulators as targets in anticancer therapy. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39(7–8):1476–1482
- Khurana A, Shafer DA (2019) MDM2 antagonists as a novel treatment option for acute myeloid leukemia: perspectives on the therapeutic potential of idasanutlin (RG7388). Onco Targets Ther 12:2903–2910
- 82. Michaelis M, Rothweiler F, Barth S, Cinatl J, van Rikxoort M, Loschmann N, Voges Y, Breitling R, von Deimling A, Rodel F, Weber K, Fehse B, Mack E, Stiewe T, Doerr HW, Speidel D, Cinatl J Jr (2011) Adaptation of cancer cells from different entities to the MDM2 inhibitor nutlin-3 results in the emergence of p53mutated multi-drug-resistant cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 2:e243
- Aziz MH, Shen H, Maki CG (2011) Acquisition of p53 mutations in response to the non-genotoxic p53 activator Nutlin-3. Oncogene 30(46):4678–4686
- Wei SJ, Joseph T, Sim AY, Yurlova L, Zolghadr K, Lane D, Verma C, Ghadessy F (2013) In vitro selection of mutant HDM2 resistant to Nutlin inhibition. PLoS One 8(4):e62564
- 85. Skalniak L, Kocik J, Polak J, Skalniak A, Rak M, Wolnicka-Glubisz A, Holak TA (2018) Prolonged idasanutlin (RG7388) treatment leads to the generation of p53-mutated cells. Cancers (Basel) 10(11):396
- 86. Hoffman-Luca CG, Ziazadeh D, McEachern D, Zhao Y, Sun W, Debussche L, Wang S (2015) Elucidation of acquired resistance to Bcl-2 and MDM2 inhibitors in acute leukemia in vitro and in vivo. Clin Cancer Res 21(11):2558–2568
- 87. Jung J, Lee JS, Dickson MA, Schwartz GK, Le Cesne A, Varga A, Bahleda R, Wagner AJ, Choy E, de Jonge MJ, Light M, Rowley S, Mace S, Watters J (2016) TP53 mutations emerge with HDM2 inhibitor SAR405838 treatment in de-differentiated liposarcoma. Nat Commun 7:12609
- 88. Drummond CJ, Esfandiari A, Liu J, Lu X, Hutton C, Jackson J, Bennaceur K, Xu Q, Makimanejavali AR, Del Bello F, Piergentili A, Newell DR, Hardcastle IR, Griffin RJ, Lunec J (2016) TP53 mutant MDM2-amplified cell lines selected for resistance to MDM2-p53 binding antagonists retain sensitivity to ionizing radiation. Oncotarget 7(29):46203–46218
- 89. Chapeau EA, Gembarska A, Durand EY, Mandon E, Estadieu C, Romanet V, Wiesmann M, Tiedt R, Lehar J, de Weck A, Rad R, Barys L, Jeay S, Ferretti S, Kauffmann A, Sutter E, Grevot A, Moulin P, Murakami M, Sellers WR, Hofmann F, Jensen MR (2017) Resistance mechanisms to TP53-MDM2 inhibition identified by in vivo piggyBac transposon mutagenesis screen in an Arf(-/-) mouse model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114(12):3151–3156
- Viallet J, Minna JD (1990) Dominant oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes in the pathogenesis of lung cancer. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2(3):225–232
- Luo SY, Lam DC (2013) Oncogenic driver mutations in lung cancer. Transl Respir Med 1(1):6
- Chen F, Wang W, El-Deiry WS (2010) Current strategies to target p53 in cancer. Biochem Pharmacol 80(5):724–730
- Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Hebbar N, Rangnekar VM (2013) Par(-4) oxysm in breast cancer. Cancer Cell 24(1):3–5
- Alvarez JV, Pan TC, Ruth J, Feng Y, Zhou A, Pant D, Grimley JS, Wandless TJ, Demichele A, Investigators IST, Chodosh LA

(2013) Par-4 downregulation promotes breast cancer recurrence by preventing multinucleation following targeted therapy. Cancer Cell 24(1):30–44

- 95. Thayyullathil F, Pallichankandy S, Rahman A, Kizhakkayil J, Chathoth S, Patel M, Galadari S (2013) Caspase-3 mediated release of SAC domain containing fragment from Par-4 is necessary for the sphingosine-induced apoptosis in Jurkat cells. J Mol Signal 8(1):2
- Gonzalez-Gronow M, Selim MA, Papalas J, Pizzo SV (2009) GRP78: a multifunctional receptor on the cell surface. Antioxid Redox Signal 11(9):2299–2306
- Burikhanov R, Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Hebbar N, Qiu S, Zhao Y, Zambetti GP, Rangnekar VM (2014) Paracrine apoptotic effect of p53 mediated by tumor suppressor Par-4. Cell Rep 6(2):271–277
- Diaz-Meco MT, Lallena MJ, Monjas A, Frutos S, Moscat J (1999) Inactivation of the inhibitory kappaB protein kinase/ nuclear factor kappaB pathway by Par-4 expression potentiates tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 274(28):19606–19612
- 99. Wang BD, Kline CL, Pastor DM, Olson TL, Frank B, Luu T, Sharma AK, Robertson G, Weirauch MT, Patierno SR, Stuart JM, Irby RB, Lee NH (2010) Prostate apoptosis response protein 4 sensitizes human colon cancer cells to chemotherapeutic 5-FU through mediation of an NF kappaB and microRNA network. Mol Cancer 9:98
- 100. Diaz-Meco MT, Municio MM, Frutos S, Sanchez P, Lozano J, Sanz L, Moscat J (1996) The product of par-4, a gene induced during apoptosis, interacts selectively with the atypical isoforms of protein kinase C. Cell 86(5):777–786
- 101. Lee TJ, Jang JH, Noh HJ, Park EJ, Choi KS, Kwon TK (2010) Overexpression of Par-4 sensitizes TRAIL-induced apoptosis via inactivation of NF-kappaB and Akt signaling pathways in renal cancer cells. J Cell Biochem 109(5):885–895
- 102. de Thonel A, Hazoume A, Kochin V, Isoniemi K, Jego G, Fourmaux E, Hammann A, Mjahed H, Filhol O, Micheau O, Rocchi P, Mezger V, Eriksson JE, Rangnekar VM, Garrido C (2014) Regulation of the proapoptotic functions of prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) by casein kinase 2 in prostate cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 5:e1016
- Chaudhry P, Singh M, Parent S, Asselin E (2012) Prostate apoptosis response 4 (Par-4), a novel substrate of caspase-3 during apoptosis activation. Mol Cell Biol 32(4):826–839
- 104. Zhang J, Sun A, Dong Y, Wei D (2018) Recombinant production and characterization of SAC, the core domain of Par-4, by SUMO fusion system. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 184(4):1155–1167
- 105. Sarkar S, Jain S, Rai V, Sahoo DK, Raha S, Suklabaidya S, Senapati S, Rangnekar VM, Maiti IB, Dey N (2015) Plant-derived SAC domain of PAR-4 (Prostate Apoptosis Response 4) exhibits growth inhibitory effects in prostate cancer cells. Front Plant Sci 6:822
- 106. Azmi AS, Philip PA, Aboukameel A, Wang Z, Banerjee S, Zafar SF, Goustin AS, Almhanna K, Yang D, Sarkar FH, Mohammad RM (2010) Reactivation of p53 by novel MDM2 inhibitors: implications for pancreatic cancer therapy. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 10(3):319–331
- 107. Zhang W, Sviripa V, Kril LM, Chen X, Yu T, Shi J, Rychahou P, Evers BM, Watt DS, Liu C (2011) Fluorinated N,N-dialkylaminostilbenes for Wnt pathway inhibition and colon cancer repression. J Med Chem 54(5):1288–1297
- 108. Sviripa VM, Zhang W, Balia AG, Tsodikov OV, Nickell JR, Gizard F, Yu T, Lee EY, Dwoskin LP, Liu C, Watt DS (2014) 2',6'-Dihalostyrylanilines, pyridines, and pyrimidines for the inhibition of the catalytic subunit of methionine S-adenosyltransferase-2. J Med Chem 57(14):6083–6091
- 109. Zhang W, Sviripa V, Chen X, Shi J, Yu T, Hamza A, Ward ND, Kril LM, Vander Kooi CW, Zhan CG, Evers BM, Watt DS, Liu C

(2013) Fluorinated N,N-dialkylaminostilbenes repress colon cancer by targeting methionine S-adenosyltransferase 2A. ACS Chem Biol 8(4):796–803

- 110. Gorner H, Kuhn HJ (1995) Cis-trans photoisomerization of stilbenes and stilbene-like molecules, vol 19. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, pp 1–117
- 111. Sviripa VM, Zhang W, Kril LM, Liu AX, Yuan Y, Zhan CG, Liu C, Watt DS (2014) Halogenated diarylacetylenes repress c-myc expression in cancer cells. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 24(15):3638–3640
- Cheng C-C, Yan SJ (1982) The Friedlander synthesis of quinolines. Org React 28:37–201
- 113. Marco-Contelles J, Perez-Mayoral E, Samadi A, Carreiras Mdo C, Soriano E (2009) Recent advances in the Friedlander reaction. Chem Rev 109(6):2652–2671
- 114. Burikhanov R, Sviripa VM, Hebbar N, Zhang W, Layton WJ, Hamza A, Zhan CG, Watt DS, Liu C, Rangnekar VM (2014) Arylquins target vimentin to trigger Par-4 secretion for tumor cell apoptosis. Nat Chem Biol 10(11):924–926
- 115. Jones G (1967) The Knoevenagel condensation. Org React 15:204–599
- 116. Lecher HZ, Greenwood RA, Whitehouse KC, Chao TH (1956) The phosphonation of aromatic compounds with phosphorous pentasulfide. J Am Chem Soc 78:5018–5022
- 117. Satelli A, Li S (2011) Vimentin in cancer and its potential as a molecular target for cancer therapy. Cell Mol Life Sci 68(18):3033–3046
- 118. Hudson LG, Cook LS, Grimes MM, Muller CY, Adams SF, Wandinger-Ness A (2019) Dual actions of Ketorolac in metastatic ovarian cancer. Cancers (Basel) 11(8):1049
- 119. Forget P, Bentin C, Machiels JP, Berliere M, Coulie PG, De Kock M (2014) Intraoperative use of ketorolac or diclofenac is associated with improved disease-free survival and overall survival in conservative breast cancer surgery. Br J Anaesth 113(Suppl. 1):i82–i87
- 120. Retsky M, Rogers R, Demicheli R, Hrushesky WJ, Gukas I, Vaidya JS, Baum M, Forget P, Dekock M, Pachmann K (2012) NSAID analgesic ketorolac used perioperatively may suppress early breast cancer relapse: particular relevance to triple negative subgroup. Breast Cancer Res Treat 134(2):881–888
- 121. Ghosalkar JD, Raut SR, Thekkumpurath MC, Malhotra G, Joshi KS (2018) Abstract B141: repurposing of ketorolac for the treatment of renal cell carcinoma (RCC). Mol Cancer Ther 17(1):B141

- 122. Malhotra, G.; Joshi, K.; Ghosalkar, J. Ketorolac for the treatment of cancer. US 2018/0021305 A1, Jan. 25, 2018
- 123. Eckes B, Colucci-Guyon E, Smola H, Nodder S, Babinet C, Krieg T, Martin P (2000) Impaired wound healing in embryonic and adult mice lacking vimentin. J Cell Sci 113(Pt 13):2455–2462
- 124. Gillard BK, Harrell RG, Marcus DM (1996) Pathways of glycosphingolipid biosynthesis in SW13 cells in the presence and absence of vimentin intermediate filaments. Glycobiology 6(1):33–42
- 125. Min K-J, Shahriyar SA, Kwon TK (2019) Arylquin 1, a potent Par-4 secretagogue induces lysosomal membrane permeabilizationmediated non-apoptotic cell death in cancer cells. Toxicol Res 36(2):167–173
- 126. Sviripa VM, Burikhanov R, Obiero JM, Yuan Y, Nickell JR, Dwoskin LP, Zhan CG, Liu C, Tsodikov OV, Rangnekar VM, Watt DS (2016) Par-4 secretion: stoichiometry of 3-arylquinoline binding to vimentin. Org Biomol Chem 14(1):74–84
- 127. Herrmann H, Haner M, Brettel M, Muller SA, Goldie KN, Fedtke B, Lustig A, Franke WW, Aebi U (1996) Structure and assembly properties of the intermediate filament protein vimentin: the role of its head, rod and tail domains. J Mol Biol 264(5):933–953
- 128. Bargagna-Mohan P, Paranthan RR, Hamza A, Dimova N, Trucchi B, Srinivasan C, Elliott GI, Zhan CG, Lau DL, Zhu H, Kasahara K, Inagaki M, Cambi F, Mohan R (2010) Withaferin A targets intermediate filaments glial fibrillary acidic protein and vimentin in a model of retinal gliosis. J Biol Chem 285(10):7657–7669
- 129. Rah B, Rasool RU, Nayak D, Yousuf SK, Mukherjee D, Kumar LD, Goswami A (2015) PAWR-mediated suppression of BCL2 promotes switching of 3-azido withaferin A (3-AWA)-induced autophagy to apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. Autophagy 11(2):314–331
- 130. Goldie KN, Wedig T, Mitra AK, Aebi U, Herrmann H, Hoenger A (2007) Dissecting the 3-D structure of vimentin intermediate filaments by cryo-electron tomography. J Struct Biol 158(3):378–385
- Fuchs E, Hanukoglu I (1983) Unraveling the structure of the intermediate filaments. Cell 34(2):332–334
- 132. Burikhanov R, Hebbar N, Noothi SK, Shukla N, Sledziona J, Araujo N, Kudrimoti M, Wang QJ, Watt DS, Welch DR, Maranchie J, Harada A, Rangnekar VM (2017) Chloroquine-inducible par-4 secretion is essential for tumor cell apoptosis and inhibition of metastasis. Cell Rep 18(2):508–519



Recombinant Production and Characterization of Par-4/SAC

Fang Zheng and Chang-Guo Zhan

Abstract

Recombinant Par-4/SAC protein is capable of inducing apoptosis selectively in cancer cells without affecting the normal cells and, hence, has the potential to serve as a protein drug candidate for cancer treatment. Meanwhile, major challenges exist in the recombinant Par-4/SAC protein drug development, such as the low yield of recombinant protein production and the poor pharmacokinetic (PK) profile (with a short elimination half-life) of the protein. Nevertheless, encouraging progresses have been made during the last few years for improving both the yield of recombinant Par-4/SAC production and the PK profile. Particularly for improvement of the PK profile, the recently developed novel, long-lasting form of Par-4, known as Par-4Ex, is promising, because Par-4Ex has not only fully retained the unique anti-cancer activity of native Par-4, but also significantly prolonged the elimination half-life. As a result, Par-4Ex has a more potent in vivo anti-cancer activity compared to Par-4 itself. So, Par-4Ex may serve as a truly promising protein drug candidate for drug development moving forward. In addition, future effort to further prolong the elimination half-life may also include the structure-based rational design and testing of possible Par-4Ex mutants with improved binding affinity to neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn) in the acidic environment. In this way, the relatively longer elimination half-life of Par-4Ex may be extended further.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:recombinant Par-4} \begin{array}{l} \mathsf{Acc} \cdot \mathsf{Anti-cancer} \ activity \cdot \\ \mathsf{Par-4Ex} \cdot \mathsf{Pharmacokinetics} \cdot \mathsf{Human} \ neonatal \ \mathsf{Fc} \\ \mathsf{receptor} \ (\mathsf{FcRn}) \cdot \mathsf{Cancer} \cdot \mathsf{Lung} \ \mathsf{tumors} \end{array}$

1 Recombinant Par-4 or its SAC Domain as a Promising Therapeutic

Prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) is known as a tumor suppressor protein expressed ubiquitously in a number of tissues. The Par-4 gene was first discovered as an early apoptotic gene in a rat prostate cancer cell line incubated with ionomycin for apoptotic cell death [1, 2]. It was demonstrated that overexpression of Par-4 is sufficient to elicit apoptotic cell death in most cancer cells [3]. In line with this observation, the Par-4 gene has been reported to be mutated in endometrial cancer [4], and significantly down-regulated in many different types of cancer including renal cell carcinoma [5], breast cancer [6, 7], gastric and pancreatic cancer [8], glioblastoma [9], and neuroblastoma [10]. Par-4 down-regulation is associated with tumor recurrence and diminished patient survival [7].

The core domain of Par-4 (including amino-acid residues 145–203 in human Par-4 or amino-acid residues 137–195 in rat Par-4), known as selective for apoptosis induction in cancer cells (SAC domain), serves as the effector domain responsible for its proapoptotic activity [11]. It has been known that the SAC domain is 100% conserved in mouse, rat, and human homologs, implying that Par-4 plays a critical role in the surveillance against tumors [11]. In fact, both mature Par-4 protein and its SAC domain are capable of inducing apoptotic cell death through both an intrinsic pathway (activated by intrinsic stimuli such as biochemical stress or DNA damage, and mainly modulated by Bcl-2 and Bax) [12] and an extrinsic pathway (activated in response to external stimuli such as Fas ligand) [13]. First, it was believed that

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

F. Zheng \cdot C.-G. Zhan (\boxtimes)

Molecular Modeling and Biopharmaceutical Center, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA e-mail: zhan@uky.edu

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), Tumor Suppressor Par-4, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_12

Par-4 protein localizes and acts only in the cytoplasm and the nucleus for apoptosis induction [1, 14]. Subsequent studies revealed that Par-4 protein can be secreted to the extracellular space for action [2]. Extracellular Par-4 protein can induce apoptosis via FADD, caspase-8 and -3 activation following binding to the stress response protein, i.e., glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78), expressed on the surface of cancer cells [2]. It has also been demonstrated that exposure to purified recombinant Par-4 protein not only induces apoptosis in multiple types of cancer cells, but also inhibits tumor growth in vivo [3, 15].

Based on the above background, Par-4-related drug discovery may focus on development of either a small-molecule drug that can facilitate Par-4 secretion from normal cells [16] or an efficient method for producing recombinant Par-4/SAC protein as a protein drug [17]. Both the small-molecule drug and protein drug approaches are promising. For the smallmolecule drug approach, because Par-4 co-localizes and binds with vimentin (a cytoskeletal intermediate filament protein), a small-molecule drug should be designed to disrupt the vimentin binding with Par-4 so as to facilitate Par-4 secretion from normal cells for Par-4-dependent inhibition of tumor growth [16]. Indeed, arylquin 1 [16], chloroquine (CQ) [18], and hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) [18] were discovered as strong inducers of Par-4 secretion from normal or cancer cells. In a drug repurposing effort, HCQ, an antimalarial drug, has been tested in Phase 1 clinical trial for cancer treatment [19]. As hoped, eight of the nine patients treated with HCQ showed elevation of Par-4 levels in plasma and had tumors that exhibited TUNEL positivity, indicative of apoptosis. The Par-4 secretion correlated with apoptosis induction in patients' tumors [19].

For the protein drug approach, one will first need to produce the recombinant Par-4 or SAC protein in large scale. There have been efforts for the recombinant Par-4/ SAC protein production [17, 21-23]. For another major hurdle of the practical application of the protein drug approach, recombinant wild-type Par-4 protein has a very short elimination half-life in the body because molecular weight (~38 kDa) of wild-type Par-4 protein is below the threshold (~40 kDa) for glomerular filtration so that it undergoes rapid clearance from the blood [17]. Thus, the anti-cancer activity of Par-4 may be diminished due to its limited serum persistence in vivo. It is well recognized that the practical therapeutic efficacy of a protein drug can be greatly increased by improving its pharmacokinetic (PK) profile [22–28]. One may reasonably suggest a possibility that the therapeutic efficacy of the recombinant Par-4 protein for cancer treatment can be improved by prolonging the elimination half-life of the protein. A recently reported study [17] aimed to prolong the elimination half-life, and encouraging progress has been made (see below for the detailed discussion).

This chapter is focused on the protein drug approach, particularly the production and characterization of recombinant Par-4/SAC protein in various forms. Below, we will first briefly discuss the progress of Par-4/SAC protein production research using various expression systems. Then, we will discuss how the elimination half-life of a therapeutic protein can be prolonged and summarize the progress achieved so far.

2 Recombinant Protein Production of Par-4 and SAC

2.1 Protein Expression in Escherichia coli

In earlier studies [2, 15] that aimed to understand the detailed molecular mechanisms concerning the anti-cancer activity of Par-4, recombinant Par-4/SAC was expressed in *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), usually with a tag on either the N- or C-terminus or with tags on both the N- and C-terminuses, as summarized in Table 1.

The commonly used protein fusion tags for producing the PAR-4/SAC protein to be used in basic research include His_6 , glutathione *S*-transferase (GST), green fluorescent protein (GFP), and thioredoxin (TRX). The His-tag is used for

 Table 1
 Summary of expressed recombinant Par-4/SAC protein forms with a tag

	Structure (with references for studies producing the
Name	protein)
His-Par-4	A his-tag (usually 6 his residues) is fused to N-terminus of Par-4 [2, 17]
His-SAC	A his-tag (usually 6 his residues) is fused to N-terminus of SAC [2]
TRX-Par-4	A thioredoxin tag is fused to N-terminus of Par-4 [2, 15, 17]
TRX-SAC	A thioredoxin tag is fused to N-terminus of SAC [2, 15]
Par-4-GFP	A green fluorescent protein (GFP) tag is fused to C-terminus of Par-4 [2]
SAC-GFP	A GFP tag is fused to C-terminus of SAC [2, 21]
GST-Par-4	A glutathione S-transferase (GST) tag is fused to N-terminus of Par-4 [15]
GST-SAC	A GST tag is fused to N-terminus of SAC [15]
His-Par-4-	A his-tag (usually 6 his residues) is fused to
GFP	N-terminus of Par-4, and a GFP tag is fused to C-terminus of Par-4 [15]
His-SAC-	A his-tag (usually 6 his residues) is fused to
GFP	N-terminus of SAC, and a GFP tag is fused to C-terminus of SAC [15]
SUMO-	A small ubiquitin-related modifier (SUMO) is fused
SAC	to N-terminus of SAC [20]
His-	A his-tag (usually 6 his residues) is fused to
SUMO-	N-terminus of SUMO-SAC [20]
SAC	
Fc-Par-4	A fragment crystallizable (fc) region of IgG-1 is fused
	to N-terminus of Par-4 [17]

convenience of protein purification because a His-tagged protein may be purified most conveniently by using a HisPurTM Cobalt Resin or a HisPurTM Ni-NTA Resin. The GST tag is also used for convenience of protein purification using affinity chromatography because GST binds strongly and specifically to chromatography resins coupled with glutathione. The GFP tag is used for image analysis of the biodistribution.

Like His_6 , the TRX tag is also popularly used in protein expression and purification. Particularly, attachment of a TRX tag to a protein of interest can help to improve the solubility of the protein because TRX is highly soluble in water. So, TRX is popularly employed as a fusion tag to avoid inclusion body's formation in recombinant protein production.

It should be noted that all the tags mentioned above are perfectly fine for using the tagged Par-4/SAC to test the protein functions and understand the molecular mechanisms. However, for the protein drug development, it is necessary to cleave the tag after the protein purification, unless the tag can provide some desirable function/property that the unfused protein does not have and it is sure that the tag does not cause any unwanted problems for use in humans.

2.2 Other Potentially Useful Protein Expression Systems

Based on the background discussed above, there is no question that recombinant Par-4 protein or its SAC domain has the desirable anti-cancer activity of a protein drug. However, the promising potential of Par-4 or SAC can be realized only when the recombinant protein can be produced in large scale. Indeed, the desirable large-scale production of Par-4 of its SAC domain is still a matter of concern [21].

Generally speaking, traditional protein expression methods include bacterial and mammalian cell expression. For the cell-based expression systems, the most widely used expression hosts include *E. Coli*, yeast, insect, plant, and mammalian hosts. So, if Par-4 or SAC cannot be expressed in *E. Coli* with a high yield suitable for large-scale protein production, there are many other options available for testing.

Notably, many other protein drug candidates also had the similar problem of large-scale production using a traditional method, and the problem was eventually solved by using an alternative method. For example, recombinant human butyrylcholinesterase (BChE) [29] is considered as a very promising protein drug candidate for treatment of organophosphorus (OP) poisoning associated with OP insecticides and chemical warfare agents, such as tabun (GA), sarin (GB), soman (GD), cyclosarin (GF), and O-ethyl S-(2diisopropylaminoethyl) methylphosphonothioate (VX) [30-34]. On the other hand, it has been very challenging to

express BChE and its mutants in a commercially feasible expression platform [35]. The low yield of protein expression of BChE in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells would mean the high costs of the protein production for ultimate therapeutic treatment. It was highly desired to identify a lowcost and feasible, sustainable source of BChE production for practical application of BChE-based protein drug. Indeed, higher yields of recombinant BChE protein expression have been achieved with other systems, including transgenic goat [36, 37] and transgenic plant [36, 38, 39]. For example, for BChE expression in transgenic goat, the expressed BChE protein is secreted to milk. A very high yield (1–5 g/L) [36] of BChE protein was produced in the milk of transgenic goat. The transgenic goat-based protein production is scalable.

Similarly, rapid expression of a foreign protein in tobacco plants is also readily scalable for large-scale production with low costs [39, 40]. Interestingly, Mor et al. have demonstrated that tobacco plant can serve as an expression host for wild-type BChE [39, 40] and its mutants [41–44]. It has also been demonstrated that the Fc-fused BChE mutant can be expressed well in plant *Nicotiana benthamiana* leaves [45].

So, the similar transgenic animal/plant methods that have been used to successfully produce recombinant BChE (wildtype or mutant) and its fusion protein may also be proven useful to produce recombinant Par-4 or SAC in large scale.

2.3 Protein Expression in Plant

Indeed, for a proof-of-principle study on large-scale production of the SAC domain of Par-4, Sarkar et al. [21] reported the first successful production of SAC-GFP fusion protein coupled to translational enhancer sequence (5' AMV) and apoplast signal peptide (aTP) in transgenic Nicotiana tabacum cv. Samsun NN plants under the control of a unique recombinant promoter M24. The stability and functionality of their tobacco plant-derived SAC-GFP protein was confirmed by various molecular analyses. Notably, retention to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) was achieved by adding an ER retrieval signal (SEKDEL) to the C-terminus of the SAC-GFP construct and transiently expressed in the tobacco plant to obtain a glycosylated and proteolytically stable protein. According to their data, the expression of ER-targeted SAC-GFP-SEKDEL in infiltrated leaves reached the highest level at day 3 post-infiltration (dpi), with yields up to 88 mg/kg fresh leaves [21].

It should be noted that the obtained SAC-GFP-SEKDEL or SAC-GFP protein itself might not be practically useful as a protein drug although it can be used as a very valuable tool to further examine the therapeutic potential of SAC. Nevertheless, the successful expression of the SACcontaining fusion protein suggests that it is indeed possible to pursue large-scale production of recombinant SAC or Par-4 protein in a tobacco plant such as *Nicotiana tabacum*.

2.4 Protein Expression in a SUMO Fusion System

Zhang et al. [20] developed a novel method for producing wild-type SAC in *E. coli* using a small ubiquitin-related modifier (SUMO) fusion construct. As a result, this SUMO fusion system greatly improved the solubility of the protein and enhanced the expression yield of the fusion protein (SUMO-SAC). Technically, a His₆-tag was attached to N-terminus of SUMO-SAC. Hence, they were able to purify the His-SUMO-SAC protein by using the commonly used Ni-NTA affinity resin.

Further, in an attempt to simplify the SAC protein purification process, Zhang et al. [20] purified His-SUMO-SAC and cleaved the His-SUMO tag using a single-step purification strategy. According to their strategy, a SUMO protease was incubated with the His-SUMO-SAC protein bound resin, which allowed the specific and controlled cleavage of the His-SUMO-SAC within the Ni-NTA affinity column to effectively release the untagged SAC into the collected solution. In this way, the SUMO (or actually His-SUMO) tag was removed and untagged SAC was purified in a single step, with the final SAC protein purity reaching 95% and the yield of purified recombinant SAC reaching 25 mg/L in flask fermentation. Their study has demonstrated that SUMO fusion is an effective approach to improve the yield of recombinant SAC production in *E. coli*.

3 Characterization of Recombinant Par-4/SAC

3.1 In Vitro Anti-Cancer Activity

Burikhanov et al. [2] first demonstrated that exogenous recombinant Par-4 and SAC, that were in the forms of TRX-Par-4 and TRX-SAC, respectively, produced in *E. coli*-induced apoptosis in diverse cancer cell lines, including PC-3, H460, and HeLa. This pioneering study confirmed that extracellular Par-4 and SAC can induce apoptosis in cancer cells and that recombinant Par-4 and SAC proteins have the desirable anti-cancer effects [2].

Sarkar et al. [21] demonstrated that the plant-derived SAC-GFP inhibited cancer cell growth and induced apoptosis in vitro. Specifically, they determined the biological activity of plant-derived partially purified SAC-GFP by using MTT assay (mammalian cells proliferation assay) on PC3, MAT-LyLu, and LNCaP cell lines at various concentrations (including 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, and 60µg/ml) for 48 h.

According to their data, the SAC-GFP protein dosedependently reduced the viability of PC3 and MAT-LyLu cells, and maximum cell death was observed up to 63% and 66%, respectively, at 60µg/ml SAC-GFP. It was determined that $IC_{50} = 43µg/ml$ for SAC-GFP against PC5 cells and $IC_{50} = 50µg/ml$ for SAC-GFP against MAT-LyLu cells. However, the SAC-GFP protein was relatively less effective for inhibiting LNCaP cell growth, as it exhibited only a maximum of 10–15% growth inhibition in LNCaP cells. In comparison, they observed that plant-derived SAC-GFP exhibited no cytotoxicity to HEK293 cell line, which is non-cancerous in nature. So, Sarkar et al. [21] confirmed that the plantderived SAC-GFP is effective only against cancer cells, without cytotoxicity to the normal cell line.

Zhang et al. [20] tested their purified recombinant SAC domain (cleaved from the SUMO-SAC fusion protein) for its inhibitory activity against the growth of ovarian cancer cells SKOV-3, in comparison with HEK-293 cells using an MTT assay. Their data showed that the SKOV-3 cells exhibited typical apoptotic morphology in the nuclei after incubation with 200 nM SAC for 2 days. In comparison, no obvious change was observed on HEK-293 cell nucleus after incubation with 200 nM SAC for 2 days. Further, they demonstrated that the recombinant SAC inhibited the SKOV-3 cell growth in a dose-dependent manner, without cytotoxicity to the normal human cells (HEK-293) [20].

In an effort to test a novel protein entity of Par-4 (see below) in comparison with a wild-type Par-4 form (His-Par-4), Kim et al. [17] incubated E0771 (murine breast cancer cell line) cells with 100 nM recombinant His-Par-4 (100 nM) for 24 h, demonstrating that 100 nM recombinant His-Par-4 significantly induced apoptosis of the E0771 cells. So, all the previously reported recombinant Par-4 and SAC proteins have consistently demonstrated the promising in vitro anti-cancer activities.

3.2 In Vivo Anti-Cancer Activity

Zhao et al. [15] first tested the in vivo anti-cancer activity of a recombinant Par-4 or SAC, demonstrating that both recombinant TRX-Par-4 and TRX-SAC inhibited the growth of metastatic tumors. Specifically, LLC1 cells (1.5×10^5 cells) were injected into the tail vein of B6C3H mice. Five hours later, the mice were injected intravenously (IV via tail vein) with the recombinant protein (500µg/mouse). Four weeks later, the mice were sacrificed, and the lungs were photographed, showing that administration of the recombinant TRX-Par-4 or TRX-SAC protein significantly inhibited lung metastasis of LLC1.

Sarkar et al. [21] examined the in vivo anti-cancer activity of the plant-derived partially purified SAC-GFP protein. In their in vivo tests, MAT-LyLu cells pretreated and co-injected with SAC-GFP protein or vector control (20µg in 100µl cell suspension) were injected into the flank region of male Copenhagen rats. Ten days later, tumor volumes were measured daily. According to their data, visible tumors were observed only in two of three rats injected with SAC-GFP pretreated MAT-LyLu cells on the 15th day of the cancer cell injection. In comparison, in all the rats injected with the vehicle control (VC) pretreated MAT-LyLu cells had a visible tumor by 6th day of the cancer cell injection.

In a more recently reported in vivo study by Kim et al. [17], the metastatic growth of tumor (E0771) cells (1.5×10^5 cells) were administered (IV via tail vein) in B6C3H mice (n = 5 per group). Five hours after administration, 250µg purified recombinant His-Par-4 (or vehicle control) was injected IV via tail vein every alternate day for 12 days (for a total of 1500µg of protein/mouse). Four weeks later, the mice were euthanized, and the lung nodules were then counted. The data revealed that the recombinant His-Par-4 protein (250µg per dose) was indeed very effective for inhibiting lung metastasis of E0771 breast cancer cells in the mice [17].

3.3 Pharmacokinetics

Development of a protein drug must pay close attention to the PK profile of the protein because the actual in vivo activity and therapeutic efficacy of a protein drug are dependent on its PK profile [17, 22–28]. Kim et al. [17] recently reported the PK profile of a recombinant Par-4 form (His-Par-4 or TRX-Par-4) in mice; see Fig. 1 for the PK profile of His-Par-4 (the PK profile of TRX-Par-4 was similar). The in vivo data were based on IV injection (via tail vein) of recombinant His-Par-4 to the mice. Based on the measured time-dependent concentration of His-Par-4 in mouse plasma,



Fig. 1 PK profile of His-Par-4 in mice. His-Par-4 (5 mg/kg) was administered IV (via tail vein), and the serum protein concentrations were determined by ELISA (see original report of the original PK data [17]). Data are shown as mean \pm SD

the Par-4 protein has an elimination half-life as short as \sim 3 h [17]. It would be necessary to improve the elimination half-life of Par-4 before it could be considered as a truly promising therapeutic protein candidate.

4 Fc-Fusion Protein to Improve the Pharmacokinetic Profile

As discussed above, in order for a protein to serve as a therapeutic, the protein must have not only the desirable biological activity and safety, but also a sufficiently long elimination half-life. Various strategies have been developed to improve pharmacological (PK) profiles of protein drugs. A popularly used one is to target human neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn). Below, we will first discuss the general strategy targeting FcRn, and then review the recently reported progress for its application to improvement of the PK profile of recombinant Par-4.

4.1 Human Neonatal Fc Receptor (FcRn) as a Promising Target to Improve Pharmacological Profile of a Protein Drug

Human neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn) for immunoglobulin G (IgG) is a 52-kDa heterodimeric glycoprotein bound on the membrane of endosome. It is composed of a heavy chain and a light chain named as β 2-microglobulin (β 2m) [46–49]. FcRn is expressed in human placenta and can transfer maternal IgG to the fetus or the newborn, providing humoral immunity for the first weeks of mammalian life [49, 50]. Further studies [51, 52] found that FcRn is expressed in the vascular endothelial cells, epithelial cells, hepatocytes, intestinal macrophages, peripheral blood monocytes, and dendritic cells. FcRn expression was also demonstrated at vascular endothelial cells in brain [53]. The primary function of FcRn is to maintain the long half-life of IgG in the plasma through binding with the Fc portion of IgG [46, 47, 54]. IgG is a class of antibody predominantly present in the normal human serum, and additional amount of IgG could be generated from the secondary response under continuous stimulation of an external pathogen [54, 55]. Without the binding with FcRn, IgG is circulated and degraded quickly through lysosomal degradation pathway, e.g., the half-life of IgG is reduced from 6-8 days to about 1 day in the FcRn-deficient mice [56].

IgG is internalized into FcRn-expressing cells most likely by fluid phase pinocytosis as the steady-state location of FcRn is endosomal [57]. IgG binds with FcRn in the acidic environment of endosome and is later transported to the cell surface where, upon exposure to a neutral pH, IgG is released back to the main bloodstream. Such pH-dependence of FcRn-IgG binding ensures that IgG binds to FcRn in the intracellular acidic compartments but be released rapidly upon encountering the slightly basic pH 7.4 of the extracellular milieu [54, 56, 57].

Pursuing a longer half-life for a specifically designed therapeutic protein is of great significance and is a grand challenge in the area of protein drug design, discovery, and development [58, 59]. With a growing number of protein drugs being developed, the in vivo half-life extension strategies have attracted more and more attention by the biotech and pharmaceutical industries [60]. Compared to other in vivo half-life prolonging methods, Fc-fusion, i.e., genetically fusing the Fc part of IgG to a protein drug, has become the most clinically and commercially successful strategy with possibly enhanced efficacy, greater safety, and reduced immunogenicity or improved delivery [58, 60]. The Fc part of an Fc-fused protein can bind with FcRn like the Fc part of IgG1 binding with FcRn. So, the Fc-fused protein drug is expected to have a longer elimination half-life compared to the corresponding unfused protein drug. There are a number of marketed and clinical candidate antibodies and Fc-fusion proteins, such as Alefacept and Abatacept, that have successfully taken advantage of the FcRn-Fc binding [61–63]. More recently reported successful stories include long-acting cocaine hydrolases (CocHs) that are human Fc-fused BChE mutants [35, 64-66]. For example, fusion of CocH3 with a rationally designed mutant of IgG-1 Fc has improved the elimination half-life of the CocH3 from ~7 h to 107 h in rats [**64**].

As reviewed by Huang et al. [67], a number of X-ray crystal structures have been reported in literature, showing how wild-type FcRn and mutants of IgG from various species (human and rat) bind with Fc and various mutants and their pH-dependence. Depicted in Fig. 2 are some representative structures. It has been demonstrated that the overall conformation of FcRn is persistent, indicating that the pHdependence of FcRn-Fc binding is not mediated by the conformational change of FcRn, but possibly by the electrostatic interactions involving histidine amino acids. Available X-ray crystal structures of rat FcRn bound with rat Fc revealed that the hinge region of Cy2-Cy3 domain of Fc binds to the top of $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ helices of FcRn. The hinge region of Fc was demonstrated to be a consensus site of recognition by a series of proteins associated with Fc [68]. According to available X-ray crystal structures of IgG1 Fc and the M38Y/S40T/T42E mutant [69] under acidic pH condition, the overall shape of Fc is similar to that of a "horseshoe," and most of the internal space is filled with oligosaccharide chains through residue N83 (here we renumbered Fc residues and ignored other portion of IgG1 for convenience). The IgG1 Fc is a homodimer (with two identical subunits) linked by disulfide bridges in the N-terminal region

and non-covalent interactions between the C-terminal regions of the two subunits, and each subunit is comprised of two immunoglobulin domains known as C γ 2 and C γ 3. The C γ 2 domain of Fc can take large extent of rigid body motion, leading to a "closed" conformation of Fc when residue N83 is totally unglycosylated and an "open" conformation when residue N83 is fully glycosylated. The distance between the end points of the C γ 2 domains of the two subunits of Fc varies from 10 Å for the "closed" conformation to 14 Å for the "open" conformation.

Interestingly, a large number of Fc mutants have been generated and fused with different effector proteins in order to explore the relationship between the FcRn-Fc binding affinity and the elimination half-life of an Fc-fused protein, as discussed by Huang et al. [67] The reported mutational studies also revealed how the change in the FcRn-Fc binding affinity affects the PK profile of the Fc-fused effector protein, and how to control the safety profile such as antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis (ADCP), and complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDCC). It is also known [67] that there is a dramatic cross-species difference in the affinity of FcRn-Fc binding. At acidic pH, mouse FcRn has a high affinity with either mouse IgG1 or human IgG1, whereas human FcRn has a very low affinity with mouse IgG1. At physiological pH 7.4, mouse FcRn keeps micromolar (µM) range of binding affinity with human IgG1, but no detectable binding with mouse IgG1. These studies established that the Fc mutants with a higher FcRn affinity under acidic pH condition usually have a longer in vivo (elimination) half-life when fused with an effector protein, and a lower cytotoxicity.

The above knowledges about the detailed structures of FcRn and its binding with Fc and various mutants have provided a solid structural and mechanistic base for rational design of Fc-fusion proteins and their mutants with improved binding affinity to FcRn in an acidic environment in order to extend elimination half-life of a therapeutic protein. In fact, in order to prolong the elimination half-life and, thus, decrease the required frequency of the enzyme administration for cocaine use disorder treatment, Zheng et al. [66] carried out a structure-based rational design of a novel CocH-Fc entity by modeling various Fc-fusion CocH (cocaine hydrolase) proteins for its binding with FcRn. The computational modeling studies led to the design and testing of CocH3-Fc(M6), a CocH3-Fc mutant with nearly 100-fold improved binding affinity: from $K_d = -4\mu M$ to $K_d = 43$ nM. As a result, CocH3-Fc(M6) indeed revealed a markedly prolonged elimination half-life ($t_{1/2} = 206 \pm 7$ h or ~9 days) in rats [66], longer than other known Fc-fusion protein drugs such as abatacept and alefacept (for other therapeutic purposes) in the same species (rats). It has been demonstrated that a single dose of 3 mg/kg CocH3-Fc(M6) completely blocked the discriminative stimulus and reinforcing effects of cocaine for



Fig. 2 The energy-minimized structure of human FcRn-Fc binding complex (based on data reported by Huang et al. [67]) in comparison with reported X-ray crystal structures of ligand-free human FcRn and human Fc. (a) The heavy chain of human FcRn is represented as orange ribbon, and magenta ribbon for the light chain (β 2m) of human FcRn. Human Fc is also represented as ribbon colored in cyan for one subunit and blue for another subunit. The binding interface between human FcRn and human Fc is roughly represented as three subsites (S1, S2, and S3) as labeled. (b) Human FcRn-Fc complex superimposed with that of rat FcRn-Fc complex (PDB code 111A, green ribbon), ligand-free human FcRn (PDB code 3 M17, yellow ribbon); only C α atoms



Fig. 3 Par-4Ex protein fusion and functions of its Fc(M1) and Par-4 domains. The Fc(M1) (Fc mutant) was fused to N-terminus of Par-4

24/25 days and continued to significantly attenuate/decrease the cocaine effects for at least 29 days in rats [70]. Reported by Zheng et al. [66] was the first attempt to rationally design a long-acting Fc-fusion enzyme mutant based on combined computational modeling and experimental measurement of the Fc-fusion CocH binding with FcRn. The similar structurebased design strategy may be used to prolong the biological half-lives of other Fc-fusion protein drugs including Par-4 (see below).

4.2 Fc-Fusion of Par-4 to Generate a New Protein Entity Par-4Ex

The first attempt to improve the PK profile of Par-4 through Fc-fusion was reported recently [17]. Specifically, Kim et al. [17] have rationally engineered Par-4 to prolong the elimination half-life and investigated the potential application of an

were used in the superimposition. The positional RMSD for C α atoms between human FcRn-Fc structure and the rat FcRn-Fc structure is 0.96 Å, and the RMSD between the human FcRn in human FcRn-Fc complex and the ligand-free human FcRn is 0.79 Å. (c) Human FcRn-Fc binding complex superimposed with two typical ligand-free Fc structures. One ligand-free human Fc structure corresponding to PDB code 3AVE (green ribbon) has a positional RMSD value of 1.55 Å for the C α atoms. Another ligand-free human Fc structure corresponding to PDB code 1H3Y (yellow ribbon) has an RMSD value of 1.85 Å. Obvious differences appeared at the relative position of the C γ 2 domain of each subunit of human Fc dimer

engineered form of Par-4 protein as a novel therapeutic agent for cancer treatment.

As mentioned above, recombinant Par-4 has a very short elimination half-life (see Fig. 1), and the practical therapeutic efficacy of a protein drug can be greatly improved by extending the elimination half-life [22–28]. To address this issue, Kim et al. [17] extended the sequence of wild-type Par-4 and, thus, designed a relatively larger protein (denoted as Par-4Ex which means the <u>Par-4</u> with <u>extended sequence</u>), with the goal to prolong the elimination half-life of Par-4 without changing its biological function. Par-4Ex is an Fc-fusion protein, with a mutant of Fc, denoted as Fc(M1), of IgG-1 attached to N-terminus of Par-4 (see Fig. 3 for the construct and functions) [17]. The Fc(M1) domain of Par-4Ex was designed to bind with FcRn under acidic environment (pH 6), while the Par-4 domain is expected to bind with GRP78 on cancer cell surface.

Scpecifically, in principle, for rational protein engineering, rational design of a desirable Par-4Ex as a therapeutic candidate must account for several critical issues. First, the molecular weight of a desirable Par-4Ex must be significantly higher than that of Par-4 (~40 kDa). Second, the extra amino-acid residues of the extended protein could prevent it from binding with GRP78 and, hence, make the extended protein (Par-4Ex) inactive against cancer cells. With this issue in mind and considering that the SAC domain is closer to the C-terminus, it would be better to add the extra aminoacid residues (Fc or Fc mutant) to N-terminus of Par-4.

Further, with the goal to prolong the biological half-life of Par-4, one also wants to avoid the possible immunogenicity of the extended protein (Par-4Ex) for human. For this reason, it would be the best option that the extra amino-acid residues come from a human protein fragment, but without the unnecessary biological function of the protein. The first human protein fragment candidate in mind [17] was the first 233 amino-acid residues, known as the fragment crystallizable (Fc), of human immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1). In fact, as discussed above, protein fusion with the Fc region of human IgG1 (IgG1 Fc) is one of the most popularly used strategies to prolong the elimination half-lives of protein therapeutics [71, 72] although a recently reported study did reveal that the Fc-fusion did not improve the elimination half-life of a protein drug candidate expressed in E. coli [64]. However, as well-known, wild-type IgG1 Fc will form a dimer through intermolecular disulfide bonds. The dimerization of Par-4Ex could block the interface of the intermolecular binding between Par-4 and GRP78 and, thus, be risk of losing the binding affinity of Par-4 with GRP78. With this concern, three cystine residues (#6, #12, and #15) of the Fc region are all changed to serine residues to avoid the possible dimerization of Par-4Ex [17]. For convenience, the mutant Fc was denoted as Fc(M1) which refers to the first mutant (mutant 1 or M1) of Fc tested in the reported study [17]. Accordingly, the first (and only) Par-4Ex protein reported was also known as Fc(M1)-Par-4 [17].

The Par-4Ex of Fc(M1)-Par-4 protein was generated and produced using an *E. coli* expression system. This fusion protein can be purified very conveniently by using protein A [17]. So, purification of the *E. coli*-derived soluble Par-4Ex protein was performed using protein A affinity chromatography, followed by an additional ion-exchange chromatographic step to achieve the high purity (see Fig. 4, left panel) [17].

As discussed below, the Par-4Ex protein indeed has the same anti-tumor activity against the cancer cells, but with a significantly prolonged elimination half-life, leading to the improved potency in inhibiting metastatic tumor growth in vivo. Based on the reported in vitro and in vivo data, the newly designed and tested Par-4 entity (Par-4Ex) may be developed as a potentially promising protein therapy for cancer treatment.

4.3 In Vitro Anti-Cancer Activity of Par-4Ex

To test the in vitro activity of Par-4Ex in comparison with Par-4 [17], both Par-4Ex and Par-4 proteins were prepared using the *E. coli* expressing system under the same experimental conditions. Before in vivo testing of the purified recombinant Par-4 and Par-4Ex proteins, one first needed to know whether Par-4Ex retains the unique proapoptotic activity of Par-4 or not, because the Fc(M1) fusion to the N-terminus of Par-4 could block or interfere the protein–protein interactions between Par-4 and GRP78. To address this

crucial question, E0771 (murine breast cancer cell line) cells were treated with 100 nM His-Par-4 or Par-4Ex protein, followed by incubation for 24 h. Storage buffer (50 mM Hepes, 20% sorbitol, 1 M glycine, pH 7.4) was used as a vehicle control. It was observed that Par-4Ex and His-Par-4 proteins induced a similar level of apoptosis in E0771 cells in a given treatment condition (Fig. 4, right panel), demonstrating that the anti-tumor activity of Par-4 protein was not lowered by the Fc(M1) fusion to its N-terminus. This observation of the anti-tumor activity of Par-4 protein itself is consistent with the findings of Zhao et al. [15] using TRX-Par-4. The study reported by Kim et al. [17] further demonstrated that Par-4Ex was as active as Par-4 itself in the cell-based anti-tumor activity assays.

4.4 Pharmacokinetics of Par-4Ex

To examine whether Par-4Ex really has a prolonged elimination half-life compared to Par-4, a pharmacokinetic (PK) study was carried out on Par-4Ex in comparison with His-Par-4 in mice. The PK data were based on IV injection of each recombinant protein in the tested mice. The generated PK data are depicted in Fig. 5. As expected, the PK data revealed that Par-4Ex has a much longer elimination half-life (~20.3 h) compared to that (~3 h) of His-Par-4 protein.

4.5 In Vivo Anti-Cancer Activity of Par-4Ex

To examine whether the longer exposure due to the elimination half-life extension can really improve the in vivo anticancer activity, recombinant Par-4Ex was evaluated in comparison with recombinant His-Par-4 for their inhibitory activity against lung metastasis of E0771 breast cancer cells in immunocompetent C57/BL6 mice [17]. The cells $(1.5 \times 10^5 \text{ cells})$ were injected IV through tail vein, and then E. coli-derived Par-4Ex (250, 150, or 75µg) or His-Par-4 (250µg) was administered IV every other day for 12 days (for a total of 1500 or 900 or 450µg per mouse within 12 days). According to the reported in vivo data, both Par-4Ex and His-Par-4 at the high dose (250µg/injection) significantly suppressed metastatic tumor growth in vivo compared to vehicle-treated control. Notably, Par-4Ex at the lower doses (150 or 75µg/injection) also significantly suppressed metastatic tumor growth in vivo compared to vehicle-treated control. In comparison, earlier studies [15] examined various doses of the unfused Par-4 (TRX-Par-4) for its in vivo activity using the same animal model under the same experimental conditions in the same lab, and found that 250µg/injection was the minimum effective dose; lung metastasis by E0771 breast cancer cells was not significantly reduced by the Par-4 injection at any of the tested doses lower than 250µg/injec-





Fig. 5 Serum concentration (%) versus time profiles of recombinant His-Par-4 and Par-4Ex proteins in mice (based on the data reported previously [17]). Par-4Ex or His-Par-4 was administered via IV administration of 5 mg/kg and the serum protein concentrations were determined by ELISA. The data are shown as mean \pm SD

tion. Taking all these together, Par-4Ex indeed has an improved in vivo potency than the unfused Par-4 in inhibit-ing metastatic tumor growth.

5 Concluding Remarks: Summary and Future Perspective

It has been known that recombinant Par-4/SAC is capable of inducing apoptosis selectively in cancer cells without affecting the normal cells. Hence, recombinant Par-4/SAC has the potential to serve as a protein drug candidate for cancer treatment. On the other hand, in general, development of a practical protein drug is generally very challenging, as one must account for multiple other challenging issues beyond the usually considered in vivo potency and toxicity in academic research. For the recombinant Par-4/SAC protein drug development, the specific hurdles that must be overcome include the low yield of recombinant protein production in the widely used *E. coli* expression system and the poor PK profile (with a short elimination half-life) of the protein. Nevertheless, encouraging progresses have been made for improving both the yield of recombinant Par-4/SAC production and the PK profile.

Particularly, for improvement of the PK profile, the recently developed novel, long-lasting form of Par-4, known as Par-4Ex, is promising, because Par-4Ex has not only fully retained the unique anti-cancer activity of native Par-4, but also significantly prolonged the elimination half-life. As a result, Par-4Ex has a more potent in vivo anti-cancer activity compared to Par-4 itself. So, Par-4Ex may serve as a truly promising protein drug candidate for drug development moving forward. The next steps of the Par-4Ex-based protein drug development will include the Par-4Ex protein manufacturing process development including establishment of a master cell bank (MCB) capable of efficiently expressing Par-4Ex, current good manufacture practice (cGMP) protein production, investigational new drug (IND) testing, and, ultimately, clinical trials (Phases I-III). The development of MCB and cGMP protein production should be conducted best through a specialized contract research organization (CRO) capable of routinely manufacturing a therapeutic protein according to pharmaceutical industrial standards.

In addition, future effort to further prolong the elimination half-life, if desirable, may include the structure-based rational design and testing of possible Par-4Ex mutants with improved binding affinity to FcRn in the acidic environment. In this way, the relatively longer elimination half-life of Par-4Ex may be extended further.

Acknowledgments This work was supported in part by the National Science Foundation (NSF) via grant CHE-1111761 and the Molecular Modeling and Biopharmaceutical Center. The authors also acknowledge the Computer Center at University of Kentucky for supercomputing time on a Dell X-series Cluster with 384 nodes or 4,768 processors.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Sells SF et al (1994) Commonality of the gene programs induced by effectors of apoptosis in androgen-dependent and -independent prostate cells. Cell Growth Differ 5:457–466
- Burikhanov R et al (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138:377–388. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.022
- Gurumurthy S, Rangnekar VM (2004) Par-4 inducible apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. J Cell Biochem 91:504–512. https://doi. org/10.1002/jcb.20000
- Moreno-Bueno G et al (2007) Inactivation of the candidate tumor suppressor par-4 in endometrial cancer. Cancer Res 67:1927–1934
- 5. Cook J et al (1999) Decreased expression of the pro-apoptotic protein Par-4 in renal cell carcinoma. Oncogene 18:1205–1208
- Alvarez JV et al (2013) Par-4 downregulation promotes breast cancer recurrence by preventing multinucleation following targeted therapy. Camcer Cell 24:30–44
- Mabe NW et al (2018) Epigenetic silencing of tumor suppressor Par-4 promotes chemoresistance in recurrent breast cancer. J Clin Invest 128:4413–4428
- Kogel D et al (2001) Dlk/ZIP kinase-induced apoptosis in human medulloblastoma cells: requirement of the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway. Br J Cancer 85:1801–1808. https://doi.org/10.1054/ bjoc.2001.2158
- Liu Y, Gilbert MR, Kyprianou N, Rangnekar VM, Horbinski C (2014) The tumor suppressor prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) is regulated by mutant IDH1 and kills glioma stem cells. Acta Neuropathol 128:723–732
- Oda S et al (2017) Evaluation of expression and glycosylation status of UGT1A10 in Supersomes and intestinal epithelial cells with a novel specific UGT1A10 monoclonal antibody. Drug Metab Dispos 45:1027–1034. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.117.075291
- El-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (2003) Apoptosis by Par-4 in cancer and neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Cell Res 283:51–66
- Hebbar N, Wang C, Rangnekar VM (2012) Mechanisms of apoptosis by the tumor suppressor Par-4. J Cell Physiol 227:3715–3721. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.24098
- Chakraborty M, Qiu SG, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2001) Par-4 drives trafficking and activation of Fas and Fasl to induce prostate cancer cell apoptosis and tumor regression. Cancer Res 61:7255–7263
- El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23:5516–5525

- Zhao Y et al (2011) Systemic Par-4 inhibits non-autochthonous tumor growth. Cancer Biol Ther 12:152–157
- Burikhanov R et al (2014) Arylquins target vimentin to trigger Par-4 secretion for tumor cell apoptosis. Nat Chem Biol 10:924– 926. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.1631
- 17. Kim K et al (2019) Development of a novel prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) protein entity with an extended duration of action for therapeutic treatment of cancer. Protein Eng Des Sel 32:159–166. https://doi.org/10.1093/protein/gzz1034
- Burikhanov R et al (2017) Chloroquine-inducible Par-4 secretion is essential for tumor cell apoptosis and inhibition of metastasis. Cell Rep 18(2):508–519
- Wang P et al (2018) Neoadjuvant administration of hydroxychloroquine in a phase 1 clinical trial induced plasma Par-4 levels and apoptosis in diverse tumors. Genes Cancer 9(5–6):190–197
- Zhang J, Sun A, Dong Y, Wei D (2018) Recombinant production and characterization of SAC, the Core domain of Par-4, by SUMO fusion system. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 184:1155–1167
- Sarkar S et al (2015) Plant-derived SAC domain of PAR-4 (prostate apoptosis response 4) exhibits growth inhibitory effects in prostate cancer cells. Front Plant Sci 6:822
- Putney SD, Burke PA (1998) Improving protein therapeutics with sustained-release formulations. Nat Biotechnol 16:153–157. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt0298-153
- Bandaranayake AD, Almo SC (2014) Recent advances in mammalian protein production. FEBS Lett 588:253–260. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.febslet.2013.11.035
- Butler M, Meneses-Acosta A (2012) Recent advances in technology supporting biopharmaceutical production from mammalian cells. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 96:885–894. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00253-012-4451-z
- Zhu J (2012) Mammalian cell protein expression for biopharmaceutical production. Biotechnol Adv 30:1158–1170. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.08.022
- Tobin PH, Richards DH, Callender RA, Wilson CJ (2014) Protein engineering: a new frontier for biological therapeutics. Curr Drug Metab 15:743–756
- Wurm FM (2004) Production of recombinant protein therapeutics in cultivated mammalian cells. Nat Biotechnol 22:1393–1398. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1026
- Lutz S (2010) Beyond directed evolution--semi-rational protein engineering and design. Curr Opin Biotechnol 21:734–743. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2010.08.011
- Zhan C-G, Zheng F, Landry DW (2003) Fundamental reaction mechanism for cocaine hydrolysis in human butyrylcholinesterase. J Am Chem Soc 125:2462–2474
- Cai Y et al (2019) Reengineering of albumin-fused cocaine hydrolase CocH1 (TV-1380) to prolong its biological half-life. AAPS J 22:5. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-12019-10377-z
- 31. Koca J, Zhan C-G, Rittenhouse RC, Ornstein RL (2003) Coordination number of zinc ions in phosphotriesterase active site by molecular dynamics and quantum mechanics. J Comput Chem 24:368–378
- Zheng F, Zhan C-G, Ornstein RL (2002) Theoretical determination of two structural forms of the active site in cadmium-substituted phosphotriesterase. J Phys Chem B 106:717–722
- 33. Koca J, Zhan C-G, Rittenhouse R, Ornstein RL (2001) Mobility of the active site bound paraoxon and sarin in zinc-phosphotriesterase by molecular dynamics simulation and quantum chemical calculation. J Am Chem Soc 123:817–826
- 34. Zhan C-G, Norberto de Souza O, Rittenhouse R, Ornstein RL (1999) Determination of two structural forms of catalytic bridging ligand in zinc-phosphotriesterase by molecular dynamics simulation and quantum chemical calculation. J Am Chem Soc 121:7279–7282

- Chen X et al (2019) Development of a long-acting fc-fused cocaine hydrolase with improved yield of protein expression. Chem Biol Interact 306:89–95
- 36. Huang YJ et al (2007) Recombinant human butyrylcholinesterase from milk of transgenic animals to protect against organophosphate poisoning. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:13603–13608
- 37. Huang Y-J et al (2008) Substantially improved pharmacokinetics of recombinant human butyrylcholinesterase by fusion to human serum albumin. BMC Biotechnol 8:50
- Brazzolotto X et al (2012) Human butyrylcholinesterase produced in insect cells: huprine-based affinity purification and crystal structure. FEBS J 279:2905–2916. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012.08672.x
- 39. Geyer BC et al (2010) Plant-derived human butyrylcholinesterase, but not an organophosphorous-compound hydrolyzing variant thereof, protects rodents against nerve agents. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:20251–20256. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1009021107
- 40. Geyer BC et al (2010) Transgenic plants as a source for the bioscavenging enzyme human butyrylcholinesterase. Plant Biotechnol J 8:873–886. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7652.2010.00515.x
- Geyer BC, Woods RR, Mor TS (2008) Increased organophosphate scavenging in a butyrylcholinesterase mutant. Chem Biol Interact 175:376–379
- 42. Larrimore KE et al (2013) Plants as a source of butyrylcholinesterase variants designed for enhanced cocaine hydrolase activity. Chem Biol Interact 203:217–220
- 43. Larrimore KE et al (2017) Plant-expressed cocaine hydrolase variants of butyrylcholinesterase exhibit altered allosteric effects of cholinesterase activity and increased inhibitor sensitivity. Sci Rep 7:10419. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-10571-z
- 44. Larrimore KE et al (2020) A plant-derived cocaine hydrolase prevents cocaine overdose lethality and attenuates cocaine-induced drug seeking behavior. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 102:109961
- 45. Wang G et al (2016) Plant expression of cocaine hydrolase-fc fusion protein for treatment of cocaine abuse. BMC Biotechnol 16:72
- 46. Wines BD et al (2012) A conserved host and pathogen recognition site on immunoglobulins: structural and functional aspects. Adv Expt Med Biol 946:87–112
- 47. Jefferis R (2012) Isotype and glycoform selection for antibody therapeutics. Arch Biochem Biophys 526(2):159–166
- 48. Garg A, Balthasar JP (2009) Investigation of the influence of FcRn on the distribution of IgG to the brain. AAPS J 11(3):553–557
- 49. Simister NE, Mostov KE (1989) An fc receptor structurally related to MHC class I antigens. Nature 337(6203):184–187
- 50. Leach JL et al (1996) Isolation from human placenta of the IgG transporter, FcRn, and localization to the syncytiotrophoblast: implications for maternal-fetal antibody transport. J Immunol 157(8):3317–3322
- 51. Israel EJ et al (1997) Expression of the neonatal fc receptor, FcRn, on human intestinal epithelial cells. Immunology 92(1):69–74
- Blumberg RS et al (1995) A major histocompatibility complex class I-related fc receptor for IgG on rat hepatocytes. J Clin Invest 95(5):2397–2402
- Schlachetzki F, Zhu C, Pardridge WM (2002) Expression of the neonatal fc receptor (FcRn) at the blood-brain barrier. J Neurochem 81(1):203–206
- Woof JM, Burton DR (2004) Human antibody-fc receptor interactions illuminated by crystal structures. Nat Rev Immunol 4(2):89–99

- 55. Roopenian DC, Akilesh S (2007) FcRn: the neonatal fc receptor comes of age. Nat Rev Immunol 7:715–725
- Roopenian DC et al (2003) The MHC class I-like IgG receptor controls perinatal IgG transport, IgG homeostasis, and fate of IgG-fccoupled drugs. J Immunol 170:3528–3533
- 57. Goebl NA et al (2008) Neonatal fc receptor mediates internalization of fc in transfected human endothelial cells. Mol Biol Cell 19(12):5490–5505
- Huang C (2009) Receptor-fc fusion therapeutics, traps, and MIMETIBODY technology. Curr Opin Biotech 20:692–699
- Beck A, Wurch T, Bailly C, Corvaia N (2010) Strategies and challenges for the next generation of therapeutic antibodies. Nat Rev Immunol 10:345–352
- Carter PJ (2011) Introduction to current and future protein therapeutics: a protein engineering perspective. Expt Cell Res 317:1261–1269
- Strohl W (2009) Optimization of fc-mediated effector functions of monoclonal antibodies. Curr Opin Biotech 20:685–691
- 62. Davis PM, Abraham R, Xu L, Nadler SG, Suchard SJ (2007) Abatacept binds to the fc receptor CD64 but does not mediate complement-dependent cytotoxicity or antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. J Rheumatol 34:2204–2210
- Dustin ML et al (2007) Quantification and modeling of tripartite CD2-, CD58FC chimera (alefacept)-, and CD16-mediated cell adhesion. J Biol Chem 282(48):34748–34757
- 64. Chen X et al (2016) Long-acting cocaine hydrolase for addiction therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113:422–427
- 65. Chen X et al (2018) Development of fc-fused cocaine hydrolase for cocaine addiction: catalytic and pharmacokinetic properties. AAPS J 20:53. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-12018-10214-12249
- 66. Zheng F et al (2020) Structure-based design and discovery of a long-acting cocaine hydrolase mutant with improved binding affinity to neonatal fc receptor for treatment of cocaine abuse. AAPS J 22:62. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-12020-00442-12243
- 67. Huang X, Zheng F, Zhan C-G (2013) Binding structures and energies of human neonatal fc receptor with human fc and its mutants by molecular modeling and dynamics simulations. Mol BioSyst 9:3047–3058
- DeLano WL, Ultsch MH, Vos AMD, Wells JA (2000) Convergent solutions to binding at a protein-protein interface. Science 287:1279–1283
- Oganesyan V et al (2009) Structural characterization of a human fc fragment engineered for extended serum half-life. Mol Immunol 46:1750–1755
- Zhang T, Wei H, Deng J, Zheng F, Zhan C-G (2020) Clinical potential of a rationally engineered enzyme for treatment of cocaine dependence: long-lasting blocking of the psychostimulant, discriminative stimulus, and reinforcing effects of cocaine. Neuropharmacology 176:108251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.102020.108251
- Levin D, Golding B, Strome SE, Sauna ZE (2015) Fc fusion as a platform technology: potential for modulating immunogenicity. Trends Biotechnol 33:27–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tibtech.2014.11.001
- 72. Rath T et al (2015) Fc-fusion proteins and FcRn: structural insights for longer-lasting and more effective therapeutics. Crit Rev Biotechnol 35:235–254. https://doi.org/10.3109/07388551.2013.8 34293

Ahmed Elsherbini and Erhard Bieberich

Abstract

Recently, the idea that alterations in sphingolipids metabolism contribute to the pathogenesis of various neurodegenerative diseases has been gaining vast acceptance. Especially ceramide, the precursor of all complex sphingolipids, is thought to be a key sphingolipid metabolite and lipid second messenger. For several decades, research on sphingolipids related to neurodegenerative disease focused on myelin constituents and lipid storage diseases. However, recent advances in methods of mass spectrometric lipid analysis (lipidomics) have greatly advanced the knowledge of sphingolipids in neurodegenerative and psychiatric disorder. This was concomitant with the recognition of ceramide as a as key player in lipid cell signaling and regulation of cell death and survival. There is evidence that ceramide is invoked in a myriad of cellular processes related to neurodegeneration such as autophagy, ER stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and exosome secretion which leads to neurotoxic protein spreading. However, it is still not clear which additional factors may interact with ceramide to determine the specific outcome of a particular ceramide-induced cell signaling pathway. Several studies have shown that interaction with prostate apoptosis 4 (PAR-4) regulates these cell signaling pathways, particularly for the induction of neuronal apoptosis during neurodegenerative disease. We will discuss the function of PAR-4 in the regulation of ceramide neurotoxicity and neuronal apoptosis induced by intrinsic ceramide and PAR-4/ceramide originating in other cells and transported to neurons via extracellular vesicles.

Keywords

Apoptosis · Sphingolipids · Ceramide · Exosomes · Alzheimer's Disease

1 Ceramide

Sphingolipids (SLs) comprise a large group of amphipathic lipids which are abundant in cellular membranes [1-4]. The term "sphingolipids" was coined by J.L.W. Thudichum in 1884 to mark the "sphinx" (mystical)-like nature of the molecules [5-8]. Ceramide is the center component of all complex sphingolipids and its structure consists of a sphingosine long-chain base linked to a fatty acid through an amide linkage [9]. Ceramide can be produced via two distinct pathways; the anabolic pathway and the catabolic pathway, also referred to as de novo and salvage pathways, respectively [10–16] (Fig. 1). The de novo pathway is initiated by the condensation of serine and palmitoyl-CoA to produce 3-ketodihydrosphinganine, catalyzed by serine palmitoyl transferase (SPT). 3-ketodihydrosphinganine is then reduced to sphinganine (Dihydrosphingosine) by 3-ketodihydrosphingosine reductase. Sphinganine is N-acylated to dihydroceramides (DHCer) by ceramide synthases (CerS), a family of acyl-CoA transferases that controls the fatty acyl chain length. There are six established CerSs in mammalian cells, with CerS1 being the most abundant one in neurons, specifically attaching C18 fatty acyl-CoA to the sphingoid base [12, 15, 17–22]. Finally, ceramide formation is completed by dihydroceramide desaturase through desaturation of DHCer, which introduces a 4,5-trans double bond at the sphinganine base of DHCer. On the other hand, the salvage pathway re-utilizes long chain sphingoid bases, mostly derived by hydrolysis from sphingomyelin to produce ceramide.

Sphingomyelin is found in ample amounts in cell membranes, subsequently playing a crucial role in membrane fluidity and homeostasis [23–31]. Sphingomyelin is a substrate

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021



Role of PAR-4 in Ceramide-Inducible Effects in Neurodegeneration

A. Elsherbini · E. Bieberich (⊠)

Department of Physiology, University of Kentucky College of Medicine, Lexington, KY, USA

Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Lexington, KY, USA e-mail: Erhard.bieberich@uky.edu

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), Tumor Suppressor Par-4, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_13



Fig. 1 Ceramide is at the core of sphingolipid metabolism. The anabolic/de novo biosynthetic pathway of ceramide starts in the endoplasmic reticulum by the action of the enzyme serine palmitoyltransferase (SPT), mainly using serine and palmitoyl-CoA as substrates, leading to

ceramide generation after sequential enzymatic reactions. The catabolic pathways involve hydrolysis of sphingomyelin, ceramide-1-phosphate and glycosphingolipids, resulting in the formation of ceramide

for a family of enzymes called sphingomyelinases (SMases) which hydrolyze sphingomyelin into ceramide and phosphocholine. There are several SMases, and they can be generally divided into two groups, namely, acid and neutral SMases, depending on their subcellular localization, pH optima, and cation requirements for their enzymatic activity [32-37]. It has been speculated that neutral sphingomyelinase 2 (nSMase2), the predominant SMase in neurons, is present in an inactive form under normal conditions [38]. Upon stimulation with different extracellular factors and intracellular processes, including the proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α), interleukin 1 β , interleukin 6, and oxidative stress, nSMase2 in the plasma membrane gets activated and facilitates ceramide production and the downstream effects [31, 39-44]. In addition, nSMase2 has been shown to partake in proinflammatory cytokine signaling, associating the enzyme with the progression of several neurodegenerative diseases [34, 42, 45, 46].

Ceramide is a crucial bioactive molecule that has been implicated in mediating several cellular processes. For instance, ceramide has emerged as an important effector in development and stress responses, cell survival and proliferation, autophagy regulation, senescence, and mediating the crosstalk with apoptosis [13, 23, 37, 47–68]. Ceramide levels are tightly regulated through many enzymes and compensatory feedback mechanisms. Alterations in ceramide levels or metabolism have been linked to numerous neurodegenerative diseases including epilepsy, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease, Gaucher's disease, Krabbe's disease, and Alzheimer's disease (AD) [21, 50, 54, 56, 69-89]. Being a bioactive lipid, ceramide is known to interact with several proteins to facilitate several aspects of cellular processes and signal transductions, suggesting that ceramide acts as a signaling molecule. However, the precise molecular mechanisms by which ceramide regulates these processes are not well defined yet. One suggested mechanism implicates ceramide in stabilizing lipid rafts, which act as platforms for the concentration of signaling molecules [23, 90–101]. Another mechanism is via direct interaction with target proteins. So far, a few proteins have been reported to directly interact with ceramide including the protein kinase c-Raf and kinase suppressor of Ras (KSR) [102, 103], protein kinase C- ξ [104–113], protein phosphatase 2/inhibitor 2 of protein phosphatase 2A (I2PP2A), protein phosphatase 1 [114–120], and cathepsin D [121]. A third mechanism involves ceramide acting as a "sensitizer" to prostate apoptosis response 4 (PAR4) [110, 122–124].

Several lines of research described roles for ceramide and PAR-4 in neuronal development, differentiation and apoptosis, each participating in the beforementioned processes via distinct mechanisms [122, 123, 125–133]. However, the convergence of both molecules' effects on neurons seems to happen by two—potentially complementary - mechanisms: cis (direct) and trans (indirect) effects. In the cis or direct fashion, e.g. during neural progenitor cells self-renewal and differentiation, upregulation of ceramide serves mainly two

purposes. Firstly, the induction of apoptosis by its interaction with PAR-4, e.g. in excess progeny cells. Secondly, ceramide (in the absence of PAR-4) promotes differentiation and process formation in the surviving daughter cells [124, 134]. It has been speculated that cell fate decisions following neural progenitor cells division depend on the asymmetric distribution of proteins that are either synergistic to or protect from ceramide-induced apoptosis (for detailed discussion please refer to Chap. 8). As for the trans or indirect effect of ceramide and PAR-4 on neurons, it may be mediated through the role of ceramide in the biogenesis, secretion, uptake, and intraneuronal effect of small extracellular vesicles (EVs), particularly exosomes [92, 135-142]. These lipid vesicles facilitate the transfer of many biological molecules from one cell to another [143]. Pertinent to the ceramide/PAR-4 indirect effect on neurons, it has been reported that astrocytes secrete ceramide-enriched and PAR-4-containing exosomes that can be transferred to nearby neurons [122].

2 Ceramide as a Key Player in Neurodegeneration

As mentioned earlier, neurodegeneration is commonly associated with an alteration of sphingolipid metabolism and composition, for both acute and chronic diseases. Among the first responses in many acute injuries such as stroke, concussion, spinal cord injury (SCI), or traumatic brain injury (TBI) is an activation of SMases and glycosidases leading to elevation of ceramide and glycolipid levels [52, 144-149]. In particular, the neuronal ceramides C18:0 and C18:1, which are synthesized by CerS1, are dysregulated within 24 h after the insult. Given the lack of reliable and accurate biomarkers to determine the presence and severity of TBI, this elevation of ceramide levels could serve as a biomarker within a few hours of the blast or impact. The feasibility of accurately measuring ceramide levels via mass spectrometry makes plasma analysis an attractive approach for TBI diagnosis and treatment tracking.

In the context of AD, ceramide has been shown to have a multifaceted role. Due to advances in mass spectrometric methods, several groups were able to show upregulated ceramide levels in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), serum, and brains tissues of AD patients [150–153]. In addition, levels of ceramide in plasma have been shown to directly correlate with brain hippocampal volume in late onset AD patients. In a prospective cohort study, Mielke and colleagues followed 99 cognitively normal older women for 9 years as a part of The Women's Health and Aging Study ||. According to their data, there is a solid relationship between higher baseline serum ceramide levels and the risk of developing dementia and AD, posing serum ceramide as a candidate biomarker for preclinical AD. More specifically, certain ceramide species

were proven to be elevated in aging and AD, such as Cer16, Cer18, Cer20, Cer24, and Cer24:1 [151]. On a cellular level, endogenous ceramide within lipid rafts in the plasma membrane, as well as the exogenous ceramide analog C6-ceramide, were shown to directly increase the production of A β , the main pathologic protein in AD, by stabilizing the β -site of amyloid precursor protein (APP) cleaving enzymes [154]. Moreover, the levels of both ceramide and A β appear to be upregulated through a feed forward mechanism. Exposure to A β activates nSMase2, leading to increasing the levels of ceramide and ultimately enhancing the production of A β . Concomitantly, A β can indirectly increase the production of ceramide through an oxidative stress-mediated mechanism [155, 156].

Another area where the involvement of ceramide gained attention is the biogenesis and formation of exosomes. The work of Trajkovic et al. [149] showed for the first time that the ceramide production pathway is essential for exosomes formation. In general, exosomes can be formed though endosomal sorting complex required for transport machinery (ESCRT)-dependent and ESCRT-independent pathways [157, 158]. In the ESCRT-independent pathway, two enzymes involved in lipid metabolism have been shown to drive the formation of intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) in the lumen of multivesicular bodies (MVBs). Phospholipase D2 (PLD2) hydrolyzes phosphatidylcholine into phosphatidic acid (PA) at the inner leaflet of late endosome membranes, utilizing the negative charge of PA that derives inward budding of the ILVs inside MVBs [159]. The second enzyme involved in ESCRT-independent exosomes biogenesis is neutral nSMase2 [149]. nSMase2 hydrolyze sphingomyelin to produce ceramide [9], a cone-shaped sphingolipid that facilitates spontaneous curvature of membranes leading to invagination and budding of exosomes into the late endosomes (MVBs) [149].

Exosomes formed through the nSMase 2 pathway are packaged with misfolded proteins, which might provide an efficient way for cellular uptake during different neurodegenerative diseases [160]. Earlier reports indicated that exosomes function as a carrier of various pathogenic proteins that are causative of impaired neuronal functions in various neurodegenerative diseases. These proteins include AB, p-tau, Parkin, prion proteins, and alpha synuclein [136, 137, 161, 162]. Exosomes are known to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) in both directions [163, 164]. Therefore, researchers are able to capture brain-derived exosomes from peripheral circulation and study their content and cargo aiming to find unique exosomal biomarkers related to neurodegenerative diseases, making them a potential diagnostic tool. This is based on the fact that exosomes contain constituents of their cells of origin, essentially making them biomarkers for the secreting cells. Utilizing this concept, efforts have been made to enrich for exosomes from distinct brain cells, especially neurons and

astrocytes. In the context of AD, it is not surprising that the first candidate targets were the major culprits in AD pathophysiology, namely, A β , tau, and p-tau-all of which have been identified in serum and plasma exosomes [142, 165, 166]. Neuronal exosomes enriched from the blood of AD patients have significantly higher levels of A β , total tau, p-tau181, and p-tau 396 compared to the controls. Exosome screening was able to accurately predict the onset of AD development in preclinical individuals up to 10 years prior to symptoms [165]. Similar results were reported by another group, showing that plasma exosomes from AD patient significantly differed from healthy control based on their morphology, content, and count which might provide a basis for early diagnosis of AD [167].

Similar to AD, peripheral neuronal exosomes have been proposed as a diagnostic tool in mild TBI (mTBI). The recent work of Gill et al. examined the mechanisms underlying mTBI and its chronic symptoms using neuronal-derived exosomes and high-sensitivity detection of neurodegenerative and inflammatory biomarkers [168]. Interestingly, the levels of A β 42, tau, and IL-10 were significantly higher in military personnel with mTBI when compared to normal individuals. The authors argue that elevated levels of tau were related to chronic post-concussive symptoms. On the other hand, higher IL-10 levels were related to post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms. These exciting findings suggest that exosomes may serve as prognostic and diagnostic biomarkers to identify patients with mTBI at risk for developing chronic symptoms.

Of note, methods have been developed to capture astrocytederived exosomes (ADE) in the peripherical circulation, which are reported to be present at lower levels in plasma when compared to neuronal-derived ones (NDE) [166]. Interestingly, ADE have a higher content of APP-derived metabolites (including A β 42) and APP-processing enzymes like BACE-1, in addition to p-tau when compared to neuronal exosomes [166]. This observation not only leverages ADE to effectively distinguish AD patients from the study controls, it also brings about the idea of trans/indirect effect of ceramide on neurons. The idea to put forward here is that ceramide and PAR-4 have an indirect effect on neurons through exosomes that originate in astrocytes. Knowing that astrocytes contain higher ceramide levels in neurodegenerative diseases, it is reasonable to speculate that this would lead to secretion of exosomes carrying toxic molecules, including ceramide and PAR-4.

3 Trans-Indirect Effect of Astrocyte-Derived Ceramide and PAR-4 on Neurons

Astrocytes are known to be among the most abundant cells in the central nervous system, and they are indispensable for the support of neurons [169]. One characteristic feature of

astrocytes is their extended processes, which allows them to make contact with other glial cells, blood vessels, and neuronal synapses. This feature primes astrocytes to participate in a myriad of functions including release and uptake of neurotransmitters, synapse formation and maturation, trophic factor production, and regulation of neuronal survival. Indeed, astrocytes dysfunction has been reported in several neurodegenerative disease such as Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, and Huntington's disease [169]. In most of these pathological conditions, astrocytes adopt a reactive phenotype exhibiting cellular process hypertrophy, increased GFAP expression, and elevated release of interleukins and cytokines. Consequently, astrocytes not only fail to support neurons, but also generate a toxic environment that is detrimental to neurons [170]. In addition, several groups reported that activated astrocytes release high numbers of exosomes as a form of response to diverse insults [122, 171–173]. Given the crosstalk, direct and indirect interactions between different cells types in the brain, astrocyte-derived exosomes seemed a good candidate to study their participation in the disease pathology. In the context of Alzheimer's disease, amyloid beta is known to be secreted from neurons to the extracellular milieu where it either aggregates or interacts with glial cells [174]. Wang et al. showed that astrocytes undergo apoptosis upon exposure to A β [122]. Interestingly, preincubation with antibodies against PAR-4 and ceramide mitigated the A β -induced apoptosis both in vitro and in vivo, suggesting that apoptosis was mediated by exogenous PAR-4 and ceramide. Indeed, analysis of exosomes separated from conditioned media of AB treated astrocytes revealed the presence of PAR-4 and ceramide-enriched exosomes, particularly C18:0 ceramide. In the absence of A β , these PAR-4/ ceramide-enriched exosomes were taken up by astrocytes where they elicited apoptosis [122]. Notably, primary cultured nSMase2-deficient astrocytes did not secrete PAR-4containing exosomes and showed significantly reduced apoptosis. This clearly indicates that ceramide generated by nSMase2 is crucial for the secretion of PAR-4-harboring exosomes after A β exposure. Adding exogenous C18 ceramide restored the secretion of PAR-4-containing exosomes in nSMase2-deficient astrocytes.

These observations suggest that ceramide might have more than one function in exosomes. Ceramide may aid in the formation and secretion of PAR-4-containing exosome as well as facilitating apoptosis in recipient cells by increasing ceramide levels. While this work used astrocytes as recipient cells, it is not excluded that PAR-4/ceramide-containing exosomes target neurons. One earlier study showed that fibrillar A β triggers astroglia to release products that were able to kill primary human neurons in transwell experiments [175]. This effect was mediated by nSMase2 as neurons were protected against the toxic effect of A β -activated astroglia by antisense knockdown of nSMase2. However, the ceramide species and exosome production were not assessed in that study. In fact, the specificity of astrocytes-derived exosomes uptake by neurons has been independently shown by separate groups utilizing in vitro models [172]. Recent work by our group corroborated the notion that astrocyte-derived exosomes, termed "astrosomes" selectively target neurons where they induce apoptosis [138, 176]. We reported that exosomes from sera and brains of AD transgenic mice and from AD patients' sera contain this subpopulation of astrosomes that are enriched with ceramide. Astrosomes are specifically taken up by neurons in vivo and in vitro and induce apoptosis through interaction with the mitochondrial protein voltagedependent anion channel 1(VDAC1) (Fig. 2). Using injection of fluorescently labeled astrosomes, we were able to track astrosomes in vivo and confirm their uptake by neurons [176]. Whether PAR-4 is also carried by these astrosomes, and how this could participate in the deleterious effect of astrosomes on neurons is an active research area in our laboratory. Abnormal induction of PAR-4 in hippocampal neurons of AD transgenic mouse model and in synaptic compartments following toxic insults and its role in subsequent apoptosis has been reported [126, 127, 177]. In addition. long-chain ceramide is elevated in the brains of AD transgenic mouse model leading to apoptosis in astrocytes,

essentially due to substantial increased levels of PAR-4 in astrocytes, sensitizing astrocytes to ceramide-induced apoptosis [132]. Knowing that PAR-4 can be carried in exosomes—especially ceramide-enriched astrosomes—shuttling of PAR-4 via these exosomes might present a physiologically relevant mechanism by which ceramide and PAR-4 could contribute to early stages of neuronal apoptosis and degeneration during AD and probably other neurodegenerative disease, too.

4 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

The multifaceted roles of ceramide in neurodegeneration have been well documented. The relatively recent discovery that ceramide induces or mediates the formation of exosomes and the ability of these lipid vesicles to transfer toxic molecules has opened a new avenue in neurodegenerative diseases research. Studies from our group have demonstrated that astrosomes can transfer PAR-4 and A β between cells. When taken up by neurons, these A β - and/or PAR-4 associated astrosomes interact with proteins at mitochondria, particularly VDAC1 and probably, BCL-2, which leads to caspase activation and ultimately apoptosis (Fig. 2). In future studies, we will explore approaches to block or dissociate the



Fig. 2 Indirect effect of Ceramide/Par-4 on neurons: In astrocytes, activation of nSMase2 by several insults or stimuli (e.g. $A\beta$, cytokines, oxidative stress) leads to generation of ceramide, ultimately inducing formation and secretion of ceramide-rich exosomes, termed astrosomes. Astrosomes associate with $A\beta$ and may contain PAR-4. Upon being taken up by neurons, those astrosomes associate with mitochon-

dria and become mitotoxic. Mitotoxicity is induced by astrosomemediated effects of ceramide and A β (here depicted as interaction with VDAC1 and pro-apoptotic pore formation) or PAR-4 (e.g., by interaction with BCL-2). Release of cytochrome c through the VDAC1 pore and activation of caspase 3 induces apoptosis in neurons

complex formation of astrosomes/PAR-4 and astrosomes/A β or inhibit their uptake by neurons.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the NIH grants R01AG034389 and R01AG064234, and the VA merit award I01BX003643. We are grateful to institutional support by the Department of Physiology (Chair Dr. Alan Daugherty) at the University of Kentucky College of Medicine, Lexington, KY 40536.

References

- Hannun YA, Obeid LM (2018) Sphingolipids and their metabolism in physiology and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 19(3):175– 191. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.107. PubMed PMID: 29165427; PMCID: 5902181
- Milhas D, Clarke CJ, Hannun YA (2010) Sphingomyelin metabolism at the plasma membrane: implications for bioactive sphingolipids. FEBS Lett 584(9):1887–1894. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.febslet.2009.10.058. Epub 2009/10/28. doi: S0014-5793(09)00846-1 [pii] PubMed PMID: 19857494; PMCID: 2856805
- Grassi S, Giussani P, Mauri L, Prioni S, Sonnino S, Prinetti A (2020) Lipid rafts and neurodegeneration: structural and functional roles in physiologic aging and neurodegenerative diseases. J Lipid Res 61(5):636–654. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr. TR119000427. Epub 2019/12/25. PubMed PMID: 31871065; PMCID: PMC7193971
- Sonnino S, Aureli M, Mauri L, Ciampa MG, Prinetti A (2015) Membrane lipid domains in the nervous system. Front Biosci 20:280–302
- Merrill AH Jr, Carman GM (2015) Introduction to thematic minireview series: novel bioactive sphingolipids. J Biol Chem 290(25):15362–15364. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R115.663708. doi: R115.663708 [pii] Epub 2015/05/08. PubMed PMID: 25947376; PMCID: 4505448
- Merrill AH Jr, Schmelz EM, Dillehay DL, Spiegel S, Shayman JA, Schroeder JJ, Riley RT, Voss KA, Wang E (1997) Sphingolipidsthe enigmatic lipid class: biochemistry, physiology, and pathophysiology. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 142(1):208–225
- Thudichum JWL (1901) Die chemische Konstitution des Gehirns des Menschen und der Tiere. Verlag von Franz Pietzcker, Tuebingen
- 8. Thudichum JWL (1884) A treatise of the chemical constitution of the brain. Bailliere, Tindall, and Cox, London
- Hannun YA, Obeid LM (2011) Many ceramides. J Biol Chem 286(32):27855–27862. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R111.254359. Epub 2011/06/23. PubMed PMID: 21693702; PMCID: PMC3151029
- Crivelli SM, Giovagnoni C, Visseren L, Scheithauer A-L, de Wit N, den Hoedt S, Losen M, Mulder MT, Walter J, de Vries HE, Bieberich E, Martinez-Martinez P (2020) Sphingolipids in Alzheimer's disease, how can we target them? Adv Drug Deliv Rev 159:214–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2019.12.003
- Mullen TD, Obeid LM (2012) Ceramide and apoptosis: exploring the enigmatic connections between sphingolipid metabolism and programmed cell death. Anti Cancer Agents Med Chem 12(4):340–363. Epub 2011/06/29. doi: BSP/ACAMC/E-Pub/00187 [pii]
- Kim JL, Mestre B, Shin SH, Futerman AH (2021) Ceramide synthases: reflections on the impact of Dr. Lina M Obeid. Cell Signalling 109958. Epub 2021/02/20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cellsig.2021.109958

- Wang G, Bieberich E (2018) Sphingolipids in neurodegeneration (with focus on ceramide and S1P). Adv Biol Regul 70:51– 64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbior.2018.09.013. PubMed PMID: 30287225; PMCID: 6251739
- Ogretmen B (2018) Sphingolipid metabolism in cancer signalling and therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 18(1):33–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrc.2017.96
- Tidhar R, Futerman AH (2013) The complexity of sphingolipid biosynthesis in the endoplasmic reticulum. Biochim Biophys Acta 1833(11):2511–2518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamcr.2013.04.010. PubMed PMID: 23611790 Epub 2013/04/25. doi: S0167-4889(13)00170-5 [pii]
- Kitatani K, Idkowiak-Baldys J, Hannun YA (2008) The sphingolipid salvage pathway in ceramide metabolism and signaling. Cell Signal 20(6):1010–1018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cellsig.2007.12.006. PubMed PMID: 18191382; PMCID: 2422835 Epub 2008/01/15. S0898-6568(07)00371-3 [pii]
- Levy M, Futerman AH (2010) Mammalian ceramide synthases. IUBMB Life 62(5):347–356. https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.319. Epub 2010/03/12. PubMed PMID: 20222015; PMCID: 2858252
- Tidhar R, Ben-Dor S, Wang E, Kelly S, Merrill AH Jr, Futerman AH (2012) Acyl chain specificity of ceramide synthases is determined within a region of 150 residues in the Tram-Lag-CLN8 (TLC) domain. J Biol Chem 287(5):3197–3206. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.280271. PubMed PMID: 22144673; PMCID: PMC3270974. Epub 2011/12/07
- Mullen TD, Spassieva S, Jenkins RW, Kitatani K, Bielawski J, Hannun YA, Obeid LM (2011) Selective knockdown of ceramide synthases reveals complex interregulation of sphingolipid metabolism. J Lipid Res 52(1):68–77. https://doi.org/10.1194/ jlr.M009142. PubMed PMID: 20940143; PMCID: 2999923 jlr. M009142 [pii] Epub 2010/10/14.
- Stiban J, Tidhar R, Futerman AH (2010) Ceramide synthases: roles in cell physiology and signaling. Adv Exp Med Biol 688:60– 71. Epub 2010/10/06
- Spassieva SD, Ji X, Liu Y, Gable K, Bielawski J, Dunn TM, Bieberich E, Zhao L (2016) Ectopic expression of ceramide synthase 2 in neurons suppresses neurodegeneration induced by ceramide synthase 1 deficiency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(21):5928–5933. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1522071113. Epub 2016/05/11. PubMed PMID: 27162368; PMCID: 4889366 1522071113 [pii]
- Tidhar R, Zelnik ID, Volpert G, Ben-Dor S, Kelly S, Merrill AH Jr, Futerman AH (2018) Eleven residues determine the acyl chain specificity of ceramide synthases. J Biol Chem. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.RA118.001936
- Bieberich E (2018) Sphingolipids and lipid rafts: novel concepts and methods of analysis. Chem Phys Lipids 216:114–131. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2018.08.003. PubMed PMID: 30194926; PMCID: 6196108
- 24. Ong WY, Herr DR, Farooqui T, Ling EA, Farooqui AA (2015) Role of sphingomyelinases in neurological disorders. Expert Opin Ther Targets 19(12):1725–1742. https://doi.org/10.1517/1472822 2.2015.1071794
- Castro BM, Prieto M, Silva LC (2014) Ceramide: a simple sphingolipid with unique biophysical properties. Prog Lipid Res 54:53– 67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2014.01.004
- Chakraborty M, Jiang XC (2013) Sphingomyelin and its role in cellular signaling. Adv Exp Med Biol 991:1–14. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-94-007-6331-9_1. PubMed PMID: 23775687 Epub 2013/06/19
- Heberle FA, Feigenson GW (2011) Phase separation in lipid membranes. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 3:4. https://doi. org/10.1101/cshperspect.a004630. PubMed PMID: 21441593; PMCID: 3062215

- Pinto SN, Laviad EL, Stiban J, Kelly SL, Merrill AH Jr, Prieto M, Futerman AH, Silva LC (2014) Changes in membrane biophysical properties induced by sphingomyelinase depend on the sphingolipid N-acyl chain. J Lipid Res 55(1):53–61. https://doi. org/10.1194/jlr.M042002. PubMed PMID: 24163422; PMCID: 3927481
- Pewzner-Jung Y, Park H, Laviad EL, Silva LC, Lahiri S, Stiban J, Erez-Roman R, Brugger B, Sachsenheimer T, Wieland F, Prieto M, Merrill AH Jr, Futerman AH (2010) A critical role for ceramide synthase 2 in liver homeostasis: I. alterations in lipid metabolic pathways. J Biol Chem 285(14):10902–10910. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.077594. PubMed PMID: 20110363; PMCID: 2856296 M109.077594 [pii] Epub 2010/01/30
- Castro BM, de Almeida RF, Silva LC, Fedorov A, Prieto M (2007) Formation of ceramide/sphingomyelin gel domains in the presence of an unsaturated phospholipid: a quantitative multiprobe approach. Biophys J 93(5):1639–1650. https://doi.org/10.1529/ biophysj.107.107714. PubMed PMID: 17496019; PMCID: 1948048
- Nikolova-Karakashian M, Karakashian A, Rutkute K (2008) Role of neutral sphingomyelinases in aging and inflammation. Subcell Biochem 49:469–486. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8831-5_18
- 32. Zeidan Y, Marchesini N, Hannun YA (2006) Overview of acid and neutral sphingomyelinases in cell signaling. In: Hirabayashi Y, Igarashi Y, Merrill AH (eds) Sphingolipid biology. Springer Japan, Tokyo, pp 167–181
- 33. Airola MV, Hannun YA (2013) Sphingolipid metabolism and neutral sphingomyelinases. Handb Exp Pharmacol 215:57–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-1368-4_3. PubMed PMID: 23579449; PMCID: 4043343 Epub 2013/04/13
- Horres CR, Hannun YA (2012) The roles of neutral sphingomyelinases in neurological pathologies. Neurochem Res 37(6):1137– 1149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-011-0692-y
- 35. Zeidan YH, Hannun YA (2010) The acid sphingomyelinase/ ceramide pathway: biomedical significance and mechanisms of regulation. Curr Mol Med 10(5):454–466. Epub 2010/06/15. doi: CMM # 51 [pii]
- 36. Henry B, Ziobro R, Becker KA, Kolesnick R, Gulbins E (2013) Acid sphingomyelinase. Handb Exp Pharmacol 215:77–88. Epub 2013/04/13. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-1368-4_4
- 37. Hua G, Kolesnick R (2013) Using ASMase knockout mice to model human diseases. Handb Exp Pharmacol 216:29–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-1511-4_2. PubMed PMID: 23563650 Epub 2013/04/09
- 38. Clarke CJ, Cloessner EA, Roddy PL, Hannun YA (2011) Neutral sphingomyelinase 2 (nSMase2) is the primary neutral sphingomyelinase isoform activated by tumour necrosis factor-α in MCF-7 cells. Biochem J 435(2):381–390. https://doi.org/10.1042/ bj20101752. PubMed PMID: 21303347; PMCID: PMC3715995 Epub 2011/02/10
- 39. Castillo SS, Levy M, Thaikoottathil JV, Goldkorn T (2007) Reactive nitrogen and oxygen species activate different sphingomyelinases to induce apoptosis in airway epithelial cells. Exp Cell Res 313(12):2680–2686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yexcr.2007.04.002. PubMed PMID: 17498692 Epub 2007/05/15
- Wu BX, Clarke CJ, Hannun YA (2010) Mammalian neutral sphingomyelinases: regulation and roles in cell Signaling responses. NeuroMolecular Med. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12017-010-8120-z. PubMed PMID: 20552297. Epub 2010/06/17
- Dotson PP 2nd, Karakashian AA, Nikolova-Karakashian MN (2015) Neutral sphingomyelinase-2 is a redox sensitive enzyme: role of catalytic cysteine residues in regulation of enzymatic activity through changes in oligomeric state. Biochem J 465(3):371–382. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20140665. PubMed PMID: 25287744; PMCID: 4526461

- Muhle C, Reichel M, Gulbins E, Kornhuber J (2013) Sphingolipids in psychiatric disorders and pain syndromes. Handb Exp Pharmacol 216:431–456. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-1511-4_22. PubMed PMID: 23563670 Epub 2013/04/09
- Clarke CJ, Cloessner EA, Roddy PL, Hannun YA (2011) Neutral sphingomyelinase 2 (nSMase2) is the primary neutral sphingomyelinase isoform activated by tumour necrosis factor-alpha in MCF-7 cells. Biochem J 435(2):381–390. https://doi.org/10.1042/ BJ20101752. BJ20101752 [pii] Epub 2011/02/10. PubMed PMID: 21303347; PMCID: 3715995
- 44. Cutler RG, Mattson MP (2001) Sphingomyelin and ceramide as regulators of development and lifespan. Mech Ageing Dev 122(9):895–908
- 45. Gu L, Huang B, Shen W, Gao L, Ding Z, Wu H, Guo J (2013) Early activation of nSMase2/ceramide pathway in astrocytes is involved in ischemia-associated neuronal damage via inflammation in rat hippocampi. J Neuroinflammation 10:109. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-10-109. PubMed PMID: 24007266; PMCID: PMC3844623 Epub 2013/09/07
- 46. Dinkins MB, Enasko J, Hernandez C, Wang G, Kong J, Helwa I, Liu Y, Terry AV Jr, Bieberich E (2016) Neutral Sphingomyelinase-2 deficiency ameliorates Alzheimer's disease pathology and improves cognition in the 5XFAD mouse. J Neurosci 36(33):8653–8667. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1429-16.2016. PubMed PMID: 27535912; PMCID: 4987436
- 47. Wang G, Spassieva SD, Bieberich E (2018) Ceramide and S1P signaling in embryonic stem cell differentiation. Methods Mol Biol 1697:153–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/7651_2017_43. PubMed PMID: 28540559; PMCID: PMC5815858
- Futerman AH, Hannun YA (2004) The complex life of simple sphingolipids. EMBO Rep 5(8):777–782
- 49. Crivelli SM, Giovagnoni C, Visseren L, Scheithauer AL, de Wit N, den Hoedt S, Losen M, Mulder MT, Walter J, de Vries HE, Bieberich E, Martinez-Martinez P (2020) Sphingolipids in Alzheimer's disease, how can we target them? Adv Drug Deliv Rev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2019.12.003. PubMed PMID: 31911096 Epub 2020/01/09
- Yadav RS, Tiwari NK (2014) Lipid integration in neurodegeneration: an overview of Alzheimer's disease. Mol Neurobiol 50(1):168–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-014-8661-5
- Mencarelli C, Martinez-Martinez P (2013) Ceramide function in the brain: when a slight tilt is enough. Cell Mol Life Sci 70(2):181– 203. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-1038-x. PubMed PMID: 22729185; PMCID: 3535405 Epub 2012/06/26
- Novgorodov SA, Gudz TI (2011) Ceramide and mitochondria in ischemic brain injury. Int J Biochem Mol Biol 2(4):347–361. Epub 2011/12/22. PubMed PMID: 22187669; PMCID: 3242427
- Mielke MM, Lyketsos CG (2010) Alterations of the sphingolipid pathway in Alzheimer's disease: new biomarkers and treatment targets? NeuroMolecular Med 12(4):331–340. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12017-010-8121-y. PubMed PMID: 20571935; PMCID: 3129545 Epub 2010/06/24
- Ben-David O, Futerman AH (2010) The role of the ceramide acyl chain length in neurodegeneration: involvement of ceramide synthases. NeuroMolecular Med 12(4):341–350. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12017-010-8114-x
- 55. de la Monte SM, Longato L, Tong M, DeNucci S, Wands JR (2009) The liver-brain axis of alcohol-mediated neurodegeneration: role of toxic lipids. Int J Environ Res Public Health 6(7):2055–2075. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph6072055. PubMed PMID: 19742171; PMCID: 2738898 Epub 2009/09/11
- Arboleda G, Morales LC, Benitez B, Arboleda H (2009) Regulation of ceramide-induced neuronal death: cell metabolism meets neurodegeneration. Brain Res Rev 59(2):333– 346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2008.10.001. doi: S0165-0173(08)00133-1 [pii] Epub 2008/11/11

- 57. Karunakaran I, van Echten-Deckert G (2017) Sphingosine 1-phosphate—a double edged sword in the brain. Biochim Biophys Acta 1859(9 Pt B):1573–1582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamem.2017.03.008
- 58. Gulbins A, Schumacher F, Becker KA, Wilker B, Soddemann M, Boldrin F, Muller CP, Edwards MJ, Goodman M, Caldwell CC, Kleuser B, Kornhuber J, Szabo I, Gulbins E (2018) Antidepressants act by inducing autophagy controlled by sphingomyelin-ceramide. Mol Psychiatry 23(12):2324–2346. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-018-0090-9. PubMed PMID: 30038230; PMCID: PMC6294742 Epub 2018/07/25
- 59. Tommasino C, Marconi M, Ciarlo L, Matarrese P, Malorni W (2015) Autophagic flux and autophagosome morphogenesis require the participation of sphingolipids. Apoptosis 20(5):645–657. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-015-1102-8. PubMed PMID: 25697338 Epub 2015/02/24
- Lepine S, Allegood JC, Edmonds Y, Milstien S, Spiegel S (2011) Autophagy induced by deficiency of sphingosine-1-phosphate phosphohydrolase 1 is switched to apoptosis by calpainmediated autophagy-related gene 5 (Atg5) cleavage. J Biol Chem 286(52):44380–44390. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.257519. PubMed PMID: 22052905; PMCID: 3247960 Epub 2011/11/05. doi: M111.257519 [pii]
- 61. Jiang W, Ogretmen B (2014) Autophagy paradox and ceramide. Biochim Biophys Acta 1841(5):783–792. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2013.09.005. PubMed PMID: 24055889; PMCID: 3960371 Epub 2013/09/24. doi: S1388-1981(13)00196-0 [pii]
- Nikolova-Karakashian MN, Rozenova KA (2010) Ceramide in stress response. Adv Exp Med Biol 688:86–108. Epub 2010/10/06
- Dany M, Ogretmen B (2015) Ceramide induced mitophagy and tumor suppression. Biochim Biophys Acta 1853(10 Pt B):2834– 2845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2014.12.039. Epub 2015/01/31. doi: S0167-4889(15)00008-7 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 25634657; PMCID: 4515393
- 64. Grosch S, Schiffmann S, Geisslinger G (2012) Chain lengthspecific properties of ceramides. Prog Lipid Res 51(1):50–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2011.11.001. Epub 2011/12/03. doi: S0163-7827(11)00042-7 [pii]
- 65. Siddique MM, Li Y, Chaurasia B, Kaddai VA, Summers SA (2015) Dihydroceramides: from bit players to Lead actors. J Biol Chem 290(25):15371–15379. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. R115.653204. Epub 2015/05/08. doi: R115.653204 [pii] PubMed PMID: 25947377; PMCID: 4505450
- Bartke N, Hannun YA (2009) Bioactive sphingolipids: metabolism and function. J Lipid Res 50(Suppl):S91–S96
- 67. Obeid LM, Hannun YA (2003) Ceramide, stress, and a "LAG" in aging. Sci Aging Knowl Environ 2003(39):PE27. https://doi. org/10.1126/sageke.2003.39.pe27. Epub 2003/10/03. 2003/39/ pe27 [pii]
- Venable ME, Lee JY, Smyth MJ, Bielawska A, Obeid LM (1995) Role of ceramide in cellular senescence. J Biol Chem 270(51):30701–30708. Epub 1995/12/22
- 69. Jana A, Hogan EL, Pahan K (2009) Ceramide and neurodegeneration: susceptibility of neurons and oligodendrocytes to cell damage and death. J Neurol Sci 278(1–2):5–15. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jns.2008.12.010. Epub 2009/01/17 PubMed PMID: 19147160; PMCID: PMC2660887
- Tong M, de la Monte SM (2009) Mechanisms of ceramidemediated neurodegeneration. J Alzheimer's Dis 16(4):705–714. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-2009-0983. Epub 2009/04/24. PubMed PMID: 19387107; PMCID: PMC4550322
- Le Stunff H, Véret J, Kassis N, Denom J, Meneyrol K, Paul J-L, Cruciani-Guglielmacci C, Magnan C, Janel N (2019) Deciphering the link between hyperhomocysteinemia and ceramide metabo-

lism in Alzheimer-type neurodegeneration. Front Neurol 10:807. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.00807

- Spassieva S, Bieberich E (2016) Lysosphingolipids and sphingolipidoses: psychosine in Krabbe's disease. J Neurosci Res 94(11):974–981. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23888. PubMed PMID: 27638582; PMCID: 5027979
- Svennerholm L, Vanier MT, Mansson JE (1980) Krabbe disease: a galactosylsphingosine (psychosine) lipidosis. J Lipid Res 21(1):53–64. Epub 1980/01/01
- 74. Vitner EB, Futerman AH (2013) Neuronal forms of Gaucher disease. Handb Exp Pharmacol 216:405–419. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-7091-1511-4_20. PubMed PMID: 23563668 Epub 2013/04/09
- Bieberich E, Freischutz B, Suzuki M, Yu RK (1999) Differential effects of glycolipid biosynthesis inhibitors on ceramide-induced cell death in neuroblastoma cells. J Neurochem 72(3):1040–1049. Epub 1999/02/26
- 76. de Wit NM, den Hoedt S, Martinez-Martinez P, Rozemuller AJ, Mulder MT, de Vries HE (2019) Astrocytic ceramide as possible indicator of neuroinflammation. J Neuroinflammation 16(1):48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-019-1436-1. PubMed PMID: 30803453; PMCID: PMC6388480 Epub 2019/02/26
- 77. Xing Y, Tang Y, Zhao L, Wang Q, Qin W, Ji X, Zhang J, Jia J (2016) Associations between plasma ceramides and cognitive and neuropsychiatric manifestations in Parkinson's disease dementia. J Neurol Sci 370:82–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2016.09.028
- Mielke MM, Maetzler W, Haughey NJ, Bandaru VV, Savica R, Deuschle C, Gasser T, Hauser AK, Graber-Sultan S, Schleicher E, Berg D, Liepelt-Scarfone I (2013) Plasma ceramide and glucosylceramide metabolism is altered in sporadic Parkinson's disease and associated with cognitive impairment: a pilot study. PLoS One 8(9):e73094. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0073094. PubMed PMID: 24058461; PMCID: 3776817
- 79. Bras J, Singleton A, Cookson MR, Hardy J (2008) Emerging pathways in genetic Parkinson's disease: potential role of ceramide metabolism in Lewy body disease. FEBS J 275(23):5767–5773. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008.06709.x. Epub 2008/11/22. doi: EJB6709 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 19021754; PMCID: 2646080
- Ariga T, Jarvis WD, Yu RK (1998) Role of sphingolipid-mediated cell death in neurodegenerative diseases. J Lipid Res 39(1):1–16
- Schuchman EH (2016) Acid ceramidase and the treatment of ceramide diseases: the expanding role of enzyme replacement therapy. Biochim Biophys Acta. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.05.001. Epub 2016/05/08 doi: S0925-4439(16)30094-1 [pii]
- Paciotti S, Albi E, Parnetti L, Beccari T (2020) Lysosomal ceramide metabolism disorders: implications in Parkinson's disease. J Clin Med 9:2. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9020594. PubMed PMID: 32098196; PMCID: PMC7073989 Epub 2020/02/27
- Baekelandt V, Lobbestael E, Xicoy H, Martens GJM (2020) Editorial: the role of lipids in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Front Neurosci 14:250. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnins.2020.00250. Epub 2020/04/09. PubMed PMID: 32265647; PMCID: PMC7105851
- Plotegher N, Bubacco L, Greggio E, Civiero L (2019) Ceramides in Parkinson's disease: from recent evidence to new hypotheses. Front Neurosci 13:330. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00330. PubMed PMID: 31001082; PMCID: PMC6454043 Epub 2019/04/20
- Lin G, Wang L, Marcogliese PC, Bellen HJ (2019) Sphingolipids in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease and Parkinsonism. Trends Endocrinol Metab 30(2):106–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tem.2018.11.003. PubMed PMID: 30528460 Epub 2018/12/12
- Dunn TM, Tifft CJ, Proia RL (2019) A perilous path: the inborn errors of sphingolipid metabolism. J Lipid Res 60(3):475–483.

https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.S091827. PubMed PMID: 30683667; PMCID: PMC6399501 Epub 2019/01/27

- Czubowicz K, Jesko H, Wencel P, Lukiw WJ, Strosznajder RP (2019) The role of ceramide and sphingosine-1-phosphate in Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. Mol Neurobiol 56(8):5436–5455. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-018-1448-3. PubMed PMID: 30612333; PMCID: PMC6614129. Epub 2019/01/07
- Dasgupta S, Ray SK (2017) Diverse biological functions of sphingolipids in the CNS: ceramide and sphingosine regulate myelination in developing brain but stimulate demyelination during pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Psychol 5:1. https://doi.org/10.13188/2332-3469.1000035. PubMed PMID: 30338269; PMCID: PMC6190913. Epub 2018/10/20
- Adibhatla RM, Hatcher JF (2008) Altered lipid metabolism in brain injury and disorders. Subcell Biochem 49:241–268
- Zhang Y, Li X, Becker KA, Gulbins E (2009) Ceramide-enriched membrane domains—structure and function. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 1788(1):178–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamem.2008.07.030
- Tripathi P, Zhu Z, Qin H, Elsherbini A, Roush EA, Crivelli SM, Spassieva SD, Bieberich E (2021) Cross-link/proximity ligation assay for visualization of lipid and protein complexes in lipid rafts. Methods Mol Biol 2187:337–348. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-0716-0814-2_20. Epub 2020/08/10
- 92. Elsherbini A, Qin H, Zhu Z, Tripathi P, Wang G, Crivelli SM, Spassieva SD, Bieberich E (2021) Extracellular vesicles containing ceramide-rich platforms: "Mobile Raft" isolation and analysis. Methods Mol Biol 2187:87–98. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-0716-0814-2_5. Epub 2020/08/10
- Tripathi P, Zhu Z, Qin H, Elsherbini A, Crivelli SM, Roush E, Wang G, Spassieva SD, Bieberich E (2020) Palmitoylation of acetylated tubulin and association with ceramide-rich platforms is critical for ciliogenesis. J Lipid Res. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr. RA120001190. Epub 2021/01/01
- 94. Jiang X, Zhu Z, Qin H, Tripathi P, Zhong L, Elsherbini A, Karki S, Crivelli SM, Zhi W, Wang G, Spassieva SD, Bieberich E (2019) Visualization of ceramide-associated proteins in ceramide-rich platforms using a cross-linkable ceramide analog and proximity ligation assays with anti-ceramide antibody. Front Cell Dev Biol 7:166. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2019.00166. PubMed PMID: 31475148; PMCID: 6706757
- 95. Canals D, Salamone S, Hannun YA (2018) Visualizing bioactive ceramides. Chem Phys Lipids 216:142–151. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2018.09.013. PubMed PMID: 30266560; PMCID: 6233321
- 96. Burgert A, Schlegel J, Becam J, Doose S, Bieberich E, Schubert-Unkmeir A, Sauer M (2017) Characterization of plasma membrane ceramides by super-resolution microscopy. Angew Chem. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201700570
- 97. Stancevic B, Kolesnick R (2010) Ceramide-rich platforms in transmembrane signaling. FEBS Lett 584(9):1728–1740. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2010.02.026. Epub 2010/02/25. doi: S0014-5793(10)00120-1 [pii] PubMed PMID: 20178791; PMCID: 4440589
- Zhang Y, Li X, Becker KA, Gulbins E (2009) Ceramideenriched membrane domains—structure and function. Biochim Biophys Acta 1788(1):178–183. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.07.030. Epub 2008/09/13. doi: S0005-2736(08)00242-3 [pii] .PubMed
- 99. Silva LC, de Almeida RF, Castro BM, Fedorov A, Prieto M (2007) Ceramide-domain formation and collapse in lipid rafts: membrane reorganization by an apoptotic lipid. Biophys J 92(2):502–516
- 100. Bollinger CR, Teichgraber V, Gulbins E (2005) Ceramide-enriched membrane domains. Biochim Biophys Acta 1746(3):284–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2005.09.001

- 101. Gulbins E, Kolesnick R (2003) Raft ceramide in molecular medicine. Oncogene 22(45):7070–7077. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.onc.1207146. Epub 2003/10/15. 1207146 [pii]
- 102. Zhang Y, Yao B, Delikat S, Bayoumy S, Lin XH, Basu S, McGinley M, Chan-Hui PY, Lichenstein H, Kolesnick R (1997) Kinase suppressor of Ras is ceramide-activated protein kinase. Cell 89(1):63–72. doi: S0092-8674(00)80183-X [pii]. Epub 1997/04/04
- 103. Basu S, Bayoumy S, Zhang Y, Lozano J, Kolesnick R (1998) BAD enables ceramide to signal apoptosis via Ras and Raf-1. J Biol Chem 273(46):30419–30426
- 104. Bourbon NA, Yun J, Kester M (2000) Ceramide directly activates protein kinase C zeta to regulate a stress-activated protein kinase signaling complex. J Biol Chem 275(45):35617–35623
- 105. Lozano J, Berra E, Municio MM, Diaz-Meco MT, Dominguez I, Sanz L, Moscat J (1994) Protein kinase C zeta isoform is critical for kappa B-dependent promoter activation by sphingomyelinase. J Biol Chem 269(30):19200–19202
- 106. Muller G, Ayoub M, Storz P, Rennecke J, Fabbro D, Pfizenmaier K (1995) PKC zeta is a molecular switch in signal transduction of TNF-alpha, bifunctionally regulated by ceramide and arachidonic acid. EMBO J 14(9):1961–1969
- 107. Bieberich E, Kawaguchi T, Yu RK (2000) N-acylated serinol is a novel ceramide mimic inducing apoptosis in neuroblastoma cells. J Biol Chem 275(1):177–181. Epub 2000/01/05
- 108. Wang YM, Seibenhener ML, Vandenplas ML, Wooten MW (1999) Atypical PKC zeta is activated by ceramide, resulting in coactivation of NF-kappaB/JNK kinase and cell survival. J Neurosci Res 55(3):293–302
- 109. Ruvolo PP (2003) Intracellular signal transduction pathways activated by ceramide and its metabolites. Pharmacol Res 47(5):383–392
- 110. Wang G, Silva J, Krishnamurthy K, Tran E, Condie BG, Bieberich E (2005) Direct binding to ceramide activates protein kinase Czeta before the formation of a pro-apoptotic complex with PAR-4 in differentiating stem cells. J Biol Chem 280(28):26415–26424
- 111. Fox TE, Houck KL, O'Neill SM, Nagarajan M, Stover TC, Pomianowski PT, Unal O, Yun JK, Naides SJ, Kester M (2007) Ceramide recruits and activates protein kinase C zeta (PKC zeta) within structured membrane microdomains. J Biol Chem 282(17):12450–12457. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M700082200. Epub 2007/02/20. doi: M700082200 [pii]
- 112. Wang G, Krishnamurthy K, Chiang YW, Dasgupta S, Bieberich E (2008) Regulation of neural progenitor cell motility by ceramide and potential implications for mouse brain development. J Neurochem 106(2):718–733
- 113. Wang G, Krishnamurthy K, Umapathy NS, Verin AD, Bieberich E (2009) The carboxyl-terminal domain of atypical protein kinase Czeta binds to ceramide and regulates junction formation in epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 284(21):14469–14475. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M808909200. Epub 2009/03/24. M808909200 [pii] PubMed PMID: 19304661; PMCID: 2682895
- 114. Mukhopadhyay A, Saddoughi SA, Song P, Sultan I, Ponnusamy S, Senkal CE, Snook CF, Arnold HK, Sears RC, Hannun YA, Ogretmen B (2009) Direct interaction between the inhibitor 2 and ceramide via sphingolipid-protein binding is involved in the regulation of protein phosphatase 2A activity and signaling. FASEB J 23(3):751–763. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.08-120550. PubMed PMID: 19028839; PMCID: PMC2653988 Epub 2008/11/26
- 115. Dobrowsky RT, Kamibayashi C, Mumby MC, Hannun YA (1993) Ceramide activates heterotrimeric protein phosphatase 2A. J Biol Chem 268(21):15523–15530. Epub 1993/07/25
- 116. Chalfant CE, Kishikawa K, Mumby MC, Kamibayashi C, Bielawska A, Hannun YA (1999) Long chain ceramides activate protein phosphatase-1 and protein phosphatase-2A. Activation is

stereospecific and regulated by phosphatidic acid. J Biol Chem 274(29):20313-20317. Epub 1999/07/10

- 117. Chalfant CE, Szulc Z, Roddy P, Bielawska A, Hannun YA (2004) The structural requirements for ceramide activation of serinethreonine protein phosphatases. J Lipid Res 45(3):496–506
- 118. Mukhopadhyay A, Saddoughi SA, Song P, Sultan I, Ponnusamy S, Senkal CE, Snook CF, Arnold HK, Sears RC, Hannun YA, Ogretmen B (2008) Direct interaction between the inhibitor 2 and ceramide via sphingolipid-protein binding is involved in the regulation of protein phosphatase 2A activity and signaling. FASEB J 23:751
- 119. Canals D, Roddy P, Hannun YA (2012) Protein phosphatase 1alpha mediates ceramide-induced ERM protein dephosphorylation: a novel mechanism independent of phosphatidylinositol 4, 5-biphosphate (PIP2) and myosin/ERM phosphatase. J Biol Chem 287(13):10145–10155. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.306456. PubMed PMID: 22311981; PMCID: 3323024
- 120. Perry DM, Kitatani K, Roddy P, El-Osta M, Hannun YA (2012) Identification and characterization of protein phosphatase 2C activation by ceramide. J Lipid Res 53(8):1513–1521. https://doi. org/10.1194/jlr.M025395. Epub 2012/05/23. doi: jlr.M025395 [pii]. PubMed PMID: 22615346; PMCID: 3540846
- 121. Heinrich M, Wickel M, Schneider-Brachert W, Sandberg C, Gahr J, Schwandner R, Weber T, Saftig P, Peters C, Brunner J, Krönke M, Schütze S (1999) Cathepsin D targeted by acid sphingomyelinase-derived ceramide. EMBO J 18(19):5252– 5263. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/18.19.5252. PubMed PMID: 10508159; PMCID: PMC1171596. Epub 1999/10/03
- 122. Wang G, Dinkins M, He Q, Zhu G, Poirier C, Campbell A, Mayer-Proschel M, Bieberich E (2012) Astrocytes secrete exosomes enriched with proapoptotic ceramide and prostate apoptosis response 4 (PAR-4): potential mechanism of apoptosis induction in Alzheimer disease (AD). J Biol Chem 287(25):21384–21395. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.340513. PubMed PMID: 22532571; PMCID: PMC3375560
- 123. Bieberich E, MacKinnon S, Silva J, Yu RK (2001) Regulation of apoptosis during neuronal differentiation by ceramide and b-series complex gangliosides. J Biol Chem 276(48):44396–44404
- 124. Bieberich E, MacKinnon S, Silva J, Noggle S, Condie BG (2003) Regulation of cell death in mitotic neural progenitor cells by asymmetric distribution of prostate apoptosis response 4 (PAR-4) and simultaneous elevation of endogenous ceramide. J Cell Biol 162(3):469–479
- 125. Guo Q, Fu W, Xie J, Luo H, Sells SF, Geddes JW, Bondada V, Rangnekar VM, Mattson MP (1998) Par-4 is a mediator of neuronal degeneration associated with the pathogenesis of Alzheimer disease. Nat Med 4(8):957–962
- 126. Duan W, Rangnekar VM, Mattson MP (1999) Prostate apoptosis response-4 production in synaptic compartments following apoptotic and excitotoxic insults: evidence for a pivotal role in mitochondrial dysfunction and neuronal degeneration. J Neurochem 72(6):2312–2322. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471--4159.1999.0722312.x. Epub 1999/06/01
- 127. Mattson MP, Duan W, Chan SL, Camandola S (1999) Par-4: an emerging pivotal player in neuronal apoptosis and neurodegenerative disorders. J Mol Neurosci 13(1–2):17–30. https:// doi.org/10.1385/JMN:13:1-2:17JMN:13:1-2:17. [pii]. Epub 2000/02/26
- Camandola S, Mattson MP (2000) Pro-apoptotic action of PAR-4 involves inhibition of NF-kappaB activity and suppression of BCL-2 expression. J Neurosci Res 61(2):134–139
- 129. Guo Q, Xie J, Chang X, Du H (2001) Prostate apoptosis response-4 enhances secretion of amyloid beta peptide 1-42 in human neuroblastoma IMR-32 cells by a caspase-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem 276(19):16040–16044

- 130. Bieberich E, Silva J, Wang G, Krishnamurthy K, Condie BG (2004) Selective apoptosis of pluripotent mouse and human stem cells by novel ceramide analogues prevents teratoma formation and enriches for neural precursors in ES cell-derived neural transplants. J Cell Biol 167(4):723–734
- 131. Xie J, Guo Q (2005) PAR-4 is involved in regulation of betasecretase cleavage of the Alzheimer amyloid precursor protein. J Biol Chem 280(14):13824–13832
- 132. Wang G, Silva J, Dasgupta S, Bieberich E (2008) Long-chain ceramide is elevated in presenilin 1 (PS1M146V) mouse brain and induces apoptosis in PS1 astrocytes. Glia 56(4):449–456
- 133. Casolari DA, Pereira MC, de Bessa Garcia SA, Nagai MA (2011) Insulin-like growth factor-1 and 17beta-estradiol down-regulate prostate apoptosis response-4 expression in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Int J Mol Med 28(3):337–342. Epub 2011/05/14. https://doi. org/10.3892/ijmm.2011.691
- 134. Bieberich E (2004) Integration of glycosphingolipid metabolism and cell-fate decisions in cancer and stem cells: review and hypothesis. Glycoconj J 21(6):315–327
- 135. Sardar Sinha M, Ansell-Schultz A, Civitelli L, Hildesjo C, Larsson M, Lannfelt L, Ingelsson M, Hallbeck M (2018) Alzheimer's disease pathology propagation by exosomes containing toxic amyloid-beta oligomers. Acta Neuropathol 136(1):41–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-018-1868-1. PubMed PMID: 29934873; PMCID: 6015111
- 136. Yin Q, Ji X, Lv R, Pei JJ, Du Y, Shen C, Hou X (2020) Targetting exosomes as a new biomarker and therapeutic approach for Alzheimer's disease. Clin Interv Aging 15:195–205. https://doi. org/10.2147/cia.S240400. PubMed PMID: 32103922; PMCID: PMC7025655. Epub 2020/02/28
- 137. Song Z, Xu Y, Deng W, Zhang L, Zhu H, Yu P, Qu Y, Zhao W, Han Y, Qin C (2020) Brain derived exosomes are a double-edged sword in Alzheimer's disease. Front Mol Neurosci 13:79. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2020.00079. PubMed PMID: 32547364; PMCID: PMC7274346. Epub 2020/06/18
- 138. Elsherbini A, Kirov AS, Dinkins MB, Wang G, Qin H, Zhu Z, Tripathi P, Crivelli SM, Bieberich E (2020) Association of Abeta with ceramide-enriched astrosomes mediates Abeta neurotoxicity. Acta Neuropathol Commun 8(1):60. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40478-020-00931-8. Epub 2020/04/30
- 139. Guix FX, Corbett GT, Cha DJ, Mustapic M, Liu W, Mengel D, Chen Z, Aikawa E, Young-Pearse T, Kapogiannis D, Selkoe DJ, Walsh DM (2018) Detection of aggregation-competent tau in neuron-derived extracellular vesicles. Int J Mol Sci 19:3. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms19030663. PubMed PMID: 29495441; PMCID: 5877524
- 140. Yuyama K, Igarashi Y (2017) Exosomes as carriers of Alzheimer's Amyloid-ss. Front Neurosci 11:229. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnins.2017.00229. PubMed PMID: 28487629; PMCID: 5403946
- 141. Ngolab J, Trinh I, Rockenstein E, Mante M, Florio J, Trejo M, Masliah D, Adame A, Masliah E, Rissman RA (2017) Brainderived exosomes from dementia with Lewy bodies propagate alpha-synuclein pathology. Acta Neuropathol Commun 5(1):46. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-017-0445-5. PubMed PMID: 28599681; PMCID: 5466770
- 142. Hartmann A, Muth C, Dabrowski O, Krasemann S, Glatzel M (2017) Exosomes and the prion protein: more than one truth. Front Neurosci 11:194. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00194. PubMed PMID: 28469550; PMCID: 5395619
- 143. Colombo M, Raposo G, Thery C (2014) Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 30:255–289. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-101512-122326. Epub 2014/10/08
- 144. Abe T, Niizuma K, Kanoke A, Saigusa D, Saito R, Uruno A, Fujimura M, Yamamoto M, Tominaga T (2018) Metabolomic analysis of mouse brain after a transient middle cerebral artery

occlusion by mass spectrometry imaging. Neurol Med Chir 58(9):384–392. https://doi.org/10.2176/nmc.oa.2018-0054. Epub 2018/08/07. PubMed PMID: 30078821; PMCID: PMC6156127

- 145. Barbacci DC, Roux A, Muller L, Jackson SN, Post J, Baldwin K, Hoffer B, Balaban CD, Schultz JA, Gouty S, Cox BM, Woods AS (2017) Mass spectrometric imaging of ceramide biomarkers tracks therapeutic response in traumatic brain injury. ACS Chem Neurosci 8(10):2266–2274. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.7b00189
- 146. Brunkhorst R, Friedlaender F, Ferreirós N, Schwalm S, Koch A, Grammatikos G, Toennes S, Foerch C, Pfeilschifter J, Pfeilschifter W (2015) Alterations of the ceramide metabolism in the Peri-infarct cortex are independent of the sphingomy-elinase pathway and not influenced by the acid sphingomyelinase inhibitor fluoxetine. Neural Plast 2015:503079. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/503079. PubMed PMID: 26605090; PMCID: PMC4641186. Epub 2015/11/26
- 147. Roux A, Muller L, Jackson SN, Post J, Baldwin K, Hoffer B, Balaban CD, Barbacci D, Schultz JA, Gouty S, Cox BM, Woods AS (2016) Mass spectrometry imaging of rat brain lipid profile changes over time following traumatic brain injury. J Neurosci Methods. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2016.02.004. Epub 2016/02/14. doi: S0165-0270(16)00056-X [pii]
- 148. Sajja V, Jablonska A, Haughey N, Bulte JWM, Stevens RD, Long JB, Walczak P, Janowski M (2018) Sphingolipids and microRNA changes in blood following blast traumatic brain injury: an exploratory study. J Neurotrauma 35(2):353–361. https://doi. org/10.1089/neu.2017.5009
- 149. Trajkovic K, Hsu C, Chiantia S, Rajendran L, Wenzel D, Wieland F, Schwille P, Brügger B, Simons M (2008) Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes. Science 319(5867):1244–1247. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1153124. Epub 2008/03/01
- 150. Mielke MM, Bandaru VV, Haughey NJ, Rabins PV, Lyketsos CG, Carlson MC (2010) Serum sphingomyelins and ceramides are early predictors of memory impairment. Neurobiol Aging 31(1):17–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.03.011. PubMed PMID: 18455839; PMCID: PMC2783210. Epub 2008/05/06
- 151. Mielke MM, Bandaru VV, Haughey NJ, Xia J, Fried LP, Yasar S, Albert M, Varma V, Harris G, Schneider EB, Rabins PV, Bandeen-Roche K, Lyketsos CG, Carlson MC (2012) Serum ceramides increase the risk of Alzheimer disease: the Women's Health and Aging Study II. Neurology 79(7):633–641. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e318264e380. PubMed PMID: 22815558; PMCID: PMC3414665. Epub 2012/07/21
- 152. Mielke MM, Haughey NJ, Bandaru VV, Schech S, Carrick R, Carlson MC, Mori S, Miller MI, Ceritoglu C, Brown T, Albert M, Lyketsos CG (2010) Plasma ceramides are altered in mild cognitive impairment and predict cognitive decline and hippocampal volume loss. Alzheimers Dement 6(5):378–385. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2010.03.014. PubMed PMID: 20813340; PMCID: PMC2933928. Epub 2010/09/04
- 153. Kim M, Nevado-Holgado A, Whiley L, Snowden SG, Soininen H, Kloszewska I, Mecocci P, Tsolaki M, Vellas B, Thambisetty M, Dobson RJB, Powell JF, Lupton MK, Simmons A, Velayudhan L, Lovestone S, Proitsi P, Legido-Quigley C (2017) Association between plasma ceramides and phosphatidylcholines and hippocampal brain volume in late onset Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 60(3):809–817. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-160645. PubMed PMID: 27911300; PMCID: PMC5676755. Epub 2016/12/03
- 154. Puglielli L, Ellis BC, Saunders AJ, Kovacs DM (2003) Ceramide stabilizes beta-site amyloid precursor protein-cleaving enzyme 1 and promotes amyloid beta-peptide biogenesis. J Biol Chem 278(22):19777–19783. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M300466200. Epub 2003/03/22

- 155. Levy M, Castillo SS, Goldkorn T (2006) nSMase2 activation and trafficking are modulated by oxidative stress to induce apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 344(3):900–905. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.04.013. PubMed PMID: 16631623; PMCID: PMC4370275. Epub 2006/04/25
- 156. Rutkute K, Asmis RH, Nikolova-Karakashian MN (2007) Regulation of neutral sphingomyelinase-2 by GSH: a new insight to the role of oxidative stress in aging-associated inflammation. J Lipid Res 48(11):2443–2452. https://doi.org/10.1194/ jlr.M700227-JLR200. PubMed PMID: 17693623; PMCID: PMC3010975. Epub 2007/08/19
- 157. Kowal J, Tkach M, Thery C (2014) Biogenesis and secretion of exosomes. Curr Opin Cell Biol 29:116–125. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ceb.2014.05.004. Epub 2014/06/25
- 158. Thery C, Zitvogel L, Amigorena S (2002) Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. Nat Rev Immunol 2(8):569–579. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri855. Epub 2002/08/03
- 159. Ghossoub R, Lembo F, Rubio A, Gaillard CB, Bouchet J, Vitale N, Slavík J, Machala M, Zimmermann P (2014) Syntenin-ALIX exosome biogenesis and budding into multivesicular bodies are controlled by ARF6 and PLD2. Nat Commun 5(1):3477. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4477
- 160. Guo BB, Bellingham SA, Hill AF (2015) The neutral sphingomyelinase pathway regulates packaging of the prion protein into exosomes. J Biol Chem 290(6):3455–3467. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M114.605253. PubMed PMID: 25505180; PMCID: PMC4319014. Epub 2014/12/17
- 161. Danzer KM, Kranich LR, Ruf WP, Cagsal-Getkin O, Winslow AR, Zhu L, Vanderburg CR, McLean PJ (2012) Exosomal cell-to-cell transmission of alpha synuclein oligomers. Mol Neurodegener 7(1):42. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1326-7-42
- 162. Shi M, Liu C, Cook TJ, Bullock KM, Zhao Y, Ginghina C, Li Y, Aro P, Dator R, He C, Hipp MJ, Zabetian CP, Peskind ER, Hu SC, Quinn JF, Galasko DR, Banks WA, Zhang J (2014) Plasma exosomal α-synuclein is likely CNS-derived and increased in Parkinson's disease. Acta Neuropathol 128(5):639–650. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00401-014-1314-y. PubMed PMID: 24997849; PMCID: PMC4201967 Epub 2014/07/07
- 163. Chen CC, Liu L, Ma F, Wong CW, Guo XE, Chacko JV, Farhoodi HP, Zhang SX, Zimak J, Ségaliny A, Riazifar M, Pham V, Digman MA, Pone EJ, Zhao W (2016) Elucidation of exosome migration across the blood-brain barrier model in vitro. Cell Mol Bioeng 9(4):509–529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12195-016-0458-3. PubMed PMID: 28392840; PMCID: PMC5382965. Epub 2017/04/11
- 164. Saeedi S, Israel S, Nagy C, Turecki G (2019) The emerging role of exosomes in mental disorders. Transl Psychiatry 9(1):122. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41398-019-0459-9
- 165. Fiandaca MS, Kapogiannis D, Mapstone M, Boxer A, Eitan E, Schwartz JB, Abner EL, Petersen RC, Federoff HJ, Miller BL, Goetzl EJ (2014) Identification of preclinical Alzheimer's disease by a profile of pathogenic proteins in neurally derived blood exosomes: a case-control study. Alzheimers Dement. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2014.06.008. Epub 2014/08/19. doi: S1552-5260(14)02469-8 [pii]
- 166. Goetzl EJ, Mustapic M, Kapogiannis D, Eitan E, Lobach IV, Goetzl L, Schwartz JB, Miller BL (2016) Cargo proteins of plasma astrocyte-derived exosomes in Alzheimer's disease. FASEB J 30(11):3853–3859. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201600756R. PubMed PMID: 27511944; PMCID: 5067254
- 167. Sun R, Wang H, Shi Y, Sun Z, Jiang H, Zhang J (2020) Changes in the morphology, number, and pathological protein levels of plasma exosomes may help diagnose Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 73:909–917. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-190497
- 168. Gill J, Mustapic M, Diaz-Arrastia R, Lange R, Gulyani S, Diehl T, Motamedi V, Osier N, Stern RA, Kapogiannis D (2018) Higher
exosomal tau, amyloid-beta 42 and IL-10 are associated with mild TBIs and chronic symptoms in military personnel. Brain Inj 32(10):1277–1284. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2018.147 1738. PubMed PMID: 29913077; PMCID: PMC6129391. Epub 2018/06/19

- 169. Perez-Nievas BG, Serrano-Pozo A (2018) Deciphering the astrocyte reaction in Alzheimer's disease. Front Aging Neurosci 10:114. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2018.00114
- 170. Palmer AL, Ousman SS (2018) Astrocytes and aging. Front Aging Neurosci 10:337. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2018.00337
- 171. Gayen M, Bhomia M, Balakathiresan N, Knollmann-Ritschel B (2020) Exosomal MicroRNAs released by activated astrocytes as potential neuroinflammatory biomarkers. Int J Mol Sci 21:7. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21072312. PubMed PMID: 32230793; PMCID: PMC7177648. Epub 2020/04/02
- 172. Venturini A, Passalacqua M, Pelassa S, Pastorino F, Tedesco M, Cortese K, Gagliani MC, Leo G, Maura G, Guidolin D, Agnati LF, Marcoli M, Cervetto C (2019) Exosomes from astrocyte processes: signaling to neurons. Front Pharmacol 10:1452. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2019.01452
- 173. Taylor AR, Robinson MB, Gifondorwa DJ, Tytell M, Milligan CE (2007) Regulation of heat shock protein 70 release in astrocytes: role of signaling kinases. Dev Neurobiol 67(13):1815–1829. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.20559. Epub 2007/08/19

- 174. Oakley H, Cole SL, Logan S, Maus E, Shao P, Craft J, Guillozet-Bongaarts A, Ohno M, Disterhoft J, Van Eldik L, Berry R, Vassar R (2006) Intraneuronal beta-amyloid aggregates, neurodegeneration, and neuron loss in transgenic mice with five familial Alzheimer's disease mutations: potential factors in amyloid plaque formation. J Neurosci 26(40):10129–10140. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1202-06.2006. PubMed PMID: 17021169; PMCID: PMC6674618
- 175. Jana A, Pahan K (2010) Fibrillar amyloid-beta-activated human astroglia kill primary human neurons via neutral sphingomyelinase: implications for Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 30(38):12676–12689. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1243-10.2010. PubMed PMID: 20861373; PMCID: PMC3020912. Epub 2010/09/24
- 176. Elsherbini A, Qin H, Zhu Z, Tripathi P, Crivelli SM, Bieberich E (2020) In vivo evidence of exosome-mediated Abeta neurotoxicity. Acta Neuropathol Commun 8(1):100. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40478-020-00981-y. PubMed PMID: 32631455; PMCID: PMC7339450. Epub 2020/07/08
- 177. Xie J, Chang X, Zhang X, Guo Q (2001) Aberrant induction of par-4 is involved in apoptosis of hippocampal neurons in presenilin-1 M146V mutant knock-in mice. Brain Res 915(1):1– 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-8993(01)02803-7. Epub 2001/10/02



Par-4 in Neuronal Death and Survival in Alzheimer's Disease and Other Neurogenerative Diseases

Qing Guo, Jun Xie, and Chelsea J. Guo

Abstract

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegeneration in vulnerable regions of the hippocampus and cerebral cortex that leads to loss in thinking abilities and dementia. The main pathological features of AD include loss of neurons and synapses, extracellular amyloid plaques composed primarily of amyloid β peptide 1–42, and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles which are mostly abnormally paired helical filaments of hyperphosphorylated tau protein. The precise mechanisms of neuronal cell deaths in AD are yet to be established. The amyloid hypothesis of AD states that the aberrant processing of the β -amyloid precursor protein (APP) and aggregation of amyloid β -peptide 1-42 (A β 1-42) plays a central role in neurodegeneration in AD. Normally, APP is cleaved by α -secretase to release an extracellular fragment known as sAPP α . In contrast, A β is produced when APP is cleaved by β -secretase (BACE1) and gamma-secretase. Cleavage of APP by β -secretase generates a soluble NH2-terminal fragment (sAPPB) and a membrane-bound COOHterminal fragment C99. Cleavage of C99 by gammasecretase produces AB and an APP intracellular domain (AICD). It is generally believed that $A\beta$ 1–42 is neurotoxic while sAPPa confers neuroprotection. Mutations in familial Alzheimer's disease (FAD) genes, including those in APP and presenilins (which include presenilin-1, PS-1, and presenilin-2, PS-2), are associated with earlyonset AD cases. Par-4 (prostate apoptosis response-4) is a cell death-promoting protein that was initially isolated as an apoptosis-associated protein by differential screening for genes upregulated in prostate cancer cells undergoing apoptosis. Par-4 is expressed in neurons, and it is found in both cytoplasmic and nucleus compartments. In this chap-

ter, we provide emerging evidence that Par-4 is involved in neuronal cell death in a variety of neurodegenerative diseases. Specifically, we will focus on the cellular and molecular mechanisms by which Par-4 sensitizes neurons to apoptosis or necroptosis in different experimental models of AD, including the first mouse "knock-in" model of a naturally occurring presenilin-1 mutation responsible for an early-onset form of Alzheimer disease described by our laboratory. Par-4 significantly increases production of the neurotoxic A β species while decreases the release of the neuroprotective sAPP by altering cell death signaling, disrupting intracellular calcium homeostasis, and enhancing amyloidogenic processing of APP. Par-4 also interacts with ACID to promote neurodegeneration in AD by regulating AICD-mediated transcriptional activity. Of importance, we identified AATF (apoptosis antagonizing transcription factor), another leucine zipper domain containing protein, to be an endogenous interaction partner and potent inhibitor of Par-4 activity in neurons. AATF confers neuroprotection by interacting with Par-4 via the leucine zipper domain and interfering with binding of Par-4 to AICD. Of importance, AATF is secreted extracellularly by cortical neurons under neurodegenerative conditions, and secreted AATF (sAATF) blocks TLR4mediated, RIPK3/MLKL-dependent necroptosis of cortical neurons. Surprisingly, a small core peptide from TRL-4 binding region of AATF, termed as SAP-12, provides a much greater neuroprotective potency and broader effective dose range than the full-length sAATF. Participation of Par-4 in other neurodegenerative diseases and neurological disorders as well as future directions is also discussed.

Keywords

Prostate apoptosis response-4 \cdot Amyloid precursor protein $\cdot \beta$ -secretase BACE1 \cdot Amyloid β peptide \cdot APP intracellular domain \cdot Alzheimer's disease \cdot Apoptosis \cdot Necroptosis \cdot Apoptosis antagonizing transcription factor

Q. Guo $(\boxtimes) \cdot J$. Xie $\cdot C$. J. Guo

Department of Physiology, The University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA e-mail: qing-guo@ouhsc.edu; jun-xie@omrf.org; chelseaguo@ou.edu

· Presenilin-1 · Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis · Parkinson's disease

Abbreviations

AATF	Apoptosis antagonizing transcription factor
AD	Alzheimer's disease
AICD	APP intracellular domain
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
APP	β-Amyloid precursor protein
Αβ	Amyloid β peptide
BACE1	β-Site APP cleaving enzyme 1
Leu.zip	Leucine zipper domain
Par-4	Prostate apoptosis response-4
PS-1	Presenilin-1

1 Neuronal Cell Death and Survival in Alzheimer's Disease

1.1 Introduction to Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is an irreversible, progressive neurodegeneration in vulnerable regions of the hippocampus and cerebral cortex [1-8]. The clinical symptoms of AD include memory loss, changes in personality and behavior, decline in thinking abilities, and loss of mental function (dementia). AD affects over five million Americans and 44 million people worldwide. AD primarily attacks people 65 and older, but early-onset familial Alzheimer's disease (FAD) cases between the ages of 30 and 65 are not uncommon [9, 10]. The average life span of patients with AD is 8-10 years, but can be as long as 20 years. In 2020, annual economic toll (health care and lost wages) for all individuals with Alzheimer's disease or other forms of dementia in the USA alone is estimated to be about \$305 billion. In 2050, Alzheimer's is projected to cost more than \$1.1 trillion unless an effective treatment is found.

1.2 The Amyloid hypothesis of AD

Pathologically, AD is characterized by loss of neurons and synapses, cerebral atrophy, extracellular amyloid plaques (Fig. 1), intracellular neurofibrillary tangles, and microglial activation. Amyloid plaques are composed primarily of amyloid β peptide 1-42 (A β 1-42) intermingled with degenerative neurites, while neurofibrillary tangles are mostly abnormally paired helical filaments of hyperphosphorylated tau [1–8].

The cause of neuronal cell death in AD is yet to be established. However, it was generally believed that aberrant processing of APP leading to an increased production and aggregation of A\beta1-42 plays an important role in the pathogenesis of AD [11-41]. A β is produced when amyloid precursor protein (APP) is cleaved by β -secretase (BACE1) and γ -secretase [42–52]. Cleavage of APP by β -secretase generates a soluble NH2terminal fragment (sAPP_β) and a membrane-bound COOHterminal fragment (known as C99). Cleavage of C99 by y-secretase produces AB and AICD (APP intracellular domain, composed of half of the transmembrane region of 10-12 residues and the cytoplasmic tail of 47 residues) [53-69]. The intramembrane γ -secretase cleavage of APP typically generates two major forms of A^β that are 40 and 42 amino acids in length [70–98]. It is believed that $A\beta$ 1-42 is pathogenic in Alzheimer's disease (AD) because it is the major component of senile plaques and is more aggregable and neurotoxic than A_β1-40 [11, 13, 23, 24, 34, 40, 99–111]. As a result, Aβ1-42/Aβ1-40 ratio was often used as an indicator of production of the toxic Aβ species [11, 30, 33, 34, 36, 37, 39–41]. Non-amyloid precursor protein (APP) occurs when APP is processed by α -secretase which generates a soluble ectodomain called sAPP α [112–114]. sAPPß may have different biological properties than does sAPP α (which has an extra 16 amino acids in its C-terminus) although both have been shown to have neuroprotective properties [115, 116]. The biogenesis, subcellular localization, biological activities, and the roles of the AICD in the pathogenesis of AD are not fully established, but available data indicate that AICD may translocate to the nucleus as a transcription factor to predispose to transcription-dependent neuronal cell death [117].

1.3 Genetic Factors in Early-Onset Familial AD

Mutations in familial Alzheimer's disease (FAD) genes, such as β -amyloid precursor protein (APP) and presenilins (which include presenilin-1, PS-1, and presenilin-2, PS-2), have been shown to regulate the processing of APP and result in increased production of the neurotoxic amyloid β -peptide $(A\beta 1-42)$ [11, 118–122]. APP is mapped to Ch21, and mutations in APP account for about 3% of early-onset FAD cases. PS-1 and PS-1 are mapped to Ch14 and Ch1, respectively, and they share about 67% of amino acid homology. Mutations in PS-1 account for majority of early-onset FAD cases and have been shown to increase the production of AB42 and expose neurons to elevated vulnerability to cell death [11, 118–122]. Of importance, aberrant APP processing and neuronal degeneration in AD may be intricately linked. Abnormal processing of APP and increased production of A β could be induced by pro-apoptotic insults [66–71]. Several recent studies showed that APP could be processed in neuronal cells during apoptosis by some cell death proteases, such as caspase-6 and -8, and specific caspase inhibitors can block the apoptotic conversion of APP [102, 103, 123].





Fig. 1 Levels of Par-4 are significantly increased in the brains of human AD patients. (a) Northern blot analysis of Par-4 and β -actin mRNA amounts in hippocampi from three neurologically normal control (C1-C3) and three AD (P1-P3) patients. PC is positive control which represents RNA from fibroblasts overexpressing human Par-4. (b) Representative Western blot analysis of Par-4 protein levels in the hippocampus three neurologically normal control (C1-C3) and three AD (P1-P3) patients. PC is positive control which represents authentic Par-4 from cultured 3 T# fibroblasts overexpressing Par-4. (c)

2 Role of Par-4 in Cell Death and Survival in AD and Other Neurodegenerative Diseases

2.1 Initial Evidence for a Role of Par-4 in Neuronal Degeneration

Densitometric analysis of Par-4 amounts in three brain regions from control and AD patients. Values are the mean and S.D. of determinations made in six control and six AD patients. ***P < 0.001, **P < 0.01, and *P < 0.05 compared with corresponding values in the control groups. ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests. (d) Sections of hippocampi from AD patient and an age-matched control patient double-labeled with antibodies against PHF-1 (brown) and Par-4 (black). White arrows, double-labeled neurons; white arrowhead, neurons labeled only with PHF-1; black arrow: neuritic plaque

Par-4 (prostate apoptosis response-4) was initially isolated as an apoptosis-associated protein by differential screening for genes upregulated in prostate cancer cells undergoing apoptosis [124–129]. It is also expressed in neurons and is found in both cytoplasmic and nucleus compartments [11, 33, 124, 130–143]. We performed a series of studies to determine its possible role in neuronal cell death. The first link between aberrant expression of Par-4 and neurodegeneration came from studies of Alzheimer's disease [11]. Levels of Par-4 mRNA and protein were found to be increased in tissue from vulnerable brain regions of Alzheimer's patients compared to age-matched control patients (Fig. 1). Double-labeling analysis using antibodies against phosphorylated tau (PHF-1 antibody; a marker of neurofibrillary tangle-bearing neurons) revealed that approximately 30–50% of tangle-bearing neurons were also Par-4 positive [11].

Levels of Par-4 also increased in differentiated PC12 cells and primary hippocampal neurons undergoing apoptosis in response to trophic factor withdrawal. Pretreatment of hippocampal neurons with an antisense oligodeoxynucleotide of Par-4 significantly attenuated neuronal apoptosis. Par-4 expression was enhanced by presenilin-1 mutations associated with early-onset inherited AD [11, 33, 105, 137, 142-144]. Analysis of the predicted amino acid sequence of Par-4 indicates that it contains a leucine zipper domain in its C-terminus (within the death domain), indicating that Par-4 may dimerize with itself or other proteins [124-126]. The cell death-enhancing action of Par-4 may involve proteinprotein interactions via its leucine zipper domain (Leu.zip) [11, 33, 105, 137, 142–144]. PC12 cell lines stably overexpressing the leucine zipper domain of Par-4, which acts in a dominant negative manner, were resistant to apoptosis induced by trophic factor withdrawal. Overexpression of a deletion mutant of Par-4 lacking the leucine zipper domain does not enhance apoptosis. Additionally, blockade of Par-4 function by par-4 antisense treatment or overexpression of Leu.zip of Par-4 significantly decreases neuronal apoptosis induced by AB or overexpression of Alzheimer's mutant presenilin-1 (PS1) proteins [11, 33, 105, 137, 142–144].

2.2 Par-4 Participates in Neuronal Cell death in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease Expressing a Mutant Form of Presenilin-1: Generation and Characterization of PS-1 M146V Mutant Knock-in Mice

Several animal models have been established to study the pathogenic mechanisms of AD. An ideal AD models requires: (1) behavioral deficit, (2) neuronal and synaptic loss, (3) extracellular amyloid plaques, (4) intracellular neurofibrillary tangles. The APP mutant mice (Tg2576 mice expressing Swedish double mutations) and human A β 42 transgenic mice showed behavioral deficit and extracellular amyloid plaques, without intracellular neurofibrillary tangles [145–148]. In contrast, mutant Tau (P301L) mice showed behavioral deficit, neuronal and synaptic loss, and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles, without extensive amyloid plaques [145–148].

Mutations in the presenilin-1 gene, located on chromosome 14, account for many cases of familial Alzheimer's disease. We generated PS1 mutant "knock-in" mice in which an exon encoding an AD-linked PS1 M146V mutation was exchanged for the homologous exon in the mouse PS1 gene, resulting in mice that produce (in the homozygous state) only mutant PS1 and no wild-type PS1 (Fig. 2). The pathogenic PS-1 M146V mutation was introduced and the only amino acid polymorphism (between mouse and human PS1) in exon 5 of the murine PS1 gene was "humanized" by introduction of the I145V substitution [120].

In mutant presenilin-1 M146V knock-in (PS1M146VKI) mice, Par-4 expression was enhanced, resulting in increased vulnerability of neurons to apoptosis and increased production of Aβ 1–42 [36, 120, 144, 149]. The mechanism whereby presenilin-1 mutations endanger neurons appears to involve disturbances in calcium regulation in the endoplasmic reticulum which lead to enhanced calcium release when neurons are subjected to various insults [35, 36, 150-153]. The apoptosis-enhancing action of presenilin-1 mutations was significantly inhibited when Par-4 activity is knocked down, indicating that Par-4 participates in the pathogenic mechanism of the presenilin mutations [11, 144, 152, 154]. These data suggest that induction of Par-4 plays a critical role in the abnormal processing of APP and neuronal cell death induced by the Alzheimer's PS-1 mutation (Figs. 3 and 4). Par-4 may exert its cell death-promoting action in the early stages of cell death prior to caspase activation and mitochondrial alterations [11, 144, 152, 154].

2.3 Par-4 Increases Secretion of Aβ 1–42 through a Caspase-Dependent Pathway

In IMR-32 cells, overexpression of Par-4 drastically increased A $\beta_{1-42}/A\beta_{total}$ ratio in the conditioned media about 6-8 h following trophic factor withdrawal [11, 33, 34]. Consistent with a dominant negative mode of action of Leu. zip involving protein-protein interactions, cooverexpression of Leu.zip abolished the adverse effect of Par-4 on A β secretion, indicating that actions of Par-4 in A β secretion require its interaction with other protein(s) via the leucine zipper domain. Overexpression of Par-4 drastically increases vulnerability of IMR-32 cells to apoptosis following trophic factor withdrawal. Trophic factor withdrawal-induced caspase-3 activation was exacerbated in cells overexpressing Par-4, and Leu.zip suppressed caspase activation induced by Par-4, indicating an important role for Par-4 in IMR-32 cells in the early period of the apoptotic cascades before caspase activation. Par-4 induced an increase in secretion of AB 1-42 after trophic factor withdrawal was significantly attenuated by the broad-spectrum caspase inhibitor BD-fmk (Fig. 5). These results suggest that Par-4 may increase secretion of A β 1–42 through a caspase-dependent pathway [11, 33, 34].



Fig. 2 Generation of PS1M146VKI mice. (a) Strategy used to target the M146V FAD mutation to the third coding exon (exon 5) of the murine PS1 gene. The PS1 genomic sequences incorporated into the targeting vector are delimited by the vertical dashed lines. The *neo* selection cassette (flanked by loxP sites) was inserted into an *FseI* restriction site positioned 375 bp 5' of exon 5. The 5' probe was used to screen embryonic stem cell lines for the *Hind*III and *BgI*I restriction enzyme polymorphisms introduced by the insertion of the *neo* selection cassette. Bg, *BgI*I; H, *Hind*III; Hp, *HpaI*; B, *Bst*EII. (b) Genotypes of F2 pups generated by intercrossing PS1M146V (+/–) mice derived from embryonic stem cell line 106 (lanes 1–3) or 179 (lanes 4–6). Right margin, sizes are indicated in bp. A 530-bp fragment (containing exon 5) was amplified by PCR and the *Bst*EII polymorphism was demonstrated by the cleavage of the PCR product into two diagnostic bands of 350

2.4 Par-4 Inhibits Secretion of sAPPα Induced by Protein Kinase C Activator PMA

sAPP α has been shown to possess neuroprotective properties [11, 33, 34]. Receptor-coupled protein kinase C (PKC)-dependent mechanisms have been shown to regulate the α -secretase pathway. Indeed, activation of PKC has been shown to favor α -secretase cleavage [155, 156]. For exam-

and 180 bp. (c, d) Expression from the targeted PS1M146V allele. (c) Total brain RNA isolated from the mice in *b* was used to amplify the DNA sequences encoding amino acids 1–298 of PS1 (encoded by exons 3–8). After RT–PCR, the samples were digested with *Bst*EII and separated on a 1.5% TBE gel. The uncut, 868-bp product represents mRNA expressed from the wild-type allele and the digested, 426/442-bp products represent mRNA expressed from the targeted PS1M146V allele. (d) Total brain protein was also isolated and separated by SDS-PAGE (100 mg protein/lane). After transfer of the protein, the membrane was probed with PS1 antibody. (e) Confocal laser-scanning microscope images of cultured hippocampal neurons from wild-type (left) and PS1M146VKI (right) mice, immunostained with PS1 antibody

ple, treatment of cells with the PKC activator 12-myristate 13-acetate phorbol dibutyrate (PMA) increases secretion of sAPP α , suggesting that stimulation of α -secretase cleavage may be a useful intervention against neuronal cell death in AD [155, 156]. Since Par-4 has been shown to be able to bind to several isoforms of PKC and inhibit their enzyme activity [157], it is possible that Par-4 might also be involved in regulation of secretion of sAPP α . To examine this possibility, transfected IMR-32 cells overexpressing Par-4 and vector-transfected control cells were metabolic labeled with



Fig. 3 Aberrant induction of Par-4 is essential for neuronal apoptosis induced by PS-1 M146V mutation following glucose deprivation. Cultures of hippocampal neurons from wild-type (WT PS-1) and PS-1 M146V KI mice were pretreated for 2 h with either par-4 antisense (AS par-4; 25μ M), nonsense DNA (NS par-4; 25μ M), or no DNA (Control). Cultures were then deprived of glucose for the indicated time periods. Cells with apoptotic nuclei (showing nuclear chromatin condensation and fragmentation) were stained with the fluorescent DNA-binding dye

propidium iodide and counted under a confocal laser-scanning microscope. Values are the mean and SE of determinations made in six separate cultures. At least 200 cells per culture were counted. ***P < 0.001compared with corresponding values in control WT PS-1, NS par-4 WT PS-1, AS par-4 M146V KI, and AS par-4 WT PS-1 groups. ###P < 0.001compared with corresponding values in control WT PS-1 and NS par-4 WT PS-1 groups. ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests

[35S] methionine for 1 h followed by a chase in the presence of absence PMA. As shown in Fig. 6, the monoclonal antibody that recognizes the N-terminus of human APP immunoprecipitated two bands (one strong band and one weak band) of sAPPs. These two proteins are both sAPP α since they also immunoprecipitated with the monoclonal antibody 6E10 (anti-A β 1–17), but not with the monoclonal antibody 4G8 (anti-A β 17–24). One hour following PMA treatment, secretion of sAPP α in vector-transfected cells was increased by 2.9-fold compared with control cells not treated with PMA. Overexpression of Par-4 largely blocked the PMAinduced secretion of sAPP α . These results demonstrate that Par-4 participates in regulation of secretion of sAPP α .

2.5 Disruption of Intracellular Calcium Homeostasis Contributes to the Aberrant APP Processing Induced by Par-4

While an optimal increase in intracellular calcium levels [Ca2+]c can play a key role in the normal regulation of APP processing, abnormal and sustained elevation of [Ca2+]c

may result in aberrant APP processing in favor of increased production of A β and/or decreased secretion of sAPP [158– 161]. We have found a significant correlation between disruption of intracellular calcium homeostasis and the pathological roles of Par-4 [105]. For example, a sustained increase in intracellular calcium levels has been shown to induce aberrant Par-4 expression in neuronal cells. Indeed, overexpression of Par-4 also results in an enhanced cellular calcium response to apoptotic insults. It was reported that, in a dose-dependent manner, glutamate might induce apoptosis (DNA fragmentation) in IMR-32 cells. Cell death induced by glutamate in IMR-32 cells is associated with an increase in intracellular calcium levels. We found that overexpression of Par-4 sharply increases the calcium response to glutamate, indicating disruption of calcium homeostasis may contribute to the adverse effect of Par-4 (Fig. 7).

An aberrant increase in intracellular calcium levels has been reported to contribute to trophic factor withdrawalinduced apoptosis in several types of neural cells. Overexpression calbindin D28K buffers intracellular free calcium and blocks aberrant elevations in [Ca2+]c in PC12 cells expressing mutant forms of presenilin-1 [110, 162]. To confirm that perturbed calcium homeostasis induced by



Fig. 4 Induction of Par-4 expression is required for caspase activation in hippocampal neurons expressing PS-1 m146V mutation following glucose deprivation (GD). Cultures of hippocampal neurons from wildtype (WT PS-1) and PS-1 M146V KI mice were pretreated for 2 h with either par-4 antisense (AS par-4; 25 μ M), nonsense DNA (NS par-4; 25 μ M), or no DNA (Control). Cultures were then deprived of glucose

Par-4 is involved in aberrant APP processing, we generated additional IMR-32 cell lines that co-overexpress Par-4 and the calcium binding protein calbindin D28K using similar protocols described in our previous studies [110]. As shown in Fig. 8, inhibiting aberrant calcium response by overexpressing calbindin D28K significantly reduced secretion of A β 1-42 induced by Par-4 following trophic factor withdrawal.

2.6 Generation and Characterization of Mice Transgenic for Par-4: Par-4 Increases Production of Aβ 1-42 in Hippocampal Neurons In Vivo

To further study the role of Par-4 in neurodegeneration in vivo, we have generated and characterized Par-4 transgenic mice in which the expression of the par-4 transgene was limited to cells of neuronal lineage by neuron-specific enolase (NSE) promoter [163]. Mice transgenic for Par-4 specifically in neurons have not shown any signs of an overt abnormal phenotype, indicating that neuron-specific expression of Par-4 does not impair the normal development. However, when mice transgenic for Par-4 were crossed with those transgenic for mutant human APPswe, significantly

for 12 h. Levels of cellular DEVD fluorescence, a measure of caspase-3 activity, were quantified. Values are the mean and SE of determinations made in six separate cultures. At least 80 cells were analyzed per culture. ***P < 0.001 compared with corresponding values in the control groups. ###P < 0.001 compared with corresponding values in GD groups. ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests

increased production of A β 1-42 was observed in hippocampal neurons (Fig. 9 and Table 1).

2.7 Par-4 Interacts with AICD and Alters AICD-Mediated Transcriptional Activity and Neurodegeneration in AD

The intramembrane gamma-secretase cleavage of β -amyloid precursor protein (APP) generates two major forms of amyloid β -peptide that are 40 and 42 amino acids in length [11, 13, 23, 24, 34, 40, 99–111]. Emerging evidence suggests that APP might also be a signaling molecule [12–29]. The cleavage of APP in its intramembranous domain by gammasecretase generates, in addition to $A\beta$, a free intracellular carboxyl-terminal fragment (CTF), often referred to as APP intracellular domain (AICD) [53-69, 164]. Two major forms of AICD have been reported under normal conditions: CTFy59 (which represents a major C-terminal product of γ -secretase cleavage in APP) and CTF γ 57 (which represent a minor product of γ -cleavage) [164, 165]. Alternatively, it has been shown that a shorter 50 amino acid C-terminal fragment of APP (CTFy50) could be generated from a second transmembrane cleavage site in APP that is distal to the γ -secretase sites [56, 68, 164]. AICD may function as a tran-



Fig. 5 Par-4 significantly increases secretion of A β 1-42 from transfected IMR-32 cells following trophic factor withdrawal: blockade by co-overexpression of Leu.zip. Cultures of the indicated clones of transfected IMR-32 cells were deprived of trophic support for the indicated time periods, and values of A $\beta_{1.42}$ /A β_{total} ratio in the conditioned culture media of transfected IMR-32 cells were measured by sandwich ELISAs. Note that values of A $\beta_{1.42}$ /A β_{total} ratio in untransfected and vector-transfected control cells and in cells overexpressing Leu.zip remained statistically unchanged following trophic factor withdrawal. However, overexpression of Par-4 drastically increased A $\beta_{1.42}$ /A β_{total} ratio in the



Fig. 6 Par-4 inhibits secretion of sAPP α from transfected IMR-32 cells. IMR-32 cells transfected with vector alone or full-length Par-4 were pulse-labeled for 1 h ad chased with (PMA) or without PMA (control) for 1 h. Secreted APP α was then precipitated from medium, resolved on 7.5% Tris-glycine gels, and quantitated using a Phosphor Imager. Note that the monoclonal antibody that recognizes the N-terminus of human APP immunoprecipitated two bands of sAPPs. These two proteins are both sAPP α since they also immunoprecipitated with the monoclonal antibody 6E10 (anti-A β 1-17), but not with the monoclonal antibody 4G8 (anti-A β 17-24). PMA significantly increases the release of sAPP α . This effect of PMA was effectively blocked by overexpression of Par-4

conditioned media. This effect of Par-4 was not observed until approximately 6 h following trophic factor withdrawal. Co-overexpression of Leu.zip completely abolished the adverse effect of Par-4 on Aβ secretion. Values are the mean and SE. of determinations made in six separate cultures. ****P* < 0.001 compared with corresponding values of Aβ₁₋₄₂/Aβ_{total} ratio in untransfected, vector transfected, Leu.zip, and Par4+Leu.zip cell groups. Similar data were obtained from cell lines Par-4 C6 and C3, Leu.zip C10, and Par4+Leu.zip C1 and C12. ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests

scriptional activator by interacting with the phosphotyrosinebinding (PTB) domain of the adaptor protein Fe65 and the histone acetyltransferase Tip60 [54, 166, 167]. The transcriptional activity of AICD in the nucleus was further supported by the observations that CTF γ 59 represses retinoic acid-responsive gene expression and causes disappearance of PAT1, a protein that interacts with AICD, from the nucleus [75]. Of importance, ectopic expression of CTF γ 58 in H4 human neuroglioma cells leads to apoptosis that was dependent on the interaction of CTF γ 58 with Tip60 and nuclear translocation [82]. These results indicate that AICD may be responsible for contributing to signal transduction pathways that predispose to transcription-dependent neuronal cell death in Alzheimer's disease.

Par-4 is found in both cytoplasm and in the nucleus. Structure-function analysis indicated that apoptosis induced by Par-4 is dependent on Par-4 translocation to the nucleus via a bipartite nuclear localization sequence (NLS2) [168]. Thus, both AICD and Par-4 may induce cell death that was



Fig. 7 Overexpression of Par-4 induces aberrant cellular calcium response to glutamate. Vector-transfected control IMR-32 cells and those transfected with Par-4 were exposed 100μ M of glutamate and intracellular calcium levels [Ca2+]c was monitored by fura-2 ratio imaging before and after the application of glutamate. Each line repre-

sents the mean [Ca2+]c in at least 30 neurons. Note that, following glutamate treatment, IMR-32 cells overexpressing Par-4 showed an early and enhanced increase in intracellular calcium levels compared with vector-transfected control cells levels



Fig. 8 Calbindin D28K counteracts the adverse effect of Par-4 on secretion of A β 1–42. Cultures of the indicated clones of transfected IMR-32 cells were deprived of trophic support for 8 h. Values of A $\beta_{1.42}$ / A β_{total} ratio in the conditioned culture media of transfected IMR-32 cells were measured by sandwich ELISAs. Values are the mean and SE of determinations made in six separate cultures. ****P* < 0.001 com-

pared with corresponding values of $A\beta_{1.42}/A\beta_{total}$ ratio in untransfected and vector-transfected cells. ###P < 0.001 compared with the value of $A\beta_{1.42}/A\beta_{total}$ ratio in cells transfected with Par-4 only. Similar data were obtained from at least two clones from each of the transfected cell lines. ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests

dependent on nuclear translocation. Of importance, we have found that Par-4 specifically interacts ACID. In pull-down assays, Par-4 protein was pulled down by an APP C-terminal fragment peptide (AVTPEERHLSKMOONGYENP-TYKFF) corresponding to the amino acid sequence of CTFy28-52 immobilized on gel beads. Additional coimmunoprecipitation experiments showed that CTFy57 binds to C-terminal region (amino acids 181-342) of Par-4. Co-expression of Par-4 significantly exacerbated apoptosis induced by CTF_y57. In addition, RNAi-mediated silencing of Par-4 expression protects against apoptotic cell death induced by CTFy57. These results suggest that Par-4 may be involved in regulation of AICD activity, possibly by altering nuclear translocation of AICD and/or AICD-dependent proapoptotic transcriptional transactivation.

AICD, Fe65, and Tip60 have been reportedly to form a transcriptionally active complex in transiently transfected cells [54, 166, 167]. KAI1 is a specific in vivo gene target of this APP-dependent transcription complex. KAI1 is a tetraspanin, a cell surface molecule acting as a tumor metastasis suppressor that functions in cell adhesion and is capable of interacting with many plasma membrane receptors. In mice transgenic for hAPP, specific binding of AICD/Fe65/Tip60 on the KAI1 promoter was observed. Levels of both KAI1 protein and mRNA expression were found to be significantly increased in mice transgenic for APP [169]. In transfected neural IMR-32 cells, AICD induces KAI1 expression, which is potentiated by co-expression of Par-4 (Figs. 10–12).

Small interference RNA (siRNA) cocktail targeted against Par-4 was generated, and efficiently transferred to primary neurons and cell lines [142]. Suppression of Par-4 by RNAi protects against apoptotic cell death induced by CTF γ 57 (Figs. 13 and 14).

2.8 Par-4 Increases BACE1 Cleavage of APP: Effects of RNAi-Mediated Par-4 Gene Silencing

We have found that Par-4 significantly increases BACE1 cleavage of APP and increases neuronal cell death by increasing A β 42 production [33, 34]. Specific siRNAs used to target endogenous Par-4 mRNA were described previously [33, 142]. For analysis of apoptotic cell death, medium was removed and replaced with Locke's solution without glucose. Par-4 increases β -secretase cleavage of APP (as measured by generation of the β -secretase cleavage products C99/C89 as well as A β_{40} and A β_{42}). RNAi-mediated par-4 gene silencing effectively blocked this adverse effect of Par-4 (Figs. 15 and 16, Table 2).

3 AATF Is a Par-4 Interacting Protein that Functions as an Endogenous Negative Regulator of Par-4 Activity in Neurodegeneration

3.1 Specific Interaction between AATF and Par-4

Because Par-4 plays an important role in aberrant APP processing and signaling of cell death in neurodegeneration, identification of one or more *endogenous* factors that regulate Par-4 activity should have significant therapeutic implications for pharmacological modulation of APP processing and signaling of neuronal death in AD. We have found that AATF (apoptosis antagonizing transcription factor), another leucine zipper domain containing protein, is an endogenous interaction partner and potent inhibitor of Par-4 activity [34, 171–175].

AATF was initially identified as an interaction partner of DAP-like kinase (Dlk), a member of the DAP (Death-Associated Protein) kinase family of pro-apoptotic serine/ threonine kinases [171, 173]. Human AATF gene was mapped to chromosome 17q11.2-q12 and encodes a protein that has an open reading frame of 560 amino acids that contain a leucine zipper domain, nuclear localization signals, and potential phosphorylation sites for different kinases. We found that AATF was a novel and potent cytoprotective factor against neuronal cell death. In fact, AATF modulates both apoptotic and necroptotic neuronal cell deaths.

AATF and Par-4 are both localized in the nucleus and cytosol in IMR-32 cells and primary neurons. Importantly, immunoprecipitation/Western blotting analyses showed that Par-4 and APP form a complex in vivo in transfected neural cells. Indeed, AATF and Par-4 interact with each other via the leucine zipper domain, as shown in Fig. 17. A peptide corresponding to the leucine zipper of human AATF (-LKNSHKALKALLRSLVGLQEEL) was shown to bind specifically to Par-4. Co-transfection of AATF with Par-4 in neural cells counteracts the cell-promoting actions of Par-4 [34, 175–177].

3.2 AATF Interferes with Binding of Par-4 to AICD and Protects against Cell Death Induced by CTF₇57

Recent data from our laboratory further suggest that binding of AATF to Par-4 may interfere with Par-4/AICD interaction and thereby inhibit neuronal cell death signaling mediated by CTF γ 57. In other words, Par-4/AATF 725 bp PCR Product

(a)

EcoRI

(d)



20

0

Fig. 9 Generation and Characterization of mice transgenic for Par-4: Effect on Aβ production. (a) The NSE-par4 construct used to generate Par-4 transgenic mice. The pNSE-par4 transgenic construct was derived from pNSE-bcl2 by removal of a HindIII and Cla I fragment containing the coding sequence of the human bcl-2 gene, and in frame ligation of a 1.038-kb HindIII/ClaI PCR fragment containing the coding sequence of the human par-4 gene. The pNSE-Par4 plasmid was then digested with EcoR I to recover the approximately 4.0 kb NSEpar4 fragment that contains NSE promoter, par-4 cDNA, pA, and SV40 sequence. The purified NSE-par4 construct was then used for microinjection into zygotes from inbred strain FVB/N. The Oklahoma Medical Research Foundation (OMRF) Microinjection Core has its own FVB/N breeding colony to generate females for zygote donation. Females are superovulated and mated; zygotes are harvested and fertilized zygotes are injected. Injected zygotes which develop further to the two-cell stage are reimplanted into the oviduct of pseudo-pregnant Swiss-Webster recipient females. All resulting pups are subject to characterization for transgenic founder animals and further analysis. pA, simian virus 40 (SV40) polyadenylylation; par-4, coding region of human par-4 cDNA; SV40, SV40 sequence used to genotype the transgenic mice. (b) Integration of the transgene was detected by dot hybridization of DNA obtained from tail biopsies to the 750-bp EcoRI/BamHI simian virus 40 fragment from pNSE-CAT as a probe. Three representative transgenic mouse lines (denoted as 128, 162, and 172) are shown. WT indicates DNA samples from a nontransgenic wild-type control mouse. (c) Representative Western blotting analysis showing high levels of expression of human Par-4 protein in hippocampal neurons from transgenic mice using a specific polyclonal antibody against human Par-4. Primary cultures of hippocampal neurons were established and Western blot analyses were performed in 7-day-old cultures using an antibody that specifically recognizes a 19 amino acid peptide (SAMLTRAPPARGPPRSED_COOH) corresponding to amino acids 95-112 of human Par-4. Note that high levels of transgenic Par-4 (hPar-4) protein were detected in neurons from Par-4 transgenic mice (lanes 2-4), while little Par-4 was observed in wild-type mice (lane 1). Lane 5 shows high levels of Par-4 from a PC12 cell line stably transfected with pCMV-hPar4 that encodes a full-length human Par-4 cDNA. Little or no NSE-par4 transgene expression in mice was found in other tissues, including liver, lung, kidney, intestine, or thymus (data not shown). (d) Genotyping of Par-4 transgenic mice using a PCR-based protocol. We have developed a quick PCR-based assay of the DNA from tail biopsies to amplify a 725-bp simian virus 40 fragment from pNSE-Par4 vector, which is detectable only in mice transgenic for Par-4 (lane 2), but not in wild-type mice (lane 1). The primers used for the PCR genotyping protocol were: SV40F: 5'-ccaggaagctcctctgtgtc-3', and SV40R: 5'-gacttaacctgtggaaatattttga-3'. (e) Par-4 increases production of $A\beta_{1-42}$ in hippocampal neurons. Mice transgenic for Par-4 (from line 172) were crossed with those transgenic for human APPswe, and cultures of hippocampal neurons were established from the Par4/APPswe double transgenic mice. Values of the $A\beta_{1-42}/A\beta_{total}$ ratio in the conditioned culture media were then measured by sandwich ELISAs. Hippocampal neurons from mice transgenic for human APPswe alone were used as controls. Note that expression of Par-4 significantly increased the $A\beta_1$. $_{42}/A\beta_{total}$ ratio in the conditioned media. Values are the mean and SE of determinations made in six separate experiments. ***P < 0.01 compared with the value of the $A\beta_{1\text{-}42}\!/A\beta_{\text{total}}$ ratio in mice expressing APPswe alone. ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests

Par4+APP

APP

Table 1 Par-4 increases production of $A\beta_{40}$ and $A\beta_{42}$ in hippocampal neurons from mice transgenic for APPswe

Transgenic mice	$A\beta_{40}$ (fmol/ml)	$A\beta_{42}$ (fmol/ml)	Average A β_{42} /A β_{total} ratio (%)
APPswe	108.7 ± 12.1	32.6 ± 3.3	23.2
Par4 + APPswe	$169.1 \pm 13.7^{***}$	$106.3 \pm 8.9^{***}$	38.6

Mice transgenic for Par-4 were crossed with those transgenic for human APPswe, and cultures of hippocampal neurons were established from the Par4/APPswe double transgenic mice. Values of the $A\beta_{40}$ and $A\beta_{42}$ in the conditioned culture media were then measured by sandwich ELISAs. Hippocampal neurons from mice transgenic for human APPswe alone were used as controls. Co-expression of Par-4 in these mice significantly increased levels of both $A\beta_{40}$ and $A\beta_{42}$ in the conditioned media. Due to expression of the APPswe mutations, the increase in neuronal $A\beta_{42}$ was more pronounced than that in $A\beta_{40}$ (which led to an increase in $A\beta_{42}/A\beta_{total}$ ratio) in Par4/APPswe double transgenic mice. Values are the mean and SE of determinations made in six separate experiments

***P < 0.01 compared with corresponding values in mice expressing APPswe alone. ANOVA with Scheffe's *post-hoc* tests



Fig. 10 Par-4 forms a complex with $CTF\gamma 57$ and promotes the apoptotic activity of CTFy57. (a) Par-4 exacerbates apoptosis induced by CTFy57 in IMR-32 cells. IMR-32 cells were transfected with pEGFP-CTF₇₅₇ (CTF_{57-GFP}) or pREP4-Par4 using the Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent. Parallel cultures were co-transfected with pEGFP-CTF₇₅₇ (CTF_{57-GFP}) and pREP4-Par4 (Par4+CTF_{57-GFP}). Cells transfected with vector pEGFP-N1 (EGFP) were used as a control. 48 h following transfection, cells were stained with DNA-binding dye Hoescht 33,342, and the percentage of transfected cells in each culture with apoptotic nuclei (condensed and fragmented DNA) was determined. Note that co-expression of Par-4 significantly increased apoptosis induced by CTFy57. Values are the mean and SEM of determinations made in at least three cultures. ***P < 0.01 compared with the value in EGFP group. ****P < 0.001 compared with values in other groups (ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests). (b) Par-4 is associated with CTFy57 in transfected IMR-32 cells in vivo. IMR-32 cells were transfected with pEGFP-CTFy57 (CTF57-GFP) or pREP4-Par4 using the Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent. 24 h following the transfection, cells were lysed and precipitated with the antibody against the carboxyl-terminal 20 amino acid residues of APP770 (anti-APP-CT20), followed by Western blotting with Par-4 antibody. Input lane shows 10% of the total protein used in immunoprecipitation experiments. The

pre-immune serum was used as a control. (c) Reverse order of immunoprecipitation/Western blot analysis of the same transfected cells showed similar Par-4/CTFy57 complex formation (middle lane). Input lane shows 10% of the total protein used in immunoprecipitation experiments. The anti-APP-CT20 antibody recognized predominantly a band of CTF₇57-GFP fusion protein at about 33 kDa. (d) Physiological relevant interaction between endogenous Par-4 and AICD in primary neurons. Primary hippocampal neuronal cultures were established from newborn wild-type mouse pups, and interaction between Par-4 and AICD was analyzed in 7-day-old cultures when levels of endogenous AICD accumulated to its highest amounts during differentiation [170]. Cells were lysed and precipitated with the anti-APP-CT20 antibody, followed by Western blotting with Par-4 antibody. Input lane shows 10% of the total protein used in immunoprecipitation experiments. The pre-immune serum was used as a control. (e) Reverse order of immunoprecipitation/Western blot analysis of the same non-transfected hippocampal neurons showed similar endogenous Par-4/AICD complex formation. The anti-APP-CT20 antibody recognized predominantly a band of AICD at about 6 kDa. The specificity of Par-4/AICD interaction was confirmed by the observation that Par-4 or AICD failed to interact with c-Jun in similar experimental conditions





Fig. 11 AICD induces KAI1 expression in IMR-32 cells: potentiation by Par-4. (a) *Representative Northern blot analysis showing increased KAI1 gene expression in cells transfected with CTFγ57 and Par-4 in IMR-32 cells.* IMR-32 cells were transfected with pEGFP-CTFγ57 (CTFγ57) alone, or co-transfected with pEGFP-CTFγ57 and pREP4-Par4 (Par4+CTFγ57). Cells transfected with vector pEGFP-N1 (EGFP) were used as a control. 48 h following transfection, total RNA was prepared, and subject to Northern blot analysis using an RT-PCR amplified ³²P labeled 268 bp DNA fragment from human KAI1 ORF. (PCR prim-

ers used were: forward: ct taggatgggggcctatgt reverse: ttcatgagctcagcgttgtc). Increased KAI1 gene expression was clearly observed in cells transfected with CTF γ 57. The increase in KAI1 gene expression was further exacerbated by co-expression of Par-4. (b) *Statistical analysis of the Northern blotting data showing effect of AICD and Par-4 on KAI1 gene expression*. Values are the mean and SE (bars) of determinations made in at least six separate experiments. ***P < 0.01 and ****P < 0.001, respectively, compared to values in untransfected and vector-transfected control groups. ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests





Fig. 12 Mapping of interaction domains in AICD and Par-4. (a) Interaction between Par-4 and AICD: Par-4 binds to an APP C-terminal fragment peptide derived from $CTF\gamma 28-52$ in vitro. The figure shows SDS-PAGE electrophoresis pattern of the pull-down of Par-4 protein by an APP C-terminal fragment peptide (AVTPEERHLSKMQQNGYENPTYKFF) corresponding to the amino acid sequence of CTFy28-52 immobilized on gel beads (see methods). The CTFy28-52 peptide (with an added cysteine residue at the C-terminal end to allow binding to the iodoacetyl groups in Sulfolink Coupling Gel) was covalently linked to Sulfolink Coupling Gel (Pierce). Full-length Par-4 was expressed in IMR-32 cells. The cell lysates were incubated with the gel-linked CTFy28-52 peptide, and the washed gel samples were then subjected to SDS-PAGE and Western blotting for Par-4. Cysteine-blocked gel was used as negative control. (b) $CTF\gamma 57$

binds to C-terminal region (amino acids 181-342) of Par-4. IMR-32 cells were co-transfected with pEGFP-CTF γ 57 (CTF57-GFP) and pREP4-Par4 or pREP4- Par-4deltaCTHF (a carboxyl terminus half deletion mutant of Par-4 that lacks nucleotides 541 through 1267 in Par-4 cDNA) using the Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent. 24 h following the transfection, cells were lysed and precipitated with the anti-APP-CT20 antibody, followed by Western blotting with Par-4 antibody. Input lane shows 10% of the total protein used in immunoprecipitation experiments. The pre-immune serum was used as a control. Note that CTF γ 57 interacted only with the full-length Par-4 but not Par-4 lacking the C-terminal region of the nucleotides 541 through 1267, indicating that the C-terminal domain of Par-4 (amino acids 181–342 of Par-4) is involved in interacting with CTF γ 57. Reverse order of immunoprecipitation/Western blot analysis showed similar Par-4/CTF γ 57 complex formation (data not shown)



Fig. 13 Knockdown of Par-4 expression by small interference RNA (siRNA) cocktail in primary neurons. (a) Representative microscopic image showing efficient transfection of fluorescently labeled anti-Par4 siRNAs into primary spinal motor neurons. siRNAs against Par-4 were fluorescently labeled with Cy3 using Ambion's Silencer[™] siRNA labeling kit. Labeled siRNAs in transfected cells were then analyzed by fluorescence microscopy. Note that, in this field, strong fluorescent siRNA (red, arrows) signals were observed in the cytoplasmic perinuclear regions in over 80% of neurons, while less than 20% of the neurons (arrowhead) had weak or no siRNA fluorescence. An average of $78.6 \pm 6.2\%$ of siRNA transfection efficiency was obtained in six separate experiments. (b) siRNA cocktail targeted against Par-4, but not a non-silencing siRNA, inhibits Par-4 expression induced by glutamate in primary neurons. Primary spinal motor neurons from mice were either mock-transfected (control), or transfected with siRNAs against Par-4 at a concentration of 100 nM. A non-silencing siRNA (see specific aim 2 for details) was used as a negative control. 48 h after siRNA transfection, cells were treated with either vehicle (control) or 50µM of glutamate for 8 h. The cells were then processed for Par-4 immunoreactivity using fluorescent microscopy. Note that the induction of Par-4 expression was completely knockdown by siRNAs targeted against Par-4, but not by the non-silencing siRNA. (c) Quantitative analysis of Par-4 knockdown by siRNAs in spinal motor neurons as assessed by immunofluorescent microscopy. Par-4 immunoreactivity obtained with fluores-

interaction inhibits AICD-mediated apoptotic activity by interfering with the recruitment of AICD by Par-4. As shown in Fig. 8, the inhibitory effect of AATF on binding of Par-4 to AICD was analyzed by competition pull-down experiments using a peptide corresponding to the leucine zipper of human AATF (-LKNSHKALKA LLRSLVGLQEEL, which has been shown to bind to Par-4), and a peptide corresponding to CTF γ 28–57 (AVTPEERHLSKMQQNGYENPTYKFF, which has also been shown to bind to Par-4). For this procedure, CTF γ 28– cent microscopy was quantified using LSM 510 image analysis software. Values are the mean and SE (bars) of determinations made in at least six separate experiments. ###P < 0.001 compared with the value in control group. ***P < 0.001 compared with values in glutamate treated or glutamate plus non-silencing siRNA treated groups. (d) Expression of another protein (presenilin-1) was unaffected by siRNAs targeted against Par-4. Primary spinal motor neurons from wild-type mice were either mock-transfected (control) or transfected with siRNA cocktail targeted against Par-4. 48 h after transfection, cells were then processed for presenilin-1 (PS-1) immunoreactivity using fluorescent microscopy. (e) RNAi knockdown of Par-4 expression protects against staurosporine (STS)-induced apoptosis in primary neurons. Primary cultures of mouse motor neurons were either mock-transfected (control), or transfected with siRNAs against Par-4. A non-silencing (NS) siRNA was used as a negative control. 48 h after siRNA transfection. cells were treated with either vehicle (0.2 dimethyl sulfoxide, control) or 100 nM of STS for 24 hs. Cells were fixed and stained with DNAbinding dye Hoechst 33342, and the percentages of neurons in each culture exhibiting apoptotic nuclei was determined using fluorescent microscopy. ###P < 0.001 compared with the value in control group. ***P < 0.01 compared with the values in STS alone and non-silencing siRNA+STS treated groups. Data are mean and SE (bars) values of determinations made in six separate cultures. ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests

57 (with an added cysteine residue at the C-terminal end to allow binding to the iodoacetyl groups in Sulfolink Coupling Gel) was covalently linked to Sulfolink Coupling Gel (Pierce). Cell lysates were prepared from IMR-32 cells transfected with Par-4 and mixed with human AATF leucine zipper peptide and incubated with gel bearing immobilized $CTF\gamma 28-57$ peptide in PBS. The gel beads were pelleted, and the proteins on the gel beads eluted by SDS sample buffer and subjected to SDS-PAGE electrophoresis (Fig. 18).



Fig. 14 Suppression of Par-4 by RNAi protects against apoptotic cell death induced by CTF γ 57. (a) *Transfection of CTF\gamma57 increases levels of Par-4 in IMR-32 cells: effect if Par-4 siRNAs.* IMR-32 cells were transfected with pEGFP-CTF γ 57, or co-transfected with pEGFP-CTF γ 57 and siRNA cocktail targeted against Par-4 using the Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent. Cells transfected with vector pEGFP-N1 (EGFP) were used as a control. 48 h following transfection, cells were lysed and levels of Par-4 were analyzed by Western blotting. Note that overexpression of CTF γ 57 resulted in a significant increase in expression of Par-4, which was significantly inhibited by Par-4 siRNAs. Values are the mean and SEM of determinations made in six separate experiments. ****P* < 0.01 compared with values in untransfected and vector-transfected control groups. ###*P* < 0.01 compared with the value



Fig. 15 Par-4 increases β -secretase cleavage of APP. Representative Western blot analysis of a rabbit polyclonal antibody raised against a 22 amino acid synthetic peptide derived from the C-terminus of the human APP. The data illustrate the increased levels of β -secretase cleavage product CTF99/CTF89 in IMR-32 cells transfected with Par-4. The bottom band represents the C-terminal α -secretase cleavage product CTF83, which was not significantly altered by Par-4

4 Neuroprotective Actions of Extracellularly Secreted AATF (sAATF) and SAP-12



in cells transfected with pEGFP-CTF γ 57 alone. (b) *Silencing of Par-4 expression by RNAi significantly inhibited apoptosis induced by CTF\gamma57*. IMR-32 cells were transfected with pEGFP-CTF γ 57, or cotransfected with pEGFP-CTF γ 57 and siRNA cocktail targeted against Par-4 using the Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent. Cells transfected with vector pEGFP-N1 (EGFP) were used as a control. 48 h following transfection, cells were stained with DNA-binding dye Hoescht 33,342, and the percentage of transfected cells in each culture with apoptotic nuclei (condensed and fragmented DNA) was determined. Values are the mean and SEM of determinations made in six separate experiments. ***P < 0.01 compared with the value in untransfected and vector-transfected control groups. ****P < 0.001 compared with the value in cells transfected with CTF γ 57-GFP. (ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests)

4.1 AATF Is Secreted Extracellularly

AATF lacks a classical N-terminal signal peptide and is typically located intracellularly in cytoplasmic and/or nuclear compartments [34, 173, 175, 177]. However, we unexpectedly noted that an unusual amount of intracellular AATF protein was secreted extracellularly by cortical neurons following acute exposure to ischemic insults in vitro and in vivo. As shown in Fig. 19, both endogenous and transduced AATF were secreted extracellularly by cortical neurons. Secretion of AATF was neither dependent on the GFP-tag nor on the death of the cells.

4.2 AATF Is Associated with Cell Surface Receptor TLR-4

Secreted AATF (sAATF) is highly protective against hypoxia-induced neuronal damage. In searching for cellular surface receptors of sAATF, we used antibodies against three potential candidate receptor proteins involved in cell death in initial screening: GRP78 (78-kDa glucose-regulated protein), TLR2 (Toll-like receptor 2), and TLR4 (Toll-like receptor 4). GRP78 was selected based on the fact that it is both an endoplasmic reticulum chaperone and a cell surface



Fig. 16 Par-4/BACE1 double transfection increases cellular susceptibility to apoptosis and increases BACE1 cleavage of APP: blockade by RNAi. (a) Cells double transfected with Par-4 and BACE1 showed significantly increased vulnerability to trophic factor withdrawalinduced apoptotic cell death compared with those transfected with Par-4 alone. Cultures of indicated types of transfected IMR-32 cells were deprived of trophic support for 24 h and percentage of cells with apoptotic nuclei was then quantified. Values are the mean and SE of determinations made in six separate cultures. ANOVA was performed with Scheffe's post-hoc tests. (b) Cells double transfected with Par-4 and BACE1 showed significantly increased basal apoptotic activity under normal culture conditions compared with those transfected with Par-4 alone. Cultures of indicated types of transfected IMR-32 cells were established by plating equal number of cells (about 2×10^5 cells per 35 mm glass bottom dish) at the same time in the same amount (1 ml) of growth medium. 48 h later, the percentage of cells with apoptotic nuclei (basal apoptotic activity under normal culture conditions) was quantified. Values are the mean and SE of determinations made in six separate cultures. ANOVA was performed with Scheffe's post-hoc

tests. (c) Early and exacerbated activation of caspase activity in cells double transfected with Par-4 and BACE1. Cultures of indicated types of transfected IMR-32 cells were deprived of trophic support for 2 h, and levels of cellular DEVD fluorescence, a measure of caspase-3 activity, were quantified. Values are the mean and SE of determinations made in six separate cultures. ANOVA was performed with Scheffe's post-hoc tests. (d) Specific and highly efficient knockdown of Par-4 by RNAi: siRNA cocktail targeted against Par-4, but not a non-silencing siRNA, inhibits Par-4 expression induced by glutamate in primary hippocampal neurons. Primary hippocampal mouse neurons were either mock-transfected (control), or transfected with siRNAs against Par-4 at a concentration of 100 nM. A non-silencing siRNA (see materials and methods) was used as a negative control. 48 h after siRNA transfection, cells were treated with either vehicle (control) or 50µM of glutamate for 8 h. The cells were then processed for Par-4 immunoreactivity using fluorescent microscopy. Induction of Par-4 expression was completely knocked down by siRNAs targeted against Par-4, but not by the non-silencing siRNA. For more quantitative analysis of the efficacy of the Par-4 RNAi approach, refer to our recent publication: Xie J. et al.

receptor for a wide variety of ligands [178]. TLR2 and TLR4 were selected based on their cell surface expression and their involvement in signaling of cell death [179]. Only TLR4 was found to be associated with AATF in neural cells. In addition, TLR4-mediated signaling of cell death was largely blocked by sAATF (Fig. 20). A variety of mammalian cell types express toll-like receptors (TLRs) which are transmembrane pattern-recognition receptors that are initially considered to be involved in rapid microbial recognition through detection of pathogen-associated molecular patterns [180]. TLRs may also be activated by host-derived endogenous molecules. Structurally, members of the TLR family share three domains: an extracellular domain with leucine-rich repeats, a transmembrane domain, and an intracellular Toll/IL-1R homologous region. The signaling pathways activated by TLRs are classified into myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88)-dependent and MyD88independent pathways [180]. Of importance, an increased activation of TLR4-mediated pathways has recently been implicated in neurodegeneration [181]. These findings open the possibility that sAATF represents a novel endogenous blocker of cell surface TLR4 receptors. TLR-4 contains the RHIM domain involved in formation of the non-classical necrosome in neuronal necroptosis (programmed necrosis). Necroptosis is a regulated inflammatory mode of cell death that contributes to the pathology of ischemic brain injury and stroke [182–191]. Typically, receptor-interacting protein kinase 3 (RIPK3) recruits and phosphorylates the executioner mixed lineage kinase domain-like protein (MLKL) to signal necroptosis. The assembly of pore-forming oligomers of phosphorylated MLKL (pMLKL) causes membrane rupture in necroptosis [192-200]. sAATF blocks TLR4mediated, RIPK3/MLKL-dependent necroptosis of cortical neurons. Thus, sAATF represents a novel endogenous blocker of cell surface TLR4 receptors (Figs. 20-22).

4.3 SAP-12 Confers Greater Neuroprotective Potency and Broader Effective Dose Range than the Full-Length AATF

A region corresponding to the amino acid sequence between AATF179 and AATF279 was found to be responsible for

interacting with TLR-4. Surprisingly, a small core peptide fromthisTRL-4bindingregionofAATF(SALKNSHKALKA), termed as SAP-12 (secreted AATF peptide of 12 amino acids), provided a much greater neuroprotective potency and broader effective dose range than the full-length sAATF. As shown in Fig. 21, although both SAP-12 and sAATF are highly neuroprotective against hypoxia-induced cell death, SAP-12 has an EC50 of 1.003 fM and confers much greater neuroprotective potency and broader effective dose range than the full-length AATF (AATF has an EC50 of 1.643 pM).

As shown in Fig. 22, confocal laser-scanning microscopy and a flow cytometry method were used to evaluate MLKL immunofluorescence and necroptotic cell death. Levels of MLKL-immunoreactivity and PI+/Annexin V+ necroptotic cells were significantly increased in neurons following ischemia-like insults, which was effectively blocked by SAP-12. Western blot analysis showed that levels of RIPK3 and MLKL, as well as phosphorylated MLKL (pMLKL) in the ipsilateral striatum were significantly increased in the ischemic striatum after MCAO, which was effectively blocked by intracerebroventricular injection of SAP-12 in vivo (Fig. 23). Taken together, SAP-12 provides a novel lead in peptide therapeutics for neuronal necroptosis in ischemic stroke, which may set the groundwork for producing new therapeutics in the future, including the optimization of the pharmacokinetic properties and target specificity of SAP-12.

4.4 Extracellular Release of sAATF Is Negatively Regulated by an Intracellular process Involving Binding of AATF by Par-4

We further examined the effect of Par-4 on sAATF in vivo using Par-4 homozygous (Par- $4^{-/-}$) and heterozygous (Par- $4^{-/-}$) null mice (C57BL6 background). Loss of function of Par-4 in these mice was achieved by deletion of exon 2 and the initiating ATG codon. Exon 2 was flanked by loxP sites, and constitutive KO allele was achieved after in vivo Cremediated recombination. These mice appear to be normal during embryonic development and they breed most efficiently at age of 2–6 months. PCR-based genotyping of the homozygous Par- $4^{-/-}$ mice was accomplished by identifying a 248 nt DNA fragment after employing a pair of specific

Fig. 16 (continued) J Neurochem 2005;92 (1):59–71. (e, f) RNAi-mediated silencing of Par-4 leads to a decrease in β -secretase cleavage of APP in primary neurons expressing APPwt or APPswe. (e) Representative Western blots showing depletion of Par-4 by RNAi reduces production of CTF99 in hippocampal neurons expressing APPwt or APPswe. (f) Densitometric analysis of Western blots of CTF99 in primary hippocampal neurons expressing APPwt or APPswe. (g) Suppression of Par-4 blocks apoptotic cell death induced by glucose deprivation in basal forebrain neurons. Cultures of control (mock-transfected) neurons and those transfected with Par-4 siRNAs were deprived of glucose for the indicated time periods. Cells with apoptotic nuclei (showing nuclear chromatin condensation and fragmentation) were stained with the fluorescent DNA-binding dye propidium iodide and counted under a confocal microscope. ***P < 0.001 compared with corresponding values in mock-transfected control cells. ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests

	Without BD-fmk			With BD-fmk		
Cell lines	$A\beta_{40}$ (fmol/ml)	$A\beta_{42}$ (fmol/ml)	Average $A\beta_{42}/A\beta_{\text{total}}$ ratio (%)	$A\beta_{40}$ (fmol/ml)	$A\beta_{42}$ (fmol/ml)	Average $A\beta_{42}/A\beta_{total}$ ratio (%)
Untransfected	119.2 ± 8.1	18.3 ± 1.2	13.3	116.2 ± 7.6	16.9 ± 1.3	12.7
Vector alone	115.1 ± 7.2	15.4 ± 0.7	11.8	117.6 ± 8.1	16.2 ± 0.9	12.1
Par-4	121.3 ± 9.7	19.1 ± 1.7	13.6	118.6 ± 6.3	16.9 ± 0.9	12.5
BACE1	163.6 ± 12.2	34.0 ± 2.5	17.2	161.0 ± 11.3	24.1 ± 2.2	13.0
BACE1 ± Par4	177.2 ± 13.7	64.2 ± 4.1	26.6	173.6 ± 11.6	$28.4 \pm 1.9^{***}$	14.1***

Table 2 Co-transfection of Par-4 with BACE1 increases levels of BOTH $A\beta_{40}$ and $A\beta_{42}$

Par-4 does not directly interact with major elements of y-secretase. Co-expression of BACE1 with Par-4 provided increased caspase activation and vulnerability to apoptosis, which may in turn response to enhanced caspase activation, rather than a direct effect of Par-4 on γ -secretase itself, because inhibition of caspase activation prevents the increase in the secretion of $A\beta_{4,2}$ in these cells activation by BD-fink largely prevented the Par4-induced increase in the secretion of $A\beta_{22}$ without significantly affecting levels of $A\beta_{30}$ in BACE1/Par-4 double transfected cells, which led to a significant reduction in $A\beta_{42}/A\beta_{60nal}$ ratio in these cells. Western blot analysis with using a mouse anti-APP antibody (Zymed Laboratories, Inc.) showed that total cellular levels of APP were not significantly altered by transfection of Par-4 (data not shown). Values are the mean and SE of determinations made in six separate cultures from at least three separate clones of transfected cell alter APP processing in favor of AB₃₂ production. Thus, the increase in AB₄₂/AB_{6mal} ratio observed under basal culture conditions in cells co-transfected with Par-4 and BACE1 was likely a secondary ^{**}*P* < 0.01 compared with corresponding values in BACE1+Par4 cells without BD-fink treatment. The amounts of A₃₄ and A₃₄ secreted by the indicated types of transfected cells (with or without pretreatment with 100 uM of the broad-spectrum caspase inhibitor BD-fink for 2 h) in the conditioned medium were measured by sandwich ELISAs. The data showed that inhibition of caspase lines. ANOVA was performed with Scheffe's post-hoc tests



Fig. 17 Specific interaction between AATF and Par-4 via the leucine zipper domain in transfected cells and in primary neurons. (a) Immunocytochemistry analysis showing colocalization of AATF and Par-4 in primary neurons. Representative confocal laser-scanning micrographs showing images of primary hippocampal neurons doublelabeled with AATF and Par-4 antibodies. (A) Green fluorescence, AATF immunoreactivity; (B) Red fluorescence, Par-4 immunoreactivity; (C) A merged image (anaglyph) of A and B. Note yellow fluorescent areas indicating sites of colocalization of AATF and Par-4 immunoreactivity in both cytoplasmic (arrow head) and nuclear compartments (arrow). (b, c) AATF/Par-4 complex formation in co-immunoprecipitation assays in transfected IMR-32 cells. (b) Transfected IMR-32 cells coexpressing human AATF and Par-4 were lysed and precipitated with the AATF antibody, followed by Western blotting with Par-4 antibody (lanes 3-4). Input lanes (lanes 1-2) show 10% of the total protein used in immunoprecipitation experiments. The pre-immune serum from rabbits immunized with AATF was used as a control (lanes 5-6). AATF/ Par-4 complex was clearly observed in two separate clones (C12 and C7) of transfected cells (lane 3-4). (c) Reverse order of immunoprecipitation/Western blot analysis of the same transfected cells showed similar AATF/Par-4 complex formation (lanes 3-4). Input lanes (lanes 1-2) show 10% of the total protein used in immunoprecipitation experiments. (d, e) Interaction between endogenous AATF and Par-4 in primary hippocampal neurons. (d) Cultures of primary hippocampal neurons were lysed and proteins from total lysates were immunoprecipitated with rabbit anti-AATF antibody (lane 2), followed by Western blotting with anti-Par4 antibody. The pre-immune serum from rabbits immunized with AATF was used as a control (lane 3). Input lane (lane 1) show 10% of the total protein used in immunoprecipitation experi-

ments. (e) Reverse order of immunoprecipitation/Western blot analysis of the same hippocampal neurons showed similar endogenous AATF/ Par-4 complex formation. The results indicate that AATF/Par-4 complex formation occurs without overexpression of the proteins and is therefore physiologically relevant. (f, g) Absence of interaction between c-Jun and AATF or Par-4. (f) Transfected IMR-32 cells coexpressing human AATF and Par-4 (clones C12 and C7) were lysed and proteins from total lysates were immunoprecipitated with rabbit anti-AATF antibody (lanes 3-4), followed by Western blotting with anti-c-Jun antibody. Input lanes (lanes 1-2) show 10% of the total protein used in immunoprecipitation experiments. Similar data were obtained in reverse order of immunoprecipitation/Western blot analysis of the same transfected cells (data not shown). (g) Transfected IMR-32 cells coexpressing human AATF and Par-4 (clones C12 and C7) were lysed and proteins from total lysates were immunoprecipitated with anti-Par-4 antibody (lane 3-4), followed by Western blotting with anti-c-Jun antibody. Input lanes (lanes 1-2) show 10% of the total protein used in immunoprecipitation experiments. Similar data were obtained in reverse order of immunoprecipitation/Western blot analysis of the same transfected cells (data not shown). Note that, that neither AATF nor Par-4 interacts with c-Jun, indicating AATF/Par-4 interaction was specific. (h, i) Mapping of the binding region of AATF and Par-4 to the leucine zipper domain by immunoprecipitation/ Western blotting analysis in transfected IMR-32 cells. (h) Representative immunoprecipitation/Western blot analysis showing AATF interacts with Par-4 via the leucine zipper domain of AATF. Double transfected IMR-32 cells used immunoprecipitation studies include: Par-4/AATFwt: cells cotransfected with full-length Par-4 and wild-type AATF; Par-4/AATF390: cells co-transfected with full-length Par-4 and the AATF deletion

primers (1639_28: GAGACTCCAGAACTTAGTTGC and 1640_30: CGTCTCGGAATGGAGG). Wild-type animals of the same genetic background were used as controls. As shown in Fig. 24, secretion of AATF and the neuroprotective actions of sAATF were significantly increased in primary cortical neurons of Par-4 null (Par-4^{-/-}) mice. Thus, binding of Par-4 to intracellular AATF decreased extracellular release of sAATF following glucose deprivation and chemical hypoxia in primary cortical neurons.

5 Par-4 in the Pathogenesis of Other Neurodegenerative Diseases and Neurological Dysfunctions

5.1 Par-4 Is a Synaptic Protein Involved in Pathogenesis of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is characterized by clinically by paralysis and pathologically by specific degeneration and loss of motor neurons predominantly in the spinal cord and brainstem [138, 142, 201, 202]. There are significantly higher Par-4 levels in lumbar spinal cord samples from ALS patients than in lumbar spinal cord samples from neurologically normal patients [138, 142]. Mutations of human Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase (SOD1) are found in many familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients, and expression of high levels of human SOD containing a substitution of glycine to alanine at position 93 caused typical motor neuron disease (ALS) symptoms in transgenic mice, indicating that dominant, gain-of-function mutations in SOD contribute to the pathogenesis of familial ALS [138, 142]. In this transgenic mice model of ALS, the highest Par-4 levels

were observed in lumbar spinal cord at a time when they had hind-limb paralysis [138, 142]. Immunohistochemical analyses of human and mouse lumbar spinal cord sections revealed that Par-4 is localized to motor neurons in the ventral horn region. The possible role of Par-4 in motor neuron degeneration in ALS was further supported by evidence from in vitro studies showing that exposure of primary mouse spinal cord motor neurons or NSC-19 motor neuron cells to oxidative insults resulted in a rapid and large increase in Par-4 levels that *preceded* neuronal death. Pretreatment of the motor neuron cells with a Par-4 antisense oligonucleotide or expression of a dominant negative regulator of Par-4 (the leucine zipper domain) prevented oxidative stress-induced apoptosis and reversed oxidative stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction that preceded apoptosis [138, 142]. These data strongly suggest that induction of Par-4 is an important and necessary event in the pathogenic mechanisms of neurodegeneration in ALS.

Signaling and integration events in synapses play important roles in regulating normal neuronal functions in spinal cord. Lower motoneurons in the spinal cord and brainstem receive much synaptic input from motor areas of the cerebral cortex. Dysfunction of synaptic contacts between upper and lower motoneurons may ultimately lead to degeneration of motoneurons. Indeed, synapse loss is a prominent feature of many acute and chronic neurodegenerative disorders, including ALS. Par-4 is enriched in synaptic compartments in spinal cord, and levels of Par-4 are regulated at translational level in synaptic terminals following apoptotic and excitotoxic insults, suggesting that Par-4 might play a role in synaptic function [138, 142]. Indeed, Par-4 was found to mediate the production locally in synaptic compartments of specific cytosolic factor(s) that induces nuclear chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation (Fig. 25).

Fig. 17 (continued) mutant AATF390; Par-4/AATF 279: cells co-transfected with full-length Par-4 and the AATF deletion mutant AATF279; Par-4/AATF179: cells co-transfected with full-length Par-4 and the AATF deletion mutant AATF179; Par-4deltaLeu.zip/AATFwt: cells co-transfected with Par-4ΔLeu.zip and the full-length wild-type AATF. The indicated double transfected IMR-32 cell lines were lysed and precipitated with the Par-4 antibody, followed by Western blotting with AATF antibody. Note that Par-4 interacted with only wild-type AATF (AATFwt band at about 70 kD) and AATF deletion mutants containing the leucine zipper domain (AATF390 band at about 52 kD, and AATF279 band at about 37 kD), but not the AATF deletion mutant lacking the leucine zipper domain, indicating that the leucine zipper domain of AATF is necessary for interaction with Par-4. In untransfected or vector-transfected control cell lines, AATF immunoreactivity on Western blots was weak, most likely due to the fact that endogenous levels of AATF and Par-4 interacts with AATF via its leucine zipper domain. The indicated double transfected IMR-32 cell lines were lysed and precipitated with the AATF antibody, followed by Western blotting with Par-4 antibody. Note that full-length wild-type AATF exhibited a functional interaction only with full-length Par-4, but not with the Par-4 deletion mutant Par-4deltaLeu.zip lacking the leucine zipper domain of Par-4 is involved in interaction with AATF. Also, consistent with the results in (h), AATF390 and AATF 279, both of which contain the leucine zipper domain of AATF, also interacted with the full-length Par-4 [34, 175]





Fig. 18 AATF interferes with binding of Par-4 to AICD and protects against cell death induced by CTFy57 in IMR-32 cells. (a) AATF leucine zipper peptide diminishes Par-4/AICD binding in pulldown experiments. The figure shows SDS-PAGE electrophoresis pattern of the pull-down of Par-4 protein by CTFy28-57 peptide immobilized on gel beads. The CTFy28-57 peptide (AVTPEER HLSKMQQNGYENPTYKFF, with an added cysteine residue at the C-terminal end to allow binding to the iodoacetyl groups in Sulfolink Coupling Gel) was covalently linked to Sulfolink Coupling Gel (Pierce). Full-length Par-4 was expressed in IMR-32 cells. The Par-4 protein in the cell lysates was incubated without AATF peptide (left lane) or with 10µg (middle lane) of human AATF leucine zipper peptide (-LKNSHKALKALLRSLVGLQEEL, which has been shown to bind to Par-4) and the gel-linked CTFy28-57 peptide. The washed gel samples were then subjected to SDS-PAGE and Western blotting for Par-4. Cysteine-blocked gel was used as negative control (right lane). The results provide supporting evidence that binding of Par-4 by AATF

diminishes Par-4/AICD interaction. (b) Co- expression of AATF protect against apoptotic cell death induced by CTF y57. IMR-32 cells were transfected with pEGFP-CTFy57 (CTF57-GFP) or pREP4-AATF using the Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent. Parallel cultures were co-transfected with pEGFP-CTFy57 (CTFy57-GFP) and pREP4-AATF (AATF+CTFy57-GFP). Untransfected cells and cells transfected with vector pEGFP-N1 were used as a control. 48 h following transfection, cells were stained with DNA-binding dye Hoescht 33,342, and the percentage of transfected cells in each culture with apoptotic nuclei (condensed and fragmented DNA) was determined. Note that coexpression of AATF significantly inhibited apoptosis induced by CTFy57. Values are the mean and SEM of determinations made in six separate experiments. ***P < 0.01 compared with the value in untransfected and vector-transfected control groups. ****P < 0.001 compared with the value in cells transfected with CTFy57-GFP. (ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests)



Fig. 19 AATF is secreted extracellularly. *Representative Western blots* showing that conditioned medium from the AATF-GFP transduced cortical neurons contained secreted AATF proteins. The conditioned medium from primary cortical neurons transduced with rAAV particles expressing AATF-GFP or GFP alone was subjected to Western blotting with the anti-AATF- or anti-actin antibody. Protein samples from the

whole-cell extracts were used as controls. The conditioned medium from AATF-GFP transduced cells contained both endogenous AATF and AAFT-GFP fusion protein but no detectable levels of actin. As a control, actin was detected in whole-cell extracts. Similar data were obtained in six separate experiments



Fig. 20 AATF is associated with TLR4 receptor protein in cortical neurons. (a) *Endogenous AATF is associated with TLR4*. Cultures of primary cortical neurons were lysed and whole-cell extracts were precipitated with specific rabbit anti-TLR4 antibody, followed by Western blotting with rabbit anti-AATF antibody (lanes 2). The pre-immune rabbit serum was used as a control (lane 3). Reverse order of immuno-precipitation analysis of the same cells showed similar AATF/TLR4 interaction. (b, c) AATF is not associated with TLR2 or GRP78. Cultured cortical neurons were lysed and proteins from total lysates were immunoprecipitated with rabbit anti-AATF antibody (lanes 2), followed by Western blotting with either anti-TLR2 antibody or anti-GRP78 antibody. Input lanes show 10% of the total protein used in immunoprecipitation

The loss of midbrain dopaminergic neurons is a significant feature of the pathology of Parkinson's disease (PD). Par-4 levels have been reported to increase dramatically in midbrain dopaminergic neurons of monkeys and mice exposed to 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP, an experimental model of PD) [134, 154, 203, 204]. The increase in Par-4 levels was observed in both neuronal cell bodies in the substantia nigra and their axon terminals in the striatum and precedes loss of tyrosine hydroxylase immuno-reactivity and cell deaths. Blockade of Par-4 induction prevented dopaminergic neuronal cell death, demonstrating a critical role for Par-4 in neurodegeneration in PD [134, 154, 203, 204].

5.3 Par-4 as a Molecular Link between Impaired Dopamine Signaling and Depression

There is evidence that Par-4 is a regulatory component in dopamine signaling. Park and colleagues reported that Par-4 directly interacts with the dopamine D2 receptor (D2DR) via the calmodulin binding motif in the third cytoplasmic loop [141]. Calmodulin can effectively compete with Par-4 binding in a Ca2+-dependent manner, providing a route for Ca2+-mediated downregulation of D2DR efficacy. Mice lacking the D2DR interaction domain of Par-4 showed an enhanced dopamine-cAMP-CREB signaling pathway, an impairment in dopamine signaling in neurons, and significantly increased depression-like behaviors [141]. These results suggest that Par-4 functions to link dopamine signaling and depression.



Fig. 21 SAP-12 confers greater neuroprotective potency and broader effective dose range than the full-length AATF. (a) *Neuroprotective actions of SAP-12 against neuronal cell death induced by chemical hypoxia.* Primary cultures of cortical neurons were pretreated for 4 h with 0.1 pM of SAP-12, and then subjected to Locke's buffer (vehicle) or chemical hypoxia induced by 5 mM of NaCN for 1 h. Cell death was assessed 24 h after NaCN treatment. Neurons with intact neurites of uniform diameter and soma with a smooth round appearance were considered viable, whereas neurons with fragmented neurites and vacuo-

lated soma were considered nonviable and dead. (b) *Dose–response* curves showing SAP-12 confers greater neuroprotective potency and broader effective dose range than the full-length AATF. Primary cortical neurons were pretreated for 4 h with indicated concentrations of SAP-12 or recombinant AATF (rAATF), and then subjected to chemical hypoxia induced by 5 mM of NaCN for 1 h. Cell death was assessed 48 h after NaCN treatment, as described above. Values are the means \pm SE of determinations made in six separate experiments. ****P < 0.001 compared with corresponding values in rAATF-treated group



Fig. 22 SAP-12 blocks MLKL-immunoreactivity and neuronal necroptosis induced by chemical hypoxia in vitro. (a) *SAP-12 blocks NaCN-induced increase in MLKL expression in primary cortical neurons*. Cultured neurons were pretreated for 4 h with 100 fM of SAP-12, and then subjected to Locke's buffer (vehicle) or chemical hypoxia induced by 5 mM of NaCN for 1 h. Images of MLKL immunofluorescence were acquired using a confocal laser-scanning microscope, as described in our previous publications. Levels of MLKL were significantly increased following hypoxia, which was effectively blocked by SAP-12. (b) *SAP-12 protects against neuronal necroptosis induced by*

chemical hypoxia. Primary cortical neurons were pretreated for 4 h with 100 fM of SAP-12 and then exposed to chemical hypoxia induced by 5 mM NaCN for 1 h. A flow cytometry method was used to evaluate neuronal necroptosis, as described previously, and PI⁺/Annexin V⁺ necroptotic cells were counted 24 h after NaCN treatment. Separate control groups of cells were pretreated SAP-12 (SAP12) or Locke's buffer (Control) alone without NaCN. Values are the means \pm SE of determinations made in six separate experiments. *****P* < 0.001 compared with corresponding values for in Control, SAP-1, and SAP12+hypoxia groups



Fig. 23 SAP-12 blocks RIPK3- and MLKL-dependent signaling of neuronal necroptosis following MCAO in vivo. **Top panel**: *Representative images of the Western blot analyses showing the effects of SAP-12 on key markers of neuronal necroptosis (RIPK3, MLKL, and phosphorylated MLKL or pMLKL) in the ipsilateral striatum of sham-operated (Sham) or MCAO mice at 24 h (1 day) and 72 h (3 days) after reperfusion.* 1.5µl of SAP-12 solution (2.5 pM dissolved in Locke's buffer) was delivered intracerebroventricularly by stereotaxic injection

into the contralateral cerebral ventricle at a rate of 0.2 ul/min 30 min before MCAO. Sham-operated animals received an equivalent amount of Locke's buffer without MCAO or SAP-12. **Bottom panel**: *Statistical analysis of the effects of SAP-12 on levels of expression of RIPK3, MLKL, and pMLKL in ipsilateral striatum after MCAO.* Values are the means \pm SE of determinations made in six separate blots. *****P* < 0.001 compared with corresponding values in SAP12 + MCAO group





Fig. 24 Par-4 null (Par-4^{-/-}) mice show increased extracellular secretion of sAATF and enhanced neuroprotection. (**a**) *Representative Western blotting showing lack of Par-4 protein expression in primary cultures of cortical neurons from Par-4^{-/-} mice.* (**b**, **c**) *Extracellular secretion of sAATF is significantly increased from primary cortical neurons of Par-4^{-/-} mice.* In (**b**), the conditioned medium of Par-4^{-/-} neurons contained significantly elevated levels of sAATF compared with those in wild-type controls. No detectable levels of actin were noted in the conditioned medium. In (**c**), levels of intracellular AATF were significantly decreased in Par-4^{-/-} neurons compared with those in wild-type cells, likely due to increased extracellular release of AATF. (**d**) *Conditioned medium of cultured Par-4^{-/-} cortical neurons protects against necroptosis induced by glucose deprivation and chemical*





Fig. 25 Evidence that Par-4 mediates the production locally in synaptic compartments of specific cytosolic factor (s) that induces nuclear chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation. Ventral spinal cord synaptosomes from 2-month-old healthy (with no signs of decline in muscle strength) wild-type mice and those expressing the G93A mutant human SOD1 were left untreated (control) or were treated for 6 h with 25µM par-4 antisense oligonucleotide (AS), or with a nonsense par-4 oligonucleotide (NS). The synaptosomes were then exposed for 4 h to the vehicle (0.2% DMSO) or 100 nM of staurosporine (STS) for 4 h. Cytosolic extracts of the synaptosomes were then prepared, and incubated for 3 h in the presence of isolated nuclei from PC12 cells. The nuclei were then stained with propidium iodide and examined using a confocal laser-scanning microscope. (a) Representative confocal images of propidium iodide-stained nuclei following exposure to cytosolic extracts from synaptosomes (of G93A mice) treated with vehicle, STS or Par-4 AS plus STS. (b) Statistical analysis of effect of Par-4 antisense treatment on nuclear apoptosis induced by cytosolic extracts from STS-treated synaptosomes of wild-type and G93A mice. Note that



nuclear apoptosis (chromatin margination and fragmentation) induced by the extract from STS-treated synaptosomes of G93A mice was much more pronounced than that induced by the extract from STS-treated synaptosomes of wild-type mice. Importantly, pretreatment of synaptosomes with Par-4 antisense before exposure to STS largely prevented the nuclear margination and fragmentation induced by cytosolic extracts of synaptosomes from G93A mice. Direct exposure of isolated nuclei to 100 nM STS, Par-4 AS or Par-4 NS had no effect on nuclear morphology (data not shown), indicating that residual STS, Par-4 AS, or NS in the cytosolic extracts does not by themselves induce nuclear apoptosis. These results suggest that the G93A mutation enhances the production of nuclear apoptosis-inducing factor(s) locally in synaptic compartments in the spinal cord through a Par4-dependent pathway. Values are the mean and SEM from six separate cultures. **P < 0.01compared to corresponding values in WT mice group; ***P < 0.01compared to values in nuclei treated with STS alone in the same group. ANOVA with Scheffe's post-hoc tests

6 Future Directions

Identification of Par-4 and AATF as critical factors involved in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative diseases opens a new area of research in understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms neuronal cell death and survival. The observation that AATF was secreted extracellularly under neurodegenerative conditions without a classical N-terminal signal peptide was also significant. However, many significant questions remain to be answered. For example, what are the molecular events that regulate the Par-4 activity in APP processing by BACE1 and gamma-secretase? How does Par-4/AICD interaction affect AICD nuclear translocation and APP-dependent transcriptional transactivation involved in neuronal necroptosis? How does Par-4 interact with other pre- and/or post-synaptic proteins to alter neuronal differentiation and synaptic dysfunction under neurodegenerative conditions? Does sAATF interact with other cell surface receptors in addition to TLR-4? Does systemic administration of a recombinant SAP-12 fusion protein (such as SAP12-TAT) that was modified for noninvasive delivery of SAP-12 across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) translates SAP-12 into a viable therapy for neuronal cell death? Of importance, the observations that sAATF counteracts the cell death-promoting actions of Par-4 and that SAP-12 provides improved therapeutic efficacy and better delivery options than the full-length sAATF will help to set the groundwork for producing new therapeutics in the future, including the optimization of the pharmacokinetic properties and target specificity of SAP-12. Genetic and/or pharmacological manipulations of neuronal Par-4 and AATF activities may have broad implications in controlling neuronal cell death and survival in a variety of neurodegenerative diseases.

References

- van der Kant R, Goldstein LSB, Ossenkoppele R (2020) Amyloidbeta-independent regulators of tau pathology in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 21:21–35
- Yamazaki Y, Zhao N, Caulfield TR, Liu CC, Bu G (2019) Apolipoprotein E and Alzheimer disease: pathobiology and targeting strategies. Nat Rev Neurol 15:501–518
- Villemagne VL, Dore V, Burnham SC, Masters CL, Rowe CC (2018) Imaging tau and amyloid-beta proteinopathies in Alzheimer disease and other conditions. Nat Rev Neurol 14:225–236
- 4. Jack CR Jr, Knopman DS, Chetelat G, Dickson D, Fagan AM, Frisoni GB, Jagust W, Mormino EC, Petersen RC, Sperling RA, van der Flier WM, Villemagne VL, Visser PJ, Vos SJ (2016) Suspected non-Alzheimer disease pathophysiology—concept and controversy. Nat Rev Neurol 12:117–124
- Blennow K, Hampel H, Weiner M, Zetterberg H (2010) Cerebrospinal fluid and plasma biomarkers in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurol 6:131–144

- Robinson SR, Bishop GM, Munch G (2003) Alzheimer vaccine: amyloid-beta on trial. BioEssays 25:283–288
- Roth KA (2001) Caspases, apoptosis, and Alzheimer disease: causation, correlation, and confusion. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 60:829–838
- Nieto-Sampedro M, Mora F (1994) Active microglia, sick astroglia and Alzheimer type dementias. Neuroreport 5:375–380
- Lewandowski CT, Maldonado Weng J, LaDu MJ (2020) Alzheimer's disease pathology in APOE transgenic mouse models: the who, what, when, where, why, and how. Neurobiol Dis 139:104811
- Rossor MN, Fox NC, Freeborough PA, Harvey RJ (1996) Clinical features of sporadic and familial Alzheimer's disease. Neurodegeneration 5:393–397
- Guo Q, Fu W, Xie J, Luo H, Sells SF, Geddes JW, Bondada V, Rangnekar VM, Mattson MP (1998) Par-4 is a mediator of neuronal degeneration associated with the pathogenesis of Alzheimer disease. Nat Med 4:957–962
- 12. Borchelt DR, Ratovitski T, van Lare J, Lee MK, Gonzales V, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG, Price DL, Sisodia SS (1997) Accelerated amyloid deposition in the brains of transgenic mice coexpressing mutant presenilin 1 and amyloid precursor proteins. Neuron 19:939–945
- Busciglio J, Pelsman A, Wong C, Pigino G, Yuan M, Mori H, Yankner BA (2002) Altered metabolism of the amyloid beta precursor protein is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction in Down's syndrome. Neuron 33:677–688
- 14. Creemers JW, Ines Dominguez D, Plets E, Serneels L, Taylor NA, Multhaup G, Craessaerts K, Annaert W, De Strooper B (2001) Processing of beta-secretase by furin and other members of the proprotein convertase family. J Biol Chem 276:4211–4217
- De Strooper B (2003) Aph-1, Pen-2, and Nicastrin with Presenilin generate an active gamma-secretase complex. Neuron 38:9–12
- Dewji NN, Singer SJ (1996) Specific transcellular binding between membrane proteins crucial to Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:12575–12580
- 17. Du Yan S, Zhu H, Fu J, Yan SF, Roher A, Tourtellotte WW, Rajavashish T, Chen X, Godman GC, Stern D, Schmidt AM (1997) Amyloid-beta peptide-receptor for advanced glycation endproduct interaction elicits neuronal expression of macrophage-colony stimulating factor: a proinflammatory pathway in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:5296–5301
- Duff K, Eckman C, Zehr C, Yu X, Prada CM, Perez-tur J, Hutton M, Buee L, Harigaya Y, Yager D, Morgan D, Gordon MN, Holcomb L, Refolo L, Zenk B, Hardy J, Younkin S (1996) Increased amyloid-beta42(43) in brains of mice expressing mutant presenilin 1. Nature 383:710–713
- Esler WP, Wolfe MS (2001) A portrait of Alzheimer secretasesnew features and familiar faces. Science 293:1449–1454
- Haass C, De Strooper B (1999) The presenilins in Alzheimer's disease--proteolysis holds the key. Science 286:916–919
- 21. Hock C, Konietzko U, Streffer JR, Tracy J, Signorell A, Muller-Tillmanns B, Lemke U, Henke K, Moritz E, Garcia E, Wollmer MA, Umbricht D, de Quervain DJ, Hofmann M, Maddalena A, Papassotiropoulos A, Nitsch RM (2003) Antibodies against betaamyloid slow cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. Neuron 38:547–554
- 22. Li R, Lindholm K, Yang LB, Yue X, Citron M, Yan R, Beach T, Sue L, Sabbagh M, Cai H, Wong P, Price D, Shen Y (2004) Amyloid beta peptide load is correlated with increased beta-secretase activity in sporadic Alzheimer's disease patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:3632–3637
- 23. Lustbader JW, Cirilli M, Lin C, Xu HW, Takuma K, Wang N, Caspersen C, Chen X, Pollak S, Chaney M, Trinchese F, Liu S, Gunn-Moore F, Lue LF, Walker DG, Kuppusamy P, Zewier ZL, Arancio O, Stern D, Yan SS, Wu H (2004) ABAD directly links

Abeta to mitochondrial toxicity in Alzheimer's disease. Science 304:448-452

- 24. Marques CA, Keil U, Bonert A, Steiner B, Haass C, Muller WE, Eckert A (2003) Neurotoxic mechanisms caused by the Alzheimer's disease-linked Swedish amyloid precursor protein mutation: oxidative stress, caspases, and the JNK pathway. J Biol Chem 278:28294–28302
- 25. Mattson MP, Cheng B, Culwell AR, Esch FS, Lieberburg I, Rydel RE (1993) Evidence for excitoprotective and intraneuronal calcium-regulating roles for secreted forms of the beta-amyloid precursor protein. Neuron 10:243–254
- 26. Van Broeckhoven C, Haan J, Bakker E, Hardy JA, Van Hul W, Wehnert A, Vegter-Van der Vlis M, Roos RA (1990) Amyloid beta protein precursor gene and hereditary cerebral hemorrhage with amyloidosis (Dutch). Science 248:1120–1122
- Weidemann A, Konig G, Bunke D, Fischer P, Salbaum JM, Masters CL, Beyreuther K (1989) Identification, biogenesis, and localization of precursors of Alzheimer's disease A4 amyloid protein. Cell 57:115–126
- Wild-Bode C, Yamazaki T, Capell A, Leimer U, Steiner H, Ihara Y, Haass C (1997) Intracellular generation and accumulation of amyloid beta-peptide terminating at amino acid 42. J Biol Chem 272:16085–16088
- 29. Yan R, Bienkowski MJ, Shuck ME, Miao H, Tory MC, Pauley AM, Brashier JR, Stratman NC, Mathews WR, Buhl AE, Carter DB, Tomasselli AG, Parodi LA, Heinrikson RL, Gurney ME (1999) Membrane-anchored aspartyl protease with Alzheimer's disease beta-secretase activity. Nature 402:533–537
- Shiwany NA, Xie J, Guo Q (2009) Cortical neurons transgenic for human Abeta40 or Abeta42 have similar vulnerability to apoptosis despite their different amyloidogenic properties. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2:339–352
- Shirwany NA, Payette D, Xie J, Guo Q (2007) The amyloid beta ion channel hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 3:597–612
- Guo Q (2006) When good Cdk5 turns bad. Sci Aging Knowledge Environ 2006:pe5
- Xie J, Guo Q (2005) PAR-4 is involved in regulation of betasecretase cleavage of the Alzheimer amyloid precursor protein. J Biol Chem 280:13824–13832
- 34. Guo Q, Xie J (2004) AATF inhibits aberrant production of amyloid beta peptide 1-42 by interacting directly with Par-4. J Biol Chem 279:4596–4603
- Guo Q, Fu W, Holtsberg FW, Steiner SM, Mattson MP (1999) Superoxide mediates the cell-death-enhancing action of presenilin-1 mutations. J Neurosci Res 56:457–470
- 36. Guo Q, Sebastian L, Sopher BL, Miller MW, Glazner GW, Ware CB, Martin GM, Mattson MP (1999) Neurotrophic factors [activity-dependent neurotrophic factor (ADNF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF)] interrupt excitotoxic neurodegenerative cascades promoted by a PS1 mutation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:4125–4130
- 37. Guo Q, Sebastian L, Sopher BL, Miller MW, Ware CB, Martin GM, Mattson MP (1999) Increased vulnerability of hippocampal neurons from presenilin-1 mutant knock-in mice to amyloid beta-peptide toxicity: central roles of superoxide production and cas-pase activation. J Neurochem 72:1019–1029
- Mattson MP, Guo Q, Furukawa K, Pedersen WA (1998) Presenilins, the endoplasmic reticulum, and neuronal apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 70:1–14
- Mattson MP, Guo Q (1997) Cell and molecular neurobiology of presenilins: a role for the endoplasmic reticulum in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease? J Neurosci Res 50:505–513
- 40. Guo Q, Sopher BL, Furukawa K, Pham DG, Robinson N, Martin GM, Mattson MP (1997) Alzheimer's presenilin mutation sensitizes neural cells to apoptosis induced by trophic factor withdrawal

and amyloid beta-peptide: involvement of calcium and oxyradicals. J Neurosci 17:4212–4222

- 41. Guo Q, Furukawa K, Sopher BL, Pham DG, Xie J, Robinson N, Martin GM, Mattson MP (1996) Alzheimer's PS-1 mutation perturbs calcium homeostasis and sensitizes PC12 cells to death induced by amyloid beta-peptide. Neuroreport 8:379–383
- 42. Panza F, Lozupone M, Seripa D, Imbimbo BP (2019) Amyloidbeta immunotherapy for alzheimer disease: is it now a long shot? Ann Neurol 85:303–315
- 43. Singh A, Hasan A, Tiwari S, Pandey LM (2018) Therapeutic advancement in Alzheimer disease: new hopes on the horizon? CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 17:571–589
- 44. Hardy J (2017) The discovery of Alzheimer-causing mutations in the APP gene and the formulation of the "amyloid cascade hypothesis". FEBS J 284:1040–1044
- 45. Heppner FL, Ransohoff RM, Becher B (2015) Immune attack: the role of inflammation in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 16:358–372
- 46. Rosenberg RN, Lambracht-Washington D, Yu G, Xia W (2016) Genomics of Alzheimer disease: a review. JAMA Neurol 73:867–874
- 47. Folch J, Ettcheto M, Petrov D, Abad S, Pedros I, Marin M, Olloquequi J, Camins A (2018) Review of the advances in treatment for Alzheimer disease: strategies for combating beta-amyloid protein. Neurologia 33:47–58
- De Strooper B, Vassar R, Golde T (2010) The secretases: enzymes with therapeutic potential in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurol 6:99–107
- 49. Lauritzen I, Becot A, Bourgeois A, Pardossi-Piquard R, Biferi MG, Barkats M, Checler F (2019) Targeting gamma-secretase triggers the selective enrichment of oligomeric APP-CTFs in brain extracellular vesicles from Alzheimer cell and mouse models. Transl Neurodegener 8:35
- 50. Pera M, Larrea D, Guardia-Laguarta C, Montesinos J, Velasco KR, Agrawal RR, Xu Y, Chan RB, Di Paolo G, Mehler MF, Perumal GS, Macaluso FP, Freyberg ZZ, Acin-Perez R, Enriquez JA, Schon EA, Area-Gomez E (2017) Increased localization of APP-C99 in mitochondria-associated ER membranes causes mitochondrial dysfunction in Alzheimer disease. EMBO J 36:3356–3371
- 51. Goiran T, Duplan E, Chami M, Bourgeois A, El Manaa W, Rouland L, Dunys J, Lauritzen I, You H, Stambolic V, Biferi MG, Barkats M, Pimplikar SW, Sergeant N, Colin M, Morais VA, Pardossi-Piquard R, Checler F, Alves da Costa C (2018) beta-Amyloid Precursor Protein Intracellular Domain Controls Mitochondrial Function by Modulating Phosphatase and Tensin Homolog-Induced Kinase 1 Transcription in Cells and in Alzheimer Mice Models. *Biol Psychiatry* 83:416–427
- 52. Schettini G, Govoni S, Racchi M, Rodriguez G (2010) Phosphorylation of APP-CTF-AICD domains and interaction with adaptor proteins: signal transduction and/or transcriptional role--relevance for Alzheimer pathology. J Neurochem 115:1299–1308
- 53. George AJ, Holsinger RM, McLean CA, Laughton KM, Beyreuther K, Evin G, Masters CL, Li QX (2004) APP intracellular domain is increased and soluble Abeta is reduced with dietinduced hypercholesterolemia in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer disease. Neurobiol Dis 16:124–132
- Cao X, Sudhof TC (2004) Dissection of amyloid-beta precursor protein-dependent transcriptional transactivation. J Biol Chem 279:24601–24611
- Edbauer D, Willem M, Lammich S, Steiner H, Haass C (2002) Insulin-degrading enzyme rapidly removes the beta-amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain (AICD). J Biol Chem 277:13389–13393
- 56. Gu Y, Misonou H, Sato T, Dohmae N, Takio K, Ihara Y (2001) Distinct intramembrane cleavage of the beta-amyloid precur-

sor protein family resembling gamma-secretase-like cleavage of notch. J Biol Chem 276:35235–35238

- 57. Hansson CA, Frykman S, Farmery MR, Tjernberg LO, Nilsberth C, Pursglove SE, Ito A, Winblad B, Cowburn RF, Thyberg J, Ankarcrona M (2004) Nicastrin, presenilin, APH-1 and PEN-2 form active gamma -secretase complexes in mitochondria. J Biol Chem
- 58. Kim HS, Kim EM, Lee JP, Park CH, Kim S, Seo JH, Chang KA, Yu E, Jeong SJ, Chong YH, Suh YH (2003) C-terminal fragments of amyloid precursor protein exert neurotoxicity by inducing glycogen synthase kinase-3beta expression. FASEB J 17:1951–1953
- Kim SH, Ikeuchi T, Yu C, Sisodia SS (2003) Regulated hyperaccumulation of presenilin-1 and the "gamma-secretase" complex. Evidence for differential intramembranous processing of transmembrane subatrates. *J Biol Chem* 278:33992–34002
- 60. Kim HS, Kim EM, Kim NJ, Chang KA, Choi Y, Ahn KW, Lee JH, Kim S, Park CH, Suh YH (2004) Inhibition of histone deacetylation enhances the neurotoxicity induced by the C-terminal fragments of amyloid precursor protein. J Neurosci Res 75:117–124
- 61. Kimberly WT, Zheng JB, Guenette SY, Selkoe DJ (2001) The intracellular domain of the beta-amyloid precursor protein is stabilized by Fe65 and translocates to the nucleus in a notch-like manner. J Biol Chem 276:40288–40292
- 62. Kume H, Maruyama K, Kametani F (2004) Intracellular domain generation of amyloid precursor protein by epsilon-cleavage depends on C-terminal fragment by alpha-secretase cleavage. Int J Mol Med 13:121–125
- 63. Leissring MA, Murphy MP, Mead TR, Akbari Y, Sugarman MC, Jannatipour M, Anliker B, Muller U, Saftig P, De Strooper B, Wolfe MS, Golde TE, LaFerla FM (2002) A physiologic signaling role for the gamma -secretase-derived intracellular fragment of APP. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:4697–4702
- 64. Liao YF, Wang BJ, Cheng HT, Kuo LH, Wolfe MS (2004) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1beta, and interferon-gamma stimulate gamma -secretase-mediated cleavage of amyloid precursor protein through a JNK-dependent MAPK pathway. J Biol Chem 279:49523
- 65. Sato T, Dohmae N, Qi Y, Kakuda N, Misonou H, Mitsumori R, Maruyama H, Koo EH, Haass C, Takio K, Morishima-Kawashima M, Ishiura S, Ihara Y (2003) Potential link between amyloid betaprotein 42 and C-terminal fragment gamma 49-99 of beta-amyloid precursor protein. J Biol Chem 278:24294–24301
- 66. Scheinfeld MH, Matsuda S, D'Adamio L (2003) JNK-interacting protein-1 promotes transcription of a beta protein precursor but not a beta precursor-like proteins, mechanistically different than Fe65. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:1729–1734
- 67. Von Rotz RC, Kohli BM, Bosset J, Meier M, Suzuki T, Nitsch RM, Konietzko U (2004) The APP intracellular domain forms nuclear multiprotein complexes and regulates the transcription of its own precursor. J Cell Sci 117:4435–4448
- 68. Yu C, Kim SH, Ikeuchi T, Xu H, Gasparini L, Wang R, Sisodia SS (2001) Characterization of a presenilin-mediated amyloid precursor protein carboxyl-terminal fragment gamma. Evidence for distinct mechanisms involved in gamma -secretase processing of the APP and Notch1 transmembrane domains. J Biol Chem 276:43756–43760
- 69. Zhao Q, Lee FS (2003) The transcriptional activity of the APP intracellular domain-Fe65 complex is inhibited by activation of the NF-kappaB pathway. Biochemistry 42:3627–3634
- Annaert WG, Levesque L, Craessaerts K, Dierinck I, Snellings G, Westaway D, George-Hyslop PS, Cordell B, Fraser P, De Strooper B (1999) Presenilin 1 controls gamma-secretase processing of amyloid precursor protein in pre-golgi compartments of hippocampal neurons. J Cell Biol 147:277–294
- De Strooper B, Annaert W, Cupers P, Saftig P, Craessaerts K, Mumm JS, Schroeter EH, Schrijvers V, Wolfe MS, Ray WJ, Goate

A, Kopan R (1999) A presenilin-1-dependent gamma-secretaselike protease mediates release of notch intracellular domain. Nature 398:518–522

- De Strooper B (2000) Alzheimer's disease. Closing in on gammasecretase. *Nature* 405(627):629
- 73. Esler WP, Kimberly WT, Ostaszewski BL, Diehl TS, Moore CL, Tsai JY, Rahmati T, Xia W, Selkoe DJ, Wolfe MS (2000) Transition-state analogue inhibitors of gamma-secretase bind directly to presenilin-1. Nat Cell Biol 2:428–434
- 74. Esler WP, Kimberly WT, Ostaszewski BL, Ye W, Diehl TS, Selkoe DJ, Wolfe MS (2002) Activity-dependent isolation of the presenilin- gamma -secretase complex reveals nicastrin and a gamma substrate. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:2720–2725
- 75. Gao Y, Pimplikar SW (2001) The gamma -secretase-cleaved C-terminal fragment of amyloid precursor protein mediates signaling to the nucleus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:14979–14984
- Haass C (2004) Take five-BACE and the gamma-secretase quartet conduct Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide generation. EMBO J 23:483–488
- Hardy J, Israel A (1999) Alzheimer's disease. In search of gammasecretase. *Nature* 398:466–467
- Herreman A, Serneels L, Annaert W, Collen D, Schoonjans L, De Strooper B (2000) Total inactivation of gamma-secretase activity in presenilin-deficient embryonic stem cells. Nat Cell Biol 2:461–462
- Josien H (2002) Recent advances in the development of gammasecretase inhibitors. Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel 5:513–525
- Kim DY, Ingano LA, Kovacs DM (2002) Nectin-1alpha, an immunoglobulin-like receptor involved in the formation of synapses, is a substrate for presenilin/gamma-secretase-like cleavage. J Biol Chem 277:49976–49981
- Kimberly WT, Xia W, Rahmati T, Wolfe MS, Selkoe DJ (2000) The transmembrane aspartates in presenilin 1 and 2 are obligatory for gamma-secretase activity and amyloid beta-protein generation. J Biol Chem 275:3173–3178
- Kinoshita A, Whelan CM, Berezovska O, Hyman BT (2002) The gamma secretase-generated carboxyl-terminal domain of the amyloid precursor protein induces apoptosis via Tip60 in H4 cells. J Biol Chem 277:28530–28536
- Kopan R, Goate A (2002) Aph-2/Nicastrin: an essential component of gamma-secretase and regulator of notch signaling and Presenilin localization. Neuron 33:321–324
- 84. Li YM, Xu M, Lai MT, Huang Q, Castro JL, DiMuzio-Mower J, Harrison T, Lellis C, Nadin A, Neduvelil JG, Register RB, Sardana MK, Shearman MS, Smith AL, Shi XP, Yin KC, Shafer JA, Gardell SJ (2000) Photoactivated gamma-secretase inhibitors directed to the active site covalently label presenilin 1. Nature 405:689–694
- Li YM (2001) Gamma-secretase: a catalyst of Alzheimer disease and signal transduction. Mol Interv 1:198–207
- Murphy MP, Hickman LJ, Eckman CB, Uljon SN, Wang R, Golde TE (1999) Gamma-secretase, evidence for multiple proteolytic activities and influence of membrane positioning of substrate on generation of amyloid beta peptides of varying length. J Biol Chem 274:11914–11923
- 87. Passer B, Pellegrini L, Russo C, Siegel RM, Lenardo MJ, Schettini G, Bachmann M, Tabaton M, D'Adamio L (2000) Generation of an apoptotic intracellular peptide by gamma-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid beta protein precursor. J Alzheimers Dis 2:289–301
- Selkoe DJ, Wolfe MS (2000) In search of gamma-secretase: presenilin at the cutting edge. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:5690–5692
- Sisodia SS (2000) Neuroscience. An accomplice for gammasecretase brought into focus. *Science* 289:2296–2297
- Sisodia SS, Annaert W, Kim SH, De Strooper B (2001) Gammasecretase: never more enigmatic. Trends Neurosci 24:S2–S6

- 91. Sisodia SS, St George-Hyslop PH (2002) Gamma-secretase, Notch, Abeta and Alzheimer's disease: where do the presenilins fit in? Nat Rev Neurosci 3:281–290
- Tsai JY, Wolfe MS, Xia W (2002) The search for gamma-secretase and development of inhibitors. Curr Med Chem 9:1087–1106
- Vassar R, Citron M (2000) Abeta-generating enzymes: recent advances in beta- and gamma-secretase research. Neuron 27:419–422
- 94. Wolfe MS, Xia W, Ostaszewski BL, Diehl TS, Kimberly WT, Selkoe DJ (1999) Two transmembrane aspartates in presenilin-1 required for presenilin endoproteolysis and gamma-secretase activity. Nature 398:513–517
- Wolfe MS, Haass C (2001) The role of presenilins in gammasecretase activity. J Biol Chem 276:5413–5416
- Xia W (2000) Role of presenilin in gamma-secretase cleavage of amyloid precursor protein. Exp Gerontol 35:453–460
- Xia W (2003) Relationship between presenilinase and gammasecretase. Drug News Perspect 16:69–74
- 98. Xu M, Lai MT, Huang Q, DiMuzio-Mower J, Castro JL, Harrison T, Nadin A, Neduvelil JG, Shearman MS, Shafer JA, Gardell SJ, Li YM (2002) Gamma-secretase: characterization and implication for Alzheimer disease therapy. Neurobiol Aging 23:1023–1030
- 99. Wolozin B, Iwasaki K, Vito P, Ganjei JK, Lacana E, Sunderland T, Zhao B, Kusiak JW, Wasco W, D'Adamio L (1996) Participation of presenilin 2 in apoptosis: enhanced basal activity conferred by an Alzheimer mutation. Science 274:1710–1713
- 100. Yuan J, Yankner BA (2000) Apoptosis in the nervous system. Nature 407:802–809
- 101. Nakagawa T, Zhu H, Morishima N, Li E, Xu J, Yankner BA, Yuan J (2000) Caspase-12 mediates endoplasmic-reticulum-specific apoptosis and cytotoxicity by amyloid-beta. Nature 403:98–103
- 102. Weidemann A, Paliga K, Durrwang U, Reinhard FB, Schuckert O, Evin G, Masters CL (1999) Proteolytic processing of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid precursor protein within its cytoplasmic domain by caspase-like proteases. J Biol Chem 274:5823–5829
- 103. Pellegrini L, Passer BJ, Tabaton M, Ganjei JK, D'Adamio L (1999) Alternative, non-secretase processing of Alzheimer's betaamyloid precursor protein during apoptosis by caspase-6 and -8. J Biol Chem 274:21011–21016
- 104. LeBlanc A, Liu H, Goodyer C, Bergeron C, Hammond J (1999) Caspase-6 role in apoptosis of human neurons, amyloidogenesis, and Alzheimer's disease. J Biol Chem 274:23426–23436
- 105. Guo Q, Xie J, Chang X, Zhang X, Du H (2001) Par-4 is a synaptic protein that regulates neurite outgrowth by altering calcium homeostasis and transcription factor AP-1 activation. Brain Res 903:13–25
- 106. Mbebi C, See V, Mercken L, Pradier L, Muller U, Loeffler JP (2002) Amyloid precursor protein family-induced neuronal death is mediated by impairment of the neuroprotective calcium/ calmodulin protein kinase IV-dependent signaling pathway. J Biol Chem 277:20979–20990
- 107. Fluhrer R, Friedlein A, Haass C, Walter J (2004) Phosphorylation of presenilin 1 at the caspase recognition site regulates its proteolytic processing and the progression of apoptosis. J Biol Chem 279:1585–1593
- 108. Gervais FG, Xu D, Robertson GS, Vaillancourt JP, Zhu Y, Huang J, LeBlanc A, Smith D, Rigby M, Shearman MS, Clarke EE, Zheng H, Van Der Ploeg LH, Ruffolo SC, Thornberry NA, Xanthoudakis S, Zamboni RJ, Roy S, Nicholson DW (1999) Involvement of caspases in proteolytic cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid-beta precursor protein and amyloidogenic a beta peptide formation. Cell 97:395–406
- 109. Gamblin TC, Chen F, Zambrano A, Abraha A, Lagalwar S, Guillozet AL, Lu M, Fu Y, Garcia-Sierra F, LaPointe N, Miller R, Berry RW, Binder LI, Cryns VL (2003) Caspase cleavage of tau:

linking amyloid and neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10032–10037

- 110. Guo Q, Christakos S, Robinson N, Mattson MP (1998) Calbindin D28k blocks the proapoptotic actions of mutant presenilin 1: reduced oxidative stress and preserved mitochondrial function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:3227–3232
- 111. Chui DH, Tanahashi H, Ozawa K, Ikeda S, Checler F, Ueda O, Suzuki H, Araki W, Inoue H, Shirotani K, Takahashi K, Gallyas F, Tabira T (1999) Transgenic mice with Alzheimer presenilin 1 mutations show accelerated neurodegeneration without amyloid plaque formation. Nat Med 5:560–564
- 112. Obregon D, Hou H, Deng J, Giunta B, Tian J, Darlington D, Shahaduzzaman M, Zhu Y, Mori T, Mattson MP, Tan J (2012) Soluble amyloid precursor protein-alpha modulates beta-secretase activity and amyloid-beta generation. Nat Commun 3:777
- 113. Mattson MP (1997) Cellular actions of beta-amyloid precursor protein and its soluble and fibrillogenic derivatives. Physiol Rev 77:1081–1132
- 114. Barger SW, Mattson MP (1995) The secreted form of the Alzheimer's beta-amyloid precursor protein stimulates a membrane-associated guanylate cyclase. Biochem J 311(Pt 1):45–47
- 115. Stein TD, Anders NJ, DeCarli C, Chan SL, Mattson MP, Johnson JA (2004) Neutralization of transthyretin reverses the neuroprotective effects of secreted amyloid precursor protein (APP) in APPSW mice resulting in tau phosphorylation and loss of hippocampal neurons: support for the amyloid hypothesis. J Neurosci 24:7707–7717
- 116. Mattson MP, Guo ZH, Geiger JD (1999) Secreted form of amyloid precursor protein enhances basal glucose and glutamate transport and protects against oxidative impairment of glucose and glutamate transport in synaptosomes by a cyclic GMP-mediated mechanism. J Neurochem 73:532–537
- 117. Muller T, Meyer HE, Egensperger R, Marcus K (2008) The amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain (AICD) as modulator of gene expression, apoptosis, and cytoskeletal dynamicsrelevance for Alzheimer's disease. Prog Neurobiol 85:393–406
- 118. Gandy S, Doeven MK, Poolman B (2006) Alzheimer disease: presenilin springs a leak. Nat Med 12:1121–1123
- 119. Nishimura M, Yu G, Levesque G, Zhang DM, Ruel L, Chen F, Milman P, Holmes E, Liang Y, Kawarai T, Jo E, Supala A, Rogaeva E, Xu DM, Janus C, Levesque L, Bi Q, Duthie M, Rozmahel R, Mattila K, Lannfelt L, Westaway D, Mount HT, Woodgett J, St George-Hyslop P et al (1999) Presenilin mutations associated with Alzheimer disease cause defective intracellular trafficking of beta-catenin, a component of the presenilin protein complex. Nat Med 5:164–169
- 120. Guo Q, Fu W, Sopher BL, Miller MW, Ware CB, Martin GM, Mattson MP (1999) Increased vulnerability of hippocampal neurons to excitotoxic necrosis in presenilin-1 mutant knock-in mice. Nat Med 5:101–106
- 121. Citron M, Westaway D, Xia W, Carlson G, Diehl T, Levesque G, Johnson-Wood K, Lee M, Seubert P, Davis A, Kholodenko D, Motter R, Sherrington R, Perry B, Yao H, Strome R, Lieberburg I, Rommens J, Kim S, Schenk D, Fraser P, St George Hyslop P, Selkoe DJ (1997) Mutant presenilins of Alzheimer's disease increase production of 42-residue amyloid beta-protein in both transfected cells and transgenic mice. Nat Med 3:67–72
- Lamb BT (1997) Presenilins, amyloid-beta and Alzheimer's disease. Nat Med 3:28–29
- 123. Passer BJ, Pellegrini L, Vito P, Ganjei JK, D'Adamio L (1999) Interaction of Alzheimer's presenilin-1 and presenilin-2 with Bcl-X(L). A potential role in modulating the threshold of cell death. J Biol Chem 274:24007–24013
- 124. Sells SF, Han SS, Muthukkumar S, Maddiwar N, Johnstone R, Boghaert E, Gillis D, Liu G, Nair P, Monnig S, Collini P, Mattson

MP, Sukhatme VP, Zimmer SG, Wood DP Jr, McRoberts JW, Shi Y, Rangnekar VM (1997) Expression and function of the leucine zipper protein Par-4 in apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 17:3823–3832

- 125. Sells SF, Wood DP Jr, Joshi-Barve SS, Muthukumar S, Jacob RJ, Crist SA, Humphreys S, Rangnekar VM (1994) Commonality of the gene programs induced by effectors of apoptosis in androgendependent and -independent prostate cells. Cell Growth Differ 5:457–466
- 126. Johnstone RW, See RH, Sells SF, Wang J, Muthukkumar S, Englert C, Haber DA, Licht JD, Sugrue SP, Roberts T, Rangnekar VM, Shi Y (1996) A novel repressor, par-4, modulates transcription and growth suppression functions of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Mol Cell Biol 16:6945–6956
- Hebbar N, Wang C, Rangnekar VM (2012) Mechanisms of apoptosis by the tumor suppressor Par-4. J Cell Physiol 227:3715–3721
- 128. Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR, Rangnekar VM (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138:377–388
- Ranganathan P, Rangnekar VM (2005) Regulation of cancer cell survival by Par-4. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1059:76–85
- Mattson MP, Gleichmann M (2005) The neuronal death protein par-4 mediates dopaminergic synaptic plasticity. Mol Interv 5:278–281
- 131. Mattson MP, Duan W, Chan SL, Camandola S (1999) Par-4: an emerging pivotal player in neuronal apoptosis and neurodegenerative disorders. J Mol Neurosci 13:17–30
- 132. Chan SL, Tammariello SP, Estus S, Mattson MP (1999) Prostate apoptosis response-4 mediates trophic factor withdrawal-induced apoptosis of hippocampal neurons: actions prior to mitochondrial dysfunction and caspase activation. J Neurochem 73:502–512
- 133. Duan W, Rangnekar VM, Mattson MP (1999) Prostate apoptosis response-4 production in synaptic compartments following apoptotic and excitotoxic insults: evidence for a pivotal role in mitochondrial dysfunction and neuronal degeneration. J Neurochem 72:2312–2322
- 134. Duan W, Zhang Z, Gash DM, Mattson MP (1999) Participation of prostate apoptosis response-4 in degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in models of Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 46:587–597
- 135. Kruman II, Nath A, Maragos WF, Chan SL, Jones M, Rangnekar VM, Jakel RJ, Mattson MP (1999) Evidence that Par-4 participates in the pathogenesis of HIV encephalitis. Am J Pathol 155:39–46
- 136. Camandola S, Mattson MP (2000) Pro-apoptotic action of PAR-4 involves inhibition of NF-kappaB activity and suppression of BCL-2 expression. J Neurosci Res 61:134–139
- 137. Duan W, Guo Z, Mattson MP (2000) Participation of par-4 in the degeneration of striatal neurons induced by metabolic compromise with 3-nitropropionic acid. Exp Neurol 165:1–11
- 138. Pedersen WA, Luo H, Kruman I, Kasarskis E, Mattson MP (2000) The prostate apoptosis response-4 protein participates in motor neuron degeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. FASEB J 14:913–924
- Culmsee C, Zhu Y, Krieglstein J, Mattson MP (2001) Evidence for the involvement of Par-4 in ischemic neuron cell death. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 21:334–343
- 140. Hwang S, Moon M, Kim S, Hwang L, Ahn KJ, Park S (2009) Neuroprotective effect of ghrelin is associated with decreased expression of prostate apoptosis response-4. Endocr J 56:609–617
- 141. Park SK, Nguyen MD, Fischer A, Luke MP, Affarel B, Dieffenbach PB, Tseng HC, Shi Y, Tsai LH (2005) Par-4 links dopamine signaling and depression. Cell 122:275–287
- 142. Xie J, Awad KS, Guo Q (2005) RNAi knockdown of Par-4 inhibits neurosynaptic degeneration in ALS-linked mice. J Neurochem 92:59–71
- 143. Xie J, Guo Q (2004) Par-4 inhibits choline uptake by interacting with CHT1 and reducing its incorporation on the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem 279:28266–28275

- 144. Xie J, Chang X, Zhang X, Guo Q (2001) Aberrant induction of Par-4 is involved in apoptosis of hippocampal neurons in presenilin-1 M146V mutant knock-in mice. Brain Res 915:1–10
- 145. Jankowsky JL, Zheng H (2017) Practical considerations for choosing a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Mol Neurodegener 12:89
- 146. Ohno M (2016) Alzheimer's therapy targeting the beta-secretase enzyme BACE1: benefits and potential limitations from the perspective of animal model studies. Brain Res Bull 126: 183–198
- 147. Bilkei-Gorzo A (2014) Genetic mouse models of brain ageing and Alzheimer's disease. Pharmacol Ther 142:244–257
- 148. Braidy N, Munoz P, Palacios AG, Castellano-Gonzalez G, Inestrosa NC, Chung RS, Sachdev P, Guillemin GJ (2012) Recent rodent models for Alzheimer's disease: clinical implications and basic research. J Neural Transm (Vienna) 119:173–195
- 149. Zhu H, Guo Q, Mattson MP (1999) Dietary restriction protects hippocampal neurons against the death-promoting action of a presenilin-1 mutation. Brain Res 842:224–229
- 150. Chan SL, Pedersen WA, Zhu H, Mattson MP (2002) Numb modifies neuronal vulnerability to amyloid beta-peptide in an isoform-specific manner by a mechanism involving altered calcium homeostasis: implications for neuronal death in Alzheimer's disease. NeuroMolecular Med 1:55–67
- 151. Mattson MP, Chan SL, Camandola S (2001) Presenilin mutations and calcium signaling defects in the nervous and immune systems. BioEssays 23:733–744
- 152. Mattson MP, Gary DS, Chan SL, Duan W (2001) Perturbed endoplasmic reticulum function, synaptic apoptosis and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Biochem Soc Symp*:151–162
- 153. Begley JG, Duan W, Chan S, Duff K, Mattson MP (1999) Altered calcium homeostasis and mitochondrial dysfunction in cortical synaptic compartments of presenilin-1 mutant mice. J Neurochem 72:1030–1039
- 154. Mattson MP, Pedersen WA, Duan W, Culmsee C, Camandola S (1999) Cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying perturbed energy metabolism and neuronal degeneration in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases. Ann NY Acad Sci 893:154–175
- 155. Fu H, Dou J, Li W, Cui W, Mak S, Hu Q, Luo J, Lam CS, Pang Y, Youdim MB, Han Y (2009) Promising multifunctional anti-Alzheimer's dimer bis(7)-Cognitin acting as an activator of protein kinase C regulates activities of alpha-secretase and BACE-1 concurrently. Eur J Pharmacol 623:14–21
- 156. Zhu G, Wang D, Lin YH, McMahon T, Koo EH, Messing RO (2001) Protein kinase C epsilon suppresses Abeta production and promotes activation of alpha-secretase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 285:997–1006
- 157. Diaz-Meco MT, Municio MM, Frutos S, Sanchez P, Lozano J, Sanz L, Moscat J (1996) The product of par-4, a gene induced during apoptosis, interacts selectively with the atypical isoforms of protein kinase C. Cell 86:777–786
- Mattson MP, Chan SL (2003) Neuronal and glial calcium signaling in Alzheimer's disease. Cell Calcium 34:385–397
- 159. Guo Q, Robinson N, Mattson MP (1998) Secreted beta-amyloid precursor protein counteracts the proapoptotic action of mutant presenilin-1 by activation of NF-kappaB and stabilization of calcium homeostasis. J Biol Chem 273:12341–12351
- 160. Furukawa K, Sopher BL, Rydel RE, Begley JG, Pham DG, Martin GM, Fox M, Mattson MP (1996) Increased activity-regulating and neuroprotective efficacy of alpha-secretase-derived secreted amyloid precursor protein conferred by a C-terminal heparin-binding domain. J Neurochem 67:1882–1896
- 161. Barger SW, Smith-Swintosky VL, Rydel RE, Mattson MP (1993) Beta-amyloid precursor protein mismetabolism and loss of calcium homeostasis in Alzheimer's disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci 695:158–164

- 162. Odero GL, Oikawa K, Glazner KA, Schapansky J, Grossman D, Thiessen JD, Motnenko A, Ge N, Martin M, Glazner GW, Albensi BC (2010) Evidence for the involvement of calbindin D28k in the presenilin 1 model of Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience 169:532–543
- 163. Payette DJ, Xie J, Shirwany N, Guo Q (2008) Exacerbation of apoptosis of cortical neurons following traumatic brain injury in par-4 transgenic mice. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 1:44–56
- 164. Sastre M, Steiner H, Fuchs K, Capell A, Multhaup G, Condron MM, Teplow DB, Haass C (2001) Presenilin-dependent gammasecretase processing of beta-amyloid precursor protein at a site corresponding to the S3 cleavage of notch. EMBO Rep 2:835–841
- Ebinu JO, Yankner BA (2002) A RIP tide in neuronal signal transduction. Neuron 34:499–502
- 166. Cao X, Sudhof TC (2001) A transcriptionally [correction of transcriptively] active complex of APP with Fe65 and histone acetyltransferase Tip60. Science 293:115–120
- 167. Biederer T, Cao X, Sudhof TC, Liu X (2002) Regulation of APPdependent transcription complexes by Mint/X11s: differential functions of Mint isoforms. J Neurosci 22:7340–7351
- 168. El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23:5516–5525
- 169. Baek SH, Ohgi KA, Rose DW, Koo EH, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG (2002) Exchange of N-CoR corepressor and Tip60 coactivator complexes links gene expression by NF-kappaB and beta-amyloid precursor protein. Cell 110:55–67
- 170. Kimberly WT, Zheng JB, Town T, Flavell RA, Selkoe DJ (2005) Physiological regulation of the beta-amyloid precursor protein signaling domain by c-Jun N-terminal kinase JNK3 during neuronal differentiation. J Neurosci 25:5533–5543
- 171. Lindfors K, Halttunen T, Huotari P, Nupponen N, Vihinen M, Visakorpi T, Maki M, Kainulainen H (2000) Identification of novel transcription factor-like gene from human intestinal cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 276:660–666
- 172. Monaco L, Passananti C, Fanciulli M (2003) Genomic structure and transcriptional regulation of Che-1, a novel partner of Rb. Gene 321:57–63
- 173. Page G, Lodige I, Kogel D, Scheidtmann KH (1999) AATF, a novel transcription factor that interacts with Dlk/ZIP kinase and interferes with apoptosis. FEBS Lett 462:187–191
- 174. Thomas T, Voss AK, Petrou P, Gruss P (2000) The murine gene, Traube, is essential for the growth of preimplantation embryos. Dev Biol 227:324–342
- 175. Xie J, Guo Q (2004) AATF protects neural cells against oxidative damage induced by amyloid beta-peptide. Neurobiol Dis 16:150–157
- 176. Guo S, Chen R, Chen X, Xie Z, Huo F, Wu Z (2018) Che-1 inhibits oxygen-glucose deprivation/reoxygenation-induced neuronal apoptosis associated with inhibition of the p53-mediated proapoptotic signaling pathway. Neuroreport 29:1193–1200
- 177. Xie J, Guo Q (2006) Apoptosis antagonizing transcription factor protects renal tubule cells against oxidative damage and apoptosis induced by ischemia-reperfusion. J Am Soc Nephrol 17:3336–3346
- 178. Hiss DC, Gabriels GA (2009) Implications of endoplasmic reticulum stress, the unfolded protein response and apoptosis for molecular cancer therapy. Part I: targeting p53, Mdm2, GADD153/ CHOP, GRP78/BiP and heat shock proteins. Expert Opin Drug Discov 4:799–821
- 179. Mkaddem SB, Bens M, Vandewalle A (2010) Differential activation of toll-like receptor-mediated apoptosis induced by hypoxia. Oncotarget 1:741–750

- Zuany-Amorim C, Hastewell J, Walker C (2002) Toll-like receptors as potential therapeutic targets for multiple diseases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 1:797–807
- 181. Paudel YN, Angelopoulou E, Piperi C, Othman I, Aamir K, Shaikh MF (2020) Impact of HMGB1, RAGE, and TLR4 in Alzheimer's disease (AD): from risk factors to therapeutic targeting. Cell 9:383
- 182. Degterev A, Huang Z, Boyce M, Li Y, Jagtap P, Mizushima N, Cuny GD, Mitchison TJ, Moskowitz MA, Yuan J (2005) Chemical inhibitor of nonapoptotic cell death with therapeutic potential for ischemic brain injury. Nat Chem Biol 1:112–119
- 183. Font-Belmonte E, Ugidos IF, Santos-Galdiano M, Gonzalez-Rodriguez P, Anuncibay-Soto B, Perez-Rodriguez D, Gonzalo-Orden JM, Fernandez-Lopez A (2019) Post-ischemic salubrinal administration reduces necroptosis in a rat model of global cerebral ischemia. J Neurochem 151:777–794
- 184. Habib P, Stamm AS, Zeyen T, Noristani R, Slowik A, Beyer C, Wilhelm T, Huber M, Komnig D, Schulz JB, Reich A (2019) EPO regulates neuroprotective transmembrane BAX Inhibitor-1 Motifcontaining (TMBIM) family members GRINA and FAIM2 after cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury. Exp Neurol 320:112978
- 185. Han F, Guan X, Guo W, Lu B (2019) Therapeutic potential of a TrkB agonistic antibody for ischemic brain injury. Neurobiol Dis 127:570–581
- 186. Li X, Cheng S, Hu H, Zhang X, Xu J, Wang R, Zhang P (2020) Progranulin protects against cerebral ischemia-reperfusion (I/R) injury by inhibiting necroptosis and oxidative stress. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 521:569–576
- 187. Lu W, Sun J, Yoon JS, Zhang Y, Zheng L, Murphy E, Mattson MP, Lenardo MJ (2016) Mitochondrial protein PGAM5 regulates Mitophagic protection against cell necroptosis. PLoS One 11:e0147792
- 188. Newton K, Dugger DL, Maltzman A, Greve JM, Hedehus M, Martin-McNulty B, Carano RA, Cao TC, van Bruggen N, Bernstein L, Lee WP, Wu X, DeVoss J, Zhang J, Jeet S, Peng I, McKenzie BS, Roose-Girma M, Caplazi P, Diehl L, Webster JD, Vucic D (2016) RIPK3 deficiency or catalytically inactive RIPK1 provides greater benefit than MLKL deficiency in mouse models of inflammation and tissue injury. Cell Death Differ 23:1565–1576
- 189. Wang P, Shao BZ, Deng Z, Chen S, Yue Z, Miao CY (2018) Autophagy in ischemic stroke. Prog Neurobiol 163-164:98–117
- 190. Yang M, Lv Y, Tian X, Lou J, An R, Zhang Q, Li M, Xu L, Dong Z (2017) Neuroprotective effect of beta-Caryophyllene on cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury via regulation of necroptotic neuronal death and inflammation: in vivo and in vitro. Front Neurosci 11:583
- 191. Zille M, Ikhsan M, Jiang Y, Lampe J, Wenzel J, Schwaninger M (2019) The impact of endothelial cell death in the brain and its role after stroke: a systematic review. Cell Stress 3:330–347
- 192. Degterev A, Hitomi J, Germscheid M, Ch'en IL, Korkina O, Teng X, Abbott D, Cuny GD, Yuan C, Wagner G, Hedrick SM, Gerber SA, Lugovskoy A, Yuan J (2008) Identification of RIP1 kinase as a specific cellular target of necrostatins. Nat Chem Biol 4:313–321
- 193. Degterev A, Ofengeim D, Yuan J (2019) Targeting RIPK1 for the treatment of human diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116:9714–9722
- 194. Hitomi J, Christofferson DE, Ng A, Yao J, Degterev A, Xavier RJ, Yuan J (2008) Identification of a molecular signaling network that regulates a cellular necrotic cell death pathway. Cell 135:1311–1323
- 195. Najafov A, Chen H, Yuan J (2017) Necroptosis and cancer. Trends Cancer 3:294–301
- 196. Najafov A, Mookhtiar AK, Luu HS, Ordureau A, Pan H, Amin PP, Li Y, Lu Q, Yuan J (2019) TAM kinases promote necroptosis by regulating oligomerization of MLKL. Mol Cell 75(457–468):e454

- 197. Tao P, Sun J, Wu Z, Wang S, Wang J, Li W, Pan H, Bai R, Zhang J, Wang Y, Lee PY, Ying W, Zhou Q, Hou J, Wang W, Sun B, Yang M, Liu D, Fang R, Han H, Yang Z, Huang X, Li H, Deuitch N, Zhang Y, Dissanayake D, Haude K, McWalter K, Roadhouse C, MacKenzie JJ, Laxer RM, Aksentijevich I, Yu X, Wang X, Yuan J, Zhou Q (2020) A dominant autoinflammatory disease caused by non-cleavable variants of RIPK1. Nature 577:109–114
- 198. Xu D, Jin T, Zhu H, Chen H, Ofengeim D, Zou C, Mifflin L, Pan L, Amin P, Li W, Shan B, Naito MG, Meng H, Li Y, Pan H, Aron L, Adiconis X, Levin JZ, Yankner BA, Yuan J (2018) TBK1 suppresses RIPK1-driven apoptosis and inflammation during development and in aging. Cell 174(1477–1491):e1419
- 199. Ying Z, Pan C, Shao T, Liu L, Li L, Guo D, Zhang S, Yuan T, Cao R, Jiang Z, Chen S, Wang F, Wang X (2018) Mixed lineage kinase domain-like protein MLKL breaks down myelin following nerve injury. Mol Cell 72(457–468):e455

- 200. Yuan J, Amin P, Ofengeim D (2019) Necroptosis and RIPK1mediated neuroinflammation in CNS diseases. Nat Rev Neurosci 20:19–33
- 201. Pedersen WA, Fu W, Keller JN, Markesbery WR, Appel S, Smith RG, Kasarskis E, Mattson MP (1998) Protein modification by the lipid peroxidation product 4-hydroxynonenal in the spinal cords of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. Ann Neurol 44:819–824
- 202. Smith RG, Henry YK, Mattson MP, Appel SH (1998) Presence of 4-hydroxynonenal in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann Neurol 44:696–699
- 203. Eberhardt O, Schulz JB (2003) Apoptotic mechanisms and antiapoptotic therapy in the MPTP model of Parkinson's disease. Toxicol Lett 139:135–151
- 204. El-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (2003) Apoptosis by Par-4 in cancer and neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Cell Res 283:51–66



Par-4-Dependent Apoptosis of Pancreatic Islet β Cells in Type 2 Diabetes

Qi Nan Wu, Ling Zhang, and Bing Chen

Abstract

Pancreatic islet β -cell dysfunction is an underlying cause of type 2 diabetes. Long-term metabolic disorders lead to pancreatic islet β -cell apoptosis, which is one of the main reasons for islet β-cell dysfunction. However, the mechanisms underlying this process are not well understood. The tumor suppressor Par-4, the protein product of the PAWR gene, sensitizes a variety of normal tissue cells to apoptosis induced by diverse insults. Our own research demonstrated that Par-4 plays an important role in the apoptosis pathway activated by high glucose/high fat leading to dysfunction of the islet β -cells and type 2 diabetes. Recent investigations also suggest that Par-4 may induce cell death through autophagy dysfunction, which contributes to islet β -cell elimination. We review the role of secreted and intracellular Par-4 in sensitizing islet β -cells to apoptosis via the caspase-8 and caspase-9 pathways. The significance of Par-4 interactions particularly with the NF-KB pathway and telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) in regulating autophagy dysfunction and apoptosis of islet β -cells is highlighted.

Keywords

Endoplasmic reticulum stress \cdot Mitochondrial dysfunction $\cdot \beta$ -Cell \cdot Apoptosis \cdot Autophagy \cdot Type 2 diabetes \cdot

L. Zhang

B. Chen (🖂)

Par-4 \cdot TERT \cdot Dopamine receptor DRD2 \cdot Insulin resistance

1 Introduction to Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes

According to the 2019 global diabetes map released by the International Diabetes Federation, the number of diabetes cases is on a continuous rise in the world. At present, there are 463 million people in the world living with diabetes, and it is estimated that this number will rise up to 700 million people by the year 2045. Most of these patients have type 2 diabetes. China leads the world with a total number of 116 million diabetes patients, India coming in second with 77 million diabetic patients, and the United States next with 31 million diabetic patients (https://www.singlecare.com/blog/ news/diabetes-statistics/; IDF Diabetes Atlas, 2019). People rarely die from diabetes directly, and it is more likely that someone with diabetes will die from complications with vital organs. Diabetes is one of the main underlying factors associated with blindness, amputation, heart disease, and renal failure to cause premature death. About 11.3% of allcause mortality in the world is thus related to diabetes, and about half (46.2%) of diabetes-related deaths occur in individuals who are under 60 years old. Premature death and disability associated with diabetes have a negative impact on economic growth, and is often referred to the "indirect cost" of diabetes [1].

Most of type 1 diabetes cases are autoimmune diseases, and involve genetic and environmental factors that participate in the pathogenesis of the disease. Key features of type 1 diabetes include the destruction of islet β -cells leading to the absolute lack of insulin. The onset of the disease is often acute, with weight loss, polyuria, ketosis tendency that can occur at any age. Most of these patients need lifelong insulin treatment. The role of the pro-apoptotic tumor suppressor protein Par-4 has not been investigated in type 1 diabetes. On the other hand, Par-4 expression and function has been

Q. N. Wu

Endocrinology Department, Dazu Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, The People's Hospital of Dazu, Chongqing, China

Outpatient Department, the First Affiliated Hospital of the Third Military Medical University(Army Medical University), Chongqing, China

Endocrinology Department, the First Affiliated Hospital of the Third Military Medical University(Army Medical University), Chongqing, China

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), Tumor Suppressor Par-4, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_15

examined in type 2 diabetes, which is a heterogeneous, polygenic complex disease.

Type 2 diabetes is caused by genetic factors and lifestyle factors including over nutrition and sedentary lifestyle with lack of physical activity contributing to obesity. Key features of type 2 diabetes include loss of tissue-sensitivity to insulin, the deficiency of β -cell function and insufficiency of insulin secretion, and/or the abnormal function of α -cell leading to the increase of glucocorticoid secretion. Family history is a predisposing factor for type 2 diabetes and manifests mostly in adults. The onset of the disease is slow and initial symptoms are relatively light, with more than half of the people having no symptoms. Most people are diagnosed with the disease due to chronic complications or comorbidities such as obesity, hypertension, or dyslipidemia. Treatment for type 2 diabetes involves lifestyle readjustment with diet and exercise, oral hypoglycemic drug treatment, and insulin treatment [1].

The main difference between type 1 and type 2 diabetes relates to the pancreatic islet cell anatomical differences. Pancreatic islets or islets of Langerhans are composed of α , β , δ , ϵ -cells, and pancreatic polypeptide (PP) cells. The α -cells produce glucagon, β -cells produce insulin and amylin, δ -cells produce somatostatin, ε -cells produce ghrelin, and the PP cells produce pancreatic polypeptide. In type 1 diabetic patients, two third of the islets have acute insulitis with infiltration of lymphocytes and macrophages, with less than 10% β-cell survival. The local regeneration of islet β-cells is initially seen in patients with a short course of disease, but diminishes with progress of the disease as these cells are destroyed. The exocrine tissue shrinks, β -cells are almost absent, the weight of pancreas decreases, and the weight of islet drops to less than one third of that of normal individuals or type 2 diabetes patients. The islets of Langerhans contain only α cells, ε -cells, and PP cells located at the far end of the head of the pancreas. The number of α and ε -cells in each islet is in the normal range.

Diabetes mellitus and its vascular complications develop as a result of defects caused by oxidative stress. Oxidative stress is accompanied by abnormalities in the telomeretelomerase system and loss of protection of the chromosomal DNA that induces dysfunction in islet β cells, endothelial cells, and insulin resistance [2]. In type 2 diabetes, endoplasmic reticulum stress (ER) and mitochondrial dysfunction is the main mechanism of β -cell apoptosis. Glucose and lipid metabolic disorder may be caused by exposure to high glucose and high fat, amyloid deposition, and inflammatory cytokines that lead to ER stress and mitochondrial dysfunction. These events initiate apoptosis signaling pathways to eliminate damaged cells that cannot be repaired, but the specific process remains unclear [3–7].

Par-4 Induces Apoptosis in Islet β Cells that Is Linked to the Pathogenesis of Diabetes

2

Par-4 is a pro-apoptotic factor with a leucine zipper domain at the carboxyl-terminus and nuclear localization sequence (NLS) within its centrally located SAC domain that are characteristic of the structure of transcription regulators, suggesting that Par-4 may participate in the regulation of cell apoptosis by directing gene transcriptional events [8]. A variety of factors can activate the NLS of endogenous Par-4 and promote its nuclear translocation to induce apoptosis [8, 9]. Endogenous Par-4 activation sensitizes both normal and tumor cells to apoptosis, and this process requires the leucine zipper domain. On the other hand, overexpression of ectopic Par-4 induces apoptosis in cancer cells but not in normal cells, by a mechanism dependent on the centrally situated SAC domain of Par-4. In the nucleus, Par-4 can downregulate the expression of NF- κ B and inhibit cell survival [9]. Moreover, Par-4 protein is also secreted, and extracellular Par-4 binds to GRP78 on the cell membrane to initiate and amplify ER stress and induces the extrinsic apoptosis pathway [10]. On the other hand, Par-4 can also be cleaved by caspase-3 activated through the mitochondrial pathway, and the cleaved Par-4 fragment translocates into the nucleus to induce apoptosis [11]. As many diseases result from the pathophysiological changes associated with ER stress and mitochondrial dysfunction, we performed in vivo and in vitro experiments to test the involvement of Par-4 in apoptosis regulation in islet β -cells [12, 13]. Our studies indicated that in diabetes-induced ER stress, the upregulation of Par-4 is tightly associated with an increase in downstream NF-kB activity, and that Par-4 may participate in the process of ER stress-inducing apoptosis of islet β cells in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes [12, 13]. Our key observations are indicated below.

- 1. Upregulation or down-regulation of Par-4 by itself in islet β cells do not induce apoptosis. However, when associated with high glucose and high palmitate (fat)-induced ER stress, Par-4 upregulation induces apoptosis of islet β cells. Our findings, summarized in Fig. 1, suggest that Par-4 may induce ER stress and lead to apoptosis of islet β cells in type 2 diabetes mellitus. The levels of GRP78 protein are known to be elevated in diabetes and often associated with ER stress. As GRP78 translocates to the plasma membrane in situations of ER stress and serves as a receptor for extracellular Par-4, the downstream pathways induced after extracellular Par-4 engages the GRP78 receptor need further investigation in islet β cells.
- 2. ER stress induced by high glucose-high fat can promote the secretion of Par-4 and also increase the expression of



Fig. 1 Mechanisms of apoptosis induced by Par-4 in diabetes. (1) ER stress promotes Par-4 secretion; (2) secreted Par-4 promotes ER stress; (3) mitochondrial dysfunction promotes Par-4 entry into nucleus to

induce apoptosis; (4) secreted Par-4 induces apoptosis through the extrinsic/cell membrane pathway

intracellular Par-4 in the nucleus of islet β cells. In contrast to cancer cells where Par-4 inhibits NF- κ B activity, we found that Par-4 promotes NF- κ B expression and transcription activity for apoptosis of the islet β cells. Moreover, caspase-8 activity that is activated via the cell membrane associated extrinsic apoptotic pathway was significantly increased. We noted that this process is promoted by ectopic overexpression of Par-4 and impeded by inhibition of endogenous Par-4 expression.

3. High glucose-high fat increases the expression of Par-4 in the nucleus of islet β cells, along with a significant increase in the expression of caspase-9, decreased expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2, and the release of cytochrome C from the mitochondria. As noted above with the extrinsic apoptotic pathway, overexpression of Par-4 promoted the intrinsic apoptosis process, and inhibition of Par-4 expression impede this process, suggesting that the mitochondrial pathway also plays a key role in pancreatic β -cells apoptosis induced by Par-4/ NF-κB. Similar to the effect of diabetes-induced ER stress that causes NF-κB activation and apoptosis of islet β -cells, upregulation of NF-κB produced the same result on its own. NF-κB is a multifunctional transcription factor with a wide range of biological functions. Activated NF-κB exhibits dual regulatory effects involving antiapoptosis or pro-apoptosis depending on the cellular, environmental, and molecular context, but the precise conditions are not well understood.

3 Par-4/TERT Interaction Regulates the Process of Apoptosis in Islet β Cells

Telomeres are repetitive, non-coding, sequences located at the termini of chromosomes. They act as buffers for coding sequences by capping the end-sequences and exhibit several key biological functions: (1) maintaining the stability of chromosomes; (2) prevention of chromosome end fusion; (3) protecting chromosome structure; and (4) determining the lifespan of cells. Chronic inflammation, oxidative stress, and insulin resistance in diabetics may induce islet β-cell senescence associated with telomere shortening and subsequent telomerase dysfunction, which can lead to DNA damage, islet β death, and decreased compensatory capacity [14]. All of these mechanisms play an important role in the pathogenesis and progression of diabetes mellitus. An enzyme called telomerase adds repetitive nucleotide sequences to the ends of the DNA to replenishes the telomere cap. Telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) is the main catalytic subunit of telomerase protein component that is widely expressed in the cytoplasm. Together with the template component of telomerase RNA, it can reconstruct telomerase activity. PAR-4 is one of six proteins that interact with human telomerase reverse transcriptase [15]. Expression of TERT-shRNA in laryngocarcinoma Hep-2 cells can decrease the expression of TERT, increase the nuclear expression of Par-4, and reduce tumor size in nude mice. Importantly, TERT interacts with Par-4 in the cytoplasm, inhibits the translocation of Par-4 to the nucleus, and reduces cell apoptosis [16][[]. Consistently, the expression of Par-4 increased and TERT decreased in newly diagnosed diabetes patients compared with normal controls. The above two indicators were correlated with the secretary index of islet β -cells (Homa- β), indicating that Par-4 and TERT regulate the function of islet β -cells. Moreover, we noted that high glucose and fat can increase the binding of Par-4 to TERT in the cytoplasm, decrease the expression of TERT, and increase the expression of Par-4 in the nucleus to activate NF- κ B [16].

4 Par-4, Autophagy Dysfunction, and Islet β-Cell Apoptosis

Autophagy is generally a cell survival process that can maintain cellular homeostasis through the degradation and recycling of proteins and organelles [17, 18]. This vital process is initiated by starvation, growth factor deprivation, and ER stress [17, 18]. Autophagy eliminates defective proteins and organelles removes intracellular and pathogens. Dysfunctional autophagy is linked to many diseases, such as cancer, inflammatory diseases, and neurodegenerative diseases. As autophagy can reallocate nutrients from unnecessary processes to more pivotal processes required for survival, it plays an important role in the pathogenesis of metabolic disorders including diabetes. Accordingly, loss of autophagy function is noted in diabetic conditions and uncontrolled autophagy leads to non-apoptotic cell death.

In an autopsy report on Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes, it was found that the dysfunction of islet β cells and autophagy dysfunction in type 2 diabetes were closely related to each other [19]. Several laboratories have reported that with the increase in age, the islet β cell itself induces autophagy dysfunction, which leads to the increase of apoptosis and decline of islet β cell [20]. In type 2 diabetic animal and cell culture models, long-term treatment with high glucose and high fat can activate the mTOR signaling pathway, inhibit stearoyl CoA reductase, reduce lysosomal acidity and hydrolase activity, and lead to autophagy corpuscles maturation and fusion with lysosome and degradation capacity deficiency, resulting in autophagy dysfunction [21, 22]. This dysfunctional process is associated with accumulation of a large number of damaged organelles and proteins, and activation of the apoptosis signal pathway in islet β cells [22, 23]. Several laboratories have suggested a role for Par-4 in autophagy [24-27]. We noted that Par-4 induces cell death through autophagy dysfunction as follows: (1) high glucose and high fat increases Par-4 expression, autophagy marker protein accumulation, autophagy obstruction and dysfunction, leading to cell death; (2) upregulation of Par-4 inhibits the binding of Bcl-2 with autophagy gene Becn1, resulting in autophagy cascade obstruction, autophagy dysfunction, and cell death. Moreover, the transcription factors FOXO3a and NF-kB that are regulated by Par-4 are involved in the development of islet β cell autophagy.

Recent studies have shown that TERT is also a key factor in the development of autophagic disorders [28-30]. Overexpression of TERT inhibits the mTOR pathway to activate autophagy. Consistently, the autophagic inducerrapamycin upregulates the expression of TERT. On the other hand, TERT knockout impairs autophagy in mouse renal tubular epithelial cells with p62 protein accumulation, and rapamycin can only partially restore autophagy and ischemia/reperfusion injury. In addition, TERT expression is regulated by the Akt pathway: Akt activation increases TERT expression and telomerase activity. Consistently, one of the important effects of Par-4 activation is inhibition of Akt activation contributing to autophagy dysfunction. Thus, Par-4 participates in the dysfunction of islet β cells in type 2 diabetes as follows: the expression and secretion of Par-4 is elevated, leading to inhibition Akt phosphorylation and TERT expression in the cytoplasm, and activation of nuclear transcription factors NF-kB and FOXO3a in the nucleus to cause autophagy dysfunction and apoptosis of islet β cells (Fig. 2).

5 Par-4 and Insulin Resistance

A number of studies have revealed that abnormal expression of Par-4 is associated with depression and schizophrenia. For example, Par-4 knockout mice lacking the leucine zipper domain exhibit symptoms of depression [31]. Moreover, an investigation of SNPs of the Par-4 gene in a Taiwanese population led to mutations in exon 2 (P78R) and exon 3(I199M)


Fig. 2 Par-4-TERT/ Akt and autophagy dysfunction of islet β cells. Under normal conditions, Par-4 is sequestered by TERT in the cytoplasm. On the other hand, in diabetes environment, Par-4 is activated

that may be associated with schizophrenia. Further studies revealed that these Par-4 mutations interfere with Par-4 interaction with the dopamine D2 receptor DRD2 [32-34]. These observations indicate that Par-4 interaction with DRD2 may be an important mechanism underlying the pathogenesis of schizophrenia and depression. Coincidently, DRD2 is also associated with appetite, obesity, and diabetes [35-40], and the DRD2 agonist bromocriptine that is FDA-approved for the treatment of type 2 diabetes and insulin resistance, also effectively reduces body weight [41]. Moreover, the DRD2 receptor agonist coffee can improve insulin resistance and reduce the risk of diabetes [42]. DRD2 agonists can also inhibit the secretion of insulin, participate in the proliferation and repair of islet β -cells, and high concentration of DRD2 can promote insulin secretion, and regulate apoptosis [43]. As Par-4 regulates the activity of DRD2 [44, 45], we speculate that the interaction between Par-4 and DRD2 is involved in the process of insulin resistance.

and translocated into the nucleus to activate FOXO3a and NF- κ B transcription, inhibit Akt-mTOR signaling pathway, and lead to dysfunction of islet β cells through autophagy dysfunction

6 Future Perspectives

Under physiological conditions, low levels of Par-4 expression may play an important role in the differentiation and metabolism of normal cells. Precisely how Par-4 keeps the balance between ER stress, DRD2, insulin resistance, autophagy dysfunction, and apoptosis is an important question that may shed new light on the role of Par-4 in type 2 diabetes. Also, in view of the potential role of Par-4 in autophagy regulation [46], it would be important to determine how Par-4 activation directs cells to switch between apoptosis and autophagy. Development of Par-4 inhibitors may provide the basis for gene therapy of type 2 diabetes. Moreover, DRD2-based therapy to overcome autophagy dysfunction and apoptosis also may be a promising direction for controlling type 2 diabetes. Acknowledgment This work was supported by the grants from the general project of performance incentive guidance for scientific research institutions of Chongqing Science and Technology Bureau: (cstc2019jxjl130006).

References

- Thomas RL, Halim S, Gurudas S, Sivaprasad S, Owens DR (2019) IDF Diabetes Atlas: a review of studies utilising retinal photography on the global prevalence of diabetes related retinopathy between 2015 and 2018. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 107840. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107840
- Qinan W, Ling Z, Bing C (2015) The influence of the Telomere-Telomerase system on diabetes mellitus and its vascular complications. Expert Opin Ther Targets 19(6):849–864
- 3. Nyalakonda K, Sharma T, Ismail-Beigi F (2010) Preservation of β -cell function in type 2 diabetes. Endocr Pract 16(6):1038–1055
- Brennand K, Huangfu D, Melton D (2007) All beta cells contribute equally to islet growth and maintenance. PLoS Biol 5:e163
- Teta M, Rankin MM, Long SY, Stein GM, Kushner JA (2007) Growth and regeneration of adult beta cells does not involve specialized progenitors. Dev Cell 12:817–826
- Marchetti P, Dotta F, Lauro D, Purrello F (2008) An overview of pancreatic beta-cell defects in human T2D: implications for treatment. Regul Pept 146:4–11
- Ozcan U, Cao Q, Yilmaz E et al (2004) Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. Science 306(5695):457–461
- Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Rangnekar VM (2010) Cancer-selective apoptotic effects of extracellular and intracellular PAR-4. Oncogene 29(27):3873–3880
- Gurumurthy S, Goswami A, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase A is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25(3):1146–1161
- Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A et al (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138(2):377–388
- 11. Thayyullathil F, Pallichankandy S, Rahman A et al (2013) Caspase-3 mediated release of SAC domain containing fragment from Par-4 is necessary for the sphingosine-induced apoptosis in Jurkat cells. J Mol Signal 8(1):2
- Qinan W, Ling Z, Bing C (2014) PAR-4: a possible new target for age-related disease. Expert Opin Ther Targets 18(8):917–927
- QiNan W, XiaGuang G, XiaoTian L, WuQuan D, Ling Z, Bing C (2016) Par-4/NF-κB mediates the apoptosis of islet β cells induced by glucolipotoxicity. J Diabetes Res 2016:4692478
- 14. Liew CW, Holman A, Kulkarni RN (2009) The roles of telomeres and telomerase in beta-cell regeneration. Diabetes Obes Metab 11(Suppl 4):21–29
- Zhou L, Chen B, Hua X et al (2013) Effect of newly identified hTERT-interacting proteins on telomerase activity. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin Shanghai 45(8):674–682
- Chen L, QiNan W, Lei X, Yang M, Gan X, Leng W, Liang Z, Ling Z, Yang G, Chen B (2018) TERT and Akt are involved in the Par-4-dependent apoptosis of islet
 ß cells in type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Res 2018:7653904
- Wang Y, Li YB, Yin JJ, Wang Y, Zhu LB, Xie GY, Pan SH (2013) Autophagy regulates inflammation following oxidative injury in diabetes. Autophagy 9(3):272–277
- Garcia-Bailo B, El-Sohemy A, Haddad PS, Arora P, Benzaied F, Karmali M et al (2011) Vitamins D, C, and E in the prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus: modulation of inflammation and oxidative stress. Biologics 5:7–19

- Mizukami H, Takahashi K, Inaba W, Tsuboi K, Osonoi S, Yoshida T, Yagihashi S (2014) Involvement of oxidative stress-induced DNA damage, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and autophagy deficits in the decline of β-cell mass in Japanese type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 37(7):1966–1974
- 20. Liu Y, Shi S, Gu Z, Du Y, Liu M, Yan S, Gao J, Li J, Shao Y, Zhong W, Chen X, Li C (2013) Impaired autophagic function in rat islets with aging. Age (Dordr) 35(5):1531–1544
- Osório J (2014) Diabetes: Protective role of autophagy in pancreatic β cells. Nat Rev Endocrinol 10(10):575
- 22. Bartolomé A, Kimura-Koyanagi M, Asahara S, Guillén C, Inoue H, Teruyama K, Shimizu S, Kanno A, García-Aguilar A, Koike M, Uchiyama Y, Benito M, Noda T, Kido Y (2014) Pancreatic β-cell failure mediated by mTORC1 hyperactivity and autophagic impairment. Diabetes 63(9):2996–3008
- 23. Las G, Serada SB, Wikstrom JD, Twig G, Shirihai OS (2011) Fatty acids suppress autophagic turnover in β -cells. J Biol Chem 286(49):42534–42544
- 24. Wang LJ, Chen PR, Hsu LP, Hsu WL, Liu DW, Chang CH, Hsu YC, Lee JW (2014) Concomitant induction of apoptosis and autophagy by prostate apoptosis response-4 in hypopharyngeal carcinoma cells. Am J Pathol 184(2):418–430
- 25. Thayyullathil F, Rahman A, Pallichankandy S, Patel M, Galadari S (2014) ROS-dependent prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) upregulation and ceramide generation are the prime signaling events associated with curcumin-induced autophagic cell death in human malignant glioma. FEBS Open Bio 4:763–776
- 26. Notaro A, Sabella S, Pellerito O, Di Fiore R, De Blasio A, Vento R, Calvaruso G, Giuliano M (2014) Involvement of PAR-4 in cannabinoid-dependent sensitization of osteosarcoma cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Int J Biol Sci 10(5):466–478
- 27. Rah B, Rasool R, Nayak D, Yousuf SK, Mukherjee D, Kumar LD, Goswami A (2015) PAWR-mediated suppression of BCL2 promotes switching of 3-azido withaferin A (3-AWA)-induced autophagy to apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. Autophagy 11(2):314–331
- Rivera JF, Costes S, Gurlo T, Glabe CG, Butler PC (2014) Autophagy defends pancreatic β cells from human islet amyloid polypeptide-induced toxicity. J Clin Invest 124(8):3489–3500
- Ali M, Devkota S, Roh JI, Lee J, Lee HW (2016) Telomerase reverse transcriptase induces basal and amino acid starvationinduced autophagy through mTORC1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 478(3):1198–1204
- 30. Liu Q, Sun Y, Lv Y, Le Z, Xin Y, Zhang P, Liu Y (2016) TERT alleviates irradiation-induced late rectal injury by reducing hypoxiainduced ROS levels through the activation of NF-κB and autophagy. Int J Mol Med 38(3):785–793
- Park SK, Nguyen MD, Fischer A, Luke MP, Affarel B, Dieffenbach PB, Tseng HC, Shi Y, Tsai LH (2005) Par-4 links dopamine signaling and depression. Cell 122(2):275–287
- 32. Wang LH, Chen JY, Liou YJ et al (2008) Association of missense variants of the PRKC, apoptosis, WT1, regulator (PAWR) gene with schizophrenia. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 32(3):870–875
- 33. Amar S, Shaltiel G, Mann L, Shamir A, Dean B, Scarr E, Bersudsky Y, Belmaker RH, Agam G (2008) Possible involvement of postdopamine D2 receptor signalling components in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 11(2):197–205
- 34. Glantz LA, Gilmore JH, Overstreet DH et al (2010) Pro-apoptotic PAR-4 and dopamine D2 receptor in temporal cortex in schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and major depression. Schizophr Res 118(1–3):292–299
- 35. Comings DE, Flanagan SD, Dietz G, Muhleman D, Knell E, Gysin R (1993) The dopamine D2 receptor (DRD2) as a major gene in obesity and height. Biochem Med Metab Biol 50(2):176–185
- Jenkinson CP, Hanson R, Cray K, Wiedrich C, Knowler WC, Bogardus C, Baier L (2000) Association of dopamine D2 recep-

tor polymorphisms Ser311Cys and TaqIA with obesity or type 2 diabetes mellitus in Pima Indians. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 24(10):1233–1238

- 37. Tataranni PA, Baier L, Jenkinson C, Harper I, Del Parigi A, Bogardus C (2001) A Ser311Cys mutation in the human dopamine receptor D2 gene is associated with reduced energy expenditure. Diabetes 50(4):901–904
- Thomas GN, Critchley JA, Tomlinson B, Cockram CS, Chan JC (2001) Relationships between the taqI polymorphism of the dopamine D2 receptor and blood pressure in hyperglycaemic and normoglycaemic Chinese subjects. Clin Endocrinol 55(5):605–611
- 39. Southon A, Walder K, Sanigorski AM, Zimmet P, Nicholson GC, Kotowicz MA, Collier G (2003) The Taq IA and Ser311 Cys polymorphisms in the dopamine D2 receptor gene and obesity. Diabetes Nutr Metab 16(1):72–76
- Carpenter CL, Wong AM, Li Z, Noble EP, Heber D (2013) Association of dopamine D2 receptor and leptin receptor genes with clinically severe obesity. Obesity (Silver Spring) 21(9):E467–E473
- 41. de Leeuw van Weenen JE, Parlevliet ET, Maechler P, Havekes LM, Romijn JA, Ouwens DM, Pijl H, Guigas B (2010) The dopamine receptor D2 agonist bromocriptine inhibits glucose-stimulated insu-

lin secretion by direct activation of the alpha2-adrenergic receptors in β cells. Biochem Pharmacol 79(12):1827–1836

- 42. Ding M, Bhupathiraju SN, Chen M, van Dam RM, Hu FB (2014) Caffeinated and decaffeinated coffee consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and a dose-response meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 37(2):569–586
- 43. García-Tornadú I, Ornstein AM, Chamson-Reig A, Wheeler MB, Hill DJ, Arany E, Rubinstein M, Becu-Villalobos D (2010) Disruption of the dopamine d2 receptor impairs insulin secretion and causes glucose intolerance. Endocrinology 151(4):1441–1450
- 44. Zhu X, Peng S, Zhang S, Zhang X (2011) Stress-induced depressive behaviors are correlated with Par-4 and DRD2 expression in rat striatum. Behav Brain Res 223(2):329–335
- 45. Lee S, Jeong J, Park YU, Kwak Y, Lee SA, Lee H, Son H, Park SK (2012) Valproate alters dopamine signaling in association with induction of Par-4 protein expression. PLoS One 7(9):e45618
- 46. Cheratta AR, Thayyullathil F, Pallichankandy S, Subburayan K, Alakkal A, Galadari S (2021) Prostate apoptosis response-4 and tumor suppression: it's not just about apoptosis anymore. Cell Death Dis 12(1):47

Role of PRKC Apoptosis WT1 Regulator in Ocular Development and Diseases

Tahseen Ahmed, Tuneer Ranjan Mallick, Michael A. Walter, and Moulinath Acharya

Abstract

PRKC apoptosis WT1 regulator (PAWR or prostate apoptosis response-4, Par-4) is a prominent tumor suppressor, reported to be involved in regulating WT1 and selectively induces apoptosis in cancer cells. Role of PAWR is also critical in urogenital development. PAWR acts mostly as a transcriptional repressor thus downregulates many genes including WT1 and the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl2. Similar phenomenon is also observed in eve anterior segment development where PAWR inhibits PITX2 activity, mutations in which cause anterior segment dysgenesis (ASD) and glaucoma. Nonetheless, PAWR interacts differently with FOXC transcription factors, primarily involved in the eye anterior segment development. PAWR-FOXC complex exerts both activation and repression in a target-specific manner. This becomes even more complex when the presence of PAWR along with PITX2 and FOXC proteins upregulates PITX2 activity additively, whereas PAWR alone acts as a repressor of PITX2 transactivation. Genetic interactions of *pitx2*, *foxc1a*, *foxc1b*, and *pawr* have also been observed in zebrafish using morpholinomediated knockdown experiments. Altogether, PAWR acts as a modulator in this complex regulatory network of transcription factors involved in the development of eye anterior segment. Further functional investigation is certainly needed to decipher the underlying biology of PAWR in ocular development, as the facts mentioned

Tahseen Ahmed, Tuneer Ranjan Mallick contributed equally to this work.

T. Ahmed · T. R. Mallick · M. Acharya (⊠) National Institute of Biomedical Genomics, Kalyani, West Bengal, India e-mail: mal@nibmg.ac.in

M. A. Walter Department of Medical Genetics, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada above are mostly obtained from a few published reports that are available so far.

Keywords

Par-4 · PAWR · PRKC apoptosis WT1 regulator · Ocular development · Pituitary homeobox 2 (PITX2) · Forkhead box C1 (FOXC1) · FOXC2 · Anterior segment dysgenesis

1 Introduction

The development of the eye in vertebrates follows a series of interconnected events. This is dependent on the expression of various key molecules including certain transcription factors, growth factors, nuclear proteins, and enzymes that are transcribed during development. The expression of transcription factors is instrumental in determining the fate of organ development because it is not only dependent on the expression level of the transcription factor in a specific tissue but rather also dependent on the particular time (spatio-temporal) when the transcription factor is expressed during development. Therefore, the complex regulatory network comprising of these key molecules are the determinants of not only ocular development but the development of the whole embryo. Here, we will discuss a complex regulatory network consisting of the transcription factors pituitary homeobox 2 (PITX2), forkhead box C1 (FOXC1), and FOXC2 in the ocular development and the interaction of prostate apoptosis response 4 (PAR4), also known as PRKC apoptosis WT1 regulator (PAWR), in determining the activity of these transcription factors. Any mutation or deleterious changes in these genes can cause an imbalance in the regulatory networks and therefore result in developmental defects associated with disorders involving eye anterior segment.



2 Structure of the Human Eye

The human eye is grossly similar to other vertebrates, including fish, amphibians, reptiles, birds, and other mammals. Human eye (Fig. 1) is embedded in the skull in the orbital cavity and cushioned in place by adipose tissue and muscles. The eye is composed of three tunics based on their position. The fibrous tunic is the outermost covering of the eye and it gives the eye its structure. Sclera is an avascular connective tissue that gives the typical white color to the eyes. It is continuous with the transparent cornea that transmits light inside the eye.

The vascular tunic (uvea) is the middle layer of the eye and it supplies blood to the eyeball. The choroid, situated inwards of the sclera, is composed of highly vascular connective tissue. The iris is a muscular ring surrounding the pupil. It is essential for the accommodation of light entering the eyeball and acts as the aperture of a camera. It is pigmented and results in different eye colors.

The internal tunic is the innermost layer and consists of photoreceptors and ganglionic layers.

Perhaps the most important structure of the eye is the transparent lens. It is composed of crystallin protein fibers and focuses the incident light on the fovea centralis. The ciliary body connects the lens to the sclera and encircles the pupil. Zonular fibers form a suspensory ligament that attaches the ciliary body. The lens divides the ocular chamber into two segments—anterior and posterior.

The anterior segment is filled with aqueous humor secreted by the ciliary bodies into the posterior chamber (between iris and lens) and enters the anterior chamber (between cornea and iris) through the pupil. The aqueous humor provides nourishment to the avascular cornea and lens. The aqueous humor drains into the venous blood through the Schlemm's canal. This drainage of aqueous humor is aided by trabecular meshwork that line the base of the ciliary body. Blockage of this canal by closure of the angle between the iris and cornea leads to glaucoma.

The posterior chamber is filled with a jelly-like vitreous humor that supports the eyeball, provides nourishment to the retina, and acts as a refractive medium. The retina is the photosensitive layer and is responsible for generating nerve impulses that give the sensation of vision. The retina is com-



Fig. 1 Structure of a typical human eye

posed of multiple layers of cells that include photoreceptors, ganglionic cells, neural fibers, and pigmented epithelium. Neural fibers gather at the optic disc and give rise to the optic nerve.

3 Development of Eye Anterior Segment

Tissues from different embryonic origin are involved in the development of the vertebrate eye. The retina and the epithelial layers of the iris and ciliary body are from the anterior neural plate whereas the lens and cornea are derived from the surface ectoderm. During gastrulation, a single eye field is formed which then separates into two forming the optic vesicle (Fig. 2a) and the optic cup (Fig. 2b). Various genes including genes encoding cytoskeletal proteins, structural proteins, membrane proteins, and transcription factors become activated during development [1].

Cells from the periocular mesenchyme migrate into the cornea paving way for future corneal stromal development, i.e., sclera, iris stroma, endothelium, trabecular meshwork, ciliary stroma, and ciliary muscle (Fig. 2c, d). Remodeling of vasculature in the corneoscleral transition zone gives rise to the Schlemm's canal and is likely derived from periocular mesenchyme [2]. The iris and the ciliary body arise from the optic cup. The retinal pigmented epithelial cells form from the outer layer of the optic cup, and the main part of the inner layer of the optic cup forms later the neural retina. The retinal ganglion cells grow and form the optic nerve [1].

Mutations in certain transcription factors have been found to cause disease of the anterior segment such as developmental glaucoma, Peters anomaly, Axenfeld–Rieger Syndrome, and anterior segment dysgenesis. Anterior segment development of the eye involves a series of inductive events in a spatio-temporal manner [3]. Malformation of periocular mesenchyme with respect to patterning, migration or differentiation may contribute to glaucoma and ASD [2].

4 Disorders Related to Ocular Development

Anterior segment dysgenesis (ASD) refers to any abnormality caused during the development of the anterior segment of the eye. The tissues of the eye are derived from both embryonic ectoderm (surface and neural) and mesoderm. Hence, a large number of morphogenetic factors are required for proper spatio-temporal organization in ocular development. Mutations in genes coding for these factors lead to ASD.

ASD spectrum disorders can be classified according to their phenotypes in three ways—those with both ocular and systemic phenotypes (Axenfeld–Rieger Syndrome, Peters plus), those with only ocular phenotypes (primary congenital glaucoma), and those primarily having non-ocular systemic phenotype (Alagille syndrome) with a few ASD features (dental abnormalities) [4].

4.1 ASD Disorders Showing both Ocular and Systemic Phenotypes

Axenfeld–Rieger syndrome (ARS): It is characterized by heterogeneous phenotypes with high penetrance. ARSaffected individuals show iris atrophy, corectopia, pseudopolycoria, posterior embryotoxon characterized by an anteriorly displaced Schwalbe's line, and iris strands invading the trabecular meshwork. Iridocorneal angle deformities, iris atrophy, and thickening of meshwork impairs outflow and leads to glaucoma. 50% of the individuals are diagnosed for glaucoma at an earlier period than typical primary congenital glaucoma [5].

Craniofacial abnormalities consisting of tissues of neural crest origin are recognized in making the diagnosis of ARS, particularly in family members with a mild ocular phenotype. Facial deformities include midface hypoplasia, a broad flat nasal root, maxillary and occasionally mandibular hypoplasia, short philtrum, thin upper lip, and larger everted lower lip. Maxillary hypoplasia and maldevelopment of the teeth produce a prognathic profile. Hypertelorism and telecanthus have also been reported. Inspection of the oral cavity often shows various dental deformities [6].

Mutations in the *PITX2* and *FOXC1* [7] genes have been shown to cause ARS. Pedigree analyses showed mutations in 4q25 (PITX2 locus) [8] and 6p25 [9] (FOXC1 locus) in more than half of the probands [10, 11]. Other rare variants identified include 13q14 and 16q24 [11, 12]. Recently, mutations within the coding regions of two additional genes, *COL4A1* [13] and *PRDM5* [14] have been suggested to result in a small fraction of ARS patients (less than 1%).

Peters anomaly and Peters plus syndrome: Like ARS, Peters and Peters plus anomalies also show phenotypic heterogeneity. Both autosomal-dominant and autosomalrecessive forms of Peters anomaly have been described [15, 16]. The most notable hallmarks of the Peters anomaly Type I are central corneal opacity, iridocorneal adhesions, corneolenticular adhesions, and defects in Descemet's membrane. Type II in addition shows lens abnormalities and tends to be bilateral. Like ARS, individuals with Peters anomaly have 50% higher risk of glaucoma [15].

Peters plus syndrome is an extension of Peters anomaly where individuals exhibit systemic phenotypes which includes short stature, cleft lip palate, growth, and mental delay [17, 18].

Peters anomaly is genetically heterogeneous. Mutations in PITX2, PAX6, and CYP1B1[20–22] have been linked to

Fig. 2 Development of eye: (a) The neural ectoderm (NE), shown in yellow, moves through the periocular mesenchyme (M), shown in pink, and forms a sac-like structure called the optic vesicle (OV) until it touches the surface ectoderm (SE), shown in purple. (b) The surface ectoderm invaginates to form the lens primordia (LM) while the optic vesicle forms the optic cup (OC). (c) The lens primordia is filled up with fibrous tissue and forms the crystalline lens (L). The lens detaches from the surface ectoderm which gives rise to the corneal epithelium (CE). The optic cup forms the neural retina and optic nerve (ON). (d) The SE forms the corneal epithelium while the periocular mesenchyme gives rise to the corneal stroma (CS), corneal endothelium (CN), iris stroma (I), Schlemm's canal (SC), and trabecular meshwork (TM). The optic cup forms the ciliary body(CB) while the mesenchyme forms the muscle of the ciliary body. (The spatio-temporal expression of PAWR (blue), FOXC1 (red), and PITX2 (green) are shown as dots)

CB



disease. Peters plus syndrome is an autosomal-recessive congenital disorder linked to the B3GALTL gene [19].

4.2 ASD Disorders Showing Only Ocular Phenotypes

Primary congenital glaucoma: Glaucoma is a disease related to elevated intraocular pressure (IOP) due to defects in drainage of the aqueous humor. Increased IOP may be caused by blockage of the Schlemm's canal and the trabecular meshwork (open-angle glaucoma) or the closure of the iridocorneal angle (primary angle-closure glaucoma). Glaucoma is typically a late-onset disease with disease phenotype manifesting after 40 years of age. Individuals with ASD have a higher risk of secondary childhood glaucoma. Unlike lateonset glaucoma, PCG develops at birth or within 2 years after birth and is related to maldevelopment of meshwork and Schlemm's canal.

PCG is an autosomal-recessive disorder showing high genetic heterogeneity. Linkage analyses have identified mutations in the cytochrome P4501B1 (CYP1B1) gene in the GLC3A locus as the PCG-causing gene [20, 21]. Strong associations have been found with two additional loci at 1p36 (GLC3B) and 14q24.3 (GLC3C) [4].

Aniridia: The term aniridia means "lack of iris." Aniridia is a rare autosomal-dominant disorder and is associated with iris hypoplasia, ciliary body hypoplasia, lens dislocation, and corneal opacity [22]. Mutations in the PAX6 transcription factor gene is determined as the causative factor, however, one mutation in the FOXC1 gene was found in a patient with aniridia [23].

Corneal hereditary endothelial dystrophy (CHED) caused by mutations in the CHED1 (autosomal-dominant) and CHED2 (autosomal-recessive) genes [24]. Megalocornea is another disorder showing only ocular phenotype and is caused by mutations in the CHRDL1 gene (X-linked) coding for ventroptin, a BMP antagonist [25].

4.3 Non-ocular Systemic Disorders Having ASD Features

Alagille syndrome (AGS): Ocular development is orchestrated by an interplay of various developmental cues and morphogens. Hence, it is not surprising that various systemic disorders often show ocular dysmorphisms. Alagille syndrome (AGS) is an autosomal-dominant disorder caused by mutations in the 20p12 region containing the JAG1 gene [26, 27]. It is characterized by chronic cholestasis resulting from low bile production by hepatocytes or obstruction of bile flow due to maldeveloped hepatic ducts. Other phenotypes associated with AGS are facial dysmorphisms, cardiac anomalies, and butterfly vertebra. However, the preliminary diagnosis for AGS is the presence of posterior embryotoxon (prominent Schwalbe's line between the iris and cornea) [27]. Other systemic disorders showing ocular phenotypes are SHORT and Pierson Syndrome [4].

Occulodentodigital syndrome: This is a condition that affects different parts of the body including eyes, teeth, and fingers. This is inherited in an autosomal-dominant manner. It is caused by mutation in GJA1 gene [28]. People having this condition can have widely spaced small eyes (microphthalmia). The affected individuals might experience vision loss because of glaucoma and strabismus (a condition in which one or both eyes are turned inwards). Tooth deformities are characterized by missing tooth and weak enamel leading to multiple cavities. Syndactyly (webbing of the skin) between fourth and fifth fingers or toes and bony outgrowth in the hands can also happen in the affected individuals [29, 30].

5 PRKC Apoptosis WT1 Regulator (PAWR)/Prostate Apoptotic Response-4 (PAR-4)

PAWR/PAR4 as the name suggests was first identified in the cells of prostate cancer that were undergoing apoptosis [31]. PAR4 has a leucine zipper domain, and it is expressed in a wide variety of cells normal as well as cancer cells [32, 33]. Although endogenous PAR4 might not cause apoptosis, it is essential for apoptosis caused by various exogenous insults [32, 33]. PAR4 has a selective action to promote apoptosis in cancer cells and not in normal cells [34]. It was found that the cancer cells underwent apoptosis if PAR4 was overexpressed in them but this did not happen in normal cells [34]. The region of PAR4 protein responsible for its pro-apoptotic action is the central SAC region which spans from amino acid 137 to 195. Importantly, neither PTEN nor P53 is required for PAR4-mediated apoptosis. Even the overexpression of the anti-apoptotic proteins BCL2 and BCL-XL cannot inhibit the apoptotic action via PAR4 overexpression [34, 35].

Nuclear localization of the SAC domain of PAR4 is critical for the pro-apoptotic activity of PAR4. Cancer cells in which nuclear localization of PAR4 does not happen are resistant to apoptosis; a feature associated with poor prognosis [36]. Although the nuclear translocation of the SAC domain happens in normal as well as cancer cells, PAR4mediated apoptosis occurs only in cancer cells only [36]. This selective response can be explained by the fact that PAR4 needs to be phosphorylated at the T155 residue via the Protein Kinase A (PKA) activity that is higher in cancer cells than in normal cells [35, 36].

The role of PAR4 as a tumor suppressor has been shown in knockout mice-models where the Par4 knockout mice developed tumors in various tissues, including chemical and hormone-induced tumors [37]. Several mechanisms have been proposed by which the PAR4 protein can become nonfunctional. There is evidence of the presence of Stop-gain mutations in endometrial tumors [38]. There are other ways by which PAR4 can be rendered non-functional, including post-transcriptional modification and methylation in the case of endometrial tumors [38]. PAR4 can also be inactivated by binding of the cell survival kinase Akt1 which phosphorylates it as in prostate cancer making it a substrate for 14-3-3 chaperone resulting in the sequestration of PAR4 in the cytoplasm [35, 39]. Akt1 binds to PAR4 via its leucine zipper domain. Since the SAC domain of PAR4 lacks the leucine zipper domain, it is not inactivated by Akt. Therefore, the SAC domain of PAR4 can selectively induce apoptosis in cancer cells. The phosphorylated SAC domain of PAR4 translocates to the nucleus and inhibits the prosurvival NFκB DNA-binding activity [40].

PAWR/PAR4 has been also shown to interact with the Wilm's Tumor 1 (WT1) tumor suppressor gene. While WT1 itself functions as a transcriptional repressor, interactions with PAR4 enhance this activity. PAR4 can bind to WT1 via the leucine zipper domain of PAR4 and the zinc finger DNA-binding domain of WT1. PAR4 was shown to inhibit WT1-mediated transcription and augment WT1-mediated repression. It has been suggested that PAR4-enhanced WT1 repression activity possibly by providing an additional repression domain [3].

6 Regulatory Network of Transcription Factors in Ocular Disease and Development

Up until this point, we have explored the general mechanism of action of the PAWR/PAR4 gene in tumor suppression as well as how PAR4 can act as a transcriptional modulator via its interaction with other proteins/transcription factors. The role of transcription factors is very important if we think about the course of development in an organism because the spatio-temporal expression and interaction of these transcription factors can have a synergistic effect on development. In ocular development, there is a complex regulatory network of transcription factors which function together synergistically, and if there are any deleterious mutations in any of these genes then the complex interaction in this network can be disrupted leading to ocular diseases [41–43].

Pituitary homeobox 2 (PITX2) and forkhead box C 1 (FOXC1) and forkhead box C 2 (FOXC2) are among the transcription factors that are instrumental in ocular development. PITX2 belongs to the paired-bicoid family of homeodomain (HD) transcription factors whereas, FOXC1 protein is a member FOX class of transcription factors characterized by the presence of a conserved domain of 110 amino acids which binds to the DNA (DNA-Binding Domain). PITX2 is involved in the formation of anterior segment of eye, pituitary gland, hind limbs and in brain morphogenesis [44, 45]. FOXC1, on the other hand, regulates the development of various organs and oncogenesis [46]. There are numerous mutations in PITX2 as well as FOXC1 which have been characterized in Axenfeld-Rieger syndrome (ARS). More than 50% of ARS patients present with glaucoma that is often recalcitrant to normally prescribed glaucoma medications [8, 47, 48]. As well, PITX2 mutations have been identified in relation to ocular diseases including iridogoniodysgenesis, iris hypoplasia [49], and rarer cases of a Peters-like anomaly [50]. In case of FOXC1 while frameshift insertions/deletions and nonsense mutations have been found, the majority of FOXC1 mutations are missense mutations occurring in the FHD [44, 51]. Molecular characterizations have shown that mutations within the coding regions of either gene typically result in loss of protein functions which include impaired nuclear localization, DNA binding, protein-protein interactions, and transactivation capacity [52]. These types of mutations give rise to misfolded/truncated proteins that do not function properly and activate the FOXC1 and PITX2 target genes, thus leading to the disease phenotypes [53].

FOXC2 also belongs to the forkhead box family of transcription factors. It shares almost 98% sequence identity in the FHD [54]. The expression pattern of FOXC1 and FOXC2 in embryonic development is largely overlapping [55].

Functional role of PITX2 C-terminal mutations were analyzed in ARS patients. It has been shown that the mutations occurring in the critical DNA-binding homeodomain region of the PITX2 protein result in the significant decrease of function of PITX2 [56], but the mechanism by which the mutations in the C-terminal region of the PITX2 induced pathogenesis gene was unknown. The C-terminal mutations like L105V and N108T lie in the domain of PITX2 shown to be responsible for inhibiting transcriptional activation. Therefore, these mutations did not cause DNA-binding defects in the protein, but instead were responsible for a less stable PITX2 mutant protein with elevated activity. It has been suggested that these C-terminal mutations result in stochastic deregulation, due to elevated activity of PITX2, during ocular development that in turn leads to disease [57].

6.1 Molecular Interaction between PITX2A And FOX Proteins

PITX2 has 4 splice variants (A, B, C, and D) of which PITX2D lacks the HD and thus may be of limited physiological significance. The PITX2A isoform, encoded as a 32 kDa polypeptide, is the best studied isoform in case of ARS. The expression patterns of *Foxc1* and *Pitx2a* during murine development matches with the organs affected in ARS. Immunostaining assays in murine eye primordia showed that at E11.5 (embryonic day) FOXC1 and PITX2 are co-expressed in the periocular mesenchyme cells fated to form the corneal endothelium, choroidal capillaries, and sclera. By E12.5, the co-expression spreads to the posterior of the optic cup. By E16.5, FOXC1 and PITX2 are coexpressed in specific ocular structures like the corneal endothelium, iridocorneal angle, and choroid (Fig. 2). It has been shown that FOXC1 and PITX2 physically interact (Fig. 3) and highly colocalize inside the cell nucleus [57]. Mutations in the NLS region of the proteins interfere with the normal translocation into the nucleus. PITX2A binds to FOXC1's PITX2-binding domain (PITX2BD) located at the C-terminal third (residues 475-553) of FOXC1. The binding domain overlaps with the C-terminal activation domain (AD2; residues 436-553) of FOXC1. The homeobox domain (HD) of PITX2A is extremely crucial for binding to FOXC1, as deletions of the PITX2A HD (residues 39-98) completely ablate the PITX2A-FOXC1 binding (Fig. 3). The degree of co-expression varies across cells suggesting a quantitative difference in relative expression of the two factors in individual cells [3].

PITX2 acts as a negative regulator of FOXC1 transcriptional activity (Fig. 4a). Cells transfected with FOXC1 along with PITX2 showed marked impairment in activation of FOXC1 reporter genes as compared to FOXC1 alone. PITX2 interacts with FOXC2 in a similar way [57].

6.2 Molecular Interaction of PAWR/PAR4 with FOXC Proteins

PAWR/PAR4 interacts with FOXC1 as well as FOXC2 both in vitro and in vivo (discussed in detail in Sect. 8.1). In vitro, full-length 6XHIS-tagged PAWR/PAR4 protein, expressed in bacteria and then bound to Ni²⁺ agarose beads, was able to pull down either V5 epitope-tagged FOXC1 or FOXC2 expressed in human trabecular meshwork cells. This interaction was then also reconfirmed by co-immunoprecipitation. Subsequent investigations revealed that FOXC1 and FOXC2 interact with PAWR through their inhibitory domains. In converse experiments, it was demonstrated that the C-terminal leucine zipper domain of PAWR/PAR4 is sufficient to interact with either FOXC1 or FOXC2 (Fig. 3) [3].



Fig. 3 Domain-map of the interacting regions of PAWR, PITX2, and FOXC1: PAWR interacts with PITX2 (shown in blue) and FOXC1 (shown in red) through its leuzine zipper (LZ) domain and binds to the homeodomain (HD) and inhibitory domain (ID) 1 of PITX2, and inhib-

itory domain of FOXC1. PITX2 has two binding sites for FOXC1 (shown in green). The activation domain (AD) 2 of FOXC1 binds to both the HD and ID-1, and ID-2 of PITX2



Fig. 4 Molecular Interactions between PAWR, PITX2, and FOXC1: (a) PITX2 upon binding to FOXC1 attached to a FOX-binding site (FOXBS) causes transcriptional repression resulting in silencing of the FOX target genes. FOXC1, however, has no effect on the transcriptional activity of PITX2 bound to its binding site (PITXBS) when present

6.3 PAWR Regulates PITX2, FOXC1, and FOXC2 Function

The various interactions of PAWR with PITX2 and the FOXC proteins make it a crucial regulator of these transcription factors. Research showed that a complex regulatory mechanism exists among these factors (Fig. 4).

6.4 PAWR Influences FOXC Activity in a Gene-Specific Manner

FOXC1 and FOXC2 binds to the upstream regulatory elements of FOXO1A and FGF19 genes and enhance their expression. FGF19 is responsible for the development of cornea via FGFR4/MAPK pathway as knocking down of FGF19 leads to ASD in zebrafish (*D. rerio*). FOXO1A modulates FOXC1-dependent cell viability and provides resistance to oxidative stress in the eye.

alone. (b) PAWR influences the activity of FOXC1 in a gene-specific manner. In some cases (FGF19), it causes transcriptional activation, while in some cases (FOXO1A) it causes repression. (c) PAWR when present alone suppresses PITX2 activity. However, in the presence of FOXC proteins a synergistic effect on PITX2 activity is observed

Dual luciferase assays showed that the presence of PAWR significantly enhances transcriptional activity of FOXbinding domains in HTM cells as compared to FOXC1 or FOXC2 alone. However, further analyses showed that PAWR influences FOXC (1 and 2) activity in a target gene-specific manner (Fig. 4b). FOXC and PAWR co-expression positively influenced FGF19 expression. On the contrary, PAWR exerts a negative control on FOXO1A regulatory element activity [3].

6.5 PAWR Influences PITX2 in a Complex Manner

PAWR acts as a repressor of PITX2 activity as HTM cells co-expressing PAWR and PITX2 showed 50% reduced transcriptional activity as compared to PITX2 alone. However, the exact regulation mechanism(s) appears complex. As discussed, PITX2 interacts with FOXC proteins and represses their activity. Recent findings suggest that FOXC proteins act in synergy with PAWR to upregulate PITX2 activity. PITX2 with FOXC proteins alone did not show any change in transactivational activity. An increase in FOXC2 levels in the presence of PAWR proportionally increased PITX2 activity (Fig. 4c). These findings suggest that PITX2, FOXC2, and PAWR act together to increase PITX2 transactivation. PAWR interacts with FOXC1, FOXC2, and PITX2 through a common domain (LZ) but the changes in activity is not due to competition for binding sites (Fig. 3) [58, 59].

7 PAWR in Ocular Development

FOXC1 and PITX2 are co-expressed in the periocular mesenchyme that gives rise to the tissues of the anterior chamber (Fig. 2). They potentiate migration and condensation of cells forming the cornea and trabecular meshwork. In addition to ocular tissues, PITX2 is expressed in the heart, pituitary, branchial arches, and ventral body wall [60]. In zebrafish, PITX2 is expressed in lateral plate mesoderm and diencephalon early in development; hence, mutations may cause antero-posterior deformities and hydrocephalus. FOXC1 is expressed in the developing vasculature and is crucial for the development of the hyaloid vessel and maintenance of the vascular membrane integrity [3].

In zebrafish, PAWR protein is present in the lens and diffusely throughout the eye during embryonic development [61] (Fig. 2). In mouse, PAWR was expressed in the mesenchyme of the iridocorneal angle of the eye at different developmental stages [8, 59, 62–65].

8 Dysregulation of PAWR Causes ASD

As discussed previously, PAWR acts as a regulator of the transcription factors (FOXC1, FOXC2, and PITX2). Mutations of these transcription factors cause AR phenotypes. Both PITX2 and FOXC1 are required at a strictly enforced level during ocular development as suggested by hypo- and hypermorphic disease-causing mutations, and deletions and duplications of those genes [66–69]. In a cellular context, mutations in PITX2 lead to loss of function of PITX2-target genes as well as dysregulated expression of FOXC1-target genes.

8.1 Phenotypic Effects of Knockdown of PITX2, FOXC1, and PAWR

Morpholino-knockdown experiments on zebrafish effectively showed phenotypic alterations due to PITX2, FOXC1, and PAWR knockdowns. Splice-site blocking morpholinos (MOs) were used against PAWR and PITX2 that produced aberrant products, while translation-blocking morpholinos were produced against FOXC1. Zebrafish embryos at 48 hpf (hours post-fertilization) were injected with morpholinos at two doses: low (2.5 ng/embryo) and high (5 ng/embryo). Embryos injected with PITX2MOs showed several gross deformities, like heart edema, slight hydrocephaly, shorter body length, and a ventrally curved tail. Ocular hemorrhage around the iris was observed at a lower frequency in both low (14%) and high (29%) doses [60] (Fig. 5a).

Translation-blocking *foxc1* MOs were designed for both *foxc1a* and *foxc1b* which are orthologs of FOXC1. *foxc2* MOs could not be used as zebrafish lacks FOXC2. Low doses (1.25 ng/embryo) resulted in ocular hemorrhaging, while high doses (3.25 ng/embryo) resulted in gross abnormalities like hydrocephalus, and reduced body length [3]. Therefore, the phenotypes induced by *pitx2* morpholinos are similar to those induced by *foxc1* morpholinos, indicating a similar role of the two factors in ocular development (Fig. 5a). Splice-site blocking MOs against *pawr* did not show any effects [3].

8.2 Genetic Interactions among PAWR, PITX2, and FOXC1

Concerted knockdown of genes at a sub-effective dosage of MOs is used to determine any genetic interactions between them. Sub-effective dosage is defined as the amount of MO when injected does not produce any phenotype. Sub-effective doses for *pitx2, pawr*, and *foxc1* were determined to be 2, 5, and 1.2 ng/embryo, respectively. Appearance of abnormal phenotype in the presence of MOs for two genes, both at sub-effective dosage signifies a genetic interaction between the genes. As they share a common pathway, knocking down both genes cause amplification of defects resulting in manifestation of abnormal phenotype, which would not be the case if single MOs were injected (Fig. 5b) [3].

Coinjection of *pawr* and *pitx2* MOs at sub-effective doses at 48 hpf resulted in hemorrhaging around the iris, similar to effective doses of *pitx2* MO alone. Hemorrhaging was also observed in the central nervous system (CNS). Coinjection of *pawr* and *foxc1* MOs at sub-effective doses results in hydrocephaly (87.4%), hemorrhaging in the CNS (23.6%). Hemorrhaging was observed in wild type as well as transgenic zebrafish Tg(gata1:dsRed)sd2/+ that express dsRed in erythrocytes (Fig. 5b) [3].

Moreover, additive effects of *pitx2* and *foxc1* MOs resulted in reduced brain size, necrosis, and hydrocephaly. These phenotypes were not observed when the MOs were injected individually, suggesting that they are critical for brain morphogenesis (Fig. 5b) [3].



Fig. 5 Phenotypes produced by PAWR, PITX2, and FOXC1 morpholinos in zebrafish: Splice-blocking (SB) MOs were used against PAWR and PITX2, while translation-blocking morpholinos (dMOs) were used against FOXC1A and FOXC1B. (**a**) Effective doses (both low and high) of MOs against FOXC1 and PITX2 produced severe developmental

anomalies. However, PAWR MOs did not produce any notable phenotypic alterations. (**b**) Coinjection of MOs in sub-effective doses also produced phenotypes similar to single injection of MOs. This shows a genetic interaction exists between the two factors PITX2 and FOXC1 and PAWR acts as the regulator

Thus, PAWR lies in the same pathway as PITX2 and FOXC1 and affects vasculogenesis and basement membrane formation. PAWR acts as a crucial regulator of both PITX2 and FOXC proteins [3].

Future Perspectives

9

The transcription factors (PITX2, FOXC1, and FOXC2) and the regulator (PAWR/PAR4) are involved in a complex regulatory network as discussed earlier. Mutations in these three transcription factors are directly involved in ASD and glaucoma pathogenesis. PAWR acts as a crucial regulator of both PITX2 and FOXC proteins in a target-specific manner. It is important to note that while PAWR can repress PITX2 activity, it also works in synergy with FOXC proteins to increase PITX2 activity. PAWR/PAR4 regulates the activity of PITX2 and FOXC transcription factors thus regulating the downstream target gene expression in a complex manner. The morpholino-knockdown experiments in zebrafish also confirmed the biological significance of these genes in ocular development and diseases.

PAWR, being a tumor suppressor has a major role as a regulator and inducer of apoptotic pathways selectively in cancer cells. It has been established as a key regulator, more specifically an inhibitor of WT1 function, which is a transcription factor involved primarily in the development of urogenital system. The fact that PAWR acts as a transcriptional repressor is also established in eye anterior segment development as it inhibits PITX2 activity. However, the interaction between PAWR and FOXC transcription factors becomes complicated where FOXC-PAWR complex exerts target-specific effects of activation and repression. Further it acquires more complexities when PAWR performs a complete role reversal and favors PITX2 transactivation in the presence of FOXC proteins and that too, with an additive effect. While genetic interaction between Pitx2, Pawr and Foxc proteins is established using morpholino-mediated knockdown in zebrafish, the underlying mechanism of this specific additive effect of PITX2 transactivation by PAWR in the presence of FOXC proteins remains elusive. An experimental design from a stoichiometric perspective would have a great potential to resolve this.

So far, the role of PAWR in ocular development, more specifically in eye anterior segment development is somewhat ambiguous and mostly based on a few reports. Apparently, involvement of PAWR in the development of eye anterior segment is not simple and unidirectional but rather convoluted and multifaceted. Thus, complete delineation of PAWR's role in this regulatory network of transcription factors or other similar networks and pathways warrants further in-depth and extensive functional investigation both at cellular and molecular level and in an appropriate animal model where it would be easier to study developmental stages of organogenesis with a special emphasis on ocular development.

References

- Graw J. Eye development. In: 2010. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0070-2153(10)90010-0
- Gould DB, Smith RS, John SWM (2004) Anterior segment development relevant to glaucoma. Int J Dev Biol 48(8-9). https://doi. org/10.1387/ijdb.041865dg

- Acharya M, Huang L, Fleisch VC, Allison WT, Walter MA (2011) A complex regulatory network of transcription factors critical for ocular development and disease. Hum Mol Genet 20:8. https://doi. org/10.1093/hmg/ddr038
- Ito YA, Walter MA (2014) Genomics and anterior segment dysgenesis: a review. Clin Exp Ophthalmol 42(1):13–24. https://doi. org/10.1111/ceo.12152
- Chang TC, Summers CG, Schimmenti LA, Grajewski AL (2012) Axenfeld-Rieger syndrome: new perspectives. Br J Ophthalmol 96(3):318–322. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjophthalmol-2011-300801
- Kumar Jena A, Kharbanda O (2006) Axenfeld-Rieger syndrome: report on dental and craniofacial findings. J Clin Pediatr Dent 30:1. https://doi.org/10.17796/jcpd.30.1.v1732398454r0244
- Gould DB, Mears AJ, Pearce WG, Walter MA (1997) Autosomal dominant Axenfeld-Rieger anomaly maps to 6p25. Am J Hum Genet 61(3):765
- Semina EV, Reiter R, Leysens NJ et al (1996) Cloning and characterization of a novel bicoid-related homeobox transcription factor gene, RIEG, involved in Rieger syndrome. Nat Genet 14:4. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ng1296-392
- Kannu P, Oei P, Slater HR, Khammy O, Aftimos S (2006) Epiphyseal dysplasia and other skeletal anomalies in a patient with the 6p25 microdeletion syndrome. Am J Med Genet A 140A:18. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.31411
- Borges AS, Junior RS, Carani JCE, Betinjane AJ, Alward WL, Stone EM et al (2002) Genetic analysis of PITX2 and FOXC1 in Rieger syndrome patients from Brazil. J Glaucoma 11(1):51–56
- Lines MA, Kozlowski K, Kulak SC et al (2004) Characterization and prevalence of *PITX2* microdeletions and mutations in Axenfeld-Rieger malformations. Invest Opthalmol Vis Sci 45:3. https://doi. org/10.1167/iovs.03-0309
- Phillips JC, Del Bono EA, Haines JL, Pralea AM, Cohen JS, Greff LJ, Wiggs JL (1996) A second locus for Rieger syndrome maps to chromosome 13q14. Am J Hum Genet 59(3):613
- Sibon I, Coupry I, Menegon P et al (2007) COL4A1 mutation in Axenfeld-Rieger anomaly with leukoencephalopathy and stroke. Ann Neurol 62:2. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21191
- Micheal S, Khan MI, Islam F et al (2016) Identification of mutations in the PRDM5 gene in brittle cornea syndrome. Cornea 35:6. https://doi.org/10.1097/ICO.00000000000824
- Waring GO, Rodrigues MM, Laibson PR (1975) Anterior chamber cleavage syndrome. A stepladder classification. Surv Ophthalmol 20:1. https://doi.org/10.1016/0039-6257(75)90034-X
- 16. Hanson IM, Fletcher JM, Jordan T et al (1994) Mutations at the PAX6 locus are found in heterogeneous anterior segment malformations including Peters' anomaly. Nat Genet 6:2. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng0294-168
- Maillette de Buy Wenniger-Prick LJJM, Hennekam RCM (2002) The Peters' plus syndrome: a review. Ann Genet 45:2. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0003-3995(02)01120-6
- Zaidman GW, Flanagan JK, Furey CC (2007) Long-term visual prognosis in children after corneal transplant surgery for Peters anomaly type I. Am J Ophthalmol 144:1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajo.2007.03.058
- Lesnik Oberstein SAJ, Kriek M, White SJ et al (2006) Peters plus syndrome is caused by mutations in B3GALTL, a putative glycosyltransferase. Am J Hum Genet 79:3. https://doi.org/10.1086/507567
- 20. Sarfarazi M, Akarsu NA, Hossain A et al (1995) Assignment of a locus (GLC3A) for primary congenital glaucoma (Buphthalmos) to 2p21 and evidence for genetic heterogeneity. Genomics 30:2. https://doi.org/10.1006/geno.1995.9888
- 21. Stoilov I (1997) Identification of three different truncating mutations in cytochrome P4501B1 (CYP1B1) as the principal cause of primary congenital glaucoma (Buphthalmos) in families linked to the GLC3A locus on chromosome 2p21. Hum Mol Genet 6:4. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/6.4.641

- Lee H, Khan R, O'Keefe M (2008) Aniridia: current pathology and management. Acta Ophthalmol 86:7. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1755-3768.2008.01427.x
- 23. Ito YA, Footz TK, Berry FB et al (2009) Severe molecular defects of a novel *FOXC1 W152G* mutation result in Aniridia. Invest Opthalmol Vis Sci 50:8. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.08-3032
- 24. Callaghan M, Hand CK, Kennedy SM, FitzSimon JS, Collum LMT, Parfrey NA (1999) Homozygosity mapping and linkage analysis demonstrate that autosomal recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy (CHED) and autosomal dominant CHED are genetically distinct. Br J Ophthalmol 83:1. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bjo.83.1.115
- 25. Webb TR, Matarin M, Gardner JC et al (2012) X-linked Megalocornea caused by mutations in CHRDL1 identifies an essential role for Ventroptin in anterior segment development. Am J Hum Genet 90:2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.12.019
- 26. Hofmann JJ, Zovein AC, Koh H, Radtke F, Weinmaster G, Iruela-Arispe ML (2010) Jagged1 in the portal vein mesenchyme regulates intrahepatic bile duct development: insights into Alagille syndrome. Development 137:23. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.052118
- Jesina D (2017) Alagille syndrome: an overview. Neonatal Netw 36:6. https://doi.org/10.1891/0730-0832.36.6.343
- Debeer P, van Esch H, Huysmans C et al (2005) Novel GJA1 mutations in patients with oculo-dento-digital dysplasia (ODDD). Eur J Med Genet 48:4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmg.2005.05.003
- Oculodentodigital dysplasia: MedlinePlus Genetics. Accessed January 16, 2021. https://medlineplus.gov/genetics/condition/ oculodentodigital-dysplasia/
- Orphanet: Oculodentodigital dysplasia. Accessed January 16, 2021. https://www.orpha.net/consor4.01/www/cgi-bin/OC_Exp. php?lng=EN&Expert=2710
- Sells SF, Wood DP, Joshi-Barve SS et al (1994) Commonality of the gene programs induced by effectors of apoptosis in androgendependent and -independent prostate cells. Cell Growth Differ 5(4):457–466. Accessed January 16, 2021. http://cgd.aacrjournals. org/cgi/content/abstract/5/4/457
- El-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (2003) Apoptosis by Par-4 in cancer and neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Cell Res 283:1. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0014-4827(02)00016-2
- 33. Sells SF, Han SS, Muthukkumar S et al (1997) Expression and function of the leucine zipper protein Par-4 in apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 17(7):3823–3832. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.17.7.3823
- 34. El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique Core domain of Par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23(16):5516–5525. https://doi.org/10.1128/ mcb.23.16.5516-5525.2003
- 35. Zhao Y, Burikhanov R, Qiu S et al (2007) Cancer resistance in transgenic mice expressing the SAC module of Par-4. Cancer Res 67:19. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-2124
- Gurumurthy S, Goswami A, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase A is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25(3):1146–1161. https://doi.org/10.1128/ mcb.25.3.1146-1161.2005
- García-Cao I, Duran A, Collado M et al (2005) Tumour-suppression activity of the proapoptotic regulator Par4. EMBO Rep 6(6):577– 583. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400421
- Moreno-Bueno G, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Collado M et al (2007) Inactivation of the candidate tumor suppressor Par-4 in endometrial cancer. Cancer Res 67(5):1927–1934. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2687
- 39. Goswami A, Burikhanov R, de Thonel A et al (2005) Binding and phosphorylation of Par-4 by Akt is essential for cancer cell survival. Mol Cell 20(1):33–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molcel.2005.08.016

- 40. Johnstone RW, See RH, Sells SF et al (1996) A novel repressor, par-4, modulates transcription and growth suppression functions of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Mol Cell Biol 16:12. https:// doi.org/10.1128/MCB.16.12.6945
- Marcil A (2003) Pitx1 and Pitx2 are required for development of hindlimb buds. Development 130:1. https://doi.org/10.1242/ dev.00192
- 42. Smidt MP (2004) Early developmental failure of substantia nigra dopamine neurons in mice lacking the homeodomain gene Pitx3. Development 131:5. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01022
- 43. Szeto DP, Rodriguez-Esteban C, Ryan AK et al (1999) Role of the Bicoid-related homeodomain factor Pitx1 in specifying hindlimb morphogenesis and pituitary development. Genes Dev 13:4. https:// doi.org/10.1101/gad.13.4.484
- Carlsson P, Mahlapuu M (2002) Forkhead transcription factors: key players in development and metabolism. Dev Biol 250:1. https:// doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2002.0780
- 45. Lehmann OJ, Sowden JC, Carlsson P, Jordan T, Bhattacharya SS (2003) Fox's in development and disease. Trends Genet 19:6. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9525(03)00111-2
- 46. Strungaru MH, Dinu I, Walter MA (2007) Genotype-phenotype correlations in Axenfeld-Rieger malformation and glaucoma patients with FOXC1 and PITX2 mutations. Invest Opthalmol Vis Sci 48(1):228. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.06-0472
- Alward WLM, Semina E, Kalenak JW et al (1998) Autosomal dominant iris hypoplasia is caused by a mutation in the rieger syndrome (rieg/pitx2) gene. Am J Ophthalmol 125:1. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0002-9394(99)80242-6
- Kulak SC, Kozlowski K, Semina EV, Pearce WG, Walter MA (1998) Mutation in the RIEG1 gene in patients with Iridogoniodysgenesis syndrome. Hum Mol Genet 7:7. https://doi.org/10.1093/ hmg/7.7.1113
- Doward W, Perveen R, Lloyd IC, Ridgway AEA, Wilson L, Black GCM (1999) A mutation in the RIEG1 gene associated with Peters' anomaly. J Med Genet 36(2):152–155
- Arikawa A, Yoshida S, Yoshikawa H et al (2010) Case of Novel PITX2 gene mutation associated with Peter's Anomaly and persistent hyperplastic primary vitreous. Eye 24:391–393
- 51. Berry FB, Tamimi Y, Carle M, Lehmann OJ, Walter MA (2005) The establishment of a predictive mutational model of the forkhead domain through the analyses of FOXC2 missense mutations identified in patients with hereditary lymphedema with distichiasis. Hum Mol Genet 14:18. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddi295
- Walter MA, Rezaie T, Hufnagel RB, Arno G (2020) Ocular genetics in the genomics age. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 184(3):860–868. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.c.31844
- 53. Seifi M, Footz T, Taylor SAM, Walter MA (2017) Comparison of bioinformatics prediction, molecular modeling, and functional analyses of FOXC1 mutations in patients with Axenfeld-Rieger syndrome. Hum Mutat 38(2):169–179. https://doi.org/10.1002/ humu.23141
- 54. Kume T, Deng K-Y, Winfrey V, Gould DB, Walter MA, Hogan BLM (1998) The forkhead/winged helix gene Mf1 is disrupted in the pleiotropic mouse mutation congenital hydrocephalus. Cell 93:6. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81204-0
- 55. Footz T, Idrees F, Acharya M, Kozlowski K, Walter MA (2009) Analysis of mutations of the *PITX2* transcription factor found in patients with Axenfeld-Rieger syndrome. Invest Opthalmol Vis Sci 50:6. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.08-3251
- Seifi M, Walter MA (2018) Accurate prediction of functional, structural, and stability changes in PITX2 mutations using in silico bioinformatics algorithms. PLoS One 13:4. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0195971
- 57. Berry FB, Lines MA, Oas JM et al (2006) Functional interactions between FOXC1 and PITX2 underlie the sensitivity to FOXC1 gene dose in Axenfeld-Rieger syndrome and anterior segment dys-

genesis. Hum Mol Genet 15(6):905–919. https://doi.org/10.1093/ hmg/ddl008

- 58. Kitamura K, Miura H, Miyagawa-Tomita S, Yanazawa M, Katoh-Fukui Y, Suzuki R et al (1999) Mouse Pitx2 deficiency leads to anomalies of the ventral body wall, heart, extra-and periocular mesoderm and right pulmonary isomerism. Development 126(24):5749–5758
- Gage PJ, Suh H, Camper SA (1999) Dosage requirement of Pitx2 for development of multiple organs. Development 126(20):4643–4651
- 60. Skarie JM, Link BA (2009) FoxC1 is essential for vascular basement membrane integrity and hyaloid vessel morphogenesis. Invest Opthalmol Vis Sci 50:11. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.09-3447
- Acharya M, Lingenfelter DJ, Huang L, Gage PJ, Walter MA (2009) Human PRKC apoptosis WT1 regulator is a novel PITX2interacting protein that regulates PITX2 transcriptional activity in ocular cells. J Biol Chem 284(50):34829–34838. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M109.006684
- 62. Mears AJ, Jordan T, Mirzayans F et al (1998) Mutations of the Forkhead/winged-helix gene, FKHL7, in patients with Axenfeld-Rieger anomaly. Am J Hum Genet 63:5. https://doi. org/10.1086/302109
- 63. Nishimura DY, Swiderski RE, Alward WLM et al (1998) The forkhead transcription factor gene FKHL7 is responsible for glau-

coma phenotypes which map to 6p25. Nat Genet 19:2. https://doi.org/10.1038/493

- 64. Hjalt TA, Semina EV, Amendt BA, Murray JC (2000) The Pitx2 protein in mouse development. Dev Dyn 218:1. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (SICI)1097-0177(200005)218:1<195::AID-DVDY17>3.0.CO;2-C
- 65. Kidson SH, Kume T, Deng K, Winfrey V, Hogan BLM (1999) The Forkhead/winged-helix gene, Mf1, is necessary for the normal development of the cornea and formation of the anterior chamber in the mouse eye. Dev Biol 211:2. https://doi.org/10.1006/ dbio.1999.9314
- Wang X, Yost HJ (2008) Initiation and propagation of posterior to anterior (PA) waves in zebrafish left-right development. Dev Dyn 237:12. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.21771
- 67. Campione M, Steinbeisser H, Schweickert A, Deissler K, van Bebber F, Lowe LA et al (1999) The homeobox gene Pitx2: mediator of asymmetric left-right signaling in vertebrate heart and gut looping. Development 126(6):1225–1234
- Bisgrove BW, Yost HJ (2001) Classification of left-right patterning defects in zebrafish, mice, and humans. Am J Med Genet 101:4. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.1180
- Bisgrove BW, Essner JJ, Yost HJ (2000) Multiple pathways in the midline regulate concordant brain, heart and gut left-right asymmetry. Development 127(16):3567–3579



Par-4 in Apoptosis during Human Salivary Gland Development and Tumorigenesis

Cláudia Malheiros Coutinho-Camillo, Ágatha Nagli de Mello Gomes, Fernanda de Paula, Maria Aparecida Nagai, and Silvia Vanessa Lourenço

Abstract

Human salivary glands (SGs) are complex structures comprising a system of ducts and acini formed in gradual stages termed the prebud, initial bud, pseudoglandular, canalicular, and terminal bud. This process involves growth, proliferation, differentiation, migration, and cell death. Studies in human specimens and in vitro models have demonstrated that apoptosis seems to be important not only during the early developmental stages of the salivary glands, but also contributes to the tumorigenic process and impacts the patient's treatment. Therefore, the screening of proteins associated with apoptosis might contribute to the development of different strategies focusing on cancer diagnosis, prognosis, and target therapies. The prostate apoptosis response-4 (PAR-4) is a 38 kDa protein encoded by the PAWR gene (PKC apoptosis WT1 regulator) that is ubiquitously expressed in different tissues and plays a role in both the intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways. This chapter explores the

C. M. Coutinho-Camillo (🖂)

International Research Center, A.C.Camargo Cancer Center, São Paulo, Brazil e-mail: ccamillo@accamargo.org.br

Á. N. de Mello Gomes International Research Center, A.C.Camargo Cancer Center, São Paulo, Brazil e-mail: agomes@accamargo.org.br

F. de Paula · S. V. Lourenço Department of General Pathology, Dental School, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil e-mail: f.paula@alumni.usp.br; silvialourenco@usp.br

M. A. Nagai

Discipline of Oncology, Department of Radiology and Oncology, Medical School, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

Laboratory of Molecular Genetics, Center for Translational Research in Oncology, Cancer Institute of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil e-mail: nagai@usp.br current knowledge on the expression of Par-4 during human salivary gland development and in the most frequent salivary gland tumors (benign: pleomorphic adenoma and malignant: adenoid cystic carcinoma and mucoepidermoid carcinoma). In addition to the application of Par-4 as a tumor prognostic marker, the use of targeted therapies against Par-4 is increasingly considered as an important strategy for cancer treatment.

Keywords

Salivary gland development · Salivary gland tumors · Apoptosis · Organogenesis · Par-4 · Differentiation · Morphogenesis · Mucoepidermoid carcinoma · Pleomorphic adenoma · Adenoid cystic carcinoma

1 Aspects of Salivary Gland Development—Brief Morphological and Molecular Considerations

Organogenesis is determined by the coordinated intercellular activity between groups of primitive cells as well as with extracellular matrix (ECM) components. Organogenesis to the final organ architecture depends on cells and tissue rearrangements; these are often accompanied by regulated cell proliferation and/or cell death, which are the primary mechanisms for generating the final shape of a functional mature organ. In this route, the expression of specific cell surface ligands and receptors tightly linked in a complex web of signaling pathways that regulate cell division, migration, and differentiation are essential features of organ development, maturation, and functions (Fig. 1).

Similar to many other glandular organs, the formation of the salivary gland (SG) is driven by the coordination of morphogenetic mechanisms, including regulated cell shape changes, and gene expression; directed cell proliferation, death, and migration lead to a fully developed gland with important secretory functions. Morphologically, all salivary

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), *Tumor Suppressor Par-4*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_17

Fig. 1 Mechanisms involved in salivary gland organogenesis



glands develop similarly, with formation starting with the proliferation of a solid cord of cells from the epithelium of the stomodeum into the underlying ectomesenchyme. This cord of cells extends deeply into the ectomesenchyme, branches extensively, forming canals with secretory end pieces. This process has been classified into stages of glandular morphogenesis, which is briefly described and illustrated in this text. During the first step denominated *Prebud* Stage, a thickening focus arise from the oral epithelium, which invaginates into the subjacent mesenchyme forming a solid epithelial stalk and a bulb. This solid group of cells undergoes successive proliferations, known as Initial Bud Stage. The Pseudoglandular Stage presents a presumptive duct formation, and 4-5 end buds are formed by branching morphogenesis. In the Canalicular Stage, this branching culminates in an increasing number of buds and the presumptive ductal portion shows initial lumen formation. Finally, at the Terminal Bud Stage, ducts and acini are identified showing well-developed structures. It has been accepted that only after birth SG reaches the total differentiated structural maturity, able to perform its major function: to synthesize and to secrete saliva [1, 2].

From early development to mature stages, the SG undergoes branching morphogenesis, which involves epithelial and mesenchymal interactions as well as autocrine and paracrine factors, proliferation, and apoptotic mechanisms [3–6] (Fig. 2).

This complex process involves the interplay of several ECM components (laminin, fibronectin, collagens), growth factors, and their receptors (EGF, FGF, PDGF), and several signaling pathways (WNT and NOTCH pathways) [7, 8]. The orchestration of this process also depends on neuronal and endothelial supply, cellular proliferation and growth, migration, and cell death [9–14], as described in Table 1.

Molecular characterization of the salivary gland development is critical for understanding the basic mechanism controlling morphogenesis and cytodifferentiation, in addition to facilitating the researcher's understanding of which changes can be involved in disease progression and, therefore, be used as indicators of diagnostic and target therapies.

2 Apoptosis and Salivary Gland Development

Since the term apoptosis has been introduced by Kerr et al. [37] to describe the natural cell clearance in mammalian tissues, the importance of this mechanism has progressively increased. The programmed cell death is a key mechanism involved in organizing and sculpting organ shape during development. Through this mechanism, specific cells are eliminated by programmed death. During apoptosis, cells undergo a cascade of well-characterized physical changes. These involve alterations in various cell membranes, including plasma membrane and nuclear breaking up and blebbing, permeabilization of the mitochondrial outer membrane, DNA fragmentation, nucleus disintegration, and cell disintegration into apoptotic bodies, which are finally phagocytosed.

Apoptosis is a genetically programmed cell death mechanism and involves two pathways, the intrinsic and the extrinsic. The intrinsic apoptosis pathway encompasses pro-apoptotic molecules stimuli, which induces mitochondria to release cytochrome-c into the cytoplasm where it associates with Apaf-1. This complex coupled to caspase-9 activates caspase-3 leading to cell death. The extrinsic path-



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of salivary gland developmental phases

way is induced by TNF family members, which recognize specific ligands, such as FADD, enabling them to recruit caspase-8 and thereby to activate caspase-3 [38–40]. During the execution of apoptosis, which involves caspases coordination of organelle fragmentation, cellular contents disintegration, and packing, following with efficient clearance of cell remnants, the rearrangement of cytoskeletal elements, as well as significant changes in cell shape, are well documented. This phase also requires alterations and loss in cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion, which facilitates membrane blebbing.

The morphogenesis of organs involves the coordination of complex mechanisms, which are only partially unraveled to date. These include cell migration, proliferation, apoptosis, and active mobility in cell format and/or polarity, all critical for the final architecture and function of tissues and organs. These mechanisms are yet more intricate in branching morphogenesis due to the final complexity of the organs, such as lungs, mammary glands, pancreas, and salivary glands. The apoptotic cascades and factors involved in salivary gland branching morphogenesis are only partially determined, and there are many questions to be answered in this field to fully understand the process, and mechanisms of controlling the programmed cell death in salivary gland development, physiology, and disease.

In human salivary gland development, the intrinsic apoptosis pathway has been described in the early stages of development [9, 13]. In a series of work, [13, 14] demonstrated that in human specimens and in vitro, salivary glands' initial lumen formation in the SG main stalk seems to occur by an apoptosis-driven mechanism (intrinsic pathway). Subsequently, the maintenance of the luminal space seems to

	in sanvary grand differentia					
Cytoskeleton	Acinar and ductal cells	K5, K14: Associated with basal cells and regenerative compartments CKs 7, 8, 18, and 19 label luminal duct cells with some degree of morphological differentiation	[15]			
	Myoepithelial cells	Actin, calponin, caldesmon: Highlight myoepithelial cell maturation from early development				
Intercellular and Cell-matrix adhesion	Cell/cell	E-cadherin: Regulates ductal lumen formation during branching morphogenesis of the salivary gland				
	Cell/matrix	Integrins: Mediate cell and ECM interactions performing adhesion as well as "inside out and outside in signaling." integrin beta-1 appears during bud stage in a few cells (considered pluripotent cells) and its distribution increases as salivary gland morphogenesis progresses. Claudins: Involved in controlling tight junctions and increase their expression from early morphogenesis to fully mature salivary gland.				
Water channels	channels Aquaporins Expressed from early stages of SG morphogenesis a complimentary expression patterns that may contrib morphogenesis of salivary glands; AQP-1 is importa cells interactions at the salivary gland boundaries.					
Growth factors and signaling	NGF	Regulation of sympathetic innervation				
	TGF-beta	TGF-beta 1: Appears during canalization stage in the surrounding mesenchyme and, in the more differentiated stages, it is detected the cytoplasm of acinar cells; TGF-beta 2: Occurs since the bud stage of the salivary gland in ductal cells; TGF-beta 3: Present from the canalization stage of the salivary gland. It is the only factor detected on myoepithelial cells.				
	EGF	EGF supports branching morphogenesis of SMG rudiments, especially cleft formation	[29, 30]			
	Fgf10	Fgf10 is detected in the mesenchyme surrounding the developing salivary glands; essential for both salivary bud outgrowth	[31]			
	WNT	Mesenchymal Wnt signaling regulates salivary gland growth indirectly by inducing the expression of paracrine factors such as Eda	[32]			
Blood supply	External carotid artery and branches During branching morphogenesis remains unclear And whether the vascular glandular supply is critical for glandular maintenance		[12, 33]			
Innervation	Parasympathetic	Early developmental stages				
	Sympathetic	Late development stages/ mature salivary glands				
	Muscarinic receptors M1 and M3	Interact with acetylcholine in the parasympathetic Nerves to stimulate fluid secretion				
	Noradrenaline And beta-1 adrenoceptors	Promote protein secretion	[3, 34, 35]			
Extracellular matrix	Laminin, collagen, tenascin	Collagens: Epithelial branching morphogenesis; laminin and LAMA5 receptor interactions with integrin α 3 β 1, necessary for basement membrane formation and epithelial organization	[36], for review			

ab	e '	1	Factors	involve	d in sa	ılivary	gland	differer	ntiation	and	functi	on
----	-----	---	---------	---------	---------	---------	-------	----------	----------	-----	--------	----

be associated with other mechanisms, as there is a decreasing expression of apoptotic cells through SG development either in ducts or acinar structures.

Additional evidence has added new data on the participation of the extrinsic apoptotic pathway in salivary gland morphogenesis, with the participation of distinct players in the mechanism, and Par-4 seems to stand as a key factor in this process. The prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) is a pro-

apoptotic and suppressor protein ubiquitously expressed in various tissues [41], including the salivary gland [9, 42]. Par-4 is localized in both the cytoplasm and the nucleus, and the translocation to the nucleus occurs upon apoptosis induction [41, 43, 44]. Par-4 promotes the down-regulation of the anti-apoptotic B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) [44]. This stimulus triggers pro-apoptotic molecules to induce mitochondria to release cytochrome-c into the cytoplasm and



Pro Caspase-3

Fig. 3 Schematic representation of the intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic mechanisms involving cell machinery

trigger the cascade of caspases, leading to cell death [45] (Fig. 3).

The extrinsic pathway of apoptosis triggered via Fas cell surface death receptor (Fas) and Fas ligand (FasL) was found to be associated with Par-4, which has the ability to inhibit the nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) activity. This interaction enabling the Fas-FasL complex to be trafficked to the plasma membrane, which is transduced by the activation of the Fas-associated death domain (FADD), causes activation of the Caspase-8, leading to apoptosis [46].

de Mello Gomes et al. [9] described the participation of Par-4 during salivary gland morphogenesis: at the initial bud stage—at the beginning of the rudimentary luminal structure—this protein helps to promote the removal of the central cells of the cylindrical cords, allowing the organization of the future ductal system. At the early development stages, strong nuclear Par-4 expression and weak cytoplasmic expression was observed, and intense activity can be noted at the branched regions a nuclear pattern during the luminal opening. On the other hand, at the later phases of the morphogenesis, nuclear Par-4 expression is observed in intercalated ducts near the secretory lobules, and cytoplasmic staining occurs in the excretory ducts. Fully developed human salivary glands present only focal expression of Par-4 (Fig. 4).

Survivin

Par-4 protein seems to play an important role during salivary gland development, and understanding this mechanism is important to comprehend tumorigenesis since both processes share similarities [47]. In line with this information, the screening of Par-4 and other proteins associated with apoptosis might contribute to the development of different strategies focusing on cancer diagnosis, prognosis, and target therapies [9].

3 Roles of Par-4 in Salivary Gland Tumorigenesis

Salivary gland tumors (SGT) comprise a heterogeneous group of lesions with distinct biological behavior, accounting for 3–6% of the head and neck tumors. These tumors are divided into benign and malignant [48, 49]. The most common SGT is pleomorphic adenoma (PA). It is a benign tumor accounting for 40–70% of SGTs [50]. Malignant SGT types



Fig. 4 Par-4 immunoexpression in developing and fully developed human salivary gland

include, most commonly, mucoepidermoid carcinoma (MEC) and adenoid cystic carcinoma (ACC) [51–53]. Although there is growing knowledge on the molecular pathogenesis of salivary gland tumors [54, 55], in clinical practice the current treatment for salivary gland cancer is surgical resection and postoperative radiotherapy.

As discussed above, apoptosis plays an important role in the organogenesis of glandular structures, including salivary glands, and alterations of the apoptotic mechanisms have been described in different tumors, including SGTs [56–62].

Different authors have reported altered Par-4 expression in endometrial, breast, gastric, pancreatic cancer, and others. Par-4 down-regulation has also been associated with recurrence and poor survival rates in cancer patients [63].

Da Silva et al. [42] evaluated Par-4 expression in mucoepidermoid carcinoma and observed prominent cytoplasmic/nuclear expression in intermediate cells (nuclear staining), mucous (cytoplasmic staining), and epidermoid cells (cytoplasmic staining). In pleomorphic adenoma, Par-4 presented cytoplasmic/nuclear expression and was detected in epithelial/myoepithelial cells (unpublished results). In adenoid cystic carcinoma, Par-4 presented prominent nuclear expression in tubular structures whereas in cribriform structures focal expression was observed (unpublished results) (Fig. 5).

Considering the subcellular localization of Par-4 expression in mucoepidermoid carcinoma, Da Silva et al. [42] observed that cancer-specific survival rates of patients with nuclear or nuclear and cytoplasmic Par-4 expression were different although without statistical significance (survival probability in 5 years was 59.3% for patients with nuclear Par-4 expression and 40.0% for patients with nuclear and cytoplasmic Par-4 expression, as described in Fig. 6). This difference in survival probabilities might be due to the fact that, in tumor cells, induction of apoptosis is associated with Par-4 nuclear translocation.

Since the description of Par-4 down-regulation in different types of cancers, targeted therapies against Par-4 are increasingly considered as an important strategy for cancer treatment [63]. Recent studies reported a role of Par-4 restraining epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) properties and unveil Par-4 as a key therapeutic target and the use of pharmacological modulator as potential tools to suppress EMT and associated chemoresistance, which could be exploited clinically for the treatment of aggressive cancers [64, 65]. The use of molecules that increase Par-4 expression could enhance the susceptibility of cancer cells to apoptosis [66]. Considering that studies revealed Par-4 protein secretion to the extracellular space [67], drug discovery efforts have focused on the development of small-molecule drugs that can facilitate Par-4 secretion [68].

4 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

The participation of apoptosis pathway in human salivary gland development and tumorigenesis has been described and Par-4 seems to stand as a key factor in this process [9, 13, 42].

During the salivary gland development, apoptosis is important for initial lumen formation whereas in the later phases, other cellular processes seem to be fundamental. In line with this, Par-4 expression is more prominent during the initial developmental phases. The understanding of the mechanisms involved in salivary gland development is important to comprehend tumorigenesis since both processes share similarities [47].

Regarding SGTs, the expression of Par-4 has been evaluated in the three most frequent types. However, SGTs comprise a heterogeneous group of lesions with distinct histological characteristics and diverse clinical behavior. Therefore, for better understanding the role of Par-4 during salivary gland tumorigenesis, other different histological subtypes should also be evaluated.

The main treatment for salivary gland neoplasms is surgery. Postoperative radiation therapy has been used to improve local disease control and to increase survival rates for patients with high-grade tumors, positive surgical margins, or perineural infiltration, and the role of chemotherapy in the management of these tumors is still controversial [69– 72]. Considering the options of personalized therapy and target therapies, the identification of molecular alterations and the elucidation of their role in these tumors is fundamental, since it allows the design of more appropriate therapies for each patient [55, 73, 74].

The low incidence of SGTs impairs the development of a robust statistical analysis comprising larger cohorts. Da Silva et al. [42] observed a difference in the survival rates of muco-epidermoid carcinoma patients regarding Par-4 subcellular localization. However, due to the small number of samples, the result did not reach statistical significance. In order to overcome the difficulties in studying salivary gland tumors, in vivo and in vitro models are being developed and will allow a better understanding of the molecular pathways involved, drug tests, evaluation of the toxicity/safety of potential targets [75–77].

In summary, the expression of Par-4 has been described not only during the development of salivary gland tumors but also in salivary gland tumors. Par-4 seems to be a promising candidate to be employed as a tumor prognostic factor in surgical pathology evaluation of salivary gland tumors. It may also be further explored as a potential molecule target in cancer individualized therapy. Frontier laboratory models for testing these possibilities may aid to address these important possibilities.



Fig. 5 Par-4 immunoexpression in salivary gland tumors. (a, b) Pleomorphic adenoma: numerous cells with Par-4-positive nuclei in distinct structures (original magnification x400); (c, d) adenoid cystic carcinoma: in (c) numerous positive cells in tubular structures; in D

cribriform structures present only scattered cells positive for Par-4 (arrows) (original magnification X400); (e, f) mucoepidermoid carcinoma: Par-4 positivity concentrated in intermediate cells that compose the neoplasm (original magnification X400)

Fig. 6 Survival curves of patients with mucoepidermoid carcinoma considering nuclear or nuclear and cytoplasmic Par-4 expression



References

- Patel VN, Hoffman MP (2014) Salivary gland development: a template for regeneration. Semin Cell Dev Biol 25-26:52–60
- Porcheri C, Mitsiadis TA (2019) Physiology, pathology and regeneration of salivary glands. Cell 8(9):976
- de Paula F, Teshima THN, Hsieh R, Souza MM, Nico MMS, Lourenco SV (2017a) Overview of human salivary glands: highlights of morphology and developing processes. Anat Rec (Hoboken) 300(7):1180–1188
- Lourenço SV, Lima DM, Uyekita SH, Schultz R, de Brito T (2007a) Expression of beta-1 integrin in human developing salivary glands and its parallel relation with maturation markers: in situ hybridisation and immunofluorescence study. Arch Oral Biol 52(11):1064–1071
- Lourenço SV, Kapas S (2005) Integrin expression in developing human salivary glands. Histochem Cell Biol 124(5):391–399
- Tucker AS (2007) Salivary gland development. Semin Cell Dev Biol 18(2):237–244
- Harunaga J, Hsu JC, Yamada KM (2011) Dynamics of salivary gland morphogenesis. J Dent Res 90(9):1070–1077
- Lee ES, Adhikari N, Jung JK, An CH, Kim JY, Kim JY (2019) Application of developmental principles for functional regeneration of salivary glands. Anat Biol Anthropol 32(3):83–91
- de Mello Gomes ÁN, Nagai MA, Lourenço SV, Coutinho-Camillo CM (2019) Apoptosis and proliferation during human salivary gland development. J Anat 234(6):830–838
- de Paula F, Tucker AS, Teshima THN, de Souza MM, Coutinho-Camillo CM, Nico MMS, Lourenço SV (2020) Characteristics of aquaporin 1, 3, and 5 expression during early murine salivary gland development. J Anat. https://doi.org/10.1111/joa.13336. Epub ahead of print
- Hauser BR, Hoffman MP (2015) Regulatory mechanisms driving salivary gland organogenesis. Curr Top Dev Biol 115:111–130
- Patel VN, Rebustini IT, Hoffman MP (2006) Salivary gland branching morphogenesis. Differentiation 74(7):349–364
- Teshima TH, Ianez RC, Coutinho-Camillo CM, Tucker AS, Lourenço SV (2016a) Apoptosis-associated protein expression in human salivary gland morphogenesis. Arch Oral Biol 69:71–81
- Teshima TH, Wells KL, Lourenço SV, Tucker AS (2016b) Apoptosis in early salivary gland duct morphogenesis and lumen formation. J Dent Res 95(3):277–283

- Martins MD, Cavalcanti de Araujo V, Raitz R, Soares de Araújo N (2002) Expression of cytoskeletal proteins in developing human minor salivary glands. Eur J Oral Sci 110(4):316–321
- Redman RS (1994) Myoepithelium of salivary glands. Microsc Res Tech 27(1):25–45
- Iañez RF, Buim ME, Coutinho-Camillo CM, Schultz R, Soares FA, Lourenço SV (2010) Human salivary gland morphogenesis: myoepithelial cell maturation assessed by immunohistochemical markers. Histopathology 57(3):410–417
- Chitturi RT, Veeravarmal V, Nirmal RM, Reddy BV (2015) Myoepithelial cells (MEC) of the salivary glands in health and tumours. J Clin Diagn Res 9(3):ZE14–ZE18
- Walker JL, Menko AS, Khalil S, Rebustini I, Hoffman MP, Kreidberg JA, Kukuruzinska MA (2008) Diverse roles of E-cadherin in the morphogenesis of the submandibular gland: insights into the formation of acinar and ductal structures. Dev Dyn 237(11):3128–3141
- 20. Lourenço SV, Coutinho-Camillo CM, Buim ME, Uyekita SH, Soares FA (2007b) Human salivary gland branching morphogenesis: morphological localization of claudins and its parallel relation with developmental stages revealed by expression of cytoskeleton and secretion markers. Histochem Cell Biol 128(4):361–369
- 21. de Paula F, Teshima THN, Hsieh R, Souza MM, Coutinho-Camillo CM, Nico MMS, Lourenco SV (2017b) The expression of water channel proteins during human salivary gland development: a topographic study of aquaporins 1, 3 and 5. J Mol Histol 48(5–6):329–336
- Datta AK, Farmer SF, Stephens JA (1991) Central nervous pathways underlying synchronization of human motor unit firing studied during voluntary contractions. J Physiol 432:401–425
- 23. Ghasemlou N, Krol KM, Macdonald DR, Kawaja MD (2004) Comparison of target innervation by sympathetic axons in adult wild type and heterozygous mice for nerve growth factor or its receptor trkA. J Pineal Res 37(4):230–240
- 24. Proctor GB, Carpenter GH (2007) Regulation of salivary gland function by autonomic nerves. Auton Neurosci 133(1):3–18
- Knox SM, Lombaert IM, Reed X, Vitale-Cross L, Gutkind JS, Hoffman MP (2010) Parasympathetic innervation maintains epithelial progenitor cells during salivary organogenesis. Science 329(5999):1645–1647
- 26. Naesse EP, Schreurs O, Messelt E, Hayashi K, Schenck K (2013) Distribution of nerve growth factor, pro-nerve growth factor, and their receptors in human salivary glands. Eur J Oral Sci 121(1):13–20

- Nedvetsky PI, Emmerson E, Finley JK, Ettinger A, Cruz-Pacheco N, Prochazka J, Haddox CL, Northrup E, Hodges C, Mostov KE, Hoffman MP, Knox SM (2014) Parasympathetic innervation regulates tubulogenesis in the developing salivary gland. Dev Cell 30(4):449–462
- Lourenço SV, Uyekita SH, Lima DM, Soares FA (2008) Developing human minor salivary glands: morphological parallel relation between the expression of TGF-beta isoforms and cytoskeletal markers of glandular maturation. Virchows Arch 452(4):427–434
- Morita K, Nogawa H (1999) EGF-dependent lobule formation and FGF7-dependent stalk elongation in branching morphogenesis of mouse salivary epithelium in vitro. Dev Dyn 215:148–154
- Nitta M, Kume T, Nogawa H (2009 Feb) FGF alters epithelial competence for EGF at the initiation of branching morphogenesis of mouse submandibular gland. Dev Dyn 238(2):315–323. https://doi. org/10.1002/dvdy.21780
- Prochazkova M, Prochazka J, Marangoni P, Klein OD (2018) Bones, glands, ears and more: the multiple roles of FGF10 in craniofacial development. Front Genet 9:542
- Liu F, Wang S (2014) Molecular cues for development and regeneration of salivary glands. Histol Histopathol 29(3):305–312
- 33. Matsumoto LC, Bogic L, Brace RA, Cheung CY (2001) Fetal esophageal ligation induces expression of vascular endothelial growth factor messenger ribonucleic acid in fetal membranes. Am J Obstet Gynecol 184(2):175–184
- 34. Asking B, Gjörstrup P (1987) Synthesis and secretion of amylase in the rat parotid gland following autonomic nerve stimulation in vivo. Acta Physiol Scand 130(3):439–445
- Proctor GB (2016) The physiology of salivary secretion. Periodontol 70(1):11–25
- Mattingly A, Finley JK, Knox SM (2015) Salivary gland development and disease. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol 4(6):573–590
- Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR (1972) Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer 26(4):239–257
- Flusberg DA, Sorger PK (2015) Surviving apoptosis: life-death signaling in single cells. Trends Cell Biol 25:446–458
- 39. Papaliagkas V, Anogianaki A, Anogianakis G, Ilonidis G (2007) The proteins and the mechanisms of apoptosis: a mini-review of the fundamentals. Hippokratia 11(3):108–113
- Suzanne M, Steller H (2013) Shaping organisms with apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 20:669–675
- Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Rangnekar VM (2010) Cancer-selective apoptotic effects of extracellular and intracellular Par-4. Oncogene 29:3873–3880
- 42. da Silva GM, Saavedra V, Ianez RCF, de Sousa EA, Gomes ÁN, Kelner N, Nagai MA, Kowalski LP, Soares FA, Lourenço SV, Coutinho-Camillo CM (2019) Apoptotic signaling in salivary mucoepidermoid carcinoma. Head Neck 41(9):2904–2913
- Goswami A, Ranganathan P, Rangnekar VM (2006) The phosphoinositide-kinase/Akt1/Par-4 axis: a cancer-selective therapeutic target. Cancer Res 66:2889–2892
- Zhao Y, Rangnekar VM (2008) Apoptosis and tumor resistance conferred by PAR4. Cancer Biol Ther 7:1867–1874
- Elmore S (2007) Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. Toxicol Pathol 35:495–516
- Hebbar N, Wang C, Rangnekar VM (2012) Mechanisms of apoptosis by the tumor suppressor Par-4. J Cell Physiol 227(12):3715–3721
- 47. Ma Y, Zhang P, Wang F, Yang J, Yang Z, Qin H (2010) The relationship between early embryo development and tumourigenesis. J Cell Mol Med 14(12):2697–2701
- El-Naggar AK, Chan J, Takata T, Grandis J, Blootweg P (2017) WHO classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of head and neck tumours, 4th edn. IARC Press, Lyon
- Seethala RR (2017) Salivary gland Tumors: current concepts and controversies. Surg Pathol Clin 10(1):155–176

- Mendenhall WM, Mendenhall CM, Werning JW, Malyapa RS, Mendenhall NP (2008) Salivary gland pleomorphic adenoma. Am J Clin Oncol 31(1):95–99
- 51. Coca-Pelaz A, Rodrigo JP, Bradley PJ, Vander Poorten V, Triantafyllou A, Hunt JL, Strojan P, Rinaldo A, Haigentz M Jr, Takes RP, Mondin V, Teymoortash A, Thompson LD, Ferlito A (2015) Adenoid cystic carcinoma of the head and neck—An update. Oral Oncol 51(7):652–661
- McHugh CH, Roberts DB, El-Naggar AK, Hanna EY, Garden AS, Kies MS, Weber RS, Kupferman ME (2012) Prognostic factors in mucoepidermoid carcinoma of the salivary glands. Cancer 118(16):3928–3936
- Yan K, Yesensky J, Hasina R, Agrawal N (2018) Genomics of mucoepidermoid and adenoid cystic carcinomas. Laryngoscope Investig Otolaryngol 3(1):56–61
- Ha PK, Stenman G (2016) Molecular pathology and biomarkers. Adv Otorhinolaryngol 78:17–24
- Yin LX, Ha PK (2016) Genetic alterations in salivary gland cancers. Cancer 122(12):1822–1831
- 56. Aoki T, Tsukinoki K, Karakida K et al (2004) Expression of cyclooxygenase-2, Bcl-2 and Ki-67 in pleomorphic adenoma with special reference to tumor proliferation and apoptosis. Oral Oncol 40:954–959
- Çevik-Aras H, Kjeller G, Larsson L (2020) Expression of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) in minor salivary glands and saliva. J Immunol Methods 476:112681
- 58. Ferreira JC, Morais MO, Elias MR et al (2014) Pleomorphic adenoma of oral minor salivary glands: an investigation of its neoplastic potential based on apoptosis, mucosecretory activity and cellular proliferation. Arch Oral Biol 59:578–585
- Gomes CC, Bernardes VF, Diniz MG et al (2012) Anti-apoptotic gene transcription signature of salivary gland neoplasms. BMC Cancer 12:61
- 60. Schnoell J, Kadletz L, Jank BJ, Oberndorfer F, Brkic FF, Gurnhofer E, Cede J, Seemann R, Kenner L, Heiduschka G (2020) Expression of inhibitors of apoptosis proteins in salivary gland adenoid cystic carcinoma: XIAP is an independent marker of impaired cause-specific survival. Clin Otolaryngol 45(3):364–369
- Soini Y, Törmänen U, Pääkkö P (1998) Apoptosis is inversely related to bcl-2 but not to bax expression in salivary gland tumours. Histopathology 32:28–34
- 62. Stenner M, Weinell A, Ponert T et al (2010) Cytoplasmic expression of survivin is an independent predictor of poor prognosis in patients with salivary gland cancer. Histopathology 57:699–706
- Irby RB, Kline CL (2013) Par-4 as a potential target for cancer therapy. Expert Opin Ther Targets 17(1):77–87
- 64. Ahmad SM, Nayak D, Mir KB, Faheem MM, Nawaz S, Yadav G, Goswami A (2020) Par-4 activation restrains EMT-induced chemoresistance in PDAC by attenuating MDM-2. Pancreatology 20(8):1698–1710
- 65. Katoch A, Jamwal VL, Faheem MM, Kumar S, Senapati S, Yadav G, Gandhi SG, Goswami A (2021) Overlapping targets exist between the Par-4 and miR-200c axis which regulate EMT and proliferation of pancreatic cancer cells. Transl Oncol 14(1):100879
- 66. Santos RVC, de Sena WLB, Dos Santos FA, da Silva Filho AF, da Rocha Pitta MG, da Rocha Pitta MG, de Melo Rego MB, Pereira MC (2019) Potential therapeutic agents against Par-4 target for cancer treatment: where are we going? Curr Drug Targets 20(6):635–654
- 67. Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR, Rangnekar VM (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138(2):377–388
- Kim K, Araujo P, Hebbar N, Zhou Z, Zheng X, Zheng F, Rangnekar VM, Zhan CG (2019) Development of a novel prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) protein entity with an extended duration of

action for the rapeutic treatment of cancer. Protein Eng Des Sel $32(3){:}159{-}166$

- Andry G, Hamoir M, Locati LD, Licitra L, Langendijk JA (2012) Management of salivary gland tumors. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 12(9):1161–1168
- Green B, Rahimi S, Brennan PA (2016) Salivary gland malignancies—an update on current management for oral healthcare practitioners. Oral Dis 22(8):735–739
- 71. Li R, Dou S, Ruan M, Zhang C, Zhu G (2018) A feasibility and safety study of concurrent chemotherapy based on genetic testing in patients with high-risk salivary gland tumors: preliminary results. Medicine (Baltimore) 97(17):e0564
- Milano A, Longo F, Basile M, Iaffaioli RV, Caponigro F (2007) Recent advances in the treatment of salivary gland cancers: emphasis on molecular targeted therapy. Oral Oncol 43(8):729–734
- Kato S, Elkin SK, Schwaederle M, Tomson BN, Helsten T, Carter JL, Kurzrock R (2015) Genomic landscape of salivary gland tumors. Oncotarget 6(28):25631–25645

- Seethala RR, Griffith CC (2016) Molecular pathology: predictive, prognostic, and diagnostic markers in salivary gland tumors. Surg Pathol Clin 9(3):339–352
- 75. Chen C, Choudhury S, Wangsa D, Lescott CJ, Wilkins DJ, Sripadhan P, Liu X, Wangsa D, Ried T, Moskaluk C, Wick MJ, Glasgow E, Schlegel R, Agarwal S (2017) A multiplex preclinical model for adenoid cystic carcinoma of the salivary gland identifies regorafenib as a potential therapeutic drug. Sci Rep 7(1):11410
- 76. Keysar SB, Eagles JR, Miller B, Jackson BC, Chowdhury FN, Reisinger J, Chimed TS, Le PN, Morton JJ, Somerset HL, Varella-Garcia M, Tan AC, Song JI, Bowles DW, Reyland ME, Jimeno A (2018) Salivary gland cancer patient-derived xenografts enable characterization of cancer stem cells and new gene events associated with tumor progression. Clin Cancer Res 24(12):2935–2943
- 77. Takada K, Aizawa Y, Sano D, Okuda R, Sekine K, Ueno Y, Yamanaka S, Aoyama J, Sato K, Kuwahara T, Hatano T, Takahashi H, Arai Y, Nishimura G, Taniguchi H, Oridate N (2021) Establishment of PDX-derived salivary adenoid cystic carcinoma cell lines using organoid culture method. Int J Cancer 148(1):193–202

Roles for Par-4 in Kidney Pathophysiology

Lu Ren and Shaolin Shi

Abstract

Kidney acts to filter blood to remove metabolic wastes, balance fluid and maintain electrolyte levels in the body. Kidney disease affects many people, e.g., chronic kidney disease has a prevalence of ~10% worldwide. The pathomechanisms underlying various kidney diseases have not been well characterized. Nevertheless, apoptosis is known to play a role in the development of kidney diseases, and many molecules and signaling pathways have been implicated in the apoptosis of kidney cells. This chapter describes a potential role for Par-4 in kidney disease development, focusing on its pro-apoptotic effect.

Keywords

Prostate apoptosis response-4 · Par-4 · Pawr · Kidney disease · Tubular cells · Glomerulus · Podocyte · Apoptosis · Injury · WT1 · Cancer · Therapeutic target

1 Kidney and Kidney Diseases

1.1 Kidney Anatomy and Physiology

Kidneys are paired and situated in the posterior part of the abdomen on each side of the vertebral column in the body. A kidney is composed of nephrons, renal interstitium, and microvasculature. Kidneys function to filter blood to remove

S. Shi (🖂)

wastes, balance electrolytes and fluid, and maintain blood pressure in the body. The nephron is the basic structural and functional unit of kidney, consisting of a glomerulus, a renal tubule, and a collecting duct (Fig. 1). One kidney of human contains roughly one million nephrons.

The glomerulus is composed of a capillary network lined by endothelial cells, a central region of mesangial cells with matrix material, podocytes covering the capillaries with glomerular basement membrane (GBM) in between, and the parietal cells in the Bowman's capsule (Fig. 1). The endothelial cells, GBM, and podocytes form a filtration barrier that prevents blood cells and macromolecular proteins, but allows small blood components (e.g., metabolic wastes), to pass through to get to the urinary space. The podocytes are terminally differentiated cells and are unable to proliferate normally. Podocytes are specialized to produce long primary processes that are further branched to form an extensive array of foot processes. The foot processes of neighboring podocytes interdigitate with each other and form the slit diaphragm between them. The slit diaphragm is the last barrier of glomerular filtration. Mesangial cells are equivalent to vascular smooth muscle cells and can undergo contraction and relaxation to regulate the glomerular hemodynamics and glomerular filtration rate. With extracellular matrix, the mesangium provides mechanical support for the glomerulus. The parietal epithelium forms the outer wall of Bowman's capsule and is capable of transdifferentiating into podocytes in disease [1].

The renal tubule is subdivided into several distinct segments: the proximal convoluted tubule (PCT), the loop of Henle, the distal convoluted tubule (DCT), and the collecting tubule. The PCT helps maintain the electrolyte and acid-base balance in the body and reabsorbs glucose, proteins, amino acids, and water in the filtrate from the glomerulus. It also secretes ions of hydrogen, ammonia, creatinine, and potassium into the filtrate. The Loop of Henle consists of a descending limb and ascending limb, and the former functions to concentrate the fluid of filtrate while the latter pumps sodium out of the fluid. The DCT secretes hydrogen, potas-

L. Ren

National Clinical Research Center for Kidney Diseases, Jinling Clinical Medical College of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

National Clinical Research Center for Kidney Diseases, Jinling Clinical Medical College of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

National Clinical Research Center of Kidney Diseases, Jinling Hospital, Nanjing University School of Medicine, Nanjing, China

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), Tumor Suppressor Par-4, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_18



Fig. 1 The anatomy of kidney

sium, NH3, etc. into the fluid while reabsorbs HCO3-, sodium, and water, thereby maintaining the pH and sodium and potassium levels in the blood. The collecting tubule reabsorbs the water and transports the fluid to the collecting duct, where the water is further reabsorbed and the urine is finally formed.

The renal interstitium is a connective tissue between nephrons or collecting ducts. It is composed of fibroblasts, macrophages, and extracellular matrix material (e.g., proteoglycans). The matrix material is convenient for the diffusion and penetration of molecules. It also acts as support for renal structure.

1.2 Kidney Diseases and the Pathogenesis

Kidney diseases can be classified into different types according to different criteria. According to kidney structure and compartments, they can be divided into glomerular disease, renal tubular disease, renal interstitial disease, renal vascular disease, etc. By pathological causes, they are categorized into primary and secondary kidney diseases. The primary kidney diseases refer to the conditions that start with renal cells themselves; while the secondary kidney diseases are caused by other non-renal diseases, such as diabetes, obesity, and hypertension. Kidney diseases can also be divided into acute kidney injury (AKI) and chronic kidney disease (CKD) according to the disease progression.

AKI is a condition with a sudden decrease in kidney function. It is not a single disease entity but is designated for a group of conditions that share common diagnostic features, e.g., increases of the blood urea nitrogen (BUN) and serum creatinine (SCr), and a reduction in urine excretion. AKI severity ranges from asymptomatic and transient changes in renal function as determined by the estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) to rapid and fatal derangements in circulating volume regulation and in electrolyte and acid-base composition in the plasma of patients.

CKD is defined as kidney damage with GFR below 60 ml/ min per 1.73 m² for 3 months or more. Its prevalence is ~10% [2]. CKD can progress to an end stage, resulting in a condition called end-stage renal disease (ESRD) in which the kidney is no long able to function to meet the need of body and the patients require renal replacement therapies, e.g., kidney transplantation or blood purification by dialysis. The most common causes of CKD leading to ESRD are diabetes, hypertension, glomerulonephritis, and cystic kidney disease (https://health.usnews.com/conditions/kidney-disease/).

CKD is characterized by kidney fibrosis. In the presence of injurious stimuli, kidney responds by adaptive change that leads to either healing thus functional recovery or scarring with loss of kidney function [3]. Healing occurs primarily in AKI, in which injured cells recover and renal cells are replenished by cell proliferation or transdifferentiation, resulting in restoration of renal integrity and function. On the other hand, in most forms of CKD, kidneys take the fate to progressive scarring/fibrosis with loss of function. Inflammatory cells infiltration contributes greatly to the scarring process [4]. Scarring affects both the glomeruli (glomerulosclerosis) and tubule and interstitium (tubulointerstitial fibrosis).

Glomerulosclerosis can be triggered by inflammation or metabolic insults that first attack glomerular endothelium, leading to the accumulation of inflammatory factors. The inflammatory factors can stimulate the mesangial cells to undergo transformation, proliferation, ECM synthesis and deposition, and death. Due to the inability of proliferation, podocytes cope with their loss by stretching along the GBM. However, podocyte stretching may still be not adequate to cover the GBM fully, resulting in the denuded areas of GBM. The parietal epithelial cells can attach to the denuded spots of GBM, leading to the formation of capsular adhesions and subsequent glomerulosclerosis. In AKI, the tubular cells can undergo necrosis or apoptosis, followed by an attempt to regenerate the cells for repair [5]. An insult on kidney may induce epithelial mesenchymal transformation (EMT) of kidney cells, which facilitates fibrosis by producing and depositing more ECM [6, 7].

1.3 Genes and Signaling Pathways Commonly Involved in Various Kidney Diseases

As mentioned earlier, there are many kinds of kidney diseases and each has a distinct underlying pathomechanism, especially at the initial stage of disease development. Thereafter, these diseases undergo similar processes, including inflammation, cell death, and fibrosis, eventually leading to loss of kidney function.

Some growth factors and cytokines are known to promote renal cell death and fibrosis. TGF- β is considered one of the most important players in the disease development, which induces tubular epithelial to mesenchymal transition and cell injury that lead to tubule damage and fibrosis [6–9]. TGF- β has also been shown to induce podocyte apoptosis (a hallmark of various glomerular diseases) [10] and to stimulate mesangial cells to produce ECM in glomeruli [11]. Importantly, TGF- β expression can be upregulated and activated by oxidative stress and hyperglycemia, and signaling molecules, e.g., angiotensin II and complement molecules in kidney. TGF- β has also been proposed to play an important role in the transition from AKI to CKD [12].

Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) signaling has been implicated in renal necrosis and apoptosis in kidney diseases as shown by that the abrogation of TNFR2, a TNF receptor, alleviates experimental kidney injury [13]. TRAIL, a TNF ligand, can activate NF-kappaB and promote apoptosis in tubular cells and podocytes. Another ligand TWEAK induces inflammation and tubular cell death or proliferation. TWEAK is potent in promoting the production of inflammatory factors, including MCP-1, RANTES, CCl21, and CCL19 [14].

Although WNT- β -catenin signaling is required for kidney development and renal tissue regeneration after injury,

uncontrolled overactivation of WNT signaling promotes renal cell injury and fibrosis [15]. Other factors, including Angiotensin II [16], CTGF, PDGF, and EGF, are also involved in kidney diseases [17].

Particularly, Par-4 has been shown to interact with many of these signaling pathways, e.g., TGF- β [18], Wnt [19], and TNF-alpha (TRAIL) [20], suggesting that Par-4 may be involved in kidney disease development by interacting with these molecules in similar manner in the non-renal cell types.

2 Par-4 Expression in Kidney

Par-4 was first identified in a screening for apoptosisassociated genes that are induced in response to apoptotic insults in prostate cancer cells [21]. The Par-4 protein comprises of 340 amino acid residues in human, which shares a high homology with its orthologs in mouse and rat [22]. Two nuclear localization sequences (NLS) are identified at the N-terminal region [23]. There is an SAC domain containing a threonine residue that can be phosphorylated by PKA [24]. The SAC domain confers the ability to selectively kill cancer but not normal cells [23]. At the C-terminal region is the leucine zipper domain that mediates protein–protein interactions to form Par-4 homodimer or its heterodimer with binding partners. Par-4 binding partners include WT1, DLK, FOXC2, and aPKC [25–28].

Par-4 transcripts are present in many organs, including kidney, according to the Human Protein Atlas (www.protein-atlas.org). Since kidney is made up of many cell types, it is important to localize Par-4 expression to distinct kidney cell types or compartments, and the single-cell RNA-seq (scRNA-seq) has made this possible.

Recently, scRNA-seq has been performed on human kidney [29] and the results are available in the KIT database (Kidney Interactive Transcriptomics; http://humphreyslab. com/SingleCell/). We found that PAR-4 transcript levels differ in distinct cell types with high levels in podocytes, mesangial cells, and the limb of Loop of Henle of tubules, respectively. In contrast, it is absent or at low levels in endothelial and other cell types (Fig. 2a).

Consistently, the Human Protein Atlas (www.proteinatlas.org) shows abundant Par-4 protein in kidney by immunohistochemical staining (Fig. 2b). In glomeruli, Par-4 exhibits staining pattern of podocyte and mesangial cells (Fig. 2c). The parietal epithelial cells are also stained positive (Fig. 2c). In the renal tubules, PAR-4 staining is intense in proximal convoluted tubule segments whose identity can be discerned by the presence of border brushes in the lumen side of the cells. Par-4 is stained in other tubules with reduced intensities (Fig. 2b). In addition to the cytoplasm, Par-4 protein is also localized in the nucleus of cells, particularly, the glomerular cells. This is consistent with previous studies that



Fig. 2 Par-4 expression in kidney. (a) The single-cell RNA-seq of human kidney show heterogeneous expression of Par-4 across differenct renal cell type (KIT database). (b, c) Par-4 protein is detected by IHC in human kidney, the both tubules and glomeruli (Human Protein

Atlas database). (d) Immunofluorescence staining of Par-4 in cultured podocytes, showing both cytoplasmic and nuclear localizations of Par-4

have shown the nuclear localization of Par-4 in cancer cells [23]. Interestingly, the nuclear localization of Par-4 is required for its pro-apoptotic activity [23]. We examined the subcellular localization of PAR-4 in cultured podocytes and found its presence in both cytoplasmic and nuclear compartments of the cells (Fig. 2d).

There have been very few reports concerning Par-4 expression regulation in kidney diseases; and, in fact, the Nephroseq, a kidney disease transcriptome database, shows no Par-4 transcript level changes in various kidney diseases essentially. It is not known whether Par-4 expression would be changed at the protein level by post-transcriptional regulation in the kidney diseases.

3 Involvement of Par-4 in Kidney Diseases

3.1 Apoptosis in Kidney

Massive apoptosis can be observed in kidney disease development, especially in AKI; and different renal compartments or cell types may exhibit differential apoptotic activity dependent on the nature of the diseases [30]. It is believed that apoptosis may be beneficial to kidney structure and function by removing injured and abnormal cells at the initial stage of disease, but aggravates renal deterioration later.

Apoptosis occurs massively in the tubules but not glomeruli in ureteral obstruction [31]. In 5/6 nephrectomy CKD model, tubular cells undergo apoptosis, resulting in tubular cell depletion, tubular atrophy, and fibrosis [32]. Apoptosis has also been documented in the diseased glomeruli [33, 34], for example, podocyte apoptosis has been reported in diabetic nephropathy, which results in podocyte depletion, glomerular filtration barrier disruption and proteinuria [35].

A large number of cellular factors have been identified to regulate the apoptosis. Depending on different stimuli, apoptosis occurs via extrinsic or intrinsic pathway. The extrinsic pathway involves binding of extracellular ligands, such as Fas/FasL and TNF ligands, to their corresponding receptors. The intrinsic pathway is activated by intracellular stimuli such as oxidative stress, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, hypoxia, and DNA damage. Both extrinsic and intrinsic pathways have been described in renal cell apoptosis [36].

In cancer studies, intracellular Par-4 has been shown to play a role in the trafficking of the Fas/FasL to the plasma membrane of prostate cancer cells, resulting in activation of Fas and FasL and induction of apoptosis [37]. Under an injurious stress, intracellular Par-4 binds to GRP78 to facilitate GRP78 translocation from the ER to cell surface, where it acts as a receptor for extracellular Par-4. The binding of Par-4 to cell surface GFR78 enables the adaptor protein FADD to recruit caspase-8 to the membrane, and the activated caspase-8 then triggers the basic apoptotic machinery involving caspase 3 and other downstream effector proteins [38]. It will be important to test whether this mechanism that involves Par-4 exists in renal cell apoptosis.

3.2 Actin Cytoskeletal Injury

A common pathological cause of proteinuric glomerular disease is the effacement of foot processes (FP) and the loss of slit diaphragm (SD) integrity of podocytes, which involve the rearrangement of the podocyte actin cytoskeleton. It is known that Myosin II motor protein is complexed with actin filaments, forming actomyosin that controls podocyte contractility and motility for normal structure and function of podocytes. Abnormal contractility and motility are involved in podocyte injury [39, 40].

Phosphorylation of myosin light chain (MLC) is the primary event in the regulation of actomyosin contractility, and the MLC phosphorylation level is determined by myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) and myosin light chain phosphatase (MLCP) in many cell types [41]. In smooth muscle cells, Par-4 was found to regulate MLCP activity through a "padlock" model in which Par-4 binds to MYPT1 (the targeting subunit 1 of MLCP) to sequester the inhibitory phosphorylation sites of MYPT1, resulting in MLCP activation. Once Par-4 is phosphorylated, it becomes unlocked and displaced from the MLCP complex, resulting in exposure of MYPT1 to ZIPK for phosphorylation and thus inactivation of MLCP [42]. It is possible that Par-4 can act by similar mechanism in podocytes because we found that all the genes mentioned above are expressed in podocytes according to mouse podocyte RNA-seq data (GSE17142, GEO).

3.3 Par-4 Interacts with the Molecules Implicated in Kidney Pathophysiology

Although the exact physiological and pathological roles of Par-4 in kidney are largely unknown, they may be inferred based on the pathways and molecules that are present in renal cells and known to interact with Par-4. All of the interacting partners of Par-4 in kidney are associated with cell survival and apoptosis. We describe several of them that are expressed in podocytes as example.

3.3.1 Wilms' Tumor Suppressor 1 (WT1)

WT1 is a transcription factor and acts as the master regulator for the development and homeostasis of podocytes by promoting the expression of many genes essential for podocyte structure and function [43]. WT1 mutations are found in some patients of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) and the patients with Denys-Drash syndrome characteristic of infantile diffuse mesangial sclerosis, gonadal dysgenesis, and Wilms' tumor [44]. These studies support a crucial role for WT1 in podocytes. Indeed, mouse model of WT1 deficiency exhibits podocyte injury, proteinuria, and glomerulosclerosis [45]. It has been shown that Par-4 can bind to the zinc finger of WT1 via its C-terminal leucine zipper domain to inhibit WT1-mediated transcription activation or augment WT1-mediated transcriptional repression, thus acting as a transcriptional repressor [25]. Based on above studies, we speculate that Par-4, at least excessive amount of Par-4, would be harmful to podocytes by inhibiting the function of WT1.

3.3.2 BCL-2

BCL-2 is an important inhibitory factor for apoptosis and it suppresses apoptosis in a variety of cell types by preventing the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria and other actions. BCL-2 also functions similarly in renal cells [46]. Par-4 has been shown to bind to the promoter of Bcl-2 gene and repress the transcription of Bcl-2 [47, 48]. Therefore, Par-4 may promote apoptosis in renal cells by inhibiting protective BCL-2 expression. This speculation needs to be tested for better understanding of the mechanism underlying podocyte apoptosis.

3.3.3 aPKC

The atypical protein kinase C (aPKC) members, $aPKC\lambda/t$ and $aPKC\zeta$, which localizes to the tight junctions and interacts with slit diaphragm proteins, play a crucial role in maintaining podocyte foot processes and glomerular filtration barrier as defective aPKC signaling (e.g., aPKC knockout in mice) results in disruption of glomerular architecture and causes severe proteinuria [49, 50]. The leucine zipper domain of Par-4 was found to bind to the zinc finger region of the aPKCs [28]. The interaction of Par-4 with aPKCs may be involved in podocyte injury, an issue deserving investigation.

3.4 Role of Par-4 in Kidney Diseases

At present, there have been very few studies investigating the role of Par-4 in kidney regardless of its expression in kidney. Par-4 protein was shown markedly reduced in human renal cell carcinoma specimens compared with normal tubular cells, and replenishment of Par-4 conferred sensitivity to apoptosis [51]. This finding also suggests that Par-4 might promote apoptosis in normal renal tubular cells.

Ischemia reperfusion-induced renal injury (IRI) is the most common cause of acute kidney injury (AKI) and it manifests with damage of renal tubular cell in addition to glomerular cells. Xie et al. showed that Par-4 was expressed in human renal proximal tubules and it was upregulated by three- to four-folds in the cortex tubular cells in the experimental model of renal IRI. In human kidney proximal tubule HK2 cell line and primary proximal tubule cells, Par-4 levels were elevated predominantly in response to chemical ischemia. Moreover, Par-4 was able to sensitize primary proximal cells and HK2 cells to apoptosis induced by chemical ischemia [52]. Conversely, prevention of Par-4 upregulation in the ischemia cell model alleviated apoptosis. These processes involve mitochondrial dysfunction and caspase activation, and Par-4's action is upstream of apoptotic cascade in IRI [52].

Oxidative stress is well known to play an important role in the development of various kidney diseases, including IRI, and can cause apoptosis. It was found that Par-4 inhibition prevented oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in renal tubular cells, partially via PI3K/AKT signaling that sustained expression of VEGF [53]. These studies have identified Par-4 as a novel and early mediator of renal tubule cell injury, which may be a potential therapeutic target for renal IRI and AKI.

At present, there has not been any study addressing the role for Par-4 in glomerular pathophysiology. This issue certainly deserves exploration given that Par-4 expression in glomerular podocytes and mesangial cells at high levels (Fig. 2) and that many molecules and signaling pathways involved in glomerular injury can interact with Par-4 functionally as described in many other cell types.

4 Future Directions

Although the role of Par-4 in tumor cells has been well investigated, its role in physiology and pathology of kidney is largely elusive. Considering that the kidney consists of several tens of cell types and subtypes and that Par-4 is expressed in many of them, Par-4 may have common and distinct functions in the distinct cell types. Elucidation of the roles of Par-4 in the different cell types under physiological and pathological conditions will provide better understanding of

The expression and regulation of Par-4 in kidney cell types in physiological and various pathological conditions require further detailing in both human and model organisms. Since the kidney is an organ with complex structure and function and consists of many cell types, single-cell analysis of Par-4 expression is particularly advantageous over the other conventional approaches. Several studies have provided single-cell RNA-seq data for both human and mouse kidney [29, 54–56], with which the researchers can determine Par-4 expression in distinct renal cell types under different conditions, particularly, of various kidney diseases. At present, however, the available scRNA-seq data of kidney have limited depth of sequencing and do not provide quality data of some types of cells because they tend to be injured and lost due to their vulnerability to the process of single-cell preparation. Therefore, the accuracy of Par-4 expression profile in kidney is an issue but will be improved with the technical advancement of single-cell RNA-seq in the future.

Animal models are essential for investigating the role and the underlying mechanism of Par-4 in kidney. The kidney of Par-4 knockout mice appears normal but this needs to be examined more carefully, e.g., prolonged observation with age, different genetic background, and molecular changes in kidney cell types deficient in Par-4. More importantly, the Par-4 knockout mice should be stressed by various stimuli and compared with wild-type control mice. Furthermore, kidney cell type-specific Par-4 knockouts should also be generated to determine its roles in distinct kidney cell types. At present, cell type-specific gene knockout has been achieved for podocytes, endothelial cells, proximal tubular and collecting duct cells in mouse, thanks to availability of the Cre transgenes expressing specifically in the cell types. It is expected that more kidney cell type-specific Cre transgenes will be available in the future.

Given that the roles of Par-4 in distinct kidney cell types can be revealed by various experimental approaches, the challenge followed is the elucidation of mechanisms underlying its roles. One convenient approach is to test the mechanisms that have been well established in other cell types, particularly cancer cells. Our preliminary studies have indeed shown certain mechanistic similarity between cancer and podocyte injury concerning Par-4. On the other hand, the behavior of a gene is often cell-type dependent, and thus Par-4 may function via some unique mechanisms in kidney cell types. To explore novel mechanisms in kidney cell types, various databases that have been continuously expanding can be helpful in finding the mechanistic clues. For example, gene expression profile of a cell type under both normal and disease conditions can be acquired and used to construct interaction network involving Par-4 using bioinformatics tools, followed by experimental validations.

Par-4 may be a potential target for kidney diseases due to its pro-apoptotic effect. There are several considerations concerning the use of Par-4 as therapeutic targets. First of all, it is necessary to screen for small molecules that can inhibit Par-4. Currently, there have been no studies reporting any small molecules capable of inhibiting the pro-apoptotic activity of Par-4. Finding a Par-4 inhibitor may not be interesting to cancer researchers and clinicians, but it could be important for kidney disease treatment. Discovery of Par-4 small molecule inhibitors and successful confirmation of their effectiveness and safety in treating kidney diseases will take long but it is anyway an essential direction to explore. Alternatively, small molecule inhibitors that block the upstream regulators of Par-4 expression can be considered. This approach requires detailed mechanistic understanding of Par-4 expression at levels of both transcription and posttranscription. Of course, blocking the pathway downstream Par-4 that leads to apoptosis of kidney cells can be an additional choice. With the accumulating data from Par-4 molecular and cellular studies, these approaches would become possible.

Finally, Par-4 is a promising target for cancer treatment; however, a cancer regimen that activates Par-4 might have adverse effect on kidney because of the pro-apoptotic effect of Par-4 in kidney cells. This concern is particularly important for patients with unaware kidney disease. The prevalence of chronic kidney diseases is ~10% of the population and most of them are unaware of the diseases. This situation holds true for cancer patients.

Acknowledgments This work is supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81670653, 81970619 to SS).

Disclosure The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Ohse T, Pippin JW, Chang AM, Krofft RD, Miner JH, Vaughan MR, Shankland SJ (2009) The enigmatic parietal epithelial cell is finally getting noticed: a review. Kidney Int 76(12):1225–1238
- Zhang L, Wang F, Wang L, Wang W, Liu B, Liu J, Chen M, He Q, Liao Y, Yu X, Chen N, Zhang JE, Hu Z, Liu F, Hong D, Ma L, Liu H, Zhou X, Chen J, Pan L, Chen W, Wang W, Li X, Wang H (2012) Prevalence of chronic kidney disease in China: a cross-sectional survey. Lancet 379(9818):815–822
- El-Nahas AM (2003) Plasticity of kidney cells: role in kidney remodeling and scarring. Kidney Int 64(5):1553–1563
- Andrade-Oliveira V, Foresto-Neto O, Watanabe IKM, Zatz R, Câmara NOS (2019) Inflammation in renal diseases: new and old players. Front Pharmacol 10:1192
- Christensen EI, Verroust PJ (2008) Interstitial fibrosis: tubular hypothesis versus glomerular hypothesis. Kidney Int 74(10):1233–1236

- Lovisa S, LeBleu VS, Tampe B, Sugimoto H, Vadnagara K, Carstens JL, Wu CC, Hagos Y, Burckhardt BC, Pentcheva-Hoang T, Nischal H, Allison JP, Zeisberg M, Kalluri R (2015) Epithelial-tomesenchymal transition induces cell cycle arrest and parenchymal damage in renal fibrosis. Nat Med 21(9):998–1009
- Zeisberg M, Hanai J, Sugimoto H, Mammoto T, Charytan D, Strutz F, Kalluri R (2003) BMP-7 counteracts TGF-beta1-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and reverses chronic renal injury. Nat Med 9(7):964–968
- Böttinger EP (2007) TGF-beta in renal injury and disease. Semin Nephrol 27:309–320
- Sugimoto H, LeBleu VS, Bosukonda D, Keck P, Taduri G, Bechtel W, Okada H, Carlson W Jr, Bey P, Rusckowski M, Tampe B, Tampe D, Kanasaki K, Zeisberg M, Kalluri R (2012) Activin-like kinase 3 is important for kidney regeneration and reversal of fibrosis. Nat Med 18(3):396–404
- Schiffer M, Bitzer M, Roberts IS, Kopp JB, ten Dijke P et al (2001) Apoptosis in podocytes induced by TGF-beta and Smad7. J Clin Invest 108:807–816
- Schnaper HW, Hayashida T, Hubchak SC, Poncelet AC (2003) TGF-beta signal transduction and mesangial cell fibrogenesis. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 284(2):F243–F252
- Gewin LS (2019) Transforming growth factor-β in the acute kidney injury to chronic kidney disease transition. Nephron 143(3):154–157
- Ramesh G, Reeves WB (2003) TNFR2-mediated apoptosis and necrosis in cisplatin-induced acute renal failure. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 285(4):F610–F618
- 14. Sanchez-Niño MD, Benito-Martin A, Gonçalves S, Sanz AB, Ucero AC, Izquierdo MC, Ramos AM, Berzal S, Selgas R, Ruiz-Ortega M, Egido J, Ortiz A (2010) TNF superfamily: a growing saga of kidney injury modulators. Mediat Inflamm 2010:182958
- Schunk SJ, Floege J, Fliser D, Speer T (2020) WNT-β-catenin signalling—a versatile player in kidney injury and repair. Nat Rev Nephrol 17:172
- Macconi D, Remuzzi G, Benigni A (2014) Key fibrogenic mediators: old players. Renin-angiotensin system. Kidney Int Suppl (2011) 4(1):58–64
- Kok HM, Falke LL, Goldschmeding R, Nguyen TQ (2014) Targeting CTGF, EGF and PDGF pathways to prevent progression of kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 10(12):700–711
- Chaudhry P, Fabi F, Singh M, Parent S, Leblanc V, Asselin E (2014) Prostate apoptosis response-4 mediates TGF-β-induced epithelialto-mesenchymal transition. Cell Death Dis 5(2):e1044
- 19. de Bessa Garcia SA, Pavanelli AC, Cruz E, Melo N, Nagai MA (2017) Prostate apoptosis response 4 (PAR4) expression modulates WNT signaling pathways in MCF7 breast cancer cells: a possible mechanism underlying PAR4-mediated docetaxel chemosensitivity. Int J Mol Med 39(4):809–818
- Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR, Rangnekar VM (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138(2):377–388
- Sells SF, Wood DP Jr, Joshi-Barve SS, Muthukumar S, Jacob RJ, Crist SA, Humphreys S, Rangnekar VM (1994) Commonality of the gene programs induced by effectors of apoptosis in androgendependent and -independent prostate cells. Cell Growth Differ 5(4):457–466
- El-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (2003) Apoptosis by Par-4 in cancer and neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Cell Res 283(1):51–66
- El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23(16):5516–5525

- Gurumurthy S, Goswami A, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase a is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25(3):1146–1161
- 25. Johnstone RW, See RH, Sells SF, Wang J, Muthukkumar S, Englert C, Haber DA, Licht JD, Sugrue SP, Roberts T, Rangnekar VM, Shi Y (1996) A novel repressor, par-4, modulates transcription and growth suppression functions of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Mol Cell Biol 16(12):6945–6956
- Page G, Kögel D, Rangnekar V, Scheidtmann KH (1999) Interaction partners of Dlk/ZIP kinase: co-expression of Dlk/ZIP kinase and Par-4 results in cytoplasmic retention and apoptosis. Oncogene 18(51):7265–7273
- Acharya M, Huang L, Fleisch VC, Allison WT, Walter MA (2011) A complex regulatory network of transcription factors critical for ocular development and disease. Hum Mol Genet 20(8):1610–1624
- Díaz-Meco MT, Municio MM, Frutos S, Sanchez P, Lozano J, Sanz L, Moscat J (1996) The product of par-4, a gene induced during apoptosis, interacts selectively with the atypical isoforms of protein kinase C. Cell 86(5):777–786
- Parker C, Wilson HW, Kirita Y, Uchimura K, Ledru N, Rennke HG, Welling PA, Waikar SS, Humphreys BD (2019) The singlecell transcriptomic landscape of early human diabetic nephropathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci 116(39):19619–19625
- Havasi A, Borkan SC (2011) Apoptosis and acute kidney injury. Kidney Int 80(1):29–40. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.2011.120. Epub 2011 May 11
- Truong LD, Sheikh-Hamad D, Chakraborty S, Suki WN (1998) Cell apoptosis and proliferation in obstructive uropathy. Semin Nephrol 18(6):641–651
- 32. Thomas GL, Yang B, Wagner BE, Savill J, El Nahas AM (1998) Cellular apoptosis and proliferation in experimental renal fibrosis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 13(9):2216–2226
- Harrison DJ (1988) Cell death in the diseased glomerulus. Histopathology 12(6):679–683
- Hughes J, Cailhier JF, Watson S, Savill JS (2004) Apoptosis in glomerulonephritis. Rheum Dis Clin N Am 30(3):655–676. xi-xii
- 35. Susztak K, Raff AC, Schiffer M, Böttinger EP (2006) Glucoseinduced reactive oxygen species cause apoptosis of podocytes and podocyte depletion at the onset of diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes 55(1):225–233
- Priante G, Gianesello L, Ceol M, Del Prete D, Anglani F (2019) Cell death in the kidney. Int J Mol Sci 20(14):3598
- Chakraborty M, Qiu SG, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2001) Par-4 drives trafficking and activation of Fas and Fasl to induce prostate cancer cell apoptosis and tumor regression. Cancer Res 61(19):7255–7263
- Burikhanov R, Sviripa VM, Hebbar N, Zhang W, Layton WJ, Hamza A, Zhan CG, Watt DS, Liu C, Rangnekar VM (2014) Arylquins target vimentin to trigger Par-4 secretion for tumor cell apoptosis. Nat Chem Biol 10(11):924–926
- 39. Schell C, Sabass B, Helmstaedter M, Geist F, Abed A, Yasuda-Yamahara M, Sigle A, Maier JI, Grahammer F, Siegerist F, Artelt N, Endlich N, Kerjaschki D, Arnold HH, Dengjel J, Rogg M, Huber TB (2018) ARP3 controls the podocyte architecture at the kidney filtration barrier. Dev Cell 47(6):741–757.e8
- 40. Schell C, Rogg M, Suhm M, Helmstädter M, Sellung D, Yasuda-Yamahara M, Kretz O, Küttner V, Suleiman H, Kollipara L, Zahedi RP, Sickmann A, Eimer S, Shaw AS, Kramer-Zucker A, Hirano-Kobayashi M, Abe T, Aizawa S, Grahammer F, Hartleben B, Dengjel J, Huber TB (2017) The FERM protein EPB41L5 regulates actomyosin contractility and focal adhesion formation to maintain the kidney filtration barrier. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114(23):E4621–E4630

- Matsumura F, Hartshorne DJ (2008) Myosin phosphatase target subunit: many roles in cell function. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 369(1):149–156
- Vetterkind S, Lee E, Sundberg E, Poythress RH, Tao TC, Preuss U, Morgan KG (2010) Par-4: a new activator of myosin phosphatase. Mol Biol Cell 21(7):1214–1224
- 43. Kann M, Ettou S, Jung YL, Lenz MO, Taglienti ME, Park PJ, Schermer B, Benzing T, Kreidberg JA (2015) Genome-wide analysis of Wilms' Tumor 1-controlled gene expression in podocytes reveals key regulatory mechanisms. J Am Soc Nephrol 26(9):2097–2104
- 44. Niaudet P, Gubler MC (2006) WT1 and glomerular diseases. Pediatr Nephrol 21(11):1653–1660
- 45. Gebeshuber CA, Kornauth C, Dong L, Sierig R, Seibler J, Reiss M, Tauber S, Bilban M, Wang S, Kain R, Böhmig GA, Moeller MJ, Gröne HJ, Englert C, Martinez J, Kerjaschki D (2013) Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis is induced by microRNA-193a and its downregulation of WT1. Nat Med 19(4):481–487
- 46. Wada T, Pippin JW, Marshall CB, Griffin SV, Shankland SJ (2005) Dexamethasone prevents podocyte apoptosis induced by puromycin aminonucleoside: role of p53 and Bcl-2-related family proteins. J Am Soc Nephrol 16(9):2615–2625
- 47. Cheema SK, Mishra SK, Rangnekar VM, Tari AM, Kumar R, Lopez-Berestein G (2003) Par-4 transcriptionally regulates Bcl-2 through a WT1-binding site on the bcl-2 promoter. J Biol Chem 278(22):19995–20005
- 48. Boehrer S, Chow KU, Beske F, Kukoc-Zivojnov N, Puccetti E, Ruthardt M, Baum C, Rangnekar VM, Hoelzer D, Mitrou PS, Weidmann E (2002) In lymphatic cells par-4 sensitizes to apoptosis by down-regulating bcl-2 and promoting disruption of mitochondrial membrane potential and caspase activation. Cancer Res 62(6):1768–1775
- 49. Hartleben B, Widmeier E, Suhm M, Worthmann K, Schell C, Helmstädter M, Wiech T, Walz G, Leitges M, Schiffer M, Huber TB (2013) aPKCλ/1 and aPKCζ contribute to podocyte differentiation and glomerular maturation. J Am Soc Nephrol 24(2):253–267
- Huber TB, Hartleben B, Winkelmann K, Schneider L, Becker JU, Leitges M, Walz G, Haller H, Schiffer M (2009) Loss of podocyte aPKClambda/iota causes polarity defects and nephrotic syndrome. J Am Soc Nephrol 20(4):798–806
- 51. Cook J, Krishnan S, Ananth S, Sells SF, Shi Y, Walther MM, Linehan WM, Sukhatme VP, Weinstein MH, Rangnekar VM (1999) Decreased expression of the pro-apoptotic protein Par-4 in renal cell carcinoma. Oncogene 18(5):1205–1208
- Xie J, Guo Q (2007) Par-4 is a novel mediator of renal tubule cell death in models of ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 292(1):F107–F115
- 53. Sun B, Lu C, Zhou GP, Xing CY (2011) Suppression of Par-4 protects human renal proximal tubule cells from apoptosis induced by oxidative stress. Nephron Exp Nephrol 117(3):e53–e61
- 54. Lu Y, Ye Y, Bao W, Yang Q, Wang J, Liu Z, Shi S (2017) Genome-wide identification of genes essential for podocyte cytoskeletons based on single-cell RNA sequencing. Kidney Int 92(5):1119–1129
- 55. Lu Y, Ye Y, Yang Q, Shi S (2017) Single-cell RNA-sequence analysis of mouse glomerular mesangial cells uncovers mesangial cell essential genes. Kidney Int 92(2):504–513
- 56. Park J, Shrestha R, Qiu C, Kondo A, Huang S, Werth M, Li M, Barasch J, Suszták K (2018) Single-cell transcriptomics of the mouse kidney reveals potential cellular targets of kidney disease. Science 360(6390):758–763

Check for updates

Lessons from Mouse Models

Nathalia Araujo, Nikhil Hebbar, and Vivek M. Rangnekar

Abstract

Prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) is a tumor suppressor protein known to be mutated in endometrial cancer, inactivated in prostate cancer, and downregulated in several other cancers such as renal cell carcinoma, neuroblastoma, and pancreatic cancer. Par-4 downregulation is also associated with poor prognosis and recurrence in breast cancer. Expressed in all tissues and present in multiple cellular compartments. Par-4 protein shares homology of its key domains across human, mouse, and rat species. The most well-defined domains of Par-4 consist of two nuclear localization sequences in the N-terminal region (NLS1 and NLS2), a leucine zipper (LZ) domain at the C-terminus, and the effector SAC domain (Selective for Apoptosis in Cancer) naturally placed in the center of the molecule. Additionally, Par-4 and its effector domain can be secreted and found in the plasma of mice, normal individuals, and cancer patients. To better understand the function of Par-4 as a tumor suppressor, several groups have generated mouse models and studied the implications of deletion or overexpression of Par-4 in vivo. Par-4

N. Araujo (🖂)

Department of Genetics, Evolution, Microbiology and Immunology, Institute of Biology, University of Campinas, Campinas, São Paulo, Brazil

N. Hebbar

St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, Memphis, TN, USA

V. M. Rangnekar

Department of Toxicology and Cancer Biology, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Department of Radiation Medicine, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Molecular Genetics, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

loss in mice results in increased susceptibility to spontaneous tumors, as well as inducible tumors in various tissues. On the other hand, overexpression of Par-4 leads to longer cancer-free lifespan. Par-4 is also relevant outside the context of cancer as it promotes differentiation of T-cells toward the Th2 lineage in detriment of Th1, and Par-4 interacts with the dopamine receptor to ensure proper dopamine signaling. This chapter will discuss the most relevant studies utilizing mouse models that provide deeper insights into Par-4 function.

Keywords

1

 $\begin{array}{l} Prostate apoptosis response-4 \ (Par-4) \cdot Knockout \ mice \cdot \\ Tumor \ growth \cdot Nuclear \ factor \ kappa-light-chain-\\ enhancer \ of \ activated \ B \ cells \ (NF-\kappa B) \cdot Apoptosis \cdot \\ Selective \ for \ apoptosis \ in \ cancer \ cells \ (SAC) \cdot Leucine \\ zipper \ domain \cdot Depression \cdot Atypical \ protein \ kinase \ C\zeta \\ (\zeta PKC) \cdot c-Myc \cdot Ras \cdot Inflammation \cdot PKA \cdot \\ Chloroquine \cdot Radiation \end{array}$

Par-4 Deletion in 129Sv Background

Multiple research groups have utilized mouse models to study the function of Par-4 in vivo. In 2003, preceding the in vivo studies, mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) lacking Par-4 were generated via disruption of the Par-4 gene by homologous recombination. A linearized construct eliminating exons 1 and 2 from the Par-4 sequence was electroporated into embryonic stem (ES) cells in the 129Sv background. A chimeric male was produced from one ES clone. The chimeric male was then crossed with CD1 females to generate F1 Par-4^{+/-} mice. Embryonic fibroblasts were isolated at 13.5 days from the mouse embryos resulting from crosses between Par-4^{+/-} mice (F1 intercrosses) to generate Par-4^{-/-} MEFs [1]. These Par-4^{-/-} MEFs were used to elucidate several signaling pathways. Western blotting for phospho-Thr410 of active atypical protein kinase C (aPKC) demonstrated that

Department of Toxicology and Cancer Biology, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), *Tumor Suppressor Par-4*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_19
basal activity of aPKC was increased in Par-4-/- MEFs compared to wild-type controls. Further increase in aPKC activity was obtained in Par-4^{-/-} MEFs relative to Par-4^{+/+} MEFs when tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) was added to the medium, revealing Par-4 as a negative regulator of aPKC. Additionally, when either Par-4^{-/-} or Par-4^{+/+} or wildtype (WT) MEFs were incubated with TNF- α in the presence of cycloheximide, and apoptosis was measured using TUNEL (TdT-mediated dUTP nick end-labeling) analysis, Par-4^{-/-} MEFs showed significantly reduced apoptosis when compared to WT MEFs. The absence of Par-4 also enhanced NF-kB activation. When Par-4^{-/-} and WT MEFs were transfected with an NF-kB luciferase reporter and stimulated with TNF- α or interleukin-1, NF- κ B transcription was 2–3 times higher in the Par-4^{-/-} MEFs when compared to WT MEFs. Re-expression of Par-4 in the Par-4-/- MEFs abolished the increase in NF-kB activity, demonstrating that Par-4 was as negative regulator of NF-kB activity [1]. Downstream of TNF-α, Par-4 affected both c-Jun amino-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38 kinase pathways. Inhibition of sustained activation of c-Jun and p38 was obvious in Par-4-/- MEFs when compared to WT MEFs when cells were treated with TNF- α . However, the absence of Par-4 did not affect early TNF- α stimulation of either JNK or p38 kinase. Because X-chromosome-linked inhibitor of apoptosis (XIAP) is decreased when NF-kB is not active, and XIAP can alter sustained JNK activation, the authors showed that TNF- α induced XIAP was much more robust in Par-4^{-/-} MEFs, explaining the transient activation of JNK when Par-4 was deleted. Moreover, basal level expression of XIAP was higher in Par-4^{-/-} MEFs relative to WT MEFs [1].

Having demonstrated that Par-4 is a negative regulator of aPKC, and in view of the fact that ζPKC (an isoform of aPKC) promotes immune system alterations, a follow-up study characterized the immunological phenotype of Par-4 knockout mice [2]. Par- $4^{-/-}$ mice were born at the expected Mendelian ratio. Although moderate splenomegaly was observed in Par-4 knockout mice, neither the overall cell number nor differentiation of T- and B-cell populations and subpopulations were affected. When B cells were activated through the B-cell receptor (BCR), however, the proliferative response was significantly increased in the population where Par-4 was absent. Enhanced proliferation was not observed in Par-4 knockout cells when B cells were activated by LPS or CD40, which was consistent with the role of ζPKC in BCR signaling. Proliferation of peripheral T-cells was increased in Par-4^{-/-} cells after stimulation with anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody, especially in the absence of the costimulant CD28. This was rather unexpected and suggested that Par-4 interfered with T-cell proliferation independently of ζPKC since ζPKC is not known to play a role in T-cell receptor (TCR) signaling. Enhanced proliferation of Par-4-/cells was observed in both CD4+ and CD8+ populations, and this was not a result of differences in the percentage of memory/effector or regulatory T-cells. Production of interleukin-2 (IL-2), a marker of T-cell activation, was also augmented by Par-4 loss; however, expression of CD25 (IL-2R α) was comparable in WT and Par-4^{-/-} cells upon anti-CD3 stimulation, with or without anti-CD28. Moreover, there was no difference in proliferation between WT and Par-4^{-/-} T-cells when they were stimulated with IL-2.

The effect of Par-4 loss in T-cell apoptosis was also assessed. Following a 24h stimulation by anti-CD3, Par-4-/-T-cells showed reduced Annexin V staining compared to WT T-cells. These results were further corroborated by decreased sensitivity of Par-4-/- T-cells to apoptosis when a protocol to recapitulate the activation-induced cell death (AICD) phenomenon was used. The study by Lafuente et al. also investigated the effect of Par-4 deficiency in the T-cell signaling cascade. CD3-stimulated Par-4^{-/-} T-cells displayed enhanced activation of aPKC as demonstrated by two-fold increase in phosphorylation of the kinase T-loop site when compared to aPKC phosphorylation in WT T-cells. Total amount of aPKC did not differ between WT and Par-4-null T-cells and costimulation with anti-CD28 did not further augment phosphorylation. Par-4 loss also significantly increased the amount of NF-κB in the nucleus after anti-CD3 stimulation with and without anti-CD28 co-stimulation. Because ZPKC does not affect T-cell proliferation [3] and because both ζPKC and $\lambda/\iota PKC$ can activate NF- κB [4], these data suggested that Par-4 function in T-cells is mediated by $\lambda/\iota PKC$ [2].

Similar to the effect of Par-4 loss in MEFs [1], JNK, but not p38, activation was dramatically decreased in the Par-4^{-/-} T-cells even though the total amount of c-Jun protein was indistinguishable between Par-4^{-/-} cells and WT T-cells. Moreover, stimulation of T-cells that lacked Par-4 promoted robust activation of nuclear factor of activated T-cells, cytoplasmic 1 (NFATc1), corroborating previous findings [5] where JNK activation inhibited NFATc1 phosphorylation. Since NFAT plays an important role in IL-2 synthesis, these results implied that Par-4 loss lead to JNK inhibition. JNK inhibition, therefore, promoted NFATc1 activation and increased IL-2 production, leading to enhanced T-cell proliferation. In WT cells, stimulation with anti-CD3 (or anti-CD3 with anti-CD28) resulted in increased Par-4 levels, suggesting that Par-4 accumulation in T-cells limited the activation of aPKC. These kinases were relatively more active in Par-4^{-/-} T-cells [2]. Also noteworthy was the effect of Par-4 loss on JNK signaling and cytokine production: JNK2 was necessary for synthesis of interferon-gamma (IFNy), a Th1 cytokine; and JNK1, through NFATc1 inhibition, repressed synthesis of IL-4, a Th2 cytokine. When Par-4-/- T-cells were stimulated with anti-CD3 (with or without anti-CD28), although IFNy production was comparable to that of WT T-cells, there was a significant increase in the production of IL-4 in Par-4^{-/-} CD4⁺ T-cells. In summary, Par-4 deletion led to hyperactivation of aPKCs that led to inhibition of JNK, enhanced IL-4 production, and Th2 differentiation [2].

Next, Jorge Moscat and colleagues investigated the tumorigenesis potential of Par-4^{+/+}, Par-4^{+/-}, and Par-4^{-/-} mice in the CD1/129Sv 3:1 background [6]. The average lifespan of Par-4^{-/-} (19 months) mice was decreased when compared to that of either Par- $4^{+/-}$ or Par- $4^{+/+}$ mice, which had an average lifespan of 24 or 25 months, respectively. Histopathological analyses were performed after euthanasia of mice that were moribund and typical age-related alterations (i.e., glomerulonephritis and cysts) were observed with comparable frequencies in all three genotypes. The incidence of tumors, however, was remarkably higher in the Par-4^{-/-} mice (87%) when compared to Par- $4^{+/+}$ mice (55%); Par- $4^{+/-}$ mice displayed intermediate tumor incidence (71%). Moreover, 43% of Par-4-null mice and 33% of Par-4 heterozygous mice carried more than one tumor at the time of the death (versus 5% of Par-4 WT mice). It was noted that 57% of the tumors in the Par-4^{-/-} mice were carcinomas, versus 27% and 15% of the tumors in Par-4^{+/-} and Par-4^{+/+} mice. respectively. The tissues most affected by tumor development were bladder, uterus, and prostate [6]. Of note, maximal Par-4 mRNA levels are observed in the urinary bladder of WT mice, and this is relevant because Par-4^{-/-} mice developed spontaneous tumors of the bladder, a tumor type that very rarely affects aged WT mice. When Par-4^{-/-} mice and their littermate controls Par-4+/+ mice were treated with the bladder carcinogen BBN ((N-butyl-N-(4-hydroxybutyl) nitrosamine), WT mice survived up to 55 weeks after initiation of the treatment, whereas Par-4^{-/-} mice perished before 40 weeks. These results further corroborated the susceptibility of Par-4 knockout mice to urinary tumors and strengthened the relevance of Par-4 in suppressing tumors [6].

The most prominent carcinoma in Par-4^{-/-} mice was endometrial adenocarcinoma, which affected 36% of the female mice. At 3 months, there were no noticeable lesions in the uteri of Par-4-null or Par-4 WT female mice. At 9 months, 80% of Par-4^{-/-} female mice displayed endometrial hyperplasia. Mechanistically, XIAP levels were significantly elevated in the uteri of Par-4^{-/-} female mice when compared with Par-4^{+/+} littermates. These observations corroborated the function of Par-4 as an inhibitor of **ZPKC-**NF-κB-XIAP pathway described by Garcia-Cao et al. [1], explaining the endometrial cancer susceptibility in Par-4 knockout female mice. Moreover, Par-4 protein was significantly reduced in the uterus of WT female mice following treatment with estradiol, a strong inducer of endometrial cell proliferation, further suggesting that Par-4 is a negative regulator of proliferation [6]. The prostate was also markedly affected by Par-4 deletion. Compared to 8% of WT and 15% of heterozygous males, 77% of Par-4 knockout males presented lesions in the prostate. Carcinogenic treatment with

and inducible tumors of the prostate and the endometrium,

which could be explained by upregulation of the CPKC-

NF-κB–XIAP pathway [6]. The study by Joshi et al. in 2008 expanded the role of Par-4 as a suppressor of tumor growth to other tissues in addition to the bladder, endometrium, and prostate [7]. The authors reasoned that Par-4 would most likely have an important tumor suppressor function in tissues that expressed the highest levels of Par-4. The levels of Par-4 protein in the lungs were comparable to those of the prostate, as determined by immunoblot analysis. Moreover, Par-4 mRNA levels were the highest in the prostate, and also high in the liver, lungs, and kidneys. Immunocytochemistry (IHC) of mouse lungs indicated that Par-4 was mostly expressed in epithelial cells of the airways and in the alveoli. A similar trend was observed in human lung tissue. In fact, Par-4 was absent in 47% of tissue microarrays (TMAs) of human non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC). Lack of Par-4 also correlated with the type of lung tumor: 41% of adenocarcinomas were negative for Par-4, whereas only 6% of squamous cells did not show Par-4 expression. Because adenocarcinomas highly correlate with oncogenic Ras, this study tested whether oncogenic Ras in Par-4-/- mice would increase tumor burden. Par-4^{-/-} mice were crossed with WT mice-expressing oncogenic Ras in the lungs. Not only did the tumor burden jump from 18% in Ras-expressing WT lungs to 75% in Rasexpressing Par-4-null lungs, but also tumor progression was accelerated in Par-4-null/Ras adenocarcinomas. Additionally, the lifespan markedly decreased in the Par-4 knockoutexpressing oncogenic Ras, suggesting that Par-4 is a negative regulator of lung tumorigenesis [7].

As demonstrated for the endometrium and prostate, XIAP was elevated in the lungs of Par-4 knockout mice when compared to WT mice. Moreover, phospho- ζ PKC was increased in the alveoli and in the airways of Par-4-null mice, and enhanced ζ PKC activity was noted in Par-4^{-/-} whole-lung extracts. Nuclear levels of p65/RelA were also increased in the lungs of Par-4^{-/-} mice, and this was consistent with the fact that ζ PKC is required for nuclear translocation of NF- κ B in the lungs. In addition to enhanced XIAP and NF- κ B cell survival and proliferation signaling, Par-4 loss was correlated with increased protein kinase B activation (Akt, phosphorylated at serine 473) in lung extracts. p-Akt-Ser473 was elevated in Ras-expressing Par-4^{-/-} tumors although nuclear RelA was not detected in either Par-4^{-/-} or WT Ras-expressing tumors. These data suggested that elevated

tumorigenesis in Par-4-null/Ras-expressing tumors correlated with enhanced Akt activity, but not with NF-kB activation [7]. Par-4^{-/-} MEFs showed increased Akt activation when compared to WT MEFs; however, re-expression of Par-4 in Par-4^{-/-} MEFs drastically impaired Akt activation. Negative regulation of Akt by Par-4 translated from mouse lungs and MEFs to human cancer cells as well. When A549 and HEK293 cells were treated with Par-4 small interference RNA (siRNA), p-Akt-Ser473 levels were significantly increased. Interestingly, Akt activation by phosphorylation at threonine 308 was also augmented in the context of Par-4 loss. In Par-4^{-/-} cells, the phosphorylation of both activation sites of Akt was independent of PI 3-kinase levels, as PIP3 levels were reduced in Par-4 knockout cells [7]. When HEK293 cells were transfected with ectopic Par-4, Akt phosphorylation at Ser473 was decreased; however, cotransfection of Par-4 and CPKC impaired the inhibitory effect of Par-4 on Akt activation. These observations suggested the existence of a Par-4/ζPKC/Akt signaling cascade. A kinase assay using $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP, in which recombinant ζPKC was incubated with purified His-Akt, demonstrated that ζPKC was able to induce Akt phosphorylation at both Ser473 and Thr308. This effect was not due to Akt autophosphorylation. Interestingly, phosphopeptide analyses of Akt phosphorylation by ζPKC uncovered another Akt phosphorylation site at the Ser124 residue. Akt-Ser124 was in fact the most abundantly detected site for phosphorylation upon CPKC treatment and was observed even without CPKC, whereas Akt-Ser473 and Akt-Thr308 were only detected after incubation with ζPKC. By phosphorylating Ser124 in vivo, ζPKC impacted total Ser473 phosphorylation through the TORC2 complex. These findings were corroborated by severe impairment in Akt-Ser473 and Akt-Thr308 phosphorylation in ζPKC-null MEFs when compared to WT ζPKC MEFs. Moreover, in lung extracts from Par-4/ζPKC doubleknockout mice, Akt phosphorylation was abrogated at both residues. In summary, the Par-4/ζPKC interaction was a relevant regulator of Akt activation, likely due to ZPKC's ability to phosphorylate Akt-Ser124, which promoted the phosphorylation of the key sites Ser473 and Thr308 [7].

In 2009, more insights were gained on the relevance of Par-4 in tumor development. Following the studies describing benign lesions of the prostate in Par-4^{-/-} mice [6] and the importance of Par-4 regulation of Akt through ζ PKC in Ras lung tumors [7], Fernandez-Marcos et al. investigated the contribution of ζ PKC for the development of tumors in Par-4-null mice using the ζ PKC/Par-4 double-knockout mouse model [8]. The prostate phenotype of Par-4^{-/-} mice was reversed in ζ PKC/Par-4 double-knockout mice, and nuclear p-Akt levels were increased in the prostate of Par-4^{-/-} mice, but not in WT or ζ PKC/Par-4 double-knockout mice. Additionally, NF- κ B activation (marked by p65/RelA nuclear localization) was enhanced in the Par-4^{-/-} mouse

prostate, but not CPKC-/-/Par-4-/- double-knockout mouse prostate. The authors evaluated human prostate carcinomas to establish the relevance of Par-4 as a tumor suppressor and noted that 41% of the tumors were Par-4-positive and 59% were Par-4-negative or Par-4-low. Low Par-4 levels were associated with Par-4 promoter methylation. When PTEN expression was assessed in these prostate carcinomas, a significant correlation emerged: PTEN negative/low tumors were also negative/low for Par-4, whereas PTEN-positive tumors were Par-4 positive. Moreover, similar to what was observed with PTEN loss, Par-4 deficiency was associated with higher Gleason scores [8]. To address the implications of PTEN deficiency for the development of prostate neoplasia in Par-4-null mice, Par-4-/- mice were crossed with PTEN^{+/-} mice. Assessment of multicentric proliferative disease to determine overall survival of generated cohorts demonstrated that neither Par-4^{-/-}/PTEN^{+/-} nor Par-4^{+/-}/ PTEN^{+/-} cohorts were affected suggesting that Par-4 dosage was not relevant for PTEN-driven lymphoproliferative disease. Par-4 gene dosage, however, was important for cancer initiation and increased incidence of PIN in PTEN+/- background. Percentage of PIN I (low-grade prostatic intra neoplasia) was two-fold higher in Par-4+/-/PTEN+/- mouse prostates, whereas Par-4-/-/PTEN+/- mouse prostates displayed four times more PIN when compared to WT Par-4 PTEN+/- mouse prostates. Progression of PIN was also impacted by the Par-4 status. While PTEN heterozygous prostates did not show any high-grade PIN (i.e., PIN III and PIN IV), Par-4+/-/PTEN+/- mice developed high-grade PIN with 100% penetrance that correlated with enhanced proliferation assessed by Ki67 staining. Moreover, apoptosis was reduced with Par-4 loss, demonstrating that cooperation between Par-4 and PTEN deficiency enhanced both proliferation and survival of neoplastic prostate cells. On the same note, PIN progressed to micro-invasive carcinoma in Par-4^{+/-}/PTEN^{+/-} mice, whereas Par-4^{-/-}/PTEN^{+/-} mice displayed highly penetrant and fully invasive carcinomas at 6 months of age. The severity of the lesions observed in the mouse prostate recapitulated the aggressive characteristics of human prostate cancer. Together, these findings illustrated the relevance of Par-4 loss in the context of PTEN deficiency and demonstrated the translational importance of the Par-4/ PTEN model in recapitulating human prostate cancer. Intriguingly, nuclear p-Akt in Par-4^{-/-}/PTEN^{+/-} mouse prostates was not dramatically increased when compared to Par-4^{-/-} or PTEN^{+/-} mouse prostates suggesting that the p-Akt status was not adequate to explain the striking effect on tumor onset and progression observed in Par-4-//PTEN+/mice. A synergistic effect of the two mutations, however, was observed in the activation of NF-KB. While only moderate p65 nuclear translocation was observed in Par-4^{-/-} or PTEN+/- mouse prostates, dramatic activation of NF-kB was observed in the prostates of double-knockout mice.

Corroborating this finding, transcripts of NF-kB target genes IL-6 and TNF- α were also synergistically elevated in the prostates of Par-4^{-/-}/PTEN^{+/-} mice. Furthermore, activation of the NF-kB pathway was demonstrated in the human prostate cancers where both Par-4 and PTEN were inactivated. This strengthened the importance of NF-kB activation in the context of Par-4 and PTEN-deficient prostate cancers. Fernandez-Marcos et al. also demonstrated that the synergistic effect of Par-4 and PTEN could be extrapolated to other cell lines. When Par-4-/- MEFs were knockdown for PTEN using a lentiviral shRNA (PTENi), cell proliferation was 2.5 times higher when compared to proliferation of Par-4^{-/-} or WT/PTENi MEFs. Additionally, Par-4-/-/PTENi MEFs formed colonies in soft agar, whereas PTENi alone did not. As observed in the double-knockout prostates, doubleknockout MEFs showed only additive increase in p-Akt staining when compared to Par-4 or PTEN single knockout MEFs, whereas NF-kB activation displayed synergistic increase in double-knockout MEFs. Modest Akt activation paired with robust p65 nuclear translocation was also observed in PTEN-null CaP2 cells when Par-4 was knocked down using a lentiviral shRNA (Par-4i). As expected, IL-6 mRNA levels were elevated in the CaP2-Par-4i cells. The increase in IL-6 expression correlated with enhanced Stat3 phosphorylation that suggested IL-6 was active in these samples. Altogether, these results indicated that there was cooperation between Par-4 and PTEN in a cell autonomous manner and that Akt and NF-kB activation were important for their function. Knockdown of Akt or IKKβ using siRNAs in CaP2-Par-4i cells blocked enhanced proliferation observed with Par-4 knockdown alone, further corroborating the value of Akt and NF- κ B pathways for the phenotype of Par-4^{-/-/} PTEN^{+/-} mouse prostates [8].

2 Deletion of C-Terminal Region of Par-4

A different model of Par-4 deletion was studied by Affar et al. to understand the role of the C-terminus portion of the Par-4 protein [9]. Rat Par-4 cDNA was used to screen a DNA library from 129Sv mouse. Clones containing exons corresponding to the C-terminus regions were isolated and mapped using restriction digestion. A targeting vector was constructed where LoxP sites flanked the exons 4 and 5 of the *par-4* gene. The conditional knockout mouse was then crossed with the EIIA strain, which expressed Cre recombinase in both somatic and germinal cells, to generate a mutant mouse with whole-body deletion of the Par-4 carboxylterminal, i.e., lacking the leucine zipper domain. Par-4 mutant mice were normal compared to wild-type littermates: no differences were observed in body weight or overall appearance, animals were fertile and born at the expected

Mendelian ratio, and no morphologic abnormalities were observed upon histological analysis. In addition, overall survival and spontaneous tumorigenesis were comparable to control mice. These findings suggested that the C-terminal domain of Par-4 was not involved in embryonic development. When MEFs isolated from mutant and WT mice were treated with agents known to induce cell death via the mitochondria pathway and cell viability was measured by the MTT assay, no significant differences were observed between WT and Par-4 mutant MEFs upon treatment with calcium ionophores. Similarly, sensitivity of Par-4 mutant MEFs was comparable to wild-type MEFs when cells were treated with DNA-damaging agents, etoposide and adriamycin, or the PKC inhibitor staurosporine. More specifically, no distinction in apoptotic cell death was observed between mutant and WT MEFs when cells were treated with UVC or staurosporine and subjected to fluorescence-activated cell sorting analysis of the sub-G0 population. These findings were further corroborated by analyzing the cleavage products of Lamin A/C (marker of caspase activation), where both WT and mutant MEFs displayed similar extent of Lamin A/C in response to etoposide and UVC treatment [9]. Sensitivity to receptor-mediated apoptosis was similar in Par-4 mutant MEFs and WT MEFs. The extent of cell death in WT and mutant cells was comparable using trypan blue exclusion assay to determine cell viability upon treatment with either Fas ligand or TNF- α in the presence of cycloheximide. Additionally, no differences were observed in caspase activation after Fas or TNF treatments. These observations suggested that deletion of the C-terminus of the Par-4 protein was not sufficient to abrogate its apoptotic function. In hindsight, these findings were obvious in view of the fact that the mutants retained the SAC core domain for apoptosis [10]. When RNAi was used to knockdown endogenous levels of Par-4 mutant MEFs, and viability was measured in response to various cell death-inducing agents, viability was comparable in both control- and Par-4 RNAi-transfected cells. However, Par-4 depletion in HeLa cells using RNAi led to resistance to most apoptosis-inducing agents when compared to HeLa cells that received control RNAi. These results suggested that full-length Par-4 or its SAC domain but not the LZ domain were essential for sensitivity to apoptosisinducing agents [9].

Deletion of the LZ domain of Par-4 in the knockout mice shed light on a novel role of Par-4 in the context of dopamine signaling and depression [11]. To better understand the intracellular signaling of Dopamine D2 receptor (D2DR), the predominant D2-like receptor subtype, Park et al. [11] searched for proteins that interacted with D2DR. Using a yeast two-hybrid screen containing the intracellular loop of the human D2DR as bait and the human fetal embryonic brain library. These studies identified Par-4 as a D2DRbinding protein. More specifically, the clone recovered from

the hybrid screen contained the amino-acids residues 245-342, which encompasses the LZ domain of the Par-4 protein. The interaction between the LZ domain of Par-4 and the D2DR was confirmed both in vitro, in a binding assay using Par-4 and D2i3 (intracellular loop of the long isoform of human D2 receptor) purified proteins, and in vivo, where endogenous D2DR co-immunoprecipitated with Par-4 in mouse brain lysates. The specificity of this interaction was further confirmed through yeast-two hybrid assays using other G-couple receptors, such as the dopamine D3 receptor, in which no interactions were identified. Additionally, 97% of Par-4-positive cells in the striatum, which is the site of most dopaminergic inputs, were also positive for D2DR. These results suggested a role for Par-4 in dopaminergic signaling in the striatum, likely due to Par-4 interaction with D2i3 [11]. The physiological relevance of this interaction was tested in vivo using the Par-4 mouse model mentioned previously [9] in which the C-terminal region, containing the leucine zipper, was deleted. Authors assessed the importance of the Par-4/D2DR binding for the dopaminecAMP signaling by comparing cAMP accumulation in striatal neurons from WT vs LZ-domain deleted embryos. Although no morphological differences were observed between WT and ΔLZ cultured neurons, there was significant enhancement of the cAMP levels upon treatment with dopamine in Par-4- Δ LZ neurons when compared to its WT counterpart. These results indicated reduced inhibitory tone on dopamine-dependent cAMP signaling. Of note, the range of dopamine concentration necessary to produce this effect was within the physiological concentration of phasic dopamine in the striatum. When Par-4- Δ LZ neurons were cotreated with the D1DR inhibitor SCH23390 and dopamine, no increase in cAMP response was observed, which suggested that cAMP response was not controlled by D1 receptors. However, co-treatment with the D2DR inhibitor sulpiride and dopamine elevated cAMP response in WT neurons, but produced no effect in Par-4- Δ LZ neurons. The data indicated that the D2DR activity promoted inhibitory tone on the cAMP system and further supported that D2DR function was impaired in ΔLZ neurons. It was likely that reduced inhibitory tone in ΔLZ neurons contributed to the dosedependent dopamine upregulation of cAMP response. Furthermore, in WT neurons, treatment with dopamine decreased serine 133 phosphorylation of CREB (cAMPresponsive element-binding protein), a site that is phosphorylated by cAMP-dependent protein kinase PKA, in a dose-dependent fashion. In ΔLZ neurons, on the other hand, dopamine treatment led to elevated upregulation of the p-CREB at the serine-133 residue, indicating that the lack of Par-4/D2DR interaction affected cAMP downstream signaling. Examination of the physiological effects of the disruption of such interaction demonstrated that Par-4- Δ LZ mice displayed increased depression-like behaviors. When both

WT and ΔLZ mice were subjected to the Porsolt's force swim test (FST), Par-4 mutant mice showed higher immobility with no attempt to escape when compared to what was observed in WT mice. These findings were reflective of an enhanced depressive behavior. Additional evaluation, such as tail suspension test (TST) and novelty-suppressed feeding (NSF), further verified the depression-like behavior in ΔLZ mice by demonstrating increased immobility and increased latency to contract food, respectively. Corroborating the findings of depression-like behavior, the performance of ΔLZ mice to the challenges were not due to increased anxiety levels or impaired motor coordination. Ambulatory pattern center activities were similar in ΔLZ and WT mice, demonstrating that anxiety levels were not altered in the Par-4 mutant mice. Likewise, performance in the rotarod test was not different between WT and ΔLZ mice. In summary, the study by Parker et al. [11] revealed a role for Par-4 in central nervous system and indicated that deletion of the C-terminal of Par-4 altered dopamine signaling and led to depression-like behavior in ΔLZ mice.

3 Par-4 Overexpression and Tumor Resistance

In 2007, Zhao et al. generated a transgenic mouse overexpressing the SAC effective domain for apoptosis by Par-4. Fertilized B6-C3(F1) mouse embryos were injected with either a CMV enhancer-chicken β-actin promoter-SACeGFP followed by an intron (pCA/SAC-GFP) or CMV enhancer-chicken β-actin promoter-eGFP followed by an intron (pCA/GFP) construct. Offspring was screened for the presence of the transgene, and SAC-GFP or GFP only was detected in all tissues. However, expression of SAC-GFP or GFP transgene was variable in different tissues, implying either differential tissue-specific protein stability or differential regulation of expression [12]. No differences in fertility as judged by litter size, development, and body weight were observed among SAC-GFP, GFP and non-transgenic littermate control mice. Interestingly, SAC-GFP mice lived longer than either set of control mice although those differences were not sex-based. To test the function of the SAC transgene, MEFs from either GFP, SAC-GFP or littermate controls were transfected with oncogenic Ras (or co-transfected with oncogenic Ras and c-Myc) and assayed for apoptosis. As expected according to previous publication on the function of the SAC domain in the presence of oncogenic Ras and/or c-Myc [13], spontaneous apoptosis was elevated in the MEFs from SAC-GFP in comparison to either control MEFs. SAC-GFP MEFs were also resistant to cellular transformation after adenoviral constructs for c-Myc, oncogenic Ras or GFP-control were transduced into MEFs. These results indicated that the SAC transgene was functional in

the MEFs. Additionally, since the SAC domain was known to promote apoptosis through inhibition of NF-kB activity, reporter assays were conducted to determine basal as well as Ras and c-Myc-inducible NF-kB activity in GFP, SAC-GFP and non-transgenic littermate MEFs. Although basal NF-kB activity was comparable among the three groups of MEFs, the introduction of the oncogenes enhanced NF-KB activity in GFP MEFs and littermate control MEFs, but not in SAC-GFP MEFs. Furthermore, when littermate control MEFs were transduced with either an IkB super-repressor (IkB-SR) or a GFP adenovirus to test whether the inhibition of NF-κB activity was sufficient to promote apoptosis in MEFs expressing Ras and c-Myc oncogenes, induction of apoptosis was observed in MEFs transduced with IkB-SR, but not in the ones transduced with GFP [12]. Thus, the SAC domain induces apoptosis by inhibition of NF-kB activity in cells expressing oncogenic Ras and c-Myc.

The SAC-GFP transgenic mice were monitored for the development of spontaneous growth of hepatocarcinomas and lymphomas, which are common in the B6C3F1 background. Hepatocarcinomas and lymphomas were found in about 50% of littermate control mice and GFP-controls, but the SAC mice failed to develop liver or spleen tumors, implying that the SAC transgene inhibited the development of spontaneous tumors. To further test the ability of the SAC transgene to suppress tumor growth, SAC-GFP mice were crossed with tumor-prone TRAMP mice, known to produce prostate adenocarcinoma. PCR genotyping was used to identify SAC+/-/TRAMP+/- or GFP+/-/TRAMP+/- mice; SAC-/-/ TRAMP+/- and SAC+/-/TRAMP-/- mice were used as the littermate controls. By 3 months of age, 62-83% of SAC^{-/-/} TRAMP^{+/-} and GFP^{+/-}/TRAMP^{+/-} mice had developed highgrade PIN and 12-16% displayed prostate adenocarcinoma whereas only 50% of SAC+/-/TRAMP+/- showed PIN and 0% displayed adenocarcinoma. By 6 months, 100% of controls exhibited adenocarcinoma of the prostate whereas only 21% of SAC+/-/TRAMP+/- animals showed progression from PIN to adenocarcinoma. The results indicated that the SAC transgene inhibits progression of aggressive TRAMP tumors. More interestingly, GFP expression in GFP+/-/TRAMP+/mice was observed both in PIN and in adenocarcinoma of the prostate, but SAC+/-/TRAMP+/- mice exhibited loss of SAC within both the PIN and the adenocarcinoma sections. Moreover, by 12 months, loss of SAC expression was observed in all tumors of SAC+/-/TRAMP+/- mice. Taken together, the data strongly implied that downmodulation of SAC was required for the development of the adenocarcinoma in the prostate. TUNEL staining of prostates from SAC+/-/TRAMP+/- mice showed larger number of cells undergoing apoptosis in all the PIN lesions when compared to GFP+/-/TRAMP+/- and SAC-/-/TRAMP+/- PIN lesions, suggesting that SAC domain induced apoptosis in the PIN

lesions to halt progression to adenocarcinoma. These findings were confirmed in vitro using TRAMP-C1 cells (derived from TRAMP tumors) and immortalized prostate epithelial BPH-1 cells as control, where transfection of either SAC domain or full-length Par-4-induced apoptosis in TRAMP-C1 cells, but not in BPH-1 cells. Additionally, in TRAMP-C1 cells, inhibition of NF-kB activity using either SAC or IkB-SR constructs was sufficient to trigger apoptosis, suggesting that SAC domain was able to induce apoptosis in TRAMP-C1 cells through NF-KB inhibition. In summary, overexpression of the SAC domain in mice suppressed the development of both spontaneous and aggressive transgenic tumors, and these effects were likely due to induction apoptosis by inhibition of NF- κ B activity [12]. It is noteworthy that the role of Par-4 in the mouse prostate corroborated the findings of Boghaert et al. in the rat prostate where Par-4 levels increased after castration when ductal cells undergo apoptosis [14]. The studies suggested that Par-4 induction is necessary for prostate epithelial cells to undergo apoptosis.

Similar results were observed in mice overexpressing full-length Par-4, generated using the same strategy for generation of SAC transgenic mice, where the actin promoter and the CMV enhancer were used to drive expression of the Par-4-GFP. The spontaneous tumor rate in the liver and in the spleen of transgenic mice was remarkably low relative to the rate of tumors observed in both littermate and GFP-controls [15]. Serum of Par-4 transgenic mice contained detectable levels of Par-4-GFP protein. Additionally, serum of Par-4 transgenic mice induced ex vivo apoptosis of prostate cancer PC-3 cells, whereas no effect was observed when these cells were treated with serum from either GFP or littermate control mice. These data indicated that Par-4 protein is secreted in mice and is functional in promoting apoptosis of cancer cells [15].

4 Secreted Par-4 and Inhibition of Tumor Growth

The discovery of the secreted version of Par-4 expanded the possible mechanisms of tumor suppression by Par-4. Zhao et al., in a study published in 2011, investigated whether secreted Par-4 could inhibit non-autochthonous tumor growth [16]. When MEFs from GFP-control and GFP-SAC mice were co-cultured with either immortalized or transformed cells, apoptosis was observed only in the transformed cells co-cultured with SAC-GFP MEFs. Additionally, the conditioned-media (CM) of GFP-SAC MEFs, but not the CM from GFP-control MEFs, was able to induce apoptosis in the transformed cells. The data suggested that a secreted protein was responsible for inducing apoptosis. When serum from either SAC or

GFP-control transgenic mice was used treat several cancer/transformed cell lines, apoptosis was observed only in cells treated with serum from SAC mice. Apoptosis effect of serum from SAC-GFP mice was neutralized by GFP antibody, but not by the TRAIL antibody. Strikingly, when Lewis lung carcinoma (LLC-1) cells were injected into the flanks of littermate controls, GFP-controls or GFP-SAC mice, tumor positivity was only 15% in GFP-SAC mice compared to 100% for both littermates and GFPcontrols (n = 20). Furthermore, tumor volume in SAC-GFP mice was roughly one third of the volume of tumors in the control group. Together the data indicated that secreted SAC-GFP is responsible for inducing apoptosis in cancer/transformed cells and robust inhibition of nonautochthonous tumor growth. The function of secreted SAC was further demonstrated by transferring the bone marrow from SAC-GFP, littermate or GFP-control mice to irradiated control mice. GFP expression was confirmed in recipient mice after transplantation. Serum from SAC-GFP recipient mice induced apoptosis in LLC-1 cells whereas no apoptosis was observed in LLC-1 cells treated with serum from mice that received bone marrow from either littermate or GFP-control. The data indicated that control mice successfully secreted active SAC-GFP and that SAC apoptotic activity could be transferred between mice through the bone marrow. Furthermore, recombinant TRX-Par-4 and TRX-SAC proteins, known to induce apoptosis of LLC-1 and PC3 cells in cell culture, were injected into immunocompetent C57BL/6 mice bearing LLC-1 cells. Both TRX-Par-4 and TXR-SAC significantly inhibited LLC-1 lung metastasis. The findings demonstrated that systemic Par-4 was able to inhibit not only primary tumor growth, but also metastases [16].

N. Araujo et al.

Par-4 Deletion in C57BL/6 Background

5

A different Par-4 whole-body knockout mouse was generated by our laboratory to investigate the role of Par-4 in mediating apoptosis. In the C57BL/6 background mice, a fragment containing exon 2 of the Par-4 gene flanked by loxP sites, and the neomycin selection flanked by FRT site was introduced into intron 2. Whole-body constitutive knockout was generated upon crossing with a Rosa26-Cre mouse, resulting in the deletion of Par-4 exon 2. Since exon 2 contains the start codon for initiating protein translation, Par-4 protein was absent in these mice. Corroborating the results by García-Cao et al. [6], Par-4-null mice in the C57BL/6 background also developed spontaneous tumor in various tissues, including liver, endometrium, and intestine.

These Par-4-null mice were also crossed with EµTcl1 mice to determine the effect of Par-4 in the development of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). Interestingly, it was found that Par-4 deficiency delayed the onset of CLL and prolonged survival of EµTcl1 mice compared to EµTcl1 mice that expressed Par-4. The authors hypothesized that Par-4 loss activated p21, which promoted growth arrest at G1/S and slowed down CLL progression [17].

The relevance of Par-4 in the context of breast cancer [18, 19] raised the possibility of increased growth of mammary orthotopic tumors in Par-4-null females. To address this question, EO771 mammary cancer cell line was transfected with pGL4.50 luciferase construct and luciferase positive cells were selected using hygromycin. EO771-luc cells were injected into the mammary fat pad of WT and Par-4-null females and tumor growth was monitored by in vivo luciferase IVIS imaging. As shown in Fig. 1, 3 weeks after injec-





Fig. 1 EO771-luc cells grow larger mammary gland tumors in Par-4^{-/-} mice. Mouse mammary EO771-luc cells (1×10^6) were injected into the mammary fat pad of Par-4^{+/+} and Par-4^{-/-} C57BL/6 female mice and tumor growth was monitored using luciferase imaging. Three weeks after mammary fat pad injection, tumors were significantly larger

(P < 0.05 by the Student's t-test) in the Par-4^{-/-} mice (left panel) as judged by increased relative pixel density (middle panel). Western blot analysis confirmed the absence of Par-4 in the plasma of Par-4-null mice (right panel)

tion, tumors grew larger in Par-4^{-/-} mice compared to WT mice. Similarly, intravenous injection of mouse LLC-1 lung cancer cells into these Par-4-null mice and WT control mice produced far greater number of lung nodules in Par-4-null mice relative to the control mice. Moreover, the FDA-approved drug chloroquine strongly inhibited the growth of the LLC-1 derived lung nodules in WT mice relative to the Par-4-null mice [20]. These studies indicate that solid tumors resulting from breast cancer cells or lung cancer cells show accelerated growth in the absence of Par-4 in the micro- and macroenvironment.

6 Effect of Extracellular and Intracellular Par-4 on Tumor Growth

The relevance of systemic Par-4 in inhibiting tumor growth and metastases propelled the field to look for molecules that could enhance the secretion of Par-4 (such molecules called Par-4 secretagogues) as a strategy to treat cancer. In 2014, the arylquin family of small molecules was discovered to induce Par-4 secretion from normal cells. Arylquin-1 was found to bind vimentin, which released Par-4 for secretion; then secreted Par-4 induced paracrine apoptosis in cancer cells [21]. Growing interest in the repurposing of FDA-approved

drugs and in the discovery of other Par-4 secretagogues led to the identification of chloroquine (CQ) as another robust inducer of Par-4, via the classical pathway involving p53 and Rab8b activation. Chloroquine was shown to inhibit metastases in a Par-4-dependent manner in both immunocompetent and immunocompromised mice [20]. Additionally, chloroquine has been used in combination with radiation for the treatment of glioblastomas and brain metastases [22, 23]. In the light of these findings, the Rangnekar Lab investigated the use of chloroquine and radiation as a radiosensitizer for lung cancer and melanoma cell lines. A549 lung cancer cells with either normal (A549-shControl) or knockdown levels of Par-4 (A549-shPar-4) were treated with vehicle, 10 µM or 20 µM of CO, and subjected to ionizing radiation (0, 2, or 4 Gray). As shown in Fig. 2, CQ radiosensitized A549 lung cancer cells in a Par-4-dependent manner. Similar radiosensitization by CQ was observed in the melanoma cell lines Mel 1617, which is sensitive to the BRAF-inhibitor PLX4032, and Mel 1617BR, which are resistant to PLX4032 [24], when these melanoma lines were treated with either vehicle, 1 µM or 5 µM CQ and subjected to either 0 Gy or 4 Gy radiation (Fig. 3). In vitro results with melanoma cell lines were verified in vivo by injecting either Mel 1617 (Fig. 4) or Mel 1617BR (Fig. 5) into the flanks of nude mice. Mice were subjected to a single dose of radiation (0 or 3 Gy) and treated with either vehicle (saline) or chloroquine at 25 mg/kg body weight, once daily



Fig. 2 Chloroquine radiosensitizes A549 lung cancer cells in a Par-4dependent manner. A549-shControl and A549-shPar-4 were subjected to either 0, 2, or 4 Gy ionizing radiation and immediately treated with either vehicle, chloroquine (CQ) 10 or 20 μ M. After 10 days, plates

were stained with 0.5% Gentian Violet and colonies were counted. Note that CQ radiosensitized A549-shControl cells, but not A549-shPar-4 cells, at both 2 and 4 Gy doses. Western blot analysis confirmed Par-4 knockdown in A549-shPar-4 cells (bottom right panel)





Fig. 3 Chloroquine radiosensitizes melanoma cells. Melanoma cells Mel 1617 that are sensitive to chemotherapy (top panel) and Mel 1617BR that show BRAF mutation and are resistant to therapy (bottom panel) were subjected to either 0 or 4 Gy radiation and immediately

treated with vehicle or CQ at 1 or 2 μ M concentrations. Plates were stained with Gentian Violet and colonies were counted. Both cell lines showed increased sensitivity to radiation upon CQ treatment





Fig. 4 Chloroquine and radiation combination inhibits growth of tumors derived from BRAF-inhibitor sensitive Mel 1617 melanoma cells. Mel 1617 cells $(1.5 \times 10^6$ cells in saline) were injected into the flank of nude mice. When tumor volume reached appropriate size, mice received either 0 or 3 Gy radiation (day 0). Treatment with either vehi-

cle or CQ (25 mg/kg body weight) was then started (day 0 after radiation). Mice were treated once every day for 2 weeks, tumor size was measured and tumor volume was calculated. In combination with CQ, radiation showed greater inhibition of tumor growth when compared to the effect of radiation alone. (*P < 0.05 by the Student's *t*-test)



Fig. 5 Chloroquine radiosensitizes tumors derived from BRAF-mutant inhibitor PLX4720-resistant Mel 1617BR melanoma cells. Mel 1617BR cells (1.5×10^6 cells in saline) were injected into the flank of nude mice. One week after injection, when tumors reached appropriate size, mice were subjected to either 0 or 3 Gy dose of radiation (day 0).

Treatment with either vehicle or CQ (25 mg/kg body weight) started on day 0 and was performed once every day for 16 days. Combination of CQ and radiation showed greater inhibition of tumors relative to the effect of either CQ or radiation alone. (*P < 0.05 by the Student's *t*-test)

for 2 weeks. Decreased rate of tumor growth in the group treated with CQ plus radiation indicated that combination treatment was most effective in inhibiting tumors derived from the melanoma cell lines.

The role of intracellular Par-4 in the ability of cancer cells to form tumors was also investigated in the context of lung cancer. A549-shControl and A549-shPar-4 were cells were injected in the left and the right flank, respectively, of nude mice. As shown in Fig. 6, tumor growth, monitored for the span of 3 weeks, demonstrated that A549 cells with shRNA knockdown of Par-4 grow tumors at a faster rate that A549 cells that contain normal levels of Par-4. Thus, reduced expression of intracellular Par-4 by shRNA knockdown in cancer cells induces rapid tumor growth.

7 Future Perspectives

Par-4 inhibits both primary and metastatic tumor growth. Circulating levels of Par-4 can be altered to restrict tumor progression. Combination of treatments that reduce tumor size and follow-up with Par-4 secretagogues to induce apoptosis of remaining cells offers an exciting and effective strategy, as indicated by the study combining chloroquine and radiation. Concerning the diverse mouse models available, understanding the role of Par-4 in specific tissues by generating tissue-specific deletions or overexpression would be important to determine which cancers are more susceptible (or resistant) to Par-4. Some of the unanswered questions



Fig. 6 Par-4 knockdown A549 lung cancer cells grow tumors at a faster rate than A549 control cells. A549-shControl cells $(1.5 \times 10^6 \text{ in saline})$ were injected into the left flank and A549-shPar-4 cells $(1.5 \times 10^6 \text{ in saline})$ were injected into the right flank of nude mice (n=3). Tumor growth was monitored over a period of 24 days. Tumor size was mea-

include a) which tissues and cells secrete Par-4 and b) can systemic Par-4 compensate for tissue-specific deletion of Par-4? Future studies should help determine the appropriate scenarios to introduce Par-4-based treatments.

Acknowledgments We thank collaborators and former members of the Rangnekar laboratory, and Bill St Clair, Dennis Cheek, Mahesh Kudrimoti, Yunfei Li, Chengfeng Yang at the University of Kentucky for their contribution to the findings cited in this chapter. Funding for these studies was provided by NIH/NCI R01 and R21 grants to VMR, the Prostate Cancer Foundation, the University of Kentucky Markey Cancer Center and the University of Kentucky Center for Clinical and Translational Science. N.A. was supported by a scholarship (ID 13137-13-1) from Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento Superior (CAPES), Brazil. We thank the Biospecimen Procurement and Translational Pathology Shared Resource Facility (SRF), Cancer Research Informatics SRF, Flow Cytometry and Immune Monitoring SRF, Redox Metabolism SRF, Oncogenomics SRF, and Biostatistics and Bioinformatics SRF of the University of Kentucky Markey Cancer Center (P30 CA177558) for supporting Par-4 research projects in the Rangnekar laboratory.

sured 3 times a week and tumor volume calculated. Note that Par-4 knockdown with shRNA resulted in significantly greater growth of tumors. Western blot analysis confirmed Par-4 knockdown in A549-shPar-4 cells relative to control shRNA containing A549 cells. *P < 0.05 by the Student's *t*-test

References

- Garcia-Cao I, Lafuente MJ, Criado LM, Diaz-Meco MT, Serrano M, Moscat J (2003) Genetic inactivation of Par4 results in hyperactivation of NF-kappaB and impairment of JNK and p38. EMBO Rep 4(3):307–312
- Lafuente MJ, Martin P, Garcia-Cao I, Diaz-Meco MT, Serrano M, Moscat J (2003) Regulation of mature T lymphocyte proliferation and differentiation by Par-4. EMBO J 22(18):4689–4698
- Martin AG, San-Antonio B, Fresno M (2001) Regulation of nuclear factor kappa B transactivation. Implication of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and protein kinase C zeta in c-Rel activation by tumor necrosis factor alpha. J Biol Chem 276(19):15840–15849
- Lallena MJ, Diaz-Meco MT, Bren G, Payá CV, Moscat J (1999) Activation of IkappaB kinase beta by protein kinase C isoforms. Mol Cell Biol 19(3):2180–2188
- Chow CW, Dong C, Flavell RA, Davis RJ (2000) C-Jun NH(2)terminal kinase inhibits targeting of the protein phosphatase calcineurin to NFATc1. Mol Cell Biol 20(14):5227–5234
- García-Cao I, Duran A, Collado M, Carrascosa MJ, Martín-Caballero J, Flores JM, Diaz-Meco MT, Moscat J, Serrano M

(2005) Tumour-suppression activity of the proapoptotic regulator Par4. EMBO Rep 6(6):577–583

- Joshi J, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Galvez A, Amanchy R, Linares JF, Duran A, Pathrose P, Leitges M, Cañamero M, Collado M, Salas C, Serrano M, Moscat J, Diaz-Meco MT (2008) Par-4 inhibits Akt and suppresses Ras-induced lung tumorigenesis. EMBO J 27(16):2181–2193
- Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Abu-Baker S, Joshi J, Galvez A, Castilla EA, Cañamero M, Collado M, Saez C, Moreno-Bueno G, Palacios J, Leitges M, Serrano M, Moscat J, Diaz-Meco MT (2009) Simultaneous inactivation of Par-4 and PTEN in vivo leads to synergistic NF-κB activation and invasive prostate carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106(31):12962–12967
- Affar EB, Po-shan Luke M, Gay F, Calvo D, Sui G, Weiss RS, Li E, Shi Y (2006) Targeted ablation of Par-4 reveals a cell type– specific susceptibility to apoptosis-inducing agents. Cancer Res 66(7):3456–3462
- El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23(16):5516–5525
- Park SK, Nguyen MD, Fischer A, Luke MP, Affarel B, Dieffenbach PB, Tseng HC, Shi Y, Tsai LH (2005) Par-4 links dopamine signaling and depression. Cell 122(2):275–287
- Zhao Y, Burikhanov R, Qiu S, Lele SM, Jennings CD, Bondada S, Spear B, Rangnekar VM (2007) Cancer resistance in transgenic mice expressing the SAC module of Par-4. Cancer Res 67(19):9276–9285
- Gurumurthy S, Goswami A, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase a is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25(3):1146–1161
- Boghaert ER, Sells SF, Walid AJ, Malone P, Williams NM, Weinstein MH, Strange R, Rangnekar VM (1997) Immunohistochemical analysis of the proapoptotic protein Par-4 in normal rat tissues. Cell Growth Differ 8(8):881–890
- Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR, Rangnekar VM (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138(2):377–388

- 16. Zhao Y, Burikhanov R, Brandon J, Qiu S, Shelton BJ, Spear B, Bondada S, Bryson S, Rangnekar VM (2011) Systemic Par-4 inhibits non-autochthonous tumor growth. Cancer Biol Ther 12(2):152–157
- 17. McKenna MK, Noothi SK, Alhakeem SS, Oben KZ, Greene JT, Mani R, Perry KL, Collard JP, Rivas JR, Hildebrandt GC, Fleischman RA, Durbin EB, Byrd JC, Wang C, Muthusamy N, Rangnekar VM, Bondada S (2018) Novel role of prostate apoptosis response-4 tumor suppressor in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 131(26):2943–2954
- Alvarez JV, Pan TC, Ruth J, Feng Y, Zhou A, Pant D, Grimley JS, Wandless TJ, Demichele A, Chodosh LA (2013) Par-4 downregulation promotes breast cancer recurrence by preventing multinucleation following targeted therapy. Cancer Cell 24(1):30–44
- Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Hebbar N, Rangnekar Vivek M (2013) Par(-4)oxysm in breast cancer. Cancer Cell 24(1):3–5
- Burikhanov R, Hebbar N, Noothi SK, Shukla N, Sledziona J, Araujo N, Kudrimoti M, Wang QJ, Watt DS, Welch DR, Maranchie J, Harada A, Rangnekar VM (2017) Chloroquine-inducible Par-4 secretion is essential for tumor cell apoptosis and inhibition of metastasis. Cell Rep 18(2):508–519
- Burikhanov R, Sviripa VM, Hebbar N, Zhang W, Layton WJ, Hamza A, Zhan CG, Watt DS, Liu C, Rangnekar VM (2014) Arylquins target vimentin to trigger Par-4 secretion for tumor cell apoptosis. Nat Chem Biol 10(11):924–926
- 22. Amaravadi RK, Lippincott-Schwartz J, Yin X-M, Weiss WA, Takebe N, Timmer W, DiPaola RS, Lotze MT, White E (2011) Principles and current strategies for targeting autophagy for cancer treatment. Clin Cancer Res 17(4):654
- 23. Verbaanderd C, Maes H, Schaaf MB, Sukhatme VP, Pantziarka P, Sukhatme V, Agostinis P, Bouche G (2017) Repurposing drugs in oncology (ReDO)-chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine as anticancer agents. Ecancermedicalscience 11:781
- Hebbar N, Burikhanov R, Shukla N, Qiu S, Zhao Y, Elenitoba-Johnson KSJ, Rangnekar VM (2017) A naturally generated decoy of the prostate apoptosis Response-4 protein overcomes therapy resistance in tumors. Cancer Res 77(15):4039–4050

Par-4 Secretagogues in Clinical Trials

Peng Wang and Zhonglin Hao

Abstract

Originally approved by the FDA to treat malaria, chloroquine (CQ) and hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) were later identified as potent secretagogues of the tumor suppressor protein, prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4). When released from normal cells via the classical secretory pathway requiring activation of p53, Par-4 triggers paracrine apoptosis in cancer cells. A phase I study demonstrated the relationship between elevation of Par-4 plasma levels and tumor response to HCQ, providing a new approach for cancer treatment.

Keywords

Chloroquine · Hydroxychloroquine · Par-4 · Apoptosis · p53 · GRP78 · Classical secretory pathway · Radiation · Autophagy · Clinical trial

Abbreviations

ADT	Androgen deprivation therapy
AEs	Adverse events
AMPK	AMP-activated kinase
AR	Androgen receptor
ATG	Autophagy-related genes
BCR	Biochemical recurrence
BFA	Brefeldin
СМ	Cell-culture conditioned medium
CQ	Chloroquine
CYP	Cytochrome P450
DLT	Dose limiting toxicity
GBM	Glioblastoma multiforme

P. Wang $(\boxtimes) \cdot Z$. Hao

Department of Internal Medicine, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA e-mail: p.wang@uky.edu

GRP78	Glucose-regulated protein-78
HBECs	Human bronchial epithelial cells
HCQ	Hydroxychloroquine
HEL	Normal human lung fibroblasts
MEFs	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts
MTD	Maximum-tolerated dose
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
mTORC1	mTOR Complex 1
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer
Par-4	Prostate Apoptosis Response-4 Protein
PCM	Precision cancer medicine
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PLK1	Polo-like kinase 1
PrECs	Normal human epithelial cells
PrSCs	Normal human prostate stromal cells
RP	Radical prostatectomy
RP2D	The recommended phase II dose
UPR	Unfolded protein response

1 Introduction

Prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4, also called PAWR), a tumor suppressor protein, induces apoptosis exclusively in diverse cancer cells [1]. Par-4 functions through caspasedependent mechanisms by binding to its receptor, GRP78, on the cancer cell surface [1-4]. Par-4 is ubiquitously expressed in normal cells and tissues [1] and is located in various cellular compartments. Baseline levels of Par-4 are inadequate to induce significant apoptosis in malignant cells [5]. Chloroquine (CQ) and hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) have been identified as Par-4 inducers [5]. CQ and HCQ are also well-known for inhibition of autophagy primarily by interfering with lysosome activities [6-8]. Focusing on its antiautophagy function, clinical efficacy of CQ or HCQ in combination with other treatment modalities has been assessed in multiple clinical trials [9]. Progressively more clinical attention is being drawn to paracrine apoptosis in cancer cells induced by Par-4 secretagogues such as CQ or



HCQ. Multiple ongoing early phase clinical trials are attempting to address the biological response of Par-4 and clinical outcomes.

2 Par-4 as a Secreted Tumor Suppressor

CO-induced Par-4 from normal cells may generate paracrine apoptosis in cancer cells. In a study by Burikhanov et al. [5], regardless of p53 status, p53-deficient prostate cancer cells (PC-3), p53-deficient lung cancer cells (H1299, Hop62, and KP7B), and wild-type p53 lung cancer cells (H460) became sensitive to apoptosis after co-cultured with CQ-treated Par-4^{+/+} MEFs (mouse embryonic fibroblasts) (Fig. 1a). The same phenomenon of apoptotic activity was observed when co-cultured with conditioned media (CM) from CO-treated Par-4^{+/+} MEFs. Both the Par-4 antibody, by neutralizing Par-4 in CM, and the GRP78 antibody, by inhibiting the binding of Par-4 to its receptor GRP78 on the cancer cell surface, inhibited Par-4-induced apoptosis (Fig. 1b). As a GRP78 inducer, PS-1145 (the nuclear factor κB inhibitor) sensitized cancer cells to apoptosis by CQ-treated CM. Mouse models with metastatic lung cancer were established by injecting LLC1 (lung cancer) cells intravenously into Par-4^{+/+} (wild-type) or Par-4^{-/-} mice. After 5 days of CQ injection (i.p., 25 mg/kg body weight), only plasma from CQ-treated Par-4+/+ mice showed significant induction of Par-4 compared to the plasma from vehicle-treated mice (Fig. 2a). Par-4^{-/-} mice had significantly higher tumor burden in lung compared to Par-4+/+ mice. After CQ treatment, the tumor volume in the lungs showed far greater inhibition in Par-4^{+/+} mice than in Par-4^{-/-} mice. Plasma from CO-treated Par-4^{+/+} mice showed the ability to induce apoptosis ex vivo

in LLC1 cells (Fig. 2b). Par-4 and GRP78 antibodies blocked this induction of apoptosis. These results indicate that basal levels of Par-4 in wild-type mice slowed down cancer genesis, but not adequately enough to inhibit cancer progression unless Par-4 levels were induced by secretagogues such as CQ or HCQ.

More importantly, induction of plasma Par-4 was observed in renal cancer patients following HCQ treatment in a clinical study. Different cancer cell lines underwent apoptosis with the plasma from these patients. Subsequently, apoptotic activity was inhibited by adding Par-4 or GRP78 antibody. In conclusion, Par-4 tumor suppressor protein secretion is induced in response to CQ or HCQ and triggers apoptosis of cancer cells [5].

3 CQ and HCQ

Both CQ and HCQ were produced for prevention and treatment of malarial infection. CQ penetrates into most human tissues with concentrations several hundred-fold above plasma concentrations and therefore has a large volume of distribution. As a result, serum drug levels may be maintained in humans for up to 2 months [10]. Cytochrome P450 3A isozymes (CYP3As) and CYP2D6 are two main enzymes involved in CQ metabolism [11].

Both CQ and HCQ are 4-aminoquinoline derivatives. They are structurally similar, differing only by replacement of an ethyl group in chloroquine with a hydroxyethyl group in HCQ (Fig. 3). HCQ demonstrates similar PK profile to CQ. Multiple cytochrome P450 enzymes including CYP2D6, 2C8, 3A4, and 3A5 are involved in HCQ metabolism [12]. HCQ comprises 95 percent of all rheumatic disease anti-



Fig. 1 CQ-induced paracrine apoptosis of cancer cells through induction of Par-4 secretion. (a) Par-4^{+/+} or Par-4^{-/-} MEFs were co-cultured with various cancer cells or normal cells and treated with CQ or vehicle. After 24 h, the cells were scored for apoptosis. (b) CQ-induced paracrine apoptosis in cancer cells by a Par-4-dependent mechanism. Aliquots of conditioned media from wild-type MEFs treated with CQ

(20 μM) were incubated with control (C) antibody (Ab), Par-4 (P) Ab, or GRP78 (G) Ab and then transferred to H460 cells. After 24 h, the cells were scored for apoptosis. *V* vehicle. (*Adapted from Cell Rep.* 2017; 18(2): 508–519. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2016.12.051)

Α



Fig. 2 CQ-induced tumor growth inhibition by a Par-4-dependent mechanism. (a) CQ-induced Par-4 secretion and tumor growth inhibition. Wild-type (WT or Par-4^{+/+}) or Par-4 knockout (Par-4 KO or Par- $4^{-/-}$) C57BL/6 mice were injected i.v. with LLC1 cells (expressing luciferase) and, 24 h later, injected i.p. with CQ (25 mg/kg body weight) or vehicle (V) once every day for 5 consecutive days. Plasma from mice was collected 24 h after the last injection and subjected to western blot (WB) analysis for Par-4 or Coomassie blue staining for albumin (lower panel). Tumor growth in the mice was followed by fluorescent imaging for luciferase expression using an IVIS imager, and representative

images are shown (upper panel). (b) Par-4 in plasma from CQ-treated mice induced ex vivo apoptosis in LLC1 cells. Aliquots of plasma from Par-4^{+/+} or Par-4^{-/-} mice treated with CQ or vehicle (V), tested by western blot analysis in (A), were incubated with LLC1 cells for 24 h, and the cells were scored for apoptosis. Moreover, aliquots of plasma from Par-4^{+/+} mice treated with CQ were incubated with control antibody (C-Ab), Par-4 antibody (P-Ab), or GRP78 antibody (G-Ab) and then transferred to LLC1 cells. After 24 h, the cells were scored for apoptosis. **p* < 0.0001, by Student's *t*-test. (*Adapted from Cell Rep. 2017; 18*(2): 508–519. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.12.051)

Fig. 3 Biochemical structure of CQ and HCQ. CQ and HCQ are structurally similar, differing only by replacement of an ethyl group in CQ (**a**) with a hydroxyethyl group in HCQ (**b**)

malarial prescriptions and is primarily eliminated through kidneys.

In both CQ and HCQ, severe adverse reactions are extremely rare. Mild gastrointestinal discomfort with nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, and stomach pain are the most commonly described side effects. These side effects are more likely to occur at higher doses [13]. Rash and itching may also occur due to the long half-life of the compounds. Retinal toxicity becomes a concern if chronic and cumulative doses exceed 1000 g [14, 15].

4 Rationale for Using Par-4 Secretagogues and Identification of CQ and HCQ as Secretagogues

Par-4 is ubiquitously expressed in normal cells and tissues [1]. Baseline levels of Par-4 are inadequate to induce significant apoptosis in malignant cells [5]. Thus, a search was undertaken to identify a drug that would boost Par-4.



Table 1 FDA-approved compounds screened for induction of Par-4 secretion

Compound	Drug class	Target	
Ciprofloxacin	Fluroquinolone	Anti-bacterial	
Difloxacin	Fluroquinolone	Anti-bacterial	
Enrofloxacin	Fluroquinolone	Anti-bacterial	
Flumequine	Fluroquinolone	Anti-bacterial	
Lemofloxacin	Fluroquinolone	Anti-bacterial	
Levofloxacin	Fluroquinolone	Anti-bacterial	
Norfloxacin	Fluroquinolone	Anti-bacterial	
Ofloxacin	Fluroquinolone	Anti-bacterial	
Pefloxacin	Fluroquinolone	Anti-bacterial	
Sparfloxacin	Fluroquinolone	Anti-bacterial	
Nalidixic acid	Quinolone	Anti-bacterial	
Primaquine	8-aminoquinoline	Anti-malarial	
Tafenoquine	8-aminoquinoline	Anti-malarial	
Amodiaquine	4-aminoquinoline	Anti-malarial	
Chloroquine	4-aminoquinoline	Anti-malarial	
Hydroxychloroquine	4-aminoquinoline	Anti-malarial	

Par-4 required the classical secretory pathway. When activated by wild-type p53, binding of p53 with its transcriptional target, Rab8b, led to secretion of Par-4 from normal cells (Fig. 4). Loss of Rab8a did not block CQ-induced Par-4 secretion, indicating that Par-4 secretion was independent of the non-conventional autophagic pathway.

These findings were further confirmed by a clinical trial. In this clinical trial, eight out of nine patients with various malignancies showed elevation of plasma Par-4 from baseline following 2 weeks of HCQ treatment (Fig. 5).

5 Autophagy Induction by Anti-Malarial Drugs

In addition to being powerful Par-4 secretagogues, CQ and HCQ can be effective inhibitors of autophagy. This is important since many preclinical studies have shown that suppression of autophagy is implicated as a promising approach in cancer therapy [16–18].

5.1 What Is Autophagy

The term "autophagy" was first coined by Christian de Duve, the scientist who discovered the self-eating phenomena (autophagy) [19] in 1963, following his discovery of the lysosome in 1955 for which he was honored by a Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine in 1974. Yoshinori Ohsumi was subsequently recognized by a Noble Prize in 2016 for his contribution to the mechanism of autophagy using yeast as the model organism [20]. Autophagy is an evolutionarily conserved catabolic cellular process during which dysregulated cellular organelles or macromolecules are degraded by enzymes in the lysosomes to maintain cellular hemostasis. Three different types of autophagy are recognizable in cells. Macroautophagy (hereafter referred to as autophagy), microautophagy and chaperone-mediated autophagy all have different mechanisms and functions [21]. The autophagy process involves fusion of double membraned vesicles called autophagosomes with lysosomes to form autolysosomes. Eventually autolysosome contents are degraded into amino acids which cellular organelles or macromolecules can recycle and use for energy or building blocks for subsequent synthesis of new macromolecules [22, 23]. The autophagy process is typically divided into distinct stages including initiation; nucleation of the autophagosome; expansion and elongation of the autophagosome membrane; fusion with the lysosome to form autophagolysosome and degradation of intravesicular contents. The size of the protein targets that can be degraded is virtually limitless. Energy is generated during the autophagy process via the mitochondria. Since endoplasmic reticulum is part of the autophagy machinery, the autophagy process maintains endoplasmic reticulum stress.

Autophagy is thought to happen at a basal level in all cells and is also induced by diverse cellular stresses such as nutrient starvation, aggregation of toxic proteins, mitochondria depolarization, and pathogen infection [24]. Autophagyrelated genes (ATG) include core proteins belonging to the autophagy machinery and a set of signaling proteins that regulate autophagy. ATG1/ULK1 participates in the initiation process in coordination with ULK2, ATG13, ATG101, and FIP200 which activates a class III phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) complex formed by proteins including VPS34, VPS15, and Beclin 1, a putative tumor suppressor; whereas ATG5-ATG12 and LC3 complexes conjugate to expand the autophagosome. Multiple genes upstream of autophagy are involved in regulation of the autophagy process. Among them is the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) known to play a role in controlling cellular homeostasis. mTOR senses multiple environmental cues such as nutrients, energy levels, stresses, and the presence of growth factor. It integrates signaling from many upstream pathways such as the PI3K pathway and the AMP-activated kinase (AMPK) pathway. During cell starvation, when either amino acid levels or growth factor concentration drop, the mTORC1 (mTOR Complex 1) is inhibited. This in turn takes away the inhibition of mTORC1 on ATG1/ULK1 resulting in activation of autophagy.

5.2 Autophagy and Cancer

Autophagy is a survival mechanism conserved from yeast to human cells. It is also an important survival mechanism across different types of cancer cells. Cancer cells tend to Fig. 4 Schematic representation of Par-4 secretion from normal cells is p53 dependent. CQ-induced Par-4 secretion from normal cells by a mechanism that was dependent on tumor suppressor p53 and its transcriptional target, Rab8b. Par-4 was essential for paracrine apoptosis of p53-deficient cancer cells and tumor growth inhibition by CQ. Moreover, CQ-induced secretion of Par-4 was prevented by brefeldin A (BFA), which blocked the conventional pathway but not the non-conventional pathways. This finding indicates that Par-4 secretion occurs independently of the non-conventional autophagic pathway. (Cell Rep. 2017; 18(2): 508-519. doi:https:// doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2016.12.051)





assay. TUNEL-positive cells were scored relative to total number of cells and percentages are presented. Mean of three separate tumor sections + SD are shown. *P < 0.0001, **P = 0.0012, ***P = 0.0002, ****P = 0.0343 by the mixed linear model (for Patient 8, P = 0.077 by the paired t-test). (Adapted from Genes Cancer 2018; 9(5-6):190-197.

6 7 8 9

20

0

1

2 4 5

doi: https://doi.org/10.18632/genesandcancer.181)

Patient #

activate autophagy constitutively through metabolic reprogramming in order to maintain cellular homeostasis given that growth signal autonomy and insensitivity to growth inhibitory signals render them deficient in growth arrest [25-27]. Constitutive activation of autophagy has been linked to treatment resistance [28, 29]. Autophagy can also protect cells from undergoing apoptosis or programmed cell death. Furthermore, certain mutations render the cancer cell dependent on autophagy. For example, mutations in the RAS path-

Fig. 5 HCQ-induced apoptosis in cancer patients via induction of plasma Par-4. (a) Plasma samples from patients were collected pre-

HCQ (Day 0), and Day 14 post-HCQ treatment and analyzed by west-

ern blot for Par-4 level. Fold increase in level at Day 14 relative to Day

0 is shown. (b) HCQ induces apoptosis in patient tumors. Diagnostic biopsies and paired resected tumor specimen were analyzed by TUNEL

> way are often associated with high levels of autophagy inside the tumor cells to maintain metabolism in pancreatic cancer, non-small cell lung cancer and melanoma that has high frequency of BRAF V600E mutation [30, 31]. In colon cancer, functional JUN N-terminal kinase was required for hypoxiainduced autophagy [32]. Autophagy supports breast cancer stem cell growth by regulating IL-6 secretion and signal transduction and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) as a marker for cell dependence on autophagy for growth [33].

Targeting autophagy in cancer has been the basis of numerous tiona clinical trials since Amaravadi et al. [16] reported that the anti-tumor effects of anti-cancer drugs improved when used in combination with either genetic or pharmacologically unbuild inhibited autophagy activity employing genetically engi-

5.3 Autophagy Inhibition by Anti-Malaria Drugs

neered mouse model or patient-derived xenograft models.

Autophagy can be targeted at different stages through different mechanisms. Anti-malarial drugs chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine are well-known for their anti-autophagy effects. They function primarily by interfering with lysosome activities by acidifying them [34–36]. At neutral pH, both CQ and HCQ remain unchanged and are able to diffuse across the cell membrane freely. However, in acidic environments like inside a tumor, CQ and HCQ become protonated and get trapped inside the lysosome causing them to acidify. Acidified lysosomes are not optimal environment for its degradative enzymes. Therefore, autophagy stalls at the last step before protein degradation. Cells treated with CQ or HCQ exhibit vesicular organelle accumulation and blocked autophagy process.

6 Early Phase Clinical Trials in Oncology

Early phase or first-in-human trials are key steps in drug development, representing the first administration of a new drug, a new indication (i.e., repurposing), or drug combination in humans [37]. In oncology, these trials are either performed in patients with advanced cancer who have no other therapeutic options available or in patients with early stage cancer who do not need subsequent treatment as standard-ofcare. Early phase clinical trials, especially phase I clinical trials, mainly focus on safety parameters in determination of the maximum-tolerated dose (MTD) and the recommended phase II dose (RP2D). Various biomarkers (i.e., plasma Par-4 levels) as exploratory objectives are analyzed as well [38]. The design of early phase clinical trials must be supported by a well-documented scientific rationale. Given obvious limitations (small number of participants) of phase I studies, clinical efficacy cannot be properly analyzed. Use of expansion cohorts in phase I trials is increasing in an attempt to detect potential signals of clinical efficacy. The traditional framework of drug development involving inclusion of safety evaluation in phase 1, early efficacy assessment in phase 2, and final evaluation compared to standard-of-care in phase 3, has gradually faded out [39]. In the era of precision cancer medicine (PCM), rapid phase 1 dose-escalation studies followed by large expansion cohorts are replacing traditional phase 1 and phase 2 studies. In parallel, to optimize the process of biomarker-driven drug development, new trials are emerging, for example, adaptive studies with basket and umbrella designs [40].

7 HCQ Used as a Par-4 Secretagogue and Blocker of Autophagy in Clinical Trials

Autophagy is an important mechanism of survival and treatment resistance in various types of cancer. CQ has displayed pleiotropic mechanisms of action including inhibition of autophagy and normalization of tumor vasculature [6-8]. CQ induces cytotoxic effects in tumors by blocking autophagy, but in mouse pancreatic tumors containing oncogenic K-Ras and lacking functional p53, loss of autophagy accelerates tumor progression [41]. The presence of a hydroxyl group at the N-ethyl substituent makes HCQ different from CQ. Despite different biological structure, HCQ has pharmacokinetics similar to CQ, but with quick gastrointestinal absorption [42, 43]. More importantly, HCQ elimination is mainly from the kidney. Side effects on short-term usage are minimal [44]. These biological features make HCO an ideal choice for repurposing in clinical trials. Several recent clinical trials were performed using HCQ in combination with standard-of-care anti-cancer modalities [9]. These clinical trials focused on inhibition of autophagy by HCO. None of them determined the relationship between HCQ-induced Par-4 levels in patient plasma or serum and apoptotic activity in response to treatment.

To test the hypothesis that HCO is a safe and potent Par-4 secretagogue in humans and that secreted Par-4 will subsequently lead to apoptosis in diverse cancers, we reported pharmacodynamic results from a phase I, single-institution clinical trial using 14-day oral HCQ (200 or 400 mg twice daily) prior to planned surgery for patients with surgically removable early stage solid tumors. This was the first-inhuman study to assess biological response of HCQ as a Par-4 secretagogue. In this single-institute clinical trial, an adaptive, nonparametric, isotonic regression model with two dose levels of HCQ was employed. Dose escalation of HCQ was based on isotonic regression to model safety and biological effect based on plasma Par-4 analysis. A total of nine patients with early stage solid malignancies were enrolled and allocated to 200 mg twice daily (dose level 1) or 400 mg twice daily (does level 2) cohorts. Four patients had prostate adenocarcinoma, two had non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), and the other patients had diverse malignancies, including papillary thyroid carcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma of larynx, and carcinoid tumor of lung. Six patients were in the dose level 1 cohort; three patients were in the dose level 2 cohort. No HCQ-related dose limiting toxicities or severe

Table 2 Summary of toxicities and Par-4 response. Six patients were enrolled in dose level 1 (200 mg oral twice a day) and 3 patients were enrolled in dose level 2 (400 mg oral twice a day). (*Genes Cancer 2018; 9(5–6):190–197. doi:* https://doi.org/10.18632/genesandcancer.181)

Dose level	Pt#	Type of cancer	Adverse events (Grade)	DLT	Par-4 (fold) Response >2	Par-4 (fold) Response >1.5-<2
$\begin{array}{l} 1\\ 200 mg \ oral \ twice \ a \ day\\ (n=6) \end{array}$	1	Papillary thyroid cancer	None	No	Yes	No
	2	Prostate adenocarcinoma	None	No	Yes	No
	3	NSCLC, squamous cell	Diarrhea (G1) Abdominal pain (G3)	No	Yes	No
2 400 mg oral twice a day (n = 3)	4	Squamous cell carcinoma of larynx	Floaters (G1) Anorexia (G1)	No	Yes	No
	5	Prostate adenocarcinoma	None	No	Yes	No
	6	Prostate adenocarcinoma	Blurred vision (G1) Chest pain, cardiac (G3) Thromboembolic event (G2)	No	No	Yes
$\begin{array}{c} 1\\ 200 mg \ oral \ twice \ a \ day\\ (n=6) \end{array}$	7	Prostate adenocarcinoma	None	No	No	Yes
	8	NSCLC, squamous cell	None	No	No	Yes
	9	Carcinoid cancer of lung	Nausea (G1) Urinary tract infection (G2)	No	Yes	No

DLT dose limiting toxicity, NSCLC non-small cell lung cancer

adverse events were observed (Table 2). Eight of the nine patients showed increased plasma Par-4 levels over basal levels after 14 days of HCQ treatment (Fig. 5a) More interestingly, a significant increase in apoptosis in resected tumors from these eight patients were observed by TUNEL assay compared to pre-HCQ treatment (Fig. 5b). Induction of p62/ sequestosome-1 was revealed in resected tumors from all nine patients, which indicated autophagy inhibition by HCQ as well as HCO dose compliance. Increase of apoptosis was not noted in one patient who failed to show any increase in plasma Par-4. However, resected tumor from this patient showed induction of p62, which is indicative of HCQ compliance. Thus, this clinical study not only confirmed HCO as a potent inducer of Par-4, but it also showed biological effects on induction of apoptosis in tumor cells likely by HCO-induced Par-4 secretion, but not by autophagy inhibition alone.

8 Future Clinical Trials with Par-4 Secretagogues

Given the well-documented biological effects of Par-4 secretagogues such as HCQ, a clinical study using adjuvant HCQ for cancer patients following definitive treatments for curative intent is ongoing at the University of Kentucky. Combined with biological features as autophagy inhibitors, CQ and HCQ had shown effects on delaying or overcoming resistance to enzalutamide, a second-generation androgen receptor (AR) inhibitor in a xenograft model [45]. Future clinical trials combining CQ or HCQ with enzalutamide or other AR inhibitors to delay or overcome resistance in metastatic prostate cancer are warranted. The benign side effect profile of HCQ and CQ makes this approach feasible.

HCQ, as a Par-4 secretagogue, may also function as a radiosensitizer. In glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) cell lines, Par-4 up-regulation increased apoptosis when used in combination with radiation, chemotherapy, or both [46]. Animal experiments performed using melanoma cell lines (Mel1617 and Mel1617BR) showed that Par-4 secretagogue CQ synergized with radiation therapy (unpublished data). Par-4 also shows potential inhibition of radiation-induced NF-kB and Bcl-2 expression in human prostate cancer cells [47]. These preclinical data provide a strong rationale for design of clinical studies. Localized prostate cancers are most often treated with radical prostatectomy (RP). However, 20-40% of patients undergoing RP experience biochemical recurrence (BCR) within 10 years [48, 49]. Salvage radiation alone is commonly used in these settings, but more than 50% of patients develop disease progression within 10 years [50, 51]. The role of concurrent short-term androgen deprivation adjuvant therapy or AR inhibitor with radiotherapy is still unclear [51, 52]. The concept of concurrent salvage radiation with HCQ, as both radiosensitizer and Par-4 inducer, is gaining attention as a possible clinical study at the University of Kentucky. This same concept may be applied to other malignancies when radiation is indicated (i.e., GBM, head and neck cancer, lung cancer). As an example, a clinical trial with radiation to oligo metastatic prostate cancer in combination with HCQ with the goal of delaying systemic androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) is ongoing at the University of Kentucky.

Par-4 functions via binding to its receptor GRP78 on the cell surface. GRP78 is considered a crucial regulator of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) homeostasis [53], and a master regulator of unfolded protein response (UPR). UPR is needed to facilitate peptide folding, prevent misfolding, aggregation and target misfolded protein for degradation. UPR has been

linked to cancer initiation, tumor aggressiveness, angiogenesis, and metabolic processes [54]. Cancer cells are known to have heightened UPR and high level of ER stress and UPR is critical in conferring chemotherapy resistance [55–57]. Therefore, drugs that are known to increase ER stress could be combined with a Par-4 secretagogue to curb cancer treatment resistance. (S)-crizotinib induces endoplasmic response in lung cancer cells by increasing intracellular levels of reactive oxygen species thus increasing the apoptotic response [58]. Therefore, combination therapy using HCQ and the (S)-enantiomer of crizotinib will be of interest especially in the minimal residual disease settings outlined above.

Acknowledgments Clinical research was supported by developmental funds from P30CA177558 to B. Mark Evers, Markey Cancer Center. Part of the research was also supported by Biostatistics/Bioinformatics, Biospecimen Procurement/Translational Pathology and Cancer Research Informatics Shared Resources of the University of Kentucky Markey Cancer Center (P30CA177558).

Competing Financial Interests The authors have no financial relationships to disclose.

References

- Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Rangnekar VM (2010) Cancer-selective apoptotic effects of extracellular and intracellular Par-4. Oncogene 29:3873–3880
- El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of Par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23:5516–5525
- Gurumurthy S, Goswami A, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase a is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25:1146–1161
- Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR, Rangnekar VM (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway of apoptosis. Cell 138:377–388
- Burikhanov R, Hebbar N, Noothi SK, Shukla N, Sledziona J, Araujo N, Kudrimoti M, Wang QJ, Watt DS, Welch DR, Maranchie J, Harada A, Rangnekar VM (2017) Chloroquine-inducible Par-4 secretion is essential for tumor cell apoptosis and inhibition of metastasis. Cell Rep 18:508–519
- Boya P, Gonzalez-Polo RA, Poncet D, Andreau K, Vieira HL, Roumier T, Perfettini JL, Kroemer G (2003) Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization is a critical step of lysosome-initiated apoptosis induced by hydroxychloroquine. Oncogene 22:3927–3936
- Maycotte P, Aryal S, Cummings CT, Thorburn J, Morgan MJ, Thorburn A (2012) Chloroquine sensitizes breast cancer cells to chemotherapy of autophagy. Autophagy 8:200–212
- Maes H, Kuchnio A, Peric A, Moens S, Nys K, De Bock K, Ouaegebeur A, Schoors S, Georgiadou M, Wouters J, Vinckier S, Vankelecom H, Garmyn M, Vion AC, Radtke F, Boulanger C, Gerhardt H, Dejana E, Dewerchin M, Ghesquière B, Annaert W, Agostinis P, Carmeliet P (2014) Tumor vessel normalization by chloroquine independent of autophagy. Cancer Cell 26:190–206
- Rebecca VW, Amaravadi RK (2016) Emerging strategies to effectively target autophagy in cancer. Oncogene 35:1–11

- Kent G, al-Abadie M (1996) Factors affecting responses on dermatology life quality index items among vitiligo sufferers. Clin Exp Dermatol 21:330–333
- Ducharme J, Farinotti R (1996) Clinical pharmacokinetics and metabolism of chloroquine. Clin Pharmacokinet 31:257–274
- 12. Kalia S, Dutz JP (2007) New concepts in antimalarial use and mode of action in dermatology. Dermatol Ther 20:160–174
- Munster T et al (2002) Hydroxychloroquine concentration–response relationships in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 46:1460–1469
- Ding HJ, Denniston AK, Rao VK, Gordon C (2016) Hydroxychloroquine-related retinal toxicity. *Rheumatol. (Oxford)* 55:957–967
- Nicol MR, Joshi A, Rizk ML, Sabato P, Savic RM, Wesche D, Zheng JH, Cook J (2020) Pharmacokinetics and pharmacological properties of chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine in the context of COVID-19 infection. Clin Pharmacol Ther 108:1135–1149
- Amaravadi RK, Yu D, Lum JJ, Bui T, Christophorou MA, Evan GI, Thomas-Tikhonenko A, Thompson CB (2007) Autophagy inhibition enhances therapy-induced apoptosis in a Myc-induced model of lymphoma. J Clin Invest 117:326–336
- 17. Bellodi C, Lidonnici MR, Hamilton A, Helgason GV, Soliera AR, Ronchetti M, Galavotti S, Young KW, Selmi T, Yacobi R, Van Etten RA, Donato N, Hunter A, Dinsdale D, Tirro E, Vigneri P, Nicotera P, Dyer MJ, Holyoake T, Salomoni P, Calabretta B (2009) Targeting autophagy potentiates tyrosine kinase inhibitor-induced cell death in Philadelphia chromosome-positive cells, including primary CML stem cells. J Clin Invest 119:1109–1123
- Lu Z, Luo RZ, Lu YL, Zhang XH, Yu QH, Khare S, Kondo S, Kondo Y, Yu YH, Mills GB, Liao WSL, Base RC Jr (2008) The tumor suppressor gene ARHI regulates autophagy and tumor dormancy in human ovarian cancer cells. J Clin Invest 118:3917–3927
 Description CD (10(2) The transmission of the second seco
- 19. Duve CD (1963) The lysosome. Sci Am 208:64–72
- Ciechomska IA (2018) The role of autophagy in cancer—characterization of a crosstalk between apoptosis and autophagy; autophagy as a new therapeutic strategy in glioblastoma. Postepy Biochem 64:119–128
- Mizushima N, Levin B, Cuervo AM, Klionsky D (2008) Nature 451:1069–1075
- 22. Pasquier B (2016) Autophagy inhibitors. Cell Mol Life Sci 73:985–1001
- Yoshida GJ (2017) Therapeutic strategies of drug repositioning targeting autophagy to induce cancer cell death; from pathophysiology to treatment. J Hematol Oncol 10:67
- Mulcahy Levy JM (2017) Towers CG, and Thorburn a. Nat Rev Cancer 17:528–542
- 25. Phan LM, Yeung SCJ, Lee MH (2014) Cancer metabolic reprogramming: importance, main features, and potentials for precise targeted anti-cancer therapies. Cancer Biol Med 11:1–19
- Ward PS, Thompson CB (2012) Metabolic reprogramming: a cancer hallmark even Warburg did not anticipate. Cancer Cell 21:297–308
- Yoshida GJ (2015) Metabolic reprogramming: the emerging concept and associated therapeutic strategies. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 34:111
- 28. Sui X, Chen R, Wang Z, Huang Z, Kong N, Zhang M, Han W, Lou F, Yang J, Zhang Q, Wang X, He C, Pan H (2013) Autophagy and chemotherapy resistance: a promising therapeutic target for cancer treatment. Cell Death Dis 4:e838
- Yang ZJ, Chee CE, Huang SB, Sinicrope FA (2011) The role of autophagy in cancer: therapeutic implications. Mol Cancer Ther 10:1533–1541
- 30. Guo YX, Chen HY, Mathew R, Fan J, Strohecker AM, Karsli-Uzunbas G, Kamphorst JJ, Chen GG, Lemons JM, Karantza V, Coller HA, Dipaola RS, Gelinas C, Rabinowitz JD, White E (2011)

Activated Ras requires autophagy to maintain oxidative metabolism and tumorigenesis. Genes Dev 25:460–470

- 31. Yang SH, Wang XU, Contino G, Leisa M, Sahin E, Ying HQ, Bause A, Li HY, Stommel JM, Dell'antonio G, Mautner J, Tonon G, Haigis M, Shirihai OS, Doglioni C, Bardeesy N, Kimmelman AC (2011) Pancreatic cancers require autophagy for tumor growth. Genes Dev 25:717–729
- Vasilevskaya IA, Selvakumaran M, Roberts D, O'Dwyer PJ (2016) JNK1 inhibition attenuates hypoxia-induced autophagy and sensitizes to chemotherapy. Mol Cancer Res 14:753–763
- Maycotte P, Jones KL, Goodall ML, Thorburn J, Thorurn A (2015) Autophagy supports breast cancer stem cell maintenance by regulating IL6 secretion. Mol Cancer Res 13:651–658
- Homewood CA, Warhurst DC, Peters W, Baggaley VC (1972) Lysosomes, pH and the anti-malarial action of chloroquine. Nature 235:50–52
- Slater AF (1993) Chloroquine: mechanism of drug action and resistance in plasmodium falciparum. Pharmacol Ther 57:203–235
- 36. O'Neill PM, Bray PG, Hawley SR, Ward SA, Park BK (1998) 4-aminoquinolines—past, present, and future: a chemical perspective. Pharmacol Ther 77:29–58
- Harrington JA, Hernandez-Guerrero TC, Basu B (2017) Early phase clinical trial designs—state of play and adapting for the future. Clin Oncol 29:770–777
- Umscheid CA, Margolis DJ, Grossman CE (2011) Postgrad Med 125:194–204
- Wulfkuhle JD, Spira A, Edmiston KH, Petricoin EF 3rd (2017) Innovations in clinical trial design in the era of molecular profiling. *Methods Mol Biol* 1606:19–36
- Garralda E, Dienstmann R, Piris-Gimenez A, Brana I, Rodon J, Tabernero J (2019) New clinical trial designs in the era of precision medicine. Mol Oncol 13:549–557
- 41. Rosenfeldt MT, O'Prey J, Morton JP, Nixon C, MacKay G, Mrowinska A, Au A, Rai TS, Zheng L, Ridgway R, Adams PD, Anderson KI, Gottlieb E, Sansom OJ, Ryan KM (2013) p53 status determines the role of autophagy in pancreatic tumour development. Nature 504:296–300
- Mackenzie AH (1983) Pharmacologic actions of 4-aminoquinoline compounds. Am J Med 18:5–10
- McChesney EW (1983) Animal toxicity and pharmacokinetics of hydroxychloroquine sulfate. Am J Med 18:11–18
- Tett SE (1993) Clinical pharmacokinetics of slow-acting antirheumatic drugs. Clin Pharmacokinet 25:392–407
- 45. Nguyen HG, Yang JC, Kung HJ, Shi XB, Tilki D, Lara PN, White RWD, Gao AC, Evans CP (2014) Targeting autophagy overcomes enzalutamide resistance in castration-resistant prostate cancer cells and improves therapeutic response in a xenograft model. Oncogene 33:4521–4530
- 46. Beck A, Nguyen J, Flores A, Kline CLB, Sharma AK, Mackley H, Irby RB (2017) Par-4 therapy sensitizes glioblastoma cells to radiotherapy and chemotherapy. J Cancer Oncol 1:1–9

- 47. Chendil D, Das A, Dey S, Mohiuddin M, Ahmed MM (2002) Par-4, a pro-apoptotic gene, inhibits radiation-induced NF kappa B activity and Bcl-2 expression leading to induction radiosensitivity in human prostate cancer cells PC-3. Cancer Biol Ther 1:152–160
- Roehl KA, Han M, Ramos CG, Antenor JAV, Catalona WJ (2004) Cancer progression and survival rates following anatomical radical retropubic prostatectomy in 3,478 consecutive patients: long-term results. J Urol 172:910–914
- Freedland SJ, Humphreys EB, Mangold LA, Eisenberger M, Dorey FJ, Walsh PC, Partin AW (2005) Risk of prostate cancer-specific mortality following biochemical recurrence after radical prostatectomy. JAMA 294:433–439
- 50. Carrie C, Hasbini A, de Laroche G et al (2016) Salvage radiotherapy with or without short-term hormone therapy for rising prostate-specific antigen concentration after radical prostatectomy (GETUG-AFU 16): a randomised, multicentre, open-label phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 17:747–756
- 51. Carrie C, Magne N, Burban-Provost P et al (2019) Short-term androgen deprivation therapy combined with radiotherapy as salvage treatment after radical prostatectomy for prostate cancer (GETUG-AFU 16): a 112-month follow-up of a phase 3, randomised trial. Lancet Oncol 20:1740–1749
- 52. Shipley WU, Seiferheld W, Lukka HR et al (2017) Radiation with or without antiandrogen therapy in recurrent prostate cancer. N Engl J Med 376:417–428
- Ni M, Lee AS (2007) ER chaperones in mammalian development and human diseases. FEBS Lett 581:3641–3651
- Avril T, Vauleon E, Chevet E (2017) Endoplasmic reticulum stress signaling and chemotherapy resistance in solid cancers. Oncogenesis 6:e373
- 55. Dauer P, Sharma NS, Gupta VK, Durden B, Hadad R, Banerjee S, Dudeja V, Saluja A, Banerjee S (2019) ER stress sensor, glucose regulatory protein 78 (GRP78) regulates redox status in pancreatic cancer thereby maintaining "stemness". Cell Death Dis 10:132
- 56. Gifford JB, Huang W, Zeleniak AE, Hindoyan A, Wu H, Donahue TR, Hill R (2016) Expression of GRP78, master regulator of the unfolded protein response, increases chemoresistance in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Mol Cancer Ther 15:1043–1052
- 57. Pi L, Li XM, Song Q, Shen YP, Lu XY, Di B (2014) Knockdown of glucose-regulated protein 78 abrogates chemoresistance of hypopharyngeal carcinoma cells to cisplatin induced by unfolded protein in response to severe hypoxia. Oncol Lett 7:685–692
- 58. Winckler K, Obe G, Madle S, Kocher-Becker U, Kocher W, Nau H (1987) Cyclophosphamide; interstrain differences in the production of mutagenic metabolites by S9-fractions from liver and kidney in different mutagenicity test systems in vitro and in the teratogenic response in the vivo between CBA and C57 BL mice. Teratog Carcinog Mutagen 7:399–409



Par-4 as a Therapeutic Target in Cancer and Other Diseases

Ravshan Burikhanov and Vivek M. Rangnekar

Abstract

The tumor suppressor Par-4 is a multi-faceted protein with intracellular cytoplasmic and nuclear functions, as well as extracellular paracrine functions. Intracellular Par-4 acts by interacting, via its Par-4 amino-terminal fragment (PAF) domain, centrally placed selective for apoptosis in cancer (SAC) domain, or carboxyl-terminal leucine zipper (LZ) domain, with other proteins to regulate downstream gene transcription or posttranslational events. These activities are integral to developmental processes in specific tissues, inhibition of cellular transformation, tumor growth and metastasis and Par-4 implements them by apoptosis-dependent or -independent mechanisms. Extracellular Par-4 functions via its cell surface GRP78 (csGRP78) receptor that allows Par-4 to trigger signaling pathways to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress induction and apoptosis. Moreover, both intracellular and extracellular Par-4 regulate inflammation and EMT that are associated with cancer, metastasis, and a broad range of morbidities. A number of strategies are being tested to reinstate the Par-4 regulated pathways in order to overcome diseases associated with loss of Par-4 such as cancer or schizophrenia and depression, or to impede the active involvement of Par-4 in Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, cardiac aging, diabetes, and other diseases in

R. Burikhanov

Department of Radiation Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

V. M. Rangnekar (🖂)

Department of Radiation Medicine, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Department of Toxicology and Cancer Biology, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Molecular Genetics, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA

Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA e-mail: vmrang01@uky.edu which Par-4 acts, in consort with other incriminating pathways, to sensitize the cells to apoptosis. This chapter addresses some of the strategies that utilize the key biochemical features of Par-4 such as transcription regulation by its LZ domain, binding or sequestration of functionally significant proteins by its LZ or PAF domain, or receptor mediated signaling by its SAC domain for effectively targeting various diseases. Moreover, as Par-4 loss is associated with therapy resistance and tumor relapse, secreted or intracellular Par-4 levels may guide prognosis and treatment decisions.

Keywords

1

Prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) \cdot PAWR \cdot Arylquin-1 \cdot Chloroquine \cdot Nuclear factor kappa-lightchain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) \cdot Apoptosis \cdot Secretagogues \cdot Selective for apoptosis in cancer cells (SAC) \cdot Par-4 amino-terminal fragment (PAF) \cdot Leucine zipper (LZ) domain \cdot Nuclear localization signal (NLS) \cdot Tumor suppressor \cdot Cell surface glucose-regulated protein 78 (csGRP78) \cdot Cancer \cdot Alzheimer's \cdot Stem cells \cdot Neurodegeneration \cdot Ocular diseases \cdot Cardiac aging \cdot Diabetes

Salient Features of Par-4

Par-4 protein is ubiquitously expressed in various normal tissues and cell types [1]. Par-4 has been shown to play an integral role in the process of metamorphosis of the tadpole tale [2], development of the salivary gland [3], or the eye [4, 5], and involution of the prostate [1] in conjunction with other co-parallel cues. This is exemplified, for example, by the upregulation of Par-4 in the tadpole tail that coincides with elevation in thyroid hormone levels to cause apoptosis of the myoblasts and resorption of the tail [2]. Similarly, Par-4 is induced in the secretory epithelial compartment of the prostate, and Par-4 sensitizes these luminal cells to apoptosis fol-

V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), Tumor Suppressor Par-4, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_21

lowing testosterone depletion in castrated rats or mice. It is important to note that this process of apoptosis is blocked in Par-4-null mice, implying a functional role for Par-4 in apoptosis and involution of the prostate after testosterone depletion [1, 6, 7]. This observation is particularly relevant as androgen-deprivation is the mainstay for prostate cancer treatment. Moreover, intracellular Par-4 is phosphorylated by chemotherapeutic agents that induce phosphorylation of its T163 (T155 in rat Par-4) residue in the SAC domain leading to Par-4 activation and its translocation into the nucleus to induce apoptosis [8].

Although the Par-4 gene is induced at the RNA level by apoptotic insults [9], full-length Par-4 protein is often transiently induced and short-lived, and this may in part be due to downstream activation of caspase-8 and caspase-3 by Par-4 that subsequently results in cleavage of Par-4 at D131 residue. The carboxyl-terminal 132–340 amino acid fragment of cleaved Par-4 translocates into the nucleus and induces apoptosis [10–14]. The amino-terminal fragment (designated PAF, 1–131 amino acids) is primarily secreted and induces paracrine caspase-8/caspase-3 activation in cancer cells that are resistant to therapy, as well as those that are resistant to full-length Par-4 [12].

As Akt1 phosphorylates human as well as rat Par-4 protein and subsequently the chaperone 14–3-3 sequesters Par-4 in the cytoplasm [15], and Par-4 indirectly inhibits Akt1 through inhibition of ζ PKC [16], Akt inhibitors may have applications in nuclear translocation of Par-4. In the nucleus, activated Par-4 interacts directly with a number of proteins such as topoisomerase-1 to inhibit DNA relaxation [17], THAP1 to regulate gene splicing events [18, 19], or WT1 to inhibit transcription of the anti-apoptotic gene Bcl-2 [20–25]. There is evidence that Par-4 may interact with other transcription factors such as E2F1 [26] or with chromatin modulators such as SMARCA4 [2], and such interactions may potentially modulate global changes in gene expression events.

The heterodimeric transcription factor NF- κ B, which is involved in inflammation as well as anti-apoptosis in cancer cells, is another important target of Par-4 [27, 28]. Inhibition of NF-kB occurs in a context dependent manner either in the cytoplasm following Par-4 interaction with CPKC that prevents NF-KB activation and it's translocation into the nucleus, or inhibition of NF-kB-dependent transcription of cell survival IAP genes such as XIAP and cIAP [27-30]. In addition, other targets signify the role of Par-4 in regulation of EMT [31-33], metastasis [34, 35], as well as its apoptotic and autophagic regulatory function [2, 35]. As Par-4 contains a nuclear export sequence embedded in its LZ domain, retention of Par-4 in the nucleus using selective inhibitors of nuclear export is a promising strategy to block pancreatic cancer cell proliferation and reduce tumor growth [36]. This strategy utilizing drugs such as KPT-185 that inhibit the

binding of exportin 1 or chromosomal region maintenance 1 (CRM1) to Par-4 and prevent Par-4 nuclear export is expected to have broad applications in view of the nuclear apoptotic function of Par-4 in diverse cancers [37]. It is particularly noteworthy that while, on the one hand, Par-4 serves as a tumor suppressor protein dependent on its ability to induce apoptosis, it also plays a role as an inhibitor of cellular transformation or metastasis, and these latter functions are executed by either apoptosis-dependent or independent mechanisms [23, 24, 34, 38, 39].

In addition to its intracellular role, Par-4 protein is also secreted [40]. Although the ability to secrete Par-4 appears to be attenuated in cancer cells, chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) cells show deregulated expression and upregulated secretion of Par-4 [41]. As Par-4 secreted from these cancer cells is functional in inducing paracrine apoptosis of other epithelial tumor cells, it is likely that the csGRP78 receptor or its downstream signaling pathway is blocked to prevent apoptosis of the cells. On the other hand, the intracellular pathway for NF-kB inhibition, apoptosis and growth inhibition following overexpression of Par-4 is intact in CLL [42]. In fact, although most cancer cells show upregulation of csGRP78 owing to sustained genetic aberrations and ER-stress [40, 43], treatment with Par-4 results in apoptosis of only a segment of the cancer population. This selective action may be attributed to downmodulation of csGRP78 as a mechanism activated by cancer cells for survival. Reinstating csGRP78 levels is therefore an important strategy to sensitize cancer cells to apoptosis by extracellular Par-4. Most, albeit not all, normal cells express low levels of cell surface GRP78 that are below the threshold to induce apoptosis, thereby rendering them refractory to apoptosis by extracellular Par-4 [29, 40]. Collectively, these observations imply that Par-4 upregulation may allow selective inhibition of inflammation, transformation, tumor growth and metastasis. As upregulation of Par-4 on its own does not induce apoptosis in normal cells [8, 44, 45], Par-4 therapy may be an ideal approach against cancer. However, as upregulation of Par-4 sensitizes normal cells to the action of other apoptotic agents [8, 46], it is important to take a holistic approach and monitor the effects of Par-4 in other normal tissues, especially neuronal or pancreatic islet β -cells that are prone to erosion associated with Par-4 in conjunction with beta-amyloid protein or high glucose/fat diet, respectively [46-48].

2 Par-4 Gene Therapy in Cancer

The first set of experiments indicating that Par-4 upregulation can inhibit the growth of tumors were performed in PC-3 prostate cancer cell-derived xenografts [38]. A biosafe "gut-less" ψ 5 adenovirus that produced full-length Par-4 or the empty adenovirus vector as control was introduced into tumors in the flanks of nude mice as a first step toward testing whether Par-4 is suitable for tumor growth inhibition. These experiments produced over 80% inhibition of tumor volume with a single intra-tumoral injection of the Par-4producing adenovirus relative to the control adenovirus. Elevated levels of intracellular Par-4 not only activated the FasL/Fas extrinsic apoptotic pathway, but also inhibited the cell survival NF-kB induced pathway leading to reduction in tumor growth. This unexpected level of tumor reduction was especially remarkable because a parallel series of experiments using a green fluorescent protein (GFP)-producing $\psi 5$ adenovirus indicated that the tumor transduction frequency never exceeded 40% of the tumor cells. Similarly, a single injection of the Par-4-producing w5 adenovirus induced more than 50% tumor growth inhibition in orthotopic tumors derived from aggressively growing RM1 cells in the C57BL/6 mouse prostate [2]. As the adenovirus used was replicationand integration-deficient and its expression was expected to diminish as the tumor cells replicated, these observations indicated a bystander effect associated with Par-4 upregulation in tumors [38]. Almost a decade later, these findings were explained by the discovery that Par-4 protein is secreted and that secreted Par-4 inhibits the growth of tumors [40, 49]. Thus, in retrospection, both intracellular and extracellular Par-4 produced by the Par-4-producing adenovirus must have cooperated to produce massive apoptosis and reduction of tumor growth noted by Chakraborthy and colleagues [38].

The safety of Par-4 overexpression was apparent in our transgenic mice that overexpressed Par-4 or its SAC domain ubiquitously in all tissues [40, 45, 49, 50]. These mice survived longer than control mice, and especially the SAC domain transgenic mice failed to develop spontaneous or oncogene-inducible tumors (33). Moreover, these mice resisted the growth of non-autochthonous mouse tumors in their flanks, confirming the tumor growth inhibitory role of Par-4 secreted by normal cells [49].

Based on the above findings, and the fact that Par-4 is a generic tumor suppressor that induces apoptosis in diverse cancer cells, adenoviruses (AVs) or adeno-associated viruses (AAVs) that produce full-length human Par-4, or its functionally important domains, such as PAF, SAC, or including both SAC + LZ may be effective in inducing apoptosis and growth inhibitory effects in primary and metastatic tumors. Moreover, the Δ NLS1 mutant of Par-4 may readily translocate into the nucleus to induce robust apoptosis. Full-length Par-4, the ΔNLS1 mutant, SAC domain, and 132-340 amino acids fragment of Par-4 are expected to regulate gene transcription events. Full-length Par-4 and PAF are primarily secreted and trigger paracrine apoptosis. High-capacity AVs and particularly those that can be regulated appear to exhibit superior effects owing to evasion of degradation by the immune system, thereby allowing viral longevity [51].

Alternately, bioengineered AAV vectors have experienced clinical success due to their superior safety profile and high gene delivery efficacy [52]. Regardless of the delivery system, intra-tumoral overexpression of Par-4 may be most efficient as the tumor will be subject to the effects of both intracellular and extracellular Par-4. As intra-tumoral delivery may not always be feasible, another approach involves injection of the AVs or AAVs into normal tissue to cause secretion of Par-4 that may target metastasis via systemic circulation. In either case, the effect may be augmented by coparallel treatment of the tumor with radiation or a drug that might selectively stimulate the upregulation of csGRP78 in the tumor cells. As full-length Par-4 has been shown to sensitize normal cells to the action of chemotherapeutic agents, the use of targeted therapy is a safer option in conjunction with Par-4 produced by AVs or AAVs.

3 Effective Utilization of Recombinant Par-4

Recombinant Par-4 produced and purified from bacteria or baculoviral constructs in insect cells is effective in inhibition of metastatic tumor growth [12, 49]. Dr. Zhan and colleagues [53] have further increased the efficacy of recombinant Par-4 by stabilizing the protein in vivo using an Fc-tag. Recombinant Par-4 has been found to be safe in mouse models over extended periods of injection, implying that similar to the observations with Par-4/SAC transgenic mice, extracellular Par-4 does not have any obvious harmful effects in mice. Further genetic engineering of the protein expression constructs and the use of Par-4 mutants that may be more efficient than full-length Par-4 are likely to provide excellent metastasis inhibitor effects. Moreover, as most normal cells lack csGRP78, recombinant Par-4 may be suitable for sensitization of tumors to the action of either radiation or targeted drugs such as enzalutamide or abiraterone in prostate cancer.

4 Par-4 Secretagogues

A number of new compounds such as Nutlin-3a, Arylquin-1 and other arylquin/3-arylquinoline family members, natural products such as withaferin A and curcumin, and FDAapproved drugs such as chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine have been shown to induce the secretion of Par-4 from normal cells [2, 40, 54, 55]. Cancer cells do not secrete Par-4 in response to these secretagogues as the secretory pathway appears to be subdued in most, albeit not all cancer cells, as a defense mechanism against autocrine apoptosis by secreted Par-4. Most normal cells, on the other hand, do not express csGRP78 and are resistant to the action of secreted Par-4. **Fig. 1** Arylquin-1 is safely tolerated and induces Par-4 in mouse tissues. C57BL/6 mice were treated with Arylquin-1 (10 mg/kg body weight) for the indicated time periods and Par-4 expression was examined in whole-tissue lysates of the liver and brain by Western blot analysis. Par-4 levels normalized to GAPDH levels are indicated. Note induction of Par-4 in both short-term and long-term treatments



These features ensure the differential effects of Par-4 secretagogues in normal and cancer cells- Par-4 secretion is induced from normal cells by Par-4 secretagogues and this results in paracrine apoptosis of cancer cells. Our mouse studies [34] indicated that metastatic tumors arising in vascular tissues, such as the lungs, are more vulnerable to the apoptotic effects of secreted Par-4. Moreover, Par-4 secreted by normal cells of the host is expected to have the posttranslational modifications that are not otherwise apparent in recombinant Par-4 produced in bacteria. In fact, our clinical trials have indicated that Par-4 secretion from normal cells is induced by HCQ, and that secreted Par-4 is associated with remarkably high levels of apoptosis in diverse primary tumors in cancer patients [39]. These results offer optimism for combining Par-4 secretagogues with standard-of-care treatments to utilize secreted Par-4 as either a radiosensitizer or sensitizer to hormonal therapy (such as with enzalutamide) that is specifically targeted against the tumor. It is important to note that HCQ also functions as an inhibitor of autophagy in tumors and may generate synergistic growth inhibitory effects with secreted Par-4 and radiation treatment of tumor.

Unlike other Par-4 secretagogues, Arylquin-1 induces robust intracellular Par-4 levels in normal tissues (Fig. 1). Daily treatment of mice with Arylquin-1 for 28 days indicated that Arylquin-1 induces Par-4, yet neither does it reduce mouse weight, nor does it harm normal cells or vital organ functions. Food consumption in mice is also unaffected by Arylquin-1 treatment. Importantly, Arylquin-1 treatment inhibits the growth of metastatic tumors in the mouse lungs (Fig. 2). Our studies have indicated that Arylquin-1 works in a three-pronged fashion, by secretion of Par-4 from normal cells, by induction of apoptosis in tumor cells, and by inhibition of metastasis by binding to vimentin, and is therefore a good candidate for drug development as an inhibitor of cancer metastasis. Moreover, molecules such as Arylquin-1 that induce Par-4 expression in normal cells deserve more attention for prevention of primary or metastatic tumors.



Fig. 2 Arylquin-1 inhibits the growth of lung metastasis. LLC-1 cells (300,000 cells) were injected into C57BL/6 mice through the tail vein, and beginning at 24 h thereafter, the mice were injected i.p. with vehicle or Arylquin-1 (10 mg/kg body weight), once daily for 15 days (n = 6 mice in each group). Lungs were resected, perfused, stained with India ink and tumor nodules were scored. Mean ± SD are shown in upper panel and India ink stained lungs are shown in lower panel. **P < 0.01 by Student's t-test

5 Inducers of Par-4 Receptor GRP78 on the Cell Surface

The Par-4 receptor csGRP78 is expressed on cancer cells but not on most normal cells. Several lines of evidence indicate that csGRP78 is a targetable receptor [56–58]. It is obvious from our Par-4 transgenic mice that overexpress Par-4 ubiquitously, and from mouse experiments with recombinant Par-4, as well as with Par-4 secretagogue HCQ in cancer patients that normal cells are not harmed by secreted Par-4. This implies that even if some of the normal cells may express csGRP78, secreted Par-4 either does not harm those cells or those cells are dispensable. In addition to using secretagogues of Par-4, it is important to elevate csGRP78 specifically on cancer cells. Our initial studies have identified a family of FDA-approved drugs that induce csGRP78 in cancer cells but not in normal cells. Further studies to confirm the selective action of these drugs in cancer cells may allow their use to selectively kill cancer cells in conjunction with secreted Par-4 induced by secretagogues. Besides secreted Par-4, csGRP78 may be targeted by antibodies against its carboxyl-terminus. Previous studies have suggested that such antibodies serve as agonists to inhibit the growth of tumor cells [57, 58]. Alternately, genetically engineered CAR-T cells that express csGRP78 agonist antibody, that overexpress Par-4 for secretion, or that display Par-4 at their cell membrane may serve as effective cell therapy against tumors.

6 Par-4 Expression as an Indicator of Tumor Relapse

A number of reports in literature assert that Par-4 loss contributes to tumor recurrence following therapy and affects patient survival [2, 59]. The presence of cytoplasmic versus nuclear Par-4 may also be a harbinger of response to therapy and tumor relapse. Moreover, as Par-4 is secreted and fulllength Par-4 protein is detectable in the plasma or serum samples, it is important to determine whether Par-4 levels in circulation truly reflect the ability of the individual to prevent malignant growth of pre-clinical tumors or relapse of primary or metastatic tumors. Such studies will require large cohorts of normal individuals and cancer patients at various stages of cancer development. As Par-4 levels may be influenced by glucose and fat levels in diet, smoking, alcohol, genetic factors, comorbidities, and associated treatments, a thorough record of these variables will be essential in assessing the significance of circulating Par-4 as a gauge of treatment response and outcome.

7 Approaches to Modulate Par-4 in Neuronal and Other Diseases

Several lines of evidence suggest that Par-4 plays a critical role in promoting cell death in neurodegenerative diseases. Elsherbini and Bieberich [60] and Guo et al. [61] have described mechanisms by which Par-4 sensitizes neurons to apoptosis in various experimental models of Alzheimer's disease. The apoptosis antagonizing transcription factor (AATF) binds to Par-4 via its leucine zipper domain and confers neuroprotection by preventing the binding of Par-4 to the amyloid β and β -amyloid precursor protein (APP) intracellular domain (AICD). Prevention of this interaction of Par-4 with AICD using either an LZ domain peptide of Par-4

or AATF, or a small core peptide from TRL-4 binding region of AATF may block the effects of Par-4.

Par-4 levels are increased in midbrain dopaminergic neurons of monkeys and mice exposed to 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine prior to loss of tyrosine hydroxylase immunoreactivity and dopaminergic neuronal death [61]. As blockade of Par-4 induction prevents neuronal cell death in these model systems, approaches using small molecules, peptides, or RNA-interference that prevent Par-4 levels from increasing in response to local cues need further investigation for long-term safety and effectiveness.

Interestingly, Par-4 has been suggested to constitute a molecular link between impaired dopamine signaling and depression, as Par-4 directly interacts with the dopamine D2 receptor [62]. Lack of interaction between the LZ domain of Par-4 and the dopamine D2 receptor showed an enhanced dopamine-cAMP-CREB signaling pathway in neurons with impairment of dopamine signaling and increased depression [62]. These results suggest that Par-4 functions to link dopamine signaling and depression. Par-4, dopamine D2 receptor, and calmodulin protein levels are critical in schizophrenia, major depression, and bipolar disorder. Par-4 levels are lower in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder relative to normal controls, and Par-4 decreased by 67% in individuals with major depression relative to normal controls. These observations need careful evaluation in the context of the apoptotic function of Par-4 and its link with dopamine signaling pathways in schizophrenia, major depression, and bipolar disorder [63]. A better understanding of the nuanced relationship between Par-4 and these pathways will enable the design of strategies to precisely modulate Par-4 levels to thwart these disorders.

Apoptosis in cardiomyocytes contributes to cardiac remodeling after myocardial infarction (MI). A recent study has suggested that circular RNA circ_0068655 soaks up endogenous miR-498 to inhibit its activity and increase Par-4/PAWR expression [64]. Experiments at the University of Toronto suggest that the microRNA miR-17-3p exerts a fundamental role in heart development and functions by targeting Par-4 to inhibit mouse cardiac fibroblast senescence [65]. Repression of Par-4 by miR-17-3p elevates the transcription of CEBPB and FAK to downregulate E-cadherin and promote upregulation of N-cadherin, vimentin, Oct4, and Sca-1, for self-renewal. Similarly, an unbiased assessment of circular RNAs, miRNAs, or peptides that regulate Par-4 expression in pancreatic β -cells may provide insights for targeting Par-4 and inhibition of apoptosis associated with type 2 diabetes.

8 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

In conclusion, numerous studies have reiterated that Par-4 is a modular, multi-faceted protein. Par-4 functions as a transcriptional co-regulator to either repress or activate gene transcription events depending on the cellular context. Alternately, Par-4 regulates downstream events by binding to diverse other proteins through its PAF domain, SAC domain, or LZ domain. These biochemical changes activated by Par-4 result in distinct phenotypic alterations that include apoptosis induction, autophagy induction or inhibition dependent on the co-parallel cues and context, and inhibition of inflammation and EMT. Par-4 expression or function is compromised in most tumors, depression, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder, but Par-4 activation contributes to neuronal degeneration, cardiac aging, and pancreatic β -cell apoptosis in type 2 diabetes. As Par-4 is downregulated, inactivated or mutated in tumors, reinstating functional levels of Par-4 in tumors and/or in circulation is offered as a key strategy to inhibit the growth of various tumors (Fig. 3). Multiple approaches that are considered for replenishing Par-4 levels include: (a) gene therapy using AVs or AAVs to express various domains of Par-4, (b) recombinant Par-4, (c) secretagogues of Par-4, and (d) retention of Par-4 in the nucleus. Other relatively underexplored approaches, include miRNAs or siRNAs against Par-4 regulators such as UACA [66], or circular RNAs [67], and specific regulators of the Par-4 promoter [68] to induce Par-4 gene expression. Such approaches may also include the use of nanoparticles, such as nanoliposomes that are effective in the delivery of Par-4 plasmid into tumors [69]. Moreover, natural products and dietary supplements such as withaferin A, flavonoids, 3,3'-Diindolylmethane derived from indole-3-carbinol found in cruciferous vegetables, or the AKT1 inhibitor phenylbutyl isoselenocyanate (which was derived through extensive structure-activity studies from naturally occurring phenylalkyl isothiocyanates) that are suggested to induce apoptosis in cancer cells through a Par-4-based mechanism deserve further studies [70–73]. On the flip side, a reverse approach is necessary in neurodegenerative diseases including Alzheimer's and Parkinson's, cardiac aging, and pancreatic islet β -cell degeneration to subdue



Fig. 3 Par-4 suppresses cancer, depression, and schizophrenia, but promotes neuronal diseases, diabetes, and cardiac aging. Par-4 is down-regulated, mutated, or inactivated in cancer and replenishment of functional Par-4 can induce apoptosis and inhibit tumor growth and metastasis. Similarly, loss of Par-4 function is associated with depression and schizophrenia, and restoration of functional Par-4 may counteract these disorders. On the other hand, Par-4 pro-apoptotic function is causally associated with Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, diabetes and cardiac aging, and strategies to inhibit Par-4 function may alleviate these diseases

Par-4 expression or function (Fig. 3). Moreover, careful modulation of Par-4 in schizophrenia and depression is necessary in view of the delicate balance between Par-4 replenishment to overcome these episodes and preventing apoptosis of the neurons (Fig. 3). The prognostic significance of both circulating Par-4 levels and cytoplasmic/nuclear compartmentalization of intra-tumoral Par-4 needs extra attention to recognize the value of Par-4 in cancer prognosis. Thus, Par-4 that was first discovered in prostate cancer cells undergoing apoptosis [74], is ubiquitously expressed in various tissues and cell types, and serves as a therapeutic target in diverse diseases.

Acknowledgments We thank former and current members of the Rangnekar laboratory and our collaborators David Watt, Chunming Liu, Subbarao Bondada, Chang-Guo Zhan, and Peng Wang at the University of Kentucky and numerous investigators from other institutions with whom we have had productive academic collaborations. VMR is supported by NIH/NCI R01, the University of Kentucky Markey Cancer Center and the University of Kentucky Center for Clinical and Translational Science. We thank the Biospecimen Procurement and Translational Pathology Shared Resource Facility (SRF), Cancer Research Informatics SRF, Flow Cytometry and Immune Monitoring SRF, Redox Metabolism SRF, Oncogenomics SRF, and Biostatistics and Bioinformatics SRF of the University of Kentucky Markey Cancer Center (P30 CA177558) for supporting Par-4 translational research projects in the Rangnekar laboratory.

Conflict of Interest VMR is founder of Parcure, LLC, a startup with interest in developing Par-4-based therapies for cancer and other diseases.

References

- Boghaert ER, Sells SF, Walid AJ, Malone P, Williams NM, Weinstein MH, Strange R, Rangnekar VM (1997) Immunohistochemical analysis of the proapoptotic protein Par-4 in normal rat tissues. Cell Growth Differ 8(8):881–890
- 2. Ganguly S, Burikhanov R, Qiu S, Rangnekar VM (2021) Discovery and overview of Par-4. In: Rangnekar VM (ed) Tumor suppressor Par-4: structural features, molecular mechanisms and function. Springer-Nature, Switzerland AG
- Gomes ANDM, Nagai MA, Lourenço SV, Coutinho-Camillo CM (2019) Apoptosis and proliferation during human salivary gland development. J Anat 234(6):830–838
- Acharya M, Lingenfelter DJ, Huang L, Gage PJ, Walter MA (2009) Human PRKC apoptosis WT1 regulator is a novel PITX2interacting protein that regulates PITX2 transcriptional activity in ocular cells. J Biol Chem 284(50):34829–34838
- Acharya M, Huang L, Fleisch VC, Allison WT, Walter MA (2011) A complex regulatory network of transcription factors critical for ocular development and disease. Hum Mol Genet 20(8):1610–1624
- 6. Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Abu-Baker S, Joshi J, Galvez A, Castilla EA, Canamero M et al (2009) Simultaneous inactivation of Par-4 and PTEN in vivo leads to synergistic NF-κB activation and invasive prostate carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(31):12962–12967
- Gao S, Wang H, Lee P, Melamed J, Li CX, Zhang F, Wu H, Zhou L, Wang Z (2006) Androgen receptor and prostate apoptosis response factor-4 target the c-FLIP gene to determine survival and apoptosis in the prostate gland. J Mol Endocrinol 36(3):463–483

- Gurumurthy S, Goswami A, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2005) Phosphorylation of Par-4 by protein kinase A is critical for apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 25(3):1146–1161
- Sells SF, Han SS, Muthukkumar S, Maddiwar N, Johnstone R, Boghaert E, Gillis D, Liu G, Nair P, Monnig S, Collini P, Mattson MP, Sukhatme VP, Zimmer SG, Wood DP Jr, McRoberts JW, Shi Y, Rangnekar VM (1997) Expression and function of the leucine zipper protein Par-4 in apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 17(7):3823–3832
- Chaudhry P, Singh M, Parent S, Asselin E (2012) Prostate apoptosis response 4 (Par-4), a novel substrate of caspase-3 during apoptosis activation. Mol Cell Biol 32(4):826–839
- de Thonel A, Hazoumé A, Kochin V, Isoniemi K, Jego G, Fourmaux E, Hammann A, Mjahed H, Filhol O, Micheau O, Rocchi P, Mezger V, Eriksson JE, Rangnekar VM, Garrido C (2014) Regulation of the proapoptotic functions of prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) by casein kinase 2 in prostate cancer cells. Cell Death Dis 5(1):e1016–e1016
- Hebbar N, Burikhanov R, Shukla N, Qiu S, Zhao Y, Elenitoba-Johnson KSJ, Rangnekar VM (2017) A naturally generated decoy of the prostate apoptosis response-4 protein overcomes therapy resistance in tumors. Cancer Res 77(15):4039–4050
- 13. Thayyullathil F, Pallichankandy S, Rahman A, Kizhakkayil J, Chathoth S, Patel M, Galadari S (2013) Caspase-3 mediated release of SAC domain containing fragment from Par-4 is necessary for the sphingosine-induced apoptosis in Jurkat cells. J Mol Signal 8(1):2
- 14. Treude F, Kappes F, Fahrenkamp D, Müller-Newen G, Dajas-Bailador F, Krämer OH, Lüscher B, Hartkamp J (2014) Caspase-8mediated PAR-4 cleavage is required for TNFα-induced apoptosis. Oncotarget 5(10):2988–2998
- 15. Goswami A, Burikhanov R, de Thonel A, Fujita N, Goswami M, Zhao Y, Eriksson JE, Tsuruo T, Rangnekar VM (2005) Binding and phosphorylation of par-4 by akt is essential for cancer cell survival. Mol Cell 20(1):33–44
- 16. Joshi J, Fernandez-Marcos PJ, Galvez A, Amanchy R, Linares JF, Duran A, Pathrose P, Leitges M, Cañamero M, Collado M, Salas C, Serrano M, Moscat J, Diaz-Meco MT (2008) Par-4 inhibits Akt and suppresses Ras-induced lung tumorigenesis. EMBO J 27(16):2181–2193
- Goswami A, Qiu S, Dexheimer TS, Ranganathan P, Burikhanov R, Pommier Y, Rangnekar VM (2008) Par-4 binds to topoisomerase 1 and attenuates its DNA relaxation activity. Cancer Res 68(15):6190–6198
- Lu C, Li JY, Ge Z, Zhang L, Zhou GP (2013) Par-4/THAP1 complex and Notch3 competitively regulated pre-mRNA splicing of CCAR1 and affected inversely the survival of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. Oncogene 32(50):5602–5613
- Roussigne M, Cayrol C, Clouaire T, Amalric F, Girard J-P (2003) THAP1 is a nuclear proapoptotic factor that links prostateapoptosis-response-4 (Par-4) to PML nuclear bodies. Oncogene 22(16):2432–2442
- 20. Cheema SK, Mishra SK, Rangnekar VM, Tari AM, Kumar R, Lopez-Berestein G (2003) Par-4 transcriptionally regulates Bcl-2 through a WT1-binding site on the bcl-2 promoter. J Biol Chem 278(22):19995–20005
- 21. Johnstone RW, See RH, Sells SF, Wang J, Muthukkumar S, Englert C, Haber DA, Licht JD, Sugrue SP, Roberts T, Rangnekar VM, Shi Y (1996) A novel repressor, par-4, modulates transcription and growth suppression functions of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Mol Cell Biol 16(12):6945–6956
- 22. Kim J, Lee K, Pelletier J (1998) The DNA binding domains of the WT1 tumor suppressor gene product and chimeric EWS/WT1 oncoprotein are functionally distinct. Oncogene 16(8):1021–1030
- Qiu SG, Krishnan S, el-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (1999a) Negative regulation of Par-4 by oncogenic Ras is essential for cellular transformation. Oncogene 18(50):7115–7123

- 24. Qiu G, Ahmed M, Sells SF, Mohiuddin M, Weinstein MH, Rangnekar VM (1999b) Mutually exclusive expression patterns of Bcl-2 and Par-4 in human prostate tumors consistent with downregulation of Bcl-2 by Par-4. Oncogene 18:623–631
- Richard DJ, Schumacher V, Royer-Pokora B, Roberts SG (2001) Par4 is a coactivator for a splice isoform-specific transcriptional activation domain in WT1. Genes Dev 15(3):328–339
- 26. Lu C, Chen JQ, Zhou GP, Wu SH, Guan YF, Yuan CS (2008) Multimolecular complex of Par-4 and E2F1 binding to Smac promoter contributes to glutamate-induced apoptosis in human- bone mesenchymal stem cells. Nucleic Acids Res 36(15):5021–5032
- Nalca A, Qiu SG, El-Guendy N, Krishnan S, Rangnekar VM. (1999) Oncogenic Ras sensitizes cells to apoptosis by Par-4. J Biol Chem. 274(42):29976–29983
- Diaz-Meco MT, Lallena MJ, Monjas A, Frutos S, Moscat J (1999) Inactivation of the inhibitory kappaB protein kinase/nuclear factor kappaB pathway by Par-4 expression potentiates tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 274(28):19606–19612
- Burikhanov R, Sviripa VM, Hebbar N, Zhang W, Layton WJ, Hamza A, Zhan CG, Watt DS, Liu C, Rangnekar VM (2014) Arylquins target vimentin to trigger Par-4 secretion for tumor cell apoptosis. Nat Chem Biol 10(11):924–926
- Guo H, Treude F, Krämer OH, Lüscher B, Hartkamp J (2019) PAR-4 overcomes chemo-resistance in breast cancer cells by antagonizing cIAP1. Sci Rep 9:8755
- Ahmad SM, Nayak D, Mir KB, Faheem MM, Nawaz S, Yadav G, Goswami A (2020) Par-4 activation restrains EMT-induced chemoresistance in PDAC by attenuating MDM-2. Pancreatology 20(8):1698–1710
- 32. Katoch A, Suklabaidya S, Chakraborty S, Nayak D, Rasool RU, Sharma D, Mukherjee D, Faheem MM, Kumar A, Sharma PR, Senapati S, Kumar LD, Goswami A (2018) Dual role of Par-4 in abrogation of EMT and switching on mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) in metastatic pancreatic cancer cells. Mol Carcinog 57(9):1102–1115
- 33. Katoch A, Jamwal VL, Faheem MM, Kumar S, Senapati S, Yadav G, Gandhi SG, Goswami A (2021) Overlapping targets exist between the Par-4 and miR-200c axis which regulate EMT and proliferation of pancreatic cancer cells. Transl Oncol 14(1):100879
- 34. Burikhanov R, Hebbar N, Noothi SK, Shukla N, Sledziona J, Araujo N, Kudrimoti M, Wang QJ, Watt DS, Welch DR, Maranchie J, Harada A, Rangnekar VM (2017) Chloroquine-inducible Par-4 secretion is essential for tumor cell Apoptosis and inhibition of metastasis. Cell Rep 18(2):508–519
- 35. Cheratta AR, Thayyullathil F, Pallichankandy S, Subburayan K, Alakkal A, Galadari S (2021) Prostate apoptosis response-4 and tumor suppression: it's not just about apoptosis anymore. Cell Death Dis 12(1):47
- 36. Azmi AS, Aboukameel A, Bao B, Sarkar FH, Philip PA, Kauffman M, Shacham S, Mohammad RM (2013) Selective inhibitors of nuclear export block pancreatic cancer cell proliferation and reduce tumor growth in mice. Gastroenterology 144(2):447–456
- 37. Uddin MH, Philip PA, Azmi AS, Mohammad RM (2021) Potential of PAR-4 as a therapeutic target for pancreatic cancer. In: Rangnekar VM (ed) Tumor suppressor Par-4: role in cancer and other diseases. Springer-Nature, Switzerland AG
- Chakraborty M, Qiu SG, Vasudevan KM, Rangnekar VM (2001) Par-4 drives trafficking and activation of Fas and Fasl to induce prostate cancer cell apoptosis and tumor regression. Cancer Res 61(19):7255–7263
- 39. Wang P, Burikhanov R, Jayswal R, Weiss HL, Arnold SM, Villano JL, Rangnekar VM (2018) Neoadjuvant administration of hydroxychloroquine in a phase 1 clinical trial induced plasma Par-4 levels and apoptosis in diverse tumors. Genes Cancer 9(5–6):190–197

- 40. Burikhanov R, Zhao Y, Goswami A, Qiu S, Schwarze SR, Rangnekar VM (2009) The tumor suppressor Par-4 activates an extrinsic pathway for apoptosis. Cell 138(2):377–388
- 41. McKenna MK, Noothi SK, Alhakeem SS, Oben KZ, Greene JT, Mani R, Perry KL, Collard JP, Rivas JR, Hildebrandt GC, Fleischman RA, Durbin EB, Byrd JC, Wang C, Muthusamy N, Rangnekar VM, Bondada S (2018) Novel role of prostate apoptosis response-4 tumor suppressor in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 131(26):2943–2954
- 42. Greene JT, Mani R, Ramaswamy R, Frissora F, Yano M, Zapolnik K, Harrington B, Wasmuth R, Tran M, Mo X, McKenna M, Rangnekar VM, Byrd JC, Bondada S, Muthusamy N (2019) Par-4 overexpression impedes leukemogenesis in the E-TCL1 leukemia model through downregulation of NF-kappaB signaling. Blood Adv 3(8):1255–1266
- 43. Tsai YL, Ha DP, Zhao H, Carlos AJ, Wei S, Pun TK, Wu K, Zandi E, Kelly K, Lee AS (2018) Endoplasmic reticulum stress activates SRC, relocating chaperones to the cell surface where GRP78/ CD109 blocks TGF-beta signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115(18):E4245–E4254
- 44. El-Guendy N, Zhao Y, Gurumurthy S, Burikhanov R, Rangnekar VM (2003) Identification of a unique core domain of par-4 sufficient for selective apoptosis induction in cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 23(16):5516–5525
- 45. Zhao Y, Burikhanov R, Qiu S, Lele SM, Jennings CD, Bondada S, Spear B, Rangnekar VM (2007) Cancer resistance in transgenic mice expressing the SAC module of Par-4. Cancer Res 67(19):9276–9285
- El-Guendy N, Rangnekar VM (2003) Apoptosis by Par-4 in cancer and neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Cell Res 283(1):51–66
- 47. Liu C, QiNan W, XiaoTian L, MengLiu Y, XiaGuang G, WeiLing L, ZiWen L, Ling Z, GangYi Y, Bing C (2018) TERT and Akt are involved in the Par-4-dependent apoptosis of islet β- cells in type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Res 2018:7653904
- 48. QiNan W, XiaGuang G, XiaoTian L, WuQuan D, Ling Z, Bing C (2016) Par-4/NF-κB mediates the apoptosis of islet β cells induced by glucolipotoxicity. J Diabetes Res 2016:4692478
- 49. Zhao Y, Burikhanov R, Brandon J, Qiu S, Shelton BJ, Spear B, Bondada S, Bryson S, Rangnekar VM (2011) Systemic Par-4 inhibits non-autochthonous tumor growth. Cancer Biol Ther 12(2):152–157
- Zhao Y, Rangnekar VM (2008) Apoptosis and tumor resistance conferred by Par-4. Cancer Biol Ther 7(12):1867–1874
- 51. Lee CS, Bishop ES, Zhang R, Yu X, Farina EM, Yan S et al (2017) Adenovirus-mediated gene delivery: potential applications for gene and cell-based therapies in the new era of personalized medicine. Genes Dis 4(2):43–63
- Santiago-Ortiza JL, Schaffera DV (2016) Adeno-Associated Virus (AAV) vectors in cancer gene therapy. J Control Release 240:287–301
- 53. Kim K, Araujo P, Hebbar N, Zhou Z, Zheng X, Zheng F, Rangnekar VM, Zhan CG (2019) Development of a novel prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) protein entity with an extended duration of action for therapeutic treatment of cancer. Protein Eng Des Sel 32(3):159–166
- 54. Burikhanov R, Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Hebbar N, Qiu S, Zhao Y, Zambetti GP, Rangnekar VM (2014) Paracrine apoptotic effect of p53 mediated by tumor suppressor Par-4. Cell Rep 6(2):271–277
- 55. Rah B, Amin H, Yousuf K, Khan S, Jamwal G, Mukherjee D, Goswami A (2012) A novel MMP-2 inhibitor 3-azidowithaferin a (3-azidoWA) abrogates cancer cell invasion and angiogenesis by modulating extracellular Par-4. PLoS One 7(9):e44039
- 56. Araujo N, Hebbar N, Rangnekar VM (2018) GRP78 is a targetable receptor on cancer and stromal cells. EBioMedicine 33:2–3

- 57. Ge R, Kao C (2019) Cell surface GRP78 as a death receptor and an anticancer drug target. Cancers (Basel) 11(11):1787
- Gopal U, Pizzo SV (2021) Cell surface GRP78 signaling: an emerging role as a transcriptional modulator in cancer. J Cell Physiol 236(4):2352–2363
- 59. de Bessa-Garcia SA, Nagai MA (2021) Involvement of Par-4 in breast cancer. In: Rangnekar VM (ed) Tumor suppressor Par-4: role in cancer and other diseases. Springer-Nature, Switzerland AG
- 60. Elsherbini A, Bieberich E (2021) Role of PAR-4 in ceramideinducible effects in neurodegeneration. In: Rangnekar VM (ed) Tumor suppressor Par-4: role in cancer and other diseases. Springer-Nature, Switzerland AG
- 61. Guo Q, Xie J, Guo CJ (2021) Par-4 in neuronal death and survival in Alzheimer's disease and other neurogenerative diseases. In: Rangnekar VM (ed) Tumor suppressor Par-4: role in cancer and other diseases. Springer-Nature, Switzerland AG
- Park SK, Nguyen MD, Fischer A, Luke MP, Affarel B, Dieffenbach PB, Tseng HC, Shi Y, Tsai LH (2005) Par-4 links dopamine signaling and depression. Cell 122:275–287
- 63. Glantz LA, Gilmore JH, Overstreet DH, Salimi K, Lieberman JA, Jarskog LF (2010) Pro-apoptotic Par-4 and dopamine D2 receptor in temporal cortex in schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and major depression. Schizophr Res 118(1–3):292–299
- 64. Chai Q, Zheng M, Wang L, Wei M, Yin Y, Ma F, Li X, Zhang H, Liu G (2020) Circ_0068655 promotes cardiomyocyte apoptosis via miR-498/PAWR axis. Tissue Eng Regen Med 17(5):659–670
- 65. Du WW, Li X, Li T, Li H, Khorshidi A, Liu F, Yang BB (2015) The microRNA miR-17-3p inhibits mouse cardiac fibroblast senescence by targeting Par4. J Cell Sci 128(2):293–304
- 66. Burikhanov R, Shrestha-Bhattarai T, Qiu S, Shukla N, Hebbar N, Lele SM, Horbinski C, Rangnekar VM (2013) Novel mechanism of apoptosis resistance in cancer mediated by extracellular PAR-4. Cancer Res 73(2):1011–1019
- 67. Song R, Li Y, Hao W, Yang L, Chen B, Zhao Y, Sun B, Xu F (2020) Circular RNA MTO1 inhibits gastric cancer progression by elevating PAWR via sponging miR-199a-3p. Cell Cycle 19(22):3127–3139
- Yang K, Shen J, Tan FQ, Zheng XY, Xie LP. (2021) Antitumor activity of small activating RNAs induced PAWR gene activation in human bladder cancer cells. Int J Med Sci. 18(13):3039-3049
- 69. Kline CL, Shanmugavelandy SS, Kester M, Irby RB (2009) Delivery of PAR-4 plasmid in vivo via nanoliposomes sensitizes colon tumor cells subcutaneously implanted into nude mice to 5-FU. Cancer Biol Ther 8(19):1831–1837
- Azmi AS, Ahmad A, Banerjee S, Rangnekar VM, Mohammad RM, Sarkar FH (2008) Chemoprevention of pancreatic cancer: characterization of Par-4 and its modulation by 3,3' diindolylmethane (DIM). Pharm Res 25(9):2117–2124
- 71. MacLean MA, Scott BE, Deziel BA, Nunnelley MC, Liberty AM, Gottschall-Pass KT, Neto CC, Hurta RA (2011) North American cranberry (Vaccinium macrocarpon) stimulates apoptotic pathways in DU145 human prostate cancer cells in vitro. Nutr Cancer 63(1):109–120
- 72. Sharma AK, Kline CL, Berg A, Amin S, Irby RB (2011) The Akt inhibitor ISC-4 activates prostate apoptosis response protein-4 and reduces colon tumor growth in a nude mouse model. Clin Cancer Res 17(13):4474–4483
- 73. Srinivasan S, Ranga RS, Burikhanov R, Han SS, Chendil D (2007) Par-4-dependent apoptosis by the dietary compound withaferin a in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 67(1):246–253
- 74. Sells SF, Wood DP Jr, Joshi-Barve SS, Muthukumar S, Jacob RJ, Crist SA, Humphreys S, Rangnekar VM (1994) Commonality of the gene programs induced by effectors of apoptosis in androgendependent and -independent prostate cells. Cell Growth Differ 5(4):457–466



Correction to: Involvement of Par-4 in Breast Cancer

Simone Aparecida de Bessa-Garcia and Maria Aparecida Nagai

Correction to: Chapter 7 in: V. M. Rangnekar (ed.), *Tumor Suppressor Par-4*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_7

After initial publication of the book, various errors were identified in chapter 7, *Involvement of Par-4 in Breast Cancer*, that needed correction. The following corrections have been made in the updated version of the chapter.

- 1. The word "FOXOa3" has been changed to "Foxo3a" throughout the chapter.
- 2. The word "NFkB" has been changed to "NF- κ B" throughout the chapter.
- 3. In figure 4, the word "NFkB" has been changed to "NF-ĸB".
- 4. In figure 6, the text "Golgi to ER" has been changed to "ER to Golgi".
- 5. In figure 7, the text "Golgi/ER/GRP78" has been changed to "ER/Golgi/GRP78" and word "FOXOa3" has been changed to "Foxo3a". Also, the repetition of protein name CTNNB1 is excluded and has been mentioned only once.
- 6. In figure 2, the text in Luminal B subtype "ER-/PR-/+/HER2-/+High Ki67 index" has been changed to "ER+/-/PR-/+/ HER2-/+High Ki67 index".
- 7. In figure 5, the repetition of protein name "Ki67" is excluded and has been mentioned only once.

The updated online version of this chapter can be found at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80558-6_7

Index

A

AATF and Par-4 interaction, 224 AICD-mediated apoptotic activity, 228 CTF₇57, 224 Actin, 173 Actin cytoskeletal injury, 285 Activation-induced cell death (AICD), 290 Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), 32, 33, 35, 150, 152, 154 Acute myeloid leukemia (AML), 151, 153 Acute T cell leukemia (T-ALL) cell line, 153 Adaptive immunity, 25 Adenoid cystic carcinoma (ACC), 275 Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), 31 Adenoviruses (AVs), 315 Adipose tissue and muscles, 256 Adjuvant chemotherapies, 65 Affinity chromatography, 198 Akt inhibitor ISC-4, 62, 63 Akt phosphorylation, 292 Akt1, 63 Akt-mTOR signaling pathway, 251 Alagille syndrome (AGS), 259 Allergies, 28 Alzheimer's disease (AD), 204, 206, 216, 317 amyloid hypothesis, 216 gene factors, 216 Par-4, 217 AMP-activated kinase (AMPK) pathway, 306 Amyloid precursor protein (APP), 205, 216 Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), 234 Androgen deprivation therapy (ADT), 309 Androgen receptor (AR) inhibitor, 309 Angiogenesis, 29-31, 33, 34 Animal models, 286 Anoikis, 9 Anterior segment development, 257 Anterior segment dysgenesis (ASD), 257 factors, 257 features, 257 Anti-apoptotic proteins, 61, 153 Bcl-2 and PAR-4, 71, 72 Bcl-2 family members, 71 Anti-autophagy function, 303 Antibodies, 61 Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), 196 Antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis (ADCP), 196 Anti-cancer activity, 192 Anti-cancer drugs, 308 Anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody, 290 Antigen-presenting cell (APC), 26 Antimalarial drug CQ, 185 Anti-malarial drugs, 306-308

Antineoplastic drug development, 173 Anti-tumor effects, 308 Apaf-1, 61 Apoptosis, 63, 69–75, 150, 152–154, 156, 157, 162, 167, 182–184. 204, 206, 270, 275, 284, 303-305, 307-309, 317 Apoptosis antagonizing transcription factor (AATF), 317 Apoptosis signaling pathways, 248 Apoptosome, 153 Apoptotic cells, 180 Appendiceal cancer, 66 Aqueous humor, 256 Arylquin SAR development, 185 Arylquin-1, 177, 178, 180, 183, 184, 297, 316 Arylquinolones, 185 Arylquins, 184, 185 Aspirin, 31, 35 Astrocytes, 206 AD transgenic mouse model, 207 Astrosomes, 207 Atherosclerosis, 27 Atypical ductal hyperplasia (ADH), 115 Atypical protein kinase C (aPKC) members, 285 Autophagosomes, 306 Autophagy, 42, 50, 250, 251 AMPK pathway, 306 ATG, 306 autophagosomes, 306 cellular organelles, 306 chaperone-mediated autophagy, 306 in clinical trials, 307-309 constitutive activation, 307 inhibition by anti-malaria drugs, 308 macroautophagy, 306 macromolecules, 306 mechanism, 306 microautophagy, 306 mTOR, 306 PI3K pathway, 306 preclinical studies, 306 protein targets, 306 self-eating, 306 Autophagy-related genes (ATG), 306 Axenfeld-Rieger Syndrome (ARS), 257, 260 diagnosis, 257 hypoplasia, 259 PCG develops, 259

B

Barrett's esophagus, 65 B cell ALL (B-ALL), 150, 152 B cell CLL, 152 B cell development, 156 B cell receptor, 150 B cell-specific overexpression model, 155 B-cell leukemia and lymphoma 2 (BCL-2), 164 B-cell lymphomas, 138 B-cell malignancies, 137-139 B-cell receptor (BCR), 140, 290 CD5, 139 CLL cells, 140 Par-4 regulation in CLL, 141 signaling and microenvironment, 137 signaling pathway, 137 signaling targeted therapies, 142 BChE-based protein drug, 193 Bcl-2 (B cell lymphoma-2), 35 BCL-2 inhibitors, 166 BCR-ABL, 151, 154, 155 BCR-Abl-mediated signaling, 154 Bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy, 47 Biliary tract, 64 Biochemical recurrence (BCR), 309 Biomarkers, 115-117, 308 Biotinylated arylquins, 178, 181 Blocker, 307-309 Blood-brain barrier (BBB), 82, 205 Blood urea nitrogen (BUN), 282 B-lymphomas, 137 BMP7, 165 Bokhman's binary classification, 46 Bone marrow, 149, 150, 156 Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), 17, 165 Bowel diseases, 28 Bowman's capsule, 281 Breakpoint cluster region (BCR), 150 Breast cancer annual incidence, 114 biomarkers, 115 classification, 116 complex biological functions, 115 diagnostic methods, 114 ER, 115 etiology, 115 gene expression, 116 genetic and epigenetic alterations, 117 genetic and epigenetic changes, 116 genetic linkage studies, 115 high-throughput sequencing techniques, 116 immunophenotypic evaluation, 116 molecular classification, 117 molecular subtypes, 117 mutations, 115, 116 Par-4 role as a biomarker, 117, 118 in cancer chemosensitivity, 122-126 in cancer proliferation and apoptosis, 118-121 intra and extracellular mechanisms of action, 121, 122 risk factors, 115 tumors, 116 Breast tumorigenesis, 117 Brefeldin A (BFA), 134, 172

С

Cadherin switch, 6 Calbindin D28K, 223

Cancer and autophagy, 306, 308 and inflammation, 28 as an initiation factor, 28 as factor in cancer progression and metastasis, 28-30 and Par-4 (see Prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4)) schistosomiasis, 28 Cancer cells, 306 Cancer metastasis, 161 Cancer-selective fashion, 152 Cancer stem cells (CSC), 7, 10, 12, 82 Cancer therapy, 175 Capecitabine, 65 Carboplatin, 65 Carboxyl-terminal fragment (CTF), 221 Carcinogenic treatment, 291 Carcinosarcoma, 43 Cardiac aging, 318 Cardinal cell suicide program, 42 Cardiovascular diseases, 27 Caretaker genes, 174 Caspase-3 activation, 154 Caspase-3 expression, 119 Caspase-8 activation, 120 Caspase-dependent mechanisms, 182, 303 Castration-resistant tumors, 185 CCAR1, 154 CD109, 62 CD326.7 Cell autonomous signaling, 140 Cell cycle and apoptosis regulator 1 (CCAR1), 136 Cell death, 62 Cellular homeostasis, 174 Cellular organelles, 306 Cellular process, 42 Ceramide, 203-207 Ceramide-inducible effects cytokine signaling, 204 de novo pathway, 203 DHCer, 203 fatty acyl chain length, 203 mechanism, 204 and PAR-4, 204, 205 SMases, 204 Ceramide synthases (CerS), 203 Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), 205 Chaperone-mediated autophagy, 306 Chemo preventive agents DIM, 166 NGD16, 166 Chemoresistance, 4, 7, 12, 41, 42, 48, 51 Chemoresistant gynecological cancers, 54 Chemoresistant tumors, 45, 50 Chemotherapeutic compounds, 49 Chemotherapeutics 5-fluorouracil, 61 Chemotherapy, 61, 63, 65, 150-152, 157, 174 Chloroquine (CQ), 49, 166, 185, 297, 315 4-aminoquinoline derivatives, 304 autophagy, 303 biochemical structure, 304, 305 clinical efficacy, 303 CM, 304 MEFs, 304 p53, 304 Par-4 secretagogues and identification, 305-307 paracrine apoptosis, 304

pleiotropic mechanisms, 308 treatment, 304 tumor growth inhibition, 304, 305 vehicle-treated mice, 304 Chloroquine radiosensitizes tumors, 299 Cholangiocarcinoma, 59, 64 Cholangiocytes, 64 Chromosomal instability, 65 Chromosomal region maintenance 1 (CRM1), 166 Chromosome 22, 150 Chronic inflammation diseases, 26 Chronic inflammatory diseases, 28 Chronic kidney disease (CKD), 282 characterization, 282 definition, 282 GBM, 283 transdifferentiation, 282 Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), 150, 152, 155-156, 296.314 BCR-mediated Par-4 regulation, 141 Par-4 expression, 139-141 Par-4 in tumor microenvironment, 142-144 Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), 150 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), 27 Chronic symptoms, 206 Circulating tumor cells (CTCs) in breast cancer patients, 7 EMT markers, 9 endothelium, 9 platelets, 9 TGF-β, 9 Cisplatin, 65, 164 CK2 (S231), 152 Classical secretory pathway, 306 Clinical trials, 307-310 Coacervation, 136 Colon cancer, 59, 307 Colonoscopic surveillance, 60 Colonoscopy, 60 Colony forming capacity, 154 Colorectal cancer, 59 colonoscopy/sigmoidoscopy, 60 developing countries, 60 development, 60 hotspots, 60 periodic screening, 60 population, 60 prevalent in developed countries, 60 regulation Par-4 activity, 62 Par-4 expression, 61, 62 rural and poorer communities, 60 survival rate, 60 target for treatment, 63, 64 treatment, 61 Colorectal cancer cells, 62 Colorectal cancers, 63 Colorectal tumors, 64 Complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDCC), 196 Complete colectomy, 60 Computational modeling of arylquin-1 bound to vimentin, 181, 183 Conditioned media (CM), 304 Contract research organization (CRO), 199 Conventional secretory pathway, 172

Corneal hereditary endothelial dystrophy (CHED), 259 COSMIC database, 59, 60 COVID-19 pandemic, 26 Crohn's disease, 28 CRP (C-reactive proteins), 27 Cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK), 155 Cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors, 61 CYP2D6, 304 Cytarabine, 153 Cytochrome P450 3A isozymes (CYP3As), 304 Cytochrome P450 monooxygenases (CYP), 183 Cytokines, 25, 30 Cytoreductive surgery, 45 Cytoreductive therapy, 41

D

DAP-like kinase (DLK), 153 Dasatinib, 141 Death-associated protein (DAXX), 135, 153 Death-inducing signaling complex (DISC), 35 Dermal infiltration, 27 Diabetes, 27, 247, 317 Diabetes mellitus, 248 Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), 138, 143 Disease recurrence, 114-115 Distal convoluted tubule (DCT), 281 Distal intestinal types, 65 DNA damage, 174 DNA methylation, 28, 86 DNA methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1), 28 Docetaxel, 65 Dopamine D2 receptor (D2DR), 236 Doxorubicin, 65, 153 DRD2-based therapy, 251 Drug development, 174, 308 Drug sensitivity, 156 Drug therapies, 61 Dual luciferase assays, 262 Dysfunctional autophagy, 250 Dysfunctional process, 250 Dysplasias, 60

Е

E-box elements, 5 E-cadherin, 4, 6, 17 ECM components, 270 Ectopic expression, 153 Endometrial cancer (EC), 46 carcinoma, 46 categorization, 46 endometrioid carcinoma, 46, 47 endometrium, 46 histological, 46 mechanisms, 48 obesity, 46 PI3K/PTEN/Akt pathway, 46 subgrouping, 48 Endoplasmic reticulum (ER), 152, 153, 193 Endosomal sorting complex, 205 EO771-luc cells, 296 EpCAM expression, 7 Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), 70, 73, 161 Epithelial atypia (AS), 115 Epithelial cells, 62

Epithelial mesenchymal transformation (EMT), 1, 2, 4, 5, 165, 166, 275, 283 AKT phosphorylation, 12 cancer, 3 definition, 2 degradation, 16 effectors and regulators, 3 function, 3 induction, 7 intravasation, 8 lethal, 15, 17 macrometastases, 10 macrometastasis, 10 markers, 6 epithelial morphology, 6 mesenchymal markers, 6 mesenchymal cell, 2 metastasis, 7, 18 micrometastases, 10 microRNAs, 5 molecular pathways, 2 NF-ĸB, 12, 14 notch signaling, 4 Par-4 research, 11, 14 physiological processes, 2 post-activation, 7 pro-apoptotic cascades, 11 progression, 18 restoration, 4 signaling pathways, 3 stalling properties, 11 TGF-β signaling, 3 therapeutic significance, 3 TME, 3, 7 transcriptions factors, 10 tumor cells extravasation, 9 Twist-1, 14 Wnt signaling pathway, 3 Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), 65 ErbB3/PI3K/Akt axis, 48 ER-to-Golgi-to-plasma membrane, 172 Erythroleukemic cell lines, 154 Escherichia coli (E. coli), 192 E-selectin ligands, 9 Esophageal, 65 Esophageal cancers, 59, 65 Estradiol, 42 Estrogen, 114 Estrogen receptors, 115 Exonic splicing enhancers (ESEs), 66 Exosome screening, 206 Exosomes, 205, 206 Exportin 1 (XPO1), 51, 163, 166 Extra cellular matrix (ECM), 1, 7, 165 Extracellular vesicles (EVs), 205 Extrinsic pathway, 153 Eye anterior segment gastrulation, 257 retinal ganglion cells, 257 vasculature, 257

F

Factor-independent proliferation, 154 Fas and Fas ligand (Fas/FasL), 35, 36 Fas-associated death domain (FADD), 35, 273 Fas cell surface death receptor, 273
F-box protein 45 (FBXO45), 167
Filament proteins, 173
Filopodium-like protrusions (FLPs), 10
Fluorinated stilbenes, (E)-4-(2,6-difluorostyryl)-N,N-dimethylaniline (FIDAS), 177
Focal adhesion kinase (FAK), 9
Follicular lymphoma (FL), 138
Force swim test (FST), 294
Forkhead box C1 (FOXC1), 255
Fostamatinib, 141
FOXC1 and FOXC2, 262
Fulvestrant, 115

G

Gamma radiation, 69 Gastric cancers, 59, 64, 65 Gastroesophageal (GE) junction cancers, 65 Gastrointestinal (GI) tract COSMIC database, 59, 60 esophageal, 65 inflammation, 59 organs, 59 pathogenic organisms, 59 PAWR mutations, 59 PI3K/Akt pathway, 59 tumorigenesis, 59 Gatekeeper genes, 174 G-couple receptors, 294 Gemcitabine, 165 Genetics and environmental factors, 59 Genome-scale sequencing, 136 Genomically stable tumors, 65 Gleason scores, 292 Glioblastoma/glioblastoma multiforme (GBM), 78 alkylating agents, 81 cancer stem cells (CSC), 82 CD133.82 epigenetic modifications, 83 neural stem cells, 82 phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, 83 sonic hedgehog singalling, 83 **VEGFR2**, 83 cellular components, 85 glioma stem cells, 85 immune cells, 85 challenges, 82 chemotherapy, 80 bevacizumab, 81 Carmustine and Lomustine, 81 cyclophosphamide, 81 temozolomide (TMZ), 80-81 clinical symptoms, 79 c-MET signaling, 91 diffuse glioma, 79 dysregulated pathways, 92-93 EGFR inhibitors, 88 monoclonal antibody, 89 small-molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors, 88 epidemiology, 79 epigenetic alterations, 86 etiology of, 79 futute aspects, 102 GBM-IDH-mutant, 79 hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), 91

immunotherapies, 92 intracellular effector molecules, 90 isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH1), 78 MES group, 78 molecular targeted therapies, 87, 88 non-cellular components extracellular matrix (ECM), 85-86 PDGF inhibitors, 90 PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway, 90 PN subtype, 78 primary tumors, 78 quality of life (OOL), 82 radiotherapy, 80 Ras/Raf/Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Pathway, 91 RB pathway disruption, 87 RTK inhibitors, 87, 90 secondary tumors, 78 signaling pathways, 86 surgical resection, 80 survival rate, 80 tumor microenvironment (TME), 83 cellular heterogeneity, 84 interstitial fluid, 86 niches, 85 tumor vasculature, 83 tumor suppressor genes, 93 p53/RB/CDKN2A, 93 Par-4 (see Par-4) therapeutic target, 93 tumor-treating field, 82 unmet need, 82 VEGF inhibitors, 89 Glioma stem cells (GSC), 82 CD133, 82 epigenetic modifications, 83 neural stem cells, 82 notch signaling, 83 phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, 83 PN and MES types, 82 sonic hedgehog singalling, 83 **VEGFR2.83** Glomerulosclerosis, 283 Glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78), 32, 164, 175, 182, 192, 303-305, 309 Glutathione S-transferase (GST), 192 Golgi apparatus, 172 Gynecological malignancies, 53 Gynecological tissues, 42, 52

H

HCA-7 colon carcinoma cells, 61 HCQ treatment, 309 Helicobacter pylori stomach infection, 28 Hematological malignancies, 152, 153 Heme malignancy, 155 Hemorrhaging, 263 Hepatocytes, 64 High-throughput sequencing techniques, 116 Hippocampal neurons, 226 His-Par-4 protein, 198 HisPur[™] Cobalt Resin, 193 His-SUMO tag, 194 Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors, 154 Histopathological analyses, 291 Homeobox D10 (HOXD 10), 5

HT29 colon cancer cells, 62 Human epithelial cells (HBECs), 305 Human eye, 256 Human lung fibroblast (HEL) cells, 305 Human mammary gland, 113 Human neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn), 195 CocH, 197 function, 195 IgG, 195, 196 in vivo half-life prolonging methods, 196 mutants, 196 structures, 196 X-ray crystal structures, 196 Human papilloma virus (HPV), 65 Human Par-4 gene, 134 Human Protein Atlas, 283 Huntington's disease, 204, 206 Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ), 192, 307-309 autophagy, 303 biochemical structure, 304, 305 clinical efficacy, 303 Par-4 secretagogues and identification, 305-307 PK profile, 304 treatment, 304 Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ)-induced PAR-4, 166 Hypermethylation, 50 Hyperstabilize filaments, 173 Hypofractionated radiotherapy (HFRT), 80 Hypoxia, 4 Hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs), 4

I

Ibrutinib, 141, 143, 156 IFN-7, 62 IL-6 secretion, 307 Imatinib, 151, 154 Immune response, 25 Immune-related adverse events (irAEs), 61 Immunity, 25 and inflammation, 33, 34 Immunocytochemical and immunoprecipitation experiments, 62 Immunocytochemistry (IHC), 291 Immunodeficiencies, 26 Immunoexpression, 274 Immunoglobulin heavy chain, 155 Immunostaining assays, 261 Immunotherapy, 61 In vivo anti-cancer activity B6C3H mice, 194 MAT-LyLu cells, 195 Indolylkojyl methane analog 5 (IKM5), 164 Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), 28, 29, 34 Inflammation allergies, 28 arthritis and joint diseases, 27 Bowel diseases, 28 and cancer, 28 cardiovascular diseases, 27 COPD, 27 in diabetes, 27 innate immune system, 25 neurological diseases, 27 normal tissue architecture and function, 26 psoriasis, 27 Inflammatory bowel disease, 59

Innate immune cells, 25 Innate immune system, 26 Innate immunity, 25 iNOS expression, 28 Insulin resistance, 248, 250, 251 Integrins, 4, 10 Intracellular kinases, 59 Intraluminal vesicles (ILVs), 205 Intraocular pressure (IOP), 259 Intravasation, 8, 9 Intrinsic cellular homeostatic components, 41 Intrinsic pathway, 153 Invadopodia, 8 Investigational new drug (IND), 199 Ionizing radiation (IR), 69, 70, 72, 73 IR-induced phosphorylation, 70 Irinotecan, 65 Ischemia reperfusion-induced renal injury (IRI), 286 Isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH), 153

J

JAK/STAT pathway, 59 Jurkat cells, 153

K

K562 cells, 154 Ketorolac, 180 Kidney anatomy, 282 apoptosis, 284 cancer studies, 285 function, 281 glomerulus, 281 HK2 cell line, 286 molecules, 282 nephrons, 281 Par-4, 283, 286 renal interstitium, 282 renal structure, 282 SAC domain, 283 scRNA-seq, 283 structure and compartments, 282 Kidney disease growth factors and cytokines, 283 Kidney pathophysiology BCL-2, 285 physiological and pathological roles, 285 WT1, 285 Kirsten rat sarcoma (KRAS), 161-164 KPT-185, 163, 166 Krabbe's disease, 204 K-RAS G12C mutation, 72 K-RAS signaling, 72, 75

L

Landscaper genes, 174 Leucine zipper (LZ), 11, 293 Leukemia, 149–152, 154, 156, 157 Leukemic B cells, 155, 156 Leukemogenesis, 155, 156 Lipid metabolic disorder, 248 Lipid vesicles, 205 Long non-coding RNA (LncR), 154 Low LET radiation, 69 Lung cancer cells, 305 Lymphangiogenesis, 30 Lymphocytes, 150 Lymphocytic leukemia, 150 Lymphoid, 150, 152–156 Lymphomas and leukemias, 137

\mathbf{M}

Macroautophagy, 306 Macromolecules, 306 Macrophages, 27-30, 32, 33, 35 Major histocompatibility complex (MHC), 9 Malignant cells, 150 Malleable pathway, 153 Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), 306 Mammary adipose pedicle, 113 Mammary gland, 113 breastfeeding, 114 complex structure, 114 functionality, 114 hormonal environment, 113 in vitro and in vivo studies, 114 structure and function, 114 Man-made secretagogues function, 172 Mantle cell lymphoma (MCL), 138, 143 **MAPK**, 59 MAT2A inhibitors, 177 Maximum-tolerated dose (MTD), 308 Megalocornea, 259 Mel 1617 cells, 298 Melanoma cell lines, 298, 309 Mesenchymal markers, 6 MET phenotypes, 17 Metalloproteinases (MMPs), 30, 33-35 Metastasis, 29, 30, 33, 34, 185 invasion-metastasis, 7 tumor, 7 tumor cells, 7 Methylation, 62 Microautophagy, 306 Microenvironment, 137 Par-4 in CLL microenvironment, 142-144 Microfilaments, 173 Micrometastasis, 9 MicroRNAs (miRNAs), 4, 17 Microsatellite instability (MSI) status, 47 Microsatellite unstable tumors, 65 Microtubules, 173 Mitochondria depolarization, 306 Mitochondrial dysfunction, 248 Mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP), 153 Mitochondrial pathway, 248 MLCP activity, 285 Molecular genetic analysis, 45 Molecule smoothened protein (SMO), 161 Monotherapy, 180 Morphogenesis, 270 Morpholino-knockdown experiments, 263 Mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), 289, 304 Mouse models, 304 mTOR signaling pathway, 250 Mucoepidermoid carcinoma (MCC), 275
Multivesicular bodies (MVBs), 205 Murine double minute-2 (MDM-2), 165 Myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), 150, 153 Myelogenous cells, 154 Myeloid blasts, 150 Myeloid leukemias, 150, 152, 153 Myeloid malignancies, 154 Myosin light chain (MLC), 285

Ν

Natural Killer (NK) cell activity, 9, 25 N-cadherin, 6, 14 Neoadjuvant chemotherapies, 65 Neural fibers, 257 Neurodegeneration, 205 AD, 206 ADE, 206 endogenous, 205 exosomes, 206 mass spectrometry, 205 mTBI, 206 pathophysiology, 206 TBI, 205 Neurodegenerative diseases, 204 Neurological diseases, 27 Neuronal-derived ones (NDE), 206 NF-ĸB activity, 248, 249 NF-KB DNA-binding activity, 260 NF-KB pathways, 12, 49, 293 NF-kB transcription factors, 33 NF-kB transcriptional activity, 53 Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), 308 Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agent (NSAID), 61, 180 anti-neoplastic effects, 31 anti-tumor mechanisms, 31 aspirin, 31 chemopreventive and anti-tumor effects, 31 conventional NSAIDs, 31 COX-1 and -2, 31 mode of action, 30 non-COX mechanisms, 31 sulindac, 31 Notch signaling, 4 NOTCH3, 154 nSMase 2 pathway, 205 N-terminal amino acids, 182 Nuclear export, 163, 166 Nuclear export sequence (NES), 11 Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), 28 Nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), 28 Nuclear localization sequence (NLS), 134, 248 Nuclear Par-4 expression, 273 Nutlin-3a, 174, 176, 178, 179 Nutlins, 174 Nutrient starvation, 306

0

Occulodentodigital syndrome, 259 Oncogene, 152, 174 Oncogenic KRAS, 162 Oncogenic mutations, 162 Oncogenic Ras, 62 Oncomirs, 5 Optimal treatment strategy, 47 Oral cancer, 65 Oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC), 65 Organogenesis, 269, 275 Ovarian cancer (OC), 42 classification, 43 endometrioid, 45 mechanisms, 45 morphological and molecular genetic, 43 pathogenesis, 45 subtypes, 43 tissular origins, 45 treatment, 45 Oxaliplatin, 61, 65 Oxidative stress, 248, 286

Р

Paclitaxel, 65 Pancreatic cancer chemo preventive agents DIM, 166 NGD16, 166 deaths in United States, 161 KRAS-g12c mutation, 161 median overall survival (OS), 161 PAR-4 apoptosis, 162, 167 BCL-2, 164 cancer drug resistance, 164, 165 clinical settings, 167 cytoplasm, 162 EMT, 165, 166 GRP78, 164 **KRAS**, 162 oncogenic mutations, 162, 164 pharmacological overexpression, 164 PKA, 162 potential therapeutic target, 162 role, 162, 163 small molecule inhibitors, 166 subcellular localization, normal cells and cancers, 162 TRIM21, 164 sHH SMO inhibitor vismodegib, 161 SINE, 166 small molecule inhibitors BCL-2, 166 targeted agents, 161 therapeutic targeted agent OMP-54F28, 161 treatment, advanced disease, 161 upregulated NOTCH signaling, 161 Pancreatic polypeptide (PP) cells, 248 PAR-4 amino-terminal fragment (PAF), 167 Par-4 expression, 251, 275, 284 Par-4 interaction, 251 Par-4 knockdown studies, 15 Par-4 knockouts, 286 Par-4 protein, 195, 248, 273, 275 Par-4 receptor csGRP78, 316, 317 Par-4 regulation, 51 Par-4 research, 14 Par-4 secretagogues Arylquin-1, 316 compounds, 315 features, 316 secreted, 316 Par-4 transcripts, 283

Par-4/TERT interaction autophagy function, 250 cytoplasm, 250 expression, 250 mTOR signaling pathway, 250 telomerase, 250 Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP), 25, 26 Pathomechanism, 283 Patient-derived cells, 152 Pattern recognition receptors (PRR), 25-27 PAWR expression, 135 PAWR gene, 59, 62 PAWR promoter, 152 PC-3 (prostate cancer) cells, 53, 134 Periocular mesenchyme, 257 Peritoneal cavity, 156 Persistent inflammation, 26 Peters plus syndrome, 257, 259 Pharmacokinetic (PK) study, 195, 198 Phosphoinositol 3 kinase (PI3K), 141, 143 Phosphorylation, 62 Phosphorylation by AKT (PKB), 32 PI3K/Akt pathway, 59 PI3K/Akt signaling pathways, 3 PI3K/Akt/mTOR axis, 48 PI3K/Akt/PTEN axis, 48 PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway, 143 Pituitary homeobox 2 (PITX2), 260 PITX2 C-terminal mutations, 260 PITX2 mutations, 260 PKA (T163), 152 PKC, 152, 157 Platelet-Derived Growth Factor (PDGF), 90 Platelet-derived VEGF, 9 Platinum-based chemotherapy, 116 Platinum resistance, 164 Podocytes, 281 Posterior chamber, 256 Postoperative radiation therapy, 275 Postoperative radiotherapy, 275 Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms, 206 Precision cancer medicine (PCM), 308 Predictive molecular biomarkers, 117 PRKC apoptosis WT1 regulator (PAWR), 255 coinjection, 263 FOXC1, 261, 262 genes, 263 morpholinos, 263 in ocular tissues, 263 PITX2 activity, 262 PITX2 and FOXC1, 263, 264 transactivational activity, 263 in zebrafish, 263 Pro-apoptotic proteins, 61 Prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4), 13, 14, 17, 42, 49, 51, 53, 54, 191, 283 AATF interaction, 224 aberrant APP. 220 adenovirus, 315 Akt activation, 292 Akt inhibitors, 314 Akt1 phosphorylates, 314 Alzheimer's disease (AD), 217 amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), 234 aPKC activity, 290 apoptosis, 290, 313, 314, 317

apoptotic cells, rat prostate cancer cells, 162 apoptotic pathway, 249 APP intracellular domain (AICD), 221, 224 Aβ1-42 in hippocampal neurons, 221 BACE1 cleavage of APP, 224 BACE1 double transfection, 230-231 in B-cell malignancies, 137-139 BChE, 193 behavior, 294 BFA, 172 binding protein, 293 biological function, 198 breast cancer, 296 chemosensitivity, 122-126 extracellular mechanisms, 124 intracellular mechanisms, 123 mechanisms of action, 121, 122 Par-4 as a biomarker, 117, 118 proliferation and apoptosis, 118-121 cAMP signaling, 294 cancer cells, 295 in cancer inflammation, 32 Bcl-2, 35 Fas role, 35 NF-kB role, 33-35 NSAIDs role, 36 Ras role, 32-33 in response to inflammatory stimuli, 35, 36 cancer selectivity, 152 carcinoma, 291 caspase-9, 249 caspase-dependent pathway, 218 CD4+ and CD8+ populations, 290 chimeric male, 289 chloroquine (CQ), 101 in CLL BCR-mediated Par-4 regulation, 141 microenvironment, 142-144 Par-4 expression, 139-141 regulation of growth kinetics, 141-142 conjunction, 314 csGRP78 levels, 314 csGRP78 receptor, 314 C-terminal domain, 293 C-terminus portion, 293 C-terminus, 293 cytoplasm, 192 cytoplasmic vs. nuclear, 317 D2 receptor, 317 deletion, 300 discovery, 94 dopamine signaling, 236 dosage, 292 downregulation, 31, 191 drug discovery, 192 dysregulation, 152 E. Coli, 193 endogenous, 101 ER stress-inducing apoptosis, 248 expression and function in immune cells, 135-137 expression and relapse, 152 expression levels, 32 expression of, 96-97 external and internal stimuli, 99 extracellular, 15 Fc(M1)-Par-4 protein, 198

function, 289, 291 functional domains, 95 gene, 314 GFP-SAC mice, 296 glucose deprivation, 221 GRP78 protein, 248 in tumor-associated inflammation, 36 in vitro activity, 198 inhibits, 249 intracellular calcium levels, 220 intracellular, 299 intrinsic, 95 JNK inhibition, 290 knockout (KO) models, 97 knockout cells, 290 knockout mice, 32, 291 KPT-185, 314 LZ domain, 293, 317 mechanistic studies, 153-155 MEFs, 290, 294 Mel 1617BR cells, 299 metabolic pathways, 100 mRNA levels, 141 mutant mice, 293, 294 neuronal cell death, 218 NF-кB activity, 249, 295, 314 nuclear, 314 overexpression, 152 par-4 gene (pawr), 31 Parkinson's disease (PD), 236 PKA upregulation, 134 post-translational modification, Golgi, 172 prominent role, 97 promoter hypermethylation, 134 prostate and cancer types, 162 prostate cancer cells, 172 protein structure, 94 protein, 198 PTEN deficiency, 292, 293 radiation-induced signalling pathway, 70-71 in radiation sensitivity of cancer anti- and pro-apoptotic proteins (see Anti-apoptotic proteins) cytokines, 73-75 NF-κB, 70 RAS signaling (see RAS genes) Ras signaling, 152 Ras-expressing, 291 rat Par-4, 31 role, 52, 295, 315, 317 SAC domain, 191, 193 SAC protein production, 192 SAC transgene, 294 safety, 315 sAPPα from transfected IMR-32 cells, 222 sAPPα induced byPKC activator, 219-220 secretagogues, 297 secreted version, 295 secreted, 295 secretory, 15, 95 serum, 295 signaling molecules, 162 signaling pathways, 98 apoptotic pathway, 100 autophagy, 99 Caseins kinase CK2, 98 cytoskeleton proteins, 100

FOXO pathway, 98 metastasis, 100 protein kinase A (PKA), 99 protein kinase C (PKC), 99 RAS/Raf/MAPK/ERK, 98 senescence, 100 tumor suppressor p53, 98 small interference RNA (siRNA), 228 TAM, 101 T-cell proliferation, 290 T-cells, 290 TCL1, 155-156 therapy, 314 TNF-α, 290 TRAIL antibody, 296 TRAMP-C1 cells, 295 transgenic mice model, 98 transgenic mouse overexpressing, 294 TRX tag, 193 TRX-Par-4 and TXR, 296 tumor growth, 299 tumor suppressor activity, 32, 133, 172 tumor-suppressor protein, 162 TUNEL staining, 295 upregulation, 314 WT female, 291 WT neurons, 294 WT1, 314 XIAP levels, 291 Protein binding, 54 Protein drug approach, 192 Protein drug development, 193 Protein expression in plants, 193 SAC-containing fusion protein, 193 SUMO fusion system, 194 Protein kinase A (PKA), 135, 153, 162, 259 Protein secretion, 172 Protein sequestration, filament proteins, 173 Protein targets, 306 Proximal convoluted tubule (PCT), 281 PS1M146VKI mice, 219 Psoriasis, 27 PTEN expression, 64

Q

Quinolone/quinolone pharmacophores, 305

R

Radiation, 63, 309 Radiation therapy, 47, 69, 174 Radical prostatectomy (RP), 309 Raloxifene, 115 Ramucirumab, 65 Ras (rat sarcoma), 32–33 RAS genes K-RAS and PAR-4, 72 K-RAS mutations, 72 mRNA and protein expression, 72 Ras oncogenic pathway, 121 Ras signaling, 152 Rat Par-4, 31 Rational protein engineering, 197 Reactive nitrogen species (RNS), 29 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 26, 28, 29 Receptor tyrosine kinases, 59 Recombinant Par-4, 197, 315 bacteria, 315 Recombinant Par-4/SAC HEK-293 cells, 194 His-Par-4, 194 SAC-GFP, 194 TRX-Par-4 and TRX-SAC, 194 Recombinant Par-4Ex, 198 Recombinant protein production, 193 Recommended phase II dose (RP2D), 308 Redistribution lymphocytosis, 142, 143 Repurposing, 308 Reticulum stress (ER), 248 Reverse phase protein (RPPA) analysis, 18 Rheumatoid arthritis, 27 Risk factors, 64 RNAi technique, 165

\mathbf{S}

SAC domain, 11, 18 SAC-GFP transgenic mice, 295 Salivary gland (SG), 269, 271 apoptosis, 270 characterization, 270 cytoplasm, 272 cytoskeletal elements, 271 development, 272 human, 271 morphogenesis, 270, 271 Par-4, 273 structural maturity, 270 Salivary gland tumors (SGT), 273, 275, 276 apoptosis, 275 pathogenesis, 275 treatment, 275 SAP-12 blocks MLKL-immunoreactivity, 237 neuronal necroptosis, 237 RIPK3- and MLKL-dependent signaling, 237 Schizophrenia, 251 Second treatment modality, 63 Secretagogues autophagy, 306-308 clinical trials, 308-310 CQ (see Chloroquine (CQ)) GRP78, 304 HCQ (see Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ)) mouse models, 304 Secretagogues, Par-4 apoptosis, 175, 182-184 arylquin-1, 178 biological ligands, signaling cascades, 174 cancer cells, 174 cell-surface receptor GRP78, 175 cellular homeostasis, 174 computational modeling, arylquin-1 bound to vimentin, 181, 183 DNA damage, 174 future perspectives arylquin SAR development, 185 arylquins, 185 arylquins and vimentin structural studies, 184, 185 metastasis, 185 normal cells, 174, 175

NSAID, 180 nutlin-3a, 174, 176 nutlins, 174 p53-MDM2 interaction, 174 synthesis and evaluation antineoplastic agents, 177 arylquin-1, 177, 178 arylquins with C-2 and C-7 substituents, 179 cell proliferation assays, 177 E. coli, 176 **FIDAS**, 177 MAT2A inhibitors, 177 nutlin-3a, 176 SAC, 175 scaffold α , 176 scaffold *β*, 176, 177 small-molecule secretagogues, 176 target identification arylquin-1, 178, 180 biotinylated arylquins, 178, 181 co-immunoprecipitation experiments, 179 co-localization, vimentin, 179 hydrophobic PEG, 178 immunocytochemical analysis, 179 ketorolac, 180 MDM2 inhibitors, 178 nutlin-3a, 178, 179 S-alkylation, 179 vimentin, 179, 180, 182 Secreted AATF (sAATF), 229-234 cell surface receptor TLR-4., 229-231 extracellularly, 229 intracellular process, 231-234 SAP-12, 231 Selective estrogen receptor action modulators (SERMs), 115 Selective estrogen receptor reducers (SERDs), 115 Selective for apoptosis in cancer domain (SAC), 134, 152 Selective inhibitors of nuclear export (SINE), 166 Selective-for-Apoptosis-Induction-Cancer (SAC), 175 Sigmoidoscopy, 60 Signal transducers, and activators of transcription 3 (STAT3), 28, 307 Silent mutations, 66 Single-institution clinical trial, 308 Smad4 protein, 16 Small bowel cancers, 65 Small interference RNA (siRNA), 224 Small molecule inhibitors BCL-2, 166 Small-molecule secretagogues, 172, 173, 176, 183 Small ubiquitin-related modifier (SUMO) fusion, 194 Solid tumor, 72, 75, 152 Sphingolipids (SLs), 203 Sphingomyelin, 203 Spinal cord injury (SCI), 205 Splenectomy, 143 Src, 62 Stomach cancer, 64, 65 Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1), 143 Stromal cells, 142, 143 SUMO-SAC protein, 194

Т

Tamoxifen, 115 Targeting autophagy, 308 T-cell leukemia 1 (Tcl1), 140, 155–156

B1a Eµ-Tcl1 cells, 141 Eµ-Tcl1 CLL cell survival, 141 Eµ-Tcl1 mouse with Par-4-/- mouse, 141 NF-ĸB signaling, 142 oncogene, 141 Telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT), 250 Akt phosphorylation, 250 cytoplasm, 251 overexpression, 250 Telomeres, 249 The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA), 46 Therapeutic agent, 63 Therapeutic target, 286 Tissue microarrays (TMAs), 291 TLR4 receptor protein, 236 TNF receptor superfamily, 35 TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL/Apo2L), 61 TNFα-induced apoptosis, 34 TNFα-induced nuclear translocation, 34 Toll-like receptors (TLR), 49 Tooth deformities, 259 Toxic proteins, 306 Toxicities, 309 Traditional method, 193 TRAIL (cytokine), 70, 73, 75 TRAIL (tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand), 134 Transcription factors, 25, 28, 31, 255, 260 Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-β) signaling, 15 apoptosis, 16 EMT, 16 Klf5 and Sox4, 15 Nm23H1, 17 role, 15 Smad4 pathway, 16 therapeutic approaches, 15 Transwell experiments, 206 TRIM21, 62 Tripartite motif containing protein 21 (TRIM21), 164 Tubular cells, 283, 286 Tubulin, 173 Tumor growth, 63 Tumor growth inhibition, 304, 305 Tumor metastasis, 11 Tumor microenvironment (TME), 29 in cancer development and progression, 30 infiltrating immune cells, 29 macrophages, 29

tumor cells, 29 Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) signaling, 26–28, 30, 33, 34, 204, 283 Tumor recurrence, 121, 122, 124 Tumor size regression, 63 Tumor suppressor, 152, 156, 157, 174 Tumor suppressor protein, 303, 314 Tumorigenesis, 34 Tumor-suppressor proteins, 174 Twist-1 inhibition, 14 Type 1 and 2 lobular ducts, 114 Type 1 diabetes, 247 death and disability, 247 dvslipidemia. 248 exocrine tissue shrinks, 248 features, 247, 248 lymphocytes and macrophages, 248 type 2 diabetes, 248 Type 2 diabetes, 27, 248, 251 Type III intermediate filament proteins, 173

U

Ulcerative colitis, 28 Unfolded protein response (UPR), 309, 310

V

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 30, 33, 34, 83 Vascular tunic (uvea), 256 Vimentin, 4, 6, 7, 173, 182–185 Vimentin rod domain, 184 Vimentin-deficient cells, 183 V-Src, 62

W

Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM), 138, 143 Wilm's tumor 1 (WT-1), 134, 135 Wilm's tumor protein (WT1), 152 Wilms' tumor suppressor 1 (WT1), 285 deficiency, 285 Wnt signaling pathway, 3 WNT-β-catenin signaling, 283

Х

X-ray radiation, 69

Z

ZIPK, 153